Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602

Ravindra S. Goonetilleke Waldemar Karwowski *Editors*

Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors

Proceedings of the AHFE 2017 International Conference on Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, July 17–21, 2017, The Westin Bonaventure Hotel, Los Angeles, California, USA



Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing

Volume 602

Series editor

Janusz Kacprzyk, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: kacprzyk@ibspan.waw.pl

About this Series

The series "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" contains publications on theory, applications, and design methods of Intelligent Systems and Intelligent Computing. Virtually all disciplines such as engineering, natural sciences, computer and information science, ICT, economics, business, e-commerce, environment, healthcare, life science are covered. The list of topics spans all the areas of modern intelligent systems and computing.

The publications within "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" are primarily textbooks and proceedings of important conferences, symposia and congresses. They cover significant recent developments in the field, both of a foundational and applicable character. An important characteristic feature of the series is the short publication time and world-wide distribution. This permits a rapid and broad dissemination of research results.

Advisory Board

Chairman

Nikhil R. Pal, Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata, India e-mail: nikhil@isical.ac.in

Members

Rafael Bello Perez, Universidad Central "Marta Abreu" de Las Villas, Santa Clara, Cuba e-mail: rbellop@uclv.edu.cu

Emilio S. Corchado, University of Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain e-mail: escorchado@usal.es

Hani Hagras, University of Essex, Colchester, UK

e-mail: hani@essex.ac.uk

László T. Kóczy, Széchenyi István University, Győr, Hungary

e-mail: koczy@sze.hu

Vladik Kreinovich, University of Texas at El Paso, El Paso, USA e-mail: vladik@utep.edu

Chin-Teng Lin, National Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan e-mail: ctlin@mail.nctu.edu.tw

Jie Lu, University of Technology, Sydney, Australia

e-mail: Jie.Lu@uts.edu.au

Patricia Melin, Tijuana Institute of Technology, Tijuana, Mexico e-mail: epmelin@hafsamx.org

Nadia Nedjah, State University of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil e-mail: nadia@eng.uerj.br

Ngoc Thanh Nguyen, Wroclaw University of Technology, Wroclaw, Poland e-mail: Ngoc-Thanh.Nguyen@pwr.edu.pl

Jun Wang, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong e-mail: jwang@mae.cuhk.edu.hk

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11156

Ravindra S. Goonetilleke Waldemar Karwowski Editors

Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors

Proceedings of the AHFE 2017 International Conference on Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, July 17–21, 2017, The Westin Bonaventure Hotel, Los Angeles, California, USA



Editors Ravindra S. Goonetilleke Department of IELM Hong Kong University of Science and Technology Kowloon, Clear Water Bay Hong Kong

Waldemar Karwowski Department of Industrial Engineering University of Central Florida Orlando, FL USA

 ISSN 2194-5357
 ISSN 2194-5365 (electronic)

 Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing
 ISBN 978-3-319-60824-2
 ISBN 978-3-319-60825-9 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9
 ISBN 978-3-319-60825-9
 ISBN 978-3-319-60825-9 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017943058

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics 2017

AHFE 2017 Series Editors



Tareq Z. Ahram, Florida, USA Waldemar Karwowski, Florida, USA

8th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics and the Affiliated Conferences

Proceedings of the AHFE 2017 International Conference on Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, July 17–21, 2017, The Westin Bonaventure Hotel, Los Angeles, California, USA

Advances in Affective and Pleasurable Design	WonJoon Chung and Cliff (Sungsoo) Shin		
Advances in Neuroergonomics and Cognitive Engineering	Carryl Baldwin		
Advances in Design for Inclusion	Giuseppe Di Bucchianico and Pete Kercher		
Advances in Ergonomics in Design	Francisco Rebelo and Marcelo Soares		
Advances in Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance	Ronald L. Boring		
Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices	Vincent G. Duffy and Nancy Lightner		
Advances in Human Factors in Simulation and Modeling	Daniel N. Cassenti		
Advances in Human Factors and System Interactions	Isabel L. Nunes		
Advances in Human Factors in Cybersecurity	Denise Nicholson		
Advances in Human Factors, Business Management and Leadership	Jussi Kantola, Tibor Barath and Salman Nazir		
Advances in Human Factors in Robots and Unmanned Systems	Jessie Chen		
Advances in Human Factors in Training, Education, and Learning Sciences	Terence Andre		
Advances in Human Aspects of Transportation	Neville A. Stanton		

(continued)

Advances in Human Factors, Software, and Systems Engineering	Tareq Z. Ahram and Waldemar Karwowski		
Advances in Human Factors in Energy: Oil, Gas, Nuclear and Electric Power Industries	Paul Fechtelkotter and Michael Legatt		
Advances in Human Factors, Sustainable Urban Planning and Infrastructure	Jerzy Charytonowicz		
Advances in the Human Side of Service Engineering	Louis E. Freund and Wojciech Cellary		
Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors	Ravindra Goonetilleke and Waldemar Karwowski		
Advances in Human Factors in Sports, Injury Prevention and Outdoor Recreation	Tareq Z. Ahram		
Advances in Safety Management and Human Factors	Pedro Arezes		
Advances in Social & Occupational Ergonomics	Richard Goossens		
Advances in Ergonomics of Manufacturing: Managing the Enterprise of the Future	Stefan Trzcielinski		
Advances in Usability and User Experience	Tareq Ahram and Christianne Falcão		
Advances in Human Factors in Wearable Technologies and Game Design	Tareq Ahram and Christianne Falcão		
Advances in Communication of Design	Amic G. Ho		
Advances in Cross-Cultural Decision Making	Mark Hoffman		

(continued)

Preface

The discipline of human factors and ergonomics (HF/E) is concerned with the design of products, process, services, and work systems to assure their productive, safe, and satisfying use by people. Physical ergonomics involves the design of working environments to fit human physical abilities. By understanding the constraints and capabilities of the human body and mind, we can design products, services, and environments that are effective, reliable, safe, and comfortable for everyday use.

A thorough understanding of the physical characteristics of a wide range of people is essential in the development of consumer products and systems. Human performance data serve as valuable information to designers and help ensure that the final products will fit the targeted population of end users. Mastering physical ergonomics and safety engineering concepts is fundamental to the creation of products and systems that people are able to use, avoidance of stresses, and minimization of the risk for accidents.

This book focuses on the advances in the physical HF/E, which are a critical aspect in the design of any human-centered technological system. The ideas and practical solutions described in the book are the outcome of dedicated research by academics and practitioners aiming to advance theory and practice in this dynamic and all-encompassing discipline. A total of seven sections presented in this book:

- I. Biomechanics and Ergonomic Modeling
- II. Ergonomic Evaluation and Interventions
- **III.** Physical Ergonomics Applications
- IV. Risk Assessment and Management
- V. Movement and Balance
- VI. Applied Ergonomics in Fashion Design and Sports Technology
- VII. Ergonomic Performance of Work Systems

Each section contains research that has been reviewed by members of the International Editorial Board. Our sincere thanks and appreciation to the Board members as listed below:

Sandra Alemany, Spain Shamsul Bahri Hj Mohd Tamrin, Malaysia Mark Boocock, New Zealand Emilio Cadavid, Colombia Jack Callaghan, Canada Wen-Ruey Chang, USA Patrick Dempsey, USA Robert Feyen, USA Jerzy Grobelny, Poland Thomas Hofmann, Germany Jon James, South Africa Henrijs Kalkis, Latvia Kentaro Kotani, Japan Y. Kwon, Korea Mark Lehto, USA Ameersing Luximon, Hong Kong Liang Ma, China S. Maly, Czech Republic J. Niu, China Enrico Occhipinti, Italy Y. Okada, Japan H. Pacaiova, Slovak Republic Gunther Paul. Australia P.K. Ray, India Uwe Reischl, USA Zenjia Roja, Latvia Luz Saenz, Colombia Juraj Sinay, Slovak Republic Shuping Xiong, Korea James Yang, USA

We hope that this book, which is the international state of the art in physical domain of human factors, will be a valuable source of theoretical and applied knowledge enabling human-centered design of variety of products, services, and systems for global markets.

July 2017

Ravindra Goonetilleke Waldemar Karwowski

Contents

Biomechanics and Ergonomic Modeling

Hand Arm Vibration, Grip Strength Assessment and the Prevalence of Health Disorders Among Stone Crushing Workers	3
Understanding Shoulder Injury Stephen Morrissey	14
Firing of a Cannon: Biomechanical Evaluation of Ergonomic Hazards Theresa Stack and Lee Ostrom	23
The Effects of a Combined Hip Flexion and Pelvis Movement Intervention on Postural Stability, Spinal Loading and Lumbar Flexion When Reaching and Lifting Grant A. Mawston, Wayne Milicich, and Mark G. Boocock	34
A Pilot Study of Gender Differences on Anthropometric Measurements in Singapore Population Yu-Chi Lee, Chun-Hsien Chen, and Li Pheng Khoo	42
Anthropometric Evaluation of the Design of the Classroom Desk for the Eighth and the Ninth Grades of Benghazi Schools Ahamed Altaboli, Najia Nawras, Ahmed Mahdi, Hanin Alzardomi, Mohammed Alyseri, and Mhammed Alkendi	52
The Biomechanics and Ergonomics of the Impact of Anti-fatigue Mats on Decreasing Whole Body Vibration Redha Taiar, Xavier Chiementin, Ellie Abdi, Guillaume Polidori, and Tareq Ahram	60

Ergonomic Evaluation and Interventions

Development of an Ergonomic Evaluation Tool for Health-Promoting Physical Workplaces	69
Manfred Dangelmaier and Pablo Theissen	
A Study of Incentive Stimulating Human Error Activity	
on Public Service	75
An Interview Study on Children's Spectacle Frame Fit	81
A Comparative Study of the Effects of Electrical Stimulation and Intermittent Compressive Forces on Soft Tissue Mechanical Properties. Ben-Yi Liau, Chien-Liang Chen, Yih-Kuen Jan, Hsin-Ying Chiu, Pei-Syuan He, and Chi-Wen Lung	89
Prospective Design of Seating Systems for Digitalized	0.0
Nico Feller, Ulf Müller, Kim-Hoa Huynh, Wolfgang Potthast, Thomas Dupré, and Joanna Funck	98
Human Factors Field Evaluation of a Blast Debris Protection	
Design Concept Katherine Blake Mitchell, Jay McNamara, and Kristine Isherwood	106
An Ergonomic Analysis of the Traditional Sorbetes Cart Angela Marie Fausto, Carla Ocampo, Krisella Robles, and Benette Custodio	114
Adoption of Construction Ergonomic Interventions on Building Construction Sites in Nigeria Ibrahim AbdulHafeez and John Smallwood	124
The Impact of Ergonomics Interventions on Musculoskeletal Injuries Among Construction Workers Emmanuel Bamfo-Agyei and Lawrence Atepor	134
Assessment in Office Work and Productivity	145
Evaluation of Bodily Discomfort of Employees in a Slaughterhouse Adriana Seára Tirloni, Diogo Cunha dos Reis, Eliane Ramos, and Antônio Renato Pereira Moro	153

Contents

Physical Ergonomics

Use of Soft Tissue Properties for Ergonomic Product Design Parth Shah, Yan Luximon, and Ameersing Luximon	165
Assessment of Human Balance Due to Recoil Destabilization Using Smart Clothing Sofia Scataglini, Elie Truyen, Paolo Perego, Johan Gallant, Damien Van Tiggelen, and Giuseppe Andreoni	172
Systems Anthropometry of Digital Human Models for Seat Design Herbert Reynolds and Gunther Paul	184
The Veronesi Method - Judicial Expertise for Physical Therapists José Ronaldo Veronesi Jr.	196
Total Force of Pinch and Grasp by Hand Postures	208
Investigation of Musculoskeletal Symptoms and Associated Risk Factors in the HORECA Sector Rute Alves, Rui B. Melo, and Filipa Carvalho	213
Risk Assessment and Management	
Investigation of the Effectiveness of European Assembly Worksheet in Assessing Organizational Measures for MSD Risk Assessment Tobias Hellig, Vera Rick, Robert Stranzenbach, Philipp Przybysz, Alexander Mertens, and Christopher Brandl	229
Analysis of Exoskeleton Introduction in Industrial Reality: Main Issues and EAWS Risk Assessment Stefania Spada, Lidia Ghibaudo, Silvia Gilotta, Laura Gastaldi, and Maria Pia Cavatorta	236
A Successful Ergonomic Solution Based on Lean Manufacturing and Participatory Ergonomics	245
Assessments of Ergonomic Risks in Banana Cultivation and Production	258
A Proposal for Field-Oriented System to Support Medical Risk Management. Support of Risk Management in Small and Medium Sized Hospital Akifumi Hiranuma and Yusaku Okada	264

Risk of Developing Musculoskeletal Disorders in a Meat Processing Plant 2 Diogo Cunha dos Reis, Adriana Seára Tirloni, Eliane Ramos, and Antônio Renato Pereira Moro				
Work Related Musculoskeletal Disorders (WRMSD) in Construction Workers and Main Causes Zenija Roja, Henrijs Kalkis, Inara Roja, and Janis Zalkalns	279			
Ultraviolet Radiation in Sunlight and Artificial Lighting Systems: Are They Alike?	287			
Ergonomic Risks of Physical Load on Administrative Workers in a Higher Education Institution 2015-Cartagena Irina Escudero	299			
Movement and Balance				
What are the Major Risk Factors for Falls AmongCommunity-Dwelling Korean Older Women?Taekyoung Kim and Shuping Xiong	311			
Acupuncture/Acupressure for Knee Osteoarthritis (OA) Relieving in the Elderly: A Review	323			
Effect of Motion Type and Inclination on Muscle Activity and Edema Vishnu Mahesh, Yueqing Li, and Brian Craig	335			
Applied Ergonomics in Fashion Design and Sports Technology				
Women's Clothing Choices are Being Inhibited by Poor Fit Tanya Dove	345			
Reading Task Investigation of the Kindle app in Three Mediums Kimberly Anne Sheen, Yan Luximon, and Jiaxin Zhang	357			
Fashion Education Innovations Based on Ergonomic DesignHong Wu, Huang Chao, and Ameersing Luximon	365			
An Explorative Study of Elderly Fashion	372			
Old Fashion to New Fashion: The Creative Fashion Design Concepts from Nail Cover of Qing Dynasty Yan Mo, Huang Chao, and Zhimei Kan	380			

Investigation on Human Body Movements and the Resulting Body Measurement Variations Ningrong Xie and P.Y. Mok		
Ergonomic Performance of Work Systems		
On Ergonomic Perception Emine Koca and Özlem Kaya	403	
Formulation of Field Data Base Model of Productivity for Standalone Sewing Machine Operation Based on Ergonomic Considerations Vishwas Deshpande, Swapna R. Ghatole, and J.P. Modak	411	
Formulation of Field Data Based Model of Human Energy Expenditure During Wheat Grinding Operation Based on Anthropometric and Ergonomic Considerations Abhijeet A. Agashe and Vishwas S. Deshpande	422	
Posture Analysis of Face Drilling Operation in Underground Mines in India: A Case Study Rahul Mondal and Pradip Kumar Ray	435	
Heart Rate Based Evaluation of Operator Fatigue and Its Effect on Performance During Pipeline Work Yanbin Wu, Takashi Miwa, and Makoto Uchida	446	
Assessment of Heat Stress Impacts on Construction Workers: A South African Exploratory Study Katlane Seema and Clinton Aigbavboa	455	
Characteristics of Cutting Performance for Japanese Sewing Scissors Made by the "So-hizukuri" Forging Process Yasuko Kitajima, Hayato Nakatani, Akihiko Goto, and Hiroyuki Hamada	466	
Eye Movement Analysis of Japanese Sewing Scissors Craftsman Yasuko Kitajima, Hayato Nakatani, Yoichiro Ogura, Akihiko Goto, Hiroyuki Hamada, and Norimichi Nanami	479	
Investigation on Effect of Mattress Hardness on Sleep Comfort of Middle-Aged and Old Women Huimin Hu, Fan Yang, Chaoyi Zhao, Hong Luo, Ying Zhang, Linghua Ran, Xin Zhang, and Haimei Wu	491	
Author Index	503	

Biomechanics and Ergonomic Modeling

Hand Arm Vibration, Grip Strength Assessment and the Prevalence of Health Disorders Among Stone Crushing Workers

Zahid Rashid^{1(⊠)}, Muhammad Shafiq¹, Paola Cocca², Filippo Marciano², and Aisha Tayyab¹

¹ University of Engineering and Technology, Taxila 47050, Punjab, Pakistan {zahid.rashid, dr.shafiq, aisha.tayyab}@uettaxila.edu.pk ² University of Brescia, Via Branze 38, 25123 Brescia, Italy {Paola.Cocca, Filippo.Marciano}@unibs.it

Abstract. This research was conducted to analyze the hand-arm vibration exposure levels in the workplace and the effects of vibrations on the health of stone crushing workers. The results suggested that the levels of vibration for rock drilling operators, measured through two different types of systems, were exceeding the Threshold Limit Values. Therefore, a higher percentage of workers may be affected with hand-arm vibration syndrome. In addition, the Hand Activity Level score was calculated with the support of a physician in order to analyze the occurrence of musculoskeletal disorders. Prolonged exposures to hand-arm vibration may also lead to loss of grip strength and proper functioning of hand. A digital hand dynamometer was used to calculate the grip strength of the workers using powered drill machine. A significant decrease of 5.86 kg of force in average grip strength of the workers was found before and after 1 h of drilling.

Keywords: Hand-transmitted vibration \cdot Hand-arm vibration \cdot Hand grip strength \cdot Vibration disorders \cdot Musculoskeletal disorders

1 Introduction

During stone crushing activities, vibrations and noise produced by equipment are among the hardest hazards the worker has to cope with. Work related health problem with occupational vibration transmitted to the hand-harm system is usually termed as Hand-Arm Vibration (HAV) syndrome and affects the workers working with powered tools and machinery. HAV is one of the factors that can cause several diseases and permanent disorders in cardiovascular, musculoskeletal and nervous system of the body. The major disorder related to hand-arm vibration exposure is known as white finger disorder [1]. For example, white finger disorder was reported to be common amongst forest workers using chain saws [2].

The likelihood of occurrence of most common upper extremity cumulative trauma disorders (CTDs) is higher amongst those workers who are working using hand arm powered tools and equipment. Vibration also produces different diseases which are related to muscles and carpal tunnel syndrome and its effects become manifold with age [3].

Effects of noise, low temperature and vibration are very dangerous for the workers. Chao et al. [4] discovered that the most dangerous of these factors (noise, vibration and low temperature) are noise and vibration. According to their research it is very difficult to assess the combined effect of noise, low temperature and vibration on the health of workers. Cardiovascular diseases and stroke in the elderly people are associated with the night time vibration and noise levels. The exposure to vibration and noise at night is more relevant for the start of cardiovascular disease than daytime vibration and noise exposure [5]. Low frequency noise affects the human health annoyance, and the occurrence of annoyance increases with higher sound pressure levels of low frequencies. Low frequency noise annoyance can cause diseases like headaches, unusual tiredness, lack of concentration, irritation, and pressure on the eardrum. Data suggest that also sleep may be negatively affected [6].

According to European legislation [7], the employers have to measure the vibration levels at appropriate intervals to lessen the risks at work. Due to practical constraints, it is very much difficult to measure for long periods; ISO 2631 standard allows the employers to take short term measurements of vibration exposure levels for evaluation [8].

Several studies have proved that the development of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) may be caused by vibration exposure, excessive biomechanical load and psychosocial factors [9]. Exposure to hand-arm vibration may cause white finger disorder which significantly affects the work ability of the workers. Stress and perception thresholds also play a vital role in determining the working capacity of the workers under HAV exposure [10].

Numerous studies have been conducted on noise levels and their adverse health effects on stone crushing workers. However, hand-arm vibration exposure due to powered drill machines, grip strength measurement before and after exposure to vibration and health issues associated with the vibration and other environmental factors were not discussed in detail in the literature.

2 Materials and Methods

To study the effects of hand-arm vibration on stone crashing workers, we visited a stone crashing site on the Margalla hills (Pakistan). There workers were working with powered hand drills to break the stone. Official approval from the site owner and consent of the workers were taken to measure the vibration and grip strength of the workers, and collect health personal data. As recommended in the literature [11], in order to reduce possible sources of stress, the workers were informed about the way the data were going to be collected and for what purpose.

At first hand arm vibration data were collected using a 5340B USB Vibration measurement system. The data acquisition system includes 7543B USB accelerometer, 6330A-pin to USB cable and 9008 VibraScoutTM Triaxial measurement software program (DYTRAN INSTRUMENTS, INC). It also includes an onboard temperature sensor. For collecting acceleration data, the sampling frequency was set at 1600 Hz with an update rate of 0.20 s and recording duration of 60 s.

Then, an Arduino board was used for HAV measurement. The Arduino board is one of the emerging devices that can be used not only for measurement of hand-arm vibration but also for robotics, as goniometer for the body assessment, to measure the PH of soil etc. There are many different products of Arduino board, but the Arduino UNO product is used for the HAV assessment by connecting it with an accelerometer.

The Arduino is a hardware device which gathers data from the working environment. It consists of different parts like USB connector, Power Connecter, analogue reference etc. The Arduino board was connected with a computer through the USB COM port. The accelerometer was connected with the Arduino UNO through the analogue for connections and the power in port using jumping wires by bread board of sequence power in port of 5 V (5 volts) with VCC_IN of Accelerometer G285 and the GND (ground) with GND (ground) of accelerometer and Analogue. In A4 of Arduino with SDA of accelerometer and A5 of Arduino of with the SCL of the accelerometer. First, we installed the Arduino software, then we used the built-in code of accelerometer for Arduino UNO (Interface is shown in Fig. 1(a)) and integrated the code to take the reading. The measures were dynamic and in three reference axes X, Y and Z. The connections and adjustment of sensor on a worker are shown in Fig. 1(a) and (b).



Fig. 1. (a) Arduino Board connections (b) Vibration reading during work.

For every worker, the measure for the first 5 to 10 s was the reference measure (along X, Y, Z axes), and the remaining measure up to 1 min was the actual measure. Then we made an Excel file to perform an analysis through Minitab software. We compared the results with international standards.

In addition, the grip strength of workers with white finger disorder was measured by means of the JAMAR® Plus+ Digital Hand Dynamometer (Fig. 2). The body of the dynamometer is made of aluminum with a scratch resistant UV coating. The dynamometer shows an isometric grip force from 0 to 200 lbs. (0–90 kg). The dynamometer is equipped with digital load cell technology which can calculate the average grip strength, standard deviation and coefficient of variation.



Fig. 2. JAMAR® Plus+ Digital Hand Dynamometer.

3 Hand-Arm Vibration Measurement

The basis for the evaluation of vibration risk is provided by ISO 5349-1:2001 [12]. The assessment of the level of exposure to vibration is based on the calculation of daily exposure A(8) expressed as equivalent continuous acceleration over an 8-h work period, that can be calculated through Eq. (1). For the determination of A(8) it is not necessary to measure over 8 h. It is sufficient to make short-term measurements during representative work periods. The results are normalized to 8 h.

$$A(8) = a_{hv} \sqrt{\frac{Te}{To}}.$$
 (1)

Where a_{hv} is the vibration total value of the frequency-weighted acceleration during the exposure to machine or process, T_e is the total daily duration of exposure and T_o is the reference duration of 8 h.

For hand-arm vibration, a_{hv} is calculated as the square root of the sum of the squares (vector sum) of the root mean square rms values a_{wx} , a_{wy} and a_{wz} . These are measured as the accelerations in three orthogonal directions and frequency-weighted. The vibrationtotal value a_{hv} is calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{a}_{\rm hv} = \sqrt{a^2 w x + a^2 w x + a^2 w x}.$$

Figure 3 shows the coordinate system used to measure HAV. As a consequence, the 3 accelerometer channels were aligned with the powered drill machines.

35 stone crushing workers using powered rock drilling machines were selected for the measurement of hand-arm vibration and hand grip strength. Both older age workers as well as younger workers were involved in the study. The vibration readings were taken 3 times for 1 min for each worker in each axis and the average of the readings was used in the study.



Fig. 3. Coordinate system used for HAV [13].

4 Results and Discussion

4.1 Vibration Levels

Figures 4, 5, 6 and 7 show time and frequency trends of vibration levels. Fluctuations in the HAV values are due to different types of rocks being drilled and the gripping of drill machines by the workers.



Fig. 4. HAV data from x-axis.



Fig. 5. HAV data from y-axis.



Fig. 6. HAV data from z-axis.



Fig. 7. HAV data from all the three axes.

The average maximum vibration levels found at x, y, z axes with the Arduino board and the USB accelerometer are shown in Table 1.

	Arduino Board		7543B USB		
			accelerometer		
	Avg. Max HAV SD		Avg. Max HAV	SD	
	(ms^{-2})	(ms^{-2})	(ms^{-2})	(ms^{-2})	
a _{wx}	16	2.22	8.5	1.53	
a _{wy}	10	3.5	12.4	2.32	
a _{wz}	24	3.74	8.1	1.43	
a _{hv}	30.53	-	17.08	-	

Table 1. HAV levels of stone crushers using hand drill machines.

According to European legislation [7], for hand-arm vibration the daily exposure limit value standardized to an 8-h reference period shall be 5 ms⁻².

Based on Eq. (1), the maximum total daily duration of exposure T_e is around 0.2 h in the case of Arduino board and 0.7 h in the case of the USB accelerometer. These durations are extremely short and unlikely for stone crashing activity. These results are consistent also with the TLV recommended by ACGIH. Indeed, according to ACGIH the maximum value of the acceleration which shall not be exceeded for a total daily exposure duration less than 1 h is equal to 12 ms⁻².

4.2 Health Hazards and Working Conditions at Crushing Site

Only few workers out of the 35 included in the study have knowledge of vibration exposure and hazards related to noisy environment. A general survey form was used with the support of a physician to collect the data of health hazards of workers at crushing site. Figure 8 shows the percentage of workers affected from different types of occupational pain and diseases.



Percentage of Health Hazards

Fig. 8. Health issues of stone crushing operators.

Most of the diseases were found in old aged people probably due to their long exposure to difficult working environment. Annoyance & aggression was found in 71.43% of the workers and the main cause could be high noise level and high temperature at the crushing site. Long exposure to high noise levels can increase blood pressure which in turn produces annoyance and aggression. Also, nervousness, high

stress level, muscle pain and hearing problem called "tinnitus" are due to noise from drill machines and other crushing machinery [14]. About 51.42% of workers were facing the problem of Tinnitus and around 11.42% were having permanent hearing loss. 5.71% of the workers were having white finger problem while cardiovascular and respiratory problems were also significant. This was supposed to be due to the lack of protection from dust. Indeed, only few workers were using dust filters during the work. Headache problem was found in 57.14% of the workers and the main cause of this problem was probably constant blasting of rocks and high noise levels at the site. Weakness and fatigue are also associated with that cause.

Due to poor job security, the workers looked afraid in sharing their health problems during the interview; therefore, the actual percentage of diseases could have been underestimated.

4.3 Grip Strength of Stone Crushing Workers

Hand grip strength of the workers was measured using Jamar digital hand dynamometer. Measures were taken before the start of work and after using the stone drill machine for one hour (see Table 2).

Sr. No	Grip strength at start (kg)	Grip strength after 1 h of work (kg)
1	72.5	50.7
2	46.9	43.6
3	49.4	42.2
4	58.7	45.6
5	49.3	40.0
6	85.9	72.2
7	49.2	41.5
8	63.2	54.7
9	43.2	43.6
10	47.5	39.7
11	78.7	62.8
12	57.5	59.5
13	48.5	42.1
14	63.7	70.2
15	56.5	57.7
16	47.9	49.0
17	57.2	55.5
18	69.0	55.2
19	81.0	74.5
20	48.0	53.5
21	64.2	55.3

Table 2. Grip strength of stone crushing workers before and after using drill machine.

(continued)

11

Sr. No	Grip strength at start (kg)	Grip strength after 1 h of work (kg)
22	67.8	67.3
23	55.0	44.8
24	51.0	40.4
25	69.8	54.5
26	41.8	44.7
27	75.5	64.5
28	41.6	35.9
29	48.2	37.1
30	50.6	48.7
31	62.3	64.5
32	54.9	51.6
33	56.8	54.8
34	61.6	60.2
35	62.8	54.8
Average grip	58.22	52.36

 Table 2. (continued)

The results show a significant average difference of 5.86 kg of force in the grip strength of the workers. This confirms that the vibration level and fatigue level of worker significantly affect the grip strength of the workers.

4.4 Hand Activity Level (HAL) Score Levels

The ACGIH Threshold Limit Value for hand activity considers average hand activity level or "HAL" and peak hand force [15]. It represents conditions to which it is believed nearly all workers may be repeatedly exposed without adverse health effects [16]. Hand activity level was determined to know how difficult the task is and what are the health risks associated. It is aimed to monotask jobs with 4 or more hours of repetitive handwork. The HAL score was calculated only for those workers suffering from white finger disorder (see Table 3).

	No. of workers	Range	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Age	35	24.0	18.0	42.0	25.93	5.23
Daily working time	35	4.00	8.00	12.00	8.22	1.25
Hand activity level	02	2.25	6.75	9.00	7.87	1.79

Table 3. HAL scores of stone crushing workers.

According to TLV an average HAL close to 8 does not cause adverse health effects only if the normalized peak force (ten times the ratio between peak force and the posture specific reference strength) of the activity is extremely low (<2), which is an unlikely condition for stone crushing workers.

5 Conclusions and Recommendations

This research has investigated the hand-arm vibration exposure levels in the workplace and the effects of vibrations on the health of stone crushing workers. In addition, the HAL score and the loss of grip strength were calculated.

The hand-arm vibration measurement results show that the measured values of vibration are notably high. Constant exposure to such levels of vibration can cause vibration induced health disorders, mainly the white finger syndrome among the rock drill operators. Similar results were found also for the HAL score. Furthermore, a significant reduction of the grip strength of the workers was observed.

The survey indicated that the health impacts on workers include hearing disorders, dermatological impacts, respiratory problems, eye irritation, headache and accidental injuries. From the results, it can be clearly deduced that stone crushing operators are prone to various hearing and vascular disorders which in long term can produce permanent disorders.

The time of exposure to hand-arm vibration due to powered drill machine should be significantly limited in order not to affect workers' health. It seems that the occupational diseases associated with vibration are not given much consideration in the site under examination, and probably in the stone crushing industry in Pakistan. Increasing workers' awareness of risks connected to the use of powered machinery and of the importance of using personal protective equipment is needed. In order to investigate all the causes of musculoskeletal disorders further analysis could be carried out using the tools and methods available in the literature (e.g. [17]).

References

- Griffin, M.J., Bovenzi, M.: The diagnosis of disorders caused by hand-transmitted vibration: Southampton Workshop 2000. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 75(1–2), 1–5 (2002)
- Marjanen, Y.: Developing whole-body vibration measuring and analysis methods for enabling continuous personal exposure monitoring. Research report VTTR10797/06 (2006)
- Bovenzi, M., Zadini, A., Franzinelli, A., Borgogni, F.: Occupational musculoskeletal disorders in the neck and upper limbs of forestry workers exposed to hand-arm vibration. Ergonomics 34(5), 547–562 (1991)
- Chao, P.-C., Juang, Y.-J., Chen, C.-J., Dai, Y.-T., Yeh, C.-Y., Hu, C.-Y.: Combined effects of noise, vibration, and low temperature on the physiological parameters of labor employees. Kaohsiung J. Med. Sci. 29(10), 560–567 (2013)
- Hume, K.I., Brink, M., Basner, M.: Effects of environmental noise on sleep. Noise Health 14 (61), 297–302 (2012)

13

- Waye, K.P.: Noise and health effects of low frequency noise and vibrations: environmental and occupational perspectives. In: Encyclopedia of Environmental Health, pp. 240–253. Elsevier B.V. (2011)
- European Parliament and Council: Directive 2002/44/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 June 2002 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (vibration) (sixteenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC) (2002)
- Drugă, C., Barbu, D., Lache, S.: Vibration and the human body. Ann. Oradea Univ. Fascicle Manag. Technol. Eng. 6(16), 168–173 (2007)
- Bovenzi, M.: A follow up study of vascular disorders in vibration-exposed forestry workers. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 81(4), 401–408 (2008)
- Gerhardsson, L., Hagberg, M.: Work ability in vibration-exposed workers. Occup. Med. 64 (8), 629–634 (2014)
- 11. Cocca, P., Marciano, F., Alberti, M.: Video surveillance systems to enhance occupational safety: a case study. Saf. Sci. 84, 140–148 (2016)
- 12. Pitts, P., Brereton, P.: The development and use of tools to support workplace hand-arm vibration exposure evaluation. Acoust. Aust. 44(1), 113–120 (2016)
- International Organization for Standardization: ISO 5349-1. Mechanical vibration measurement and evaluation of human exposure to hand-transmitted vibration - Part 1: General requirements (2001)
- Mazurek, B., Olze, H., Haupt, H., Szczepek, A.J.: The more the worse: the grade of noise-induced hearing loss associates with the severity of tinnitus. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 7(8), 3071–3079 (2010)
- Franzblau, A., Armstrong, T.J., Werner, R.A., Ulin, S.S.: A cross-sectional assessment of the ACGIH TLV for hand activity level. J. Occup. Rehabil. 15(1), 57–67 (2005)
- 16. ACGIH (American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists): 2016 TLVs® and BEIs®. ACGIH, Cincinnati (2016)
- 17. Cocca, P., Marciano, F., Rossi, D.: Assessment of biomechanical risk at work: practical approaches and tools. Acta Bioeng. Biomech. **10**(3), 21–27 (2008)

Understanding Shoulder Injury

Stephen Morrissey^(∞)

Human Factors-Ergonomic Consultant Portland, Tigard, OR, USA steve.morrissey@oregon.gov

Abstract. Discomfort, restriction of motion, pain, and injuries to the hard and soft tissues of the shoulder are a frequently reported occupational and non-work issue. Outside of trauma, shoulder-related issues often result from physical stressors in the individual's overall life, from individual and personal factors and lifestyle choices. This paper will discuss the ergonomic and individual/personal risk factors associated with the development of shoulder problems to improve understanding of the multitude of sources for shoulder pain and injury, and provide guidance toward reducing shoulder injury potential through effective task, tool, and work design as well as in educated injury and accident investigations.

Keywords: Shoulder injury · Risk factors

1 Introduction

The shoulder is one part of the biomechanical chain that begins with the hands and ends in the shoulder, neck/shoulder region. Loads, motions, and postures of the hands, forearm, and upper arm are balanced by the shoulder and to some extent by the region of the neck-shoulder region, so while this paper will address "shoulder" issues, the activities of the hands and arms and their impact on the shoulder and neck-shoulder region cannot be totally ignored.

Aches and pains in the shoulder region are not unusual and the overall frequency of shoulder-related disorders is second only to those for low back problems. Reported rates for shoulder problems are quite variable, depending on the definition of "problem," with typical prevalence rates from 6% to over 26%, incidence rates of from 0.9% to over 2.6%, and with occupations, lifestyles, or sports with higher shoulder overuse having higher rates of complaints. [1–6]

2 Basic Shoulder Anatomy

The shoulder joint is the most complex and flexible joint in the body and is designed to allow considerable joint flexibility and motion rather than for overall strength and load bearing capacity. The shoulder consists of three bones, the scapula (shoulder blade), the humerus (upper arm bone), and the clavicle (collar bone); a large number of muscles

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_2

15

that support the scapula, the neck/shoulder region; and the actual shoulder joint and related supporting joints.

2.1 Bone Structure

The scapula is the origin for many of the power, stability, and motion generating muscles of the shoulder joint. There is a bone projection called the acromion that goes from the back of the scapula upwards to the clavicle where it forms the acromialclavicular (AC) joint and a second projection from the front facing side of the scapula called the coracoid process that angles upwards to the AC joint region. The gap between the AC joint and the clavicle is called the subacromial gap. The AC joint and upper end of the coracoid process are connected by a strong ligament that stabilizes the AC joint and the coracoid process and also creates a strong covering over the subacromial gap that contains bursa and through which tendons and nerves pass from the scapula to the shoulder joint.

2.2 Shoulder Joints

The primary joints in the shoulder are the Glenohumeral joint (GH) or the "shoulder joint" which is where the head of the humerus joins the shoulder joint on the scapula and three other shoulder supporting joints, the Acromialclavicular joint (AC), the Scapulothoracic joint, and the Sternoclavicular joint. These joints and associated muscles, tendons, and ligaments provide support and stability for the shoulder and the neck-shoulder complex. The GH joint is the primary joint involved in normal shoulder motion and the AC joint provides support and motion control of the shoulder and scapula, particularly with loads and awkward postures.

2.3 Shoulder Muscles and Their Actions

The flexibility, load bearing, and control of the shoulder joint rely on a number of muscles in the scapula, shoulder, upper arm, torso, and neck-shoulder region. The muscles of the scapula, upper arm, and torso allow stabilization, elevation, and positioning of the GH joint, and the rotator cuff muscles, and the deltoid and upper arm muscles allow further posture control of the GH joint and the forearm. The GH joint itself is a loose ball and socket joint that has the rounded head of the humerus held in a shallow socket in the scapula by the long tendon of the biceps, the deltoid, and the four muscles of the rotator cuff, the Infraspinatus, Supraspinatus, Subscapularis, and the Teres Minor. Additional joint stability comes from a ring of fibrous tissue around the shoulder joint socket, the labrum that deepens the socket joint and is an attachment point for a number of the tendons of the rotator cuff.

The rotator cuff muscles connect the scapula to the humerus with their tendons passing around the head of the humerus, through and around the subacromial gap and surrounding bursa to their attachments on the head of the humerus and labrum. Additional motion and stability of the shoulder joint is provided by a number of muscles, including the Deltoid, Pectoralis Major, Infraspinatus, and Latissimus Dorsi.

3 Shoulder Injury

There is a wide range of shoulder problems that can range from transient not well-defined aches, pains, and soreness of the soft tissues of the shoulder often called nonspecific disorders, NSD's, to more serious conditions such as impingement, tendonitis, bursitis, arthritic changes and tears of the rotator cuff. While rates of different types of shoulder injury vary, for purpose of this paper, the most commonly reported shoulder problems are summarized next.

3.1 Persistent Soreness, Pain

Persistent shoulder discomfort or NSD's are the most commonly reported shoulder problem and reflects the complexity of the shoulder and its response to overuse, aging, obesity, medical/personal issues, a more significant injury to the hard or soft tissues of the shoulder joint or, in some cases, radiating pain from a cervical spine injury. Psychosocial factors are also implicated in persistent shoulder soreness issues as stress can create static postures and loadings. NSD are of importance as they may reflect the early stage development of more significant injuries if exposures continue.

3.2 Shoulder Arthritis

Arthritis generally refers to degenerative changes of the cartilage including cartilage thinning, development of holes in the cartilage as thinning progresses, bone to bone contact after cartilage loss, bone spurs, and alterations in bone form associated with these changes. Shoulder arthritis generally appears in the GH or AC joints and its development is associated with heavy physical work, a history of shoulder overuse, sports, sub-traumatic injury to the shoulder, some individual or personal conditions or more commonly, a combination of the above. The term "degenerative changes" is also used to describe these injuries or changes in the joint as well as to the changes in the tendons with overuse, aging, or trauma.

3.3 Bursitis

Bursitis is the irritation and swelling of the soft lubricating sacs, the bursa, that surround the tendons and joints/bony projections. Bursa protect these structures and allow easy sliding of the tendons during shoulder and upper arm motions. Bursitis is associated with repetitive shoulder/arm motions, work with poor shoulder postures, static loadings, an impact or degenerative changes in this area, or more commonly, a combination of these factors. Age plays a role in bursitis as the lubricating power of the bursa decreases with age and with aging and overuse, the tendons also begin to wear and fray, possibly accelerating irritation of the bursa. While subacromial bursitis is most "common" due to the size of the bursa and its location in the subacromial gap, any of the other bursa can be affected.

3.4 Tendinitis

Tendonitis is an irritation or the damage/fraying of the tendons due to repetitive motion, outward arm rotation combined with abduction, overexertion, or static or awkward postures of the shoulder. The rotator cuff tendons and the supraspinatus tendon are particularly prone to this type of injury.

3.5 Impingement

Impingement (syndrome) results from the compression of the tendons of the rotator cuff, the subacromial bursa, and other soft tissues in the subacromial gap when the arms are extended overhead; with sustained or static work postures; hunched shoulders; and in tasks with the arms extended fully downwards with effort; Impingement can facilitate bursitis and arthritic changes in this joint region, bone spurs, thinning cartilage, fraying and tearing of the tendons in this region, and perhaps some types of frozen shoulder.

3.6 Frozen Shoulder (Adhesive Capsulitis)

This occurs when the joint capsule of the humerus head adheres to the shoulder blade, causing shoulder pain and stiffness. Static work with awkward or hunched shoulder postures and repetitive, heavy work with poor postures of the arms and shoulder and some types of bursitis are all linked to frozen shoulder syndrome.

3.7 Rotator Cuff Injuries

Pain, discomfort and injuries to the tendons and the muscles of the rotator cuff are a commonly reported problem and include discomfort/pain from tendonitis, changes in free movement, labrum tears, strains, degenerative changes, and tears to the rotator cuff muscles and tendons. A rotator cuff tear injury refers to the wearing, fraying, or degeneration of one of the four rotator cuff tendons, a physical tear of one of the tendons, a tear of the muscle itself or a partial or complete detachment of the tendon from its attachment point(s). Injuries to the rotator cuff result from an acute trauma to the shoulder, a fall onto an extended arm, regular or sudden rotation and abduction of the arm, a sudden heavy force on the hands when the arm is extended, exertion of effort with the hands with arms extended straight down, aging and general overuse of the shoulder. Injuries to the supraspinatus and infraspinatus are more frequently reported.

Rotator cuff tears/injuries are not always symptomatic and the rate of diagnosed nonsymptomatic rotator cuff injuries is about two to three times the rate of symptomatic rotator cuff injuries. While tears are found in all age groups, individuals above 50 years of age show an increase in both symptomatic and asymptomatic [7–9].

4 Personal and Ergonomics Risk Factors

Personal or individual features and ergonomics stressors/risk factors are both significantly associated with an increased potential for development of shoulder problems of all types. Both types are usually present at the same time with the risk of shoulder injury related to the number of risk factors present [10].

Individual or personal factors such age, sex, BMI, sports, and home activities can influence the development of shoulder injury but the picture is far from conclusive, clear, or consistent due to how data is collected and interpreted. It is also not clear if the same sets of individual/personal risk factors apply to both sexes, suggesting other factors may be in play. Some general or least contested examples include the following:

4.1 Age and Sex

While shoulder injuries appear in both sexes across all ages with males generally having a higher rate than females, there is an increase in shoulder problems, injuries, and degenerative changes of the shoulder after 50-years of age with the type of injury often highly associated with occupation, years of exposure to shoulder stressing activities/ work, lifestyle, sex, and perhaps psychosocial factors [1, 2, 4, 9-13].

4.2 Prior Upper Extremity Injury

A prior, significant musculoskeletal injury to the upper extremity is regularly reported as increasing the potential for a later upper extremity injury, including the shoulder [13] The exact reasons for this are not clear.

4.3 Obesity

This does not appear to be a singular issue independent of other medical issues, age, sex and occupation, but obesity does seem to become an issue in rotator cuff problems and "other shoulder pain and injury" as the BMI reaches 35.

4.4 Genetics

This is a complex and controversial issue as conclusions linking shoulder problems with genetic issues are often not well distinguished from effects of sex, age, and history of shoulder straining exposures [7, 14]. Genetics, as it applies to injury causality or association is an area beyond the scope of this paper.

4.5 Smoking

Smoking appears to have an adverse impact on shoulder pain, injury, and rotator cuff injury and tears, apparently due to the reduction in oxygen blood uptake in smokers that

can delay healing of injury. Other well-constructed studies of shoulder injury do not find strong support for this position [4, 13].

4.6 Sports Activities

Outside of intense, shoulder straining sports, sporting activities seem to have a mixed impact on shoulder problems [15].

5 Ergonomics Risk Factors

Ergonomics risk factors associated with shoulder problems include posture, exertion of effort, frequency, static postures, and hand-arm vibration. Almost always, a multitude of these risk factors are present at any one time which makes determining any unique contribution more difficult outside of well-controlled field studies or in a laboratory. As noted above, there is an increasing risk of shoulder overuse/injury as the number of these risk factors present in a task/activity increases.

5.1 Posture

Posture of the shoulder and the upper arm is referenced to a neutral or relaxed posture of the body where the arms are alongside the body. Motions of the arms-shoulder from this neutral posture around the body are defined in terms of abduction, adduction, flexion and extension of the shoulder-arm, and lateral or medial rotation of the arm. Awkward shoulder postures are generally considered as those activities requiring overhead work, work with hands above the shoulder, work with arms/hands behind the midline of the body, abduction of shoulders/elbow away from the body, static work in these postures.

Awkward, static, or extreme postures of the shoulder/upper arm have long been linked with the potential for development of shoulder pain and injury, particularly when other risk factors are present [4, 16]. The reviews of the scientific literature on musculoskeletal disorders, and shoulders in particular indicate there is evidence for a significant increase in shoulder problems when shoulder flexion or abduction exceeds 60° , perhaps as low as 45° [4, 12, 17–20]. From a physiological perspective, there are significant reductions in blood flow and increased tissue fatigue with arm angles as low as 30° indicating a second limiting or cautionary posture threshold to be considered, possibly explaining the large number of shoulder problems with computer based work with abducted arms/elbows, extended, abducted and externally rotated arms for mouse use [21].

5.2 Repetition

Repetition is the frequency with which a shoulder/upper arm motion is repeated and may be referenced to duration of an activity, or a static posture. The various references on shoulder injury all indicate there is evidence for a general adverse effect of "high frequency" (repetition), and for static or long duration activities but that it must be considered with other risk factors [17–19].

5.3 Hand Arm Vibration (HAV)

Hand-arm vibration is usually combined with tool weight and static postures from holding the tool, and HAV intensity and frequency content. Occupations with high (intensity or duration) HAV exposures have higher rates of shoulder injuries, tendinitis and arthritis in particular [11, 15, 22].

5.4 Heavy Work, Exertion of Effort

Work that is defined or considered as heavy, intense, or "shoulder straining" by observation, employee reports, or actual loads reports is consistently identified as a risk factor for shoulder pain and injury. While there is little clear definition on what is an acceptable load/exertion to protect the shoulder in all types of work, an upper maximum of a 10 kg load lifted/handled overhead, 25 kg for straight arm exertions with hands below knee level, and 50-kg for pushing pulling tasks are common. The various review of shoulder injury all note that load/exertion is combined with the other ergonomic risk factors as well as personal ones.

5.5 Psychosocial Factors

Psychosocial factors are a grouping of job and job-related interpersonal factors or conditions that were once ignored or grouped into "job stress". These factors include, but are not limited to lack of control of work and work pace, job ambiguity, paced work, and co-worker and supervisory interpersonal issues. While these are not as clearly controlled or quantified as ergonomics or individual risk factors, they can have an impact on the development and reporting of neck- shoulder injuries.

5.6 Shoulder Safety Recommendations/Guides

There is a general understanding of the *outer* bounds of tolerable or least stressful shoulder straining activities and postures in work and lifestyle activities. But as discussed by a number of authors, there is a lack of consistency in defining ergonomics and personal risk factors associated with shoulder injury to allow highly specific, cross task, population and age definitions of acceptable exposures [6, 19].

However, there are a number of recommendations on task/postures and loadings that are recognized as having potential for shoulder overuse, recommendations that can be used to increase alertness and appropriate response to injuries or complaints of shoulder issues. These include the following:

- Regular, repetitive, or sustained work with hands at or above shoulder or head level.
- Work requiring frequent, long reaches in front of the body.
- Lifting loads of 10 kg or more above shoulder level.

- Work that requires regular, frequent or sustained awkward postures of the shoulders, arms.
- External rotation of the hand-arm with abduction.
- Tasks requiring regular or sustained hunched shoulders such as in computer work, hand assembly.
- Elbow-shoulder abduction of more than 20 degrees.
- Using heavy, vibrating tools.
- Regular or frequent abduction or flexion of the upper arm of more than 60°.
- Exerting effort with arms extended below knee level.
- Pushing-pulling loads of more than 50-kg.
- Sustained work with elbows abducted more than 30° and abducted and extended more than 30°.
- Working for more than 10% of a work cycle with 90° or more of shoulder flexion or extension.

References

- Bodin, J., Ha, C., Le Manach, A.P., Serazin, C., Descatha, A., Leclerc, A., Goldberg, M., Roquelaure, Y.: Risk factors for incidence of rotator cuff syndrome in a large working population. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 38(5), 436–446 (2012)
- Bodin, J., Ha, C., Serazin, C., Descatha, A., Leclerc, A., Goldberg, M., Roquelaure, Y.: Effects of individual and work-related factors on incidence of shoulder pain in a large working population. J. Occup. Health. 54, 278–288 (2012)
- Gold, J.E., d'Errico, A., Katz, J.N., Gore, R., Punnett, L.: Specific and non-specific upper extremity musculoskeletal disorder syndromes in automobile manufacturing workers. Am. J. Ind. Med. 52(2), 124–132 (2009)
- NIOSH, National Institute of Occupational Health and Safety: Musculoskeletal Disorders and Workplace Factors: A critical review of the epidemiological evidence for work-related musculoskeletal disorders of the neck, upper extremity, and low back. DHHS (NIOSH) Publication, pp. 97–141 (1997)
- Sommerich, C.M., McGlothlin, J.D., Marras, W.S.: Occupational risk factors associated with soft tissue disorders of the shoulder: a review of recent investigations in the literature. Ergonomics 36(6), 697–717 (1993)
- van der Windt, D.A.W.M., Thomas, E., Pope, P.D., de Winter, A.D., Macfarlane, G.J., Bouter, L.M., Silman, A.J.: Occupational risk factors for shoulder pain: a systematic review. Occup. Environ. Med. 57, 433–442 (2000)
- Lashgari, C., Redziniak, D.: The natural history of rotator cuff tears. Curr. Orthop. Pract. 23(1), 10–13 (2012)
- Minagawa, H., Yamamoto, N., Abe, H., et al.: Prevalence of symptomatic and asymptomatic rotator cuff tears in the general population: from mass-screening in one village. J. Orthop. 10, 8–12 (2013)
- 9. Yamamoto, A., Takagishi, K., Osawa, T., et al.: Prevalence and risk factors of a rotator cuff tear in the general population. J. Shoulder Elbow Surg. **19**, 116–120 (2010)
- Harkness, E.F., Macfarlane, G.J., Nahit, E.S., Solman, A.J.: Mcbeth: Mechanical and psychosocial factors predict new onset shoulder pain: a prospective study of newly employed workers. Occup. Environ. Med. 60, 850–857 (2003)

- Miranda, H., Punnett, L., Viikari-Juntura, E., Heliovaaa, M., Knekt, P.: Physical work and chronic shoulder disorder: results of a prospective population-based study. Annu. Rheum. Dis. 67, 218–223 (2008)
- Punnett, L., Fine, L.J., Keyserling, W.M., Herrin, G.D., Chaffin, D.B.: Shoulder disorders and postural stress in automobile assembly work. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 26(4), 283–291 (2000)
- 13. Silverstein, B.A., Bao, S.S., Fan, Z.J., et al.: Rotator cuff syndrome: personal, work-related psychosocial and physical load factors. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 5, 1062–1076 (2008)
- 14. Rhode, B.A., Rhode, W.S.: Occupational risk factors for shoulder tendon disorders 2015 update. MOJ Orthop. Rheumatol. **3**(4) (2015)
- Miranda, H., Viikari-Juntura, E., Martikaien, R., Takala, E.-P., Riihimaki, H.: A prospective study of work related factors and physical exercise as predictors of shoulder pain. Occup. Environ. Med. 58, 528–534 (2001)
- 16. Bjelle, A., Hagberg, M., Michaelsson, G.: Clinical and ergonomic factors in prolonged shoulder pain among industrial workers. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 5, 205–210 (1979)
- Beach, J., Senthilselvan, A., Cherry, N.: Factors affecting work-related shoulder pain. Occup. Med. 62(6), 451–454 (2012)
- 18. Melhorn, J.M., Almadge, J.B., Ackerman III, W.E., Hyman, M.H.: AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Disease and Injury Causation, 2nd edn. AMA, USA (2014)
- 19. Punnett, L.: Musculoskeletal disorders and occupational exposures: how should we judge the evidence concerning the causal association? Scand. J. Pub. Hlth. **42**(13), 49–58 (2014)
- Svendsen, S., Bonde, J.P., Mathiassen, S.E., Stengaard-Pedersen, K., Frich, L.H.: Work related shoulder disorders: quantitative exposure-response relations with reference to arm posture. Occup. Environ. Med. 61, 844–853 (2004)
- Chaffin, D.B., Andersson, G.B.J., Martin, B.J.: Occupational Biomechanics, 4th edn. Wiley, New York (2006)
- Lashgari, C., Redziniak, D.: The natural history of rotator cuff tears. Curr. Orthop. Pract. 23(1), 10–13 (2012)

Firing of a Cannon: Biomechanical Evaluation of Ergonomic Hazards

Theresa $\text{Stack}^{1(\boxtimes)}$ and Lee Ostrom^2

 ¹ Safety, Health and Industrial Hygiene Department, Montana Tech, 1300 West Park Street, Butte, MT 59701, USA tstack@mtech.edu
 ² University of Idaho, 1776 Science Center Drive, Idaho Falls, ID 83402, USA

Abstract. Musculoskeletal-related occupational illnesses and injuries are endemic in the military and make up a majority of medical visits resulting in decreased combat readiness and degraded human performance. Twenty-five U. S. Marines were involved in a two-day observational study of their live fire exercise. Sixteen (64%) reported becoming injured after returning from combat during a "Call for Fire" exercise and four (16%) were on limited duty at the time of the study. Biomechanical modeling using Three Dimensional Static Strength Prediction Program 6.0.2 found elevated risk for the wrist and low back. The study also uncovered that the exposure profile during the support of the "Call for Fire" exercise is leading to degradations in physical performance and increased exposure to physical work place risk factors resulting in various soft tissue injuries.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot Human-systems integration \cdot Biomechanical modeling \cdot Crew fatigue \cdot M198 155-mm howitzer \cdot Ergonomic \cdot Health hazards \cdot Back injury \cdot Exertion \cdot Military \cdot Manual material handling \cdot MILSTD 1472F

1 Introduction

Artillery is a class of large military weapons built to fire munitions far beyond the range and power of infantry's small arms. Modern artillery vehicles are highly mobile weapons of great versatility providing the largest share of an army's total ground based firepower. Heavy artillery is arguably the most lethal form of land-based armament currently employed and includes the Howitizer. The M198 Howitizer is a medium-sized, towed 155 mm artillery piece, developed for service with the United States Army and Marine Corps. The crew size for the M198 Howitizer is optimal at nine [1].

Gunner in the armed forces is the term for the personnel with the primary function of using artillery. The gunners' proximity to and participation in direct combat against attacks by aircraft and land forces make it a notoriously dangerous position while in combat. There are multiple examples of weapons systems employed by military forces with minimal consideration to their impact on the Soldier because the development was during a time when occupational health was not a major concern or the impacts of
exposure was not well understood. The Textbook of Military Medicine describes multiple examples of the lack of information available during equipment development that exposed personnel to unnecessary health risks. For example, the M198 155-mm Howitizer was found to cause chest wall pain and blood in the sputum of the crew, which was later attributed to a primary blast injury caused by the physical properties of the blast wave following firing. Limiting the number of rounds fired in a designed time period was considered a control for this injury type [2–4]. However, there is a paucity of published studies that address the occupational health risks encountered by gunners during routine training activities when not deployed.

Much of the published literature has focused on artillery occupational exposures related to noise and hearing loss prevention. Additional occupational risks for gunners include non-auditory effects of excess noise, lead, and work-related stress [5, 6]. There are no known studies that have examined physical work place risk factors or biomechanical loading associated with heavy artillery.

It has, however, been established that heavy exertion can increase the risk of developing work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSDs) [7]. Further, WMSDs are often precipitated by symptoms of fatigue and pain, which can be measured and used to identify work tasks that result in an increased risk of injury [8]. In a previous paper we reported findings of self-reported levels of exertion, pain, and fatigue by gunners increasing throughout the day. Only during rest and lunch breaks was there a leveling off, but none of the average ratings returned to early morning levels. Following rest periods, the increasing trend continued throughout the remainder of the day. Exertion and fatigue trended closely, peaking before lunch and then again at the end of the day, indicating a relatively fast recovery time. The symptoms of fatigue and pain associated with heavy exertion can also decrease worker morale and lead to increased errors and reduced work quality [9].

In response to anecdotal reports of personnel becoming injured during routine training activities, the U.S. Marine Corps contacted our ergonomics consultant group to study the "Call for Fire" exercise in order to answer three questions (1) What are the injury experiences of gunners during non-combat training activities; (2) what is the biomechanical loading on the spine and other joints; and (3) are these symptoms leading to increased errors and decreased morale of the artillery crews? Our approach was to observe and obtain data for assessment using ergonomic tools. This paper described the biomechanical analyses.

2 Methods

2.1 Interviews

Each member of a Marine Corps artillery company was interviewed to determine their injury experience during non-combat training activities. Each soldier was asked their name, stature, weight, age, months in the military, months at this assignment, number of two day shoots. Anthropometric data for shoulder to mid-hand length and shoulder width was taken during the interviews. All interviews were conducted prior to assessing the 'Call for Fire' training exercise.

2.2 "Call for Fire" Exercise

The "Call for Fire" from field artillery exercise is conducted approximately every 45 days. New Second Lieutenants determine what type of artillery support they need for a scenario and call in the coordinates into a fire support center. This initiates the following steps by the gunnery crew.

- 1. The fire instructions are radioed to the recorder
 - The recorder announces the fire order
- 2. The powder man adjusts the propellant
- 3. The type of round to be fired is verified
- 4. A round is removed from the ready board and laid into the loading tray
- 5. The two loaders pick up the round
- 6. The rammer places the ram at the back of the round
- 7. The breach is opened
- 8. The loaders bring the round up to the breach
- 9. The rammer pushes the round in the breach
- 10. The loader on the right side of the loading tray releases his grip
- 11. The other loader steps back and to the left of the gun
- 12. The powder man brings up the powder and hands it to the A-gunner
- 13. The A-gunner verifies the amount of powder (propellant) and places it in the breach
- 14. The A-gunner closes the breach and places a primer in the priming hole
- 15. The lanyard is attached and then pulled and the gun fires
- 16. The A-gunner opens the breach and swabs the breach and breach plug

The process is repeated a number of times depending on the orders from the field and the specifics of that exercise. Between one and six rounds can be fired during a "Call for Fire" and should be done in rapid succession. The firing procedure used by the artillery crews is standardized and the detailed in standard operating procedures (SOPs) provided to the ergonomics team prior to the assessment [10].

The artillery crew size is variable to allow for completion of the work without a full crew. However, the optimal crew size for this job is nine people, organized as follows:

- Chief of the Gun; Gunner; A-Gunner; Recorder; Powder Man; Ammo Team Chief
- Two Ammo Handlers; Rammer

The work of the artillery crew includes some high and low-risk tasks in terms of manual handling of materials and exertion. In terms of physical stress, low-risk tasks include operating the radio, calling out instructions, and handling the powder. Higher risk tasks involving manual handling the rounds included moving, hoisting, loading, and ramming. On average, each round weighs more than 97 lb. Artillery crews lifting a round on the loading tray and ramming a round into the barrel shown in Figs. 1 and 2, respectively.



Fig. 1. Crew lifts 97 lb round and loading tray



Fig. 2. Two handlers position the tray in front of the barrel as the rammer forces the round into the barrel

3 Procedures

Following the conclusion of the personnel interviews, the crew set up the three M198 155-mm Towed Howitzer guns and firing supplies to prepare for the training exercise. A 'Call for Fire' training exercise was evaluated and video recorded on the following

two days by the research team to assess gunners' biomechanical loading as well as worker moral and errors. Minimally invasive methods were used to avoid interference with the mission. Videos were recorded at random times during the course of both days on all three guns and then later analyzed using biomechanical modeling to determine if moving the rounds produces an increased risk of injury for the combination of force and posture. Although the marines performed many physically demanding task during the exercise, moving of the rounds was the most frequent exposure.

The set-up, exercise training, breaks and teardown work of each crew was directly observed by a researcher and compared to the SOPs. Errors in the procedures were noted by the researchers, as was the time they occurred. Other general data was collected during each drill including the effective crew size, the number of rounds per fire order, changes in crew size, and comments.

The following assumptions were made to model the handling tasks and employ the MIL-STD 1742F [11]:

- The combination of lifting tasks is not accounted for in any analysis
- Length as fired (with fuse) 24 in., weight 97 lbs
- Male population
- 400 rounds were fired by each gun over a two-day period
- Each round is moved a minimum of three times
 - Staging to pallet carried a single with a lifting tool by one person. Starting and ending position of hands 36" from ground.
 - (2) Pallet to loading tray lifted from the center of the round and placed into the loading tray by one person. Starting position of the hands 16" from the ground. Ending position of the hands 6" from the ground
 - (3) Loading tray into gun barrel by two persons. Starting position of the hands 6" inches from the ground Ending position of the hands 46"

Three Dimensional Static Strength Prediction Program 6.0.2 [12] was used to model the task as well as comparing the round weight, gunner posture, frequency and duration to the weight handling limits in MIL-STD 1472F [11].

4 Results

4.1 Artillery Crew Injury Experience

Finding from a previous study seen in Table 1, support the biomechanical findings for risk of injury to the back from the loading tasks. Sixteen of 25 (64%) reported becoming injured during a routine training exercise after returning home from deployment, and four (16%) were on limited duty. Of the sixteen previously injured personnel, nine (56%) reported injuries of the back. Ten of the sixteen (62%) previously injured personnel recalled becoming injured while lifting or moving cannon rounds. The population was exclusively male between 23–31 years of age, mean 23 years (STD 1.9).

	Injured during training exercise	Injured to back	Injury while moving rounds	Limited duty because of training exercise
Yes	16	9	10	4
No	9	7	6	21
Total	25	16	16	25
Percentage (%)	64	56	62	16

Table 1. Injury experience

4.2 Biomechanical

Based on the biomechanical modeling, moving the round from the pallet to the staging area produces an increased risk of injury to the wrists, Table 2 and Fig. 3. Moving the round from the pallet to the loading tray produces the greatest spinal compression due to the squatted posture and twisted torso, Table 2 and Fig. 4. Loading the gun with the loading tray produces a moderate risk of spinal injury. The risk found with all these tasks is considered under evaluated because repetition (200 per day for 2 days) and a duration 3–6 h of lifting is not included in the biomechanical evaluation.

Body segment	Compressive forces	Result
Carrying one round from the staging	g to pallet	-
L5/S1	506 lbs \pm 30 lbs	Spinal compression below the
		action limit
Population capable of performing the	he task	
Wrist	15%	Above hazard threshold
Elbow	76%	Below hazard threshold
Shoulder	98%	Below hazard threshold
Torso	97%	Below hazard threshold
Hip	95%	Below hazard threshold
Knee	99%	Below hazard threshold
Ankle	96%	Below hazard threshold
Moving the round from the pallet to	the loading tray	
L5/S1	1762 lbs \pm 124 lbs	Spinal compression <i>above</i> the action limit
Population capable of performing the	he task	•
Wrist	23%	Above hazard threshold
Elbow	75%	Marginal
Shoulder	50%	Above hazard threshold
Torso	77%	Below hazard threshold
Hip	62%	Marginal
Knee	97%	Below hazard threshold
Ankle	84%	Below hazard threshold

Table 2. Results of biomechanical modeling

(continued)

29

Table 2. (communed)							
Body segment	Compressive forces	Result					
Moving the round and loading tray to gun (start of the task)							
L5/S1	869 lbs \pm 61 lbs	Spinal compression <i>above</i> the action limit					
Population capable of performing the task							
Wrist, Elbow, Shoulder, Torso, Hip, Ankle	95%-99%	Below hazard threshold					
Knee	78%	Below hazard threshold					
Moving the round and loading tray	to gun (end of the task))					
L5/S1	$359 \text{ lbs} \pm 21 \text{ lbs}$	Spinal compression <i>below</i> the action limit					
Population capable of performing the	he task						
Wrist	69%	Below hazard threshold					
Elbow, Shoulder, Torso, Hip, Ankle, Knee	97–100%	Below hazard threshold					

 Table 2. (continued)

Lifting analysis using the Department of Defense Design Criteria Stand for Human Engineering (MIL-STD 1492F) Sect. 5.9.11.3 [11] produced similar results as seen in Table 3, biomechanical modeling.



Fig. 3. Carrying one round from the staging area to the pallet



Fig. 4. Moving the round from the pallet to the loading tray

Weight	Task factors	Result
Move one i	round from staging to pallet and move one	e round from pallet to loading tray
64 lbs	Recommended weight limit for a	Round weight exceeds recommended
	one-man carry is 82lbs under optimal	carrying weight, the task is therefore
	conditions. This value is discounted	considered above hazard threshold
	(reduced) by 22% due to the frequency	
	of the exposure. Assume 200 lifts in a	
	9 h day (2.7 lifts per minute)	
Moving the	round and the loading tray to the gun (st	tart of task)
136 lbs	Recommended weight limit for a two-man lift (below 36") is 174 lbs under optimal conditions. This value is discounted (reduced) by 22% due to the frequency of the exposure. Assume 200 lifts in a 9 h day (2.7 lifts per minute)	Round weight does not exceeds recommended lifting weight limit, the task is therefore considered below hazard threshold

Table 3. Result of MIL-STD evaluation

(continued)

31

Weight limit	Task factors	Result
Moving the	e loading tray to gun (end of task)	
87 lbs	Recommended weight limit for a two-man lift (above 36") is 122 lbs under optimal conditions. This value is discounted (reduced) by 22% due to the frequency of the exposure. Assume 200 lifts in a 9 h day (2.7 lifts per minute)	Round weight exceeds recommended lifting weight limit, the task is therefore considered above hazard threshold

 Table 3. (continued)

4.3 Errors and Crew Morale

Table 4 summarizes the errors in procedures that were noted by researchers for one of the three active cannons. These errors were deviations from the SOPs observed during the 'Call for Fire' exercise or the subsequent video analysis. A previous study found as fatigue, pain and exertion increased throughout the day, so did the number of errors [10]. A decrease in crew morale throughout the day was also observed, as evidenced by the in-fighting, swearing and rough handling of equipment.

Time	Comment or observation
1036	The sweat in one of the gunners eyes was so bad he jammed his finger during a load
	because he could not see.
1300	They missed ramming the round.
1311	The crew put a pallet down on the ground to set the loading tray on to make it a little
	easier for them to lift.
1440	A projectile was placed backwards onto the cradle.
1500	The A-gunner did not swab the breach between each projectile anymore.
1510	The powder man does not wait for confirmation before loading the barrel with the
	propellant.
1630	Fuse was not secured to projectile properly.
1735	A projectile was dropped from the pallet.
1745	Everyone announces being maxed out and one was very dizzy. The recorder started
	transposing numbers and then caught himself later. The crew answered back to the
	radio and began to in-fight with each other about who is carrying the burden of the
	weight.
1805	594 rounds completed for day one across three guns (approximately 200 rounds per
	gun or 16 rounds per hour).

Table 4. Time and major errors noted on day one for gun one

5 Discussion and Conclusions

The injury experience of the artillery company after returning home from combat was exceptionally high, with 64% of gunners reporting an injury during non-combat training exercises.

The vast majority of injuries suffered by gunners in our study involved the spine. These injuries are not surprising given the amount of lifting that was required during the live fire drill and the average weight per round of over 97 lb. The presence of injured gunners on limited duty during our study exacerbated the problem by reducing the crew size per gun from nine (optimal) to six. Loading and ramming tasks were not rotated when crew sizes were below optimal. The rounds are moved a minimum of two times during a single fire order. With an average of 200 rounds per day at 97 lb each, primarily three gunners lifted the combined weight of 39,200 lb per day; or each gunner lifted 13,000 lb.

Observations made in real time by the ergonomists or in subsequent video analysis indicated that errors increased and morale decreased as each day of the "Call for Fire" progressed. Therefore, it is believed that the increasing exertion, fatigue, and pain experienced by gunners in our study throughout the day resulted in these decrements of performance and morale.

The self-reported levels of exertion, pain, and fatigue reported by gunners in this study all increased throughout the day [10]. Only during rest and lunch breaks was there a leveling off, but none of the average ratings returned to early morning levels. Following rest periods, the increasing trend continued throughout the remainder of the day. Exertion and fatigue trended closely, peaking before lunch and then again at the end of the day, indicating a relatively fast recovery time. Pain levels on the other hand rose more slowly but increased throughout the day. The recovery observed in exertion and fatigue ratings during lunch was not apparent in the pain ratings.

One of the major limitations of this study was the focus on only a single artillery company and a single 'Call for Fire' exercise. The focus was limited as such because our objective was to investigate the experiences and exposures relative to this particular company. Thus, projecting these findings to other Howitzer gunnery crews should be done cautiously. However, it is believed that the study procedures presented here could aid in the assessment manual material handling jobs or tasks.

Another limitation of this study is that no statistical analyses were conducted on this convenience sample of gunners, and thus no statistical conclusions would be influenced by any unintentional and unaccounted biases.

The gunners in this study were exposed to many physical work place risk factors, including heavy lifting and carrying; awkward body positions; temperature extremes; and a fast work pace. These risk factors contributed to the remarkably high number of injuries suffered by gunners during routine out-of-combat exercises. The high number of injuries resulted in increased risk due to sub-optimal crew sizes and limited task rotation. This negative feedback loop places everyone at increased risk by degrading performance and morale.

Following the conclusion of the study, several recommendations were provided to the artillery commanders to reduce the risk of injury and errors. To limit the amount of weight handled and allow for task rotation, the crew size should be increased by either Howitzer crew members or the use of Second Lieutenants. The Second Lieutenants can be utilized to supplement the crew and clean up the dunnage. In addition, recommendations on the design of lift tray were also provided and a suggestion to elevate the loading tray. The Basic School was briefed at the conclusion of the study and supported the decision to utilize additional help.

References

- 1. Bailey, J.B.A.: Field Artillery and Firepower. Taylor and Francis Group, Philadelphia (1987)
- Gross, R.: Textbook of Military Medicine, Health Hazard Assessments. Office of the Surgeon General, Department of the Navy, Falls Church, pp. 165–195 (1993)
- 3. McClellan, G.: The Effects of MOPP4 on M198 Howitzer Crew performance. Defense Necular Agency, Alexandria (1995)
- 4. Murnyak, G.: The Risk Assessment Process used in the Army's Health Hazard Program. Defense Acquisiton University, Alexandria (2003)
- 5. Leibrecht, B.: Health Hazards Assessment Primer. Army Aeromedical Reseach Lab, Fort Rucker (1990)
- 6. Cohen, S.: Back pain during war. Arch Intern Med 169, 1916–1923 (2009)
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health: Musculoskeletal Disorders and Workplace Factors: A Critical Review of Epidemiologic Evidence for Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders of the Neck, Upper Extremity, and Low Back. Center of Disease Control and Prevention, Alanta (1997)
- Stack, T., Ostrom, L.T.: Occupational Ergonomics: A Practical Approach. Wiley, New York (2016)
- Stack, T., Autenrieth, D., Ostrom, L.: Firing of a cannon: psychophysical evaluation of ergonomic hazards. In: Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors: Proceedings of the AHFE 2016 International Conference on Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, pp. 583–593. Springer, Berlin (2016)
- United States Marine Corps: The M198, 155MM Towed Howitizer Student Reference Handbook. US Marine Corps Institute, Arlington (1992)
- 11. MIL-STD-1472F, Military Standard, Human Engineering, Design Criteria for Military Systems, Equipment, and Facilities (23 Aug 1999)
- 12. Three Dimensional Static Strength Prediction Program 6.0.2, Center for Ergonomics at the University of Michigan, College of Engineering (2009)

The Effects of a Combined Hip Flexion and Pelvis Movement Intervention on Postural Stability, Spinal Loading and Lumbar Flexion When Reaching and Lifting

Grant A. Mawston^{1(K)}, Wayne Milicich², and Mark G. Boocock¹

¹ Ergonomics and Human Factors Group, Health and Rehabilitation Research Institute, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland 1142, New Zealand {Gmawston,mboocock}@aut.ac.nz
² Optimum Results Limited, PO Box 7033 Hamilton, New Zealand wayne@ops.co.nz

Abstract. Poor balance (instability) and flexing the lumbar spine towards end range of motion are risk factors associated with low back injury. One method used by educators to improve stability and lumbar posture when reaching and lifting is to promote hip flexion and posterior movement of the pelvis. This study investigated the effects of a short-term training intervention combining hip flexion and pelvis movements on postural stability, lumbar flexion and the bending moment on the spine when reaching to lift up an object. Ten healthy male participants performed the lifting task using: (1) self-selected method; (2) the taught intervention; and (3) a preferred lifting technique. Displacement of the centre of mass and lumbar flexion were significantly reduced when using the taught and preferred lifting techniques, compared to the self-selected technique (P < 0.05). In contrast, the bending moment was significantly higher for the taught intervention compared to the other two methods (P < 0.05).

Keywords: Lumbar spine \cdot Lifting and reaching \cdot Postural stability \cdot Lumbar kinematics \cdot Training

1 Introduction

Low back injuries are a major cause of work-related ill-health [1]. The aetiology of low back injuries associated with manual handling are complex, with up to 15% of LBP injuries being attributed to a loss of balance [2]. When reaching to lift up an object, postural and spinal instability combined with the high forces acting on the lumbar spine increase the risk of injury [3].

Epidemiological evidence suggests that up to a fifth of low back injuries can been attributed to situations where postural stability is compromised [4]. When reaching beyond arms-length the centre of mass (CoM) moves forward towards the boundary of support [5] and the trunk inclines forward increasing the bending moment on the spine

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_4

[3]. The latter leads to increases in spinal compressive and shear forces. If trunk inclination is primarily achieved through lumbar spine flexion, this results in increased loading on the passive tissues of the spine [6]

Ergonomic interventions aiming to improve postural stability and reduce spinal loading have traditionally focused on redesigning the work environment to accommodate reach zones. In a number of work environments, adjusting workstation design to prevent extended reach is not always possible [7]. An alternative approach has been to promote 'safer' manual handling techniques that optimise postural stability and reduce loading on the lumbar spine. One such technique places emphasis on hip flexion [3] and posterior movement of the pelvis when inclining the trunk forward. This is believed to constrain the CoM within the base of support [8]. This study investigated the effects of using a combined hip flexion and pelvis movement technique on postural stability and spinal loading when reaching to lift a load. It compared a self-selected forward reaching technique with a prescribed reaching technique ('intervention') in order to determine the effects on postural stability and spinal loading.

2 Methods

2.1 Participants

Ten healthy adult males aged between 20 and 31 years participated in the study. Participants were excluded from the study if they had: back pain within the last six months; undergone any previous spinal surgery; any cardiovascular or neurological condition; or a musculoskeletal injury at the time of the study. The Auckland University of Technology ethics committee approved the study.

2.2 Design

The study used a repeated measures design. Participants were randomised into two groups (Group 1 and Group 2), and the sequence of exposure to the intervention differed between groups (Table 1). The independent variable was reaching technique (self-selected, instructed, and preferred) and the dependent variables were CoM displacement, trunk angle and bending moment on the trunk.

Group			Order			
Group 1	$5 \times \text{self}$ - selected technique (1)	Intervention	$5 \times \text{instructed}$ technique	5 × self- selected technique (2)	$5 \times \text{preferred}$ technique	
Group 2	5 × self- selected technique (1)	5 × self- selected technique (2)	Intervention	$5 \times \text{instructed}$ technique	$5 \times \text{preferred}$ technique	

Table 1. Randomisation of trials

3 Procedure

3.1 Maximal Functional Reach

A modified functional reach test was used to determine the maximal reach distance for each participant. During this test participants were required to stand with each foot on an AMTI (Advanced Mechanical Technology Inc., USA) force platform with their feet shoulder width apart, their toes pointing slightly outwards and their arms relaxed by their side. Foot position was marked on each of the force plates to ensure standardisation throughout the subsequent reaching and lifting trials [9]. In an upright standing position, participants were instructed to flex their shoulders to 90° while keeping their elbows extended and their hands clenched. From this position participants reached as far forward as possible. If participants lost their balance or took a step forward the test was repeated [9]. The distance achieved (maximum functional reach) during the test was calculated as the difference between the starting and final reach positions of the third metacarpophalangeal joint.

3.2 Reaching and Lifting Task

The reaching and lifting task was performed in the same starting position as the modified functional reach test. From this position, participants were instructed to reach forward and lift a box (mass of 2.6 kg), with handles, located on a table at elbow height and at 60% of their maximum function reach. The box was lifted vertically so as to be just above the table, where it was held for two seconds before being lowered back onto the table. After 2 s, participants returned to an upright standing position. Participants were given no instructions about the lifting technique to adopt (self-selected technique).

3.3 Training Intervention

Prior to repeating the lifting task, participants underwent training by a physiotherapist in the use of a technique that involved hip flexion and posterior movement of the pelvis. Participants were instructed to keep their head level and eyes looking forward throughout the task. Participants were taken through a series of progressive training steps in which key concepts were conveyed to them: "counterbalance using backward movement of the hips", "move the hips backwards until you feel a tug in your hamstrings"; "let your knees go soft"; and "raise your arms forward as you initiate hip flexion". During the intervention, the participants were asked to think about what would happen if someone were to give them a nudge and where the weight in their feet was when in the reach position. The training lasted for approximately 10 min.

3.4 Randomisation of Trials

All participants were initially required to perform five reach and lift tasks using a selfselected technique. They then underwent training in the instructed technique. They were then randomised into two groups. Group 1 received the intervention followed by five trials of the task using the instructed technique, followed by five trials using their original self-selected technique. Group 2 initially repeated the task using their self-selected technique, followed by five trials using the instructed technique. Following exposure to self-selected and instructed techniques participants were asked to perform a set of five trials using the preferred technique (Table 1).

3.5 Kinematic and Kinetic Analysis

During the reaching and lifting task 3-dimensional (3D) kinematic data was collected at a sample rate of 60 Hz using a nine-camera motion analysis system (Qualysis Medical AB, Sweden). Retro-reflective markers were attached to the skin surface of participants to identify and track the position and movement of the head, trunk, and upper and lower limb body segments. Markers attached to anatomical landmarks were used to calculate dimensions and axis of each body segment. Trunk angle was defined as the angle between the trunk and the pelvis. Three markers were attached to the box to track its movement and orientation. An initial recording of the participant in an upright standing position was used as a 'static' trial and reference posture for subsequent biomechanical modelling.

Throughout the reaching and lifting task participants stood with their feet on two AMTI (Advanced Mechanical Technology Inc., USA) force platforms. Each force platform recorded 3D ground reaction forces and moments, sampling at a rate of 1200 Hz. Kinematic and kinetic data were synchronised and collected for each trial. Raw kinematic and kinetic data were smoothed using a Butterworth lowpass, recursive filter with a cutoff frequency of 6 Hz and 12 Hz, respectively.

3.6 Biomechanical Model

A 15 segment, 3D rigid-link dynamic biomechanical model of the head, trunk (thorax and abdomen), pelvis and right and left upper and lower limbs (hand, forearm, upper arm, foot, shank and thigh) was constructed in Visual 3D (C-Motion Inc, USA) based on the anatomical and cluster markers. Body segments were represented as geometric objects and scaled according to each individual's anthropometry. Dempster's anthropometric data were used as input parameters for estimating the mass and CoM of each body segment [10]. An overall estimate of the body's CoM was determined based on the position of each body's segment's CoM. The body's CoM displacement was the distance of body's CoM from the most anterior aspect of the base of support (a line intersecting the most anterior point of the feet). A smaller distance indicated greater forward displacement of the CoM (i.e. CoM closer to the most anterior aspect of the base of support). The peak bending moment about the base of spine (L5) was calculated for the lift using inverse dynamics (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Centre of mass (CoM) distance from the anterior point of the feet. A smaller distance represents a greater anterior excursion of the CoM.

3.7 Statistical Analysis

A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures was used to determine differences between lifting and reaching technique (self-selected, instructed and preferred reaching) for CoM displacement, trunk angle and bending moment. The between subject factor was group (group 1 versus group 2) and the within subject factor was reaching technique (self-selected, instructed, and preferred). Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 21 (IBM SPSS Statistics) with an alpha level set at 0.05.

4 Results

4.1 Centre of Mass

There was a main effect of technique on CoM displacement (p < 0.05). Post hoc analysis showed that the instructed technique resulted in less anterior excursion of CoM than the



Fig. 2. Centre of mass displacement by reach technique during the lift phase. A lower value represents increased forward displacement of the CoM. NB: ** significantly different from all other conditions (P < 0.05). * significantly different from self-selected 1 and 2 (P < 0.05). CoM = Centre of Mass.

preferred reaching technique, which in turn produced significantly less displacement than the original self-selected technique (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2).

4.2 Lumbar Bending Moment

A main effect of technique was also found for peak bending moment (p < 0.05). Figure 3 shows that when using the instructed and preferred techniques, peak lumbar bending moments were significantly higher than the self-selected techniques (p < 0.05).



Fig. 3. Peak bending moment for each lifting technique. NB: ** significantly different than self-selected 1 and 2 (P < 0.05). * significantly different than self-selected 1 (P < 0.05).

4.3 Peak Trunk Flexion

Main effects were found for lifting technique and peak trunk angle (p < 0.05). Figure 4 illustrates that peak trunk flexion was significantly lower for the instructed and preferred techniques than for the self-selected lifting technique (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Peak trunk flexion for each lifting technique. NB: * significantly different than self-selected 1 (P < 0.05).

5 Discussion

This study found that a simple intervention focusing on hip flexion and posterior movement of the pelvis resulted in reduced anterior displacement of the body's CoM during a reaching and lifting task. Kozak et al. [11] showed that during rapid reaching participants adopted a strategy to reduce anterior displacement of the CoM by inclining the thigh posteriorly. From a postural stability standpoint, a reduction in the anterior excursion of CoM may act as a means to improve the 'stability margin', which is defined as the minimal distance from the CoM to the toes [12]. An increase in the stability margin reduces the likelihood of the person losing their balance and provides a 'safety' buffer for any sudden external anterior perturbation of the trunk [12].

Whilst the intervention improved stability, bending moments at the lumbar spine increased for the instructed technique compared to the self-selected and preferred techniques. A study comparing novice and experienced workers found that experienced workers are prepared to adopt lifting postures that improve postural stability at the expense of increased spinal loading [13]. The increased bending moment during the instructed technique most likely stemmed from the increased lever arm between the load and the lower back as the hips moved posteriorly. Whilst peak bending moments were higher using the instructed technique, the magnitude of the bending moment was comparable to lifting a load of approximately 5% of an individual's lifting capacity [14].

An important factor to consider when interpreting bending moments is the amount of stress placed on the passive tissues of the lumbar spine. This is primarily determined by the extent to which the lumbar spine flexes [15]. Findings from the current study showed that the instructed and preferred lifting techniques produced significantly less peak trunk flexion than the self-selected technique. Less trunk flexion is likely to lead to less lumbar flexion. A reduction in lumbar flexion, particularly near the end range of motion, has been shown to reduce the stresses on the passive tissues of the spine [15]. Furthermore, reducing lumbar spine flexion places the lower erector spinae muscles in a more mechanically advantageous position to resist anterior shear forces [16].

This study showed that participants were able to adopt and make changes to their handling technique within a short period of time. When exposed to the intervention, it appeared that participants were able to make distinctions between the self-selected and instructed technique, and elected to adopt a similar technique to the new approach when given the opportunity (i.e. preferred technique). The intervention appeared to offer benefits to the handler. However, further work is needed to determine long-term retention from training in real work situations.

6 Conclusions

A training intervention focusing on hip flexion and posterior displacement of the pelvis lead to improved postural stability and reduced trunk flexion. These benefits may outweigh the detrimental increase to bending moments on the lumbar spine, particular when handling low loads. Thus, promoting hip flexion and posterior displacement of the pelvis when reaching and lifting may be of value in some situations (e.g. moderate weights and unstable load), particularly when clients present with poor postural stability and increased lumbar flexion when lifting.

References

- Driscoll, T., Jacklyn, G., Orchard, J., Passmore, E., Vos, T., Freedman, G., Lim, S., Punnett, L.: The global burden of occupationally related low back pain: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. Ann. Rheum. Dis. **73**, 975–981 (2014)
- 2. Statistics New Zealand (2011). http://www.stats.govt.nz/browse_for_stats/health/injuries/ InjuryStatistics_HOTP10.aspx
- Esola, M.A., McClure, P.W., Fitzgerald, G.K., Siegler, S.: Analysis of lumbar spine and hip motion during forward bending in subjects with and without a history of low back pain. Spine 21, 71–78 (1996)
- 4. Accident Compensation Corporation (2012). http://www.acc.co.nz/about-acc/statistics/ injury-statistics/index.htm
- 5. Kaminski, T.R.: The coupling between upper and lower extremity synergies during whole body reaching. Gait Posture **26**, 256–262 (2007)
- 6. McGill, S.: Low Back Disorders: Evidence-Based Prevention and Rehabilitation. Human Kinetics, Champaign (2007)
- Damecour, C., Abdoli-Eramaki, M., Ghasempoor, A., Stevenson, J.: Comparison of three strategies of trunk support during asymmetric two-handed reach in standing. Appl. Ergon. 43, 121–127 (2012)
- Stapley, P., Pozzo, T., Grishin, A., Papaxanthis, C.: Investigating centre of mass stabilisation as the goal of posture and movement coordination during human whole body reaching. Biol. Cybern. 82, 161–172 (2000)
- 9. Holbein-Jenny, M.A., McDermott, K., Shaw, C., Demchak, J.: Validity of functional stability limits as a measure of balance in adults aged 23–73 years. Ergonomics **50**, 631–646 (2007)
- Dempster, W.P.: Space Requirements of the Seated Operator. Wright Patterson Air Force Base, Dayton (1955)
- Kozak, K., Ashton-Miller, J.A., Alexander, N.B.: The effect of age and movement speed on maximum forward reach from an elevated surface: a study in healthy women. Clin. Biomech. 18, 190–196 (2003)
- 12. Sparto, P.J., Parnianpour, M., Reinsel, T.E., Simon, S.: The effect of fatigue on multijoint kinematics and load sharing during a repetitive lifting test. Spine **22**, 2647–2654 (1997)
- 13. Lee, J., Nussbaum, M.A.: Experienced workers may sacrifice peak torso kinematics/kinetics for enhanced balance/stability during repetitive lifting. J. Biomech. **46**, 1211–1215 (2013)
- Song, J., Qu, X.: Effects of age and its interaction with task parameters on lifting biomechanics. Ergonomics 57, 653–668 (2014)
- 15. Adams, M.A., Dolan, P.: A technique for quantifying the bending moment acting on the lumbar spine in vivo. J. Biomech. **24**, 117–126 (1991)
- McGill, S., Hughson, R.L., Parks, K.: Changes in lumbar lordosis modify the role of the extensor muscles. Clin. Biomech. 15, 777–780 (2000)

A Pilot Study of Gender Differences on Anthropometric Measurements in Singapore Population

Yu-Chi Lee^(Z), Chun-Hsien Chen, and Li Pheng Khoo

School of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, Singapore YUCHI@ntu.edu.sg

Abstract. This pilot study aims to collect 37 body dimensions within 12 standing and 25 sitting posture from 100 subjects and to investigate the gender difference of the subjects, aged from 17 to 60 years old. The mean stature, weight, and body mass index were 173.2 cm, 69.5 kg and 23.2 kg/m² for the Singapore males, and 161.1 cm, 56.8 kg and 21.9 kg/m² for the Singapore females, respectively. The t-test results showed that gender effect was significant in 36 measurements, except sitting elbow height, chest depth and head breadth. Singapore males had larger body dimensions than females; differences between genders were about 0.7 to 17.4 cm. In addition, the correlations between selected dimensions was also demonstrated. Overall, the anthropometric data of this study can be utilized in ergonomic product, equipment and workstation design.

Keywords: Gender difference \cdot Body dimensions \cdot Anthropometry \cdot Singaporean

1 Introduction

Some problems of musculoskeletal disorder, occupational injury and pain are caused by inappropriate designs, tools and workstation. Applying adequate anthropometric data is a way to redesign products and workstations more friendly and ergonomically. Anthropometry is the study of human body measurements and its applications. Recently, anthropometry has been considered as the basic concept when designing products, tools, apparatuses and workstations to enhance users' comfort, efficiency and safety. Various groups of researchers have investigated into the relationship between anthropometric data and product/workstation. For instance, Wang et al. [1] conducted a large anthropometry survey on Taiwanese workers and pointed out the standards of primary dimensions for work environment layout planning. The application of anthropometry on product and workplace design has been reported by Hanson et al. [2] for Sweden. Kozev et al. [3] investigated the effects of human anthropometry on personal protective equipment design. In addition, Tharig et al. [4] and Gouvali and Boudolos [5] focused on comparing dimensions of students and school furniture and found that improper dimensions were been used to design desk and chair. Moreover, Vyavahare and Kallurkar [6] measured male agricultural workers' body dimensions

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_5

and suggested that modifying and redesigning of existing equipment for the workers is needed. Therefore, a lack of anthropometric consideration in workstation or tool design may result in work-related psychological discomfort [7], physical fatigue or musculoskeletal disorder problems [8]. As shown in the previous studies, anthropometric data has the great values in design and health applications.

The anthropometric data is influenced by various factors, such as gender, age, culture, nutrition, social development and population. Due to the diversity characteristic of human body dimensions, it is meaningful for each country or population to develop its own anthropometric database for providing proper and accurate measurements. Many of adult anthropometric databases have been collected from different populations including Taiwanese workers [1], Australian [9], Algerian farmers [7], Portuguese workers [10], elderly Chinese living in the Beijing [11], Filipino workers [12], Thai people [13], Turkish people [14], Sri Lankan [4], Bangladeshi male [15], Malaysian [16], male Agricultural workers of western India [6].

However, few anthropometric data and studies have been reported based on Singapore population so far. Lim et al. [17] measured body dimensions of civilian Singaporeans, but the anthropometric data collected in 1990 is old and outdated. Singh et al. [18] conducted an experiment to measure anthropometric data of Singaporean and compared the results with USA, UK, Israel and Japan population; however, the subjects in the study are limited to candidate aviators. In recent year, Chuan et al. [19] collected anthropometric data of Singaporean adults from 315 students and focused on investigating the differences between groups (overall, Singapore citizens and Singaporean Chinese) and ethnics (Singaporean versus Indonesian), excluded genders. There was a noticeable absence of research projects dealing with gender effect on body dimensions of Singaporeans.

Since anthropometric data of Singaporeans is still lacking, therefore, the main objective of this study was to establish an anthropometric database consisting of 36 body dimensions and weight of Singaporeans. This research was also investigated the gender differences on body dimensions of Singaporean adults and evaluated the correlations of the dimensions associated with stature and body weight.

2 Methods

2.1 Subjects

One hundred subjects (50 males and 50 females) were recruited in this study. Most of them were students or employees of Nanyang Technological University, Singapore. Due to the ethnic composition of Singapore is divided into several populations and the majority of ethnic is Chinese, the data of Chinese subjects were collected and analyzed in this study firstly. The age of the subjects was under 60 years old. The average age of male and female subjects was 35.5 ± 13.5 and 33.4 ± 14.3 , respectively. All subjects in this study were healthy and without any problem in normal mobility. The demographics data of the subjects are shown in Table 1. For privacy issue, all subjects were asked to sign an agreement for fully understanding the data collection and to be measured with light clothing in a room.

Age group	Male $(n = 50)$	Female $(n = 50)$
<20	0%	12%
21–30	50%	46%
31–40	16%	14%
41–50	16%	12%
51-60	18%	16%
Occupation		
Students	14%	17%
Industrial workers	11%	9%
Bankers	5%	3%
Employees	13%	13%
Doctors	2%	3%
Others	5%	5%

Table 1. Demographic distribution of subjects in this study

2.2 Body Dimensions

In total, body weight and 37 body anthropometric dimensions were collected in this study. Each measurement definition was referred to the previous studies [19–22]. Eleven measurements and 25 measurements were taken in a standing posture and in a sitting posture, respectively. Standing measurements of this study were stature, weight, eye/shoulder/elbow/hip/knuckle/fingertip height, vertical/forward grip reach, span and elbow span. Twenty-five sitting measurements were sitting height, sitting eye/shoulder/elbow/thigh/knee/popliteal height, sitting vertical grip reach, abdominal/buttock-knee/buttock-popliteal/Chest depth, shoulder-elbow/elbow-fingertip/upper limb/shoulder-grip/head/hand/foot length, and hip/biacromial/bideltoid/head/hand/foot breadth. Anthropometric dimensions could be measured from both side of a body, but only the right side measurements were taken for future data analysis.

2.3 Apparatus

The traditional manual anthropometric apparatuses were utilized in this study due to reliability, accuracy and portability considerations. The relative high accurate and precise measurements can be taken by manual measuring method when collecting anthropometric data [23–25]. Therefore, a measuring tape and two digital calipers were adopted as the apparatus to measure the 36 body dimensions. Non-stretchable measuring tape (range: 0–300 cm, resolution: 0.1 cm) was applied to measure the vertical distance to the floor, for instance, eye and shoulder height. One larger sliding caliper (range: 0–70 cm, resolution: 0.01 cm) was used for length of limbs and width measurements due to higher accuracy as compared to using the measuring tape, and the other small sliding caliper, measuring range is from 0–20 cm with resolution 0.01 cm, was used for hand and foot dimensions. A digital weighing scale (range: 0–150 kg, resolution: 0.1 kg) was used to taking body weight measurement. When measuring sitting-relative dimensions, an adjustable chair was provided to each subject. Before data collection, each apparatus was calibrated follow its' measuring standards.

2.4 Procedure

Before data collection, the subjects were informed of the aim of the study, all measurements, and procedures. Each subject has the right to quit the measurements at any time. The subjects were barefooted and wore light clothing during the data collection. All subjects were asked to perform in the same standing/sitting posture and body swings during measuring were minimized. The sequence for measuring the 37 measurements was selected randomly. The measurements were collected on the same day starting in the afternoon.

For data collection accuracy and consistency consideration, only one well-trained experimenter was asked to conduct all anthropometric measurements. The measuring tape was taped to the wall to keep it in place. The vertical dimensions were taken by eye level with the aid of a ruler to prevent parallax errors. For dimensions that are higher than eye level, the experimenter will stand on a stair for recording the measurements in order to prevent the underestimating value.

2.5 Statistical Analysis

For experimental design, the independent variable in this study was gender. Thirty-seven body dimensions were used as dependent variables. A single-factor experiment design was used to evaluate the differences between genders in the 37 measurements. The mean and standard deviation of body dimensions were reported. The gender effect on the dimensions was evaluated by t-test. The correlation coefficients among the selected measurements were calculated. All data was analyzed using SPSS 22 software package and the significance level was set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 The Anthropometric Measurements of Singapore Males and Females

The descriptive statistics of the 37 measurements, such as minimum (Min), maximum (Max), mean and standard deviation (SD), were calculated. Table 2 presents a summary of the anthropometric measurements for Singaporean males and females. Results show that the mean stature and weight was 173.2 ± 6.8 cm and 69.5 ± 9.6 kg for males. The mean stature and weight were 161.1 ± 6.1 cm and 56.8 ± 7.2 kg for females. Moreover, body mass index (BMI) is a common way used to estimate whole body fat. The calculation of BMI is dividing body weight (unit in kg) by stature squared (unit in m²). The Singapore males' and females' BMI was 23.2 kg/m² and 21.9 kg/m², respectively. It means that Singaporean males and females are in the healthy range (BMI: 18.5-24.9 kg/m²), categorized by James et al. [26] as a standard for the Asian population.

3.2 Gender Differences in the 37 Body Measurements and Compared to Previous Studies

The t-test was performed to determine the gender differences between mean values of males and females. Table 2 shows that Singaporean males had greater body dimensions than females in all the standing measurements, the differences ranged from 3.5 cm (fingertip height) to 17.4 cm (vertical grip reach). For sitting measurements, the result indicates that there were significant differences between genders in most of the selected measurements. No significant differences were observed in sitting elbow height, chest depth and head breadth between males and females.

The findings of this study have implications for product and workstation design. For example, males had higher anthropometric data than females with difference about 4.2 cm in sitting knee height and 3.2 cm in sitting popliteal height, respectively. Therefore, workstation design for males and females differ substantially as both heights for the chair and the desk will be higher for males as compared to females. This implication of measurements is to ensure that the male population has enough thigh clearance under the desk and to increase the sitting comfort as well.

In addition, two Singaporean anthropometric data, measured by Lim et al. [17] and Chuan et al. [19] were also used for comparing current and past anthropometric data of Singaporeans. The differences between two mean measurements were applied to the comparison. Results showed that more than 50% of the dimensions differed to more than 1.0 cm when comparing current study and Lim et al. [17], particularly in stature, eye height, sitting height, sitting eye height, shoulder breadth (bideltoid) and head length. The findings are in agreement with the conclusions reached by Chuan et al. [19] that there existed generation differences in Singaporeans' anthropometric data. The results also suggested that current Singaporean (both in the 2010 and in 2015) males and females are larger than those in the 1990s. Although only 100 subjects (half of each gender) were measured in this study due to time limitation, the anthropometric data in 2015 and 2010 seems to be quite similar, except for hip breadth dimension (difference about 4.5 cm). The difference might be resulted from different apparatus were used to measure body anthropometric data and different sample size [25].

3.3 Correlations Between Stature, Weight and the Other Selected Measurements

The results of the correlations between stature, weight and the other 35 body dimensions are shown in Table 3. For both genders, the results indicated that the standing measurements correlated positively with stature (r = 0.55 to 0.96, all p < 0.001) and body weight (r = 0.37 to 0.64, all p < 0.001). In addition, the majority of body dimensions with sitting measurements also associated to stature (r = 0.30 to 0.84, all p < 0.05) and to body weight (r = 0.29 to 0.69, all p < 0.05). It seems that the stature was highly related to the body dimensions in comparison with body weight. Nevertheless, no statistically significant correlation between stature and 10 of the selected measurements were obtained, such as sitting elbow height, abdominal depth, chest depth, head breadth, etc. Similar results were found in the correlations between weight and the sitting measurements.

Dimensions	Male ((n = 50))		Femal	Female $(n = 50)$			Difference	p-value
	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Mean	SD		
Standing measurement	s									
Stature*	156.0	190.0	173.2	6.8	149.0	175.0	161.1	6.1	12.1	***
Weight (kg)	51.0	95.0	69.5	9.6	42.0	76.0	56.8	7.2	12.7	***
Eye height	147.0	187.5	161.6	7.5	139.6	165.8	150.3	6.0	11.3	***
Shoulder height	129.0	164.5	145.3	6.8	124.0	149.6	134.3	5.8	11.0	***
Elbow height	99.6	124.6	109.7	5.7	91.6	116.0	101.8	5.1	7.9	***
Hip height	82.0	106.5	97.0	5.5	82.6	103.7	92.7	5.0	4.3	***
Knuckle height	66.1	87.8	76.4	4.9	62.3	82.2	71.5	3.9	4.9	***
Fingertip height	57.2	78.3	66.0	4.5	54.8	73.3	62.5	3.9	3.5	***
Vertical grip reach	181.2	225.7	204.9	10.0	171.2	203.1	187.5	8.5	17.4	***
Forward grip reach	59.0	80.0	69.2	4.7	57.2	73.8	64.2	4.5	5.0	***
Span	158.8	195.2	176.5	7.5	148.2	173.8	161.0	7.3	15.6	***
Elbow span	80.6	98.8	88.6	4.2	66.4	89.7	80.8	5.5	7.8	***
Sitting measurements										
Sitting height	76.0	97.5	88.3	4.5	72.5	93.8	84.1	4.6	4.2	***
Sitting eye height	65.0	87.2	77.1	4.8	61.8	82.5	72.7	4.3	4.4	***
Sitting shoulder	49.3	71.1	61.4	3.6	45.6	65.0	57.4	3.9	4.0	***
height										
Sitting elbow height	19.0	29.4	23.1	3.0	17.5	30.0	23.1	3.1	0.0	NS
Sitting thigh height	10.2	16.0	12.9	1.3	8.7	17.0	12.3	1.6	0.6	*
Sitting knee height	46.5	68.0	52.8	3.8	42.3	56.6	48.6	2.8	4.2	***
Sitting popliteal	39.7	49.3	43.3	2.3	35.0	45.7	40.2	2.5	3.1	***
height										
Sitting vertical grip	105.0	130.5	119.5	6.2	93.2	124.7	109.7	6.5	9.8	***
Abdominal denth	17.2	20.5	21.0	33	14.2	31.0	10.2	33	27	***
Buttock knee denth	17.2	62.4	55 /	3.5	14.2	60.0	52.0	3.5	3.1	***
Buttock popliteal	35.6	50.8	<i>11</i> 0	3.7	33.0	10.0	12.0	3.7	2.4	***
depth	55.0	50.8	44.9	5.5	33.9	49.7	42.5	5.5	2.0	
Hip breadth	25.0	37.1	31.5	2.3	23.3	35.0	30.5	2.4	1.0	*
Shoulder-elbow	29.0	41.7	37.3	2.6	29.7	39.3	34.6	2.1	2.7	***
length	41.0	50.0	16.5	2.4	27.0	40.0	10.0	2.4	1.2	ala ala ala
Elbow-fingertip	41.2	52.0	46.5	2.4	37.0	49.0	42.3	2.4	4.2	***
Upper limb length	71.0	85.5	70.0	37	64.0	78 7	72.0	35	7.0	***
Shoulder grin length	62.0	76.4	60.4	3.7	56.0	60.5	63.2	3.1	62	***
Chest depth	18.7	3/ 1	22.4	3.5	16.5	32.0	22.0	3.4	0.2	NS
Shoulder broadth	27.5	26.9	21.4	2.1	24.6	32.0	22.0	2.0	2.2	***
biacromid	21.5	50.8	51.0	2.1	24.0	54.2	20.4	2.0	5.2	
Shoulder breadth bideltoid	39.9	53.3	44.9	3.0	36.7	44.1	39.8	1.8	5.1	***
Head length	16.3	20.4	18.3	0.9	15.0	19.0	17.5	0.7	0.8	***

Table 2. The 37 anthropometric data and gender differences for Singaporeans

(continued)

Dimensions	Male $(n = 50)$			Female $(n = 50)$				Difference	p-value	
	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Mean	SD		
Head breadth	10.2	15.0	12.9	0.9	11.0	14.0	12.6	0.7	0.3	NS
Hand length	16.0	20.5	18.4	0.9	15.4	19.4	17.1	0.9	1.3	***
Hand breadth	7.0	9.2	8.1	0.5	6.4	8.3	7.1	0.4	1.0	***
Foot length	24.0	30.2	26.4	1.4	21.7	26.3	23.6	1.1	2.8	***
Foot breadth	8.3	11.4	10.3	0.7	8.0	11.1	9.2	0.6	1.1	***

 Table 2. (continued)

#; All dimension are in cm; *; p < 0.05; ***; p < 0.001; NS: non-significant

Table 3. Correlations between stature, weight and the other 35 body dimensions

Dimensions	Stature		Weight		
	Male	Female	Male	Female	
Standing measurements					
Eye height	0.963**	0.959**	0.593**	0.531**	
Shoulder height	0.922**	0.922**	0.638**	0.556**	
Elbow height	0.887**	0.890**	0.622**	0.561**	
Hip height	0.750**	0.804**	0.550**	0.369**	
Knuckle height	0.795**	0.739**	0.550**	0.488**	
Fingertip height	0.764**	0.732**	0.586**	0.443**	
Vertical grip reach	0.887**	0.881**	0.583**	0.563**	
Forward grip reach	0.672**	0.550**	0.542**	0.384**	
Span	0.856**	0.805**	0.604**	0.556**	
Elbow span	0.740**	0.719**	0.398**	0.402**	
Sitting measurement					
Sitting height	0.669**	0.545**	0.329*	0.196 NS	
Sitting eye height	0.609**	0.627**	0.335*	0.174 NS	
Sitting shoulder height	0.517**	0.572**	0.306*	0.241 NS	
Sitting elbow height	0.182 NS	0.132 NS	0.169 NS	0.180 NS	
Sitting thigh height	0.481**	0.031 NS	0.608**	0,184 NS	
Sitting knee height	0.769**	0.839**	0.655**	0.529**	
Sitting popliteal height	0.818**	0.690**	0.623**	0.401**	
Sitting vertical grip reach	0.725**	0.648**	0.471**	0.328*	
Abdominal depth	-0.057 NS	-0.150 NS	0.574**	0.526**	
Buttock-knee depth	0.740**	0.581**	0.377**	0.471**	
Buttock-popliteal depth	0.608**	0.606**	0.378**	0.498**	
Hip breadth	0.460**	0.047 NS	0.751**	0.545**	
Shoulder-elbow length	0.645**	0.675**	0.346*	0.477**	
Elbow-fingertip length	0.661**	0.765**	0.551**	0.636**	
Upper limb length	0.802**	0.737**	0.491**	0.610**	
Shoulder-grip length	0.781**	0.698**	0.471**	0.470**	

(continued)

Dimensions	Stature		Weight		
	Male	Female	Male	Female	
Chest depth	0.085 NS	-0.111 NS	0.562**	0.484**	
Shoulder breadth biacromial	0.320*	0.255 NS	0.463**	0.352*	
Shoulder breadth bi deltoid	0.404**	0.391**	0.645**	0.693**	
Head length	0.398**	0.137 NS	0.290*	-0.074 NS	
Head breadth	0.136 NS	0.205 NS	-0.010 NS	0.198 NS	
Hand length	0.647**	0.543**	0.519**	0.521**	
Hand breadth	0.211 NS	0.300*	0.130 NS	0.312*	
Foot length	0.436**	0.685**	0.610**	0.557**	
Foot breadth	0.283*	0.078 NS	0.222 NS	0.212 NS	

Table 3. (continued)

*; p < 0.05; **; p < 0.001; NS: non-significant

In general, stature and weight are highly associated with body dimensions. The results of this study were inconsistent, especially in sitting measurements. A partial explanation for this is that a common office chair with adjustable foam seat was used for body dimensions collecting experiment. The soft material of seat may lead to body surface deformation when sitting on the chair. Moreover, to maintain the same sitting posture during body dimension collecting (in total about 10 min) for each subject is difficult and it may also have contributed to the results of measurements [27, 28]. Furthermore, one possible reason for there being no statistical significance in correlation analysis may lie in the small sample size.

3.4 Limitations and Future Researches

Singapore is a multi-cultural society populated by people of different ethnic groups including Chinese, Malay, Indian and others. This pilot study only measured and compared Chinese population with small sample size (n = 100). In future, the collection of Malay and Indian populations are necessary in order to increase the sample size and representative of the entire population of Singapore. In addition, it may be of interest for future research to collect and develop an anthropometric database of elderly population.

4 Conclusions

To conclude, the present study is preliminary research on evaluating differences of anthropometric data between Singaporean males and females. Not so surprisingly, Singaporean males have larger dimensions than females in the majority of the selected anthropometric measurements. It also points out each population has specific anthropometric characteristics. In addition, the body dimensions of current Singaporean are also larger than past Singaporeans affecting by several factors, such as nutrition or ethnic composition. This can be a reason that sustainability collecting and updating of anthropometric data is needed. The findings of this study could be applied to improve the product design as well as workstation layout in Singapore for improving quality of life. Due to the limitations of this study, i.e. time and resource constraints, a collection would be conducted to gather more samples in the future.

Acknowledgements. This research was supported by the Ministry of Education, Singapore, under Research Project Number: 2013-T1-002-068. We would like to thank Mr. Jerome Low for his assistance in collecting data.

References

- Wang, E.M.Y., Wang, M.J., Yeh, W.Y., Shih, Y.C., Lin, Y.C.: Development of anthropometric work environment for Taiwanese workers. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 23(1–2), 3–8 (1999)
- Hanson, L., Sperling, L., Gard, G., Ipsen, S., Vergara, C.O.: Swedish anthropometrics for product and workplace design. Appl. Ergon. 40(4), 797–806 (2009)
- Kozey, J.W., Brooks, C.J., Dewey, S.L., Brown, R.C., Howard, K.A., Drover, D., Mackinnon, S., McCabe, J.: Effects of human anthropometry and personal protective equipment on space requirements. Occup. Ergon. 8(2–3), 67–79 (2009)
- Thariq, M.G.M., Munasinghe, H.P., Abeysekara, J.D.: Designing chairs with mounted desktop for university students: ergonomics and comfort. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 40(1), 8–18 (2010)
- Gouvali, M.K., Boudolos, K.: Match between school furniture dimensions and children's anthropometry. Appl. Ergon. 37(6), 765–773 (2006)
- 6. Vyavahare, R.T., Kallurkar, S.P.: Anthropometry of male agricultural workers of western india for the design of tools and equipments. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. **53**, 80–85 (2016)
- 7. Mokdad, M.: Anthropometric study of Algerian farmers. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 29, 331-341 (2002)
- Westgaard, R.H., Aaras, A.: Postural muscle strain as a causal factor in the development of musculoskeletal illnesses. Appl. Ergon. 15(3), 162–174 (1984)
- Kothiyal, K., Tettey, S.: Anthropometric data of elderly people in Australia. Appl. Ergon. 31 (3), 329–332 (2000)
- Barroso, M.P., Arezes, P.M., Da-Costa, L.G., Miguel, A.S.: Anthropometric study of Portuguese workers. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 35(5), 401–410 (2005)
- Hu, H., Li, Z., Yan, J., Wang, X., Xiao, H., Duan, J., Zheng, L.: Anthropometric measurement of the Chinese elderly living in the Beijing area. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 37(4), 303–311 (2007)
- Del Prado-Lu, J.L.: Anthropometric measurement of Filipino manufacturing workers. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 37(6), 497–503 (2007)
- Klamklay, J., Sungkhapong, A., Yodpijit, N., Patterson, P.E.: Anthropometry of the Southern Thai population. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 38, 111–118 (2008)
- 14. Iseri, A., Arslan, N.: Estimated anthropometric measurements of Turkish adults and effects of geographical regions. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. **39**(5), 860–865 (2009)
- 15. Khadem, M.M., Islam, M.A.: Development of anthropometric data for Bangladeshi male population. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. **44**(3), 407–412 (2014)

- Dawal, S.Z.M., Ismail, Z., Yusuf, K., Abdul-Rashid, S.H., Shalahim, N.S.M., Abdullah, N.S., Kamil, N.S.M.: Determination of the significant anthropometry dimensions for user-friendly designs of domestic furniture and appliances-Experience from a study in Malaysia. J. Meas. 59, 205–215 (2015)
- 17. Lim, L.E.N., Ngan, L.M.T., Lam, C.Y.: Anthropometry Research at NTI. HFE Seminar, Improving Human Performance and Well-Being (1990)
- Singh, J., Peng, C.M., Lim, M.K., Ong, C.N.: An anthropometric study of Singapore candidate aviators. Ergonomics 38(4), 651–658 (1995)
- 19. Chuan, T.K., Hartono, M., Kumar, N.: Anthropometry of the Singaporean and Indonesian populations. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 40, 757–766 (2010)
- 20. Wang, M.J., Wang, E.M.Y., Lin, Y.C.: The anthropometric database for children and young adults in Taiwan. Appl. Ergon. **33**, 583–585 (2002)
- Dewangan, K.N., Owarya, C., Datta, R.K.: Anthropometry of female farm worker from North Eastern India and design of hand tools of the hilly region. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 38(1), 90–100 (2008)
- 22. Sadeghi, F., Mazloumi, A., Kazemi, Z.: An anthropometric data bank for the Iranian working population with ethnic diversity. Appl. Ergon. **48**, 95–103 (2015)
- Ghoddousi, H., Edler, R., Haers, P., Wertheim, D., Greenhill, D.: Comparison of three methods of facial measurement. Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg. 36(3), 250–258 (2007)
- Mokdad, M., Al-Ansari, M.: Anthropometrics for the design of Bahraini school furniture. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 39(5), 728–735 (2009)
- 25. Lee, Y.C., Lin, G., Wang, M.J.J.: Comparing 3D foot scanning with conventional measurement methods. J. Foot Ankle Res. 7, 44 (2014). doi:10.1186/s13047-014-0044-7
- James, W.P., Chunming, C., Inoue, S.: Appropriate Asian body mass indices. Obes. Rev. 3, 139 (2002)
- 27. Lu, J.M., Wang, M.J.J., Mollard, R.: The effect of arm posture on the scan-derived measurements. Appl. Ergon. **41**(2), 236–241 (2010)
- Sousa, A.S., Sousa, O.L., Amaral, T.F.: The effect of posture on body circumferences in older adults. J. Hum. Nutr. Diet. 27(1), 80–87 (2013)

Anthropometric Evaluation of the Design of the Classroom Desk for the Eighth and the Ninth Grades of Benghazi Schools

Ahamed Altaboli⁽⁾, Najia Nawras, Ahmed Mahdi, Hanin Alzardomi, Mohammed Alyseri, and Mhammed Alkendi

Industrial and Manufacturing Systems Engineering Department, University of Benghazi, Benghazi, Libya Altaboli.UOB@gmail.com

Abstract. This study is a part of an ongoing project aiming to evaluate the existing design of the classroom desk used in the basic education stage in Benghazi schools. This study represents the fourth phase of the project covering the eighth and the ninth grades. Anthropometric data was gathered for a total of 139 students of the eighth and ninth grades from several schools in Benghazi. The evaluation procedure involves the utilization of several equations relating body dimensions to desk dimensions. Each equation computes an acceptable range for each desk dimension based on the associated body dimension. Each desk dimension is compared to the range computed for the related body dimension for each student and percentages of matches/mismatches are determined accordingly. Results of the evaluation revealed relatively high percentages of mismatches between several desk dimensions and students' anthropometry.

Keywords: Schoolchildren · Anthropometrics · School furniture · Classroom furniture · Children anthropometry

1 Introduction

This article reports the outcomes of the fourth phase in a larger ongoing project study. The overall objective of the ongoing study is to evaluate the existing design of the school furniture that currently being used in the Libyan public schools in the basic education stage and to propose potential improvements in the design accordingly. The study involves gathering related anthropometric data for the students and utilizes it to evaluate the existing and potential proposed improved designs with the objective of developing the furniture design(s) that would best fit students' anthropometry. Results of the first three phases covering the first to the seventh grades are reported in [1-3]. This article covers the results of the sixth and the seventh grades.

Anthropometric evaluation procedures of school furniture have been applied in many studies [4–13]. One widely applied procedure utilizes several equations relating body dimension(s) to the furniture dimension to be evaluated. Each equation is used to individually compare body dimension(s) of each student to the furniture dimension; the

furniture dimension is considered suitable for the student if the results of the comparison showed that it was compatible with the body dimension. This procedure was developed and applied first by Parcells et al. [4] and was further developed and applied later by Gouvali and Boudolos [5] and Agha [6]. A similar procedure was used in the first three phases of this project study [1–3] and in this current study as well.

2 Method

2.1 Participants

The school system in Libya consists of two stages: basic education and middle education. The basic stage consists of nine grades (first to ninth). The purpose of the current study is to evaluate the classroom desk used in public schools for the eighth and the ninth grades of the basic education stage. Anthropometric data for students from these two grades was gathered and used to evaluate the current design of the classroom desk. Anthropometric data were measured for a sample of a total size of 139 students aged between 13 to 19 years old. The sample was randomly selected from four schools in the city of Benghazi during the school year 2015/2016. Measurements were taken after getting permission from the officials and principals in each school and all students voluntarily participated in the study.

Seven body dimensions plus body stature were measured for each student. Measurements were taken using measuring tapes in the classroom while students were sitting on the desks wearing their everyday normal cloths and shoes. The dimensions are shown and defined in Fig. 1 and Table 1.

2.2 Measures of Classroom Desk

Public schools in Libya use one design of classroom furniture (desk) with the same dimensions (one size) for all of the nine basic education grades. This desk consists of a fixed height bench seat connected to a fixed height desk, designed to accommodate two students sitting side by side.

Six desk dimensions were evaluated in this study to see if they are compatible with related student's dimensions. These six desk dimensions are seat height, seat depth, seat width, backrest height, desk height, and under desk height. The dimensions of the desk are shown in Fig. 2 and Table 2.

2.3 Evaluation Criteria

The same evaluation criteria and procedure as the ones used in the first three phases of the study [1-3] are used in this current study. They are similar to the procedure used in [4-6]. The procedure uses several equations relating body dimension(s) to furniture dimension to be evaluated. Each equation is used to individually compare body

dimension(s) of each student to the desk dimension; the desk dimension in question is considered a match to the associated student dimension, if the results of the comparison showed that the desk dimension sets within the limits calculated by the related equation. Table 3 gives the equations used to compare each dimension of the desks. All are the same as the ones used in the first two phases of the study [1-3]. All were originally adopted from [4-6] with very few adjustments to fit requirements of the current case.



Fig. 1. The measured body dimensions

Table 1.	Definitions	of th	e measured	body	dimensions.
----------	-------------	-------	------------	------	-------------

Body dimension	Definition
Popliteal height (P)	The vertical distance from the floor to the popliteal angle at the underside of the knee where knee flexion at 90°
Popliteal-buttock length (B)	The horizontal distance from the rear of the buttock to the back of the knee
Shoulder height sitting (S)	The vertical distance from the seat surface to the top of the shoulder
Knee height (K)	The vertical distance from the floor to the upper surface of the knee with knee flexed at 90°
Elbow–height sitting (E)	The vertical distance from the seat surface to the underside of the elbow while the elbow was flexed at 90° and shoulder was flexed at 0°
Shoulder to elbow length (A)	The vertical distance from the top of the shoulder to the underside of the elbow while the elbow was flexed at 90°
Hip breadth sitting (H)	Maximum horizontal distance across the hips in the sitting position



Fig. 2. Dimensions of the classroom desk (in cm).

Dimension	Measurement (in cm)
Seat height (SH)	44.5
Seat depth (SD)	33
Seat width (SW)	55 (=110/2) ^a
Backrest height (BH)	36
Desk height (DH)	74
Under desk height (UH)	59

 Table 2.
 Dimensions of the classroom desk.

^a The total width of the bench seat is divided by two to obtain the width available for one student

Table 3. Equations used for the evaluation.

Disk dimension	Equation
Seat height (SH)	$(P + 2) \cos 30^\circ \le SH \le (P + 2) \cos 5^\circ (1)$
Seat depth (SD)	$0.80 \text{ B} \le \text{SD} \le 0.95 \text{ B} (2)$
Seat width (SW)	H + A + 5 < SW(3)
Backrest height (BH)	$0.6 \text{ S} \le \text{BH} \le 0.8 \text{ S} (4)$
Desk height (DH)	$E + (P + 2)\cos 30^\circ \le DH \le (P + 2)\cos 5^\circ + 0.8517 E + 0.1483$
	S (5)
Under desk height	$(K + 2) + 2 \le UD \le (P + 2) \cos 5^{\circ} + 0.8517 E + 0.1483 S - 4$
(UD)	(6)

3 Results

3.1 Results of Anthropometric Measurements

Table 4 summarizes the gathered anthropometric data after all the necessary corrections for cloths and shoes were made. Mean and standard deviation are summarized for each dimension, and are presented per gender for each grade.

Body dimension	Grade 8			Grade 9			
	Female	Male Total		Female	Male	Total	
	(N = 42)	(N = 30)	(N = 72)	(N = 41)	(N = 26)	(N = 6/)	
Age (in years)	14.1 (0.8)	13.4 (0.5)	13.8 (0.7)	15.2 (0.7)	15 (1.0)	15.3 (0.8)	
Stature	155.1 (4.9)	163.1 (4.5)	158.5 (6.2)	158.2 (5.7)	166.8 (9.4)	161.6 (8.4)	
Popliteal height	39.8 (2.2)	47.9 (1.2)	43.2 (4.4)	40.6 (2.2)	45.6 (2.6)	42.5 (3.4)	
Popliteal-buttock	44.0 (2.9)	49.1 (1.4)	46.1 (3.5)	45.6 (2.8)	49.3 (4.4)	47 (3.9)	
length							
Shoulder height sitting	57.1 (3.5)	49.8 (1.7)	54.1 (4.7)	57.7 (3.2)	56.2 (3.3)	57.1 (3.3)	
Knee height	47 (2)	51 (1.8)	48.3 (2.9)	48.3 (2.3)	53.8 (3.6)	50.4 (3.9)	
Elbow height sitting	21.7 (3.1)	19.8 (0.8)	20.9 (2.6)	22 (2.0)	19.6 (2.3)	21.1 (2.4)	
Shoulder to elbow	38 (2.1)	30.6 (1.6)	34.8 (4.0)	37.8 (2.1)	38.6 (3.1)	38.1 (2.6)	
length							
Hip breadth	43 (5.7)	42.1 (3.3)	42.6 (4.8)	48 (5.8)	44.8 (6.1)	46.7 (6.1)	

Table 4. Summary of the measured dimensions (mean (standard deviation), in cm).

3.2 Results of the Comparison

3.2.1 Calculations of the Acceptable Upper and Lower Limits

The students' anthropometric data gathered in this study were used to calculate the acceptable upper and lower limits for each desk dimension. The mean and standard deviation of the acceptable upper and lower limits for each desk dimension are given in Table 5.

Table 5.	Mean and standard deviation of the upper and lower acceptable limits (mean (standard
deviation),	, in cm).

Desk dimension	Existing	Limit	Grade 8			Grade 9			
	measurement		Female	Male	Total	Female	Male	Total	
Seat height	44.5	Upper	41.6 (2.1)	49.7 (1.2)	45.7 (1.7)	42.4 (2.2)	47.5 (2.6)	44.9 (2.4)	
		Lower	36.2 (1.9)	43.2 (1.1)	39.7 (1.5)	36.9 (1.9)	41.3 (2.3)	39.1 (2.1)	
Seat depth	33	Upper	41.8 (2.7)	46.6 (1.4)	44.2 (2.0)	43.3 (2.7)	46.8 (2.3)	45.1 (3.4)	
		Lower	35.2 (2.3)	39.3 (1.1)	37.2 (1.7)	36.5 (2.2)	39.4 (3.6)	37.9 (2.9)	
Seat width	55	Upper	-	-	-	-	-	-	
		Lower	85.7 (6.2)	77.7 (3.6)	81.7 (4.9)	90.7 (6.8)	88.4 (7.7)	89.6 (7.3)	
Backrest height	36	Upper	45.7 (2.8)	39.8 (1.4)	42.8 (2.1)	46.1 (2.6)	45.0 (2.6)	45.5 (2.6)	
		Lower	34.3 (2.1)	29.9 (1.0)	32.1 (1.6)	34.6 (1.9)	33.7 (2.0)	34.2 (2.0)	
Desk height	74	Upper	68.6 (3.9)	73.9 (1.5)	71.3 (2.7)	69.7 (3.1)	72.5 (3.9)	71.1 (3.5)	
		Lower	57.9 (3.8)	63.0 (1.3)	60.4 (2.5)	58.8 (2.9)	60.9 (3.5)	59.9 (3.2)	
Under desk height	59	Upper	64.6 (3.9)	69.9 (1.5)	67.3 (2.7)	65.7 (3.1)	68.5 (3.9)	67.1 (3.5)	
		Lower	51.0 (2.5)	55.0 (1.8)	53.0 (2.1)	52.3 (2.3)	57.8 (3.6)	55.0 (2.9)	

3.3 Percentages of Match/Mismatch

Using the procedure and equations described earlier, the desk dimensions were compared to the individual acceptable limits calculated for each student. The desk dimension in question is considered a match to the associated student dimension(s), if the results of the comparison showed that the desk dimension falls within the limits calculated by the related equation. If the desk dimension falls outside the limits, it is considered a mismatch; either above the upper limit or below the lower limit. A mismatch above the upper acceptable limit indicates a desk dimension larger than the related body dimension(s)/size; while, a mismatch below the lower acceptable limit indicates a desk dimension smaller than the related body dimension(s)/size. Table 6 gives the results of comparison of the desk dimensions to the related acceptable ranges. The results are summarized as percentages of match or mismatch.

Desk dimension		Grade 8			Grade 9		
		Female	Male	Total	Female	Male	Total
Seat height	Match	10	87	42	10	85	39
	Mismatch	90	13	58	90	15	61
	Above	90	0	53	90	7.5	58
	Below	0	13	5	0	7.5	3
Seat depth	Match	7	0	4	7	0	4
	Mismatch	93	100	96	93	100	96
	Above	2	0	2	0	0	0
	Below	91	100	94	93	100	96
Seat width	Match	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Mismatch	100	100	100	100	100	100
	Above	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Below	-	-	-	-	-	-
Backrest height	Match	88	100	93	88	88	88
	Mismatch	12	0	7	12	12	12
	Above	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Below	12	0	7	12	12	12
Desk height	Match	7	47	24	7	31	16
	Mismatch	93	53	76	93	69	84
	Above	93	53	76	93	69	84
	Below	0	0	0	0	0	0
Under desk height	Match	90	100	94	95	65	84
	Mismatch	10	0	6	5	35	16
	Above	10	0	6	5	0	3
	Below	0	0	0	0	35	13

 Table 6.
 Percentages (%) of match/mismatch in each grade

3.4 Analysis and Discussion

As shown in Table 6, high percentages of mismatches were found with several desk dimensions. High above the upper acceptable limits mismatches were found, for female students, with both seat height and desk height in both grades. This indicates that female students are sitting on a desk with both seat and desk surface too high for them.

For male students, much less percentages of mismatches with seat height were found and below the lower acceptable limit mismatches were also found. This indicates that seat height is suitable for relatively large number of male students however, still for many students seat height is either too high or too low.

Seat depth and seat width are smaller for students' body sizes, as indicated by the high percentages of mismatches below the lower limits found with both dimensions.

Relatively high percentages of matches are found with both backrest height and under desk height. However, with backrest height mismatches are found below the acceptable limits. This indicates that backrest height is small for many students that have larger body sizes. For under desk height, mismatches are found both above and below the acceptable limits, with percentages of mismatches above the limits in the eighth grade and higher percentages of mismatches below the limits in the ninth grade. This indicates that under desk height changes from being large to being small for students as they grow larger with age.

The above results show clearly that the desk dimensions are not appropriate for all of the students. The one size fits all idea is not a proper choice. Other design alternatives should be sought to eliminate or reduce this problem. These alternatives can range from designs of completely adjustable separated chairs and desks for use by single students to at least adjusting the dimensions of the existing desk design to reduce the percentages of mismatch as much as possible.

4 Conclusions

As with the first seven grades [1-3], with the eight and ninth grades, the evaluation revealed high percentages of mismatches between several desk dimensions and students' anthropometry. These disk dimensions include seat height, seat depth, seat width and desk height. Students are sitting on desks with seats and tables that are too high and too narrow for most of them. This could force students to sit in awkward and constrained postures, and in the long run this may result in musculoskeletal discomfort for the children that might even continue to their adulthood.

The next phase in the ongoing project study is to finish gathering anthropometric data and evaluation for the remaining two grades in the basic education stage. After that, potential improved design alternatives are going to be proposed and evaluated.

References

- Altaboli, A., Ahmida, R., Elmgrab, M., Immraga, H., Othman, R.: Using anthropometric criteria to evaluate the design of school furniture for Benghazi primary schools. In: Soares, M., Rebelo, F. (eds.) Proceedings of the 5th Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics International Conference on Advances in Ergonomics in Design, Usability and Special Populations Part I, AHFE Conference, 19–23 July 2014, vol. 16 (2014)
- Altaboli, A., Belkhear, M., Bosenina, A., Elfsei, N.: Anthropometric evaluation of the design of the classroom desk for the fourth and fifth grades of benghazi primary schools. In: Ahram, T., Karwowski, W., Schmorrow, D. (eds.) Proceedings of the 6th Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics International Conference 2015, Procedia Manufacturing, vol. 3, pp. 5655– 5662. Elsevier B.V., Amsterdam (2015)
- Altaboli, A., Elhinaid, M., Alasbali, A., Egjam, I.: Anthropometric evaluation of the design of the classroom desk for the sixth and seventh grades of Benghazi schools. In: Goonetilleke, R., Karwowski, W. (eds.) Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol 489, pp. 429–437. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Parcells, C., Manfred, S., Hubbard, R.: Mismatch of classroom furniture and body dimensions, empirical findings and health implications. J. Adolesc. Health 24(4), 265–273 (1999)
- Gouvali, M.K., Boudolos, K.: Match between school furniture dimensions and children anthropometry. Appl. Ergon. 37(6), 765–773 (2006)
- Agha, S.: School furniture match to students' anthropometry in the Gaza Strip. Ergonomics 53(3), 344–354 (2010)
- Castellucci, H.I., Arezes, P.M., Molenbroek, J.F.M.: Applying different equations to evaluate the level of mismatch between students and school furniture. Appl. Ergon. 45, 1123–1132 (2014)
- Castellucci, I., Goncalves, M., Arezes, P.: Ergonomic design of school furniture: challenges for the Portuguese schools. In: Vink, P., Kantola, J. (eds.) Advances in Occupational, Social, and Organizational Ergonomics, pp. 625–633. CRC Press, London (2010)
- García-Acosta, G., Lange-Morales, K.: Definition of sizes for the design of school furniture for Bogotá schools based on anthropometric criteria. Ergonomics 50(10), 1626–1642 (2007)
- Hedge, A., Lueder, R.: Classroom furniture. In: Lueder, R., Rice, J. (eds.) Ergonomics for Children, pp. 721–751. CRC Press, Taylor and Francis Group, London (2008)
- Macedo, A., Morais, A., Martins, F., Martins, J., Pais, S., Mayan, O.: Match between classroom dimensions and students' anthropometry: re-equipment according to european educational furniture standard. Hum. Factors 57(1), 48–60 (2015)
- Saarni, L., Nygård, C., Kaukiainen, A., Rimpelä, A.: Are the desks and chairs at school appropriate? Ergonomics 50(10), 1561–1570 (2007)
- Savanur, C., Altekar, C., De, A.: Lack of conformity between Indian classroom furniture and student dimensions: proposed future seat/table dimensions. Ergonomics 50(10), 1612–1625 (2007)
The Biomechanics and Ergonomics of the Impact of Anti-fatigue Mats on Decreasing Whole Body Vibration

Redha Taiar¹, Xavier Chiementin¹, Ellie Abdi², Guillaume Polidori¹, and Tareq Ahram^{3(还)}

¹ GRESPI, Moulin de la Housse, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, 51687 Reims Cedex 2, France {redha.taiar,xavier.chiementin,guillaume.polidor}@univ-reims.fr ² Montclair State University, Upper Montclair, NJ 07043, USA ellieabdi@verizon.net ³ University of Central Florida, IASE, 4000 Central Florida Blvd, Orlando, FL 32816, USA taregahram@gmail.com

Abstract. The standardization effort in vibration's field has unfolded the interests of industries. This research aimed at better understanding of the impact of vibration on human body. In the past years, healthcare centers and manufacturers started to equip the workplace with Anti-fatigue Mats (AFM) for the improvement of the working conditions and quality at work. This study analyzed the impact of AFM on the reduction of vibrations transmitted during the weekly activity of manufacturing workers. Seven AFM marketed by Notrax Premium Superior Manufacturing Group were tested. The laser vibrometry technique was used in order to measure vibratory displacements at various points. Under the effect of the vibrations, AFM behaved differently according to their structure and geometries. In comparison, the values obtained showed that AFM absorbed the vibration. It permitted to decrease the risks of ligamentous, or articular pathologies, which can affect employees at work. Taking into account, different results obtained showing that AFM could be used effectively in different areas of workplace, such as in medical or manufacturing settings, in order to improve working conditions.

Keywords: Biomechanics \cdot Comfort \cdot Ergonomics at work \cdot Mats \cdot Whole body vibration atigue

1 Introduction

At work, the human body experiences stress and fatigue that can negatively affect work performance and efficiency. The load-bearing, trampling, monotony, performance productivity, acoustic and vibrations' effects are many contributing factors on articular, ligamentous and muscular dysfunctions. For instance, the standing position at work for extended period of time is required for workers in many occupations, including health care workers such as nurses and surgeons [1-3]. The results can assist in the appearance of pathology that requires work obstruction, which is expensive for industries.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_7

During the past years, Anti-fatigue Mats (AFM) has appeared in the industry and was capable of improving working conditions of many professionals and workers in daily tasks.

Considering many parameters and their improvements, AFM can improve the workers' daily lives. AFM has noteworthy mechanical behavior assisting to decrease joint stresses at work and reduce discomfort caused by prolonged standing [4], since they can damp the effect of vibrations on full body motion. Indeed, due to their smart material aptitude to return to initial position, AFM has the shape-memory capacity to benefit workers by decreasing loads. This is possible according to the variation of the plantar pressure. The human body, therefore is more balanced standing on AFM in comparison to hard ground. The objective of this study was to assess and predict the mechanical behaviour of AFM vibration's effect in human.

2 Literature Review

The experimental results in biography highlighted in-significant effects on the impacts of AFM [5], nevertheless other results confirmed a positive impact on human mechanics' and behavior [6–12, 14, 15]. Concerning the effect of vibration, it is estimated that 1.7–3.6% of the European work force are exposed to vibrations transmitted to hand which have adverse effects on health and well-being. According to the results of a recent British investigation, more than one million workers are exposed to vibrations of intensity higher than expected. Estimates in the Netherlands indicate that 4 to 7% of the workers are exposed to vibrations transmitted to the workers are exposed to vibrations transmitted to the whole body. The 3rd European investigation on the work conditions carried out by the Foundation of Dublin [16], confirms that the exposure to the vibrations remains an issue and widespread in Europe.

3 Methods

A noticeable link exists between vibrations transmitted to the hand-arm system, whole body transmission and Musculo-Skeletal Body Disorders (MSBD). The mechanical vibrations transmitted to the human body generate disorders which can affect health and comfort both in short and long term periods. The vibrations transmitted to the whole body are by mobile machines (vehicle) and certain fixed machines (work station) and the vibrations transmitted to the hand-arm system are by portable machines guided with the hands.

Mainly two vibrations exposure modes were distinguished in this study. These exposures generate disorders which are, (1) mode of vascular exposure such neurological and musculoskeletal and (2) those types related to lumbar pains, back pain, neck or shoulders pain. Recent standards permit a better control of the impact on body's vibration (e.g. standards ISO 2631; ISO 7962 and ISO 5345). The dynamic behavior was evaluated for 7 mats, which have different structures or properties. The modal frequencies, damping and amplitudes allows to comprehend the behavior of the mats in front of solicitations type - trampling and/or in a vibratory environment.

4 Materials

4.1 Reducing Stress

The material properties are very important to better understanding how mats can reduce stress on human joints. The mats, which were investigated in this study, stimulated continuous micro-movements with cushioning effects. The mats ergonomic design spreads body weight evenly and supports balance, beveled edges prevent tripping on the mat. Moreover, slip resistant surface prevent slips and falls (see Fig. 1). Different tests have been conducted in order to describe the mats and their contribution in terms of accelerated wear test, protection from electrostatic discharge, static coefficient of friction, fabric graves tear strength and the compression deflection comparison.



Fig. 1. Description of the mat

5 Experimental Investigation: Mats Vibration

The dynamic behavior of 7 mats with a rectangular form of size 1000×700 mm were compared. A piezoelectric sensor triaxe DJB4524 by Brüel & Kjær-Denmark- Sound and Vibration Measurement A/S- was positioned at the center of each mat. A model was fixed with adhesive cyanoacrylate. A shock hammer provided with a force cell type 208C02 (PCB Piezotronics, USA) and used to generate the impacts needed (see Fig. 2a and b).





Fig. 2. a: Tri-axial accelerometer and shock hammer experimentation, **b:** seven different mat models (1–7 from upper left)

The data was collected by a data sink OR34 (OROS, Grenoble) with a sampling rate of 2560 Hz frequency. Each measurement lasts 1 s. The data was analyzed using the Matlab software version 7.11 (Mathworks, USA). The transfer function, see Eq. 1, was produced with a set of 5 impacts with the frequency band 0–1000 Hz. These values correspond to the frequency band recommended by the standard ISO2631. This standard related to the exposure of the whole body vibrations.

$$T_{xy}(f) = \frac{P_{xy}(f)}{P_{xx}(f)} \tag{1}$$

The transfer function is the quotient of the cross power spectral density (P_{yx}) of x and y and the power spectral density (P_{xx}) of x.

The dynamic behavior of each model was represented by its frequency, its modal damping and its amplitude. The average of T_{xy} was calculated on the study zone showing the absorbing characteristics of each mat. The frequency bands where T_{xy} was lower than 0 dB was noted, these values mean a damping of the frequency band.

Modal identification was carried out with EASY Mode software identification based on the Line-Fit method (SDOF method) giving the natural frequency, the Loss Factor and the modal constant. A Nyquist diagram and T_{xy} diagrams helped with the analyzing results and decision as for the identification.

6 Results and Discussions

The experimental results are summarized in Table 1 with identified modal parameters (frequencies, damping, amplitude) on the range 0–1000 Hz Frequencies range.

Table 1. Identified modal parameters (frequencies, damping, amplitude) on the range 0–1000 Hz. Frequencies range where T_{xy} is inferior to 0 dB. Mean transmissibility on the range 0–1000 Hz, $\overline{T_{xy}}$.

	Modal frequency (Hz)	Modale depreciation (%)	Modal amplitude (dB)	Zone where $T_{xy} < 0$ (Hz)	Mean $\overline{T_{xy}}$ (dB)
Mats 1	397/566/680	3.15/2.90/5.59	34.0/39.2/37.8	0–200	28.89
Mats 2	280/348/430	4.32/4.68/2.81	13.4/13.3/14.3	0–145; 485–1000	1.41
Mats 3	453/619	2.45/3.44	33.5/27.5	0–245	6.79
Mats 4	-	-	-	0–375	2.91
Mats 5	377/527	9.55/6.92	25.0/24.3	0–175	8.12
Mats 6	450/629	2.75/3.60	17.5/18.7	0–275	1.98
Mats 7	-	-	-	0–140	6.53

One can observe that up to 3 modes in the range 0–1000 Hz existed. Modal depreciation occurs in between 2.90 (weak damping), 9.55 (strong damping) and the modal amplitudes in between 13.3 and 39.2 Hz. The mats had very different structural properties according to their composition and geometry. The analysis of the T_{xy} average showed that the mats #1 was the most unfavorable for insulation with regard to the vibration at 28.89 dB. The mat models #2 and #6 were the most powerful on the range 0–1000 Hz. It is noted that mats #2 had a range of broader frequency where, $T_{xy} < 0$ i.e. the mat absorbed the vibrations. Mats #4 and #7 offered the similar characteristics on the whole studied frequency band due to none structural presented resonances.

The results showed that the AFM perform differently under the effect of vibrations. AFM can be a sufficient means for the reduction and prevention of pathological risk that employees and workers could undertake at the workplace. Indeed, the absorption of vibrations by AFM can decrease the possible stress risk, joint micro traumas and ligamentous. The benefit of AFM was illustrated in studies such as Taiar et al. [4] which indicated that the use of anti-fatigue mats has supported the benefits of new materials on the optimization of human mechanics. Under the present study, investigation of AFM's impact domain on the improvement of the human mechanical efficiency continues. The recognizable result in this work was the quantification of AFM vibratory damping decreased the negative effects.

7 Conclusion

The effects of the vibrations on seven AFM from the market were studied and quantified in this study. The results revealed that mats damping effect depends on composition and geometry. The AFM is used increasingly in industry with aims to improve operational comfort. In spite of the benefits shown in different studies, the AFM requires more investigations in industrial setting such as medial (e.g. surgical procedures) or Manufacturing processes (e.g. car manufacturing facilities). This study demonstrated the impact of vibration on mats.

Future research will analyse the effects of the vibrations on consumers over extended period of time. The approach will be by experimentation and simulation. First part "biomechanical simulations" which is the quantification of muscle contributions on the whole musculo-skeletal system will be utilized. The model is expected to permit adapting the AFM according to the operator's specification and type of process or need (i.e. custom mat fabrication and design to optimize results). Second part "experimental" biomechanical variables in relation to the workers' behaviour aimed to determine the objective impact of the AFM at work. The example could focus on the evolution of Center Of Pressure (COP) during the working day. The results will permit to contradict or confirm the results of other studies in reference to work done by Gregory and Callaghan [17] and Cham and Redfern [10].

Acknowledgments. The authors acknowledge the kind support provided by Notrax Premium Superior Manufacturing Group for their kind assistance with this study (http://www.notrax.eu/).

References

- 1. Baty, D., Stubbs, D.: Postural stress in geriatric nursing. Int. J. Nurs. Stud. 24, 339–344 (1987)
- Cook, J., Branch, T., Baranowski, T., Hutton, W.: The effect of surgical floor mats in prolonged standing: An EMG study of the lumbar paraspinal and anterior tibialis muscles. J. Biomed. Eng. 15, 247–250 (1993)
- Meijsen, P., Knibbe, H.: Prolonged standing in the OR: a Dutch research study. AORN J. 86, 399–414 (2007)
- Taiar, R., Ahram, T., Gardan, N., Schneider, A., Sifaki-Pistolla, D.: Impact of advance fabrics on human biomechanics: example of anti-fatigue mats. Adv. Intell. Syst. Comput. 486, 301– 313 (2016)
- Hansen, L., Winkel, J., Jørgensen, K.: Significance of mat and shoe softness during prolonged work in upright position: based on measurements of low back muscle EMG, foot volume changes, discomfort and ground force reactions. Appl. Ergon. 29(3), 217–224 (1998)
- Kim, J.Y., Stuart-Buttle, C., Marras, W.S.: The effects of mats on back and leg fatigue. Appl. Ergon. 25(1), 29–34 (1994)
- Rys, M.A.: An evaluation on floor surfaces. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors Society 33rd Annual Meeting, pp. 517–520. Human Facotrs and Ergonomics Society, Santa Monica (1989)
- 8. Redfern, M.: Influence of flooring on standing. Hum. Factors 37, 570–581 (1995)
- Madeleine, P., Voigt, M., Arendt-Nielsen, L.: Subjective, physiological, and biomechanical responses to prolonged manual work performed standing on hard and soft surfaces. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 77, 1–9 (1998)
- Cham, R., Redfern, M.: Effect of flooring on standing comfort and fatigue. Hum. Factors 43, 381–391 (2001)
- King, P.: A comparison of the effects of floor mats and shoe in-soles on standing fatigue. Appl. Ergon. 25, 477–484 (2002)
- Lin, Y.H., Chen, C.Y., Cho, M.H.: Influence of shoe/floor conditions on lower leg circumference and subjective discomfort during prolonged standing. Appl. Ergon. 43(5), 965– 970 (2012)
- Wiggermann, N., Keyserling, W.M.: Effects of anti-fatigue mats on perceived discomfort and weight-shifting during prolonged standing. Hum. Factors 55(4), 764–775 (2013). doi: 10.1177/0018720812466672
- 14. Taiar, R.: Ergonomics of the standing smart: increasing the comfort of standing workers. Adv. Hum. Factors Ergon. SET **20**, 465–471 (2014)
- Aghazadeh, J., Ghaderi, M., Azghani, M., Khalkhali, H., Allahyari, T., Mohebbi, I.: Antifatigue mats, low back pain, and electromyography: an interventional study. Int. J. Occup. Med. Environ. Health (2015). doi:10.13075/ijomeh.1896.00311
- Merllié, D., Paoli, P.: Quality of working life working conditions (2000). https:// www.eurofound.europa.eu/fr/publications/report/2001/working-conditions/third-europeansurveyon-working-conditions-2000
- 17. Gregory, D., Callaghan, J.: Prolonged standing as a precursor for the development of low back discomfort: an investigation of possible mechanisms. Gait Posture **28**, 86–92 (2008)

Ergonomic Evaluation and Interventions

Development of an Ergonomic Evaluation Tool for Health-Promoting Physical Workplaces

Manfred Dangelmaier^{1(K)} and Pablo Theissen²

¹ Fraunhofer IAO, Stuttgart, Germany manfred.dangelmaier@iao.fraunhofer.de ² University of Stuttgart IAT, Stuttgart, Germany pablo.theissen@iao.fraunhofer.de

Abstract. There is evidence that modern sedentary lifestyle is a risk factor for health, while ergonomics tends to overprotect the work force by limiting physical activity during working hours. The paper reports on the development of an Ergonomics assessment tool for simulation and field analysis. It follows a bandwidth approach targeting a balanced physical workload and is based on a review on existing evaluation methods for physical aspects of work routines and on health promotion. A workload and health-monitoring cockpit with live display and replay functionalities was developed as well as an aggregation and summary report for the comparison of variants of working sequences. First tests of the prototype showed that the implementation of the bandwidth model supports a health promotion paradigm in ergonomic workplace design. It is concluded that more research is needed to adjust and balance recommendations of physical activities and upper workload thresholds.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot Ergonomic evaluation \cdot Biomechanics \cdot Health promotion \cdot Workplace design

1 Introduction

Ergonomic evaluation tools are well-established in the field of ergonomics and are used widely in companies for the design and optimization of physical workplaces. Most of these tools were initially developed to analyze existing workplaces using a corrective approach trying to minimize the musculoskeletal load [1, 2]. Digital anthropometric human models used these same methods and tools as a fallback for an ergonomic evaluation, not making use of advanced computational capabilities. Typically, postural stress as well as lifting and handling loads and exertion of forces are evaluated [3]. All of these methods rely on observable or easily measurable factors. Methods for evaluating internal forces like muscular or tendon forces are not yet widely used.

Additionally, established ergonomic evaluation tools do not adequately consider current scientific findings [4–7] and expert views [8] on health risks resulting from the sedentary lifestyle as well as the trend to sedentary workplaces. The ergonomic assessment methods therefore contradict modern advice on healthy work. While ergonomics tries to protect the worker by enforcing upper limits regarding physical work, sports

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_8

medicine recommends extensive physical activity to prevent risks from a sedentary lifestyle. Current ergonomic evaluation tools fail to notice this salutogenic factor until now.

This paper therefore presents the development of an ergonomic evaluation system containing not only well-established ergonomic methods, anthropometry, posture, handling loads and initiating forces, but also inner muscular and tendon forces in the musculoskeletal system. Additionally, the evaluation system will recognize physical underload and recommend measures for designing workplaces more ergonomically and preventing risks from a sedentary lifestyle. The tool is developed within the context of the Fraunhofer research project "EMMA-CC", creating a cognitively controlled biomechanical human model.

2 Methods

Based on literature review as well as preliminary work in the EMMA-CC project a bandwidth model regarding physical load and stress is developed. The bandwidth model will allow recognizing both overload and underload and help to prevent these two extremes [9]. Furthermore, the literature research lays the foundation for finding and evaluating existing ergonomic methods and defining necessary data for an ergonomic evaluation. The different methods are then combined and adapted to create one summarizing evaluation tool.

This collection of evaluation methods is implemented into prototypical evaluation software to automatically analyze data generated by a human model simulation or motion capturing. We strive for a high level of usability so that industrial engineers with limited knowledge of human models and ergonomic evaluation are able to apply the tools correctly and successfully. The methods and the software are validated with various use cases of the automobile industry.

3 Results

Using a top-down principle, results were determined on three different levels of abstraction. Firstly, general requirements concerning all evaluation methods are defined. The different methods are then presented in detail and finally processed to be comprehensible and accessible for the user in a human-computer-interface.

A digital, musculoskeletal human model within the framework of the EMMA-CC project provides the input for the evaluation methods. As the evaluation methods and tools are decoupled from the human model, the data can also be input by means of motion tracking and EMG.

3.1 Bandwidth Model

The core concept of this evaluation tool is the bandwidth model, which, in contrast to the classical load and stress model not only prevents damage by physical overload (Fig. 1, left) but also considers damage by physical underload (Fig. 1, right). The evaluation methods are designed in order to ensure that work processes take place in the

optimal, harmless band. Thus, a health-promoting work design is supported. The exact position and dimension of this central band is specific to individual and affected by factors such as age, level of fitness, and more. This fact is taken into account in the evaluation methods by supporting a sample of workers (personas) to analyze each task.



Fig. 1. Left: Established ergonomic model minimizing overload. Right: Bandwidth model

3.2 Evaluation Methods

The work process is evaluated separately in the categories "posture", "muscular stress", "metabolic stress", "cognition" and "fitness". These five categories were chosen to provide a compromise between comprehensibility for non-experienced users and accuracy of the evaluation. Furthermore, the separation into different categories allows a work process to be optimized selectively, e.g. increasing the fitness level while keeping the posture evaluation on an acceptable level.

Focusing on the upper body as well as the hand-arm system, RULA ("Rapid Upper Limb Assessment", [10]) was selected as the postural evaluation tool. Accordingly, only the postural component of RULA is used, as RULA only includes a rudimentary muscular load evaluation which is covered in greater detail by the muscular evaluation component of this tool.

Muscular data provided by simulation of hill-type muscles or by EMG is evaluated using the ratio of actual to maximum muscle force F/F_{max} (also known as "%MVC", percent of maximum voluntary contraction). The muscular evaluation is carried out both for each point in time (checking F/F_{max} against given limits) as well as summarily over the entire work sequence. Latter is achieved by verifying that each muscle is in a rested state before being activated again.

For the metabolic evaluation the approach of Garg et al. [11] is used, which determines the metabolic load during physical work based on the task description and various personal parameters of the human being. The metabolic base load is determined by means of the task description, followed by an adjustment based on activity parameters (duration, movement of the work piece, working height, body weight, etc.) and personal parameters (gender, body weight, and walking speed). For a sequence of several activities, the individual metabolic loads are calculated separately and then weighted over time. In addition to the previously discussed, protective ergonomic methods, this tool processes requirements of sports and health sciences [12]. This fitness assessment includes, but is not limited to, the requirement for 10 000 steps per day (adapted to the duration of the activity, [13]) and hourly movements of the entire body to avoid unilateral stress.

3.3 User Interface

The user of the evaluation tool obtains a so-called Live Evaluation with a graphical user interface (GUI) as well as a concluding evaluation in a printable report format. These two formats supplement each other and shall be comprehensible for an industrial engineer without in-depth human factors knowledge and knowledge in digital human simulation. We only present the Live Evaluation in the following.

The Live Evaluation allows a replay of critical parts of the working scene as well as the entire simulated or recorded working scene. The user opens the recorded data or simulation file and selects a specific person (e.g. a 95th percentile male) or a group of sample personas. A digital human, shown here in the left part of the window (Fig. 2) will replay the scene. If multiple rather than one person is chosen, the "bottleneck"



Fig. 2. User interface displaying the simulation on the left-hand side and the live ergonomic evaluation on the right-hand side. A: "Workload", display for upper limit warning of postural, muscular, metabolic and cognitive overload. B: "Health & Activity", display for lower limit warning of physical underload (active time, steps, force, and flex). C: Anthropometric adjustment of human model. D: Selection of different simulation for same task for comparison of two variants $E_{1,2}$: Replay of human model simulation and video controls

person with the worst evaluation is show. This part of the interface allows the user to understand which movement patterns lead to the good or bad evaluation scores. These scores are presented on the right-hand side in the data "cockpit". On the left-hand side of the evaluation panel bar graphs with green-yellow-red color coding are shown as bar graphs for the four workload criteria "Postural", "Muscular", "Metabolic" and "Cognitive". They represent the conventional ergonomic evaluation with low workloads displaying in green, while high workloads are displayed red. On the right-hand side hand, circular diagrams represent measurements as known from today's activity tracking devices. A full circle means that the minimum recommended activity dose is reached. There are four concentric ring segments standing for "active time", "number of performed steps", "exerted forces", and "flexion of joints". The scene controls allow to run the entire scene, or to jump from critical scene to critical scene, where yellow and/or red ratings occur. In this case, only short "videos" of the related situations are shown.

4 Discussion

While the upper thresholds of the bandwidth model are well validated in applied human factors and ergonomics and are considered as assured human factors knowledge, this is not the case for the lower boundaries of recommended minimal physical activities. The evidence of health risks due to sedentary lifestyle is, in the meantime, widely acknowl-edged in life sciences. The recommended minimum doses of physical activities are, however, not very well established. Recommendations like "10 000 steps a day" cannot be considered as scientifically validated. In particular, there is a lack of long-term experience and longitudinal studies on the effect of physical activity promotion, e.g. by using activity trackers. Thus, the implemented recommendations for physical activities in our tool must still be considered as preliminary.

Another issue of the presented approach of translating the recommendations of daily activities to work shifts is that it could lead to frustration in work design. Manufacturing today is related with divided and repetitive labor. It is designed for productivity and efficiency and not for promoting physical fitness. Under given restrictions in the industry it will not be possible to reach the physical activity thresholds for most work tasks. It might therefore become necessary to adapt the objectives to boundary conditions and live with the fact that health promotion cannot be integrated as part of the working day [14].

The implementation of two forbidden bands, attempting to avoid overload with certainty on the one hand, and to promote physical activity on the other hand, might lead to contradictory interpretations of working situations. While human factors methods only in very rare conditions complain about low workload, currently known activity-tracking algorithms never warn from overload. Therefore, some work tasks appear beneficial for health, because the required minimal activities are reached. At the same time, conventional ergonomics might diagnose an unacceptably high workload at the same time. Further research is needed to clarify how practitioners will get along with such results and whether formal working situations without a green band might occur.

Concerning planned future work, the current prototype will be further developed. The cognitive workload simulation and measurement needs still to be implemented and further testing with complex working tasks will be conducted.

References

- 1. Steinberg, U.: Leitmerkmalmethode Manuelle Arbeitsprozesse 2011. Bericht über die Erprobung, Validierung und Revision; Forschung Projekt F2195. Bundesanstalt für Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin, Dortmund, Berlin, Dresden (2012)
- Schaub, K., Caragnano, G., Britzke, B., Bruder, R.: The European Assembly Worksheet. Theor. Issues Ergono. Sci. (2013). doi:10.1080/1463922X.2012.678283
- Spanner-Ulmer, B., Mühlstedt, J.: Digitale Menschmodelle als Werkzeuge virtueller Ergonomie. Ergebnisse einer empirischen Studie. Industrie-Management. Zeitschrift für industrielle Geschäftsprozesse 26(4), 69–72 (2010)
- Froböse, I., Wallmann-Sperlich, B.: Der DKV Report "Wie gesund lebt Deutschland?" 2016 (2016)
- Reimer, J., Wallmann-Sperlich, B., Froböse, I.: Die körperliche Aktivität, das Sitzverhalten und der Medienkonsum von Kindern in Deutschland. Ergebnisse und Erkenntnisse der DKV-Befragung "Wie gesund lebt Deutschland" 2015. Deutsche Jugend: Zeitschrift für die Jugendarbeit **63**(9), 383–390 (2015)
- Varo, J.J., Martinez Gonzales, M.A., de Irala Estevez, J., Kearney, J., Gibney, M., Martinez, J.A.: Distribution and determinants of sedentary lifestyles in the European Union. Int. J. Epidemiol. 32(1), 138–146 (2003)
- Owen, N., Sparling, P.B., Healy, G.N., Dunstan, D.W., Matthews, C.E.: Sedentary behavior: emerging evidence for a new health risk. Mayo Clin. Proc. (2010). doi:10.4065/mcp. 2010.0444
- Bauer, W., Vocke, C.: Implications of sedentary lifestyle for designing dynamic work in times of digital selfness. In: Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, pp. 675–685. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Dangelmaier, M., Muntzinger, W.F., Solf, J.J.: Stellteile. Eignung von handbetätigten Stellteilen f
 ür translatorische und rotatorische Stellbewegungen. Arbeitswissenschaftliche Erkenntnisse, 1990, 83. Bundesanstalt f
 ür Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin, Dortmund (1990)
- McAtamney, L., Nigel Corlett, E.: RULA: a survey method for the investigation of workrelated upper limb disorders. Appl. Ergon. 24(2), 91–99 (1993)
- 11. Garg, A., Chaffin, D.B., Herrin, G.D.: Prediction of metabolic rates for manual materials handling jobs. Am. Ind. Hygiene Assoc. J. **39**, 661–674 (1978)
- Riebe, D., Franklin, B.A., Thompson, P.D., Garber, C.E., Whitfield, G.P., Magal, M., Pescatello, L.S.: Updating ACSM's recommendations for exercise preparticipation health screening. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. (2015). doi:10.1249/MSS.00000000000664
- Le Masurier, G.C., Sidman, C.L., Corbin, C.B.: Accumulating 10,000 steps: does this meet current physical activity guidelines? Res. Q. Exerc. Sport (2003). doi: 10.1080/02701367.2003.10609109
- 14. Dangelmaier, M., Bauer, W., Vocke, C., Melcher, V.: Work and workout—how to introduce healthy workload at workplaces. Proc. Manuf. (2015). doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.644

A Study of Incentive Stimulating Human Error Activity on Public Service

Risako Shiraishi^(K), Minami Wakata, Kumiko Takahashi, and Yusaku Okada

Graduate School of Science and Technology, Keio University, Tokyo, Japan risakomaru@keio.jp, kumiko.t0922@gmail.com, okada.yusaku.labo@gmail.com

Abstract. Public services, for example Railroad service and hospital service, have carried out safety activities to provide safety service for users aiming "accident zero". However, safety activities can't go well in the actual enterprises. For the reason why safe activity can't work, it is caused by the fact that employees' motivation to safety activities decreases. However, the safe managers misunderstand it caused by a lowering of the safe consciousness of the employees and perform activity for the purpose of the improvement of the safe consciousness. Therefore, the safe activity in the actual enterprises cannot be readily activated by employees because of the gap of the recognition of the safe managers. We suggest that managers should evaluate the safety of the public service by an enhancement degree of the safety activity instead of employee's safe consciousness in the enterprise. And, this study shows that the safe managers should expand new explanation to employees when I they teach how to do safety activities.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot Human error \cdot Public services

1 Introduction

1.1 The Necessity of the Safety Activities for the Public Services

Decreasing birthrate and aging population becomes the problem in Japan, and each city faces a decrease in population. The decrease in population has an influence on the public services, and the drop of the income by users decreasing is not avoided. The point of approaching this problem for the public services is to get stable incomes as in the past by holding current users instead of trying to increase incomes. It is necessary to make users recognize that public service is safe to hold current users. The user expects an available thing for public service becoming a part of the life without holding uneasiness and distrust. Therefore, the public services should struggle safety activities not to let users have uneasiness and distrust, and it must aim at the stabilization of the income.

1.2 The Necessity of the Safety Activities for the Public Services

The motivation for the safety activities of the spot employees decreases while safety activities is essential for public services. The possibility that a big accident occurs now

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018 R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_9

is very low because a rail technology has developed. However, public services must work on the safety activities aiming "accident zero", and employees have consciousness not to have possibilities to get up as for the accident when the spot does not many check lists and thimble checks. And they think that the time has spent by handling a check list and the measures that increase whenever human error rises and feel that those prevent works. In addition, there are few opportunities when the spot employee receives the positive evaluation from users because the public service exists as a matter of course and it is with a part of a natural thing in everyone's life. Therefore, it is hard for employees to realize the fact that safe activity helps users. From these reason, as for the spot employee, motivation for the safe activity decreases. Incentive to stimulate motivation for their safe activity is necessary. However, the incentive is not money and pays my attention to way of thinking and how to catch for the safe activity.

1.3 The Necessity of the Safety Activities for the Public Services

The spot employee cannot keep motivation for the safety activities, but safe consciousness does not fall. Most employees understand the necessity of safety activities. However, the safe managers think that employee's safe consciousness decreases and carries out an action to achieve safe consciousness in the spot. As for the safety activity of the public service, there are the present conditions that cannot be readily activated by a gap of the recognition by safe managers.

2 Suggestion

2.1 The Evaluation Method of the Safety Activities of the Public Service

The reason why safety managers misunderstood that employee's safety consciousness is decreasing is that they think the safety of public services are evaluated by "height of the security consciousness of the spot employee". However, it is not the thing which in the first place a manager and an organization should estimate as the safe consciousness of the spot employee. It is originally evaluated by people using the public services such as a user or the community. In other words, you should arrest size of the trust that the users have for public service as "height of the security consciousness of the employees". When the users can feel "the public service is safety", in the enterprise the safe consciousness of employees are enough high. Therefore, it is necessary to evaluate it by "an enhancement degree of the safety activities" not the safe manager evaluating the safety of the public service in qualitative what's called "safe consciousness".

2.2 The Reputation for the Public Company

At first, we need to know the reputation influencing to the public company. Recently, many company interest in 'corporate reputation' as the thing which it makes the financial performance of the company. It is because the company values are defined by intangible assets such as intellectual assets or corporate reputation. The characteristic of corporate

reputation is raised based on results of past of managers and the employees and the present and future predictive information by various stakeholders.

2.3 The Reputation for the Public Services

In this study, we suggest that public services need to introduce the way of thinking reputation to the safe activities and expand to the employees. The managers should explain that reputation is 'trust' from users and community and employees try to understand user's feeling when they use public services. As those effects, they can remove 'reputation risks', the facts of user's anxiety, and they aim to the public services which has images 'comfortable and safe' for users.

The image show the difference of explanation for safety activities (Fig. 1).



New explanations of safety activities to employees from managers

Fig. 1. New explanation of safety activities to employees from managers

The next image show that the new explanation including thinking of trust from users and social community (Fig. 2).

2.4 The Effects to Social Community

In addition, I can contribute to the activation of the community by thinking about reputation of the public services. The activation of the following areas is anticipated by a population decline by reputation of the public services rising at the present when the local depopulation becomes the problem, and finding the flow of the stable person (Fig. 3).

The new explanation that a managers should expand to spot employees



Fig. 2. The new explanation that managers should expand to spot employees

Strategic design of the invigorating local communities considering reputation in the public services



Fig. 3. Strategic design of the invigorating local communities considering reputation in the public services

3 Suggestion

HEMAS has an employee answer the questionnaire of the attitude survey consisting of 55 questions and is the system which evaluates the actual situation of the accident prevention activity of the organization by adding up a result. The feature is that it is the whole investigation for all employees belonging to the organization.

Among 55 questions, there are 20 questions which asks you a question whether you can understand a basic way of thinking for the safe activity. We carried out HEMAS in Japanese railroad company A and compared the difference in understanding degree in 20 questions. It is the year when railroad company A has begun to enforce HEMAS in 2009. Because ratios of 'enough understanding' increase, it is showed that the understanding degree for the safe activity of the employee increases. And this is a result using the ways of thinking public service reputation. Therefore, it may be said that understanding degrees to the safe activity of the employee increased by introducing a way of thinking reputation from users and local community. We cannot show it that the motivation of the employees went up only by the result of the questions, but it is apparent that a way of thinking of reputation contributes to activation of the safe activity of the company (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. The result of HEMAS which shows degree of employee's understanding for safety activities

4 Conclusion

When the safe managers explain safe activities to employees, the understanding degrees for the safe activity of the employees was shown to rise by using a thought reputation. We can't show clearly that explanation of new safety activity gives the motivation of the employees at this stage. However, it must be that there was a change of the consciousness of the employees for the safe activity by referring to rising of understanding degree. We want to analyze the remark of a result and the employee of HEMAS carrying out with other railroad companies and medical institutions in future what kind of change consciousness for the security activity traces for the cause. And it is necessary to reveal how reputation of the public service contributed to the motivation of the employees.

80 R. Shiraishi et al.

References

- 1. Michiharu, S.: Management corporate reputation (2005)
- Architectural Institute of Japan: Reorganization of the public accommodation (2015)
 Tsuneaki, N.: The advice of the city environmental design (2001)

An Interview Study on Children's Spectacle Frame Fit

Jiaxin Zhang and Yan Luximon^(∞)

School of Design, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong jx.zhang@connect.polyu.edu.hk, yan.luximon@polyu.edu.hk

Abstract. Although studies have examined problems with spectacle frame fit, little is known about appropriate frame design for children. To identify practical problems in this area, semi-structured interviews were conducted in Hong Kong with dispensing opticians, children who wear glasses, and the children's parents. The data analysis showed that frame width, nose pads, and leg shape were related to fit problems. However, there is no fit standard between faces and frames, and the temple width was the main reference used by dispensing opticians to help children choose spectacle frames. In conclusion, dispensing opticians are important actors in the selection of more appropriate spectacle frames for children, but they might be unable to solve fit problems in the nose area and ears due to deficiencies in frame design. As little research has been conducted on problems in children's spectacle design and fit, further studies on spectacle frame design should investigate children's facial features and special needs.

Keywords: Semi-structured interview · Spectacle fit · Children

1 Introduction

An increasing number of children wear glasses for visual correction and protection [1, 2]. Researchers have long been concerned with frame fit problems. Although some research has led to advancements in spectacle frame design, previous studies have indicated that research results based on adult facial dimensions cannot be used for designing children's frames, as children are not sized as miniature adults [3–6].

Children's heads change with age, more so than those of adults [7], posing difficulties in the design and fitting of comfortable headwear and facewear for children. To improve the design of these products, a standard for the head–face dimensions of Chinese minors [8] has been introduced in China. However, the standard provides only 15 head–face dimensions, which are insufficient for improving the morphological fit of spectacle frames. In addition, foreign and domestic studies have been conducted to record onedimensional measurements of children's facial changes for the design of specific products, such as spectacle frames, helmets, and oxygen masks [5, 6, 9–11].

Among these studies, a quantitative method involving the collection of facial measurements has been the dominant means of determining the relationships between head and product measurements. The main problems of children's spectacle frame fit are still unclear, although previous studies have discussed morphological fit problems on Caucasian children [5] and Chinese children [6]. The limited amount of research means

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_10

that existing fit problems and necessary improvements in children's spectacle frame design are still unclear.

The quantitative method is useful for investigating a variety of work and research questions [12] and has been widely applied in ergonomics studies in fields such as footwear [13] and personal protective eyewear [14]. In terms of eyeglass design, a previous study demonstrated the general needs of children through the storytelling method [15].

This study employed interviews to obtain a more thorough understanding of this area of concern. The major research question was: what are the existing practical problems in children spectacle frame fit? Because fit preference is influenced by the style, material, and weight of spectacle frames, in addition to size [16], three subsidiary questions were posed: What are the practical problems of fit between facial and frame dimensions? What are children's needs regarding weight, material, and style? Do they have any other requirements when choosing frames?

2 Method

2.1 Participants

A total of 23 groups of children and parents were interviewed. The children recruited had different levels of vision problems and all needed to wear glasses. Because children might not listen and respond to questions as seriously as adults [17], parents were included in the interviews to improve the quality of answers, assisting or substituting for their children and replying to questions based on their parenting experience. Three dispensing opticians took part in this study, all of whom had more than 3 years' working experience in prescribing glasses. All participants were recruited from an optometry clinic.

2.2 Interview Design

Two semi-structured interviews were designed. The format rendered the investigation process more flexible, as the interviewer could develop questions beforehand and vary them depending on situational demands [18]. Two different questionnaires were developed for interviewing children and their parents and interviewing dispensing opticians.

The child–parent questionnaire was aimed at understanding the practical problems that children encounter when wearing a pair of glasses, and contained 24 questions. The first questions concerned basic information: gender, age, number of years having worn glasses, eyesight, number of frames worn, frequency of changing frames, and reasons for changing frames. To understand facial dimensions and fit problems, three questions were asked regarding facial discomfort, poorly fitted frames, and other discomfort. Then, based on a literature review, further questions were designed regarding the following four aspects: size (nose pads, frame legs, frame rims, and joints), weight, materials, and style. Participants were required to rank these factors and provide detailed explanations of their ranking. Subsequently, the children's frame-wearing experiences were investigated, including their difficulties in selection, inconveniences in daily life, and favorite frames.

Another questionnaire was developed to collect the views of dispensing opticians on children's spectacle frame fit problems; it contained 21 questions. Three questions on gender, age, and years of working experience were designed to acquire basic information. Practical circumstances were understood through four types of questions: standard process (prescribing glasses, fit standards, and sizing), working experience (necessary questions before prescribing, parent and child needs, preferences, and complaints), fit according to facial dimensions (current fitting problems, frame measurement, and fit) and current spectacle design (recommended products, as well as advice for spectacle frame design).

The results from these two types of interviews were compared and combined to de-rive answers to the research questions.

3 Result

3.1 Interviews with Parents and Children

General Information. A total of 23 groups of parents and children took part in this investigation, including 12 boys and 11 girls aged from 4 to 16 years old (average of 8.9 years, standard deviation of 3.2). All of the children suffered from vision problems, including myopia only, astigmatism only, hyperopia only, amblyopia only, both hyperopia and astigmatism, and both myopia and astigmatism (Fig. 1). Their levels of eyesight varied as well, from 100° to 600° (Fig. 2). A total of 17 of the children had been wearing a pair of glasses for more than 2 years, and 17 had bought more than two pairs of glasses. This indicated that the respondents had adequate wearing experience for the purposes of this study.



Fig. 1. Frequency of children's vision problems



Fig. 2. Proportion of children's eyesight level

Fit Problems. Although the majority of the children (22) had bought another pair of glasses due to a change in vision, four of them also reported that they had done so in response to head growth. Rim width and leg length were unsuited to the children's temple width and the distance from front to bend. Complaints about the frame being uncomfortable were mostly lodged by the older children (aged at least 7 years), accounting for 52% of participants. Pressure and pain on the nasal bridge (30%) and ears (22%) were the main reasons provided. In addition, six participants stated that the nose pads did not fit their noses and three participants indicated that the curves of the legs did not match the shapes of their ears. However, respondents who reported frame-induced discomfort did not necessarily think that there were any problems with the frame measurements, and vice versa.

Special Needs. To understand how parents, who usually make final frame-purchasing decisions, considered frame selection, parents were required to rank factors from most important (one) to least important (five). The mean rankings are shown in Table 1. Frame size was the highest-ranked consideration. The mean rankings of materials and weight were similar, followed by style; price had the lowest ranking. Parents were also required to provide detailed explanations of their rankings. Parents paid attention to frame size, but many of them (six) depended heavily on dispensing opticians' opinions when making such a decision, stating that they might lack knowledge in this area. Further information regarding preferences for frame components (nose pads, legs, and rim) was also explored. A total of 13 parent–child groups said that the nose pads required adjustment; six of these groups indicated that adjusted nose pads were an improvement; and 10 of them preferred to have the legs rest on the outer ears to keep the frame stable on the face, but two of them complained that this type of leg hurt their ears. Preferences for frame rims varied. Considerations of weight, durability, safety, and deformation meant that plastic frames were the most popular, with 19 children wearing them. Although

frame style preferences varied, all participants chose full-rim frames and 22 groups preferred lighter frames.

Factors	Mean of rank		
Size of frame	2.23		
Materials	2.64		
Weight	2.74		
Style	3.0		
Price	4.09		

Table 1. Rank of factors which influence the choice of spectacle frames

Wearing Experience. Many children (19 respondents) had had negative experiences when wearing glasses. For example, 12 children had experienced frames slipping on the nasal bridge, causing discomfort and even injury to the nose. A total of 10 respondents stated that they might wear their normal frames even when participating in sports. Among all participants, 65% thought that their current frames were optimal in terms of style, size, material, and comfort level.

3.2 Interviews with Dispensing Staff

General Information. Three male dispensing opticians who had been working in the industry for 3–10 years were interviewed.

Standard Process. When helping children to choose appropriate frames, interviewees suggested that vision and temple width were the main reference measurements, because frame width depended on these two factors. Furthermore, one of the opticians stated that unlike nose pads and legs, frame width was not adjustable. Children may try every recommended frame until they find one that matches their temple width, although their temple width will not be formally measured. In addition, all interviewees stated that there is no fit standard between the face and the frame, but they suggested that children use plastic full-rim frames with adjustable nose pads for reasons of safety and durability.

Working Experience. In the opticians' working experience, children generally need new frames owing to vision changes. The opticians would inquire as to the children's habits before recommending glasses types, because it would be safer for an active child to wear glasses with plastic frames. In their experience, parents often ask about frame size problems and are concerned about safety problems, weight, and price. When participants were asked what parents and children frequently complain about, one interviewee indicated discomfort in the temple, nose, and ears, and another noted frame quality.

Fit Problems. Fit problems regarding facial dimensions and frame measurements were also investigated in the interviews. All of the opticians suggested that the main fit problem was whether the frame width could match the child's temple width. An appropriate frame should fit a child's nose shape, outer ear shape, and temple width also.

They reported that if the frame components could be adjusted, they would need to change the angle of the nose pads or the shape and length of the frame legs.

Current Spectacle Design. Currently, no unified size chart exists for children's spectacle frames. However, all opticians recommend a particular brand (Tomato Glasses) that has a relatively wide variety of size specifications. One interviewee also suggested that this brand of glasses tends to closely fit a child's low nasal bridge even though its nose pads cannot be adjusted, and its frame legs can sit comfortably on the ears to prevent the frame from slipping on the nose. Furthermore, they opined that this brand of frames uses materials relatively soft materials, which are safer than others, suitably tough, and do not easily become deformed. As a result, customers are likely to give positive feedback on this brand.

4 Discussion

4.1 Morphological Fit Problems

The findings of this interview suggest that only eyesight problems and temple width are considered when children choose frames. Although some types of frames have adjustable nose pads and legs, some children still experience nose and ear discomfort. This problem has been mentioned in studies focusing on adults [19]. However, among children, most complaints were lodged by participants aged 7 years or older, whereas those younger than 7 years were apparently more satisfied with their frames. This may be because younger children can adapt to pain more quickly than older children, leading to the faster alleviation of symptoms [4]. Another reason may be that children younger than 7 years old could be too young to express their feelings on the matter, considering how some of the younger children's parents noticed marks on the children's nasal bridges. Researchers indicated that nasal bridges are usually low in Caucasian children aged 5 to 7 years [5]. The same is likely true in Chinese children, as many participants reported that frames slip on their noses. However, few studies have provided information on how the growth patterns of children's nose are incorporated into spectacle frame design. The interviewees also reported outer ear discomfort. Previous studies [3–6] have mostly focused on children's facial measurements and ignored outer ear shape, which could have influenced frame leg design. This indicates the need for further study on the relationship between the shapes of frame legs and children's ears.

4.2 Comparison of Interview Statements

Comparing the responses from both the parent-child and dispensing optician interviews, both categories of interviewees were concerned about size problems in children's frames, with dispensing staff reporting that this problem is not often observed in adult frames. Surprisingly, parents thought that the suitability of frame size is very important; this view was especially prevalent among those who had experience wearing glasses. Both categories of interviewees suggested that plastic frames are more suitable for children, because they may be lighter, safer, and softer than metal frames. Parents and dispensing opticians

87

also indicated that lighter frames are more comfortable to wear than heavier frames. Frame weight preference is thus a worthwhile topic for further exploration.

By contrast, parent-child groups and dispensing opticians had different opinions on choosing nose pads and frame legs. The opticians suggested that children should choose nose pads that could be adjusted to their smooth nasal bridges. Although some parents and children thought adjustable nose pads were necessary, some reported that the adjustable nose pads were easy to deform and had smaller areas of contact than the fixed nose pads did, leading to discomfort that caused them to prefer frames with fixed nose pads. Adjustable nose pads may temporarily solve morphological fit problems on the nose, but other factors such as design and children's needs in daily life should also be considered. Children tend to be more active than adults and may not comply with recommendations for spectacle frame use. Thus, frames that can be fixed to their faces and cannot be adjusted might be comparatively suitable.

5 Conclusion

This study investigated practical problems in children' spectacle frame fit through interviews with parents and children and opticians, providing an overall understanding of current problems in this field. Practical fit problems, considerations involved when choosing and wearing a pair of glasses, and current spectacle design can help with further studies of children's spectacle frame design that can identify research gaps and design opportunities. The findings of semi-structured interviews suggest that the lack of guidelines of how to choose an appropriate frame leads to confusion in dispensing process. The importance of the relationship between children's outer ear shape and frame leg design was demonstrated, implying that the results of previous studies have been insufficient for solving all spectacle frame fit problems. Future research must further explore preferences for spectacle frame weight, a concern mentioned by the interviewees. With technological development, the number of spectacle-like products such as Google Glass may increase. Research in this area will not only improve spectacle frame design but also provide information for the design of related products.

Acknowledgements. Authors would like to thank the Research Grants Council for the UGC Funding Scheme from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

References

- Lim, L.T., Gong, Y., Ah-kee, E.Y., Xiao, G., Zhang, X., Yu, S.: Impact of parental history of myopia on the development of myopia in mainland China school-aged children. J. Ophthalmol. Eye Dis. 6, 31–35 (2014)
- Pärssinen, O., Lyyra, A.: Myopia and myopic progression among school children: a threeyear follow-up study. J. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 34(9), 2794–2802 (1993)
- Akerskog, G., Soderlund, J.: Children's glasses. In: Coblentz, A.M., Herron, R.E. (eds.) NATO Symposium on Applications of Human Biostereometrics. SPIE Proceedings, Paris, vol. 0166, pp. 235–246 (1978)

- Marks, R.: Some factors for consideration in the selection and fitting of children's eyewear*. J. Optom. Vis. Sci. 38(4), 185–193 (1961)
- 5. Kaye, J., Obstfeld, H.: Anthropometry for children's spectacle frames. J. Ophthalmic Physiol. Opt. **9**(3), 293–298 (1989)
- Wang, Y., Zhao, Y., Yu, H., Gong, G., Zhao, W., Hong, R., Wei, X.: A study on designing spectacle frame for children aged 5 to 17 and related measurements. J. Acta Anthropol. Sin. 18(1), 35–39 (1998)
- 7. Farkas, L.G., Posnick, J.C., Hreczko, T.M.: Growth patterns of the face: a morphometric study. Cleft Palate Craniofac. J. **29**(4), 308–315 (1992)
- 8. GBT 26160-2010, Head-face dimensions of Chinese minors. General Administration of Quality Supervision (2010)
- Wang, Y.J., Hong, R.Z., Wei, X.J., Ai, Y.D., Zhao, Y.: Analysis of anthropometry on head and eye for stipulating of children's spectacle frames. J. Chin. J. Ophthalmol. 41(1), 20–23 (2005)
- 10. Kim, S.H.: Analysis on the shape classification of the head of Korean female children for the headwear sizing system. Res. J. Costume Cult. **13**(2), 200–208 (2005)
- 11. Young, J.W.: Selected Facial Measurements of Children for Oxygen-Mask Design. Federal Aviation Administration. OK Civil Aeromedical Inst, Oklahoma City (1966)
- 12. Hignett, S.: Using Qualitative Methodology in Ergonomics: Theoretical Background and Practical Examples. University of Nottingham (2001)
- Au, E.Y.L., Goonetilleke, R.S.: A qualitative study on the comfort and fit of ladies' dress shoes. J. Appl. Ergon. 38(6), 687–696 (2007)
- 14. Lombardi, D.A., Verma, S.K., Brennan, M.J., Perry, M.J.: Factors influencing worker use of personal protective eyewear. J. Accid. Anal. Prev. **41**(4), 755–762 (2009)
- 15. Chaves, I.G., Rocha, A.S., Taralli, C.H.: Storytelling as a method of gathering perceptions and experiences in human-centered design—the relation between children and their eyeglasses. J. Am. Int. J. Contemp. Res. **4**, 40–44 (2014)
- Obstfeld, H.: Spectacle Frames and Their Dispensing. W.B. Saunders Company Ltd., London (1997)
- 17. Greene, S., Hogan, D.: Researching Children's Experience: Approaches and Methods. Sage Publications Ltd., London (2005)
- Lichtman, M.: Qualitative Research for the Social Sciences. Sage Publications Ltd., Boston (2013)
- 19. Kouchi, M., Mochimaru, M.: Analysis of 3D face forms for proper sizing and CAD of spectacle frames. Ergonomics **47**(14), 1499–1516 (2004)

A Comparative Study of the Effects of Electrical Stimulation and Intermittent Compressive Forces on Soft Tissue Mechanical Properties

Ben-Yi Liau^{1(☉)}, Chien-Liang Chen², Yih-Kuen Jan³, Hsin-Ying Chiu⁴, Pei-Syuan He⁴, and Chi-Wen Lung⁴

¹ Hungkuang University, Taichung, Taiwan byliau@hk.edu.tw
² I-Shou University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan chencl@isu.edu.tw
³ University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, USA yjan@illinois.edu
⁴ Asia University, Taichung, Taiwan trance030@gmail.com, cindyriver2014@gmail.com, cwlung@asia.edu.tw

Abstract. We aimed to investigate and compare the effects of electrical stimulation and intermittent compressive forces on soft tissue mechanical properties. Four healthy individuals were recruited into this study. A transcutaneous electrical stimulation device was used to apply a pulse duration of 2.5 ms, a frequency of 2 Hz, and the amplitude to a maximum of 30 mA. The intermittent compressive forces were applied at a period of 20 s with forces ranging from 0 to 70 mmHg. The effective Young's modulus was calculated to characterize mechanical properties of forearm soft tissues. The results showed that forearm soft tissue properties might decrease effective Young's modulus after the treatments of electrical stimulation and intermittent compressive forces.

Keywords: Scar · Effective young's modulus · Indentation test · Ultrasound

1 Introduction

Scar healing is a complex soft tissue repairing process. It is a continuing challenge in the field of skin injury and rehabilitation research [1]. Each year, up to 100 million people in the developed world suffer skin scarring as a result of soft tissue injury [2, 3]. The intermittent compressive forces are one the treatments that remodels collagen fibers of soft tissues and improves the healing process of scar [4, 5]. Recently, the electrical stimulation has demonstrated the potential for managing symptomatic scar healing.

Electrical stimulation improves skin blood flow, and may promote the directional migration of cells and signaling molecules via electrotaxis [6]. The electrical stimulation significantly reduces the symptoms of pain and pruritus in patients with scar [7].

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_11

Although the treatment of intermittent compressive forces has been previously investigated in the effect of soft tissue mechanical properties [8, 9], it has not yet been compared to the effects of electrical stimulation. The main purpose of this study was to investigate the changes of soft tissues at the forearm in response to electrical stimulations and intermittent compressive forces. The results of this study can contribute to the management of the scar.

2 Methods

2.1 Subjects

For comparison purposes, we need to know the treatment effects in normal skin before the scar soft tissue. Four subjects recruited and performed both treatment task: electrical stimulation and intermittent compressive forces (N = 4; mean \pm SD: age, 22.8 \pm 3.6 years; height, 158.0 \pm 5.9 cm; weight, 49.3 \pm 3.8 kg; body mass index, 19.7 \pm 1.1 kg/m²). Study protocols were reviewed by the Institutional Review Board at University.

2.2 Instruments

A portable two-channel conventional mode transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) (KS-138 Microcomputer Therapeutic Apparatus, Body Care Resort Inc., CA, USA) was used. The operated function we used was VIBRATION with a pulse duration of 2.5 ms, a frequency of 2 Hz, and the amplitude to a maximum of 30 mA (Fig. 1A). Four standard disposable self-adhesive stimulation electrodes (4×4 cm) were used to transmit TENS to the subject. Amplitude was increased slowly to the subject's tolerance without causing discomfort, and adjusted to induce the muscle contraction for all subject. ON time was set to 10 s with 0.001 s of rise and decay and an OFF time of 2 s.



Fig. 1. (A) Electrical stimulation task and (B) intermittent compressive forces task

The intermittent pneumatic compression system mainly consists of pneumatic devices (Eye Massager KN-800A, Kuonao Co., Ltd., Taipei, Taiwan) (Fig. 1B). The frequency of the intermittent compressive forces was chosen at 2 time/min in one intermittent pneumatic bag with the diameter of 3 cm. The sequentially inflated and deflated pressures were regulated from 0 to 70 mmHg [10]. The compression system was in series applied to the soft tissue of the forearm 20 min for simulating the common massage protocols [11].

We used the motor-driven ultrasound indentation system for the indentation tests. It was conducted the effect of the before and after treatment. The motor-driven ultrasound indentation system mainly consists of four parts: ultrasound system, load cell, stepper motor, and standoff holder. The indenter was motor-driven [12] onto the skin surface to apply programmable compressive forces and assess soft tissue mechanical properties and responses. The test itself very much resembles that of palpation of the plantar soft tissues [13, 14]. Details of the indentation system have been described in our previous publications [8].

2.3 Experimental Procedure

In the electrical stimulation task, the skin of the left forearm was cleaned and moistened with an alcohol swab to reduce skin resistance when the subject arrived at the lab. Self-adhesive stimulation electrodes were placed bilaterally over the bulk of the muscle of extensor carpi ulnaris (ECU) and flexor carpi ulnaris (FCU) in involved upper limb. TENS was applied for 20 min.

In the intermittent pneumatic compression task, The compression system was in series applied to the soft tissue of ECU muscle of the right forearm 20 min for simulating the common massage protocols [11].

Evaluating elastic properties of soft tissue before and after treatment, we used the indentation tests. Three forearm postures corresponding to different states of muscular contraction. The subject was asked to sit with the elbow extension and forearm prostrated on a supporting table. The forearm resting on the table with three conditions position for the test, including a. wrist at a neutral position, b. wrist at the maximal extension of the subject, and c. the hand holding a 1 kg weight (Fig. 2).

After a preload force of less than 0.5 N was applied on the skin over the dorsal forearm perpendicularly, a load of 5.0 N or less if the indentation had reached 20% of the total thickness from the real-time ultrasound images was applied on the same location [14, 15]. The indentation velocity was set to be about 1 mm/s and the maximum indentation was about 20% of the initial bulk soft tissue thickness, as evaluated by ultrasound signals with a minimum loading of 0.1 N [16]. Eight seconds per loading cycle with 4 s rise and 4 s decay were applied on the skin of the forearm (Fig. 3). Each position we measured 5 cycles for the further calculated.



Fig. 2. Three conditions of forearm, including (A) the forearm resting on the table with the wrist at a neutral position, (B) the forearm resting on the table with the wrist at 90° of extension or the maximal extension of the subject, and (C) forearm resting on the table with the hand holding a 1 kg weight.



Fig. 3. Motor-driven ultrasound indentation system. It shows the ultrasound echo trains. After the standoff pad, the first echo is associated with the ultrasound standoff-skin interface while the second one represents the tissue-bone interface. The thickness of the soft tissue is present by the distance between the first and second echoes.

2.4 Data Analysis

The ultrasound image and indenter force were recorded by the motor-driven ultrasound indentation system. In the ultrasound image, the first ultrasound echo is associated with the standoff pad and skin interface while the second one represents the tissue-bone interface. The thickness of the soft tissue was presented by the distance between the first and second echoes [8, 15] (Fig. 3).

To quantify elastic properties of soft tissues, we used the effective Young's modulus (E). It is a traditional material constant for response to stiffness of soft tissue property [8, 9, 16, 17]. To extract effective Young's modulus E, the equation was defined as below.

$$E = \frac{(1 - v^2)}{2a \cdot k(v, a/h)} \cdot \frac{P}{w}$$
(1)

v, Poisson's ratio; *a*, the indenter radius; *k*, a scaling factor dependent on the Poisson's ratio (0.45) [17], indenter radius (4.5 mm), and soft tissue thickness [16]; *h*, the soft tissue thickness; *P*, the force of pressure loading (indentation); *w*, the depth of indentation (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. The effective Young's modulus (E).

Paired samples t tests were used to compare the effective Young's modulus between before and after task of electrical stimulation task and intermittent compressive forces under each forearm postures (wrist neutral position, wrist extension, and hand holding). The statistical tests were performed using SPSS 22 (IBM, Somers, NY) at the significance level of 0.05.





Fig. 5. Comparison of effective Young's modulus under the three forearm postures (wrist neutral position, wrist extension, and hand holding) responded to before and after treatment. (A) Electrical stimulation. (B) Intermittent compressive forces.

3 Results and Discussion

The effective Young's modulus was calculated to characterize of stiffness in mechanical property of forearm soft tissues. Even the stiffness soft tissues property have been trending down after treatment not only electrical stimulation treatment but also intermittent pneumatic compressions, there were no significant pairwise differences between before and after with electrical stimulation treatment or intermittent pneumatic compressions.

Before the electrical stimulation treatment, effective Young's modulus of conditions a, b, and c was 46.5, 40.3, and 114.0 kPa, respectively. After the treatment, the effective Young's modulus of wrist neutral position, wrist extension, and hand holding was 37.4, 33.2, and 79.1 kPa, respectively. They were reduced by 20%, 18%, and 31%, respectively (Fig. 5A).

Before the intermittent compression treatment, effective Young's modulus of conditions a, b, and c was 26.5, 60.1, and 122.1 kPa, respectively. After the treatment, the effective Young's modulus of wrist neutral position, wrist extension, and hand holding was 24.6, 22.3, and 99.6 kPa, respectively. They were reduced by 7%, 63%, and 18%, respectively (Fig. 5B).

Zheng and colleagues demonstrated that the soft tissue mechanical property (effective Young's modulus in this study) was significantly dependent on the posture. According to our results, soft tissue mechanical properties were different among three forearm positions (wrist at a neutral position, wrist extension, and hand holding) [18]. The effective Young's modulus of the forearm was increased when the holding a weight by the hand [19].

The limitations of this study are as follows: (1) four subjects were recruited into this study. Future work should test the efficacy of intermittent compression treatment in a larger sample size.; (2) the future work should investigate the long-term effect of the treatment on modulating soft tissue property in patients with hypertrophic scars.

4 Conclusions

The findings of this study indicate that the soft tissue mechanical properties might be modulated through the treatments of electrical stimulation and intermittent compressive forces. The results showed that forearm soft tissue mechanical properties may decrease the effective Young's modulus after the treatments.

Acknowledgements. We are grateful for the Ministry of Science and Technology of the Republic of China for financially supporting this research under contracts MOST 105-2221-E-468-005 - and 104-2218-E-468-001, and the China Medical University Hospital under contracts ASIA-105-CMUH-19.

References

- 1. Atiyeh, B.S.: Nonsurgical management of hypertrophic scars: evidence-based therapies, standard practices, and emerging methods. Aesthet. Plast. Surg. **31**, 468–492 (2007)
- Gangemi, E.N., Gregori, D., Berchialla, P., Zingarelli, E., Cairo, M., Bollero, D., Ganem, J., Capocelli, R., Cuccuru, F., Cassano, P., Risso, D., Stella, M.: Epidemiology and risk factors for pathologic scarring after burn wounds. Arch. Facial Plast. Surg. 10, 93–102 (2008)
- Bayat, A., McGrouther, D.A., Ferguson, M.W.: Skin scarring. BMJ (Clinical research ed.) 326, 88–92 (2003)
- 4. Roques, C.: Massage applied to scars. Wound Repair Regen. 10, 126–128 (2002)
- Armstrong, D.G., Bharara, M., White, M., Lepow, B., Bhatnagar, S., Fisher, T., Kimbriel, H.R., Walters, J., Goshima, K.R., Hughes, J., Mills, J.L.: The impact and outcomes of establishing an integrated interdisciplinary surgical team to care for the diabetic foot. Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 28, 514–518 (2012)
- 6. Torkaman, G.: Electrical stimulation of wound healing: a review of animal experimental evidence. Adv. Wound Care **3**, 202–218 (2014)
- Ud-Din, S., Dip, P.G., Colthurst, J., Whiteside, S., Morris, J., Bayat, A.: Significant reduction of symptoms of scarring with electrical stimulation: evaluated with subjective and objective assessment tools in a prospective noncontrolled case series. Wounds Clin. Res. Pract. 25, 212– 224 (2013)
- Lung, C.W., Cheng, T.Y., Li, Y.J., Liau, B.Y., Jan, Y.K.: Development of an intermittent pneumatic compression system to manage soft tissue mechanical properties. Adv. Intell. Syst. Comput. 482, 317–325 (2016)
- Jan, Y.K., Lung, C.W., Cuaderes, E., Rong, D., Boyce, K.: Effect of viscoelastic properties of plantar soft tissues on plantar pressures at the first metatarsal head in diabetics with peripheral neuropathy. Physiol. Meas. 34, 53–66 (2013)
- Zaleska, M., Olszewski, W.L., Jain, P., Gogia, S., Rekha, A., Mishra, S., Durlik, M.: Pressures and timing of intermittent pneumatic compression devices for efficient tissue fluid and lymph flow in limbs with lymphedema. Lymphatic Res. Biol. 11, 227–232 (2013)
- 11. Shin, T.M., Bordeaux, J.S.: The role of massage in scar management: a literature review. Dermatol. Surg. **38**, 414–423 (2012)
- Zheng, Y.P., Huang, Y.P., Zhu, Y.P., Wong, M., He, J.F., Huang, Z.M.: Development of a foot scanner for assessing the mechanical properties of plantar soft tissues under different bodyweight loading in standing. Med. Eng. Phys. 34, 506–511 (2012)
- Zheng, Y.P., Choi, Y.K., Wong, K., Chan, S., Mak, A.F.T.: Biomechanical assessment of plantar foot tissue in diabetic patients using an ultrasound indentation system. Ultrasound in Med. Biol. 26, 451–456 (2000)
- Sun, J.H., Cheng, B.K., Zheng, Y.P., Huang, Y.P., Leung, J.Y., Cheing, G.L.: Changes in the thickness and stiffness of plantar soft tissues in people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 92, 1484–1489 (2011)
- Lung, C.W., Jan, Y.K.: Soft tissue biomechanics of diabetic foot ulcers. In: Ruiz, A.J.C., Mendoza, J.M.A. (eds.) Soft Tissue: Composition, Mechanisms of Injury and Repair, pp. 1– 32. Nova Science Publishers, Hauppauge (2012)
- Hayes, W.C., Keer, L.M., Herrmann, G., Mockros, L.F.: A mathematical analysis for indentation tests of articular cartilage. J. Biomech. 5, 541–551 (1972)
- 17. Zheng, Y., Mak, A.F.: Effective elastic properties for lower limb soft tissues from manual indentation experiment. IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng. 7, 257–267 (1999)
- 18. Zheng, Y.P., Mak, A.F.T.: Effective elastic properties for lower limb soft tissues from manual indentation experiment. IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng. 7, 257–267 (1999)
- Holmes, M.W., Tat, J., Keir, P.J.: Neuromechanical control of the forearm muscles during gripping with sudden flexion and extension wrist perturbations. Comput. Methods Biomech. Biomed. Eng. 18, 1826–1834 (2015)

Prospective Design of Seating Systems for Digitalized Working Worlds

Nico Feller^{1(K)}, Ulf Müller¹, Kim-Hoa Huynh¹, Wolfgang Potthast², Thomas Dupré², and Joanna Funck³

¹ Laboratory of Manufacturing Systems, TH Köln - University of Applied Sciences, Betzdorfer Strasse 2, 50679 Cologne, Germany {nico.feller,ulf.mueller,kim-hoa.huynh}@th-koeln.de
² Institute of Biomechanics and Orthopaedics, German Sport University Cologne, Am Sportpark Müngersdorf 6, 50933 Cologne, Germany {Potthast,T.Dupre}@dshs-koeln.de
³ GENERATIONDESIGN GmbH, Bärenstrasse 11-13, 42117 Wuppertal, Germany jf@generationdesign.de

Abstract. The increased prevalence of digital mobile devices has not only changed how people communicate but it has also led to a significant changing world of work and therefore to a new consideration of ergonomics of office work-places. Studies show that the use of mobile devices leads to a different stress profile dependent on new work postures. As a consequence of the described change, seating systems have to be designed considering the demands of digitalized working worlds. In this paper, a design approach of an innovative seating system for a prospective health maintenance is presented that supports active sitting during sedentary work.

Keywords: Posture \cdot Digitalized workplace \cdot Sedentary work \cdot Seating system \cdot Industry 4.0 \cdot Active sitting

1 Introduction

Today the digital transformation has not only changed how companies produce goods and offer services, it has changed the whole working world of the employees, too. The increased emergence of digital information and the use of digital devices have led to a change of work and increased efficiency of the employees' work. As a result of this, known working models with fixed working hours and work areas have changed to a more flexible and individual way of working. This development has not only an effect on the employees' work life but on his or her health as well. The use of light and mobile digital devices enables the employee to work at varying locations and thus to be more independent of a fixed work area. Despite of the advantages and help digital tools offer to the employee, the working still requires long term sitting in front of computer screens. And this development will increase in future as the work environment is becoming more and more digitized.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_12 With the help of an intelligent seating system that recognizes prolonged sitting in an unaltered posture and then guides the seated person to an advantageous posture health preservation for sedentary work can be benefitted.

2 Biomechanical View of Prolonged Sitting

Prolonged sitting has been connected to health issues like lower back pain (LBP). LBP is one of the most common musculoskeletal disorders [1]. While prolonged sitting has not been connected to the onset of LBP [2], it is thought to promote the symptoms [3]. Therefore, it is important to design a seating system that reduces the risk of developing LBP.

There is a big variety of seating concepts that can be used in office, home or other environments. Most of these concepts promise a more ergonomic way of sitting, the reduction or prevention of LBP or simply a healthier way of sitting. This is achieved in one or more of the following ways:

- 1. Reducing the need for continuous muscle activation in the back by using a backrest.
- 2. Prevent 'static' seating and therefore promote continuous, subtle changes in the seating posture.
- 3. Reducing the forces exerted on the spine and the intervertebral discs in particular by promoting a seating posture with a straight back.
- 4. Providing a lumbar support to reduce the urge of getting into a "slumped position"

There have been several studies examining each of these points and it is of high importance to understand their efficiency in reducing LBP to develop a modern seating design.

Sitting straight, without the support of a backrest, requires a continuous contraction of the back's muscles (e.g. m. erector spinae). Continuous muscle activation might lead to "localized muscle tension, muscle strains, muscle fatigue, and other soft-tissue damage" [4] as well as a reduced blood flow [5] with LBP as a symptom. Backrests support the back and therefore reduce the required muscle activation [6, 7]. A backrest might on the other hand mislead the user to persist in the same sitting position. This is called static sitting and has been connected to LBP as well. It has been shown, that "subjects with LBP assume more static, sustained postures while sitting and use large infrequent shifts in posture rather than small, subtle spinal movements regularly" [8]. Without these subtle changes, the muscle recruitment pattern in the back does not change, leading to localized muscle fatigue and tension [4]. Dynamic sitting has been recommended as counteraction. Changing the sitting position only very subtle, but very frequently, should alternate the recruitment pattern of the small, deep muscles in the back [8]. This should enable muscle to rest and prevent fatigue. Designs incorporating functions to promote dynamic sitting, range from stability balls [9, 10] to systems that passively move the lumbar spine while sitting [11-13]. Studies on such designs reveal mixed results, showing no real difference in muscle activation or reduced LBP [8, 9].

Another point that has been studied as a source for LBP are the forces acting on the intervertebral discs. Several studies have used in vivo pressure measurements to quantify

these forces [14–16]. These studies show that the pressure is lowest, while sitting with a straight back or leaning against the back rest (~0.3 MPa) [16]. They also show, that an unsupported flexion of the trunk leads to an increase in disc pressure of roughly 100% [15]. Although these findings should be taken into consideration, intervertebral discs can withstand pressures of more than 2 MPa [17]. Therefore, the disc pressures while seating in any position can be seen as not harmful.

This raises the question why subjects sitting in a "slumped position" with high trunk flexion and low muscle activation experience LBP. Since the muscle activation stays low while sitting in this position [18, 19] and disc pressure is low [16], it is likely, that the body relies on passive structures. These structures can get overloaded when subjects remain in such a slumped position [4] leading to LBP. Certain key elements can be extracted from the above findings:

- Intervertebral disc pressure changes with sitting posture but is not high enough to endanger the discs in any posture.
- Sitting in a slumped position can be tolerable for a certain amount of time but increases the risk to develop LBP.
- Static sitting increases the risk of developing LBP due to fatigue of local muscles.
- The use of a backrest reduces muscle activation and therefore makes prolonged sitting easier.

These findings show the need to combine different features in a seating design to prevent LBP. While the use of a backrest is mandatory to ensure a usage of several hours, the prevention of static sitting as well as preventing a continuous slumped sitting position should be focused.

3 Seating System for New Work

Actual office chairs in the market offer different designs depending on their usage. Some existing chairs focus on ergonomics and on a high variability of possible sitting postures with flexible back elements. Others use special mechanics to support body movements. The major difference lies in the seat back and its structure varying from a massive design to a lightweight one reducing material and size. Modern chairs for new work usage prefer a reduced size with a segmented optic or partly transparent material to not block the open view into the room.

Few new products use apps to complement sitting and provide health management observing sitting times and postures. First steps into digital sitting are done so that the users get in touch with digitalized seating systems but without holistic approach regarding the user, working surroundings, physical constitution and the seat itself.

Overall aim of modern seats is to provide dynamic seating in order to generate passive movement while sitting and working.

Customer journeys have shown that the following aspects are most relevant for a healthy and comfortable sitting: individual situation and physical constitution, type of work, awareness of healthiness and body fitness, mood and willingness to change posture, seat that acts in the background without disturbing work processes.

Different types of users can be defined from those who don't care where they are sitting on and how to the users who consider adjustments that can be changed to the users who are willing to learn about their body constitution and sitting types in order to improve healthiness and performance.

A sitting system supporting healthy sitting for individual needs should be able to adapt to the different surroundings and working situations as well as to the user. In times of new work and changing workplaces persons change seats requiring a flexible systems which can adapted to the physical needs. The design has to fit into modern working areas meaning reduced style which integrates into open structures with changing spatial patterns as well as home working spaces with cozy furniture (Fig. 1).



Flagship Corporate

Fig. 1. Most significant areas of new work: hierarchical work space structures are broken to increase creativity and productivity.

4 Design Approach

Actual seating systems do not fulfill the requirements of an individual ergonomic support to prevent static sitting and promote health preservation.

To respond the identified needs, a seating system with ergonomic and visually appealing design has to be designed that uses an innovative sensor and actuator concept to promote posture changes for dynamic sitting with low disruption.

The main idea is not to inform the seated person of a poor posture by visual information like LED display or vibro-tactile alert that captures the user's attention to change the posture but particularly to guide the user to an advantageous posture with low intrusion in work and privacy. Studies [20] have shown that people often feel disrupted by tactile movements that create a certain discomfort.



Fig. 2. Classification of posture in load classes from low (class 1) to very high load (class 6)

The findings on static sitting and on the causes of muscle fatigue (see Sect. 2) lead to the approach of a targeted posture change based on a theoretical ideal sitting profile adjusted to office working. First the number of different posture over a certain period of time e.g. a working day has to be captured. To distinguish the effects of the different sitting postures it is necessary to classify them into load classes (Fig. 2) so that with the frequency of postures and the load classes a load spectrum can be generated. Because of the varying number of tasks during an office working day an exact frequency distribution of postures is hardly possible to create so that the frequency of postures is normally distributed (Fig. 3). The thus created ideal sitting profile forms the basis for the algorithm of posture changes of the designed seating system. To fulfill the prospective concept of the seating system common postures and new postures due to digitalized working worlds are considered as well in the sitting profile.



Fig. 3. Normal distribution of postures dependent on load during average office work day

By classifying postures into load classes a load spectrum is generated that shows the distribution of common sitting postures and new postures. Figure 2 shows the classification of posture in musculoskeletal load classes.



Fig. 4. Flow chart of working of the seating system concept

The individual support is carried out by comparison of actual posture and its duration with the theoretical ideal sitting profile. The identification of the actual posture happens by capturing the pressure distribution during sitting on the seat. When the actual posture is outside the ideal profile the seating system will initiate a posture change. The seating system will offer individual support by the backrest until an unaltered posture exceeds a critical duration. Only then a posture change is executed. Figure 4 shows the flow chart of the functionality of the designed seating system.

5 Conclusion

The design of a seating system for an ergonomic active sitting requires a holistic view of the seating behaviour with its consequences. A lot of people are not aware of the reciprocity between physically good sitting and well-being as well as effectiveness in work. The seating system can contribute to better awareness of body constitution and performance in connection to sitting postures.

To be accepted in terms of new work and from different users the system has to be intuitive in use. Seating modifications must not interrupt work and should act autonomously with imperceptive moves. Visualization and feedback to sitting postures and their consequences can be shown to the user via display graphics or external application in order to review personal seating preferences.

The approach of a generated theoretical ideal sitting profile considering common and new postures classified in load classes forms the basis for an expedient execution of posture changes to support effective dynamic sitting and promote health preservation.

References

- Woolf, A.D., Pfleger, B.: Burden of major musculoskeletal conditions. Bull. World Health Org. 81(9), 646–656 (2003)
- Roffey, D.M., Wai, E.K., Bishop, P., et al.: Causal assessment of occupational sitting and low back pain: results of a systematic review. Spine J. 10(3), 252–261 (2010)
- Womersley, L., May, S.: Sitting posture of subjects with postural backache. J. Manip. Physiol. Ther. 29(3), 213–218 (2006)
- Waongenngarm, P., Rajaratnam, B.S., Janwantanakul, P.: Perceived body discomfort and trunk muscle activity in three prolonged sitting postures. J. Phys. Ther. Sci. 27(7), 2183–2187 (2015)
- McCully, K.K., Hamaoka, T.: Near-infrared spectroscopy: what can it tell us about oxygen saturation in skeletal muscle? Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 28(3), 123–127 (2000)
- Curran, M., O'Sullivan, L., O'Sullivan, P., et al.: Does using a chair backrest or reducing seated hip flexion influence trunk muscle activity and discomfort? A systematic review. Hum. Factors 57(7), 1115–1148 (2015)
- Hosea, T.M., Simon, S.R., Delatizky, J., et al.: Myoelectric analysis of the paraspinal musculature in relation to automobile driving. Spine 11(9), 928–936 (1986)
- O'Sullivan, K., O'Keeffe, M., O'Sullivan, L., et al.: The effect of dynamic sitting on the prevention and management of low back pain and low back discomfort: a systematic review. Ergonomics 55(8), 898–908 (2012)

- Gregory, D.E., Dunk, N.M., Callaghan, J.P.: Stability ball versus office chair: comparison of muscle activation and lumbar spine posture during prolonged sitting. Hum. Factors J. Hum. Factors Ergon. Soc. 48(1), 142–153 (2006)
- McGill, S.M., Kavcic, N.S., Harvey, E.: Sitting on a chair or an exercise ball: various perspectives to guide decision making. Clin. Biomech. 21(4), 353–360 (2006)
- Aota, Y., Iizuka, H., Ishige, Y., et al.: Effectiveness of a lumbar support continuous passive motion device in the prevention of low back pain during prolonged sitting. Spine 32(23), 677 (2007)
- Beach, T.A.C., Mooney, S.K., Callaghan, J.P.: The effects of a continuous passive motion device on myoelectric activity of the erector spinae during prolonged sitting at a computer workstation. Work 20(3), 237–244 (2003)
- 13. van Deursen, D.L., Lengsfeld, M., Snijders, C.J., et al.: Mechanical effects of continuous passive motion on the lumbar spine in seating. J. Biomech. **33**(6), 695–699 (2000)
- Nachemson, A., Elfstrom, G.: Intravital dynamic pressure measurements in lumbar discs: a study of common movements, maneuvers and exercises. Scand. J. Rehabil. Med. Suppl. 1, 1– 40 (1970)
- 15. Sato, K., Kikuchi, S., Yonezawa, T.: in vivo intradiscal pressure measurement in healthy individuals and in patients with ongoing back problems. Spine **24**(23), 2468 (1999)
- Wilke, H., Neef, P., Caimi, M., et al.: New in vivo measurements of pressures in the intervertebral disc in daily life. Spine 24(8), 755–762 (1999)
- Wyss, T., Ulrich, S.P.: Festigkeitsuntersuchungen und gezielte Extensionsbehandlung der Lendenwirtbelsäule unter Berücksichtigung des Bandscheiben-Vorfalls. Vierteljahresschrift der naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich 99 (1954)
- Callaghan, J.P., Dunk, N.M.: Examination of the flexion relaxation phenomenon in erector spinae muscles during short duration slumped sitting. Clin. Biomech. (Bristol, Avon) 17(5), 353–360 (2002)
- 19. Miura, T., Sakuraba, K.: Influence of different spinal alignments in sitting on trunk muscle activity. J. Phys. Ther. Sci. 25(4), 483–487 (2013)
- Ellegast, R., Keller, K., Hamburger, R.: Ergonomische Untersuchung besonderer Büroarbeitsstühle. BGIA-Report 5/2008, ISBN: 978-3-88383-733-4

Human Factors Field Evaluation of a Blast Debris Protection Design Concept

Katherine Blake Mitchell^(™), Jay McNamara, and Kristine Isherwood

US Army Natick Soldier Research, Development and Engineering Center (NSRDEC), Natick, MA, USA Katherine.b.Mitchell.civ@mail.mil

Abstract. In an effort to provide urogenital, perineal and femoral protection against blast debris, a novel personal protection device was developed. The prototype, a harness shaped device worn over trousers, was assessed by 15 Soldiers as they performed an assortment of simulated mission tasks. User ratings were generally positive for ease of use, mission performance, mobility and reduced restriction and interference. Participants felt the device allowed them good mobility, fit close to the body, had breathability and allowed access to the front pockets. Participants experienced some bunching in the crotch area, waste relief required the device be at least partially removed, and some restriction in the hip was noted.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot Human-systems integration \cdot Systems engineering \cdot Urogenital \cdot Body armor \cdot Personal protective equipment \cdot Groin \cdot Blast debris protection

1 Introduction

The improvised explosive device (IED) is responsible for the majority of casualties and injuries sustained in Operation Iraqi Freedom [1] and casualties in Operation Enduring Freedom [2]. When an IED blast occurs, a variety of injuries frequently can occur, but frequently focus on the lower half of the body [1]. Although, injuries have been seen to extend all the way up to the bottom edge of the body armor vest, including the groin, buttocks, and pelvis, which are all highly susceptible to blast injury. Additionally, IED injuries frequently require amputations of the lower extremities, which have associated injuries to the perineum and genitals [3]. When an IED blast occurs, wounds are created that are contaminated with fragments of dirt and debris [4]. It was found that 4.7–10% of military trauma admissions had at least one urologic injury, and that of those 68% had external genitalia injuries [1].

During an IED explosion, fragments of dirt and debris can pepper an area of sensitive skin, such as the urogenital area. While these type of dirt and debris injuries are frequently not life threatening, the sexual and excretory capabilities, as well as the longterm effect on quality of life can be severely degraded. Potential outcomes from these events include genital destruction and disfigurement, destruction of reproductive capabilities, urinary tract damage, fecal stream diversions, and an unknown level of

[©] Springer International Publishing AG (outside the USA) 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_13

psychological impact [1]. Ballistic pelvic protection devices have been shown to decrease incidences of injury [5, 6].

The Blast Debris Protection effort investigated the trade-off space for urogenital, perineal and femoral protection against blast debris. The purpose was to define the materials, system design, and human performance trade space associated with providing blast debris protection to the lower abdomen, groin and upper legs of both male and female Warfighters. The team undertook an effort to help protect Soldiers, during an IED, from the effects of the dirt and debris that could potentially penetrate the urogenital, perineal, and femoral areas. The goal was to design, build, and evaluate novel concepts that help determine what works with the human shape, movement, and Soldier equipment. An additional goal was to push the boundaries of the acceptable concepts and look at novel designs, therefore a series of prototypes were developed to demonstrate those concepts within the "under trouser," "within trouser" and "over trouser" trade space. As a capstone to this project, a field evaluation of these concepts was completed to evaluate mobility, compatibility and Soldier acceptance. As a result, one concept stood out, and this paper highlights those findings.

2 Methods

2.1 Test Item

In total, ten urogenital, perineal and femoral protection devices were assessed. Using these ten designs, a total of sixteen concepts were assessed. Participants in this study only wore eight of the concepts and only one of those concepts, the harness, will be discussed in this paper. The harness is a one-piece item, worn over the individual's trouser and connected at the waist and side of the legs (see Fig. 1). The harness concept was designed to balance area of coverage, breathability, mobility, and access to pockets while still protecting the urogenital, perineal and femoral areas of the body.

In addition to the concept test item, participants also wore a duty uniform, a ballistic helmet, a body armor vest while carrying a mock weapon (either a M4 or AK-47) and a hydration pack or canteen. This additional gear was worn with the intent of assessing compatibility between the items and to simulate the way the harness would be worn in a training or combat environment.

2.2 Test Participants

Fifteen male National Guard Soldiers evaluated the harness concept; unfortunately, no female Soldiers were available to evaluate this item. Participants' mean age was 30.3 years (ranging from 21 to 53 years old, SD = 8.2 years), and had a mean time in service of 7.4 years (minimum 1 year, maximum 17 years, SD = 5.6 years). Two of the test participants had served at least one combat tour. Ranks ranged from E3–E5, with the majority being E-4 (8 of 15). All of the participants wore either small or medium size trousers (in short, regular, or long lengths). Participant experience wearing groin protection was limited. A hot and humid test location was selected to simulate a "worst case" environmental condition to evaluate breathability.



Fig. 1. Design sketch off the harness ballast debris protection device as worn over trousers; image on the left is of the front and image on the right is of the rear. (Patent 13/685,747, sketch courtesy of Natick Soldier Research Development and Engineering Center)

2.3 Test Procedures

This evaluation used a within-subjects design. Order of presentation of the test items was randomized. Each Soldier participated in an initial fit/size session followed by eight test sessions. Each test session lasted approximately four hours and consisted of executing a road march (~2 miles), an obstacle course, a vehicle compatibility task and a Military Operations Urban Terrain (MOUT) scenario. The test participants completed two test sessions per day, one in the morning and one in the afternoon. They wore a different concept for each test session, resulting in approximately four hours of wear time for each session.

At the conclusion of each activity, the test participants were asked to rate their ability to perform the mission/tasks as influenced by the test item they wore using a five-point scale, where 1 indicated very poor performance and 5 indicated very good performance. Testers also recorded any comments they offered. At the conclusion of each session of testing, the test participants were asked to complete a questionnaire, which addressed any further issues regarding Fit, Comfort, Restriction, and Compatibility with mission equipment. At the conclusion of all testing, the test participants were administered a final questionnaire which asked them to compare the various groin protection configurations. They also participated in a brief focus group.

The first language of most test subjects was not English. Efforts were made to overcome the language barrier by providing surveys written in and testers fluent in their native language. Even so, test participants' comments were somewhat limited and tended to be kept at a high level. It was often difficult to draw out some of the details regarding exactly what was causing discomfort and restriction. Despite the language barrier limitations, strong preferences were still evident from the data and test participants still commented and explained their feelings on all of the design concepts. The test participants all took their assignment to assess the different garments very seriously, and spent considerable time in answering the questions on the questionnaires. Additionally, testers followed up on the questionnaire responses if they found anything lacking or confusing with the test participants' ratings.

3 Results

Overall, the test participants had a very positive opinion of the harness concept (Fig. 2) after wearing it. When asked to give it an Overall Rating, all but one test participant stated that it was Very Good (5); that one test participant rated it as Good (4). Additionally, when rank ordered at the conclusion of the evaluation, test participants ranked this the harness concept first most often (7 times) and it had the best ranking score. The harness concept was also chosen as the preferred concepts for the following characteristics: Comfort, Weight, Ease of Use, Mobility, Access to Pockets, Bulk, Wound Care, Breathability, and Stability. Throughout the activities, test participants commented that they liked the concept, thought it felt lightweight, and was breathable. A few test participants had difficulty with bunching of the material in the crotch area and a few felt that access to their back pockets was limited, but overall opinions of the harness concept were positive.



Fig. 2. Images of test participants wearing the harness concept from the front and side.

3.1 Fit and Comfort

Mean ratings for fit of the harness concept were positive, with 11 test participants rating the fit as Very Good (5), and the other four rating it as Good (4). The harness concept had the second best mean rating for Fit of the concepts being compared. All but one of the test participants (who rated it as Good (4)) rated the Comfort as Very Good (5). Two test participants noted that they experienced discomfort on their Scrotum; one thought it was due to bunching of the test item and the other attributed it to chafing/rubbing. Both thought that heat buildup and area of coverage of test items were causes of the discomfort they experienced. Despite the fact that two test participants attributed the discomfort to heat buildup, the harness concept had the best mean rating for Thermal Comfort of any of the concepts. Eleven test participants rated the concept as Comfortable (3) and four rated it as Slightly Warm/Hot (4). The harness concept was also the only one of the sixteen concepts to not be rated warmer than Slightly Warm/Hot (4 on a 5-point scale).

3.2 Ease of Use

As can be seen in Table 1, test participants rated the harness concept very positively for Ease of Use. All test participants rated the harness concept as Very Easy (5) for Ease of Donning, Ease of Doffing, Ease of Quick Doffing, and Ease of Adjusting. While no test participants commented on it, testers noted that there was some confusion over which part of the concept was the front and which was the back. It was unclear if this was due to the design or because the labeling was on the front, whereas on other garments it was on the back. To aid test participants, testers notated the front and back onto the garment prototypes.

)
00
00
00
00

Table 1. Summary of ease of use responses.

3.3 Performance Metrics

Test participants also rated the performance characteristics of the harness concept highly, see Table 2. All variable except Ability of Soft Armor to Stay in Place (not bunch) received mean ratings approaching Very Good (5). The mean rating for Ability of Soft Armor to Stay in Place (not bunch) was still in the Good (4) range, although one person rated it as Poor (1). He noted that he experienced bunching in the crotch area which caused discomfort. All 15 test participants rated Weight of the test item as Very Good (5). The harness concept weighed approximately half a kilogram, and was the second lightest of the concepts worn by this group.

 Table 2.
 Summary of performance characteristics of protection device.

Question	Mean	SD
Bulk of test item	4.93	0.26
Weight of test item	5.00	0.00
Breathability/ventilation of test item	4.87	0.35
Ability to prevent sand and dirt infiltration	4.60	0.63
Ability of soft armor to stay in place (not bunch)	4.42	1.00
Area of protection coverage	4.67	0.49

3.4 Mobility

Movement restriction/interference ratings (5-point scale, where 1 indicated the least restriction/interference and 5 indicated the most) for the harness concept were especially good (Table 3). The harness concept had the best Movement ratings (compared to the other concepts) for most of the movements. Taking a Knee, High Step, High/Low Crawl, Going Through a Doorway, Climb/Descend Stairs, Squat, Overhead Arm Reach, Aim a Weapon in the Kneeling Position, Aim a Weapon in the Prone Position, and Get Into Vehicle all received ratings of No Restriction/interference (1). Walk, Jog, Combat Roll, Climb Through a Window, and Ride in Vehicle received 14 ratings of No Restriction/interference (1), and one rating of Slight (2). Restriction/interference ratings for Waste Relief (both liquid and solid) were slightly poorer than ratings for the other movements because the harness concept had to be removed (at least partially) to perform this task.

Question	Mean	SD
Walk/brisk walk/march	1.07	0.26
Jog/run	1.07	0.26
Sit	1.13	0.52
Take a knee	1.00	0.00
High step	1.00	0.00
Combat roll	1.00	0.00
High/low crawl	1.00	0.00
Climb through window	1.07	0.26
Going through a doorway	1.00	0.00
Climb/descend stairs	1.00	0.00
Squat	1.00	0.00
Climb ladder	1.00	0.00
Overhead arm reach	1.00	0.00
Aim a weapon in the kneeling position	1.00	0.00
Aim a weapon in the prone position	1.00	0.00
Get into vehicle	1.00	0.00
Ride in vehicle	1.13	0.52
Waste relief (liquid)	1.31	0.48
Waste relief (solid)	1.33	0.49

 Table 3. Movement restriction and interference ratings. Note that higher ratings indicate increased interference and restriction while lower scores indicate better performance.

3.5 Mission Activities

Similar results were seen in the mission activity ratings (5-point scale where 1 was Very Poor and 5 was Very Good), where the harness concept had the best mean ratings, and only the Road March received any ratings other than Very Good (5). For the variable Road March, two participants rated the harness concept's performance as Good (4), while all the other participants rated it as Very Good (5).

112 K.B. Mitchell et al.

In the images in Fig. 3, test participants performed a variety of MOUT activities during the evaluations, and the reader is able to see how the harness concept stayed in place through those movements. There were instances where the bottom edges of the test item pulled away from the thigh, and there was some buckling at the sides (upper thigh); however, this was more prevalent on individuals who were on the small side. In general, the harness concept stayed close to the body and allowed the user to make the movements they required without compromising protection.



Fig. 3. Images of test participants wearing harness concept to perform mission activities.

3.6 Compatibility

Test participants were asked to state if they had any compatibility issues with their test items and the other clothing they wore and equipment they used. Test participants noted that the harness concept was worn over their belt, thereby not allowing access to attach or wear items on the belt, but in general, the was considered a minor inconvenience to most test participants. No other compatibility issues were noted for the harness concept.

4 Conclusion

In summary, the harness concept was the best performing concept. The primary driver was comfort and ability to move in the test items. The primary type of restriction encountered was when lifting the leg at the hip and some bunching in the crotch area. Participants also noted restrictions in their ability to access their back pockets. Based on these participant comments, modification should be made to the prototype and development should continue.

It should be noted that only user testing was performed and each concept was worn for a limited amount of time (less than four hours). Additional blast and thermal testing is recommended. It is recommended that additional user testing be conducted with extended wear times and a broader array of military tasks. The harness concept is a design that should also be considered in a full level of protection, similar to the current groin protector panel (small arms protection level). Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank the Blast Debris Protection team and all those who supported the evaluation of these concepts. We would also like to thank the Natick Soldier Research, Development and Engineering Center for the funding for this project. Most importantly, the authors also thank the National Guard Soldiers for volunteering to participate in this study and for the sacrifices they make to serve our country.

References

- Waxman, S., Beekley, A., Morey, A., Soderdahl, D.: Penetrating trauma to the external genitalia in Operation Iraqi Freedom. Int. J. Impot. Res. 21(2),145–148 (2009). http:// www.nature.com/ijir/journal/v21/n2/pdf/ijir200859a.pdf. Accessed 2 Mar 207
- Coakley, T.A., Devlin, J.J., Kircher, S.S., Johnson, A.S.: Development of a ballistic model of combat groin injury. J. Trauma Acute Care Surg. 72(1), 206–210 (2012)
- Penn-Barwell, S.L.C.J., De Mello, W.F., Matthews, S.C.J.: The incidence of pelvic fractures with traumatic lower limb amputation in modern warfare due to improvised explosive devices.
 J. R. Nav. Med. Serv. 100(2) (2014). http://www.jrnms.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/ Cross-2014-Blast-pelvic-fracture.pdf. Accessed 2 Mar 2017
- Lewis, E.A., Pigott, M.A., Randall, A., et al.: The development and introduction of ballistic protection of the external genitalia and perineum. J. R. Army Med. Corps 159, i15–i17 (2013)
- Oh, J.S., Do, N.V., Clouser, M., Galarneau, M., Philips, J., Katschke, A., Clasper, J., Kuncir, E.J.: Effectiveness of the combat pelvic protection system in the prevention of genital and urinary tract injuries: an observational study. J. Trauma Acute Care Surg. 79(4), S193–S196 (2015)
- Breeze, J., Allanson-Bailey, L.S., Hepper, A.E., Midwinter, M.J.: Demonstrating the effectiveness of body armour: a pilot prospective computerised surface wound mapping trial performed at the Role 3 hospital in Afghanistan. J. R. Army Med. Corps 161(1), 36–41 (2015)

An Ergonomic Analysis of the Traditional Sorbetes Cart

Angela Marie Fausto, Carla Ocampo, Krisella Robles, and Benette Custodio^(⊠)

University of the Philippines Diliman, University of the Philippines, Quezon City, Philippines {aafausto, crocampo2, krrobles1, bpcustodio}@up.edu.ph

Abstract. Sorbetes, also known as 'dirty' ice cream, is one of the goods that have been sold on the streets of Metro Manila. Known for its colorful and unique cart design, people usually buy sorbetes because of its distinct taste and affordable price. Sorbetes vendors may be subjected to a huge amount of stress, causing them to experience pain on several parts of their body, because of the improper posture when using the cart. However, there is a lack of research on sorbetes peddling that could give basis to ensure that the cart design is ergonomic. Thus, this study aims to conduct an ergonomic analysis of the sorbetes cart and come up with solutions that may lessen the discomfort that vendors have grown accustomed to. Using Nordic Questionnaire, 15 sorbetes vendors were asked to identify which among their body parts are perceiving discomfort. Rapid Entire Body Assessment was conducted to assess their posture for each activity, and identify their risk for Musculoskeletal Disorders. This yielded a REBA score of 5 for all vendors when pushing/pulling the cart, and a range of 6-10 for scooping sorbetes – which entails medium and high risk, respectively. Moreover, it was identified that body parts with high prevalence of pain were more driven by poor posture in scooping, rather than pushing. In conclusion, few of the aspects of the cart (i.e. cart weight, handle design, canister's depth, handle distance) must be modified to reduce the vendors' REBA score and the discomfort that they experience.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Sorbetes cart · Ice cream

1 Background of the Study and Rationale

Street vending in the Philippines goes a long way back to the colonial era, wherein goods like milk, rice cakes, fruits, *binatog*, and *halo-halo* can be found alongside the streets of Manila [1]. As time passed by, the variety of goods being sold on the streets continuously increased, that an accurate list of goods that all the Filipino street vendors are selling today is nearly impossible to create.

Sorbetes, or what others refer to as 'dirty' ice cream, is one of the goods that have been sold on the streets for a long time now. Known for its colorful and unique cart design, people usually buy sorbetes because of its distinct taste and affordable price.

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_14

Selling sorbetes along the streets all-day long is no easy task. Sorbetes vendors are usually subjected to a huge amount of stress, causing them to experience pain on several parts of their body. One of the causes of this stress is the pushing/pulling of the cart. As stated in the study of Reed [2], Garg and Moore [3] arrived at a conclusion that "Pushing and pulling activities account for nine to eighteen percent of all back strains and sprains". In addition, other factors that may cause these body discomforts such as the sorbetes vendors' posture and measurements (i.e. cart and relevant anthropometric measurements) are of importance to the analysis of the cart.

2 Problem Statement

The lack of previous research on sorbetes peddling gives no basis to ensure that the design of its cart is ergonomic. Due to this, sorbetes vendors may be subjected to risks driven by awkward posture and poor material handling, that may lead to work-related musculoskeletal disorders.

3 Review of Related Literature

With the lack of research in sorbetes peddling, researchers are limited to using past studies that are somehow similar with the nature of this study. In a research by Das, ergonomic analysis on the hospital meal cart was conducted [4]. Design considerations and recommendations for a hospital meal cart included maneuverability, handle height, handle placement, and ease of stopping. On the other hand, in terms of activity, some of the design considerations for pushing and pulling two-wheeled carts [5, 6], were wheel diameter, handle brake, handle height, and cart load.

To be able to analyze the body pain being experienced by sorbetes vendors, it is important to know which body part/s is/are perceiving discomfort. In order to do this, the Nordic Questionnaire [7] may be used. It is a tool in determining the symptoms of work-related musculoskeletal disorder (WMSD). Likewise, a Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) may be conducted to determine the risk of sorbetes vendors to WMSD [8].

4 Methodology

To be able to conduct an ergonomic analysis on the sorbetes cart, 15 vendors around UP Diliman, Quezon Memorial Circle, and Maginhawa street, in the Philippines were interviewed with regards to the pain they were perceiving due to the usage of the cart. Although significant information on task performance, usability of the cart, and working posture were collected, other factors were also considered in order to accurately identify the source of discomfort.

The Nordic Questionnaire was used to gather data on the perceived body discomfort. Necessary sorbetes cart measurements were recorded. In addition, comments and suggestions of sorbetes vendors with regards to the sorbetes cart were gathered. Pictures were taken while the sorbetes vendors were scooping ice cream and pushing/pulling the cart. The photos were used to conduct a Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) on each sorbetes vendor, which served as a Postural Assessment Tool. Using this tool, risks on WMSD, and its corresponding action were identified. The gathered sorbetes cart measurements were compared with relevant Filipino anthropometric measurements, using the study of Del Prado-Lu as reference [9]. Specific recommendations on the sorbetes cart's design were formulated, with the goal of significantly decreasing the pain that the sorbetes vendors were experiencing.

5 Results and Discussion

5.1 Data Collection and Presentation

A total of 15 sorbetes vendors, with ages ranging from 16 to 55 years old, were interviewed. 87% of which are male, and 13% are female. The number of hours per day wherein sorbetes vendors work ranges from 6–17 h per day, and have been doing such work for 1–35 years.

The respondents were asked whether it was hard to push/pull, stop, and turn the cart. Seventy-three percent (73%) of the subjects have difficulty in moving the cart (i.e. pushing/pulling), 47% in stopping the cart, while none of them in steering the cart.

The sorbetes vendors were also asked regarding the most challenging part in sorbetes peddling, associated with the usage of the cart, 46.67% of the subjects stated that it was pushing/pulling the cart. According to the vendors, pushing/pulling the cart was actually easy - provided that you are walking on a flat road. However, when the road becomes uphill or downhill, that's where the challenge comes in. This is because they have to carry all the weight of the cart (if uphill), or they have to use all their strength to be able to prevent the cart from sliding down (if downhill).

5.2 Pain Discomfort Survey (Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire)

Results of the interviews showed that within a year, sorbetes vendors experience pain mostly in their shoulders and lower back. Discomfort is also present in their hips/thighs, ankles/feet, and knees which are probably caused by prolonged time in standing and walking. The cart does not provide a seat for the vendor, and the nature of their job is to walk along the streets all-day long to seek out people who would possibly buy some ice cream. Lastly, pain is experienced in the neck and wrist/hands. The height of the peddlers is far bigger than the cart, they tend to bend and look down when serving ice cream – putting stress on their neck. Moreover, scooping ice cream involves a lot of movements in the wrist/hands area, causing it to feel the pain when done repetitively (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Percentage prevalence of pain per body part in the last 12 months

5.3 Postural Assessment (REBA)

To determine the risk of the vendors to work-related musculoskeletal disorder (WMSD), their posture while pulling/pushing the cart and scooping ice cream were analyzed through Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA).

Pushing/Pulling of the Cart. While the sorbetes peddlers were pushing/pulling, their necks were tilted from 0° to 20° , their trunk formed no angle, and the weight of their body was concentrated on only one leg. The upper arm was forming an angle of 0° to 20° , 0° to 90° for the lower arm, while the wrists were twisted forming an angle of 0° – 15° (see Fig. 2). The REBA score for all the vendors is 5, which indicated medium



Fig. 2. Posture of sorbetes vendor while pushing/pulling the sorbetes cart (left) and scooping ice cream (right)

risk for work-related musculoskeletal disorder (WMSD). Given this, further investigations should be done and change must be implemented soon.

Scooping Ice Cream. While scooping ice cream, the vendors' necks were tilted to greater than 20° , some of which were twisted. Standing on both of their legs, the vendors' trunks were forming an angle from 0° to 20° , with some having twisted trunks. In terms of their arms, the angle of their upper arm - which were abducted, and lower arm ranged from 0° to 45° and 0° to 60° , respectively. Moreover, some vendors had their shoulders raised and their wrists twisted to more than 15° (see Fig. 2). In total, the REBA score in scooping ice cream ranges from 6 to 10, with a mean of 8.14. This result indicates high risk work-related musculoskeletal disorder (WMSD) for the vendors. Investigation should be done and change must be implemented immediately.

5.4 Comparison Between the Results of REBA and Nordic Questionnaire

Results obtained from REBA are compared to the results of the Nordic Questionnaire in order to identify which posture mainly causes the pain experienced by sorbetes vendors. Percentage from the maximum possible score of each body part considered in REBA was calculated. A body part with a high percentage in REBA score means poorer posture; correspondingly, this body part should be indicated with presence of discomfort during the interview.

Analyzing the results of REBA for each activity, both pushing and scooping yielded the highest percentages for the wrist and lower arm. Using only the said data as the sole basis, one may infer that, indeed, it is in these body parts wherein vendors experience the most pain. However, the result from the Nordic Questionnaire showed that prevalence of pain for the wrists and elbows were 60% and 20% respectively, which is low in comparison to what its respective REBA score implies. Despite having awkward positions for these body parts, vendors may already accustomed to the pain, hence the low percentage in the Nordic Questionnaire (Tables 1 and 2).

	Mean	Percentage
Wrist	3.00	100%
Lower arm	2.00	100%
Neck	2.13	53%
Activity	2.00	5.%
Upper arm	3.33	48%
Trunk	2.40	40%
Leg	1.00	25%
Coupling	1.00	25%
Force/load	0.00	0%
REBA score	8.13	54%

Table 1. Mean REBA score and its percentage per body part (scooping) (The percentages were obtained by dividing the mean REBA score per body part with the maximum possible score.)

	Mean	Percentage ¹
Wrist	1.93	64%
Lower arm	1.27	63%
Force/load	2.00	50%
Leg	2.00	50%
Activity	1.00	25%
Coupling	1.00	25%
Neck	1.00	25%
Trunk	1.07	18%
Upper arm	1.07	15%
REBA score	5.0	33%

Table 2. Mean REBA score and its percentage per body part (pushing)

From the results of the Nordic Questionnaire, pain is most prevalent in the shoulders, lower back, and ankles/feet. The activity score in REBA is most likely associated to perceived pain in the shoulders since the shoulders are frequently used for both scooping and pushing. The percentage from the maximum REBA score of the Activity category for scooping concurs with the result from the Nordic. However, the percentage from the maximum REBA score of the Activity category for pushing deviates to the Nordic Questionnaire result. Same with the result for the lower back, maximum percentage from the maximum REBA score of trunks are low. Looking at the scores, a higher REBA percentage in the Trunk category was obtained for scooping compared to pushing, 40% and 18%, respectively. The vendors while scooping are in a stooping posture, unlike the upright posture when pushing the cart. Lastly, pain in the ankles/feet may be compared with the REBA percentage in the REBA percentage in the REBA percentage in the REBA percentage in the Posture when pushing the cart. Lastly, pain in the ankles/feet may be compared with the REBA percentage in the REBA percentage in the Leg category. Higher percentage



Fig. 3. Illustration of prevalence of pain per body part

was obtained for pushing, rather than scooping, which means that sorbetes vendors manifest a poor position of their legs while pushing the cart, thereby experiencing discomfort in their ankles/feet, given that they have to walk several miles a day (Fig. 3).

5.5 Cart Design

The measured mean length and width of a traditional sorbetes cart was 118.61-cm and 38.82-cm respectively. Upon evaluation, it has been identified that these measurements are within the recommended cart measurements [11] which are 121.92-cm for the length and 91.40-cm for the width (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Comparison between the actual (black two headed arrow) and recommended (red two headed arrow) cart measurements [10]

In addition, the current design's mean handle width of 3.2-cm complies with the recommended range of handle width or diameter for power grips which is 3 to 4-cm [12]. However, the handle orientation of the cart does not allow proper wrist posture; it requires vendors to twist their hands when gripping the handle. Likewise, the cornered shape of the handles is not suitable for gripping.

Since the distance between the two handles in the current design, 35.82-cm, do not comply with the 47-cm anthropometric measurement of the elbow breadth (based on the mean value of the 95th percentile male and female), it can be observed that the sorbetes vendors' arms were very strained.

Therefore, there is a need to change the design of the sorbetes cart accordingly. As it has been verified that the sorbetes vendors were experiencing body pains on several parts of their body from selling of sorbetes, their opinion on changing the design of the cart was asked. Although knowing that these changes may alleviate the pain that they were feeling, most of them were very hesitant with regards to change, not only because they were accustomed to the pain from peddling for many years, but most importantly because they had the notion that the appeal of the sorbetes cart to people might be affected, if ever its appearance will be changed.

6 Conclusion

The two main activities that sorbetes vendors undertake are pushing the cart and scooping the ice cream. Upon conducting REBA on their posture for each activity, it was identified that for pushing, sorbetes vendors are subjected to medium risk to work-related musculoskeletal disorder, while high risk for scooping.

On the other hand, comparison of the results of the percentage from the maximum possible REBA score to the Nordic Questionnaire showed that albeit the awkward posture that vendors manifest while peddling sorbetes, pain is not perceived. Possibly because sorbetes vendors have already grown accustomed to it or other risk factors are associated. However, higher REBA percentages were present for scooping rather than pushing.

Thus, focus must be directed towards minimizing the REBA score for scooping, since body parts which exhibit high prevalence of pain are driven by the awkward posture from the said activity.

Most importantly, there is a need to redesign some parts of the cart, since it has been proven to be unergonomic, as what the result of this study indicates. In this way, discomfort that sorbetes vendors are subjected to may be alleviated.

7 Recommendations

7.1 Pushing

Since pushing is the most difficult part in using the sorbetes cart, some parts of the body needed to perform the activity perceive pain. To alleviate the pain for the sorbetes vendors, REBA score should be minimized. For the posture of the vendors, neck angle should be kept within 0 to 20 and trunk must be straight. The upper arm must be kept within 0 to 20, while the lower arm must be kept within 60 to 100. The wrist of the vendor must be kept within 0 to 15 higher or lower. Bending and twisting should be avoided. Aside from posture, another factor which greatly contributes in the REBA score is the weight of the cart and thus, it must be decreased.

7.2 Scooping

To reduce the REBA score, it is recommended that the ice cream canisters' depth be reduced. Depth should be adjusted for the vendors to avoid:

- 1. tilting their neck with an angle greater than 20° ;
- 2. bending their upper body; and
- 3. exceeding 20° for the upper arms, 60° -100° for the lower-arm and 15° for the wrist.

7.3 Cart Height

As a general rule, working height (for work which involves standing) should be based on elbow height [13]. With this, sorbetes cart height should be decreased from 91.88-cm to 89-cm, in order to accommodate the 5th percentile of female [9].

7.4 Handles

Rather than the four-sided handles that are used in the current design of the sorbetes cart [14], it would be better if the handles were cylindrical in shape. Likewise, its handle should be vertical with horizontal bar since it is a narrow two-wheeled cart that is less than 50-cm wide [11, 13], to cater to vendors of different heights and to improve the maneuverability of the cart. Lastly, the distance of the handles should be increased to 47-cm, which is based on the anthropometric measurement for elbow breadth, to be able to accommodate most vendors.

7.5 Brakes

Vendors have difficulty in stopping the cart, especially when going down the inclined surfaces. With this, it is recommended to install an emergency wheel brake for easy control in stopping the cart [12].

8 Areas for Further Studies

Further studies may be done by analyzing the design of the cart with the use of biomechanical analysis. In this way, the maximum acceptable force required in pushing the cart given its weight, and the likes may be determined. They may also study on the other occupational hazards that a sorbetes vendor experiences (i.e. environmental factors).

Moreover, the traditional two-wheeled sorbetes cart may be analyzed by comparing it to the other existing forms of sorbetes cart such as those with pedals and machine, and then evaluate which of these is the most ergonomic cart – given that the traditional appeal of the cart will not be affected.

Lastly, since one of the most problematic activities in sorbetes peddling is scooping, further studies may be done to determine how the method of ice cream scooping can be changed to alleviate the pain that it causes to sorbetes vendors.

References

- 1. Fernandez, D.G.: Balut to Barbeque: Philippine street food. In: Oxford Symposium on Food and Cookerym, vol. 1, pp. 98–104 (1991)
- Reed, J.J.: An Ergonomic Analysis of Company XYZ's Clutch Line. University of Wisconsin-Stout Graduate School (2006)

- 3. Garg, A., Moore, J.S.: Ergonomics. Hanley & Belfus Incorporated, Philadelphia (1992)
- Das, B., Wimpee, J.: Ergonomics evaluation and redesign of a hospital meal cart. Appl. Ergon. 33, 309–318 (2002)
- Jung, M., Haight, J.M., Freivalds, A.: Pushing and pulling carts and two-wheeled hand trucks. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 35, 79–89 (2005)
- 6. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. http://www.cdc.gov/niosh
- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sørensen, F., Andersson, G., Jørgensen, K.: Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl. Ergon. 18, 233–237 (1987)
- 8. Ergonomics Plus. http://www.ergo-plus.com
- Prado-Lu, J.L.: Anthropometric measurement of Filipino manufacturing workers. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 37, 497–503 (2007)
- Malabuyo, C.: Sorbetes Cart (2014). https://www.behance.net/gallery/16544781/Sorbetes-Cart
- 11. The Eastman Kodak Company: Ergonomic Design for People at Work, vol. II. Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York (1986)
- 12. The Eastman Kodak Company: Ergonomic Design for People at Work, vol. I. Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York (1983)
- Mack, K., Haslegrave, C.M., Gray, M.I.: Usability of manual handling aids for transporting materials. Appl. Ergon. 26, 353–364 (1995)
- Dul, J., Weerdmeester, B.: Ergonomics for Beginners. Taylor & Francis Ltd., Washington, DC (1994)

Adoption of Construction Ergonomic Interventions on Building Construction Sites in Nigeria

Ibrahim AbdulHafeez¹ and John Smallwood^{2(⊠)}

 ¹ Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria, Nigeria mscenvl0656@gmail.com
 ² Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University, Port Elizabeth, South Africa John.smallwood@nmmu.ac.za

Abstract. The construction industry is physical in nature and the incidence of work related musculoskeletal disorders is increasing, especially in a developing country such as Nigeria. Ergonomic hazards reduce the effectiveness of thousands of construction workers in the Nigerian construction industry. Work related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSDs) effectively marginalise construction productivity, which is a challenge in general in the industry. Furthermore, the industry is also affected by a shortage of skilled craftsmen. Then, observations and anecdotal evidence indicate that Nigerian construction workers have not adopted ergonomics principles. The research examines the level of adoption of ergonomics principles in preventing WMSDs on construction sites in Nigeria. It assesses the practice of ergonomics based on stretching and exercises, use of personal protective equipment, working methods, and material storage and movement. Site observations were used to assess ergonomic practices among one hundred and twenty workers on construction sites in Nigeria.

Keywords: Construction · Ergonomics · Productivity

1 Introduction

The construction industry has earned a reputation of being an extremely hazardous and dangerous industry because of the high incidence of accidents and fatalities that occur worldwide [1–5]. Statistics indicate that the construction industry is among the most hazardous industries. Data from the National Safety Council [6] of the United States 2003–2011 shows that, 8 993 people died in construction, which was the highest number of fatalities among all industries. The same trend was observed in other countries as well. Construction had the third highest occupational accidents in Egypt [7]. Mahmoudi et al. [8], Muiriri and Mulinge [9], and Olutuase [2] state that one in every six accidents occur on construction sites globally, and the situation is even worse in developing countries. In most developing countries, such as Nigeria, many accidents and ill health problems on construction site remain unreported and there is concern that the current situation is alarming because health and safety (H&S) management is poorly organised and is characterised by poor documentation [9–11]. Olutuase [2], and Smallwood and Haupt [1] assert that hundreds of construction workers are being injured

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_15

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

and rendered permanently disabled. Construction is physically demanding [12]. The nature of construction work helps to explain why injuries, such as strains, sprains, and WMSDs, are so prevalent in the industry. Execution of tasks by construction workers requires lifting heavy loads, performing repetitive tasks, frequent bending and twisting of the body, working above shoulder height, working below knee level, manual handling of heavy and irregular-sized loads, adopting awkward work postures, working in confined spaces, holding the same position for long, forceful exertion and working under hot and cold temperatures/weather, which are inherent H&S risks and unfavourable ergonomic practices [1, 9, 13]. That is why it is being said that construction itself is a problem in ergonomics [14]. These factors can result in injuries or problems involving the tendons, muscles, or nerves which constitute WMSDs. According to Hsiao and Fosbroke [15], construction workers at 'increased risk' of injury include machine operators, plasterers, tile setters, carpet layers, structural steel workers, electricians, roofers, plumbers, carpenters, and general workers. WMSDs affect every aspect of a worker's life, people who work in pain are less productive and cannot produce quality. Buckley [16] posits that sprains, strains, and physical ailments have long been a drain to construction productivity and risk to construction workers' H&S.

The high prevalence of WMSDs and the growing need to improve H&S in construction have led to increasing focus on ergonomics. Ergonomics is one of the strategies in preventing WMSDs and improving H&S in construction [4, 17, 18].

The aim of the paper is to investigate the adoption of construction ergonomic interventions on building construction sites in Nigeria. The study investigates what is being done on Nigerian construction sites to prevent the incidence of WMSDs in the building industry. The objective is to assess the practice of ergonomics based on stretching and exercises, use of ergonomic personal protective equipment, working methods/practices, material movement, and the use of ergonomic designed hand tools.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Occupational Health and Safety

As a broad-based concept, occupational H&S encapsulates the mental, emotional and physical well-being of the worker in relation to the conduct of his work. Occupational H&S encompasses the anticipation, recognition, evaluation and control of danger, arising from workplaces that could affect negatively the health, wellbeing of employees considering the working environment. The basic premise of occupational H&S is to ensure a healthy and safe work environment, which would not have a negative impact on the health of workers.

2.2 Health and Safety in Construction

The high rate of injuries, illness, and fatalities has been a source of concern to stakeholders requiring them to provide a healthy and safe working environment for workers in the construction industry. According to Obiegu [19], most construction

projects in Nigeria do not achieve H&S, and quality. Clients are not satisfied with contractors' poor task preparation, lack of worker protection and poor H&S culture, which results in accidents on construction sites. This has led to deliberations regarding ways of ensuring a healthy and safe working environment, especially for workers who are usually at the receiving end when these incidents occur [20]. That is why Mahmoudi et al. [8] posit that construction firms need to improve their conditions with respect to H&S. Workers in construction experience high rates of disabling WMSDs. The need to improve H&S, and reduce the incidence of WMSDs in construction has led to the implementation of ergonomics interventions.

2.3 Ergonomics in Construction

Construction craftsmen have an important role to play in the execution of projects, which is critical in terms of delivering quality buildings and structures. Ergonomics is a tool, which the construction industry can use to reduce injuries and work related injuries on construction sites.

Ergonomics basically considers how work affects a worker. The focus of ergonomics is always on designing equipment, tasks, tools, and the working environment for the individual employee, who brings unique characteristics with her or him to the job. Some of these characteristics, such as height and age, cannot be changed, while others, such as training and experience, can be changed.

2.4 Ergonomics Interventions

Administrative Improvements or Improvement. Administrative interventions include introducing work practices that reduce ergonomic hazards. It is known as administrative controls because they are interventions that are administrative and can only be implemented by management. The improvements include changes in the way work is prepared, job rotation, controlling the work schedule and work pace, muscle relaxation time, and implementing housekeeping and maintenance of work spaces, tools, and equipment.

Engineering Improvements. When the ergonomic hazard cannot be eliminated by administrative controls, engineering controls are the next preferred measure. Engineering controls involve rearranging, modifying, redesigning, or replacing tools, equipment, and work environment. These improvements reduce or eliminate the ergonomic risk factor. They include providing adjustable equipment, providing ergonomic designed tools, providing lifting and mechanical aids for movement of materials. Other engineering improvements include machine guards, backup alarms, guardrails, covers, slip resistant surfaces, and using machines to move heavy objects instead of carrying them [18].

Personal Protective Equipment. Ergonomic related personal protective equipment (PPE) are worn to protect a specific body part and should be always worn by employees to reduce the risk. PPE includes gloves, knee, shoulder and elbow pads,

shock absorbing shoe inserts and other protective items. PPE is at the bottom of the hierarchy of prevention interventions, and should only be considered when other measures such as administrative and engineering interventions have been exhausted. The ergonomics intervention matrix is shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Ergonomics intervention matrix [21]

3 Research Method

Quantitative and qualitative research methods were used for the study. Site observations and interviews were used for the study. Plumbers, carpenters, and floor tile layers were observed while working and interviews were used to complete the questionnaires. Convenience sampling was used to select 40 craftsmen in each category. The observations were focused on the practice of ergonomics in preventing WMSDs based on stretching and exercises, the use of PPE, working methods/practices, material movement, and the use of ergonomic designed hand tools. The artisans were interviewed with respect to ergonomics training, WMSD symptoms, and ergonomics in general.

4 Research Findings

It can be seen from Table 1 that the respondents were equally distributed (40 each) among carpenters, floor tile layers, and plumbers. 80% of Respondents have between 6 and 20 years' work experience, and can thus be deemed experienced. Most employees are employed on a temporary basis, as only 22% of respondents are permanent staff in the employ of their respective firms.

S/N	Variable	Option	Frequency (Nr)	Percentage (%)
1	Trade	(a) Carpenters	40	33.3
		(b) Floor tile layers	40	33.3
		(c) Plumbers	40	33.3
		Total	120	100.0
2	Working experience	(a) 0-5 years	16	13.3
		(b) 6-10 yeras	37	30.8
		(c) 11-15 years	28	23.3
		(d) 16-20 years	32	26.7
		(e) 20 years and above	7	5.8
		Total	120	100.0
3	Employment	(a) Permanent	26	21.7
		(b) Temporary	94	78.3
		Total	120	100.0

Table 1. Profile of respondents

The researcher chose to inform the workers regarding ergonomics and ergonomic injuries. This was done to help the respondents develop an understanding of the subject matter to be able to respond to other questions appropriately. During this process symptoms of WMSDs were listed and explained to the craftsmen. This was followed by a question as to whether they have experienced such signs and symptoms before.

Respondents were asked if they have experience any form of WMSD in the last 12 months. 61% of artisans indicated that they had, while 39% had not. This indicates that WMSDs are still a problem in construction. Artisans that have experienced WMSDs were asked to indicate the anatomic region affected. The back (34%) was the most affected while feet (8%) was the least affected. This also confirms the notion that WMSDs are prevalent in construction. The study also investigated training with respect to WMSD prevention - only 10.8% had received such training (Table 2).

Aspect	Option	Frequency (Nr)	Percentage (%)
Experienced WMSD before	Yes	73	60.8
	No	47	39.2
	Total	120	100.0
Anatomic region	Neck	8	11.0
	Shoulder	11	15.1
	Hand	8	11.0
	Back	25	34.2
	Knee	15	20.5
	Foot	6	8.2
	Total	73	100.0
Training on WMSD prevention	Yes	13	10.8
	No	107	89.2
	Total	120	100

Table 2. Experience of and training relative to WMSDs.

The research investigated whether respondents (artisans) stretch during their working day. As seen in Table 3, the majority (84%) of artisans do not stretch during their working day. There was no restriction on lifting of material by a single person and restriction on the maximum weight of 30 kg as per the International Labour Organisation, for lifting manually. There was no cap on the amount of weight to be lifted on all sites observed. It is also important to note that lifting aids were found on 68% of the sites visited, which would help reduce the amount of manual lifting.

Most of the respondents had not received manual lifting related training - only 13% had. The study investigated management policies/interventions such as job rotation in an endeavour to prevent WMSDs - most (93%) employees do not.

Intervention	Response	Frequency	Percentage
	-	(Nr)	(%)
Stretches prior to work	Yes	19	15.8
	No	101	84.2
	Total	120	100.0
Restriction on single person lifting	Yes	0.0	0.0
	No	120	100.0
	Total	120	100.0
Training on manual lifting	Yes	16	13.3
	No	104	86.7
	Total	120	100.0
Restriction on lifting over 30 kg	Yes	0	0.0
	No	120	100.0
	Total	120	100.0
		1	(D

Table 3. Ergonomics interventions to mitigate WMSDs.

(continued)

Intervention	Response	Frequency (Nr)	Percentage (%)
Are dollies, cart and other lifting aids available	Yes	52	43.3
for moving materials	No	68	56.7
	Total	120	100.0
Do management implement job rotation	Yes	8	6.7
	No	112	93.3
	Total	120	100.0

Table 3. (continued)

Table 4 presents findings from observations of floor tile laying activities. It was observed that there was no use of PPE such as knee pads, and shock absorbing shoe inserts. Site observations that only 45% of floor tile layers use hand gloves while working.

No tile layer was found to use knelling creepers. Only 30% of tilers make use of tripod benches to mitigate cutting at ground level. It was observed that materials were stored near their place of use in 60% of cases. Most materials are stored on the floor as observed in 87% of the plumbing work cases. This contributes to the incidence of bending. It could have been stored at waist level to prevent frequent bending. The use of mechanical aids for movement of materials was found to be low. Wheel barrows were observed to be the most common aid used to move material.

	Intervention	Yes	Percentage	No	Percentage
1	Shock absorbing shoe inserts	0	0.0	40	100.0
2	Knee pads	0	0.0	40	100.0
3	Kneeling creepers	0	0.0	40	100.0
4	Hand gloves	18	45.0	22	55.0
5	Providing tripod benches to reduce cutting	12	30.0	28	70.0
	at ground level				
6	Materials stored near place of use	24	60.0	16	60.0
7	Materials stored above ground level	5	12.5	35	87.5
8	Mechanical aid for movement of materials	21	52.5	19	47.5

Table 4. Floor tile laying ergonomic interventions

Carpenters do not use knee pads, leg wedges, and shock absorbing shoe inserts. 38% of Carpenters used hand gloves while working (Table 5).

In terms of material storage and management, materials were mostly stored on the ground as seen in the case of 70% of carpentry operations observed. It was also seen that materials were stored near their place of use in the case of 62% of carpentry operations observed.

It was observed that there was no use of adjustable saw horses. Fixed saw horses were found to be used. It was also observed that mechanical aids were rarely (23%) provided for movement of materials on site.

	Intervention/PPE	Yes	Percentage	No	Percentage
1	Knee pads	0	0.0	40	100
2	Leg wedge	0	0.0	40	100
3	Shock absorbing shoe inserts	0	0.0	40	100
4	Gloves	15	37.5	25	62.5
5	Materials stored near place of use	25	62.5	15	37.5
6	Materials stored above ground/waist level	17	42.5	23	57.5
7	Nail and screw gun	7	17.5	33	82.5
8	Adjustable saw horse	0	0.0	40	100.0
9	Mechanical aid for movement of materials	9	22.5	31	77.5

Table 5. Carpentry related ergonomic interventions and use of PPE

Table 6 presents findings from observing plumbers. The use of PPE was observed during plumbing and pipefitting operations. Plumbers were not seen to be using knee pads and shock absorbing shoe inserts. 48% of carpenters used hand gloves while working. It was observed that light weight PVC pipes were used on all sites visited. Benches were only used for cutting at waist level on 7% of sites. Mechanical lifts were only used - in 5% of plumbing operations observed.

Materials were stored on the ground in 85% of operations observed, as opposed to ground, or at waist level. Materials were stored near their place of use in 80% of plumbing and pipe fitting operations observed.

		Yes	Percentage	No	Percentage
1	Shock absorbing shoe inserts	0	0.0	40	100
2	Knee pads	0	0.0	40	100
3	PVC(light weight) pipes	40	100.0	0	0.0
4	Hand gloves	23	57.5	17	42.5
5	Providing benches to reduce cutting at ground level	7	17.5	33	82.5
6	Materials stored near place of use	32	80.0	8	20.0
7	Materials stored above ground/waist level	6	15.0	34	85.0
8	Use of person lift/mechanical lift.	2	5.0	38	95.0

Table 6. Plumbing and pipe fitting ergonomic interventions.

5 Conclusions and Recommendations

The study has limitations because of the small sample size, and the fact that only three trades were assessed, and therefore the result should not be considered representative of the construction population in Nigeria. A larger sample size is required to determine the degree of adoption of ergonomics in Nigeria.

The study has shown that construction workers face high rates of WMSDs. The study concludes that the adoption of ergonomics among carpenters, floor tile layers,

and plumbers is low. The use of PPE is very low. Knee pads, shock absorbing shoe inserts, and leg wedges were not found to be used among the three trades. Because of the rate of kneeling while they work, a knee pad helps to reduce the pressure on the knee while the shock absorbing shoe insert helps give the cushion effect while they stand. Stretching and exercise was also found to be low among craftsmen. Craftsmen do not stretch before and during their working day. Even though the research did not address how much exercise and stretching they do outside the work environment.

In terms of material handling, no restriction was in place with respect to lifting of material by a single person and there was no cap on the amount of weight to be lifted on all sites observed. These are administrative interventions which help to reduce WMSDs through proper material handling and movement. This may be because most employees have not received any training on manual lifting as found in the study.

The use of ergonomic equipment such as kneeling creepers and tripod benches to reduce cutting at ground level for floor tile layers was low. The use of nail and screw guns and adjustable saw horses was among carpenters was also low. In the case of plumbers, the use of light weight (PVC) pipes instead of steel pipes was universal. This helps reduce the amount of load to be carried by plumbers. The use of person lifts to hoist a worker while working was also very low. In terms of ergonomic working methods, materials were usually stored near their place of use to reduce transportation of materials on site. Materials are mostly stored on the ground, rather than at waist level to prevent repeated bending and rising.

The study recommends training for craftsmen with respect to ergonomics and WMSD prevention to experienced craftsmen and inclusion into the syllabi of apprentices, and qualified craftsmen.

References

- Smallwood, J.J., Haupt, T.C.: Construction ergonomics; perspectives of female and male production workers. In: 25th Association of Researchers in Construction Management Conference, pp. 1263–1271 (2009)
- Olutuase, S.O.: A study of safety management in the Nigerian Construction Industry. IOSR J. Bus. Manag. 16(3), 1–10 (2014)
- Ajayi, O., Thwala, W.: Developing an integrated design model for construction ergonomics in Nigeria Construction Industry. Afr. J. Appl. Res. 1(1), 478–495 (2015)
- Sass, C., Smallwood, J.: The role of ergonomics in green building. In: Proceedings of the 19th Triennial Congress of the IEA, Melbourne, 9–14 August 2015
- Abdul-Tharim, H., Jaffar, N., Lop, N.S., Mohd-Kamar, I.F.: Ergonomic risk controls in construction industry—a literature review. Procedia Eng. 20, 80–88 (2011)
- National Safety Council: National Safety Council; USA, Itasca, Illinois: 2013. Injury Facts, 2013 edn. (2013)
- Valenti, A., Omaira, M., Venanzi, D., Fantini, L., Iavicoli, S.: Occupational health and safety in Egypt: an overview. Afr. Newsl. Occup. Health Saf. 23(1), 4–6 (2010)
- Mahmoudi, S., Ghasemi, F., Mohammadfam, I., Soleimani, E.: Framework for continuous assessment and improvement of occupational health and safety issues in construction companies. Saf. Health Work 5, 125–130 (2014)
- Muiruri, G., Mulinge, C.: Health and safety management on construction projects sites in Kenya. A case study of construction projects in Nairobi County. In: FIG Congress 2014 Engaging the Challenges – Enhancing the Relevance Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 16–21 June (2014)
- 10. Diugwu, I.A., Baba, D.L., Egila, A.E.: Effective regulation and level of awareness: an exposé of the Nigeria's construction industry. Open J. Saf. Sci. Technol. 2, 140–146 (2012)
- 11. Umeokafor, N., Isaac, D., Jones, K., Umeadi, K.: Enforcement of occupational safety and health regulations in Nigeria: an exploration. Eur. Sci. J. **3**, 93–104 (2014)
- Ray, S.J., Teizer, J.: Real-time construction worker posture analysis for ergonomics training. Adv. Eng. Inform. 26, 439–455 (2012)
- Smallwood, J., Ajayi, O.: The impact of training on construction ergonomics knowledge and awareness. Ergon. SA 21(1), 23–38 (2009)
- Smallwood, J.J.: The Influence of clients on contractor health and safety (H&S). In: Association of Researchers in Construction Management Conference, vol. 2, Edinburgh, United Kingdom, 1–3 September 2004
- Hsiao, H., Fosbroke, D.: Determining research focus for reducing overexertion injuries in the construction industry. In: 13th Triennial Congress of the IEA, Tampere, Finland, vol. 6 (1997)
- Buckley, B.: Big buzz on ergonomics (2009). http://southeast.construction.com/features/ archive/2009/0903_Feature4.asp
- Albers, J.T., Estill, C.F.: Ergonomics for construction workers. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Ergonomics for Construction Workers DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2007–122 (2007)
- AlSwaity, A., Enshassi, A.: Construction ergonomics related to safety. In: 4th International Engineering Conference – Towards Engineering of 21st Century (2012). research.iugaza. edu.ps/files/2147.PD
- Obiegu, M.E.: Infusion of quality, health and safety requirement into building production. In: Council of Builders of Nigeria Congress. Nigerian Building Industry and the National Economy, pp. 83–97 (2015)
- Agwu, M.O., Olele, H.E.: Fatalities in the Nigerian construction industry: a case of poor safety culture. Brit. J. Econ. Manag. Trade 3(4), 431–454 (2014)
- 21. Marras, W.S., Karwowski, W.: Interventions, Controls, and Applications in Occupational Ergonomics. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2006)

The Impact of Ergonomics Interventions on Musculoskeletal Injuries Among Construction Workers

Emmanuel Bamfo-Agyei^(IM) and Lawrence Atepor

Cape Coast Technical University, Cape Coast, Ghana kwaminabamfoagyei@yahoo.com, ccprector@gmail.com

Abstract. Most fatalities and injuries at construction sites can be traced to the worker not working in a safe position, using the wrong tool for the job, or using the right tool the wrong way. The aim of this research is to investigate into musculoskeletal injuries and ergonomic impact among construction workers. The objectives are to identify the types of musculoskeletal injuries; find the effect of musculoskeletal injuries among construction workers and to determine the impact of ergonomic interventions. Convenience and purposive sampling technique were used to select the sample size of 37 respondents. Ouestionnaires were used to take information from doctors and construction workers. Three medical doctors at the Cape Coast Central Regional Teaching Hospital revealed that strain and sprain were the major injuries recorded with means of 3.1 respectively. Loss of concentration, working not to specification and delay of work with respective means of 3.5; 3.3; and 3.2 were identified as the effects of musculoskeletal injuries on construction workers. It was found that some of the factors of musculoskeletal injuries among construction workers are awkward posture, repetition, vibration, force and extreme temperature. This was also confirmed by medical doctors' report that the most and frequent factor that caused musculoskeletal injuries is force, followed by awkward posture with respective means of 5 and 3.6. This clarifies the fact that construction workers attitude towards their health is poor.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Interventions · Musculoskeletal · Injuries · Construction

1 Introduction

The word "Ergonomics" comes from two Greek words "ergon", meaning work, and "nomos" meaning "laws" to denote the science of work [1]. The word ergonomics was created in 1857 by Wojciech Jastrzebowski in a philosophical narrative, "based upon the truths drawn from the Science of Nature" [1]. Eergonomics is a systems-oriented discipline, which now applies to all aspects of human activity.

The International Ergonomic Association [2] defines Ergonomics (or human factors) as "the scientific discipline concerned with the understanding of the interactions among humans and other elements of a system, and the profession that applies theoretical principles, data and methods to design in order to optimize human well-being and overall system". ErgoWeb Inc. defines ergonomics in a proactive sense: "Ergonomics removes

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_16

barriers to quality, productivity, and safe human performance in human-machine systems by fitting products, equipment, tools, systems, tasks, jobs, and environments to people" [3]. A precise definition proposed by [4]. which leads to its very fundamental nature states that "Ergonomics is the design and engineering of human-machine systems for the purpose of enhancing human performance".

Ergonomics considers the physical and mental capabilities and limits of the worker as he or she interacts with tools, equipment, work methods, tasks, and the working environment [5].

[6] also said Ergonomics derives from two Greek words: '*ergon*', meaning work, and '*nomos*', meaning natural laws. Today, the word is used to describe the science of ''designing the job to fit the worker, not forcing the worker to fit the job – thus, it is also the science of adapting work and working conditions to suit the worker''.

Common examples of ergonomic risk factors are found in jobs requiring repetitive, forceful, or prolonged exertions of the hands or legs; frequent or heavy lifting, pushing, pulling, or carrying of heavy objects; and prolonged awkward postures. Vibration and excessive heat or cold may also add risk to these work conditions. The level of risk depends on the intensity, frequency, and duration of the exposure to these conditions [7].

2 Problem Statement

Construction, by its very nature, is a problem for ergonomists as it requires work above shoulder level and below knee height. Materials may also be heavy and/or inconveniently sized and shaped, thus presenting manual materials handling problems [7]. [8], stated that "by any epidemiological criteria, occupational musculoskeletal injures represent a pandemic problem in the United States with gigantic effects on the quality of millions of peoples' lives every year."

Numerous construction tasks pose significant risks to workers. To eliminate or mitigate the risks, it would be necessary to identify work risks in construction and assess the impact on workers, of even minimal ergonomics on the construction process [7].

Construction worker due pose in a certain posture in their everyday work and the response from them will either be waist pain, spinal cord pain or other musculo-skeletal disorders. This has made numerous construction worker to depend on drugs and other on unprescribe medication.

The outcome of this has affected their work output. That is; their ability to work effectively when they have taken drug and when they are not.

2.1 Aim of the Study

The aim is to investigate into musculoskeletal injuries and ergonomic impact among construction workers.

2.2 Objectives

The objectives of the study are:

- 1. to identify the types of musculoskeletal injuries
- 2. to find the effect of musculoskeletal injuries among construction workers
- 3. to determine the impact of ergonomic interventions

2.3 Ergonomics in Perspective

The goal of the science of ergonomics is to find the "best fit" between the worker and the job condition. Ergonomics tries to come up with solutions to make sure workers stay safe, comfortable, and productive [9].

Construction workers are exposed to a variety of ergonomic hazards, including awkward postures, heavy lifting, forceful exertions, vibrations, and repetitive motions [10]. They also experience an elevated risk of musculoskeletal disorders [11].

2.4 Types of Musculoskeletal Injury

The [12] has characterized "work-related" diseases as multi - factorial to indicate that a number of risk factors (e.g., physical, work organizational, psychosocial, individual, and socio-cultural) contribute to causing these diseases. The sum of these challenges affects the working capacity and decreases the satisfaction of the individual. Furthermore, it decreases the profit of the organizations. International commission on occupational health defines MSD as both disorders and diseases of musculoskeletal system that have a casual determinant that is work related.

[3] defines MSDs as injuries and disorders of the muscles, nerves, tendons, ligaments, cartilage and spinal discs which are directly and indirectly related to work or the work environment. Work related Musculoskeletal disorders (WMDs) are casually linked to physical loads resulting from occupational activities and believe to occur when mechanical workload is higher than physical capacity of human body. However, these relate to different body regions and occupational work.

The International Labour Organization (ILO) estimates that some 6000 worker dies each day worldwide and 337million people are victims of work related accidents and illness arising from occupational injuries [13].

Injuries to the musculoskeletal system can be classified according to the body structures that are damaged. Some injuries may involve more than one structure.

[14] suggested that there are four basic types of musculoskeletal injuries, and these are: Fracture; Dislocation; Sprain and Strain.

- Fracture: A break or disruption in bone tissue. This may be open or closed.
- *Dislocation*: A displacement or separation of a bone from its normal position at a joint.
- *Sprain:* A partial or complete tearing or stretching of ligaments and other tissues at a joint.
- Strain: A stretching and tearing of muscle or tendon fibers.

Alireza and Aref, 2013 attributes the effect of these types of musculoskeletal injury as Awkward posture; Repetition; Static posture; Vibration; Force and Extreme temperature.

Awkward Posture. Awkward posture is the position of the body outside of neutral that is a best location of each joint that can provide the strength and control. In the construction industry prolonged reaching, twisting, bending, kneeling, squatting, working overhead with your hands or arms, or holding fixed positions are as awkward posture. Work method or workplace dimension can contribute to create awkward posture. Therefore, awkward posture can associate to raising the rate of injury in the wrist, shoulder, neck, and low back and this can cause low output of workers [15].

Repetition. Performing the similar motion of the work in every few second for more than two hours without any rest and break time is mentioned as a repetition work. Repetition work can increase the rate of injury in the local tissue of the body [15].

Repetitive or sustained shoulder elevation during occupational tasks has been identified as a significant risk factor for shoulder tendonitis or non-specific shoulder pain [16].

Static Posture. Static postures or positions that a worker must hold for long periods of time, can restrict blood flow and damage muscles.

Same posture or position of the body is held throughout the exertion (no movement) or lack of movement reduces circulation and causes muscle tension which can contribute to injury [17].

Vibration. Vibration is defined as any movement of the body in one fix point while using power tools or equipment while driving which can put stress on the tissues of the fingers, hand and arms [15].

Many jobs in construction involve the use of hand-held power tools such as pneumatic breakers and disc grinders. The vibration from such equipment may cause carpal tunnel syndrome. The disease affects the fingers and hands. In the long run, permanent damages to the nerves will result in a loss of the sense of touch and dexterity [9].

Force. Forces vary with equipment type, design, and state of repair. Recognize that when applying force to an object, forces are transferred through your body. Forces transferred to your body are affected by not only the amount of force, but also the distance through which a force is applied. Choosing equipment that requires less force to activate and requires a shorter activation distance can reduce forces transferred to your body. Ensuring that equipment is in good working order helps reduce the overall forces to the body [18].

The amount of physical effort that is required by the workers to do the task or control and maintain the equipment and tools in a limited period is introduced as force. Utilizing the muscles much harder than normal by applying extreme pressure can cause stress on the muscles, tendons and joints [15].

Extreme Temperature. Extreme temperature is of the environmental features that can be divided to the extreme heat and extreme cold temperature. Extreme heat can reinforce

fatigue and heat stress. On the other hand, extreme cold can narrow the blood vessels and decline sensitivity and harmonization of body part [15].

2.5 The Impact of Ergonomic Intervention

The construction industry is a dangerous place to work as its physical processes entail various ergonomic-related problems [19]. The construction industry faces many occupational injuries and fatality risks, making it both unique and challenging to study. Construction is always risky because of outdoor operations [20]. Construction industry is a complex industry that employs a large man power.

Comparisons have often been made between the construction industry and other industrial sectors and the chance of being disabled by injury or serious illness is much greater than for workers in most other industrial sectors.

As noted by [6]. developing countries encounter a number of ergonomic related problems as far as the construction industries are concerned. This can be attributed to the absence of the strong regulations and the weak implementation of the few existing once owing to the inadequate human and material resources to aid in the enforcement of these regulations [21, 22]. A number of these problems have their source in the nature of the work processes on site which happens to be more suboptimal as they are made worse by the use of manual approach in most developing countries, when a mechanical procedure would be very much suitable [6, 23].

3 Research Methodology

3.1 Research Design

The research is primarily quantitative in nature. The research strategy that was used to implement the comprehensive literature reviews on the above objectives was reviewed to see what other researchers have done, to gather the information on the types of musculoskeletal injuries, effect of musculoskeletal injuries among construction workers and the ergonomic interventions from previous researcher.

- *Research instruments.* Questionnaires, personal interviews and observation forms were the main data collecting instrument used in the study. Two set of questionnaires were design for this research, one set was for the artisans and another set for doctors.
- *Population*. The total population of workers at the Cape Coast stadium construction site and the Cape Coast Polytechnic Student Representative Council (SRC) hostel construction site was one hundred and fifty- five (155).
- *Sampling Technique*. Convenience and purposive sampling technique were used to select the sample size.
- *Data Analysis*. The data was analyzed using the descriptive statistics that comprises mean, tables and graphs.

4 Findings and Discussion

4.1 Section of Which Artisan Responding Belongs

It can be observed in Fig. 1 below that in an attempt of the researcher to find out about the section of artisans the various respondents belongs; it was found that 16 respondent indicated that they are steel benders while the remaining 21 which is the majority revealed that they are masons. Source:

4.2 Types of Musculoskeletal Injuries

The researcher as one of the objectives of the study sought to find out about the types of musculoskeletal injuries at the various construction sites. The results after the analysis of the data from the field survey are presented under the headings that follow.

4.3 Types of Musculoskeletal Injuries Encountered by Respondents

The information in the Table 1 makes it clear that fracture, dislocation, sprain and strain has been the types of musculoskeletal injuries usually encountered by construction workers. According to the field survey, both strain and sprain had the strongest mean of 3.1.

Type of injury	Strongly agree (5)	Agree (4)	Neither (3)	Disagree (2)	Strongly disagree (1)	Total	Mean
Fracture	2 (10)	9 (36)	4 (12)	18 (36)	4 (4)	98	2.6
Dislocation	1 (5)	10 (40)	4 (12)	15 (30)	7 (7)	94	2.5
Sprain	5 (25)	13 (52)	4 (12)	13 (26)	2 (2)	117	3.1
Strain	8 (40)	11 (44)	2 (6)	11 (22)	5 (5)	117	3.1

Table 1. Musculoskeletal injuries encountered by respondents

Source: Field Survey, 2015

4.4 The Factor of Musculoskeletal Injuries on the Activities of Construction Workers

In the daily activities of the workers, they are exposed to different factors. Respondents stated in the questionnaires the factors they are usually exposed. The Table 2 highlights the factors which they are exposed to; these including awkward posture, repetition, vibration and extreme body temperatures. As portrayed by Table 2, a greater number of the tradesmen agree and strongly agree to awkward posture and forces which were having a strong mean of 3.4 and 3.6 respectively.

Factors	SA(5)	A(4)	N(3)	D(2)	SD(1)	Total	Mean
Awkward	9	12	5	7	4	126	3.4
posture	(45)	(48)	(15)	(14)	(4)		
Repetition	5	8	12	5	7	110	2.9
	(25)	(32)	(36)	(10)	(7)		
Static posture	6	8	5	9	6	101	2.7
	(30)	(32)	(15)	(18)	(6)		
Vibration	4	9	6	10	8	102	2.7
	(20)	(36)	(18)	(20)	(8)		
Force	13	10	6	5	3	136	3.6
	(65)	(40)	(18)	(10)	(3)		
Extreme	2	12	1	9	13	92	2.4
temperature	(10)	(48)	(3)	(18)	(13)		

Table 2. Factors of musculoskeletal injuries on the activities of construction workers

Source: Field Survey, 2015

4.5 Nature of Respondents' Work

It was seen as shown in the Table 3 that carrying heavy loads; working on your knees and stretching to work overhead were the nature of work that affected most respondent with respective means of 4.4; 4.2; and 4.0. It can therefore be deduced from the data in the Table 3 most of the respondents indicated that they carry heavy loads; working on their knees and stretching to work overhead in their daily working activities.

Nature of work	SA(5)	A(4)	N(3)	D(2)	SD(1)	Total	Mean
Carrying	19	16	2	0	0	165	4.4
heavy loads	(95)	(88)	(6)	(0)	(0)		
Working on	12	22	2	1	0	156	4.2
your knees	(60)	(64)	(6)	(2)	(0)		
Stretching	12	18	4	3	0	150	4.0
to work	(60)	(72)	(12)	(6)	(0)		
overhead							

Table 3. Nature of respondents' work

Source: Field Survey, 2015

4.6 Effects of the Musculoskeletal Injuries on the Working Conditions of Respondents

As part of the injuries encountered, construction workers are affected in one or more ways. Loss of concentration; working not to specifications and delay of work were some of the critical effects as stated in Table 4, they had mean scores of 3.5; 3.3 and 3.2 respectively.

Effects	Strongly agree(5)	Agree(4)	Neutral (3)	Disagree(2)	Strongly disagree(1)	Total	Mean
Lateness to	4	9	7	12	5	106	2.8
work	(20)	(36)	(21)	(24)	(5)		
Absenting	6	12	3	11	5	114	3.0
yourself from work	(30)	(48)	(9)	(22)	(5)		
Working to	7	12	6	9	3	107	2.8
low standards	(20)	(48)	(18)	(18)	(3)		
Working not	10	11	2	10	4	124	3.3
to	(50)	(44)	(6)	(20)	(4)		
specifications							
Delay of	9	8	9	4	7	119	3.2
work	(45)	(32)	(27)	(8)	(7)		
Shortage of	5	13	7	6	6	116	3.1
money	(25)	(52)	(21)	(12)	(6)		
Loss of	12	10	5	6	4	131	3.5
concentration	(60)	(40)	(15)	(12)	(4)		
Loss of	5	13	6	8	5	116	3.1
contract	(25)	(52)	(18)	(16)	(5)		

Table 4. Effects of the musculoskeletal injuries on the working conditions

Source: Field Survey, 2015

4.7 Data Analysis from Medical Doctors at Cape Coast Teaching Hospital

In all, three doctors form the Cape Coast teaching hospital was interviewed, two from the emergency department and one from the physiological department. They were also given a set of questionnaires to give their report on musculoskeletal injuries prevailing to construction workers.

The three doctors who gave their responds asserted that they have work on musculoskeletal injuries of construction workers for quite a long time. The first doctor said she has worked for 3 years. Second and third doctor has work 3 and 5 years respectively.

As emphasized by the responds from the construction workers, all the three medical doctors also made it clear that, construction workers who mostly visit the hospital with cases of muscle injuries are mason.

The doctors ranked the types of the musculoskeletal injuries as how they frequently occur. Strain as a type were first ranked as most injury that occurs to the workers. Followed by sprain but fracture and dislocation were on the same level as they occur.

From the doctors respond, higher injuries takes 30 days and over before healing. Also, normal injuries take 20 to 25 days but for low injury, they take 15 to 17 days before healing.

5 Conclusion

The study depicted that musculoskeletal injuries occurs to construction worker. It was also found that injuries including fractures, dislocation sprain and strains occur at various construction sites and this affects the working abilities of the workers by making them loose concentration during work, do shoddy work, work not to standard and delays the duration of their work to a great extent. However, some construction sites appear to have tools which when used, reduces workers' exposure to these musculoskeletal injuries but greater number workers do not have any idea on them. This therefore appears to be increasing the number of workers who get exposed to musculoskeletal injuries at their job sites.

5.1 Recommendations

Based on the findings of the study, the researcher recommends the following:

- 1. There is the need for the offer of extensive education on workers' exposure to musculoskeletal injuries and the effects it has on their work performance. This will help reduce the number of injuries that occur at work sites as the workers will take much precaution in their operations.
- 2. Also, the introduction of musculoskeletal injuries reducing tools such as locally made pulleys to aid in lifting heavy load to heights at the various construction sites and that will go a long way to cut down the number of injuries at the sites. Workers must endeavor to make use of these tools in order to prevent injuries at the sites.
- 3. Moreover, there is the need to ensure that workers at the various construction sites, both masons and steel benders should have adequate knowledge and training on the tools they use.
- 4. In addition, the government and other NGOs in the country can offer their help through the provision of funds to provide good and required tools and equipment for construction workers and also offer support for workers displaced through musculoskeletal injuries.
- 5. Efforts must be made by the manager's or leaders of construction workers at the various construction sites to ensure strict adherence to safety measures at the sites.
- 6. There should be a requirement by law for all involving in any construction work before the onset, to obtain the service of a qualified and licensed safety and health practitioner to be in charge of health and safety practice on the building site.
- 7. Lastly, construction workers must make it a habit to visit the hospital from time to time to enable them know their health standard and also try to treat any level of musculoskeletal injuries at the hospital.

Acknowledgements. Authors are particularly grateful to Mr. Asamoah Mark, a Higher National Diploma holder in Building Technology at the Department of Building Technology in the Cape Coast Polytechnic, for enormously assisting in the preparation of this paper.

References

- Jastrzebowski, W.: An outline of ergonomics, or the science of work based upon the truths drawn from the science of nature. Originally published in Nature and Industry 1857. Reprinted by the Central Institute for Labour Protection, 1997. Warsaw, Poland (1857). www.cdc.gov/ elcosh/docs/d0100/d000038/sect41.html. Accessed 3 July 2016
- International Ergonomic Association (IEA) (2000). http://www.iea.cc/01_what/What%20is %20Ergonomics.html. Accessed 08 Nov 2011
- Budnick, P.: Commentary: What is Ergonomics Really About? Ergo WebErgonomics TodayTM (2001)
- 4. Dempsey, P.G., Wogalter, M.S., Hancock, P.A.: What's in a name? Using terms from definitions to examine the fundamental foundation of human factors and ergonomics science. Theor. Issues Ergon. Sci. 1(1), 3–10 (2000)
- Kwesie, D., Duncan, E.E.: Ergonomics in the construction industry in Ghana: prevalence of Musculoskeletal Injuries (MSI). In: 1st Applied Research Conference in Africa (ARCA) Conference, 29–31 August 2012, Elmina, Ghana, pp. 359–371 (2014). www.arcaconference.Org. Accessed 3 July 2016
- Rwamamara, R.A., Smallwood, J.J.: Ergonomics in construction, specifically in IDCs. In: Scott, P.A. (ed.) Ergonomics in Developing Regions, Chap. 19, pp. 307–322. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton (2009)
- Krishnamurthy, N.: Risk analysis of manual lifting. The structural engineer. J. Inst. Eng. (Singap.) (2006). www.Safetyprofkrishna.com. Accessed 3 July 2016
- Arrington, M.: Ergonomic statistics that may surprise you (2009). http://www.wellsphere.com/ workplace-health-article/ergonomic-statistics-that-may-surprise-you/805601
- Cheryl, F.E., Albers, J.T.: Simple solution ergonomics for construction workers. NIOSH Division of Applied Research and Technology, NIOSH Division of Surveillance, Hazard Evaluations, and Field Studies (2007). http://www.elcosh.org/document/2056/d001051/Simple%2BSolutions %253A%2BErgonomics%2Bfor%2BConstruction%2BWorkers. Accessed Sept 2014
- Hartmann, B., Fleischer, A.G.: Physical load exposure at construction sites. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health **31**(Suppl 2), 88–95 (2005)
- 11. Latza, U., Karmaus, W.: Cohort study of occupational risk factors of low back pain in construction workers. Occup. Environ. Med. **57**(1), 28–34 (2000)
- 12. World Health Organization: Work-related musculoskeletal disorders (WMSDs) (1985). www.who.ca. Accessed 10 Sept 2013
- Marxist Leninist Party, Canada (MLPC): Work related accidents and illness arising from occupational injuries (2008). http://www.mlpc.ca. Accessed 4 May 2015
- Keyserling, W.M.: Workplace risk factors and occupational musculoskeletal disorders. Part 2: A review of biomechanical and psychophysical research on risk factors associated with upper extremity disorders. Am. Ind. Hygiene Assoc. J. 61(2), 231–243 (2000). Accessed 29 July–4 Aug 2000
- Alireza, A., Aref, C.: Mitigating ergonomic injuries in construction industry. Department of Structure and Materials, Faculty of Civil Engineering, UniversitiTeknologi Malaysia (UTM), Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia, pp. 36–42, Issued, March–April 2013
- 16. Ludewig, P.M., Borstad, J.D.: Effects of a home exercise programme on shoulder pain and functional status in construction workers. Occup. Environ. Med. **60**, 841–849 (2003)
- Raemy, M.D.Z.: Ergonomics risk factors (2007). http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/? term=Md%20Zein%20R [auth]
- Davis, U.C.: Controlling laboratory ergonomic risk factors. Environmental Health and Safety Department (2007). ehsdesk@ucdavis.edu

- 19. Haupt, T.C., Deacon, C.H., Smallwood, J.J.: The threat of musculoskeletal disorders in older construction workers. J. Occup. Health South. Afr. **10**(5), 12–16 (2004)
- Hsiao, H., Simeonor, P.: Preventing falls from roof. A critical review. Ergonomics 44, 537– 561 (2001)
- Laryea, S., Mensah, S.: Health and safety on construction sites in Ghana. In: The Construction, Building and Real Estate Research Conference of the Royal 6y6Institution of Chartered Surveyors. RICS. United Kingdom (2009). ISBN 978-1 84219-619-9
- 22. Kheni, N.A.: Impact of health and safety management on safety performance of small and medium sized construction businesses in Ghana. Ph.D. thesis, Department of Civil Engineering, Lough borough University, UK (2008)
- Rwamamara1, R., OveLagerqvist, O., Olofsson, T., Johansson, B., Kaminskas, K.A.: Prevention of work-related musculoskeletal injuries in construction industry. In: 10th International Conference. Vilnius. Lithuania. Modern Building Material Structures and Techniques, pp. 1292–1296 (2010)

Assessment in Office Work and Productivity

Jenny Rodríguez-García^(III) and Fernanda Maradei

Universidad Industrial de Santander, Bucaramanga Santander 680002, Colombia jk.rodriguezgarcia@gmail.com, mafermar@uis.edu.co

Abstract. It is necessary to adopt specific positions to perform a work activity for long periods of time; as sitting posture. This condition increases the risk of developing musculoskeletal pathologies such as lumbago. The aim of this paper was to analyze the factors that originate this pathology using a literature review about office work and low back pain, the impact on productivity and describe the association of office work and productivity. This review aims at obtaining relevant articles, which show the relationship between office work in prolonged sitting posture and its effect on work productivity. The review found specific methodologies for each type of office activities and the considerations to take into account for this evaluation shown the necessity to pursue studies that analyses the office activity to find the influence of agents that affect the perception of lumbago, and its incidence on the efficiency of office work activities.

Keywords: Office work · Tasks · Lumbar pain · Productive time

1 Introduction

Low back pain (LBP) is the musculoskeletal disorder with the highest prevalence in office work, and The World Health Organization (WHO) defines it, as a major cause of disability. This affects work performances, well-being, activity limitation and work absence throughout the world and it causes an enormous economic burden on individuals, families, communities, industries and governments [1]. WHO in the United Kingdom and United States, found the LBP is the most frequently cause of disability affecting young adults; evidenced around 100 and 149 millions of working days lost per year, with an estimated cost of 100 and 200 millions of dollars per year, which have interfered with the quality of life and work performance.

In the Colombian context, VIII National Pain Survey [2] reports the LBP as the second pathology with the highest prevalence in workers with a 23.6% of the total sample. This LBP interferes in their work activities and at the same time in work performance [3]. The report makes clear that the 67.5% of people with back pain has been sick in the workplace. As a specific case, in the office work this musculoskeletal disorder has a multifactorial origin for the sitting and static posture, where it has considered as biomechanical risk factor [4]. In this posture is common that the lumbar area takes a kyphotic curvature or low back flexed due to discomfort presence [5]. This situation increases 35% of the biomechanical load on the ischial tuberosities support in

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_17

contrast with the standing posture [6]. A decrease of lumbar muscles activation is also observed, that at the same time lead the load to ligaments and intervertebral discs [7].

That is why the aim of the present paper is to analyze a literature review focus on the Universidad Industrial de Santander is data bases, ISI Web of Science and Science Direct specifically, to address the review question: In what way does the office work in seated posture have impact on lumbar pain and workers' productivity? In this order of ideas, topics will has covered such as the association between office work and LBP, the factors that originate this pathology, the impact on productivity and describe the association of office work and productivity.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Reference Words

First of all, research words were identified in accordance with the principal review question: In what way does the office work in seated posture have an impact on lumbar pain and workers' productivity? This was done with Thesaurus assistance to standardize the different relation ways, indicated in Table 1 and categorized according to 4 variables to the review's question.

A/related with the seated	B/related with office work	C/related with BP and their	D/related with productivity
posture		risk factors	and work performance
Sedentary	Read	Hip flexion	Production
Sitting	Write manually	Lumbar pain	Productiveness
lumbopelvic movements	Answer the phone	Lordosis	
Sitting posture	Meet visitors	Intradiscal force	Efficiency
Prolonged sitting posture	Organize meetings	Lumbopelvic movements	Human factors
Discomfort	Correspondence	Head flexion	Depress*
Static posture	Financial managements	Discomfort perception	Stress*
Macro repositioning	Typing	Pressure on the body	Concentration
Seat angle	Office work	Back pain	Time
Repositioning frequency	Read text	Force	Design furniture
Desk	Read from the computer	Repetition	Workday
Desk bound	Navigate in the internet	Back effort	Perform*
Seated	Using software	Stress	
Annoyance	Lecture	Anxiety	
Displeasure	Talk	Exigency	
Stall	Desk work		
	Filing		

Table 1. Reference words

2.2 Search Sub-themes

Sub-themes were identified as a guide to approach the review equations. These equations were established with the relation of the table's columns and the paper focus in this way:

- LBP associated with seated posture in office work.
- LBP associated with work environment.
- LBP and workstation.
- Office tasks in seated posture.
- Office work and productivity.

Because the study topic was always related with the lumbar pain and work activity, it was necessary to conduct a sub-themes review "office tasks in seated posture" and "LBP and workstations" as a random review, since this search consolidates the context but fails to advance in the knowledge of the review question.

It was not limited or established restrictive parameters, but a few inclusion and exclusion criteria were established. These factors are explained below.

2.3 Search Equations

Through the references words in Table 1, four search equations were raised.

The databases used, are property of the Universidad Industrial de Santander. Each of the search questions was used in each of the previously named databases in that order. On the other hand, because all the equations must relate with the same requirement, the same inclusion and exclusion criteria were determined during the search.

Inclusion criteria: seated posture, office furniture, administrative work, secretaries, office work, lumbar pain, lumbago, low back pain, stress, office task repetition, woman and man, productivity labour, efficacy, production chain, teamwork

Exclusion criteria: studies involving with babies, children, preadolescents and adolescents, elderly, work outside the office, standing work, work with load lifting.

The literature review was done from September 29 to October 13 of 2015.

3 Results

The publication of research works that included the reference words related sitting posture, office work and LBP and their risk factors shown growth in these topics during the past 14 years (2001–2015) and have initiated after 2001, observing a total of 1298 publications.

United States had the greatest number of publications with 337 followed by England, Australia and Canada, with 103, 93 and 70 publications respectively. In this order of ideas, between 2002 and 2009 was the period of time that has occurred the most cited scientific productivity. On this period of time, the research with the highest number of citations (193 citations) was the Marcus et al. research conducted on 2002 [8]. Productivity between the 2001 and 2015, in terms of the author's research frequency with the highest number of citations, was about 458 researches. With co-author production, frequency showed 551 publications over the same period.

In 10 journals have published the 15, 33% of the last 14 years scientific production, which corresponds to the highest percentage in this period of time. These journals were: Work, Applied Ergonomics, International journal of Industrial Ergonomics, Ergonomics, BMC Public Health, Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, Spine, Plos One and Optometry and Vision Science.

For the other hand, were included the references words related office work, LBP and their risk factors, productivity and work performance. The behavior in this scientific production was stable because the research development numbers were the same. The total of publications was 1136. As in previous results, United States had the greatest number of publications but China and Germany occupied the second and third place.

Applied ergonomics and industrial ergonomics were the topics with highest number of publications. Productivity measured by author production frequency evidenced that in this case, all authors have been published the same number of research works.

In a global context, it is possible to observe that United States had the greatest number of research, followed by China and Germany. In the case of United States, 53, 2% of their researches have been carried out by Educational Institutes and local companies. In contrast, 46, 8% remaining were conducted in partnership with Netherlands, China, Malaysia, Colombia, South Korea, Serbia and Brazil. In Latin America, Brazil and Mexico were the country leaders in scientific production in this knowledge area with a cooperative work involving Portugal and Spain.

Furthermore, engineering, public environmental occupational health, and psychology have been the principal areas of research, with 45.64, 37.43, 31.28% respectively of the whole publications (N = 2434). For previous areas of research, the visual display units (VDU) assessment had a stronger presence complemented with analyses in the office ergonomics interventions, psychosocial risk factors, musculoskeletal disorders, occupational health problems, pressure measurements and non-computer work time.

Therefore, a better knowledge of musculoskeletal disorders, office ergonomics interventions and VDU assessments was acquired, because unquestionably different authors have attributed the office work with VDU as the principal cause to develop musculoskeletal disorders, principally by the posture, inactivity and the persistence posture in 75% all time during the work time [9, 10]. In this way, has ensured the association between persistence posture and discomfort as a possible source of weak labour productivity performance [9–11].

3.1 Ergonomic Assessment and Intervention in Office Work Activities

First of all, due to the influence of the posture in the musculoskeletal disorders, the authors focused more specifically to analyses and evaluation of office work. This analysis was performed by assessments factors, interventions in office workstations and preventions methods, focused in the tasks with high risks.

In the context of interventions in office workstations, a sitting and static posture promotes an extreme kyphotic curving in the lumbar area, which associated with discomfort [5] which increase a 35% of the biomechanical load that ischial tuberosities supports, in comparison with standing position [12]. Additionally, as the lumbar muscles low activation that transmitting the load to the ligaments and intervertebral

disks [7]. Thus, from an efficacy of work, it can lead to a reduction of the automatic actions speed, and therefore, to a lower work execution. For these reasons, Mörl and Bradl [7] consider the torso hip flexion may be the motives of the lumbar muscles activity benefits decreasing discomfort in the lumbar area and improving work conditions. In this way, the formal characteristics chairs that are used currently have backrest inclination, increasing the pressure on the backrest. This situation has an effect on the reduction of load in ischial tuberosities [13]. On basis of the results obtained about the benefits of the muscle activity when the torso hip flexes, is considered that 5° of inclination forward and backward (in this specific case, seat tilt motion), the discal compression was reduced, as evidenced by studies on car driving activities through digital simulations [14]. However, it is necessary to verify whether this principle is the same in the office work.

For the other hand, identification of the risk tasks that affect workers' health is the principal step to initiate a study [15]. Principal ways to define these tasks were surveys that ask workers the physic demands activities [16], hearth rhythm monitoring [17] and observational method OWAS [18]. In the office work case, clerks, administrative workers, students and college professors [19], taken persistence postures in prolonged time due to the office task as to read, type, write and surf the internet [20].

Thus, it has been proposed some characteristics for a research work that consider the relationship between the seat, to encourage the office work health and impact in the productive time. Based on these, different authors have proposed methodologies in each of these variables.

3.2 Typing on a Computer Keyboard

The assessments were done in a specific text with participant's native languages and providing general context themes, without technicalities and used simple verbal commands and the continuous form [21].

A person that have experience in office work tasks can type a text directly from the memory at a rate of 40 words per minute (wpm), with medium experience at 35 wpm and without experience at 23 wpm. On average, people with medium experience in typing directly from a printed text at rate of 23 wpm [22]. On that basis, it was suggested a text with an average 600 words for executing the task in 20 min.

Is necessary to give each participant a printed black text to reduce the familiarization whit the material [23], with Arial font of 10 lb size (medium-sized), to establish a minimum cognitive demand [24] in a white A4/letter size page.

During the test, participant can place the text on the left or right size of the screen, according to their preference [25-27] to perform the test in a natural way.

• Read

An average adult reads 180 wpm [28]. Thus, the read test was suggested with 3600 words in text to, as previous one, be executed in 20 min. Each participant should read the text aloud, file in PDF version because it is the most technically complex that print text [29]. At the same time, have the Arial font of 10 lb size (medium-sized). The current

zoom level must be 100% but it can be change for convenience. Typography color is black with a white background to give it maximum contrast value [30].

• Handwrite

A person in the stage of secondary education, writing 80 wpm [31] thus established 1600 words in the text in a digital file. The materials to be used are letter-size bond paper, without strip, or checkered, completely white, and pen with a black ink for a higher contrast [32].

• Surf the internet

It is necessary that the contents are hierarchical, have a search system, navigation options are clear, good relation figure-background and have a suitable typography. They also found that the studies are evaluation related to the graphic characteristics of the web pages, but not of a specific task to perform in this one.

In these cases, the pages of government, NGOs and online shopping have been the most studied due to the high flow of navigation; shopping pages have been thoroughly studied with usability tests (e-commerce), since it is necessary to take a series of steps (fill out forms) to make a purchase. In the same case, the e-mail pages have exposed it too, since a series of preliminary steps must be carried out, in order to finally use the main platform.

Because of this, this paper proposes to consider, the analysis the task of surf the Internet with each of the steps to be performed. Those ones that has established with 140 clicks to execute the task, the concentration of information in the same spaces, the task of creating an email and a shopping cart, and the theoretical execution time of 20 min.

4 Conclusion

The office work related with the musculoskeletal disorders is a recent research topic, with a continuing transformation of work. This is reflected on the attention that had have countries as United States, England, Australia, Canada, China and Germany, develop case studies with different analyses focus, primarily such as the VDU assessments, ergonomic interventions in office work, psychosocial risk factors and non-computer work time.

As a consequence, there is a possibility to study in local context, the office work with the literature guidelines and ergonomics workstation interventions to find evidence about possible improvements for the benefit of office workers. Thus, it is proposed four office tasks with higher repetition and worker's risk to be assessment with a seat tilt motion to find new ways to prevent the lumbar pain, this being the principal musculoskeletal disorder in the workers.

Finally, this paper raises the general framework for the protocol to assess the seat variable with productive time in office work, considering physiological and biomechanical factors.

References

- 1. Duthey, B.: Low back pain. Technical report, World Health Organization (2013)
- Guerrero, A., Gómez, M.: VIII Estudio Nacional del dolor. Technical report, Asociación Colombiana para el estudio del dolor (2014)
- 3. Camargo, D.M., Jimenez, J.B., Archila, E., Villamizar, M.S.: El dolor lumbar: una perspectiva epidemiológica. Salud UIS **36**, 2–31 (2004)
- 4. Grandjean, E.: Ergonomics in Computerized Offices. Taylor and Francis, London (1987)
- Carconea, S., Keirb, P.: Effects of backrest design on biomechanics and comfort during seated work. Appl. Ergon. 39, 755–764 (2007)
- Nordin, M., Frankel, V.: Biomecánica Básica del sistema musculoesquelético. McGraw-Hill, New York (2004)
- Mörl, F., Bradl, I.: Lumbar posture and muscular activity while sitting during office work. J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 23(2), 362–368 (2013)
- Marcus, M., Gerr, F., Monteilh, C., Ortiz, D.J., Gentry, E., Cohen, S., Edwards, A., Ensor, C., Kleinbaum, D.: A prospective study of computer users: II. Postural risk factors for musculoskeletal symptoms and disorders. Am. J. Ind. Med. 41, 236–249 (2002)
- 9. Sauter, S.L., Schleifer, L.M., Knutson, S.J.: Work posture, workstation design and musculoskeletal discomfort in a VDT data entry task. Hum. Factors **33**(2), 151–167 (1991)
- 10. Grieco, A.: Sitting posture: an old problem and a new one. Ergonomics 29(3), 345–362 (1986)
- Karakolis, T., Callaghan, J.: The impact of sit-stand office workstations on worker discomfort and productivity: a review. Appl. Ergon. 45, 799–806 (2014)
- 12. Nordin, M., Frankel, V.H.: Biomecánica básica del sistema musculoesquelético. McGraw-Hill/Interamericana, Madrid (2001)
- 13. Hostens, I., Papaioannou, G., Spaepen, A., Ramon, H.: Buttock and back pressure distribution tests on seats of mobile agricultural machinery. Appl. Ergon. **32**, 347–355 (2011)
- Crujicic, M., Panduranga, B., Xie, X., Gramopadhye, A.K., Wagner, D., Ozen, M.: Musculoskeletal computational analysis of the influence of car-seat design/adjustments on long-distance driving fatigue. Int. J. Ind. Ergonom. 40(3), 345–355 (2010)
- 15. Marklin, R., Wilzbacher, J.: Four assessment tools of ergonomics interventions: case study at an electric utility's warehouse system. AIHA J. **60**, 777–784 (1999)
- Eklund, J.: Relationships between ergonomics and quality in assembly work. Appl. Ergon. 26(1), 15–20 (1995)
- Van der Molen, H., Mol, E., Kuijer, P., Frings-Dresen, M.: The evaluation of smaller plasterboards on productivity, work demands and workload in construction workers. Appl. Ergon. 38, 681–686 (2007)
- Karhu, O., Härkönen, R., Sorvali, P., Vepsäläinen, P.: Observing working postures in industry: examples of OWAS application. Appl. Ergon. 12(11), 13–81 (1981)
- Zhang, L., Helander, M., Drury, C.: Identifying factors of comfort discomfort in sitting. Hum. Factors 38, 377–389 (1996)
- Galindo, Z., Maradei, F., Espinel, F.: Percepción del dolor lumbar debido al uso de un asiento dinámico en postura sedente prolongada. Rev. Salud Públ. 18(3), 412–424 (2016)
- 21. Van Galen, G., Liesker, H., Haan, A.: Effects of a vertical keyboard design on typing performance. Appl. Ergon. **38**, 99–107 (2007)
- 22. Brown, C.M.: Human-Computer Interface Design Guidelines. Ablex Publishing, Norwood (1988)
- 23. Werth, A., Babski-Reeves, K.: Effects of portable computing devices on posture muscle activation levels and efficiency. Appl. Ergon. **45**(6), 1603–1609 (2014)

- Ko, P., Mohapatra, A., Bailey, I.L., Sheedy, J., Rempel, D.M.: Effect of font size and glare on computer. Optom. Vis. Sci. 91(6), 682–689 (2014)
- Curran, M., Dankaerts, W., O'Sullivan, L., O'Sullivan, K.: The effect of a backrest and seatpan inclination on sitting discomfort and trunk muscle activation in subjects with extension-related low back pain. Ergonomics 57(5), 733–743 (2014)
- Donoghue, M.F., O'Reilly, D.S., Walsh, M.T.: Wrist postures in the general population of computer users during a computer task. Appl. Ergon. 44, 42–47 (2013)
- O'Sullivan, K., McCarthy, R., White, A., O'Sullivan, L., Dankaerts, W.: Lumbar posture and trunk muscle activation during a typing task when sitting on a novel dynamic ergonomic chair. Ergonomics 55(12), 1585–1595 (2012)
- Wainschenker, R., Doorn, J., Castro, M.: Medición cuantitativa de la velocidad del habla. Procesamiento del lenguaje natura 28, 99–104 (2002)
- 29. Humar, I., Gradisar, M., Turk, T., Erjavec, J.: The impact of color combinations on the legibility of text presented on LCDs. Appl. Ergon. **45**, 1510–1517 (2014)
- 30. Nielsen, J.: Prioritizing Web Usability. Pearson Education, London (2006)
- Ortega, A., Ortega, M.: Desarrollo didáctico de la escritura. Revista Internacional de Filología, Comunicación y sus Didácticas 36, 237–250 (2013)
- Graham, S., Weintraub, N.: A review of handwriting research: progress and prospects from 1980 to 1994. Educ. Psychol. 8(1), 7–87 (1996)

Evaluation of Bodily Discomfort of Employees in a Slaughterhouse

Adriana Seára Tirloni^{1(∞)}, Diogo Cunha dos Reis^{1,2}, Eliane Ramos², and Antônio Renato Pereira Moro^{1,2}

 ¹ Technological Center, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil adri@tirloni.com.br
 ² Biomechanic's Laboratory, CDS, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil

Abstract. Brazil is the fourth leading producer and exporter of pork meat in the world. This study aimed to evaluate the bodily discomfort of employees in a pig slaughterhouse. The participants were 72 workers, 34 females and 38 males. A human body map, an interview regarding organizational issues, the OCRA method, descriptive statistics and Chi-square test ($p \le 0.05$) were used. The results indicated that 80.6% of workers performed repetitive tasks, all workers took rest breaks, 41.7% performed job rotations and 62.5% used tools. Cold was felt by 44.4% of workers, with the most complaints for the feet (68.8%) and hands (28.1%). Most workers felt bodily discomfort in at least one region (83.3%) and the bodily regions most affected were shoulders (47.2%) and arms (25.0%). Their symptoms were pain (56.7%) and fatigue (45.0%), and 50% were taking medications. There was no association between bodily discomfort and the variables analyzed in this study.

Keywords: Bodily discomfort · Slaughterhouse · Ergonomics

1 Introduction

In the annual report released by the Brazilian Association of Animal Protein, Brazil was rated the fourth leading producer and exporter of pork meat in the world [1]. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) [2] identified some of the risk factors for musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) in meatpacking plants as repetitive and/or prolonged activities, forceful exertion, awkward and static postures, continued physical contact with work surfaces (edges), excessive vibration from power tools, cold temperatures and inadequate hand tools.

Discomfort is seen as an unpleasant state of the human body in reaction to its physical environment [3] and feelings of pain, soreness, numbness, fatigue, auditory and thermal discomfort and anxiety [4]. Upper limbs work-related musculoskeletal disorders (UL-WMSDs) involve significant pain and in many cases, diagnosis of a disorder is based on the nature and extent of the pain reported by the person [5].

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_18

There are few studies regarding pig slaughterhouse workers, bodily discomfort [6], and the occurrence of lacerations of these workers [7, 8]. Tirloni et al. [9] analyzed the perception of bodily discomfort in poultry slaughterhouse workers revealing that the majority of them felt discomfort (67.2%).

Pig slaughterhouse employees are exposed to ergonomic risk related to the physical environment and physical load, and presented high incidences of perceived pain in the wrist, shoulder and lower back [6].

Kyeremateng-Amoah et al. [7] cite that workers in pork meatpacking industries have high rates of acute injuries and chronic disease. Cummings [10] found that the majority (63%) of injury reports from a pork processing plant occurred in a cold work-site, and the main source of injury was the tasks that required the use of handheld tools. Lander et al. [8] verified that recent tool sharpening and equipment malfunction were associated with the highest rate of laceration injury. High-velocity and high-force manual work is a risk factor for musculoskeletal injuries in pig slaughterhouses [11]. The study of Moore and Garg [12] provide additional epidemiological evidence that upper extremity musculotendinous disorders may be causally associated with work in pig slaughterhouses. The disorders included epicondylitis, nonspecific hand/wrist pain, carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS), trigger finger, trigger thumb, and De-Quervain's tenosynovitis.

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to evaluate the perception of the bodily discomfort of employees in a pig slaughterhouse and its associations with the individual's sex, length of time working in the company, task characteristics (repetitive and non-repetitive), the classification of distribution of rest breaks during the workday, job rotation, use of tools and perception of cold.

2 Methods

The Federal University of Santa Catarina Ethics Committee approved the procedures of this study, and written consent was obtained from the subjects. This study was conducted in a pig slaughterhouse in the South of Brazil, with approximately 2,000 workers employed, distributed in two shifts, where 4500 pigs were slaughtered every day.

The daily work schedule was 8 h and 48 min, with 45 min for lunch or dinner, 16 min for physiological needs and 25 min for snacks (coffee).

2.1 Participants

The company provided a list of all the names of the workers to be randomly selected for data collection. The workers were invited to participate in the study, and were interviewed in a private room.

A total of 72 workers, 34 females and 38 males participated in the study. The mean age for female participants was 34.2 years (19 to 60 years) and 33.6 years for males (18 to 50 years). They were employed for 10.2 ± 9.0 years, at least three months and at the most 33 years, with the majority being right-handed (94.4%).

Regarding the workstations, 62 workers performed their activities in an artificially cold environment (temperature ranged from 8 to 12 °C), while 10 worked in areas without air conditioning.

2.2 Instruments

The perception of discomfort was assessed utilizing a human body map [13], adapted by the authors in order to include the following bodily regions: elbows, wrists, hands, knees and feet/ankles. In addition, questions regarding to the participants (sex and age), work organization (performed of job rotations, rest breaks and use of tools), and perception of cold were included. The length of time working in the pig slaughterhouse was calculated based on an employee list provided by the company. The tools used by the workers were classified into two ways: knife/knife-sharpener and other tools: bowl, stamp and pen, fork, bucket, steel spatula, keys, scissors, thermometer, hammer and vacuum cleaner.

In order to analyze the repetitiveness, the OCRA method [14] was utilized. The workers were videotaped for five minutes while performing their activities. Repetitive tasks were characterized as cycles (regardless of the duration) with upper limb movements, or repetition of the same work gesture for the majority of the time (over half of the total time) [15]. The OCRA criteria considers as poorly distributed breaks during the workday the breaks that could not be performed before the main meal, and in the last hour of the workday, maintaining a ratio of 5:1 between working time and recovery time [14].

2.3 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics was utilized in order to verify the relationship between variables, as well as the Chi-square test, with a significance level of $p \le 0.05$.

3 Results

Regarding bodily discomfort, 83.3% of the workers reported perception of discomfort in at least one body region among the 14 regions mentioned. The discomfort occurred mostly in the right side of the body (p < 0.001). Generally, the body regions most frequently cited were: shoulders (47.2%), arms (25.0%), lower back (18.1%), hands (18.1%), neck (16.7%), wrists (16.7%) and legs (12.5%) (Fig. 1).

From the 60 workers who reported discomfort, 33.3% classified it as mild/very mild, 51.7% as moderate and 15.0% as strong/very strong. The three symptoms most often reported were pain (56.7%), fatigue (45.0%) and tingling (10.0%). The majority of the workers felt discomfort for a period equal to or longer than six months (93.3%), noticed increased discomfort during work (73.3%), and attributed to the workplace (96.7%).

The workers could select more than one alternative to justify the perception of reduction in discomfort: 93.3% perceived reduction in discomfort due to the rest breaks, 51.7% during weekends, 43.3% at night, 6.7% during task rotation and/or breaks, and

\bigcap		Bodily discomfort (%)							
		Regions	Right	Left	ð	Ŷ	Total		
A	А	Neck	15.3	11.1	13.2	20.6	16.7		
В	В	Shoulders	41.7	29.2	47.4	44.1	47.2		
	С	Upper back	4.2	1.4	5.3	2.9	4.2		
E K	D	Lower back	18.1	11.1	18.4	17.6	18.1		
E	Е	Arms	25.0	15.3	26.3	23.5	25.0		
G	F	Elbows	1.4	2.8	2.6	2.9	2.8		
/;;// ^{********} \);;}	G	Forearms	2.8	2.8	0.0	5.9	2.8		
	Η	Wrists	9.7	9.7	15.8	17.6	16.7		
~UW/ [] WU~	Ι	Hands	12.5	9.7	18.4	17.6	18.1		
$\langle \kappa \downarrow \kappa \rangle$	J	Hips	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
\/	Κ	Thighs	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
<u>) L </u>	L	Knees	1.4	0.0	2.6	0.0	1.4		
\M M	Μ	Legs	12.5	12.5	7.9	17.6	12.5		
$\setminus \emptyset$	Ν	Feet/ankles	1.4	1.4	0.0	2.9	1.4		
		Total	73.6	58.3	84.2	82.4	83.3		

Fig. 1. Human body map with regions of discomfort reported by workers. Values equivalent to percentages according to sex ($\sqrt{2} = 38$, Q = 34), and side of the body. Source: The authors

6.7% of workers mentioned that the discomfort did not diminish in any of the surveyed situations.

Half of the workers (50.0%) were taking medications in order to be able to work, where 53.7% were self-medicated and only 10.0% reported having received a medical prescription by the company's physician. Analgesics were the most widely used (60.0%), after anti-inflammatory drugs (30.0%).

Regarding the length of time working in the company, 44.7% of males worked in the company for more than 10 years and 55.9% of the females worked for less than 5 years (Table 1). However, there was no association between length of time working in the company and individual's sex (p = 0.067).

Length of time working in the company	Males	Females	Total
<5 years	11 (29.0)	19 (55.9)	30 (41.7)
5.1 to 10 years	10 (26.3)	05 (14.7)	16 (20.8)
>10 years	17 (44.7)	10 (29.4)	26 (37.5)
Total	38 (100.0)	34 (100.0)	72 (100.0)

Table 1. Length of time working in the company of the males and females [n (%)]

The majority of the workers performed systematically repetitive work (85.9%), and 86.2% that felt discomfort performed repetitive work. All of the workers took rest breaks (excluding meal breaks) lasting 08 min, with a frequency of 1–4 times per day, where 50.0% took two daily breaks. Additionally, 65.3% took at least one poorly distributed rest break during the workday.

Job rotation performed by 41.7%, consisted of 2–4 tasks, and most of the workers (43.3%) completed three tasks during the workday. In this study, the contents of the tasks performed by each employee were not explored. The majority of the workers

interviewed (62.5%) used hand tools, and 51.4% of them felt bodily discomfort, where 71.1% of those used knife and knife-sharpener frequently.

In relation to the perception of environmental conditions, nearly half of the workers felt cold during the workday (44.4%), where 93.8% worked in sectors with artificially cold room temperatures. Conversely, 47.9% of the workers felt heat (sometimes and frequently), where 79.4% of them worked in sectors with natural room temperatures.

The body regions in which the workers felt the coldest were feet (68.8%), hands (28.1%), back (9.4%), legs (6.3%), trunk (3.1%), and some felt it in the whole body (12.5%).

In this study, it was not possible to carry out the tests of association between bodily discomfort and classification of distribution of rest breaks during the workday, the length of time working in the company, the use of tools, and the characteristics of the tasks (repetitive and non-repetitive), due to the low frequency of cases of some of the variables. For the other variables, the presence of bodily discomfort of these workers was not associated with the individual's sex (p = 0.833), job rotation (p = 0.521) and perception of cold (p = 0.138).

4 Discussion

The findings of the present study are similar to Tirloni et al. [9], developed with 290 poultry slaughterhouse workers, in which the majority of the workers reported perception of body discomfort (67.2%), with higher incidence for the right side of the body (p < 0.01). Reis et al. [16] investigated the risk of developing UL-WMSDs in poultry slaughterhouse workers, using the OCRA method, and found that the risk in the reported activities was higher for the right side of the body as well.

No studies have analyzed the risks of UL-WMSDs in pig slaughterhouse workers, using the OCRA method, and the perception of bodily discomfort felt by the workers was not studied in detail.

Vergara and Pansera [6] confirmed high incidence of perception of pain in the wrists, shoulders and lower back in pig slaughterhouse workers, nevertheless, the region of the body that had the highest incidence was not mentioned. The shoulders region was the most affected in the present study (47.2%) as well as in Tirloni et al. [9] and Reis et al. [16] (62.6 and 45%, respectively). The studies cited previously [9, 16] reported the neck region as the second most affected with discomfort, unlike the present study, which identified the arms as the second most affected. According to Van der Wind et al. [17], the prevalence of musculoskeletal pain in the shoulders, arms, and hands is high among slaughterhouse workers, due to the high workload intensities and cyclic repetitive muscle actions throughout the workday.

The three most frequently reported symptoms in Tirloni et al. [9] were pain (84.6%), fatigue (51.3%), and tingling (19.0%). The present study had identical classifications; however, the values were lower. In this study, the majority of the pig slaughterhouse workers felt discomfort in a moderate intensity (51.7%), unlike in Tirloni et al. [9], where less than half of the poultry slaughterhouse workers felt moderate discomfort (41.5%).

Nevertheless, strong/very strong discomfort intensity (35.4%), mild/very mild (21%) presented higher values, in addition to the 2.1% that did not answer.

Among the slaughterhouse workers who felt discomfort, most of them reported feeling discomfort for a period equal to or greater than six months (93.3%). Tirloni et al. [9] also reported a high percentage (88.7%) of discomfort for the same period. Both studies presented similar results regarding the perception of increased discomfort during work, with 73.3% for the present study, and 90.3% for Tirloni et al. [9]. More than half (96.7 and 96.4%, respectively) associated the discomfort to the workplace. Nonetheless, in Tirloni et al. [9], the majority of the workers were not taking any medications (24.6%), while the present study revealed that half of the individuals (50%) were taking medications in order to manage the pain.

WMSD's are particularly prevalent in the meatpacking industry [2]. According to Theorell et al. [18], workers with chronically high levels of job demands have a high pain tolerance and may ignore its warning signals. Moreover, the authors point out that the workers may also be more likely to develop chronic musculoskeletal disorders.

Regarding the length of time working in the company, it is noteworthy that nearly half of the pig slaughterhouse workers worked less than 5 years. Nevertheless, Tirloni et al. [9] found that the majority of the poultry slaughterhouse employees worked in the company from 5 to 10 years (55.9%); though, there was no association between time in the company and perception of body discomfort. Culp et al. [19], affirms that employees with the least experience were at the highest risk of injury in a pork meatpacking plant.

Despite the results of the present study, slaughterhouses are usually installed in the countryside of Brazil where the job market is limited. Before a company is established in a city/state, it is necessary to analyze the availability of resources and workforce [20]. The factors determining the installation of production plants are the cost of labor, tax benefits, and trade unionism in the region, spatial saturation, specific location advantages and proximity to the market [21].

According to Perez et al. [22], the workforce in slaughterhouses is considered to be low-skilled, with a large resource, but with rare exceptions, turnover is high and absenteeism is low. In a pork processing plant in the Midwest of the United States, Culp et al. [19] revealed that the employee turnover was 65.7% per year. There were not studies that reported the rate of absenteeism in slaughterhouses and the causes of their occurrences. However, for Vilanova, Dengo and Fumagalli [23] the improvement in working conditions, with emphasis on ergonomics, reduces absenteeism in poultry slaughterhouses. Nevertheless, OSHA [2] recommends maintaining sufficient number of employees in the production lines as well as to cover absenteeism, in order to reduce occupational diseases.

In the present study, females have fewer years working for the company than males, although there was no significant difference between length of time working in the company and the individual's sex. This can be justified by the fact that in pig slaugh-terhouses, workers manipulate larger pieces of meat, consequently, heavier loads; and females have smaller and more fragile body structures than man, in addition to other risk factors that are present in slaughterhouses. In Culp et al. [19], women had higher injury risk than men in a pork meatpacking plant. Women were self-selecting out of the

more hazardous work sections as evidenced by their representation of sections: support section (49%), cut (37.8%), harvest (26.9%), and production section (24.2%).

Corroborating with the present study, Tirloni et al. [9] cite that the majority of interviewed workers performed repetitive tasks (87.6%), and used tools (61%). On the other hand, the same authors revealed that the majority of poultry slaughterhouse workers performed job rotation (1–7 tasks) (82.8%) and 86.2% took rest breaks. While in our study nearly half of workers performed job rotation and 2–4 tasks per day, and all of the workers took rest breaks and half took two daily breaks.

After an ergonomics analysis of the task of boning the pig shoulder, Vergara and Pansera [6] suggested actions to reduce complaints of pain and occupational diseases. These actions are related to the effectiveness of rotation of activities that show postural ergonomic risks; training of the movement patterns performed during boning, and other movements that make up the rotation; implementing breaks in situations of high repetitiveness of movements or static positioning of the body.

Studies in pig slaughterhouses are scarce, despite OSHA [2] position on overall risk factors for meatpacking plants: repetitive activities and/or prolonged and vigorous exertion, uncomfortable and static postures, cold temperatures and inadequate hand tools. Moreover, several studies developed in poultry slaughterhouses revealed that the tasks performed presented high risk, contributing to the development of UL-WMSDs [15, 24–26].

Regarding the tools, Brazilian Regulate Norm [27] cites that the tools should be specific and appropriate for each type of activity, light and efficient. Thus, the NR-36 recommends sharpening and suitability of tools and equipment; training and orientation of workers, on admission and periodically; as well as the existence of a regular maintenance schedule [27].

OSHA [2] considers inadequate hand tools, poor grips and handles as WMSD risk factors for slaughterhouse workers. Therefore, it is recommend that tool and handle designs are well-designed to reduce the risk of WMSD and eliminate or minimize chronic muscle contraction or steady force, extreme or awkward finger/hand/arm positions, repetitive forceful motions, tool vibration and excessive gripping, pinching, and pressing with the hands and fingers.

Conversely, a study performed with 10 companies [7] showed that the average annual total of injury rates were 6.4 per 100 workers in poultry plants and 13.2 per 100 workers in pork slaughterhouses. The authors cite that sharp tools and animal products were most frequently reported sources for lacerations. Lander et al. [8] verified that recent tool sharpening and equipment malfunctions were associated with the highest rate for laceration injuries.

A review study found that there is inconsistent evidence for recommending job rotation as a strategy for preventing musculoskeletal complaints [28]. Nevertheless, the NR-36 indicates that between tasks with cadence set by machines, treadmills, overhead conveyors and other tasks where the workers can freely determine their pace of work; in activities where workers' hands are completely wet and it is not possible to use gloves, due to the probability of generating additional risks, rotation to other tasks is advised [27]. OSHA [2] recommends using job rotation as a preventive measure, to alleviate physical fatigue and stress to a particular set of muscles and tendons. In Padula et al. [29] study, job rotation did not appear to reduce the exposure of physical risk factors; yet, there are positive correlations between job rotation and higher job satisfaction.

All workers who participated in this study performed rest breaks. However, for a break to be efficient, it could not be performed before the main meal and in the last hour of the work, maintaining the proportion of 5:1 between working time and recovery time [14]. It is suggested that rest pauses to relieve fatigued muscle-tendon groups, as well as, the length of time needed depends on the task's overall effort and total cycle time [2].

The NR-36 [27] advises that in the production process in the activities performed at meat processing industries sites, which requires repetitiveness and/or static or dynamic neck muscles overload, shoulders, back and upper and lower limbs, distributed psychophysiological breaks should be provided.

In relation to the perception of environmental conditions, Tirloni et al. [9] found that approximately half of the workers felt cold during the workday (41.4%), as well as in the present to this study. Nevertheless, 54.1% of those who worked in artificially cold environments felt cold, opposing the results of this study (93.8%). In Tirloni et al. [9] the following regions where the most affect with cold: hands (35%), feet (31.7%), trunk (11.7%), upper limbs (6.7%), lower limbs (2.5%) head (2.5%) and whole body (25%). In the present study the feet was the most affected region (68.8%).

Ramos et al. [30] found that 78% of poultry slaughterhouse workers reported feeling cold in the hand. Moreover, when analyzing the temperature of the hands using an infrared camera, the results showed that there were no differences between the left and right hand's temperatures of the workers who did not use a knife, however, the workers that use the knife had lower temperatures for the hand handling the refrigerated products.

In promoting thermal comfort of workers, slaughterhouses should have accessible system for heating hands near the toilets or rest break areas. In addition, personal protective equipment (clean and sanitized socks) should be provided. Rest breaks (20 continuous minutes) after an hour and forty minutes of continuous work, and rotation of activity in order to change environmental exposure (noise, humidity, heat, cold) is needed. Lastly, it is important to obey the hygienic and sanitary aspects [27].

Regarding the association between body discomfort and occupational variables, it was not possible to perform the statistic test with four variables, due to low frequency of participants. In the previously mentioned study with n = 290 [9], there was association only between the body discomfort and perception of cold (p = 0.035), which did not occur in the present study.

5 Conclusion

The majority of the workers felt bodily discomfort, the right side of the body was the most affected, the regions with the biggest complaints were the shoulders and arms and the symptoms most often cited by workers were pain, fatigue and tingling. Half of the workers who felt bodily discomfort were taking medication on their own, and the analgesic was the most commonly used medication.

All of the workers reported taking rest breaks; the majority of workers performed systematically repetitive work and used hand tools; and nearly half of the males worked

in the company for more than 10 years, while most females worked less than 5 years. The minority performed job rotation and felt cold, and the body regions in which most workers felt cold were first the feet and then the hands.

The application of the statistical test was only possible for three variables. There was no association of body discomfort with the individual' sex, the job rotation performance and the perception of cold by the workers. Thus, further research on pig slaughterhouse workers, using larger samples sizes, are needed to expand on this subject. In addition to, analyzes of the contents of the tasks of the rotations, monitoring the workers during a day of work, to ensure that the breaks were taken, and verify the reason why workers did not feel cold.

References

- 1. Brazilian Association of Animal Protein: Annual Report (2016). http://www.abpa-br.com.br
- OSHA: Occupational Safety and Health Administration (1993). http://www.osha.gov/ Publications/osha3123.pdf
- Vink, P., Hallbeck, S.: Comfort and discomfort studies demonstrate the need for a new model. Appl. Ergon. 43, 271–276 (2012)
- 4. Zhang, L., Helander, M., Drury, C.: Identifying factors of comfort and discomfort. Hum. Factors **38**, 377–389 (1996)
- Carayon, P., Smith, M.J., Haims, M.C.: Work organization, job stress, and work-related musculoskeletal disorders. Hum. Factors 41(4), 644–663 (1999)
- 6. Vergara, L.G.L., Pansera, T.R.: Ergonomics analysis of the activity of boning shoulder in a pig slaughter-house in the city of Ipiranga-SC. Work **41**, 703–709 (2012)
- Kyeremateng-Amoah, E., Nowell, J., Lutty, A., Lees, P.S.J., Silbergeld, E.K.: Laceration injuries and infections among workers in the poultry processing and pork meatpacking industries. Am. J. Ind. Med. 57(6), 669–682 (2014)
- Lander, L., Sorock, G., Stentz, T.L., Smith, L.M., Mittleman, M., Perry, M.J.: A casecrossover study of laceration injuries in pork processing. Occup. Environ. Med. 69, 410–416 (2012)
- Tirloni, A.S., Reis, D.C., Santos, J.B., Reis, P.F., Barbosa, A., Moro, A.R.P.: Body discomfort in poultry slaughterhouse workers. Work 41, 2420–2425 (2012). (Reading, MA)
- Cummings, A.: Hand, Wrist, Forearm and Finger Occupational Injuries in Pork Processing: Comparison by Work-Site and Source of Injury, pp. 1–15. Digital Commons, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Lincoln (2014)
- Frost, P., Andersen, J.H., Nielsen, V.K.: Occurrence of carpal tunnel syndrome among slaughterhouse workers. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 24(4), 285–292 (1998)
- 12. Moore, J.S., Garg, A.: Upper extremity disorders in a pork processing plant: relationships between job risk factors and morbidity. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. **55**(8), 703–715 (1994)
- Eklund, J.A.E., Corlett, E.N.: Experimental and biomechanical analysis of seating. In: Corlett, N., Wilson, J., Manenica, I. (eds.) The Ergonomics of Working Postures, pp. 319–330. Taylor and Francis Ltd., London (1986)
- Colombini, D., Occhipinti, E., Fanti, M.: Método Ocra para análise e a prevenção do risco por movimentos repetitivos: manual para a avaliação e a gestão do risco. LTr, São Paulo (2008)
- Colombini, D., Occhipinti, E.: Results of risk and impairment assessment in groups of workers exposed to repetitive strain and movement of the upper limbs in various sectors of industry. Med. Lav. 95, 233–246 (2004)

- 16. Reis, P.F., Moro, A.R.P.: Preventing Rsi/Wruld: use of esthesiometry to assess hand tactile sensitivity of slaughterhouse workers. Work **41**, 2556–2562 (2012)
- Van der Windt, D.A., Thomas, E., Pope, D.P., de Winter, A.F., Macfarlane, G.J., Bouter, L.M., Silman, A.J.: Occupational risk factors for shoulder pain: a systematic review. Occup. Environ. Med. 57, 433–442 (2000)
- Theorell, T., Nordemar, R., Michelsen, H., the Stockholm MUSIC I Study Group: Pain thresholds during standardized psychological stress in relation to perceived psychological work situation. J. Psychosom. Res. 37, 299–305 (1993)
- Culp, K., Brooks, M., Rupe, K., Zwerling, C.: Traumatic injury rates in meatpacking plant workers. J. Agromedicine 13(1), 7–16 (2008)
- Nascimento, S.P.: Guerra Fiscal: uma avaliação comparativa entre alguns Estados participantes. Econ. Aplic. 12, 677–706 (2008)
- 21. Prado, S., Cavalcanti, E.G.C.: A Guerra Fiscal No Brasil. IPEA, Brasília (2000)
- Perez, R., Resende, A.F., Da Silva, C.A.B.: Sistema de gestão e aspectos tecnológicos do segmento de abate e processamento da pecuária de corte brasileira. In: 21st ENEGEP Encontro Nacional de Engenharia de Produção, pp. 1–8. ENEGEP Digital, Salvador, BA (2001)
- Vilanova, M.A.S., Dengo, C.S., Fumagalli, L.A.W.: Absenteeism in company of poultry slaugherhouse area with emphasis on ergonomics. Rev. Cienc. Jurid. Empres. 17(2), 142–150 (2016)
- Reis, D.C., Moro, A.R.P., Ramos, E., Reis, P.F.: Upper limbs exposure to biomechanical overload: occupational risk assessment in a poultry slaughterhouse. In: Goonetilleke, R., Karwowski, W. (eds.) Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, vol. 489, 7th edn, pp. 275–282. Springer, Florida (2016)
- Mohammadi, G.: Risk factors for the prevalence of the upper limb and neck work-related musculoskeletal disorders among poultry slaughter workers. J. Musculoskelet. Res. 15(1), 1– 8 (2012)
- 26. Reis, D.C., Reis, P.F., Moro, A.R.P.: Assessment of risk factors of musculoskeletal disorders in poultry slaughterhouse. In: Arezes, P. et al. (Org.). Proceedings Book of the International Symposium on Occupational Safety and Hygiene-SHO 2015, 1 edn. vol. 1, pp. 294–296. Sociedade Portuguesa de Segurança e Higiene Ocupacionais, Guimarães, Portugal (2015)
- 27. Brasil: Ministério do Trabalho e Emprego, Portaria MTE n. 555, de 18 de abril de 2013, Norma Regulamentadora 36. Segurança e Saúde no Trabalho em Empresas de Abate e Processamento de Carnes e Derivados. http://trabalho.gov.br/legislacao/normasregulamentadoras/nr_36.pdf
- Leider, P.C., Boschman, J.S., Frings-Dresen, M.H., Van der Molen, H.F.: Effects of job rotation on musculoskeletal complaints and related work exposures: a systematic literature review. Ergonomics 58, 18–32 (2015)
- Padula, R.S., Comper, M.L.C., Sparer, E.H., Dennerlein, J.T.: Job rotation designed to prevent musculoskeletal disorders and control risk in manufacturing industries: a systematic review. Appl. Ergon. 58(1), 386–397 (2017)
- Ramos, E., Reis, D.C., Tirloni, A.S., Moro, A.R.P.: Thermographic analysis of the hands of poultry slaughterhouse workers exposed to artificially cold environment. Procedia Manuf. 3, 4252–4259 (2015)

Physical Ergonomics

Use of Soft Tissue Properties for Ergonomic Product Design

Parth Shah¹, Yan Luximon^{1((x)}, and Ameersing Luximon²

¹ School of Design, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, China parth.shah@connect.polyu.hk, yan.luximon@polyu.edu.hk
² Institute of Textile and Clothing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, China ameersing.luximon@polyu.edu.hk

Abstract. In order to achieve better comfort and fit for designed products it is important to understand the product and user interface and to analyze the interaction at the region of contact. Study of biomechanical properties of soft tissue can provide a good insight of this interface between user and the product. Biomechanical properties can help the designers in material selection which can improve the comfort and fit and help in serving the purpose of the designed product. A sample study of soft tissue thickness of human head and face was conducted using an ultrasound indentation device at selected locations. Results showed the variation in soft tissue thickness levels, which was further used to discuss the role of soft tissue properties in the field of ergonomic product design.

Keywords: Biomechanical properties \cdot Soft tissue thickness \cdot Comfort \cdot Fit \cdot Ergonomic product design

1 Introduction

Traditional anthropometric measurements acquired from tapes [1, 2], scales, calipers [3, 4] have been used by the product designers in past for designing products. However, due to the complex contour and surface geometry of the body surfaces it is very difficult to acquire accurate anthropometric measurements using traditional techniques [5]. Also, measurements acquired from these conventional techniques are less reliable and have human errors involved in them [6, 7]. With the advancement of 3D scanning and 3D modelling techniques it has been possible to acquire highly accurate and precise 3D anthropometric data [8] which can be used for designing of products. Many researchers have used 3D models developed from multiple images [9, 10], medical imaging data like Computerized Tomography (CT) [11] and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) [12] or by using various 3D scanning techniques for acquiring 3D anthropometric data [13, 14]. These 3D models have been further studied to understand the shape variance [15, 16] of the surface morphology of the region of interest in order to develop products and to understand their sizing for a wider range of target population.

However, this 3D anthropometric data can only provide the surface dimensions for the designing of product but it fails to provide any valuable information regarding the

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_19

actual interface between the product and the related body surface, which can be influential factor in understanding user comfort and fit.

2 Soft Tissues Properties and Product Design

Soft tissue properties vary depending on various parameters like the location of the tissue, age of the person and existence of any pathophysiological condition. In past many researchers have used this data in studying different medical conditions like edema [17], cancerous tissue [18], ulcers [19] muscle thickness changes [20] and corneal data [21].

Safety devices, wearable devices, medical devices and textile products are designed to carry out functions like protection, information transmission and for improving the aesthetics appearance. Some of these products cover the related body part partially or completely and in order for its proper functioning, they need to have a close fit, which leads to certain amount of pressure to the body. If the pressure is too high, it can lead to discomfort or pain. Also, if the device is supposed to be worn for a continuous period for a long duration, even a small amount of pressure can lead to discomfort. Researchers have shown that continuous application of force in a specific region can lead to occurrence of marks on the skin, rashes, skin irritation or ulcers [22].

Research studies have also been conducted to evaluate the impact of designed products like seats of wheelchairs [23] and bras [24] on the soft tissue of the contact region. At the same time researchers tried to use this data for optimizing and designing better comfort based products like prosthetics [25], undergarments [26] and footwear [27]. But still the application of soft tissue data in the field of ergonomic product designing has not widely been seen and there is a need of more exploration in this field of research. Xiong et al. [28] studied the effect of pressure on soft tissues and deduced a range of Pressure Discomfort Threshold and Pressure Pain Threshold for human foot. The pressure sensitivity map developed from such research can provide a wide range of useful information for ergonomic product design.

User experiences like comfort and fit are considered to be the most important factors while buying products [29]. There is a need of studying the biomechanical properties of soft tissues in relation with the product interface. This paper tries to explore how these biomechanical properties of soft tissues can help in improving comfort and fit and lead to designing of better ergonomic products.

3 Experimental Study

In order to study the soft tissue thickness and understand how it varies in different regions, an experimental study was performed to collect soft tissue thickness data of head and face.

3.1 Participant

Ten Chinese adults (three males and seven females) participated in the study. They were provided information and explained the experimental protocol. Written consents were obtained from them before starting the experiment. Participants with no facial deformities or abnormalities were selected for the study.

3.2 Equipment

Artec Eva 3D scanner was used to capture 3D surface shape of head and face of the participants. Twelve landmarks were selected on head and face corresponding to areas in contact with products related to head and face for the soft tissue study as shown in Fig. 1. An ultrasound indentation system as shown in Fig. 2 was used to measure soft tissue thickness at the selected landmarks. Ultrasound gel was used as the coupling medium.



Fig. 1. Position of landmarks selected for the study in (a) front view and (b) side view



Fig. 2. Ultrasound indentation device

3.3 Procedure

3D scanning was performed first. The participants were made to wear a cap for 3D scanning in order to compress the hair and get head data. The cap used while scanning was removed during the experiment for measuring soft tissue thickness. The participants were informed about the experimental protocol and then trained to understand the ultrasound indentation device for 5 min. Ultrasound echo signals were recorded at all the individual landmarks in order to evaluate the soft tissue thickness.

3.4 Results

The ultrasound data acquired during the study was post processed using the software developed in Microsoft C++ for the ultrasound indentation device. The time of flight of the ultrasound wave was used to measure soft tissue thickness at selected landmarks. The mean values of soft tissue thickness for all the 10 participants are shown in Table 1.

Landmark	Mean soft tissue thickness (mm)
1	5.76
2	4.66
3	5.04
4	5.18
5	4.64
6	2.75
7	6.24
8	7.03
9	5.30
10	2.81
11	6.31
12	5.98

Table 1. Mean values of soft tissue thickness at the selected landmarks

4 Conclusion and Discussion

Current techniques used for product design tend to focus on using 3D anthropometric data which provides valuable information about the anatomical contour and surface measurements. However, the point of interaction of the product and the user, which can be influential in understanding the user comfort and fit parameters is not explored. With the use of soft tissue thickness data, further biomechanical properties can be analyzed which can help in understanding this relation more prominently and can help in designing of better ergonomic product.

The results acquired in the experiment help us understand the variation in the soft tissue thickness in different areas of head and face. The skull region (landmarks 1, 2, 3, 4, 12) and the area near the ears (landmark 6 and 10) have a thinner soft tissue layer. At the facial region (landmarks 7 and 11) the thickness is higher as compared to areas near

the skull region. The philtrum region (landmark 8) is the thickest region compared to all the other selected landmarks. The area with thinner soft tissue thickness like the skull or region near the ears would be less deformable as compared to facial region. Designer can hence use this soft tissue thickness values to evaluate the potential product material, size and weight and the amount of force it should create on the soft tissue surface so that the deformation is not too large and does not lead to discomfort or pain.

Products with better effectiveness and efficiency can be designed using the above collected soft tissue thickness data. Further calculation of soft tissue deformation limits and Young's modulus can help in deciding the material requirement for different regions in order to make sure the corresponding regions are compensated while designing of protective devices. Soft tissue deformation data can help in understanding of fit, which is very important for designing of wearable devices, garment manufacturing and also for designing of products used for protection purpose which need a close fit.

This study provides a good insight of how the soft tissue thickness varies on the head and face in order to help the designers to design ergonomic products with better comfort and good fit. A better understanding of the role of biomechanical properties of soft tissue like Young's Modulus and maximum deformation at areas of interest is needed in further studies.

Acknowledgements. GRF/ECS Grant (Ref. No. F-PP2P) financially supported the research. Authors would also like to thank all the participants of the study.

References

- Zhuang, Z., Bradtmiller, B.: Head-and-face anthropometric survey of US respirator users. J. Occup. Environ. Hyg. 2(11), 567–576 (2005)
- Vasavada, A.N., Danaraj, J., Siegmund, G.P.: Head and neck anthropometry, vertebral geometry and neck strength in height-matched men and women. J. Biomech. 41(1), 114–121 (2008)
- Yokota, M.: Head and facial anthropometry of mixed-race US army male soldiers for military design and sizing: a pilot study. Appl. Ergon. 36(3), 379–383 (2005)
- 4. Quant, J.R., Woo, G.C.: Normal values of eye position and head size in Chinese children from Hong Kong. Optom. Vis. Sci. **70**(8), 668–671 (1993)
- Shah, P., Mahajan, S., Nageswaran, S., Paul, S.K.: A novel way to acquire foot contour measurements of remotely located patients having foot deformities. In: 2016 IEEE First International Conference on Control, Measurement and Instrumentation (CMI), pp. 211–214. IEEE, January 2016
- Fourie, Z., Damstra, J., Gerrits, P.O., Ren, Y.: Evaluation of anthropometric accuracy and reliability using different three-dimensional scanning systems. Forensic Sci. Int. 207(1), 127– 134 (2011)
- Kouchi, M., Mochimaru, M.: Errors in landmarking and the evaluation of the accuracy of traditional and 3D anthropometry. Appl. Ergon. 42(3), 518–527 (2011)
- Ozsoy, U., Demirel, B.M., Yildirim, F.B., Tosun, O., Sarikcioglu, L.: Method selection in craniofacial measurements: advantages and disadvantages of 3D digitization method. J. Cranio-Maxillofac. Surg. 37(5), 285–290 (2009)
- Lin, Y.L., Wang, M.J.J.: Constructing 3D human model from front and side images. Expert Syst. Appl. 39(5), 5012–5018 (2012)
- Galantucci, L.M., Di Gioia, E., Lavecchia, F., Percoco, G.: Is principal component analysis an effective tool to predict face attractiveness? A contribution based on real 3D faces of highly selected attractive women, scanned with stereophotogrammetry. Med. Biol. Eng. Comput. 52(5), 475–489 (2014)
- Xia, J., Ip, H.H., Samman, N., Wang, D., Kot, C.S., Yeung, R.W., Tideman, H.: Computerassisted three-dimensional surgical planning and simulation: 3D virtual osteotomy. Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg. 29(1), 11–17 (2000)
- Lacko, D., Huysmans, T., Parizel, P.M., De Bruyne, G., Verwulgen, S., Van Hulle, M.M., Sijbers, J.: Evaluation of an anthropometric shape model of the human scalp. Appl. Ergon. 48, 70–85 (2015)
- Luximon, Y., Ball, R., Justice, L.: The Chinese face: a 3D anthropometric analysis. In: Proceedings of TMCE, pp. 12–16 (2010)
- Baik, H.S., Jeon, J.M., Lee, H.J.: Facial soft-tissue analysis of Korean adults with normal occlusion using a 3-dimensional laser scanner. Am. J. Orthod. Dentofac. Orthop. 131(6), 759– 766 (2007)
- 15. Ball, R., Shu, C., Xi, P., Rioux, M., Luximon, Y., Molenbroek, J.: A comparison between Chinese and Caucasian head shapes. Appl. Ergon. **41**(6), 832–839 (2010)
- Zhuang, Z., Shu, C., Xi, P., Bergman, M., Joseph, M.: Head-and-face shape variations of US civilian workers. Appl. Ergon. 44(5), 775–784 (2013)
- Lewis, H.E., Mayer, J., Pandiscio, A.A.: Recording skinfold calipers for the determination of subcutaneous edema. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 66(1), 154–160 (1965)
- 18. Anderson, W.A.D.: Pathology, 4th edn, p. 1381. Mosby, St. Louis (1961)
- Zheng, Y.P., Choi, Y.K.C., Wong, K., Chan, S., Mak, A.F.: Biomechanical assessment of plantar foot tissue in diabetic patients using an ultrasound indentation system. Ultrasound Med. Biol. 26(3), 451–456 (2000)
- Li, J., Zhou, Y., Lu, Y., Zhou, G., Wang, L., Zheng, Y.P.: The sensitive and efficient detection of quadriceps muscle thickness changes in cross-sectional plane using ultrasonography: a feasibility investigation. IEEE J. Biomed. Health Inform. 18(2), 628–635 (2014)
- Wang, L.K., Zhang, J.Y., Tian, L., Ko, M. W.L., Huang, Y.F., Zheng, Y.P.: OCT based air jet indentation for corneal biomechanical assessment. Guangxue Jingmi Gongcheng Opt. Preci. Eng. 23, 325–333(2015)
- Callaghan, S., Trapp, M.: Evaluating two dressings for the prevention of nasal bridge pressure sores. Prof. Nurse 13, 361–364 (1998)
- Brienza, D.M., Karg, P.E., Brubaker, C.E.: Seat cushion design for elderly wheelchair users based on minimization of soft tissue deformation using stiffness and pressure measurements. IEEE Trans. Rehab. Eng. 4(4), 320–327 (1996)
- Li, Y., Zhang, X., Yeung, K.W.: A 3D biomechanical model for numerical simulation of dynamic mechanical interactions of bra and breast during wear. Sen'i Gakkaishi 59(1), 12– 21 (2003)
- 25. Zheng, Y.P., Mak, A.F.: An ultrasound indentation system for biomechanical properties assessment of soft tissues in-vivo. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. **43**(9), 912–918 (1996)
- Lu, M.H., Yu, W., Huang, Q.H., Huang, Y.P., Zheng, Y.P.: A hand-held indentation system for the assessment of mechanical properties of soft tissues in vivo. IEEE Trans. Instrum. Meas. 58(9), 3079–3085 (2009)
- Chao, C.Y., Zheng, Y.P., Huang, Y.P., Cheing, G.L.: Biomechanical properties of the forefoot plantar soft tissue as measured by an optical coherence tomography-based air-jet indentation system and tissue ultrasound palpation system. Clin. Biomech. 25(6), 594–600 (2010)

- 28. Xiong, S., Goonetilleke, R.S., Jiang, Z.: Pressure thresholds of the human foot: measurement reliability and effects of stimulus characteristics. Ergonomics **54**(3), 282–293 (2011)
- Portolese Dias, L.: Generational buying motivations for fashion. J. Fash. Mark. Manag. Int. J. 7(1), 78–86 (2003)

Assessment of Human Balance Due to Recoil Destabilization Using Smart Clothing

Sofia Scataglini^{1,2(K)}, Elie Truyen¹, Paolo Perego², Johan Gallant¹, Damien Van Tiggelen³, and Giuseppe Andreoni²

 ¹ Royal Military Academy, 1000 Brussels, Belgium sofia.scataglini@rma.ac.be
² Dept. of Design, Politecnico di Milano, 20158 Milan, Italy sofia.scataglini@polimi.it
³ Military Hospital Queen Astrid, 1120 Brussels, Belgium

Abstract. Several studies focused on the importance of postural balance as a key for success of shooting performance and training. The most destabilizing factor is recoil that is the reaction effect produced on humans by a shooting task. To assess the postural control during a shooting task, stabilometry (posturo graphy) is the golden standard technique. Force and pressure plate are the main traditional instruments. Today, smart clothing provides a method to monitor in real time mechanical, environmental, and physiological parameters in an ecolo gical and in non-intrusive approach. Smart clothing (t-shirt) based on body-worn accelerometers (trunk accelerometers) was compared with posturographical by a pressure plate obtained during each shooting trial. The smart t-shirt revealed to be an innovative tool to assess human balance due to recoil destabilization.

Keywords: Smart clothing \cdot Trunk sway measures \cdot Accelerometer \cdot Balance control \cdot Human factors

1 Introduction

Recoil is the effect produced on humans by a shooting task provoking an external perturbation of the postural control system that can induce the resultant ground reaction forces ("center of pressure") to exit from the base of support with the risk of falling.

Balance is a generic term describing the dynamics of body posture to prevent falling [1].

In upright quiet standing, humans are never in equilibrium but they are stable. Their body returns to its mean position when it is pushed aside from the base of support [2]. The erect posture is regulated by control systems that organize the balance dynamically and depend on three actors: the sensory system, the central nervous system and the muscular and osteoarticular actuators.

The human body is mechanically unstable since its center of mass is located above its center of pressure on the ground. As soon as the resultant of the forces of gravity is

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_20

no longer aligned with the resultant of the reaction forces on the ground, a torque is created which tends to accelerate the fall of the body.

The stabilization of this mechanically unstable body therefore requires a feedback control system whose inputs can detect any deviation from the "equilibrium position" to control the appropriate reactions to return to this "equilibrium" [3].

The output of a perturbation or input impulse is modulated by the state of excitation or attention of the individual [4, 5].

The amount of attention is positively correlated with the regularity of the movement of the center of pressure (COP) [6] and during standing [7].

The postural stabilization is a synergy of different subcomponents [7-19]: sensory organization (visual, vestibular and proprioception), perception, motor coordination, biomechanics of the muscle-skeletal system and adaptation to the environment.

Shooting tasks require an alignment of the eyes (gaze effect) to the target adopting a shooting posture that require a lateral bend on the shooting hand trying to prevent the recoil destabilization distributing the load forward during the aiming.

Normal balance requires control of both gravitational forces, to maintain posture, and acceleration forces to maintain equilibrium [20].

In quite standing the multisegment chain that describes the biomechanics of the body can be simplified in a physiological condition, in a reverse pendulum simply hinged at the ankle with a single degree of freedom on the sagittal plane [1]. This model allows us to analyse the dynamics of balance taking into consideration two variables: the center of pressure (COP) and the center of mass (COM). The COM is the centre of the elements of mass that compose the body (body segments). Its position determines the lever of arm of the reaction force in comparison to the articulations and the sign of the corresponding moment of destabilization. The COP is the centre of pressures applied by every point of the surface of the foot in contact with the base of support. It deals with the point of application of the resultant of the strengths exchanged between foot and ground (strength of reaction to the ground). The position determines the arm of lever of the external strength of reaction (F) in comparison to the articulations and the sign of the correspondent reactive moment.

The COM, influences the real movements of the body segments and the COP, reflects the action of the muscular active strengths and is the key in the analysis of the postural control.

The postural control system also employs open-loop control schemes and strategies [21], the output of which may take the form of descending commands to different postural muscles.

A right-handed rifle shooter must have enough extensibility of the hip flexors, the left iliotibial band, right high adductors, spinal musculature, and wrist flexibility to assume a stable position requiring a little amount of muscular activation [22]. Maintaining of upright posture during a perturbation, like recoil, depends on a synergy of several muscle contractions to maintain the centre of mass inside the base of support [23].

In particular, at the moment of aiming the load is transferred on the right hip and it is supported by the upper body. Each knee and ankle transfers the occurred load to the hip [24]. As well, balance training can influence shooter's performance.

Braune et al. [25] was the first that evaluated the position of the centre of gravity on human balance and in shooting.

Elite shooters have higher stability than untrained control subjects [26] and non-elite shooters [27, 28]. Shooters can improve their stability in the last few seconds preceding the shot [28, 29].

Experimental data proved that shooters adopt a mechanically unstable posture as consequence of the interactions among body segments [30].

Higher balance of an athlete is obtained by training [31-34] also on an effort to pay attention to proprioceptive and visual cues [35].

Performers focusing on their body movements, or an effect that occurs in close proximity of the body, maintain a more stable posture than performers focusing on a more distant effect [36].

Motor training can improve performances asking a cognitive reorganization of motor cortex [37].

The central nervous system is perfectly capable of predicting the trajectory of a movement that it controls and sees over a few tens of milliseconds. Recoil destabilization affects soldier performance. Motor learning plays an important role and therefore training and experience can influence the soldier performance significantly [38, 39].

Mononen et al. [40] found that postural balance is related to shooting accuracy both directly and indirectly by shooting through rifle stability.

Skilled shooters employed smoother and more efficient rifle movement while aiming than less-skilled shooters [41].

The shooter organizes to predict the moment of the shot by observing the vertical movements of his line of sight, predicting the trajectory of this unique movement, since the body is practically immobile in this plane [42].

The possibility of simultaneously following during firing, the shooter's center of gravity oscillation and line of sight, explains this inability. This shows the independence between the weapon and body movements.

But when the movement of the weapon is not correlated with the movement of the body, then he needs to predict two different trajectories, which he monitors by two distinct mechanisms: one visual and conscious (the movements of the weapon), the other blind and unconscious (the fore-and-aft movements of his body) [43].

The movement required to pull the trigger is independent of body sway but can cause the movement of the weapon influencing the performances [44].

Posturography (stabilometry) [45] is the science that studies the mechanism in postural control alteration due to a perturbation to obtain balance and stability.

Force plate and pressure plate, are the common instruments for measuring postural sway in clinical setting.

Researchers already used force plates to evaluate postural stability in shooting measuring displacements of the Center of Pressure (COP) [46–49].

Innovative technology, body-worn accelerometers have been proposed as a portable alternative and inexpensive wearable health systems (WHS) for sway measurements [50–54] but not yet for recoil destabilization analysis.

Moreover, the evolution of "the wearable era" brings the introduction of "intelligent textile" where the technology is embedded in the cloths in a non-intrusive and ecological approach [55, 56]. The estimation of human trunk movement using smart clothing is already done [57, 58].

Recently our group, designed a smart cloth t-shirt for monitoring Belgian soldiers based on anthropometric approach measurement on 1615 soldiers [59]. The smart t-shirt is capable of monitoring in real time the heart rate (ECG) and the 3D body accelerations of the trunk.

Starting from this assumption, the paper presents a new assessment for human balance evaluation due to recoil destabilization based on trunk accelerometry measurements collected on the smart t-shirt and posturographical measurements by a force plate.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Subjects and Protocol

Four volunteer soldier at Belgian Royal Military Academy participated in the research study aged between (21–30). The characteristic of the individuals who participated in the study are described in Table 1.

	Height (cm)	Body mass (kg)	Shoes size	BMI (kg/m ²)
1	182	89.5	44	27.03
2	180	78.0	45	24.07
3	178	70.0	43	22.15
4	197	95.0	45	24.48

Table 1. Main anthropometric properties of the individual that participated in the study

Subjects were asked to perform four trials of one single shot pointing at the target at 7 m distance, standing in a shooting position on a pressure plate, wearing the smart t-shirt. At the beginning of the session, each volunteer was asked to wear and test the smart t-shirt standing on a force plate in aiming position. A high-speed camera was also placed perpendicular to the sagittal plane of the shooter (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Set-up illustrating the alignment of measured axis

2.2 Instruments

Shooting balance was measured with a 1 m footscan system (RSscan, Belgium) pressure plate with 8192 active sensors at 100 Hz.

The plate was triggered automatically by foot contact. Data export in Excel of the center of pressure (COP) was obtained by the footscan balance software.

Trunk accelerometry was collected by a 3D chest-worn accelerometer (MMA7361L, Freescale) of the smart t-shirt [59]. Data can be stored in the garment and can be connected by Bluetooth with an app for real time acquisition.

2.3 Data Analysis

Two custom MATLAB (MathWorks, Natick, MA) scripts were built to acquire, store and analyze different components of posturographical data by the pressure plate and the 3D trunk accelerations.

A first program was used to calculate the posturographical data of the moment of the shot collected by the COP measurements of the force plate exported as Excel file.

Manually, we were able to extrapolate the COP data at the moment of the shot (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Shot event extrapolation by the force plate in Matlab

According to Schubert et al. [45], we calculated time domain posturographical data starting from 1-dimensional COP anterior-posterior (COPap.) and COP medio-lateral (COPml.) as can be seen in the Table 2.

Measures	Description	Matlab script formula
COP distance	Mean distance from the center COP (mm)	mean(sqrt(COPap.^2 + COPml.^2));
COP length	Total length of COP trajectory (mm)	<pre>sum(sqrt(diff(COPap).^2 + diff(COPml).^2));</pre>
RMSap. and RMSml.	Root mean square of COP time series (mm)	<pre>sqrt(sum(COPap.^2)/length(COPap)); sqrt(sum(COPml.^2)/length(COPml));</pre>
Rangeap. and Rangeml.	Range COP (mm)	range(COPap); range(COPml);

Table 2. Posturographical parameters calculated from the force plate (all data in mm)

From the COPap. and COPml. we are also able to calculate the statokinesiogramm (Fig. 3). and the stabilogram for each shot.

A second Matlab program was used to create an algorithm for extrapolating the peak corresponding to the shot by the trunk accelerometric data (Fig. 4).

Starting from the peak of the shot we identified the total signal of the shot calculating.

3DACC(x,y,z) before and after the peak of a total half second as is marked in Fig. 4.

The 3DACC(x,y) components at the shot were computed for calculating the time domain measure of the trunk posturographical data [45] as described in Table 3.



Fig. 3. Sway path (statokinesiogramm) at the shot event



Fig. 4. Shot event solution based on 3D accelerometric data

Table 3. Posturographical parameters calculated from the body-worn accelerometer (all data in mm/s^2) and the relate script Matlab formula. Sway path (statokinesiogramm) by trunk ACC in the moment of the shot were also plotted (Fig. 5).

Measures	Description	Matlab script formula
COP distance	Mean distance from the centerCOP(ACC)	mean(sqrt(COPap.^2 + COPml.^2));
COP length	Total length of COP(ACC) trajectory (mm)	<pre>sum(sqrt(diff(COPap).^2 + diff(COPml).^2));</pre>
RMSap.; RMSml.	Root mean square of COP(ACC) time series (mm)	<pre>sqrt(sum(COPap.^2)/length(COPap)); sqrt(sum(COPml.^2)/length(COPml));</pre>
Rangeap.; Rangeml.	Range COP(ACC)	range(COPap); range(COPml);

Mean ACC-based measures of sway were compared with the mean posturographical measures obtained by the pressure plate through linear regression using COP distance, COP length, RMSap–RMSml, Rangeap–Rangeml values calculated with both devices for the 16 shots. All statistical analyses were conducted using Minitab statistical software and are described in Table 4. Correlation between COP and ACC measures are also reported.

Trajectory measures	Mean-COP (mm)	Mean-ACC(mm/s ²)	r	p-values	
DIST	12.55	8853.41	0.109	0.689	
RMSap.	13.15	107.42	0.466	0.069	
RMSml.	13.41	276.92	0.568	0.022	
Rangeap.	52.93	12066	0.198	0.463	
Rangeml.	41.72	12036.19	0.076	0.781	
Sway path	310.13	89481.43	0.108	0.691	

Table 4. Correlation of COP and ACC-based measures



Fig. 5. Sway path (statokinesiogramm) by trunk 3DACC(x,y) at the shot event

Mean RMSap(ACC) and Mean RMSml(ACC) were found to be significantly associated with the Mean RMSap. and Mean RMSml. predicted by the force plate.

Anthropometrical data (height, body mass and shoes size) were also significant by correlated (p < 0.05) with the Mean RMSml as are described in Table 5.

Mean	Body mass (kg)	Height (mm)	Shoes size	BMI (kg/m ²)
RMSap. (ACC)	-0.752	-0.686	-0.661	-0.451
$[mm/s^2]$	0.001	0.003	0.005	0.079
Sway path [mm]	-0.794	-0.770	-0.732	-0.620
	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.010

Table 5. Correlation of ACC-based measures RMSap and mean anthropometrical measures

3 Discussion

The chest worn accelerometer on the smart cloth reveals a good capacity to discriminate posturographical accelerometer based measures.

The correlation between the two devices was significant considering the RMS measure in the anterior–posterior and in the medio-lateral direction (Table 4).

A higher value was found more in RMSml due to the fact that at the moment of the shot the subject ('right handed') transfers the load to the right hip (hip strategy) and is supported by the upper body. Question arises if also anthropometrical variables at the shot moment can influence the RMSap. (ACC).

High negative correlation with (p < 0.05) was found between RMSap. and height, shoes size and body weight respectively (Table 5).

During the shot the body mass index of the subject was an important factor for recoil impact force attenuation expressed by a correlation of r = -0.620 with (p < 0.01).

As while, if the body is represented by an inverted pendulum height and the shoes size (base of support) have a negative correlation with RMSap. (ACC). The sway path is related to ankle strategy that is affected by body mass, height and ankle stiffness with high correlation as demonstrated in Table 5.

4 Conclusion

The use of smart clothing based on chest worn accelerometer showed a good capacity to discriminate posturographical measurements for human recoil balance destabilization compared with the force plate.

Smart clothing reveals to be a non-intrusive garment for recoil destabilization that can adopted in different environment in an ecological approach. The added value to use it is also the capacity to adding a physiological evaluation of heart rate variability by the two electrocardiographical (ECG) textrodes embedded into the cloths.

Future perspective will address to the evaluation of heart rate variability measures with the same protocol to have a more complete assessment for monitoring recoil destabilization.

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank you all the subjects that took part in the study for their patience, commitments, and motivated collaboration.

References

- Winter, D.A.: Human balance and control during standing and walking. J. Gait Posture 3(4), 193–214 (1995)
- Gagey, P., Baron, J., Ushio, N.: Introduction à la posturologie clinique. Agressologie 21, 119– 124 (1980)
- 3. Gagey, P., Bizzo, G.: Measures in posturology (2005)
- Horak, F.B., Diener, H.C., Nashner, L.M.: Influence of central set on human postural responses. J. Neurophysiol. 62, 841–853 (1989)
- Beckley, D.J., Bloem, B.R., Remler, M.P., Roos, R.A.C., Van Dijk, J.G.: Long latency postural responses are functionally modified by cognitive set. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 81, 353–358 (1991)
- 6. McNevin, N.H., Shea, C.H., Wulf, G.: Increasing the distance of an external focus of attention enhances learning. Psychol. Res. **67**, 22–29 (2003)

- Vuillerme, N., Nafati, G.: How attentional focus on body sway affects postural control during quiet standing. Psychol. Res. 71, 192–200 (2007)
- Moore, S.P., Rushmer, D.S., Windus, S.L., Nashner, L.M.: Human automatic postural responses: responses to horizontal perturbations of stance in multiple directions. Exp. Brain Res. 73, 648–658 (1988)
- Woollacott, M., Inglin, B., Manchester, D.: Response preparation and posture control. Neuromuscular changes in the older adult. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 515, 42–53 (1988)
- Diener, H.C., Horak, F.B., Nashner, L.M.: Influence of stimulus parameters on human postural responses. J. Neurophysiol. 59, 1888–1905 (1988)
- 11. Horak, F.B., Nashner, L.M., Diener, H.C.: Postural strategies associated with somatosensory and vestibular loss. Exp. Brain Res. **82**, 167–177 (1990)
- Dietz, V., Trippel, M., Discher, M., Horstmann, G.A.: Compensation of human stance perturbations: selection of the appropriate electromyographic pattern. Neurosci. Lett. 126, 71– 74 (1991)
- 13. Dornan, J., Fernie, G.R., Holliday, P.J.: Visual input: its importance in the control of postural sway. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. **59**, 586–591 (1978)
- 14. Era, P., Heikkinen, E.: Postural sway during standing and unexpected disturbance of balance in random samples of men of different ages. J. Gerontol. **40**(3), 287–295 (1985)
- Hasselkus, B.R., Shambes, G.M.: Aging and postural sway in women. J. Gerontol. 30(6), 661– 667 (1975)
- Lehmann, J.F., Boswell, S., Price, R.: Quantitative evaluation of sway as an indicator of functional balance in post-traumatic brain injury. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 71, 955–962 (1990)
- 17. Norre, M.E., Forrez, G.: Posture testing (posturography) in the diagnosis of peripheral vestibular pathology. Arch. Otorhinolaryngol. 243, 186–189 (1986)
- Sahlstrand, T., Ortengren, R., Nachemson, A.: Postural equilibrium in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Acta Orthop. Scand. 49(4), 354–365 (1978)
- Shumway-Cook, A., Horak, F.B.: Assessing the influence of sensory interaction of balance. Suggestion from the field. J. Phys. Ther. 66(10), 1548–1550 (1986)
- Massion, J., Woollacott, M.H.: Posture and equilibrium. In: Bornstein, A.M., Brandt, T., Woollacott, M.H. (eds.) Clinical Disorders of Balance, Posture and Gait, pp. 10–18. Oxford University Press Inc, New York (1996)
- Collins, J.J., De Luca, D.J.: Open-loop and closed-loop control of posture: a random-walk analysis of center-of-pressure trajectories. Exp. Brain Res. 95, 308–318 (1993)
- 22. Arnot, C.: Postural Consideration For Rifle and Pistol Shooters. Usa shooting news, Colorado Spring (2010)
- Winter, D.A., Patla, A.E., Frank, J.S.: Assessment of balance control in humans. Med. Prog. Technol. 16(1–2), 31–51 (1990)
- Lee, Y.S., Choi, Y.J., Han, K.H., Chae, J.W., Choi, E.J., Kim, I.W.: A study of the human impulse characteristics of the standing shooting posture. Key Eng. Mater. 297–300, 2314– 2319 (2005)
- 25. Braune, W., Fischer, O.: On the Centre of Gravity of the Human Body as Related to the Equipment of the German Infantry Soldier, p. 96 pp. Springer, New York (1985)
- Aalto, H., Pyykkö, I., Ilmarinen, R., Kähkönen, E., Starck, J.: Postural stability in shooters. J. Otorhinolaryngol. Relat. Spec. 52(4), 232–238 (1990)
- Niinimaa, V., McAvoy, T.: Influence of exercise on body sway in the standing rifle shooting position. Can. J. Appl. Sport Sci. 8(1), 30–33 (1983)
- Era, P., Konttinen, N., Ehto, P., Saarela, P., Lyytinen, H.: Postural stability and skilled performance–a study on top-level and naive rifle shooters. J. Biomech. 29(3), 301–306 (1996)

- Gianikellis, K., Dura, J.V., Hoyos, J.V.: 3-D Biomechanical analysis of the motor patterns observed during the 10 m rifle-shooting modality. In: Abrantes, J. (ed.) Proceedings of the XIVth International Symposium on Biomechanics in Sports, pp. 217–219. Madeira, Portugal (1996)
- Gianikellis, K., Pantrigo, J., Vara, A.: Stabilometry applied on the analysis of individual technique in the air-rifle shooting. In: 19th International Symposium on Biomechanics in Sports (2001)
- English, T., Howe, K.: The effect of pilates exercise on trunk and postural stability and throwing velocity in college baseball pitchers: single subject design. N. Am. J. Sports Phys. Ther. NAJSPT 2(1), 8 (2007)
- Johnson, E.G., Larsen, A., Ozawa, H., Wilson, C.A., Kennedy, K.L.: The effects of Pilatesbased exercise on dynamic balance in healthy adults. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 11(3), 238–242 (2007)
- Siqueira Rodrigues, B.G., Ali Cader, S., Bento Torres, N.V.O., de Oliveira, E.M., Martin Dantas, E.H.: Pilates method in personal autonomy, static balance and quality of life of elderly females. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 14(2), 195–202 (2010)
- Goedert, A., Lodovico, A., Rodacki, A.L.F.: Effect of pilates based exercise on body sway and shooting performance of Brazilian police. In: 33rd International Conference on Biomechanics in Sports, Poitiers, France (2015)
- 35. Miller, J.A., Wojtys, E.M., Huston, L.J., FryWelch, D.: Can proprioception really be improved by exercises? Knee Surg. Sports Traumatol. Arthrosc. 9, 128–136 (2001)
- 36. Vuillerme, N., Nafati, G.: How attentional focus on body sway affects postural control during quiet standing. Psychol. Res. **71**(2), 192–200 (2007)
- Walker, C., Brouwer, B.J., Culham, E.G.: Use of visual feedback in retraining balance following acute stroke. J. Phys. Ther. 80, 886–895 (2000)
- Scataglini, S., Truyen, E., Andreoni, G., Van Tiggelen, G.J.: Effect of recoil destabilization on soldier performance: results of the study of sway path evolution with time. In: Proceedings of European Congress of Biomechanics (ESB) (2015)
- Herpin, G., Gauchard, G.C., Lion, A., Collet, P., Keller, D., Perrin, P.P.: Sensorimotor specificities in balance control of expert fencers and pistol shooters. J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 20(1), 162–169 (2010)
- Mononen, K., Konttinen, N., Viitasalo, J., Era, P.: Relationships between postural balance, rifle stability and shooting accuracy among novice rifle shooters. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 17(2), 180–185 (2007)
- Lawson, B.D., Ranes, B., Thompson, L.B.: Smooth moves: shooting performance is related to efficiency of rifle movement. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting (2016)
- Dudde, R., Müller, G., Bourdeaux, O., Gagey, B., Weber, B., Gagey, P.: Dialogue médecins/ entraîneurs autour d'une plateforme de forces. Sci. Sports 201–206 (2015)
- 43. Gagey, B., Bourdeaux, O., Gagey, P.M.: From the center of pressure to the center of gravity, a new algorithm for a step forward in stabilometry. Man. Ther. Posturol. Rehabil. J. 13 (2015)
- Heinula, J.: Technical analysis of shooting performance using the Noptel ST-1000 PC and ST-2000 equipment NOStat. Version 1.0. NOPTEL Oy. International Shooting Sport Federation, Oulu (1996)
- Schubert, P., Kirchner, M., Schmidtbleicher, D., Haas, C.T.: About the structure of posturography: sampling duration, parametrization, focus of attention (part I). J. Biomed. Sci. Eng. 5, 496–507 (2012)
- Larue, J., Bard, C., Otis, L., Fleury, M.: Stability in shooting: the effect of expertise in the biathlon and in rifle shooting. Can. J. Sport Sci. 14(1), 38–45 (1989)

- Bozsik, A., Bretz, K., Kaske, R.J.: Body sway in biathlon shooting. In: Biomechanics in Sports XII: Proceedings of the 12th Symposium of the International Society of Biomechanics in Sports, Budapest, pp. 164–166 (1995)
- Chin, S.F., Wu, W.L., Don, L.W.: Stance stability in shooters Chinese. J. Med. Biol. Eng. 20(4), 187–192 (2000)
- 49. Ball, K.A., Best, R.J., Wrigley, T.V.: Body sway, aim point fluctuation and performance in rifle shooters: inter- and intra-individual analysis. J. Sports Sci. **21**(7), 559–566 (2003)
- Mancini, M., Salarian, A., Carlson-Kuhta, P., Zampieri, C., King, L., Chiari, L., Horak, F.B.: ISway: a sensitive, valid and reliable measure of postural control. J. Neuroeng. Rehabil. 9, 59 (2012)
- Hlavačka, F., Bzdúšková, D., Halická, Z., Lobotková, J., Szathmáry, V.: Assessment of human balance during stance using accelerometer sensors. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference, Measurement 2011, Smolenice, Slovakia (2011)
- Seimetz, C., Tan, D., Katayama, R., Lockhart, T.: A comparison between methods of measuring postrual stability: force plates versus accelerometers. Biomed. Sci. Instrum. 48, 386–392 (2012)
- Whitney, S.L., Roche, J.L., Marchetti, G.F., Lin, C.C., Steed, D.P., Furman, G.R., Musolino, M.C., Redfem, M.S.: A comparison of accelerometry and center of pressure measures during computerized dynamic posturography: a measure of balance. Gait Posture 33(4), 594–599 (2011)
- 54. Adkin, A.L., Bloem, B.R., Allum, J.H.: Trunk sway measurements during stance and gait tasks in Parkinson's disease. Gait Posture **22**(3), 240–249 (2005)
- 55. Gilsoo, C.: Smart Clothing: Technology and Applications. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2009)
- Andreoni, G., Standoli, C.M., Perego, P.: Sensorized garments for biomedical monitoring: design issues 2015-11-10. In: Proceedings of 2nd International Electronic Conference on Sensors and Applications (2015)
- Tormene, P., Bartolo, M., De Nunzio, A.M., Fecchio, F., Quaglini, S., Tassorelli, C., Sandrini, G.: Estimation of human trunk movements by wearable strain sensors and improvement of sensor's placement on intelligent biomedical clothes. Biomed. Eng. Online 11, 95 (2012)
- Mokhlespour Esfahani, M.I., Zobeiri, O., Moshiri, B., Narimani, R., Mehravar, M., Rashedi, E., Parnianpour, M.: Trunk motion system (TMS) using printed body worn sensor (BWS) via data fusion approach. J. Sensors 17(1), 112 (2017)
- Scataglini, S., Andreoni, G., Truyen, E., Warnimont, L., Gallant, J., Van Tiggelen, D.: Design of smart clothing for Belgian soldiers through a preliminary anthropometric approach. In: Proceedings 4th DHM Digital Human Modeling, Montréal, Québec, Canada (2016)

Systems Anthropometry of Digital Human Models for Seat Design

Herbert Reynolds¹ and Gunther Paul^{$2(\mathbb{X})$}

 ¹ ERL LLC, 7959 Ashbrook Dr, Haslett, MI 48840, USA reynolds@erlllc.com
² Mackay Institute of Research and Innovation, Mackay Base Hospital, James Cook University, Mackay, QLD 4740, Australia gunther.paul@jcu.edu.au

Abstract. Traditional vehicle package engineering assumes that driver anthropometry and the location of vehicle controls determine driver posture, and thus seat parameters. Due failure of this approach to provide comfortable seating conditions, ERL combines a systems anthropometry model with a force deflection model of the seat and soft tissue digital human model (DHM) to design seat specifications for the driving package. With the systems anthropometry model, we optimize seat design for calculated driver positions and postures. We derive comfort scores from measurements of the interface between the DHM, seat and controls. Analysis of 13 passenger cars and 10 utility vehicles shows that drivers adapt to vehicle interiors with different postures that are inconsistently associated with vehicle type. In conclusion, the seat affects how and where we sit. Thus, DHMs are needed for both seat and package design at the very beginning of vehicle development.

Keywords: Seat comfort \cdot Human–systems integration \cdot Automotive package engineering

1 Introduction

Sitting is required to drive a car. Sitting positions reflect body size and adaptations made to drive the vehicle. Traditional anthropometry describes variation in body size with the effects of posture removed in a standardized posture. Moreover, systems anthropometry defines landmark positions with respect to anatomical frames of reference so that body size and posture are both represented in the data. While linear dimensions such as stature, sitting height, or arm reach define body size, posture has been defined primarily by joint angles in the limbs [1]; sitting posture however also includes the spinal configuration of the back. Recently, landmarks have been used to estimate driver back posture [2]. Systems anthropometry of human subjects includes the position of limb joint centers and spinal landmarks that are needed to define digital human body models (DHM) for the study of tasks, and the design of products supporting tasks [3].

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_21

DHMs for automotive package design must incorporate vision, reach and comfort to define a driver's position when operating a vehicle [4]. Drivers adjust seat, steering wheel and sometimes pedal positions to find comfortable reach to controls, good vision and postural comfort in the vehicle. While body size defines the range of these adjustments [5] in populations, back posture defines positions of these adjustments within the range for comfort, safety and operability. Since the seat interacts with the driver, forces acting on the seat should be part of the design environment. Thus, a systems anthropometry definition of comparable landmarks among drivers that transmit loads to the seat cushion and back provides a scientific basis for designing seats in support of vehicle package requirements. In today's automotive design environment, only very few positions of landmarks in drivers, defined in SAE-J 826 [5] are considered an element of design.

Comfort is considered a package [6] and a seat design [3, 7, 8] parameter, but there is no standardized tool to measure comfort. Dama et al. [9] found 10 objective evaluations of seat comfort and 4 subjective evaluations. Yet, comfort is a subjective response to an environment.

Safety on the other hand has a well-defined domain in government regulations, and it is tied to ergonomic design with the SAE H-point machine (i.e. SAE J826 or SAE 4002) [5]. Eleven Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS) reference this tool for regulations of controls and displays (#101), mirrors (#111), safety (#201, 202/a, 203, 204, 208, 209, 210, and 214) and seating (#207).

Package engineering uses the Seating Reference Point (SgRP) for defining a vehicle layout, including seat adjustments, steering wheel adjustments, pedal adjustments, and vision models. Seat design begins with the H-point machine, and compliance of the seat with the package is verified with a test that measures if the H-point machine sits in the vehicle seat within ± 12.5 mm of a SgRP. The fit of the seated driver in the total vehicle design to reach controls, see the road and instrument panel, and achieve a comfortable posture is typically evaluated at the end of vehicle development [10, 11].

In the 1980s, RAMSIS, JACK, SAMMIE, and SAFEWORK (now DELMIA) were developed to evaluate vehicle interiors for the driver without a seat [8, 10, 11]. These DHMs are positioned in the vehicle within comfortable joint angle ranges to reach controls if their "hip joints" lie within H-point travel. Tools developed to evaluate pressure distribution in seat design, such as Pam Comfort [12] or Casimir [13], use finite element models without considering back posture or driver position to operate the vehicle.

The present investigation uses an optimization model to calculate how seated drivers [14, 15] with different back postures adapt positions of the seat and steering wheel to operate cars and Utility Vehicles (UVs). This analysis uses small female, medium male and large male DHMs sitting in three back postures. Each DHM is constrained by the same criteria to reach controls (steering wheel and accelerator) with good vision of mirror, instrument panel and the road. The data are summarized to describe back posture effect on driving positions. Comfort, packaging, and seat design are queried for their linear and non-linear interactions to provide a systematic description of seat design effects on driver's comfort, safety and operability in cars and UVs.

2 Methods and Materials

Twenty-three vehicles that have an adjustable 6-way seat, and steering wheel rake (telescope) and tilt were investigated as competitive benchmarks in the US automotive industry (Table 1). Thirteen cars and ten utility vehicles (UVs) were measured.

Year	Car	UV	Model
2001	Lexus		LS430
2003	Audi		A6
		BMW	X5
		Volvo	XC90
2004	Volvo		S80
	Nissan		Maxima
	Saab		9-3
		Lexus	RX330
		Toyota	4Runner
		Toyota	Sienna
2005	Chrysler		300
		Toyota	Sienna
2006	Saab		9-5
	Cadillac		DTS
		Chevrolet	Equinox
		Pontiac	Torrent
2007	BMW		530Xi
	BMW		328i
		BMW	X3
	Toyota		Camry XLE
	Audi		A4
2008		Ford	Edge

Table 1. List of cars and UVs measured for study of the seated driver.

Each vehicle was measured with a 3-dimensional Coordinate Measuring Machine (CMM) to define positions and range of adjustments of vehicle controls and seat. Seating surfaces were laser scanned, and the cushions and seat backs were measured with a force displacement machine. All data from CMM to force displacement measurements were input into software that calculates the seated positions of DHMs in the vehicle.

Every driver seat of vehicles listed in Table 1 was measured with a force displacement machine that loaded the seat cushion and back to a maximum of 540 N in the cushion and 200 N in the back. A force deflection curve was generated to calculate input for the seat model. These force deflection curves are defined by three parameters:

- 1. An initial displacement (mm) of the trim and pad under load ("toe"),
- 2. A regression line of the force per displacement (N/mm) for the foam ("linear"), and
- 3. The total change of foam displacement (mm) under a 20-min peak load ("creep").

Each seat was scanned to define the trimmed seating surface (Fig. 1). The scanned seat surface was input as a seat back and cushion assembly into the CAD software with the centerline, seat insert and seat wings defined at sites of anatomical landmarks. The eight patches are delimited by a line segment on the centerline, widths of the seat insert from the centerline, and a rise and width of the inboard and outboard seat wings.



Fig. 1. Scanned surface of a seat with ERL patches defining the locations of support and contact with the seat made by each DHM in the software model.

Centerline shape is defined by continuity and orientation between patches. Continuity, or smoothness between patches, is defined by the angle Θ_A . Orientation is defined by the angle Θ_B . Seat cushion angles are calculated from the rear of the cushion at the ischial patch to the front of the patch in successive pairs of patches. Seat back angles are calculated from the bottom of the bite line patch to the next successive patch. Angles of each patch were calculated relative to track angle with the seat in rearmost, downmost position. The seat back frame was aligned perpendicular to the seat track. The contour of the seat is defined by the orientation between patches. DHM maintain a constant relationship with support patches. Thus, penetration of the contact patches defines the fit of the seat for each driver to operate the vehicle.

The seat supports body weight at support patches on the seat back and cushion. A biomechanical model calculates the distribution of body weight at the chest, lumbar, pelvis and thigh center of gravity. Once the forces are known, deflection of the seat can be calculated using the stiffness of the seat as described above. Support patches identified in Fig. 1 are defined by positions of the spinous process of the 8th thoracic vertebra (chest patch), spinous process of the 4th lumbar vertebra (lumbar patch), ischial tuberosity (ischial patch), and thigh center of gravity (thigh patch). The force supported by the seat in each of the patches is calculated to be acting at these four landmarks.

Contact patches are not supposed to be penetrated by the landmark representing the body's relationship to the seat at the head restraint, shoulder and bite line in the seat back and front of thigh in the cushion. Contact patches identified in Fig. 1 are defined by positions of the spinous process of the 4th thoracic vertebra (shoulder patch), hip

joint (bite line patch), and front of thigh landmark that is 75% of the distance from the thigh center of gravity to the back of the calf with a knee flexion of 90°. The head restraint is a contact patch, with its relationship to the back of head defined in FMVSS 202a. The small female is not considered in the head restraint definition because her head is often at the height of the shoulder patch. Each of these four landmarks has a boundary condition that defines the distance between the landmark and the patch.

The computer algorithm uses nine DHMs plus SAE J826 ("Oscar"). Each DHM body size has three back postures [14, 16] with user control of joint angle limits in the limbs, including neck, torso and hip angles, to optimize comfort and fit. Size and posture are based on 3D measurements of spinal [16] and pelvic [17] landmarks essential for locating the position of loads on the seat (Fig. 2). These skeletal landmarks form the basis of a systems anthropometry description of the seated driver.



Fig. 2. Wireframe image of medium male, with a neutral posture of the spinal column showing landmarks used for loads and seat contact in all nine DHMs.

Stature, body weight and sitting height are reported in Table 2. Leg length is the standing trochanterion height defined in the US Army ANSUR data [18]. Arm length represents the length from acromion at the shoulder joint to stylion at the wrist joint. These dimensions create a systematic body representation of a small woman, medium size man and large man. The comparative anthropometric data from Germany, Italy, Japan and the United States [19] shows that the dimensions of stature, body weight, sitting height, leg length and arm length are representative of drivers in the world.

Arm length is the sum of acromion-radiale length and radiale-stylion length. Trochanterion height was used as an independent variable to estimate link lengths in both arms and legs [20]. German Arm Length [19] was measured from acromion to wrist crease. The spinal shapes, landmarks and soft tissue shape at these landmarks are based on investigations conducted in the Ergonomics Research Laboratory [16, 21]. Shape of the seated driver is given by the deflection of soft tissues from the seating surfaces [21]. The deflected shapes of soft tissues at landmarks of load application were measured to create a model of the deflected body shapes.

ERL	With shoes	Large mal	e		Medium male Small female			ale		
stature		Slumped	Neutral	Erect	Slumped	Neutral	Erect	Slumped	Neutral	Erect
		1865	1881	1914	1741	1758	1785	1492	1502	1518
	Percentiles		95th	99th		50th		1st%ile	5th	
			%tile	%tile		%tile			%tile	
	ANSUR (88)		1867	1909		1755		1483	1528	
	Germany		1865	1910		1758		1486	1529	
	Italy (South)		1804	1848		1701		1429	1471	
	Japan		1781	1820		1687		1439	1474	
	NHANES '03-'06		1887			1763			1507	
ERL weight (kg)		100	100	100	77	77	77	50	50	50
	NHANES '03-'06		122.6			85.6			50.5	
	ANSUR (88)		98.1			77.7			49.6	
ERL sitting height		923	938	971	873	891	918	777	786	802
	ANSUR (88)		972	991		914		775	795	
	Germany		977	1000		921		785	807	
	Italy (South)		925	948		869		734	759	1
	Japan		970	995		913		771	793	
ERL leg length		1009	1009	1009	927	927	927	789	789	789
	ANSUR (88)		1009	1040		927		761	789	
	Germany		998	1031		917		728	759	
	Italy (South)		NA	NA		NA		NA	NA	
	Japan		912	940		846		687	711	
ERL arm length		656	656	656	609	609	609	513	513	513
	ANSUR (88)		656			609			513	
	Germany		648	668		601		492	510	

Table 2. ERL anthropometric dimensions.

Positions of each seated DHM in the vehicle are optimized to grip the steering wheel, contact the accelerator pedal and sit in the seat with each DHM's eye within boundaries required for good vision as defined by horizontal, upward (rear view mirror) and downward (center of speedometer) lines of sight. A biomechanical model [14, 15] calculates the distribution of body weight in static equilibrium for each DHM in the seat. Seats support body weight between four points on the seat and heel on the floor. When a point is unloaded so that the force of body weight equals zero, the displaced point lies on the undeflected seating surface. The model positions the body, seat and steering wheel to find a solution that places this zero-load point within ± 2 mm of the seating surface.

Data from mass distribution studies of living subjects were used [22, 23] to establish segmental weights and center of gravities.

Reach to the steering wheel is controlled by joints at the shoulder (3DOF), elbow (1DOF) and wrist (3DOF) for the hand to grip the steering wheel along a palm axis.



Fig. 3. Seated posture by head CG location, torso CG location and ischial tuberosity (IT) location for all DHMs relative to the accelerator heel point (AHP) in cars.

Reach to the accelerator is controlled by joints at the hip (3DOF), knee (1DOF) and ankle (3DOF) for the foot to contact the accelerator and the heel to rest on the compressed floor carpet. The heel had to be within ± 0.1 mm of the compressed floor carpet height.

A reliable comfort model reported and validated in Reynolds and Wehrle [14] was used for the study, with a correlation factor of 0.78 between the model score and subjective driver scores from 2-h drives in seven vehicles.

3 Results

In Fig. 3, the effect of posture on seated body landmarks is shown for small females, medium males and large males (from left to right). The positions of the center of gravity of the head and torso and the position of the ischial tuberosity (IT) with respect to the Accelerator Heel Point (AHPx and AHPz) show how each DHM sits in cars. These data only show relative landmark positions. The IT in the erect posture is more rearward than in the neutral and slumped postures, while the inverse is seen in head centers of gravity.

Figure 4 depicts the force deflection at the IT of each DHM, with a regression coefficient of $R^2 = 0.9992$ for cars and 0.9996 for UVs for the different body sizes. In all three body sizes, whether in cars or UVs, the erect posture generates the highest force and deflection, followed in sequence by the neutral and slumped postures.

Figure 5 shows the relationship between the penetration of the front of thigh patch and deflection under the IT. The front of thigh on the DHM marks a point 75% of the distance from thigh center of gravity to the knee joint. The IT on the pelvis transmit body weight into the seat cushion. A parabolic quadratic equation best fits the data with R^2 values of 0.964 and 0.976 for cars and UVs respectively. The same impact of back postures as in Fig. 4 is seen in Fig. 5 for the front of thigh penetration in cars and UVs for the three body sizes.



Fig. 4. Ischial force/deflection (N/mm) for all DHMs in cars and UVs.



Fig. 5. Front of thigh penetration per ischial deflection for all DHMs in cars and UVs.

Given the phenomenological background, the front of thigh penetration per thigh flexion is highly correlated. R^2 values of 0.9414 and 0.9900 in cars and UVs respectively (Fig. 6) represent the fit of the quadratic correlation. Large males in erect posture sit with no thigh contact, erect sitting small females sit with high penetration. This difference represents the effect of both joint angles and seat design. The medium male achieves an optimum level of contact with the front of cushion.



Fig. 6. Average front of thigh penetration per thigh flexion in all DHMs in cars and UVs.



Fig. 7. Relative front of thigh to ischial patch angle per car and UV cushion stiffness.

The relationship of the angle between the front of thigh patch to the ischial patch, and cushion stiffness (Fig. 7) was found to be insignificant at R^2 values of 0.1590 and 0.1662 for cars and UVs respectively.

4 Discussion

Although motor vehicles are mostly designed and built in Japan, the United States or Germany, drivers from countries around the world may drive them. Thus, vehicles are designed using anthropometric databases, which underlie digital human model tools. Since driving is a seated task, the design however needs to consider relations between the seat, driver anthropometry and driver posture, which also affects driver dimensions.

To understand the effect of back posture on seat position, it is necessary to recognize the change in relative positions of a driver's head, chest and pelvis. As seen in Fig. 3, a small female driver has the centers of gravity (CG) of head and torso only slightly behind the ischial tuberosity. In a slumped posture however, the CG of her torso and head lie behind the pelvic ischium, thereby creating a moment arm applying a rearward tilt to the pelvis, further exacerbating the slumped posture. In contrast, medium and large male drivers have their positions of torso and head CG clearly behind the IT, independent of back posture. Therefore, these drivers will typically react to the rearward momentum with muscular effort to achieve a more erect posture. Medium and large drivers will however most likely sit with a neutral to slumped back posture. Ironically, this neutralto-slumped posture was measured by Geoffrey in 1959 [5] when he defined the H-point and shape of the back subsequently used in the original H-point machine (SAE J826).

In contrast to the postures in Fig. 3, the force displacement curve in Fig. 4 shows a postural effect in both cars and UVs. An erect posture applies the greatest force and deflection to the seat cushion ischial patch for each body size, followed by neutral and slumped postures. The postural logic associated with this relationship should be seen throughout the data, but in subsequent figures, it is unpredictable despite the logic defined from Figs. 3 and 4. This inconsistency arises from the lack of a design standard for seating, where seat shape is highly variable as measured by patch angle coefficient of variation.

Styling appearance needs to follow functional shape to support drivers in position to operate the vehicle. There is no evidence that back postures are associated with any vehicle type and the data in this paper reports that neither cars nor UVs accommodate this postural logic. In fact, comfort data shows that seat design and controls packaging does not equally accommodate small women, or short drivers, and medium men. Likewise, large men are not as well accommodated as medium males, although their discomfort levels are normally smaller than in small woman.

The use of different back postures by drivers can be logically assigned to either a need or a preference. Small drivers need to sit as upright as possible for good vision. Tall drivers need to slump to lower head and eye height for fit in the vehicle. Most drivers have a seated back posture preference that fits their anatomy and/or the driving conditions. Since torso angle changes with back posture, so does reach to controls by moving the shoulder and the hip joints in opposite directions. As revealed in the analysis of ischial positions in drivers, an erect posture requires less horizontal sitting space than a slumped posture. To accommodate the variation in back posture and its effect on driver packaging, seats must be incorporated into very early vehicle design, so that track travel, track orientation, seat height adjustments, and seat cushion tilt adjustments are correctly designed.

Seat design on the other hand cannot be based solely on pressure distribution or accommodating a seating reference point. As seen in Fig. 4, the position of the ischium, which is the position of greatest seat cushion pressure, changes with back posture. Moreover, the penetration of the front of thigh as seen in Fig. 5 shows that the contour of the seat has to be designed to accommodate changes in thigh orientation associated with the change in ischium position. The net effect of these changes from an erect to slumped posture is a reduction in thigh angle relative to horizontal, associated with a greater reach to the accelerator and an increase in knee angle.

In conclusion, the results of this analysis demonstrate a consistency that seems to focus on average body size despite the adjustments of seat and steering wheel in the vehicles. Given these findings and the capability of an optimization algorithm to be used in either evaluation of benchmark vehicles or the design of new vehicles, it would seem appropriate to begin considering a change in how vehicles are developed at the beginning of design. Very simply, the initial layout of any motorized vehicle should be considering the range of seated postures rather than simply reach in a sitting position of a digital human body model of a driver. Seat shape and foam indentation should also be taken into account. Driver back posture and seat design affect where and how the driver sits, and this information is needed to optimize the vehicle for driver comfort, safety and operability.

Acknowledgements. The authors are grateful for the valuable work and contributions of all the personnel at ERL, LLC without whom this work would have never been done: Ray Brodeur, Kal Rayes, George Stockman, Bryce Hauptman, Bob Nemeth, Rich Gregg, Tim Russell, Tom Mitchell, Tom Robinson, Robert Allie, Joe Deming, Florin Burlacu, and Bill McMillan. Without their unique and creative contributions, this model would not have been developed.

References

- Kyung, G., Nussbaum, M.A., Babski-Reeves, K.L.: Enhancing digital driver models: identification of distinct postural strategies used by drivers. Ergonomics 53(3), 375–384 (2010)
- Park, J., Ebert, S.M., Reed, M.P., Hallman, J.J.: Statistical models for predicting automobile driving postures for men and women including effects of age. Hum. Factors 58(2), 261–278 (2016)
- Paul, G., Pendlebury, J., Miller, J.: The contribution of seat components to seat hardness and the interface between human occupant and a driver seat. Int. J. Hum. Factors Model. Simul. 3(3/4), 378–397 (2012)
- Grandjean, E.: Sitting posture of car drivers from the point of view of ergonomics. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Engineering and Transport, pp. 205–213 (1980)
- Geoffrey, S.P.: A 2-D Manikin—The Inside Story. X-rays Used to Determine a New Standard for a Basic Design Tool. SAE Technical Paper 267A. SAE International, Warrendale, PA (1961)
- Bergman, C., Castro, P.R., Högberg, D., Hanson, L.: Implementation of suitable comfort model for posture and motion prediction in DHM supported vehicle design. Proced. Manuf. 3, 3753–3758 (2015)

- Kolich, M.: A conceptual framework proposed to formalize the scientific investigation of automobile seat comfort. Appl. Ergon. 39, 15–27 (2008)
- Fai, T., Delbressine, F., Rauterberg, M.: Vehicle seat design: state of the art and recent development. In: Proceedings World Engineering Congress, pp. 51–61 (2007)
- Dama, K.K., Babu, V.S., Rao, R.N., Madhava, R.: A review on automotive seat comfort design. Int. J. Eng. Res. Technol. 4(4), 678–683 (2015)
- Herriotts, P., Johnson, P.: Are you sitting comfortably? A guide to occupant packaging in automotive design. In: Gkikas, N. (ed.) Automotive Ergonomics: Driver–Vehicle Interaction, pp. 17–39. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2013)
- Stahlecker, H., Kress, H.: Integration of 3D Human Models in the Vehicle Concept Development of BMW. SAE Technical Paper 2003-01-2193. SAE International, Warrendale, PA (2003)
- Choi, H., Sah, S., Na, S., Montmayeur, K., Marca, C.: Human Body Modeling for Virtual Seat Comfort Testing. SAE Technical Paper 2006-01-2335. SAE International, Warrendale, PA (2006)
- Pankoke, S., Siefert, A.: Virtual Simulation of Static and Dynamic Seating Comfort in the Development Process of Automobiles and Automotive Seats: Application of Finite-Element-Occupant-Model CASIMIR. SAE Technical Paper 2007-01-2459. SAE International, Warrendale, PA (2007)
- Reynolds, M.: Sitting posture in design position of automotive interiors. Int. J. Hum. Factors Model. Simul. 3(3/4), 276–293 (2012)
- Reynolds, H., Wehrle, J.: Validation of Virtual Driver Model for Design of Automotive Seating Packages. SAE Technical Paper 2012-01-0450. SAE International, Warrendale, PA (2012)
- Brodeur, R., Reynolds, M.: Modeling spine shape for the seated posture (2015). http:// www.erlllc.com/reports/ERL_Spine_Report.pdf
- Reynolds, H.M., Snow, C.C., Young, J.W.: Spatial Geometry of the Human Pelvis. Memorandum Report No. AAC-119-81-5. Civil Aeromedical Institute, FAA, Oklahoma City, OK (1981)
- Gordon, C.C., et al.: 1988 Anthropometric Survey of US Army Personnel: Methods and Summary Statistics. Technical Report Natick/TR-89/044. United States Army NATICK, Research, Development and Engineering Center, Natick, MA (1989)
- 19. PeopleSize 2008 Easy anthropometrics software. Open Ergonomics Ltd. (2008). http:// www.openerg.com
- Dempster, W.T., Sherr, L.A., Priest, J.G.: Conversion scales for estimating humeral and femoral lengths and the lengths of functional segments in the limbs of American Caucasoid males. Hum. Biol. 36(3), 246–262 (1964)
- Brodeur, R.R., Reynolds, H.M.: Digital Definition of the Deflected Shape of the Human Body in Seated Postures for Ergonomic Design in CAD Models. SAE Technical Paper 2001-01-2106 (2001)
- McConville, J.T., Churchill, T.D., Kaleps, I., Clauser, C.E., Cuzzi, J.: Anthropometric Relationships of Body and Body Segments of Inertia. Technical Report AFAMRL-TR-80-119. Air Force Aerospace Medical Research Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, OH (1980)
- Young, J.W., Chandler, R.F., Snow, C.C., Robinette, K.M., Zehner, G.F., Lofberg, M.S.: Anthropometric and Mass Distribution Characteristics of the Adult Female. Technical Report FAA-AM-83-16. Office of Aviation Medicine, Federal Aviation Administration, Washington, DC (1983)

The Veronesi Method - Judicial Expertise for Physical Therapists

José Ronaldo Veronesi Jr.^(☉)

IEDUV – Centro Educacional Veronesi, Vitória, ES, Brazil veronesi@ieduv.com.br

Abstract. The Veronesi method follows scientific criteria, applicable law, regulations and recommendations on the subject to a path in a structured completion and grounded to assist the court in decisions. The goal is to bring to society the knowledge of the technical and scientific aspects of the method. From TST guidelines, the method analyzes the nexus, conducts research in the workplace, where you use regulations such as ISO 11226 to assess posture and motion analysis software to quantify them, ISO 11228 for survey analysis the lifting and transport of weight and repetitive activities. Using criteria established by the Instruction of the INSS for the link. It was a retrospective, cross-sectional, which randomly chose 100 cases by Method. It analyzed the number of affected segments (diagnosed diseases) that sought if there was a causal nexus, concausa nexus and no nexus. Randomly selected 10 first and second instance decisions in order to correlate the findings with the method. Found 159 diseases diagnosed being 49 showed 1 affected segment, 43 had 2 segments 7 with 3 segments, and 1 case with 4 diseased segments. They showed causal nexus in 71 cases, 50 nexus concausa and 38 no nexus. All judgments of first and second instance, the Veronesi method was accepted, giving sustainability to justice fulfill their craft. The study method was shown to be an important scientific technical tool to be used by experts for reports with informed and fundamentas conclusions, thus helping the judgment in fairer decisions.

Keywords: Veronesi Method · Judicial expertise · Causal nexus

1 Introduction

The meaning of the word Method comes from the Greek, "Methodos" meaning pathway, route, in other words, the means used to reach an end. Therefore, "Methodos" is the way of the best scientific techniques in the search for a problem's solution. In science, the problem is the object of research, it's what drives the search for answers in order to bring the philosophy of science, that is generating answers to reflect on new doubts. According to Popper (1985), the task of epistemology or the philosophy of science is to rationally reconstruct *the later proofs by which it was discovered that inspiration was a discovery or came to be recognized as knowledge* [1].

The practice of judicial expertise by the physical therapist professional in Brazil initiated in 1999 by physiotherapist José Ronaldo Veronesi Junior, when this

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_22

professional made a Physiotherapeutic report for a patient following the ABNT standards in an article format and this document sent by the lawyer to court.

The method of analysis and expert formatting has been studied for years. The first book on the subject was published in 2004, reissued in the years 2008 and 2013 [2]. Also in 2004, at the request of the Federal Council of Physical Therapy and Occupational Therapy, Dr. Veronesi launched the professional enhancement course in Judicial Expertise by Method, where many students have been trained these years.

In 2011, the Method's author, Dr. Veronesi, concluded his PhD thesis validating an evaluation and quantification protocol regarding functional capacity for judicial expertise. This work resulted in publications at the World Conference on Ergonomics, United States, 2014 [3], and in a scientific journal of law in the same year [4]. To evaluate the functional capacity within the Veronesi Method's protocol, the author published, in 2012, the Book of Orthopedic Functional Tests [5].

Seeking for continuous improvement in the judicial expertise area, and in need of a more complete instrument for analysis of the expertise process, Dr. Veronesi launched the "Veronesi Ergonomic Risk Index for Repetitive Activity of Upper Limbs" (IVRE-ARMS). The "6th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics" validated this work in 2015 and it was also published in Procedia Manufacturing journal in the same year [6]. The IVRE-ARMS tool allows an analysis of the labor activity in a broader way and from the perspective of the physical, cognitive and organizational aspects, bringing a greater systematization inside the expert inspection.

The Veronesi Method provides continuous training for Physiotherapists professionals interested in working in the judicial expertise area, following the precept of the Code of Civil Procedure (CPC), Art. 156 [7].

In 2014, the physiotherapeutic expertise was recognized by the Superior Labor Court (TST), in its publication on guidelines of the expert evidence in labor accident and occupational diseases [8]. Chapter 1, regarding the expert, in art. 1 says: "In matter of occupational accidents and diseases, judicial expert should be appointed to meet the legal and ethical-professional standards for analysis of the object of proof, such as physicians, psychologists, *physiotherapists*, among others, without loss to the appointment of more than one professional, even if it is not a complex skill, in the mold of art. 431-B of the Code of Civil Procedure."

2 Objective

Bring to society in general, the knowledge of technical and scientific aspects adopted in the Veronesi Method of Judicial Expertise for Physical Therapists.

3 Applied Methods

Methods used in this work were divided into: method procedures and work performed.

3.1 Procedures of the Veronesi Method for Judicial Expertise

The legal and judicial expertise of the Veronesi Method follows the scientific criteria, a current law, recommendations, and norms on a thematic.

The Veronesi Method works with three main fields of analysis: Establishment or not of the legal nexus, to evaluate and to quantify the functional capacity and analysis of the labor regulating norms fulfillment.

In labor judicial expertise, the Method starts the analysis following the recommended by Art. 5 of the TST Guidelines on Actions in Occupational Accidents and Occupational Diseases [8]: "The expert must find the correlation between the health condition and the functional incapacity, and observe if it is related to the Technical Epidemiological Social Security Nexus". From this presumption of nexus, the investigative process begins.

The Veronesi Method, in its protocol, strictly follows Article 473's second paragraph of the CPC [7]: "The expert is forbidden to exceed the limits of his designation, as well as to issue personal opinions that exceed the technical or scientific examination of the object. Therefore, the object of the skill is given according the court's designation where the entire expert's work concerns the object." Both the documentary analysis of the procedural records and the expert inspections, and on-site (in case of labor expertise), are made based on the object designated by the court.

It is important to emphasize that the Article 473' second paragraph of the CPC [7] brings a special and differential condition to the Physiotherapeutic Expertise, because by law, the physiotherapy professional cannot diagnose diseases, meaning he cannot discover injuries. Therefore, the expert analysis by the Veronesi Method analyzes only the object demanded by the court, thus contemplating, with all property, the CPC and collaborating for the judicial process to be more agile and just.

Still following the CPC's Art. 473 [7], the Veronesi Method uses in its expert inspection an analysis according to the demanded object, searching for the best tools and scientific instruments for such.

In order to make the analysis of the legal nexus (causal or concomitant cause), judicial expert reports, for labor justice, use as recommended by Art. 7 of the TST Guidelines on expert evidence, which initially performs on-site expert inspection in the company, analyzing the organization of the work [8].

For work organization analysis and legal nexus, the INSS's Normative Instruction 98/2003, which is the regulatory labor standards, is used as base for orientation and guidance [8]. In particular, NR 17 and its application manual, as directed in Art. 4 of the TST guidelines on expert evidence, which analyze the following criteria [8]: Nature of exposure, ergonomic risk of work activity, time and intensity of daily exposure, time and intensity of total exposure, physiomorphopathological characteristics of the disease, preventive methods adopted and incidence of the disease at the analyzed spot.

Complementing the legal norms for work organization analysis, the Veronesi Method also uses as reference: NBRs ISO 11226 [9], which deals with static posture and brings references about acceptable and non-acceptable angulations, NBR ISO 11228-1 [10], about lifting loads, ABNT ISO 11228-2 [11], which contains load bearing references with safety and ABNT ISO11228-3 [12] which guides the analysis of repetitive activity.

For the ergonomic risk analysis of the work activities developed by the individual, the Veronesi Method applies the following scientific tools [13]:

 The IVRE-ARMS: Veronesi Ergonomic Risk Index for Repetitive Activity of Upper Limbs, which analyzes ergonomic risk separately, within the organizational, cognitive, biomechanical aspects of the shoulder, elbow and wrist (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. IVRE-ARMS tool.

- The Ocra Index, which according to ANBT ISO 11228-3 is an instrument whose final index brings a risk classification and prediction of illness for repetitive activities of upper limbs [14].
- The NIOSH tool, oriented and recommended by ABNT ISO 11228-1 [10], establishes the recommended weight in the analyzed activity and compares it with the actual weight manipulated, thus providing a final index with a prediction of illness due to the task (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. NIOSH tool.

The HARSIM, (Humanoid Articulation Reaction Simulation) model consists of a humanoid computer representation with 38 segments, a full spine with 24 vertebrae, and upper and lower limbs with 8 and 6 segments, respectively. The developed model has

100 degrees of freedom, 72 for the spine, 12 for the lower limbs and 16 for the upper limbs. HARSIM can do the following functions Simulation of posture sand movements: the model allows the simulation of the main postures in an interaction with a product or workplace situation. Calculation of forces, strain and stress in each articulation joint [15], (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. HARSIM - humanoid articulation reaction simulation.

- The RULA, REBA and Strain Index (developed by Moore and Garg) tools, all recommended by NBR ISO 11228-3 [12], for upper limbs biomechanical risk analysis.
- The OWAS tool, also recommended by NBR ISO 11228-3 [12], for lumbar spine biomechanical risk analysis.
- For cargo transport analysis, is recommended by NBR ISO 11228-2 [11] the table developed by SNOOK AND CIRIELO (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Reference table on safe weight for loading.

For movement and work posture analysis, following the ABNT ISO 11226 [9] guidelines in detail, the Veronesi Method uses a photogrammetry resource, which using human movement analysis, through angular measurements, a computer program (Kinóvea) [16] creates a video analysis of the activity at different speeds. At specific moments in the analysis (guided by the Normative Instruction 98/2003 of INSS) the video is paused and the postures angulations required by the work are analyzed (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Kinóvea software illustration.

According to the first paragraph of Article 473 [7], "In the report, the expert must present his reasoning in simple language and with logical coherence, indicating how he reached his conclusions. The Veronesi Method uses a technical language of simple understanding with objectivity within each phase of the protocol, and has a textual logic leading all reasoning with coherence on report's conclusion".

In the event of a traffic accident, both for Civil Expertise and for DPVAT (Mandatory traffic insurance in Brazil), the Veronesi Method uses the SUSEP [17] (Superintendence of Private Insurance in Brazil) table. However, in labor investigations involving diseases, the method follows the third paragraph of Art. First, Circular number 029, December 20, 1991, about SUSEP table, that says: "SUSEP table must not be used in case of diseases included to the professionals because they are not included in the concept of personal accident". Therefore, it's applied the Veronesi Method's Functional Capacity Assessment Protocol for functional capacity evaluation and quantification.

According the TST Guidelines, article 12, on expert evidence, referring to the conclusion of functional capacity, "In the incapacity evaluation, the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) and other documents, national or international standards of recognized competence and technical scientific qualification may be used in conjunction, for this purpose, and the expert shall determine whether the disability is partial or total, permanent or provisional [8]."

The Protocol for the evaluation of functional capacity for judicial expertise, which was the doctoral thesis of Veronesi Method's author, contemplates what article 12 says, and was published in a World Congress of Ergonomics and at the Scientific Interface Magazine [4].

The protocol for functional capacity evaluation for judicial expertise was based on fundamental aspects to evaluate the functional capacity of the work within a philosophy of thought that concerns the worker's functionality, based on two instruments: the ICF - International Classification of Functionality and the Functionality Classification of Baremo. In addition to these two instruments, other data were used to analyze the functional capacity such as age, schooling, injured structures, diseases prognosis and functional tests, because they have to be applied for functional capacity analysis.

A protocol was made for upper limbs analysis and another for the lower limbs and spine, because the ICF variables were specific for each segment. The same was created

in a computerized system for better applicability and data management. It has 3 lists of analyzes: documentary list, practice list (these two lists are common for both protocols), and activity and participation list, which is specific for each protocol and has specific functionality elements for each segment of analysis related and oriented by the ICF.

The Veronesi Method, within its expert analysis, can verify whether the individual is simulating or not during the expert inspection, because it applies kinematics analysis elements associated to kinesiopathogeny knowledge, knowing the coherence of the facts. Here, by expert secrecy it is not possible to do more detail. For Veronesi (2014), convincing elements of the expert are test responses and observations made by the expert to analyze the reliability process of the movement's functional behavior, which would indicate a possible simulation condition created by the investigated individual [4].

3.2 Work Performed

The present research was carried out through a retrospective and cross - sectional study, where a hundred judicial trials were randomly selected by the Veronesi Method, already performed by the Electronic Judicial Process (PJE) system from 2014 to 2016.

It was analyzed the number of affected segments (diagnosed diseases) that sought to establish or not a nexus and, from these, how many were causal nexus, concomitant cause nexus and non-existence of nexus. Among these 100 skills analyzed, the 10 first and second instance decisions were randomly chosen to analyze the conclusions and relate them to the Method.

4 Results

All first and second court judgments based on the Veronesi Method were analyzed in the processes investigated here. In all cases, the judge of the first instance took a decision based on the expert's report. Regarding the cases that were appealed and went to the second instance, the labor courts, of the regional labor court, that analyzed the facts unanimously maintained and, in some cases, even praised the expert's report.

Of all the analyzed processes, when added the affected segments, 159 segments were found, or diseases diagnosed for the nexus establishment. Among these, 49 cases presented only 1 segment affected, 43 cases presented 2 segments, 7 cases with 3 segments, and 1 case with 4 segments affected with diseases.

Was found causal nexus in 71 cases (44.6%), 50 had concomitant cause nexus (31.4%) and 38 (24%) had no nexus. The average disability was 30%, and the highest disability was found in 3 cases of the 100 studied, representing 80%, of which 2 were of permanent disability and 1 of temporary disability.

In three of studied cases, the analyzed individual presented capacity preserved, which means 100% functional capacity, even if there was a causal or concomitant cause relationship.

In four cases where the individual had three diseases, we had three different conclusions: a causal nexus, a concomitant cause nexus, and a lack of nexus. In three cases, it was concluded that there was no nexus between diseases and work, where the defendant was not guilty in the process. The other findings of non-existence of nexus were in cases where the individual had more than one segment, in one of the cases that had three affected segments, two had no nexus, and one had concomitant cause nexus.

When the court judgments were analyzed, in one of them the defendant contested the Veronesi Method with the following argument: "The SUSEP table was not designed to measure incapacity due to illnesses but accidents instead." However, the Judge in his decision pronounced the following: "In addition, the TST has admitted the appointment of Physiotherapist for the accomplishment of expertise in matter of work accident and occupational diseases, being worth the expert of using the international classification of diseases and other documents National and international standards of recognized suitability and technical-scientific qualification for the collimated purposes. In this case, the expert made an analysis of the functional capacity based on the doctoral thesis itself, of recognized scientific value. In this process, the scientific recognition of the Veronesi Method in the quantification of functional capacity is evident".

In the verdict, in one of the expert cases conducted by the Veronesi Method, the judge concluded: "Thus, in view of the fundaments and findings reported by the expert, the judgment understands to accept them completely concerning the causal nexus characterization." The defendant filed an appeal and the Judgment of this case concluded: "I accept the expert opinion, because it was prepared by a qualified professional and trusted by the Court."

In another case, the Judgment says: "The expert appointed, in a detailed report, in which no defect is found, acknowledged that the claimant has injuries on the upper limbs ... The assumptions for civil liability of the employer are therefore present (Articles 186 and 927 of the Civil Code) [7]".

Contrary to the expert's conclusion, the defendant filed an appeal in the second instance, and the Judgment pronounced "Irresigned, it adds the defendant, in summary, that the expert's report is a partial and personal manifestation of the expert. In addition, the technical expertise of the social security authority did not recognize the causal nexus between pathologies and business activities, and that the expert report should be considered null and void, removing the causality nexus. But the T.R.T. concluded that the expert report presents high technical quality, it is meticulous and elucidative, and the defendant does not present the qualified element capable of belittling and failing the conclusions drawn by the expert."

In another case, the Judgment says: "The expert report analyzed in depth the working conditions in light of the regulatory norms issued by the Ministry of Labor and Employment. The expert report was conclusive in the sense that the claimant has permanent functional impairment in the order of 60% due to spinal problems."

In another case in which he went to the second instance, the Judgment says: "The investigation was conclusive in pointing out the existing relation of concomitant cause between the pathology that affects the worker and the activity performed at the claimed one and the intrinsic factors of the own victim. The expert testified that the functional disability is temporary and partial, in a mild degree, corresponding to 30%. The expert's report is clear, and there is no element in the file that demerits or contradicts the

conclusions made by the expert. Sufficiently proven the damage and the causal nexus with the activity performed".

The judgment of another case, states: "In a court of appeal, the defendant maintains that it is wrong to quantify the applicant's limitations by 80%, since it is impossible to apply the International Classification of Functions used by the expert, fighting for reduction of 30%, depending on the Susep /DPVAT table". The conclusion of the Regional Labor Court. Was: "The quantification of the limitations contained in the expert's report, based on the ICF, is not worth repairing. Currently the ICF is one of the instruments adopted by the World Health Organization as a reference for states of health, capacity and disability, alongside ICD-10. Therefore, no inconsistency is found in the application of the abovementioned technical-scientific criteria by the expert. Once again the court recognizes the technical-scientific criteria of the Veronesi Method for the evaluation and quantification of the functional capacity of the evaluated individual."

The judge in a trial pronounced the following decision: "I take the expert opinion, because it was produced by a qualified and trustworthy professional of the Judge, as well as because there is no evidence in the files capable of invalidating it." The defendant appealed and the Judgment concluded: "In these terms, I maintain the judgment that acknowledged the civil liability of the defendant for the occupational disease acquired by the claimant."

In another case, the judge in his sentence said: "Therefore, I accept the expert opinion regarding *non-existence of causality nexus*, since it is prepared by a qualified professional and trusted by the Court, as well as because there is no evidence in the records capable to inflict it. In this context, I *dismiss* the request for a declaration of the occurrence of occupational disease and the lawsuits for payment of compensation for moral and material damages."

In a judgment presented in a trial, where the defendant contested the amounts of the expert's fees, the decision was: "The defendant is incensed in the face of the sentence that fixed the value of the expert fees in R\$ 1,980.00. He maintains, in synthesis, that the accomplishment of the skill required simple equipment and little time of preparation, thus, it required its reduction to R\$ 800,00". Under analysis by the class of the regional labor court, the conclusion was the following: "The expertise was performed by specialized physical therapist. Considering the complexity and quality of the work presented by the expert, as well as the time required for its realization, I consider the value of the expert fees fixed at the origin as appropriate."

As evidenced in the first and second instance judicial decisions, the Veronesi Method brings a great technical-scientific consistency, giving support for the justice to fulfill its calling.

5 Discussion

When there is injury or damage to the individual, and this is the object of the grounds for claiming compensation as a consequence of the accident or labor disease, a technical investigation called judicial expertise is required [2]. The Veronesi Method seeks to adapt the established in the precepts of the Code of Civil Procedure's Articles for a technical and scientific investigation providing more results that are concrete.

After determining the existence of the disease in question, the main objectives in the exclusive investigations of LER/DORT are to clarify if the disease presented by the claimant (plaintiff) has nexus with the activities performed by him at the claimed (defendant in the action), that is, the establishment of the causal nexus and also the quantification of the residual functional capacity of the claimant [18].

According to the Aristotelian philosophical system, in the theory of causes, there are material cause, final cause, formal cause and efficient cause [19]. In cases of judicial expertise, the efficient cause is applied, where the cause or concomitant cause nexus can only be removed when the expert concludes that the work activity in no way stops the onset and/or anticipation of the health problem [20]. As illustrated in the present research, the establishment of the nexus separately with disease is important because it establishes an efficient cause between cause and damage separately in each segment. Where the same person can have three diseases in different segments, and for one segment has a cause nexus (the one claimed has total guilt), another has a concomitant cause nexus (the fault is partial) and for the other there is no nexus, no guilt, as occurred in 3 cases analyzed in this work.

Fernandes (2005), in his work already showed the importance of the functional capacity results for the judicial conclusion, since it refers to financial amounts [21]. In the study with the Veronesi Method of Functional Capacity Assessment, the control group, which evaluated the functional capacity in a conventional way, observationally and subjectively, presented a great variability in the results of the same expert cases done by different professionals (CVQ 33%). Meanwhile, the group studied, practically did not present this variability (CVQ 6%), showing that the protocol developed in this work is more solid and consistent in its results. The present study evidenced that the functional capacity average of the studied cases was 30%, following a scientific analysis criterion.

This makes possible the applicability of the impartiality and justice principle, currently recommended in Article 173 [7], second paragraph. It brings light on the applicability of civil liability to the employer when established the nexus, but in an impartial and fair way, where only in the segments that in fact the work had direct or indirect cause will be inferred the responsibility.

6 Final Considerations

The Veronesi Method uses analysis elements of the active simulation process, which, through kinematics, identifies when the individual is simulating or even exaggerating reactions when compared to characteristics of the disease he is carrying, a fundamental condition for the legal analysis process.

The professional improvement offered by the Veronesi Method has a philosophy of continuous and evolutionary learning process, where the students are trained to search for knowledge based on ethics and technical scientific foundation.
Taking into account what is stated in Code of Civil Procedure, Article 173 [7], which clearly recommends that the expert must indicate the method used for the technical and scientific analysis of the object of the expertise demanded by justice, with a simple language and logical coherence.

The Veronesi Method of Judicial Expertise has clearly demonstrated its adequacy to the Code of Civil Procedure Articles, associated with modern scientific analysis techniques, recommended by NBR ISO, NR 17 [22] and its application manual, TST guide-lines on expert evidence, Normative Instruction 98 of 2003 of INSS [8] and a protocol of functional capacity evaluation scientifically valid [3, 4], thus demonstrating itself as an instrument of great scientific rigor to assist justice in the decision process and to be more just.

Thereby, the Veronesi Method is an important technical scientific instrument to be used by judicial experts for an expert report with solid and grounded conclusions, thus assisting the judgment in a more just and reasoned decision with great structuring considering contestation cases where judge's decision, when based on the expert's report, has more chance of recognition by the second instance. This can be inferred considering that, in all cases where the Veronesi Method was applied, the first instance judge decided based on the expert report. As for the appealed cases that went to second instance, the regional labor court classes that analyzed the facts, unanimously maintained and, in some of them, praised the expert report, as illustrated in the results of this research.

To conclude, a reflection by Marinoni (2000), the search should always be for fairness, effective justice, not forgetting that there is no risk-free effectiveness, and that "the judge who omits himself is as harmful as the judge who misjudge [23]."

References

- 1. Popper, K.R.: Lógica da pesquisa científica. EDUSP, São Paulo (1985.X)
- Veronesi Jr., J.R.: Perícia Judicial para Fisioterapeutas: Perícia Técnica Cinesiológica Funcional; Assistência Técnica Judicial; Modelos e Legislações. Editora Andreoli, São Paulo (2013)
- Veronesi Jr., J.R.: Functional capacity of the worker. Validation protocol for judicial expertise. In: The Conference Mundial of the Ergonomic, Apllied Ergonomic, 17, Orlando, Florida. Anais... Orlando, Florida, EUA (2014)
- 4. Veronesi Jr., J.R.: Capacidade funcional para o trabalho: importante instrumento de decisão para a justiça do trabalho. Rev. Interfaces Científica Direito **2**(3), 23–31 (2014)
- Veronesi Jr., J.R.: Testes Ortopédicos Funcionais para Fisioterapia. Editora Andreoli, São Paulo-SP (2012)
- 6. Veronesi Jr., J.R., et al.: Veronesi index of ergonomic risk for repetitive of members upper limbs. Proc. Manuf. **3**, 4456–4463 (2015). www.sciencedirect.com
- Brasil. LEI Nº 13.105, DE 16 DE MARÇO DE 2015: Dispõe sobre a atualização do Código de Processo Civil (2015)
- 8. http://www.tst.jus.br/documents/1199940/0/DIRETRIZES+SOBRE+PROVA+PERICIAL +EM+ACIDENTES+E+DOENÇAS+OCUPACIONAIS.pdf
- 9. ABNT NBR ISO 11226 Postura Estática (2013)
- 10. ISO 11228-1, Ergonomics manual handling Part 1: Lifting and carrying (2003)

- 11. ISO 11228-2, Ergonomics manual handling Part 2: Pushing and pulling (2007)
- 12. ISO 11228-3, Ergonomics manual handling Part 3: Handling of low loads at high frequency (2007)
- 13. Veronesi Jr., J.R.: IVRE-ARMS: Índice Veronesi de Risco Ergonômico para Atividades Repetitivas de Membros Superiores. Editora Andreoli, São Paulo (2016)
- Occhipinti, E., Colombini, D.: The OCRA method: updating of reference values and prediction models of occurrence of work-related musculo-skeletal diseases of the upper limbs (UL-WMSDs) in working populations exposed to repetitive movements and exertions of the upper limbs. Med. Lav. 95(4), 305–319 (2004). Italian PubMed PMID: 15532963
- Rebelo, F., et al.: A whole body postural loading simulation and assessment model for workplace analysis and design. Int. J. Occup. Saf. Ergon. (JOSE) 18(4), 509–519 (2012)
- 16. http://www.kinovea.org. Accessed 2 Mar 2017
- 17. http://www.susep.gov.br. Accessed 2 Mar 2017
- Bernardes, J.M., Veronesi Jr., J.R.: A atuação do fisioterapeuta nas perícias judiciais de LER/ DORT. Fisioter. Bras. 12(3) (2011)
- Almeida-Filho, N., Coutinho, D.: Causalidade, Contingência, Complexidade: o Futuro do Conceito de Risco. Phys. Rev. Saúde Coletiva 17(1), 95–137 (2007)
- Silva, J.A.R.O., Sardá, S.E.: Perícias Judiciais multiprofissionais e a lei do ato medico por uma interpretação que leve em conta a unidade do sistema e a efetividade da prestação jurisdictional. Rev. LTr. 78-02/162 (2014)
- Fernandes, F.C., Cherem, A.J.: Dano corporal e mensuração da incapacidade. Rev. Bras. Med. Trab. 3(2), 123–134 (2005)
- 22. https://normasregulamentadoras.wordpress.com/2008/06/06/nr-17/. Accessed 2 Mar 2017
- Marinoni, L.G.: Novas linhas do processo civil. 4. ed., rev. e ampli. Malheiros, São Paulo, p. 124 (2000)

Total Force of Pinch and Grasp by Hand Postures

Kyung-Sun Lee¹ and Myung-Chul Jung²⁽⁾

¹ Suncheon Jeil College, Suncheon 57997, South Korea Kyungsunlee81@gmail.com ² Ajou University, Suwon 16499, South Korea mcjung@ajou.ac.kr

Abstract. The aim of this study was to measure the total force of pinch and grasp by various hand postures of pinching with two fingers (2P), three fingers (3P), four fingers (4P), and five fingers (5P), and power grip (5G). Male graduate and undergraduate students participated in the experiment. The pinch and grasp forces were measured using a pressure measurement system with a pad. The pad of the body pressure measurement system was attached to the object using double-sided tape. The participants picked up the objects using the hand posture required by the experimenter. The participants were asked to lift the object to approximately shoulder height and maintain the posture for 3 s. The results of ANOVA applied to the total forces on the thumb, index, middle, ring, and little finger, which indicated that the main effects of the hand posture (p < 0.0001). The total force on the index finger decreased as the number of fingers used increased, except for the 5G hand posture. In conclusion, the hand posture difference was also evident in the distribution of the individual finger force.

Keywords: Total force · External force · Pinch and grasp · Hand postures

1 Introduction

The human hand is one of the most flexible organs of the other body parts. Thus, human hand is the most useful in various tasks. These various tasks are used for purposes such as manipulating devices, picking up objects, pointing, climbing, playing musical instrument, drawing, and sculpting. Since the human hand is highly utilized, the physical load is increased in various fields. The physical load on the hand has typically been evaluated using biomechanical methodology. Biomechanical analysis of the human hand can be divided into kinematics, kinetics, anthropometry, and electromyography (EMG). Previous studies of biomechanical aspects reported that the hand postures [1].

In kinetics methods, to measure the grip force is very commonly and simply used in physical load. Force data (external force) is used for hand biomechanics models development. Thus, many researchers in various fields are attempting to assess the physical loads and develop the hand model of various hand postures. The most common method for measuring the grip force involves the use of bars separated by force gauge, such as a dynamometer and custom made measurement devices [2–4]. In addition, the grip force

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_23

is measured in various methods. However, in previous studies are not measures the grip force of the various hand postures.

Thus, the aim of this study was to measure the total force of pinch and grasp by various hand postures of pinching with two fingers (2P), three fingers (3P), four fingers (4P), and five fingers (5P), and power grip (5G).

2 Methods

2.1 Participants

Ten male students participated in the experiment. All the participants were right-handed and had no history of illnesses or injuries in their extremities in the last 1 year. All of them provided informed consent before participation in accordance with the University Institutional Review Board's requirements. The averages (standard deviations) of their age, height, and weight were 23.3 (SD 5.2) years, 173.0 (SD 5.0) cm, and 64.2 (SD 23.0) kg, respectively. The average (standard deviations) of their right hand length, circumference, and breadth were 18.3 (SD 1.4) cm, 18.8 (SD 1.5) cm, and 9.4 (SD 0.9) cm, respectively. Table 1 shows their basic anthropometric information.

Participant	Age (year)	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	Hand length (cm)	Hand circumference (cm)	Hand breadth (cm)
1	20	167.0	56.0	17.4	17.7	9.6
2	20	170.0	98.0	18.2	18.8	9.6
3	26	167.0	65.0	15.4	19.5	9.3
4	21	175.0	61.0	18.5	15.3	7.8
5	20	171.	62.3	17.4	19.1	10.0
6	32	180.0	85.0	19.7	19.9	8.3
7	20	178.0	100.0	18.8	19.5	10.2
8	33	180.0	100.0	19.9	20.6	10.1
9	21	170.0	65.0	18.0	17.6	8.8
10	20	175.0	70.1	20.0	19.7	10.4

Table 1. Basic anthropometric data of participants

2.2 Apparatus

The pinch and grasp forces were measured using a body pressure measurement system (Novel.de Inc., Germany) with a pad (No. S2085, Elasticsens ES-256-108/432-135). The pad was $108 \times 432 \text{ mm}^2$ in area and had a total of $256 (8 \times 32)$ sensors. The typical pressure was measured in the range of 5~600 kPa, with a sampling rate of 50 Hz. All the data were acquired on a laptop computer with a 16-bit analog-to-digital converter. Each sensor was divided using colored tape and numbered tape to confirm the contact area during grasping (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Pressure pad

A table made of wood and aluminum framing material was used. The table height followed the recommended standing work surface height for light assembly work tasks. The objects used were four cylinders and rectangles made of acrylic panels with sizes of 6 cm.

2.3 Procedures

The participant stood in front of the table. The participant's initial position was standing naturally at attention at the table. The objects were placed in the center of the table in line with the participant's sagittal plane; the participant's midline was aligned with the center of the object. The participants picked up the objects using the hand posture required by the experimenter. The participants were asked to lift the object to approximately shoulder height and maintain this posture for 3 s. Each participant performed only one trial for each experimental condition.

2.4 Data Collection and Experiment Design

All the experimental conditions were recorded using four video cameras to confirm the contact area in the pressure pad during grasping and pinching. The total forces on individual fingers were obtained after checking the cell number (contact area) from the recorded films. For the total force data, only the data from the middle 1 s of the entire measurement time (3 s) were used.

For the pinch hand postures, only the fingertip forces of individual fingers were collected. For the grasp hand posture, fifteen contact forces were collected: the fingertip force; contact force of the distal phalanges; contact force of the middle phalanges; contact force of the proximal phalanges for the index, middle, ring, and little fingers; the contact force of the proximal phalange; contact force of the metacarpal; and the contact force of the CMC (carpal metacarpal) for the thumb.

SAS 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc.) was used to perform analyses of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's studentized range test at a significance level of 0.05 for each dependent variable.

3 Results

The main effects of the hand posture (p < 0.0001) on the total forces on all the fingers were statistically significant. For all the participants, the total external forces by hand posture ranged from 11.87 N to 25.02 N. The highest external force appeared when participants held objects using the 5G hand posture (24.93%), followed by 5P (16.92%), 4P (15.24%), 3P (12.99%), and 2P (11.87%). The external force on the thumb increased as the number of fingers used increased. However, the external force on the index finger decreased as the number of fingers used increased, except for the 5G hand posture (Table 2).

Finger	2P	3P	4P	5P	5G
Thumb	6.05	5.58	6.53	6.42	4.85
Index finger	5.82	3.70	3.05	3.13	5.44
Middle finger	_	3.71	3.25	3.14	5.59
Ring finger	-	_	2.41	2.54	4.79
Little finger	_	_	_	1.69	4.35
Total	11.87 ^A	12.99 ^B	15.24 ^C	16.92 ^D	25.02 ^E

Table 2. Pinch and grasp force on each finger and total force by hand posture

*Alphabetic letters represent statistically significant groupings

The participants showed high external forces on the thumb for the 4P and 5P hand posture followed by 2P and 3P. The external forces decreased as the number of fingers used increased. The 2P hand posture showed the highest external force, followed by 3P, 4P and 5P. The external force on the middle finger was largest when participants held the object using the 3P hand posture followed by 4P and 5P. Overall, the external force on the middle fingers used increased. For all the participants, the external force on the ring finger for the 4P, 5P and 5G hand postures range from 1.38 to 2.54 N. The external force on the little finger was largest when participants held the object using the 5G hand posture.

Table 3 represents the contribution of individual fingers to the hand posture. The thumb made the largest contribution when participants held objects in all the hand posture, followed by the middle, index, ring, and little finger.

2P	3P	4P	5P	5G
50.97	42.96	42.85	37.94	19.38
49.03	28.48	20.01	18.50	21.74
	28.56	21.33	18.56	22.34
		15.81	15.01	19.14
			9.99	17.39
100	100	100	100	100
	2P 50.97 49.03	2P 3P 50.97 42.96 49.03 28.48 28.56 100 100	2P 3P 4P 50.97 42.96 42.85 49.03 28.48 20.01 28.56 21.33 15.81 15.81 100 100 100	2P 3P 4P 5P 50.97 42.96 42.85 37.94 49.03 28.48 20.01 18.50 28.56 21.33 18.56 15.81 15.01 9.99 100 100 100

Table 3. Pinch and grasp force on each finger and total force by hand posture

4 Discussion

The hand postures were more important for the external forces on the thumb and fingers. The participants produced force evenly in all the fingers when they held objects using the 5G hand posture. Because the 5G hand posture yields a larger contact area with the object surface, the larger contact area therefore may facilitate a more precise force control capacity [5].

The thumb made the largest contribution when participants held objects in all the hand postures, followed by the middle, index, ring, and little fingers. The thumb produces the equilibrating forces on the opposite side of the object. In addition, the force produced by individual fingers decreased as the number of fingers used increased. In addition, the force produced by individual fingers decreased as the number of fingers used increased. In conclusion, the hand posture difference was also evident in the distribution of the individual finger force. That is, when an object was held without the little finger, the little finger's proportion of the force was distributed among the other finger.

Acknowledgments. This research was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) grant funded by the Korea government (MEST) (NRF-2015R1C1A1A01055231). This research was supported by Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Education (No. NRF-2016R1D1A 1B03934542).

References

- Cho, E.Y.S., An, K.N., Cooney, W.P., Linscheid, R.L.: Biomechanics of the Hand: A Basic Research Study. World Scientific Publishing, Hackensack (1989)
- Härkönen, R., Piirtomaa, M., Alaranta, H.: Grip strength and hand position of the dynamometer in 204 finnish adults. J. Hand Surg. (Br.) 18, 129–132 (1993)
- Imrhan, S.N., Loo, C.H.: Modelling wrist-twisting strength of the elderly. Ergonomics 31, 1807–1819 (1988)
- 4. Blackwell, J.R., Kornatz, K.W., Heath, E.M.: Effect of grip span on maximal grip force and fatigue of flexor digitorum superficialis. Appl. Ergon. **30**, 401–405 (1999)
- 5. Mackenzi, C.L., Iberall, T.: The Grasping Hand. Elsevier B.V, Amsterdam (1994)

Investigation of Musculoskeletal Symptoms and Associated Risk Factors in the HORECA Sector

Rute Alves¹, Rui B. Melo^{1,2}, and Filipa Carvalho^{1,2(\Box)}

¹ Laboratório de Ergonomia, Faculdade de Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Lisboa, Estrada da Costa, 1499-002 Cruz Quebrada, Portugal rutediasalves@gmail.com, {rmelo,fcarvalho}@fmh.ulisboa.pt
² CIAUD (Centro de Investigação em Arquitetura, Urbanismo e Design), Faculdade de Arquitetura, Universidade de Lisboa, Rua Sá Nogueira, 1349-055 Lisbon, Portugal

Abstract. This cross-sectional study aimed to identify the prevalence of musculoskeletal symptoms and quantify the associated risk of MSDs development among workers in two sections of a Portuguese enterprise integrated in the HORECA sector. Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA) was the method used to quantify the risk associated to MSDs development. The Chi-square test and Cramer's V coefficient were used to assess associations between variables (demographic/work-related characteristics) and the prevalence of complaints (in each body region assessed) or the pain level of the working situation. Considering the RULA results, the risk for the development of MSDs is present in all tasks and in both assessed sections suggesting that investigation and adjustments in the work situation are relevant. In general, there were no statistically significant associations between variables (demographic/work-related characteristics) and the prevalence of complains (in each body region assessed) or the pain level of the work is suggesting that investigation and adjustments in the work situation are relevant. In general, there were no statistically significant associations between variables (demographic/work-related characteristics) and the prevalence of complains (in each body region assessed) or the pain level of the working situation.

Keywords: Risk assessment \cdot Musculoskeletal Disorders (MSDs) \cdot RULA \cdot HORECA sector

1 Introduction

The hotel, restaurant and catering (HORECA) sector is a major part of the European economy. It is an important job creator both in the service sector in many EU Member States [1, 2]. According with the same sources, the HORECA sector, in 2004 provided jobs for nearly 7.8 million people, which represent 4% of the total employment in the EU-25. These numbers highlight the importance of the sector in the economy as a whole, considering that the employment growth rate in 2003/04 was 3.4% higher than in the overall EU economy [1].

Workers in the HORECA sector may experience fatigue and discomfort when performing highly repetitive tasks, working in repeated or sustained awkward postures, performing heavy physical work, and using forceful exertion. Continued work under these conditions may result in chronic injuries to muscles, tendons, ligaments, nerves, and blood vessels, which are known as work-related Musculoskeletal Disorders (WMSDs) [3]. In other words, WMSDs are pain disorders of muscles, bones, nerves, tendons and other soft tissues due to workplace activity. WMSDs are responsible for morbidity in many working populations and are known to cause significant occupational problems with increasing compensation and health costs, reduced productivity, and lower quality of life [4].

Nowadays, WMSDs are a major occupational health issue in both industrialized and industrially developing countries and present a considerable socio-economic impact (as a result of the high cost to the injured worker, his or her family, employers, and society to a large extent) causing suffer, and often leading to permanent disability [5, 6]. Already considered the main occupational disease, WMSDs are affecting over 1/3 of the workers in Europe, which represent millions of people and consequently cost employers billions of euros [7]. Although the number of WMSDs is lower than in the rest of the economy sector (14.7 against 23.9 cases per 100 000 workers) in 2003; they represent 50% of the diseases in HORECA sector [1].

WMSDs are considered to be multifactorial and due to interactions between various risk factors, which result in conditions that vary across different occupations [7–9]. In the HORECA sector, WMSDs are associated with physical as well as psychosocial/ organizational risk factors.

Considering the 3rd European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS), the physical workload is high: almost 55% of the EU-15 workers reported that their job involved pain or tiring positions, compared to 45% across all sectors; 43% said their job involved carrying or moving heavy loads (compared to 36% in total) and 64% reported repetitive hand or arm movements (compared to 56% overall) [10].

Consequently, MSDs are widespread in the HORECA sector [11]: $\approx 33\%$ of the EU-15 workers report being affected by backache; around 20.3% report muscular pain in the neck, $\approx 11.5\%$ in upper limbs and 17.6% in lower limbs. The same source reports that in the accession and candidate countries, 34% of HORECA workers report backache and the muscular pain in lower limbs is more common in the HORECA sector than elsewhere.

The high risk to develop WMSDs among HORECA workers could be explained by:

- prolonged standing and working in awkward postures;
- the work is physically demanding, stressful and involves long working hours.

Therefore, there are a number of risk factors that may contribute to the development of WMSDs. The most important physical ones are concerned with the postures adopted, the force levels exerted, the rates of repetition required and working for long periods without a break. As known, WMSDs may occur if any of these risk factors, either alone or in combination, overload the musculoskeletal system.

This cross-sectional study was conducted in two sections of a Portuguese enterprise integrated in the HORECA sector. The aim of this cross section study was:

• To determine Musculoskeletal Disorders (MSDs) prevalence among workers using a modified version of the Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire (NMQ);

- To assess the level of ergonomic workplace risk factors by using the Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA);
- To investigate the relationship between MSDs (in terms of the presence of complains, such as symptoms of pain or discomfort) and socio-demographic characteristics, job characteristics, and the pain level of the working situation.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Stages of the Study

This study comprised three fundamental stages, which are related with the 3 objectives of the study: Characterization of the Work Situations with focus in the prevalence of complaints (annoyance, discomfort and pain); MSDs risk characterization and Investigation of the relationship between MSDs and the risk factors assessed.

Characterization of Work Situations included characterization of both the operators and the two sections of a Portuguese enterprise integrated in the HORECA sector and task analysis, e.g., task identification and characterization. At the end, the prevalence of complains in terms of annoyance, discomfort and pain was assessed based in a self-reported symptoms questionnaire organized by body regions.

MSDs risk characterization included the application of Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA) to find if the risk for the development of MSDs was present in the tasks or Sections assessed.

Investigation of the association between MSDs and the others variables assessed tried to find if they could be related.

2.2 Work Situation

This cross-sectional study was conducted in two section (Section I and Section II) of a Portuguese enterprise, which was located in Grand Lisbon area.

Section I is placed in COPA, the name used in Portugal to the dishwashing zone. It included the cleaning of the thick crockery (pots and pans,...) and the fine crockery (cutlery, plates,...).

Section II is placed in the Bistro Zone - the term used to described a restaurant/pub with small dimensions. It included customer service, replenishment of products on line and fast-food preparation.

A total of 51 employees work in these two sections, where 60% of the workers are females. In terms of age, these workers had an average of 33 years old (20–57 years) in section I and 26 years old (18–34 years) in section II, which is in accordance with the main characteristics' of the population in this economic sector. Considering the seniority, the average is 5 and 3 years old, respectively. In terms of work organization, these two sections work between 10:00 and 24:00 (Section I) and between 8:30 and 24:00 (section II) and the workers could have a work contract with 16/20/25/40 h per week. We identified a total of 10 sub-tasks in Section I and 14 sub-tasks in sections II to apply the RULA method. At the end, the results obtained were integrated as global Section results (by each section, respectively).

The work tasks performed within these two sections involve, as is usual in the HORECA Sector, prolonged standing and working in awkward postures, physical work demands, which involve stressful and sometimes long working hours. When the work environment was evaluated, awkward workstation design was sometimes observed, which could be responsible for the postures adopted.

2.3 Participants

Only 28 out of the 51 workers accepted to collaborate in the study. Out of these workers 57% (N = 16) integrate section I, 42% (N = 12) integrate section II and 70% (N = 20) were females. However, in section I there were much more females (81%) than males (17%) while in section II the proportion was more balanced (58% - female, 42% - male). Only three workers (who work in section I) had more than 35 years, which means that the population is young as is usual in this economic sector.

2.4 Data Collection

In this study, the data were obtained by direct and retrospective observation and with a questionnaire specifically developed for this purpose. For dimensional characterization of the workstations, several dimensions of the work surface and of the equipment were collected resorting to a measuring tape. Image and video recording of working postures resorted to a digital video recorder camera with 4 megapixel and 1920 \times 1080 HD resolution - Sony HD ACHO Full HD1080 handycam 4.0.

The questionnaire was based on the Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire and integrate the adaptation made by Serranheira et al. [9] and information provided by the company. The questionnaire was applied to identify key parameters for the workers' characterization, evaluate their perception of the real working conditions, as well as to identify self-reported symptoms of annoyance, discomfort and physical pain. The questionnaire has five sections. On the first section were integrated items to better characterize workers' gender, age, anthropometric data (height, weight, body mass index (BMI) ...) dominant upper limb, and data that characterize the relationship with the organization (number of work hours worked per day/week, schedule type, practice of work breaks and second job,...). On the second section were integrated items to better characterize the workers' health, sport and physical activities, smoking habits, and presence of chronic illnesses. On the third section were integrated items to assess the workers' perception related to the task/subtask accomplished. For this purpose a Likert scale with 4 levels (where 1 means very low discomfort and 4 means unbearable discomfort) was used to assess the level of discomfort associate with each subtask, in each section. On the fourth section were integrated items to determine the presence of musculoskeletal symptoms, the respective frequency and intensity of pain. For these last two variables a four-level Likert scale was used (where, 1 means 1X per year/low intensity and 4 means more than 6X per year/very high intensity). Subjects were asked to answer about the musculoskeletal symptoms (annoyance, discomfort and physical pain) they had over the last 12 months and the last 7 days. Additionaly they were

invited to mark them on the body discomfort chart and identify if they were prevented from carrying out the usual daily work (a 5-level Likert scale was used, where 1 means 0 (zero) days and 5 means all days). Symptoms of pain or discomfort were recorded as presence of pain. The last section integrate an open question where workers were invited to suggest changes to optimize their workplace.

To participate in this study a verbal consent form the operators involved was previously obtained. Workers filled in the 1st section of the questionnaire individually whereas the other sections were applied as an interview. In all cases, the confidentiality of data was guaranteed.

To quantify the risk associated to MSDs development the Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA) method was used. As a criteria to select this method we considered [12]:

- It is a validated tool that assesses biomechanical and postural loading on the upper limb musculoskeletal system which is known to contribute to MSDs;
- It provides a method of screening a working population quickly for exposure to a likely risk of work-related upper limb disorders.

A complete description of the RULA method can be found in articles written by McAtamney and Corlett [13, 14].

In terms of methodology, RULA was applied considering the observation of frame-by-frame in each sub-task assessed. Each task was recorded during 10 min approximately. We opted by the assessment frame-by-frame considering the short length of the work-cycle duration, the high frequency of gestures and the rapid alternation between tasks as well. The right upper limb was the main limb assessed.

Due to time constraints, it was not possible to observe and to assess all the operators. Consequently, the selection of the operators was random and it depended on the operator that was in the shift in which the record/observation was being performed. Some operators were analysed during various tasks and others have never been analysed. For this reason, associations between the MSDs symptoms reported and RULA scores obtained could not be made.

Due to problems with some video records, it was not possible to assess all the tasks with RULA method.

2.5 Data Analysis

Data processing was performed with the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences $(SPSS^{\odot})$ (version 22).

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the socio-demographic data, job characteristics, the prevalence of complains and, the risk of MSDs development considering the RULA scores for the various body regions involved in each subtask assessed. Considering both, the sample dimension and the absence of differences, we decided to present the results for the whole sample instead of doing it by sections.

The Chi-square test and Cramer's V coefficient were used to assess associations between variables (socio-demographic/job characteristics) and the prevalence of complains (MSDs Symptoms) or the pain level of the working situation. In all cases, a significance level of 0.05 was adopted as a criterion to reject the null hypothesis. The Cramer's V interpretation adopted the following assumptions: 0-0.30, no association/to weak association; 0.31-0.70 a moderate association and 0.71-1.0 a strong association. Firstly, the association test was made for each work Section. Considering that no statistical significant association was found we opted to make all the others association tests for the globality of the sample (N = 28).

Table 1 shows the variables considered for the association tests. For associations between variables (demographic/work-related characteristics) and the pain level of the working situation the variable associated with pain (Global Pain Level (GPL)) was not considered.

 Table 1.
 Variables (Socio-demographic and Work-related characteristics) used in the association Tests.

Socio-demographic	Work-related characteristics
• Gender (F/M)	• Work section (Section I/Section II)
• Age: [18–24], [25–34], [35–44], [45–54], ≥ 55	• Type of schedule (Fixed/Rotating)
• Seniority: $[1-3]$, $[4-6]$, $[7-9]$, ≥ 10	• Work breaks (Yes/No)
• BMI: <18,5; 18,5–24,9; 25–29,9; >30	• Weekly working time (h)
Smoking (Yes/No)	(16 h, 20 h, 25 h, 40 h)
• Regularly exercise (Yes/No)	• Global Pain level (GPL)
• Medical history of systemic illness (Yes/No)	(Low, Moderate, High, Very High)
• 2nd job (Yes/No)	

The BMI variable was calculated considering weight (kg) and height (m) obtained from the workers.

The GLP variable was calculated considering the perception that worker had related to the task/subtask accomplished. This variable was defined considering the number of subtasks assessed in each Sect. (10 in section I and 14 in section II) and the level of discomfort associated with each subtask. Therefore, in Section I the values could variate between 10 ($10 tasks \times 1$) and 40 ($10 tasks \times 4$) and in Section II the values could variate between 14 ($14 tasks \times 1$)) and 56 (($14 tasks \times 4$)). Table 2 shows the criteria used.

Table 2. Global pain level by section.

Section	Global Pain level						
	1-Low	2-Moderate	3-High	4-Very high			
Ι	10-17	18–25	26–33	34-40			
Π	14–24	25-35	36-46	47–56			

The Action Level 2 of RULA method, which represents the final Grand Score RULA (GSR) equal to Score 3 or 4, was considered the level for which a high level of MSDs development is present. Scores A and B, available with RULA application, were highlighted. The first one assesses the biomechanical load considering how much the upper limbs (the upper arm, lower arm, wrist and wrist twist) are involved in doing the task and the second one assesses the biomechanical load considering the use of neck, trunk and legs. In all cases, we tried to understand the main reasons for obtaining such results considering the working postures and the working conditions involved (the frequency, the loads held and the amplitude of movements made).

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Demographic Data and Job's Characteristics

In Table 3 it is possible to find the demographic details of the study participants and respective job characteristics.

Independent variables (n)	MSDs symptoms		Statistics	Significant
	No	Yes		
	(n = 4)%	(n = 24)%		
Sector				
I (16)	12.5	87.5	$\chi^2 = .097, df = 1$	p > 0.05
II (12)	16.7	83.3		
Gender				
F (20)	10	90	$\chi^2 = 1.05, df = 1$	p > 0.05
M (8)	25	75		
Age (years)				
[18-24] (10)	20	80	$\chi^2 = 1.113, df = 3$	p > 0.05
[25-34] (13)	15.4	84.6		
[35–44] (3)	0	100		
[45–54] (2)	0	100		
Body mass index				
Normal weight (22)	9.1	90.9	$\chi^2 = 2.263, df = 1$	p > 0.05
Overweight (6)	33.3	66.7		
Medical history of chronic	c illnesses			
No (21)	19	81	$\chi^2 = 1.556, df = 1$	p > 0.05
Yes (7)	0	100		
Regular sport/physical ac	tivity			
No (18)	16.7	83.3	$\chi^2 = .233, df = 1$	p > 0.05
Yes (10)	10	90		
Cigarette smoking				
No (19)	21.1	78.9	$\chi^2 = 2.211, df = 1$	p > 0.05
Yes (9)	0	100		

Table 3. Socio-demographic and job characteristics, and their association to musculoskeletal symptoms (N = 28).

(continued)

Independent variables (n)	MSDs symptoms		Statistics	Significant
	No	Yes		
	(n = 4)%	(n = 24)%		
2nd job				
No (26)	11.5	88.5	$\chi^2 = 2.244, df = 1$	p > 0.05
Yes (2)	50	50		
Seniority(years)				
[1-3] (21)	14.3	85.7	$\chi^2 = 7.000, df = 3$	p > 0.05
[4-6] (2)	0	100		
[7–9] (1)	100	0		
≥ 10 (4)	0	100		
Type of schedule				
Fixed (14)	28.6	71.4	$\chi^2 = 4.667, df = 1$	p > 0.05
Rotated (14)	0	100		
Work breaks habits				
No (15)	13.3	86.7	$\chi^2 = .024, df = 1$	p > 0.05
Yes (13)	15.4	84.6		
Weekly working time (h)				
16 h (5)	20	80	$\chi^2 = .321, df = 3$	p > 0.05
20 h (14)	14.3	85.7		
25 h (1)	0	100		
40 h (8)	12.5	87.5		
Global Pain Level				
Low (17)	11.8	88.2	$\chi^2 = .522, df = 2$	p > 0.05
Moderate (10)	20	80		
High (1)	0	100		

 Table 3. (continued)

Considering the socio-demographic data the age of participants ranged from 21 to 48 years (mean = 29 years; SD = 7.96 years). In general, the participants had:

- an average weight of 64.7 kg (SD = 11.5 kg; range = 46-94 kg);
- an average height of 168.3 cm (SD = 9 cm; range = 156–193 cm);
- an average BMI of 22.7 kg/m² (SD = 2.5 kg/m², range = 18.9 e 28.4 kg/m²) where, 79% (22) of the operators have a Normal weight and 21% (6) have an Overweight.

Sixty-four percent of the operators reported that they were not involved in regular physical activities or sports. Those who practice physical activities regularly, were mainly males and the activities involved were: gym, walking, riding a bike, football, boxing, swimming and running.

Nearly one-third of the participants (32%) had smoking habits. It was also determined that 25% of them had a chronic health problem (70% of which worked in section II).

In terms of Seniority, the operators worked in their current job for 3 months to 10 years (mean = 3 years; SD = 3.48 years). This means that, 75% of the workers have

 \leq 3 years' experience which is in accordance with the sector HORECA characteristics' where a high turnover level is usual.

Ninety-three percent of the operators reported not having a second job.

Considering the job characteristics, the average weekly working hours were 25.18 h (SD = 9.73; range = 16–40 h). Despite these results, 50% of the workers were working 20 h/week. In terms of work breaks, 46% of the participants take it on a regular base.

3.2 The Prevalence of Musculoskeletal Symptoms

The body region with the highest percentage of complains was the lower back (57.1%), followed by shoulders (35.7%), wrists (32.1%) and neck (29%) (Fig. 1a). It is possible to highlight that, in spite of a low percentage of complaints, the intensity, in the majority of the situations, ranged between moderate and very high (Fig. 1b). 75% of the complaints registered on the neck were found in section I. These results could be explained by the postures adopted where a continuous flexion of the neck was observed. The wrist was the only region with high intensity complaints, which could be explained by the repetitiveness of the movements associated with the tasks performed, in both sections. Nearly 50% of the complaints occurred 4–6 times/year in the majority of the regions assessed. The results also showed that the majority of the participants had not experienced MSDs over the last 7 days. Despite of these results, the pain level associated to their working situation was assessed between low (60.7%) and moderate (35.7%).

3.3 RULA Scores

Considering the RULA results, the risk for the development of MSDs is present in all tasks and in both assessed sections (GSR ≥ 3). These results suggest that investigation and adjustments in the work situation are relevant. Tables 4, 5 show the percentages of frames assessed with each RULA score for each sections, respectively.

For the majority of the tasks, the upper arms score, was ≥ 3 in sections I and II, with 64% and 73% of the cases, respectively. A result that was characterized by the upper arms being flexed between 45° and 90°, sometimes with a slight abduction or with a flexion higher than 90°. The lower arms' score, for the majority of tasks was ≥ 2 in sections I and II, with 64% and 90.5% of the cases, respectively, which reflect the need for operators to extend their arms across the midline of the body with elbow flexion above 100°. The wrist score, for the majority of tasks in section I, was ≥ 3 (76.6%) and, in Section II was generally equal to 2 (99.4%). These results reflect that in Section I the wrists were in $\geq 15^{\circ}$ extension (sagittal plane) and sometimes with a radial or ulnar deviation. However, the wrists were in slight flexion/extension ($\leq 15^{\circ}$), in section II.

The neck and trunk scores ≥ 3 for the majority of tasks also indicate a high proportion of neck and trunk flexion, more than 20° to the front and sometimes twisted or with a side bending.



Fig. 1. (a) MSDs Symptoms (prevalence of physical complaints - annoyance, discomfort or pain) (b) Intensity of complaints registered, by each corporal regions assessed.

The most common postures of the legs were assessed to be neutral, which means there was no strain on the lower limbs.

The final Grand score RULA (GSR) ranged from a minimum of 3 (section I) and 4 (section II) to a maximum of 7 with an average value of 5.44 (SD = 1.08) and 6.19 (SD = 0.95) in sections I and II, respectively. These GSR indicate that employees' postures at their work stations need to be investigated and some changes are required soon or immediately.

For the majority of tasks (70.1%), in Section I, the GSR was determined to be 5 (25.3%) or 6 (44.8%), which indicates an action level of 3. The percentage of tasks with a final GSR at action level 4 was 6.4%. For the majority of tasks assessed (89%) in Section II, the GSR was determined to be 5 (5.1%) or 6 (38.3%) or 7 (45.65), which indicate an action level of 3 or 4.

None of the tasks assessed had a GSR of 1 or 2 (e.g. an acceptable working posture) in both Sections and GSR of 3 in Section II.

	RULA score							Mean	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	(SD)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Upper arms	35	1074	1446	503	21	-	n.a	n.a	2.81
	(1.1)	(34.9)	(47)	(16.3)	(0.7)				(0.74)
Lower arms	967	1258	854	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	1.96
	(31.4)	(40.9)	(22.7)						(0.77)
Hands/wrists	105	614	1968	392	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	2.86
	(3.4)	(19.9)	(63.9)	(12.7)					(0.66)
Neck	238	814	1784	218	25	-	n.a	n.a	2.67
	(7.7)	(26.4)	(57.9)	(7.1)	(0.8)				(0.75)
Trunk	188	669	1855	243	124	-	n.a	n.a	2.82
	(6.1)	(21.7)	(60.2)	(7.9)	(4.0)				(0.75)
Legs	3079	-	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	1.00
	(100)								(0.0)
Score A	-	-	956	1496	606	21	-	-	3.9
			(31)	(48.6)	(19.7)	(0.7)			(0.72)
Score B	71	708	105	1818	114	30	208	25	3.73
	(2.3)	(2.3)	(3.4)	(59)	(3.7)	(1.0)	(6.8)	(0.8)	(1.38)
GSR	-	-	253	281	778	1378	389	-	5.44
			(8.2)	(9.1)	(25.3)	(44.8)	(12.6)		(1.08)

Table 4. Distribution of RULA scoring for section I (n = 3079 frames assessed for 7 tasks)

n.a - not applicable

3.4 Associations Between Socio-demographic/Job Characteristics and MSDs Symptoms or Pain Level of the Working Situation

In general there were no statistically significant associations between the MSDs symptoms and the variables (demographic/job characteristics) or the pain level of the working situation (Table 3). These results can be explained by the fact that the workers of these two sections joined the company not long time ago and they were mostly young and were not able to associate the perceived discomfort with the characteristics of the work.

Considering the importance that exposure time to adverse risks factors has on MSDs development (which was low, 75% had <3 years experience), and the high percentage of cases, with MSDs Symptoms (86%) reported, the low dimension of the sample may explain the obtained results. It is important to highlight that in all these cases the Cramer's V revealed a weak association (Cramer's V < 0.3).

Considering the association between Global Pain Level and demographic/job characteristics' variables, the only associations found were with Gender (χ^2 (df (2) = 7.824 p = 0.008;), N = 28; Cramer's V = 0.529) and with Weekly working time (χ^2 (df(2) = 12.302 p = 0.048;), N = 28; Cramer's V = 0.450) (Table 6).

	RULA score						Mean	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	(SD)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Upper arms	-	840	1434	653	232	-	n.a	3.01
		(26.6)	(45.4)	(20.7)	(7.3)			(0.87)
Lower arms	300	1131	1728	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	2.45
	(9.5)	(35.8)	(54.7)					(0.66)
Hands/wrists	20	3139	-	-	n.a	n.a	n.a	2.99
	(0.6)	(99.4)						(0.79)
Neck	-	1525	730	904	-	-	n.a	2.8
		(48.3)	(23.1)	(28.6)				(0.85)
Trunk	-	642	2033	464	20	-	n.a	2.96
		(20.3)	(64.4)	(14.7)	(0.6)			(0.61)
Legs	3045	114	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	n.a	1.04
	(96.4)	(3.6)						(1.87)
Score A	-	-	310	2154	463	117	115	4.23
			(9.8)	(68.2)	(14.7)	(3.7)	(3.6)	(0.82)
Score B	-	502	140	1423	170	630	294	4.37
		(15.9)	(4.4)	(45)	(5.4)	(19.9)	(9.3)	(1.49)
GSR	-	-	-	345	162	1210	1442	6.19
				(10.9)	(5.1)	(38.3)	(45.6)	(0.95)

Table 5. - Distribution of RULA scoring for section II (n = 3159 frames assessed for 12 tasks)

n.a - not applicable

Independent variables (n)	Global Pain Level			Statistics	Significant
	Low	Moderate	High		
	(n = 17)%	(n = 10)%	(n = 1)%		
Gender					
F (20)	50	50	0	$\chi^2 = 7.824, df = 2$	p < 0.05
M (8)	87.5	0	12.5		
Weekly working time (h)					
16 h (5)	40	40	20	$\chi^2 = 12.302, df = 6$	p < 0.05
20 h (14)	85.7	14.3	0		
25 h (1)	0	100	0		
40 h (8)	37.5	62.5	0		

 Table 6.
 Socio-demographic and job characteristics, and their association to Pain level (N = 28)

4 Conclusion

This cross-sectional study was conducted in two sections of a Portuguese enterprise integrated in the HORECA sector, where workers' and job factors' are in accordance with the general condition of that sector.

The prevalence of MSDs symptoms (particularly in the low back, shoulders, wrists and neck) among the operators assessed, in these two sections, sometimes with very high intensity of complaints, emphasises the need for ergonomic interventions for improving the working conditions. Nearly 50% of the complaints registered a 4–6 times/year frequency in most of the regions assessed. The results also showed that the majority of the participants had not experienced MSDs over the last 7 days.

The relatively high RULA scores in the study highlight a poor workstation design and suggests that in most cases the operators' postures need to be investigated and some changes are required soon or immediately. The high RULA scores obtained can also be explained by the type of work developed, which involves, in both sections, a lot of repetitive work and, in some situations, with considerable loads.

Despite of these results, the pain level associated to the working situations was assessed as low (60.7%), in the majority of the cases.

Considering the associations between the MSDs symptoms and the variables (socio-demographic/job characteristics) or the pain level of the working situation, no statistically significant associations were found. These results can be explained by the fact that the workers of these two sections joined the company not long time ago and they were mostly young and not able to associate the perceived discomfort with the characteristics of the work. Another reason for these results can be the small dimension of the sample.

Although no associations have been found, considering the presence of complains, some recommendations should be given to prevent the MSDs development. Some organizational recommendations are:

- reduce the number of working hours per shift or week;
- promote adequate rest breaks limiting the number of uninterrupted hours of work;
- redesign the workplaces considering good practices regarding manual handling of loads;
- workers should be trained regarding MSD risk factors, as well as on how to fit the workstation to their needs.

References

- 1. EU-OSHA: Protecting workers in hotels, restaurants and catering. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, Belgium (2008)
- 2. EU-OSHA: E-facts 22: Safety and health risks in HORECA (2008)
- 3. OSHA: Ergonomics in Action: A Guide to Best Practices for the Food-Processinf Industry. California Department of Industrial Relations, California (2003)
- Karwowski, W., Marras, W.S.: Occupational Ergonomics: Principles of Work Design. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2003)
- Xu, Y., Cheng, A.S.K., Li-Tsang, C.W.P.: Prevalence and risk factors of work-related musculoskeletal disorders in the catering industry: a systematic review. Work 44, 107–116 (2013)

- Dianat, I., Kord, M., Yahyazade, P., Karimi, M.A., Stedmon, A.W.: Association of individual and work-related risk factors with musculoskeletal symptoms among Iranian sewing machine operators. Appl. Ergon. 51, 180–188 (2015)
- 7. Nunes, I.L.: Ergonomic risk assessment methodologies for work-related musculoskeletal disorders: a patent overview. Recent Patents Biomed. Eng. 2, 121–132 (2009)
- Putz-Anderson, V., Bernard, B.P., Burt, S.E., Cole, L.L., Fairfield-Estill, C., Fine, L.J., Grant, K.A., Gjessing, C., Jenkins, L., Hurrell Jr., J.J., Nelson, N., Pfirman, D., Roberts, R., Stetson, D., Haring-Sweeney, M., Tanaka, M.D.: Musculoskeletal Disorders and Workplace Factors: A Critical Review of Epidemiologic Evidence for Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders of the Neck, Upper Extremity, and Low Back. NIOSH, Cincinnati (1997)
- Serranheira, F., Uva, A.S., Lopes, M.F.: Caderno Avulso #3 Lesões Músculo-esqueléticas e Trabalho: Alguns métodos de Avaliação. Sociedade Portuguesa Medicina do Trabalho, Lisboa (2008)
- Paoli, P., Merllié, D.: Third European survey on working conditions 2000 (2001). https:// www.eurofound.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ef_publication/field_ef_document/ef0121en. pdf
- 11. EU-OSHA: E-facts 24: Musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) in HORECA, pp. 1-13 (2008)
- Öztürk, N., Esin, M.N.: Investigation of musculoskeletal symptoms and ergonomic risk factors among female sewing machine operators in Turkey. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 41, 585–591 (2011)
- 13. Mcatamney, L., Corlett, E.N.: RULA: a survey method for the investigation of world-related upper limb disorders. Appl. Ergon. 24, 91–99 (1993)
- McAtamney, L., Corlett, N.: Rapid upper limb assessment (RULA). In: Stanton, N., Hedge, A., Brookhuis, K., Salas, E., Hendrick, H. (eds.) Handbook of Human Factors and Ergonomics Methods. CRC PRESS, Florida (2005)

Risk Assessment and Management

Investigation of the Effectiveness of European Assembly Worksheet in Assessing Organizational Measures for MSD Risk Assessment

Tobias Hellig^(⊠), Vera Rick, Robert Stranzenbach, Philipp Przybysz, Alexander Mertens, and Christopher Brandl

Institute of Industrial Engineering and Ergonomics, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany {t.hellig, v.rick, r.stranzenbach, p.przybysz, a.mertens, c.brandl}@iaw.rwth-aachen.de

Abstract. MSDs have been shown to develop a high prevalence among working persons. Therefore the need to prevent working persons from developing MSDs has to assume even greater importance. Today, there are signs of a growing interest in reducing physical workload by applying organizational measures. However, there is an urgent need to provide appropriate ergonomic easy-to-use methods for business practice to investigate effectiveness of organizational measures. Today ergonomic methods seem to miss methodic assistance to address the investigation of organizational measures like job rotation or short breaks of production processes. We found that EAWS could not assess a decrease of workload by applying organizational methods. In future, an implementation of further organizational methods in work systems is expected due to the demographic change and an increase in the number of elder working persons, e.g. short breaks of production processes. Therefore, the need for an assessment of organizational methods will increase.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Job rotation · Task variation · Risk assessment

1 Introduction

Musculoskeletal disorders (MSD) are a common problem of many industrialized countries [1]. For example, in Germany MSDs are the main reason for most sick leave and second cause of early retirements [2]. Scientific research identified occupational risk factors like exposure to physical work with high workload and hazardous working postures for developing MSDs [3, 4], such as handling weights with back bent forward. Moreover, long-lasting static work has been identified as another risk factor which results in muscle fatigue and perceived discomfort [5]. Besides this, the current demographic change leads to an increase in the number of elder working persons. Due to changes of physical work capacity in older adults [5], MSDs have been shown to develop a high prevalence among working persons with an age of 50 years and older [6]. Therefore the need to prevent working persons from developing MSDs has to

assume even greater importance. The assessment of working persons exposure to risk factors for developing MSDs has become a main part of the ergonomic improvement of work systems [4, 7]. Numerous methods have been developed for analyzing and assessing workload. A novel step was to use such methods as a tool for analyzing and assessing effectiveness of corrective measures which have been implemented in work systems to reduce workload. For example, well known ergonomic easy-to-use methods are the Ergonomic Assembly Worksheet (EAWS), the German Key Indicator Method or the NIOSH lifting equation.

Nowadays the ergonomic improvement of work systems is not limited to technical measures, such as adjusting work heights etc. There are signs of a growing interest in reducing physical workload by applying organizational measures [3, 8]. For example, job rotation is an appropriate organizational measure to prevent working persons from developing MSDs [9]. Furthermore, today manufacturing companies investigate the effectiveness of several organizational methods, such as short breaks of production processes. Nevertheless, research has shown that the effectiveness of organizational measures is highly dependent on determination of several factors. For example, Horton et al. reported rotation frequency and task order as main factors influencing the effectiveness of job rotation [10]. According to Bosch et al. optimal temporal patterns of work-rest schedules have to be designed with regard to worker performance and health when implementing short breaks in production process [8].

However, there is an urgent need to provide appropriate ergonomic easy-to-use methods for business practice to investigate effectiveness of organizational measures. Today ergonomic methods seem to miss methodic assistance to address the investigation of organizational measures like job rotation or short breaks of production processes.

Thus, the aim of this paper is the investigation of the methodological gap between ergonomic easy-to-use methods like (EAWS) and the latest research findings regarding job rotation. Based on these findings, it is discussed, how the methods can be adopted for better consideration of organizational conditions and for assessing corrective measures due to organizational changes, accordingly.

2 Method

2.1 Workload Assessment

In order to investigate the methodological gap between ergonomic methods and the assessment of effectiveness of job rotation we conducted a systematic analysis of physical workload in a German automobile manufacturing using EAWS.

The assessment of workload according to EAWS is based on a three-zone rating system. A point score represents the level of risk. The amount of the point score is determined by calculating the level of risk for musculoskeletal injury caused by awkward working postures, exceeded forces, weight handling and an additional section for assessing work environment and further working conditions. An amount of points up to 25 indicates a lower risk score. An amount of points between 25 and 50 points indicates a medium-sized risk. An amount of points above 50 points indicates a high risk [11].

The manufacturing process was analyzed by an observation of two shifts, each shift has a duration of 7 h 30 min. The whole production process is divided into different cycles, each cycle time is approximately 5 min. Within the entire manufacturing process 17 different cycles were analyzed. As an example, for our investigation we chose a sub-process of the entire manufacturing process which encompasses three cycles. The manufacturing activity of these cycles includes the installation of a trunk lid. Therefore, working persons need to work at a moving object. The observation revealed that working persons mainly spent their time in working postures, which are characterized by back bent forward and arms above shoulder level. In addition, working persons have to carry adjusting devices weighting 10 to 15 kg, mainly in an upright body posture. Furthermore, working persons have to place and to fix a boot trim, therefore a strength of 60 N is necessary while working persons are in a back bent forward body posture.

2.2 Task Variation to Reduce Workload

In order to investigate the methodological gap between ergonomic methods and the assessment of effectiveness of job rotation we started a simulation-based approach to reduce physical workload. Therefore, three different job rotation schedules were developed with regard to the following well-known recommendations to reduce workload. Schneider et al. reported that different body regions should be used after job rotation [12], Leider et al. 2014 and Horton et al. 2015 discussed the influence of rotation frequency and task variation on effectiveness of job rotation [13, 14]. Considering these recommendations, a compensatory task was created where working persons performed a sedentary activity without any physical demands, e.g. quality control. For our investigation, we supposed a daily work period of 7 h and 30 min. The first rotation schedule did not include any task variation so working persons performed the described assembly work for 7 h and 30 min. The second rotation schedule included one task variation per day so working persons performed the described assembly work for 6 h and the described sedentary activity for 2 h. The third rotation schedule included one task variation per day as well so working persons performed the described assembly work and the described compensatory task for 3 h and 45 min, respectively. An assessment of workload per day was conducted using EAWS for each rotation schedule.

3 Results

Previous studies investigated the effectiveness of eliminating or reducing workload using different job rotation schedules [13, 14]. In our study, missing methodic assistance to address the investigation of organizational measures like job rotation for business practice was analyzed.

Figure 1 shows the results of our workload assessment for three different job rotation schedules. A risk score of approximately 30 points indicates a medium-sized risk. EAWS recommends a redesign of workplaces considered as medium-sized risk. As can be seen on Fig. 1 the score for the assembly workplace without job rotation

results in 33 points. A rotation after 6 h to our sedentary work place without perceived physical exertion results in 32 points. A rotation after 3 h and 15 min results in a score of 28 points.



Fig. 1. Workload assessment of assembly activity and sedentary activity for three different job rotation schedules.

The influence of job rotation on the assessment results of workload is extremely low. A 50% reduction of work time at the assembly work place (no rotation vs. rotation after 3 h and 45 min) reveals a risk reduction of approximately 15%. Comparing the results for the three different rotation schedules only reveals a risk reduction for body posture and carrying weights. A decrease of time spent in awkward working postures results in a decrease of 35% of EAWS assessment points in the working posture category.

4 Discussion

Prior work has documented ambiguous results in Studies on effects of job rotation on workload. Luger et al., for example, report that effects of temporal variation and activity variation of work tasks on muscle activity and perceived discomfort are not very clear [15, 16]. However, thought should be given to the evaluation of effects of job rotation on workload. Previous studies evaluated effects of job rotation by rating workload of work groups. It was found that exposure to high workload decreases if workers who usually perform activities of high workload rotate to activities of lower

workload. But this effect is at the expense of an increasing workload for workers who usually perform activities of low workload and rotate to activities of higher workload [14]. Since job rotation is not a method to eliminate workload but to reduce exposure time to workload an evaluation of workload should be done not only by investigating group levels of risk.

In this study, we investigated assessment results of workload applying EAWS for three different job rotation schedules. A decrease of exposure time to several risk factors in our investigation is evident: long lasting standing positions are compensated by terms of a sedentary activity, carrying of weights is compensated by levels of low workload. Since these job rotation schedules consider the characteristics of tasks workers are not exposed to activities with the same risks. In accordance to Yoon et al. and Schneider et al. our job rotation schedules avoid the development of cumulative workload by the use of different body regions after job rotation [9, 12]. Besides EAWS assessment decreases by five points if a rotation takes place after 3 h and 45 min. Compared to these findings it can be said that EAWS is an inadequate method for assessing job rotation schedules. A risk reduction of five points or 15% is disproportionate to the reduction of exposure time to risk factors. In our study the reduction of exposure time to high demanding assembly activities is 20% and 50% respectively.

However, some limitations are worth noting. It has to be taken into account, that EAWS originally was not developed to assess organizational measures like job rotation. EAWS was designed to serve as an ergonomic screening tool for clocked work [11]. An investigation of the effectiveness of job rotation schedules has to be implemented in the methodological procedure. The aim of our study was to show the methodological gap between ergonomic easy-to-use methods like EAWS and the assessment of job rotation. The application of EAWS in the intended context should not be restricted by our findings.

Nevertheless, job rotation is a widely-used method in business practice to prevent workers from developing MSDs [17]. Therefore, our investigation emphasizes the need for developing methods to assess workload regarding organizational measures like job rotation. Conceivable solutions to the problem could be an implementation of factors to minimize assessment points for body postures or weight handling if job rotation is applied. In line with the requirements for an effective decrease of workload future methods should offer opportunities to investigate consideration of these requirements during the development of job rotation schedules.

5 Conclusion and Outlook

Prior work has documented the effectiveness of job rotation to prevent working persons from developing MSDs [9, 10]. Yoon et al., for example, report that job rotation is appropriate for reducing exposure time to risk factors like workload on same body regions [9]. However, ergonomic easy-to-use methods are inappropriate to assess effectiveness of organizational methods for reducing workload like job rotation. In this study we investigated the influence of job rotation on EAWS assessment results. We found that EAWS could not assess a decrease of workload by applying organizational methods.

In future, an implementation of further organizational methods in work systems is expected due to the demographic change and an increase in the number of elder working persons, e.g. short breaks of production processes. Therefore the need for an assessment of organizational methods will increase. Nevertheless it has to bear in mind that organizational methods like job rotation could not decrease the physical workload in work systems and have no effect on peak load [18]. Organizational methods are qualified for an optimization of the distribution of workload. For that reason job rotation should be considered as part of a set of methods to prevent working persons from developing MSDs.

References

- Widanarko, B., Legg, S., Stevenson, M., Devereux, J., Eng, A., Mannetje, A., Cheng, S., Douwes, J., Ellison-Loschmann, L., McLean, D., Pearce, N.: Prevalence of musculoskeletal symptoms in relation to gender, age, and occupational/industrial group. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 5, 561–572 (2011)
- Robert Koch-Institut (Hrsg): Gesundheit in Deutschland. Gesundheitsberichterstattung des Bundes. RKI, Berlin (2015)
- Brandl, C., Mertens, A., Schlick, C.M.: Ergonomic analysis of working postures using OWAS in semi-trailer assembly, applying an individual sampling strategy. Int. J. Occup. Saf. Ergon. 1, 110–117 (2017)
- 4. David, G.C.: Ergonomic methods for assessing exposure to risk factors for work-related musculoskeletal disorders. Occup. Med. **3**, 190–199 (2005). (Oxford, England)
- 5. Schlick, C.M., Luczak, H., Bruder, R.: Arbeitswissenschaft. Springer, Heidelberg (2010)
- 6. Ilmarinen, J.: Physical requirements associated with the work of aging workers in the European Union. Exp. Aging Res. 1, 7–23 (2002)
- Takala, E.-P., Pehkonen, I., Forsman, M., Hansson, G.-Å., Mathiassen, S.E., Neumann, W. P., Sjøgaard, G., Veiersted, K.B., Westgaard, R.H., Winkel, J.: Systematic evaluation of observational methods assessing biomechanical exposures at work. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 1, 3–24 (2010)
- 8. Bosch, T., de Looze, M.P., van Dieen, J.H.: Development of fatigue and discomfort in the upper trapezius muscle during light manual work. Ergonomics **2**, 161–177 (2007)
- Yoon, S.-Y., Ko, J., Jung, M.-C.: A model for developing job rotation schedules that eliminate sequential high workloads and minimize between-worker variability in cumulative daily workloads: application to automotive assembly lines. Appl. Ergon. 55, 8–15 (2016)
- Horton, L.M., Nussbaum, M.A., Agnew, M.J.: Effects of rotation frequency and task order on localised muscle fatigue and performance during repetitive static shoulder exertions. Ergonomics 10, 1205–1217 (2012)
- 11. Schaub, K., Caragnano, G., Britzke, B., Bruder, R.: The European assembly worksheet. Theor. Issues Ergon. Sci. 6, 616–639 (2013)
- 12. Schneider, S., Davis, K., Jorgensen, M.: Ergonomics. Pros and cons of job rotation as a means of reducing injury costs. J. Occup. Environ. Hyg **1**, D1–D3 (2005)
- Horton, L.M., Nussbaum, M.A., Agnew, M.J.: Rotation during lifting tasks: effects of rotation frequency and task order on localized muscle fatigue and performance. J. Occup. Environ. Hyg. 2, 95–106 (2015)

- Leider, P.C., Boschman, J.S., Frings-Dresen, M.H.W., van der Molen, H.F.: Effects of job rotation on musculoskeletal complaints and related work exposures: a systematic literature review. Ergonomics 1, 18–32 (2015)
- 15. Luger, T., Bosch, T., Veeger, D., de Looze, M.: The influence of task variation on manifestation of fatigue is ambiguous: a literature review. Ergonomics 2, 162–174 (2014)
- Luger, T., Bosch, T., Hoozemans, M., de Looze, M., Veeger, D.: Task variation during simulated, repetitive, low-intensity work—influence on manifestation of shoulder muscle fatigue, perceived discomfort and upper-body postures. Ergonomics 11, 1851–1867 (2015)
- 17. Jorgensen, M., Davis, K., Kotowski, S., Aedla, P., Dunning, K.: Characteristics of job rotation in the Midwest US manufacturing sector. Ergonomics 15, 1721–1733 (2005)
- Kuijer, P.P., Visser, B., Kemper, H.C.: Job rotation as a factor in reducing physical workload at a refuse collecting department. Ergonomics 9, 1167–1178 (1999)

Analysis of Exoskeleton Introduction in Industrial Reality: Main Issues and EAWS Risk Assessment

Stefania Spada¹, Lidia Ghibaudo^{1(∞)}, Silvia Gilotta¹, Laura Gastaldi², and Maria Pia Cavatorta²

¹ Fiat Chrysler Automobiles - Manufacturing Engineering – Ergonomics Torino, Turin, Italy {stefania.spada,lidia.ghibaudo}@fcagroup.com, silvia.gilotta@gmail.com
² Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Corso Duca Degli Abruzzi 24, 10129 Turin, Italy {laura.gastaldi,maria.cavatorta}@polito.it

Abstract. Exoskeletons are part of the technological and organizational innovation sought by the fourth industrial revolution to support and re-launch the manufacturing area. In the present study, we described the experimental protocol designed to test the usability and acceptance of an upper limbs passive exoskeleton. In total, 42 workers from FCA plants volunteered to participate in the research study. The testing campaign included static and dynamic tests aimed at evaluating the potential benefit of the exoskeleton (lessen muscle strain, higher comfort rating and dexterity) vs. possible restrictions to movements and workdevice interactions in tasks resembling work activities. Open questions remain on how to assess the biomechanical workload risk, especially in the design phase, for which holistic methods like EAWS are needed.

Keywords: Passive exoskeleton \cdot Upper limbs \cdot Human-robot cooperation \cdot Fourth industrial revolution \cdot Usability \cdot Workload

1 Introduction

The fourth industrial revolution faces the challenge of European industry growth with new policies to re-launch the manufacturing area, through technological and organizational innovation. Technological evolution has progressed from automated systems to human-robot collaboration, in which the human and the robot combine into one integrated system under the control of the human. The scope is to safeguard the worker's wellbeing while optimizing productivity and system performance.

An exoskeleton is a wearable device in which the physical contact between the operator and the mechanical structure allows a direct exchange of mechanical power and information signals [1-3]. The exoskeleton technology has originated from the military [4, 5] and rehabilitation [6, 7] fields and is now rapidly growing in industrial settings. Here exoskeletons could be useful when other preventive measures are not feasible or effective (i) to lower worker's fatigue, thus leading to increased worker's alertness, productivity and work quality, (ii) to support quality and experienced

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_26

personnel in the work force longer, and (iii) to reduce work related musculoskeletal disorders [1].

Exoskeletons for industrial applications include upper limb and back supports, to reduce the load on the shoulder and back muscles while holding awkward postures. Chairless chairs, that can stiffen and lock in place, aim at decreasing the fatigue of crouching or standing in the same position for an extended period, while powered exoskeletons are designed to enhance the strength and the resistance to fatigue in stressful jobs. These exoskeletons, either passive or active, require different approaches towards fulfilling requirements such as usability, acceptability at the workplace and potential safety issues [8–10]. Literature studies generally look into the variation in the EMG level of the primary muscles involved in analyzed activity, to suggest a possible reduction in the overall muscle work when using an exoskeleton [11-15]. However, very few research projects and validation activities have been carried out concerning the estimation of the biomechanical load in exoskeleton-assisted work tasks and the potential impact of exoskeletons for the risk assessment and the work methods. In addition, evaluation studies on existing exoskeleton prototypes are often limited to laboratory trials on university students or staff [16–19]. Only in [12], a passive lift-assist device is tested in an automotive manufacturing plant with operators.

Testing protocols usually involve a repeated measure type experimental design, including within-subject comparisons of without and with exoskeleton use. Usability studies run on non-workers may suffer from a bias, since they lack the perception and acceptance assessment of the intended user. Introduction in the work environment brings in further constraints in the exoskeleton architecture and devices, nature of coupling to the human and user's acceptability.

Following a literature search and benchmarking of available commercial devices, FCA has planned a testing campaign to evaluate the applicability, usability and implementation of a passive upper-limb exoskeleton in working tasks. In total, 42 workers from FCA plants volunteered to participate in the research study. The paper illustrates the main aspects of the testing campaign. Potential issues associated to the implementation of this device in the automotive industry and to the biomechanical load estimation in exoskeleton-assisted work tasks are briefly addressed.

2 Experimental Protocol

2.1 Passive Exoskeleton

In the study, the Levitate exoskeleton [20] was used as presented in Fig. 1. This passive upper-limb exoskeleton aims at supporting the arms of workers exposed to repetitive arm motion and/or static elevation of the arms. The exoskeleton consists of a metallic frame for the core and two armrests for the upper arms (elbow and fore harm are not interested) and can be worn like a backpack. Mechanical passive elements along the arms partially support the upper limb muscles and shoulder joints. The support progressively increases when raising the arm. The exoskeleton can be custom-fit by regulating length of the core metallic frame, size of the armrests and shoulder and waist straps, to ensure comfort and optimal performance.



Fig. 1. The Levitate passive upper-limb exoskeleton (images available at: http://www.levitatetech.com; accessed 02/03/2017).

2.2 Participants and Procedure

The experimental campaign was conducted at the ergonomics laboratory (ErgoLab) of FCA Manufacturing Engineering and included static and dynamic tests to be performed without and with the exoskeleton. In total, 42 healthy male FCA operators volunteered for the research study. Workers were identified based on their anthropometry in order to fit the specification of the exoskeleton prototype. The tester we used was a medium size, corresponding to P50 American male, classical percentile approach. Other inclusion factors include no limitation in strength or musculoskeletal disorders at the upper limbs. Participants were informed in full detail about the aim and nature of the study and they signed an informed consent. The measurements were carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Upon arrival at the lab, the worker was introduced to the working principles of the exoskeleton. Personal data and anthropometric measurements were collected to fill in the database and to regulate the exoskeleton as for lengths and choice of the mechanical passive element characteristics. Participants performed the tests, without and with the exoskeleton, in the same day and were video recorded using a frontal and lateral camera. Between tests, they were given an adequate time to rest and were allowed to familiarize with the device before they were asked to repeat the tests with the exoskeleton.

At the end of each task, both without and with the exoskeleton, a cognitive ergonomist held a semi-structured interview with the worker, aimed at understanding the quality of the interaction with the device. Other tools included the Borg Scale [21], to quantify the intensity level of the activities as perceived by the subjects when tasks were performed without and with the exoskeletons, a usability metrics questionnaire and a TAM 2 questionnaire [22], to analyse the technology acceptance in relation to perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness. In a final focus group, the moderator involved workers in discussing on the use of exoskeleton, focusing on positive and negative aspects in relation to their work context, and on the desirable characteristics of the device.

2.3 Tasks

The experimental campaign included two phases. The first phase saw the participation of 31 male FCA operators. Participant mean height and mass were 174.9 cm (SD \pm 2.3 cm) and 81.6 kg (SD \pm 9.1 kg), respectively. Mean age was 51.5 y (SD \pm 4.7 years). Two workers were discharged because their anthropometric measures did not fully comply with the exoskeleton size. Full description of this first phase of the testing campaign is reported in [23]. The three tasks were designed for this first phase:

- 1. A *static task*, conceived as an endurance test to evaluate the potential benefit of the exoskeleton on the onset of muscular fatigue during a static action. Workers were required to stand upright with extended arms (90° with respect the trunk) while holding a 3.5 kg car spoiler, placed on the forearm so to exclude the wrist. The end of task was set at subject's will or because of a significant change in posture.
- 2. A repeated manual material handling task, developed from the FIT- HaNSA "Waist up" Protocol [24] to evaluate the potential benefit (lessen muscle strain) of the exoskeleton during a manual material handling activity vs. possible restriction to movements. While standing, subjects had to lift up/back down a 3.4 kg mass from waist level to shoulder level, following the beat of a metronome (30 actions/min). The end of task was set at 600 s. However, subjects could stop before time if experiencing fatigue, discomfort or if going off cadence three times.
- 3. A *precision task*, resembling a sealing operation, developed to evaluate the potential benefit of the exoskeleton (lessen muscle strain, higher comfort rating and dexterity) during a precision task involving a significant static load on the shoulder joint. The subject was standing, with the predominant arm almost extended, and used a felt-tip pen to trace a continuous wavy line between two pre-market traces on a paper fixed on a billboard. Subjects had to complete five different rows, containing 27 arches each, from shoulder height to an overhead position, without removing the felt-tip pen from the billboard. They could stop before the end of the billboard if experiencing fatigue or discomfort.

In the second phase of the testing campaign, 11 FCA team leaders were selected to run additional tests. Participant mean height and mass were 177.2 cm (SD \pm 5.0 cm) and 81.1 kg (SD \pm 7.3 kg), respectively. Mean age was 45.8 y (SD \pm 6.9 years).

Team leaders possess a wider knowledge of the different work activities performed by different workers and are usually involved in the work methods and work organization. Subjects were initially asked to perform the *static task* and the *precision task* developed in the first phase and described above. These additional tests ensure a larger data set and allow confirming what observed on the first 31 workers.

The team leaders were then asked to carry out extra tests, conceived to simulate real-work tasks, for which the subjects are adequately trained. The tests focused on the following operations:

4. *Mounting the clips of brake hoses underbody*. While standing with arms above head, subjects had to insert and remove 14 clips underbody (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Mounting the clips of brake hoses underbody without and with exoskeleton

5. *Sealing underbody using the sealing gun*. While standing with arms above head, subjects had to use the sealing gun to complete a 10-m close loop for as long as he can endure (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Sealing underbody using the sealing gun without and with the exoskeleton

These first two tests mainly addressed prolonged awkward arm postures that could emerge from underbody work. The posture is cumbersome and subjects knew they could stop any moment if experiencing any fatigue or discomfort. 6. *Mounting the seal on the rear door*. While standing, subjects had to assemble and disassemble the seal on the rear door (no roll forming) using both arms. The complete task was to be repeated twice. The altimetry of the car frame was chosen so that subjects carried out the task between shoulder and knee height (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Mounting the seal on the rear door without and with the exoskeleton

The mounting task was conceived to investigate the effective activation and deactivation of the exoskeleton through repetitive movements that involve a wide range of motion of the arms as well work to be performed with the hands at or below waist level, beneath the area of intervention of the exoskeleton.

3 Results and Discussion

Quantitative and qualitative parameters were analysed according to the main aim of the test. In endurance tests, posture maintenance was monitored during the trial as well as by visually inspecting the recorded video images. A comparison of the postures without and with the exoskeleton was assessed, with particular attention to the arms and the spine. No substantial differences were found.

Table 1 reports mean and standard deviation values of the endurance time registered for the static task for the 11 team leaders, without and with exoskeleton. The time variation interval ($\Delta t = T_{EXO} - T_{NO_EXO}$) and the relative variation ($\Delta t\% = (T_{EXO} - T_{NO_EXO})/T_{NO_EXO}$) are also reported. The time variation Δt is very similar to the 62.3 s registered for the 31 plant workers [23], while the relative variation $\Delta t\%$ outgrows the 31.1% registered for the 31 plant workers due to a lower T_{NO_EXO} .

	T _{NO_EXO} [s]	T _{EXO} [s]	Δt [s]	$\Delta t\%$
Mean	156.5	222.9	66.5	52.5%
SD	±86.1	±110.0		

Table 1. Results of the static task

Table 2 reports the number of arches traced by the team leaders without and with the exoskeleton, as for mean and standard deviation. The increase in the number of traced arches with the exoskeleton is rather significant, even though there is a ceiling effect, since many participants were able to complete the 135 arches when wearing the device. When the percentage increment is computed only on those participants who did not complete the arches, it increases to 34.0%, in line with the percentage increment of 33.6% observed for the 31 plant workers [23]. The level of precision increased with fewer portions of the wavy lines falling outside the pre-marked traces.

	No arches	No arches	Δ No arches	$\Delta\%$ No arches
Mean	108.3	127.3	19.0	17.5%
SD	±31.7	±18.1		

 Table 2.
 Results of the precision task

The positive outcomes on increased endurance time and precision level were confirmed for mounting the clips and sealing underbody. Workers positively judged the exoskeleton and declared it helped them to carry out the tasks with less physical and mental effort, although they recognized the posture was still awkward and luckily not common in real work tasks.

In the mounting task, operators complain potential interference of the exoskeleton with the car frame. Also, the coupling between the worker's arm and the device was not always effective in the wide range of movements of the arm requested in the task. Some participants reported some difficulties when working with the hands at or below waist level, due to the force they had to exert to maintain the posture against the device. As expected, introduction in the work environment brings in further constraints in the exoskeleton architecture and devices, nature of coupling to the human and user's acceptability (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Potential interference of the exoskeleton with the car frame

In all, workers judged positively the exoskeleton and declared it helped them to carry out the tasks with less physical and mental effort. The device was perceived particularly
useful in tasks requiring raised-arm postures and when precision was involved. In the "reaction adjectives" questionnaire, workers chose positive adjectives to describe qualities like easy to use, innovative, easy to understand, effective, efficient, and useful. In the usability metrics questionnaire, the positive characteristics had high score (>4) implying a good human-device interaction, but, on the other hand, operators considered the work-device interaction critical.

TAM2 results showed that workers assigned high values (>4) to items that refer to perceived ease of use and voluntariness, while they assigned low values (<4) to items connected with intention to use, image and job relevance. Focus group results were similar: workers affirmed that the exoskeleton can be useful in carry out work activities, but the use should be on a voluntary-base.

Before adoption in real work environments, more information on worker's acceptance of the devices and long-term use is needed. Industry experience can reveal obstacles to worker's acceptance that are not evident in a controlled laboratory environment. Also, the introduction of such devices requires a deeper understanding of the biomechanical workload in exoskeleton-assisted work tasks and of how to appropriately evaluate the impact of exoskeletons on safe physical works. Holistic risk assessment methods, like EAWS [25], are required to specifically address the risk factors influenced by the use of passive exoskeletons like posture, in this specific case the posture of the shoulder, request of force and static muscle effort.

4 Conclusions

In summary, the present study demonstrated that passive upper-limb exoskeletons may assist workers in activities that involve prolonged raised-arms working postures. In total, 42 workers from FCA plants participated in the research study. It was found that, by wearing the exoskeleton, participants increased the endurance time and the level of precision (when applicable) in the task execution. Positive feedbacks also emerged from the workers' interview, who chose positive adjectives to describe qualities for the exoskeleton such as easy to use, innovative, easy to understand, effective, efficient and useful. Still, during the focus group, workers affirmed that the use of the exoskeleton should be on a voluntary-base.

The positive outcome of this first experimental campaign opens to interesting next steps but also to questions concerning the potential impacts of these devices in the work environment. Further research should be conducted concerning the issue of the biomechanical load estimation in exoskeleton-assisted work tasks and how exoskeletons may affect the risk assessment and work methods.

Acknowledgements. The authors wish to acknowledge Chiara Carnazzo, Valentina Gabola and Marco Bechis for their valuable support during the experimental activities and the data analysis.

References

- de Looze, M.P., Bosch, T., Krause, F., Stadler, K.S., O'Sullivan, L.W.: Ergonomics 59, 671– 681 (2016)
- Rosen, J., Brand, M., Fuchs, M.B., Arcan, M.: IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. Part A Syst. Hum. 31, 210–222 (2001)
- 3. Rocon, E., Belda-Lois, J.M., Ruiz, A.F., Manto, M., Moreno, J.C., Pons, J.L., Trans, I.E.E.E.: Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng. **15**, 78–367 (2007)
- 4. Zoss, A.B., Kazerooni, H., Chu, A.: IEEE/ASME Trans. Mechatron. 11, 128-138 (2006)
- Yang, C.-J., Zhang, J.-F., Chen, Y., Dong, Y.-M., Zhang, Y.: Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part C J. Mech. Eng. Sci. 222, 1599–1612 (2008)
- Jarrassé, N., Proietti, T., Crocher, V., Robertson, J., Sahbani, A., Morel, G., Roby-Brami, A.: Front. Hum. Neurosci. 8, 947 (2014)
- Belforte, G., Sorli, M., Gastaldi, L.: International Conference on Simulations Biomedical. Proceedings, BIOMED, Computational Mechanics Publications, pp. 199–208 (1997)
- Gopura, R.A.R.C., Kiguchi, K., Bandara, D.S.V.: A brief review on upper extremity robotic exoskeleton systems. In: 2011 6th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems, pp. 346–351 (2011)
- 9. de Looze, M.P., Bosch, T., Krause, F., Stadler, K.S., O'Sullivan, L.W.: Ergonomics 139, 1–11 (2015)
- 10. Abdoli-E, M., Agnew, M.J., Stevenson, J.M.: Clin. Biomech. 21, 456-465 (2006)
- Lotz, C.A., Agnew, M.J., Godwin, A.A., Stevenson, J.M.: J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 19, 331– 340 (2009)
- 12. Graham, R.B., Agnew, M.J., Stevenson, J.M.: Appl. Ergon. 40, 936–942 (2009)
- 13. http://en.laevo.nl/. Accessed 3 Mar 2017
- 14. http://www.backquality.com/. Accessed 1 Mar 2017
- Barrett, A.L., Fathallah, F.A.: Evaluation of four weight transfer devices for reducing loads on the lower back during agricultural stoop labor. In: Annual International Meeting of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers (ASAE), pp. 1–8 (2001)
- 16. Ulrey, B.L., Fathallah, F.A.: J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 23, 206–215 (2013)
- 17. Whitfield, B.H., Costigan, P.A., Stevenson, J.M., Smallman, C.L.: Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 44, 39–44 (2014)
- Abdoli-Eramaki, M., Stevenson, J.M., Reid, S.A., Bryant, T.J.: J. Biomech. 40, 1694–1700 (2007)
- 19. Bosch, T., van Eck, J., Knitel, K., de Looze, M.: Appl. Ergon. 54, 212-217 (2016)
- 20. http://www.levitatetech.com/. Accessed 1 Mar 2017
- 21. Borg, G.: Borg's Perceived Exertion and Pain Scales. Human Kinetics, Champaign (1998)
- 22. Venkatesh, V., Davis, F.D.: Manage. Sci. 46, 186–204 (2000)
- 23. Spada, S., Ghibaudo, L., Gilotta, S., Gastaldi, L., Cavatorta, M.P.: Investigation into the applicability of a passive upper-limb exoskeleton in automotive industry. In: 27th International Conference on Flexible Automation and Intelligent Manufacturing, FAIM2017, 27–30 June 2017, Modena, Italy. To be published in Procedia Manufacturing (2017)
- 24. Macdermid, J.C., Ghobrial, M., Badra Quirion, K., St-Amour, M., Tsui, T., Humphreys, D., Mccluskie, J., Shewayhat, E., Galea, V.: BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 8, 1–10 (2007)
- 25. Schaub, K., Caragnano, G., Bitzke, B., Bruder, R.: Theor. Issues Ergon. Sci. 14, 616–634 (2013)

A Successful Ergonomic Solution Based on Lean Manufacturing and Participatory Ergonomics

Symone A. Miguez^{$1(\boxtimes)$}, João F.A. Garcia Filho², José Eduardo Faustino³, and Anderson A. Gonçalves⁴

¹ Delft University of Technology, Delft, The Netherlands symone@ergosys.com.br
² Federal University of Itajubá, Itajubá, Brazil jfagf@hotmail.com
³ Cruzeiro Integrated Colleges, Cruzeiro, Brazil faustino.eduardo@hotmail.com
⁴ Polytechnic School, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil anderson.goncalves.ag@gmail.com

Abstract. This project was developed in a 1,500-employee multinational metallurgical factory. A multidisciplinary team of certified ergonomists, engineers, managers and direct employees used concepts of Participatory Ergonomics and Lean Manufacturing methodology to develop a workstation improvement project of large subsets, where male and female employees, simultaneously, handle large parts 96 times per shift. This study was structured in seven steps: (1) Identification of the problem; (2) Problem specification through ergonomic assessment using RULA and observational method; (3) Problem analysis, added-value classification and determination of causes; (4) Action Plan; (5) Implementation; (6) New ergonomic analysis; (7) Validation of results. The results are significant for the employees and company: the working procedure was suitable for both men and women, it eliminated unnecessary activities, it reduced costs and lead time as well as it maintained the health and safety of workers.

Keywords: Lean Manufacturing · Macroergonomics · Participatory Ergonomics · RULA assessment · Value adding and non-value adding activities

1 Introduction

Several articles in the literature in Macroergonomics provide evidence of the success of ergonomic interventions and their positive impact on workers and businesses [1–4].

The main purpose of an ergonomic intervention it to design or adapt the workstation to the worker. The results of such interventions may be: 1. gain in worker health; 2. satisfaction of the worker; 3. optimization of the production process; 4. gains in productivity and 5. improvement in product quality [5]. There is a direct link between satisfaction of the employee at work and satisfaction in his/her personal life [6]; this fact is closely related to what we experienced in this study. However, it is necessary to point out that Participatory Ergonomics is an area within Macroergonomic methodology.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_27

According to Hendrick and Kleiner [7] Macroergonomics is the perspective, methodology and subdiscipline of Ergonomics that prioritizes the technology of humanorganization interface. The goal of Macroergonomics is to optimize work systems, including the participation of those involved (empowerment) in the several hierarchical levels, enabling continuous improvements within the production process.

Under the practical perspective, Macroergonomics can be understood as: 1. topdown (since it requires the involvement of the company's board of directors); 2. bottomup (for being of participatory character) and 3. middle-out (focus on the production process) [8].

Participatory Ergonomics is the most commonly used approach of the Macroergonomics field because it has produced extremely satisfactory results and it has, therefore, assisted in the dissemination of the field of Ergonomics in companies [8].

The concept of Participatory Ergonomics is proposed by several authors in different ways, however, these definitions complement each other. Participatory Ergonomics can be understood as a Macroergonomic approach that requires the involvement of workers in the implementation of new technologies in the organizational system [9]. Another definition is the involvement of people from different areas of the company in planning or re-planning their work activities; these people possess enough technical and scientific knowledge to influence the process in order to achieve the expected results [10].

This study is based on Macroergonomics and Participatory Ergonomics as well as on the Lean Manufacturing Methodology. Because one of the main goals of Ergonomics and Lean Manufacturing is the continuous improvement, the objective of this research was to demonstrate that this can be achieved without compromising the safety of health of the workers, generating, consequently, gains for the production process. According to Koukoulaki [11], Lean Manufacturing can be conceptualized as the strategy that generates internal flexibility to meet customer requests and eliminate wastes in the production process. There are excellent articles and books that discuss the conceptualization of the Lean Manufacturing methodology. Thus, we will focus on this article to report the practical results of our intervention, based on Lean Manufacturing and Participatory Ergonomics in a multinational metallurgical company.

It should be noted that a multidisciplinary team, including a certified ergonomist, an occupational safety engineer, a process engineer, a manufacturing manager and workers, was involved in this study of continuous improvement and it received support by the company's board of directors.

2 Methods

2.1 Study Setting

This study was developed in a multinational metallurgical company that employs 1,500 workers. The company has two work shifts, the first shift is from 7:00 a.m. to 4:48 p.m., and the second shift from 4:48 p.m. to 1:55 a.m. from Monday through Friday.

2.2 Participants

Because this was a study of continuous improvement aimed at the production process, there was no need to establish inclusion or exclusion criteria for the participants.

The ergonomic intervention directly benefited a total of 8 workers, that is to say, those who perform the activity. Moreover, the intervention indirectly benefited 22 employees, totaling 30 workers involved in the production of the sets.

2.3 Demand for the Study

The initial demand of the project that resulted in this study was to apply the Lean Manufacturing methodology associated with the Participatory Ergonomics approach in the assembly and welding of four reinforcements of a 133-kg steel plate (Fig. 1). Before the intervention, two workers, male or female, had to lower the plate simultaneously. The process of welding the reinforcements of the subset required the workers to irregularly move the pieces 96 times in the work shift (six handling per subset - four subset per final product - four final product per shift).



Fig. 1. Technical drawing of the subset.

2.4 Procedure

This study was structured in the following seven stages:

1. Identification of the problem; 2. Problem specification through ergonomic assessment using RULA and observational method; 3. Problem analysis, added-value classification, and determination of causes; 4. Action Plan; 5. Implementation; 6. New ergonomic analysis; 7. Validation of results.

Step 1 - Identification of the Problem. The surveyed company possesses an Ergonomics program coordinated by a certified Senior Ergonomist who performs ergonomic analyses of work in a preventive way. The purposes of those analyses are to identify work situations presenting room for improvement and verify the compliance of the work

stations with the Brazilian regulatory norm (NR-17) of the Ministry of Labor and Employment [12].

The company holds monthly meetings in which ergonomic reports are presented to an Ergonomics committee, represented by employees from different areas of the company. In one of these meetings, the presentation of an Ergonomic Analysis of Work (E.A.W.) containing images and videos of the workplace allowed the participants to identify the need for improvement in the welding of the subset reinforcements.

Step 2 - Problem Specification through Ergonomic Assessment. RULA (Rapid Upper Limb Assessment) instrument was chosen to assess the ergonomic issues involved in the performing of the welding of the subset reinforcements. RULA, which is a "screening tool that assesses biomechanical and postural loads on the whole body with particular attention to the neck, trunk and upper limbs" [13], contains values ranging from 1 to 7 which, in turn, define the action level, as shown in Table 1.

Action level	Scores	Indication
Action level 1	1 and 2	Acceptable posture
Action level 2	3 and 4	Changes are recommended
Action level 3	5 and 6	Changes are needed soon
Action level 4	7	Changes are needed immediately

Table 1. Action levels and results for RULA.

During the welding of subset reinforcement, the manual handling of the 133-kg workpiece on the workbench was assessed. The RULA score before the ergonomic intervention was 4 (Action level 2), indicating the need for investigation and potential changes in the production process (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Handling of the workpiece - RULA score of 4.

Step 3 - Problem Analysis, Added-Value Classification and Determination of Causes. The result obtained in step 2 justified the analysis of the workstation for developing an improvement that would eliminate the need for tipping the heavy pieces.

According to Pattanaik and Sharma [14], it is essential to the eliminate activities that do not add value to the production process because it is the customer that generates

value, not the company [15]. The literature also points out that these activities can be: 1. Overproduction: production before or beyond that which is necessary; 2. Defects: Frequent information errors, product quality issues or poor performance in the delivery; 3. Unnecessary stocks: excess storage, resulting in excessive cost and poor customer service; 4. Inadequate process: execution of a working process using wrong tools, procedures or systems, when a simpler way could be more efficient; 5. Excessive transportation: excessive movement of people, information, materials or products, resulting in loss of time and effort as well as added costs; 6. Waiting: long periods of inactivity of people, information, materials or products, resulting in poor flow, delays and longer delivery times; 7. Unnecessary movements: poor organization in the workplace, resulting in poor ergonomics, for example: excessive bending or stretching movements and frequent loss of items [16].

Thus, in order to ascertain whether there was any waste in the production process, the process engineering team and the area management applied Lean Manufacturing methodology and categorized the value of activities in the flow of pieces in AV (Added Value), NAV (No Added Value) and NAVn (No Added Value, but necessary).

It was found that, among the 25 manipulations, three technical actions (OP.70, O.P. 100 and OP.130) did not add value to the production process and also did not comply with ergonomic requirements.

The main cause for the identified waste of the workpiece handling was that bending (OP.20) was performed before welding the reinforcements (OP.80 - OP.110). It required two workers to tip the folded workpiece on to a flat surface so the reinforcements could be welded. The last handling action (OP.130) is also carried out so the workpiece is placed into the moving position (OP.140). In Fig. 3, the operation numbers of Table 2 are illustrated.



Fig. 3. Partial Flow: welding of four reinforcements before ergonomic reinforcement.

Operation	Process	Items	Technical action	Classification
OP.10	Cut	2 Part number	1 and 2	AV
OP.15	Transport	2 Pallets	3 and 4	NAVn
OP.20	Bend	1 Part number	5	AV
OP.25	Transport	1 Pallet	6	NAVn
OP.30	Transfer	2 Part number	7 and 8	NAVn
OP.35	Transport	2 Pallets	9 and 10	NAVn
OP.40	Store	2 Pallets	11 and 12	NAVn
OP.50	Transfer	2 Part numbers	13 and 14	NAVn
OP.55	Transport	2 Pallets	15 and 16	NAVn
OP.60	Position	1 Part	17	NAVn
OP.70	Handle	1 Part	18	NAV
OP.80	Position	2 Reinforcements	19	NAVn
OP.90	Weld	2 Reinforcements	20	AV
OP.100	Handle	1 Subset	21	NAV
OP.110	Position	2 Reinforcements	22	NAVn
OP.120	Weld	2 Reinforcements	23	AV
OP.130	Handle	1 Subset	24	NAV
OP.140	Position	1 Subset	25	NAVn

Table 2. Classification of technical actions before the ergonomic intervention.

The number of operations in Table 2 were added to the layout for the visualization of the flow of pieces in the factory (Fig. 4).

Step 4 - Action Plan. The action plan prioritized eliminating the handling of parts. The proposed solution was to invert the welding process so it is performed before the bending and check if there would be any undesired impact, according to the following steps:

(a) define the layout and the resources necessary to the welding of reinforcements; (b) provide resources; (c) define the pilot process; (d) perform the welding; (e) perform the bending with welded reinforcements; (f) analyze the impacts; (g) implement a new process; (h) monitor and measure results.

Step 5 - Implementation. Once the new process was defined and validated, it was only necessary to create a safety stock of the welded subsets so that it did not impact the supply in the final production line. With the stock produced in the new process, the operation involving the assembly and the welding of the reinforcements was transferred from the assembly line and started to be delivered as a subset composed of five pieces.

Step 6 - New Ergonomic Analysis. In the welding of the reinforcements of the subset, the task of manual handling of the 133-kg pieces on the workbench was assessed and the need to tip the workpiece was eliminated. The RULA score after the ergonomic intervention was 2, action level 1, indicating acceptable posture (Fig. 5). This result demonstrates the success of step 5.



Fig. 4. Flow of workpieces in the factory layout before the ergonomic intervention.



Fig. 5. Handling of the workpiece without tipping by using an electric hoist. RULA score of 2.

Step 7 - Validation of the Results. In addition to the ergonomic assessment before and after the ergonomic intervention, the authors administered a questionnaire on the worker perception of comfort to verify the added value of the modification of the production process for the worker. Fifteen professionals from the first shift were interviewed.

The questionnaire was answered voluntarily by the participants, and the identification of the worker's name was optional, so the informant's privacy was maintained. In the questionnaire two closed questions were asked in order to identify the employee's perception of comfort when performing the activity. We also inquired about the comfort of the worker when reducing the number of technical actions required to perform the activity as a result of the ergonomic intervention. Prior to the intervention, 25 technical actions were necessary. However, a total of 16 technical actions were needed after the intervention. Furthermore, workers from the entire production chain of the assembling and welding of the reinforcements responded to the questionnaire. They were categorized into 4 groups: group 1 - those who are required to tip the metal workpiece; group 2 - logistics workers who count, sort, transfer, store and supply the workstation; group 3 - operators of bending machines and group 4 - workers who receive the welded subsets.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Identification and Description of Intervention in the Production Flow

It was identified that, by adjusting the production flow in the assembly line and reducing the number of movements, the primary production processes (laser or plasma cutting and bending and welding) could be carried out in compliance with ergonomic standards and requests. This eliminated the need for transfers, dismissals as well as the hiring of new labor, since the welding process could be incorporated into activities already existing in the manufacturing area.

3.2 Classification of Technical Actions and New Production Flow After Ergonomic Intervention

After the ergonomic intervention, the new production flow led to a reduction in the number of technical actions. This is demonstrated in Table 3.

Operation	Process	Items	Technical action	Classification
OP.10	Cut	2 Part number	1 and 2	AV
OP.15	Transport	2 Pallets	3 and 4	NAVn
OP.20	Position	1 Part	5	NAVn
OP.30	Position	4 Reinforcements	6	NAVn
OP.40	Weld	4 Reinforcements	7	AV
OP.50	Position	1 Subset	8	NAVn
OP.55	Transport	1 Subset	9	NAVn
OP.60	Bend	1 Part number	10	AV
OP.65	Transport	1 Pallet	11	NAVn
OP.70	Transfer	1 Part number	12	NAVn
OP.75	Transport	1 Pallet	13	NAVn
OP.80	Store	1 Pallet	14	NAVn
OP.90	Transfer	1 Part number	15	NAVn
OP.95	Transport	1 Pallet	16	NAVn

Table 3. Classification of technical actions after the ergonomic intervention.

Once the handlings that did not add value were eliminated, it was evident that the flow of the workpieces, reinforcements and cut plates was reduced. This happened because after the intervention they were joined as a subset in the initial stages of the process (OP.20 - OP.50). Thus, five workpieces of two distinct items are already included when transporting, transferring or storing a subset.

The new process of welding of the reinforcements is performed on the flat, unbent plate, which makes it possible for only one worker, male or female, to perform all the activity because the positioning through the input, process and output of the workpiece (Fig. 6) is carried out by an electric hoist.



Fig. 6. Partial flow: Welding of the four reinforcements after the ergonomic intervention.

3.3 Positive Results of Applying Lean Manufacturing

In the researched company, the ergonomic intervention in conjunction with the Lean Manufacturing methodology generated positive results both for the company and for the worker regarding the organizational aspects of the workstation. These results are shown in Table 4.

Metrics	Before intervention	After intervention	Results (%)
Number of technical actions	25	16	36
Labor	2	1	50
Productivity man-hour	0.53 MH	0.35 MH	34
Cycle time	16 min	21 min	31
Recovery time	12 min	7 min	41
Daily transport	550 m	300 m	45
Physical space in operation	100 m^2	50 m ²	50
Transport/Storage	2 Part number	1 Part number	50

 Table 4. Results of the Lean Manufacturing intervention focusing on ergonomics issues.

The 36% reduction in the tasks needed for the activity associated to the increase in the cycle time to 21 min and to the decrease of recovery time to 7 min contributed positively both to the production process and to the health of the worker.

Moreover, the physical space for the task decreased by half, freeing the layout for other operations.

After the intervention, the number of employees and man-hours necessary to perform the technical actions was reduced to 1, allowing the remaining workers to perform other tasks and even develop new skills.

Gains in movements were also very significant. Before the intervention, there were 4 types of parts being moved to the assembly line, afterwards, this number was reduced by 50% once the parts began to be supplied after having been assembled (Fig. 7).



Fig. 7. Flow of workpieces in the factory layout after the ergonomic intervention.

3.4 Other Positive Results from the Ergonomic Intervention

Participatory Ergonomics is key to the success of ergonomic interventions [17]. The following results demonstrate the positive outcomes of associating the technical knowledge of the worker with the expertise of a professional multidisciplinary team:

- 1. It was observed that the positioning time of the reinforcements could be reduced with the aid of a template that replaced the need to measure the position of the parts, guaranteeing standardization and quality of the assembly;
- 2. Prior to the ergonomic intervention, the reinforcements were welded on a fixed height table and in the new process, height adjustable trestles of 0.80 m to 1.0 m were used, allowing the worker to adjust it according to his/her height;
- 3. In defining the resources required to carry out the activities, only the radial arm with electric hoist was required, freeing the workbench, the racks and the semi-gantry crane used for positioning the pieces;

- 4. Storing the plates with welded reinforcements facilitates the work along the processes since the space between each plate is the width of reinforcement, which allows the positioning during the lifting and facilitates the counting of the sets;
- 5. Freeing physical space on the assembly line makes it possible to combine two processes that were being carried out in different locations;
- 6. Elimination of transferring, storage, separation and forklift transportation of the reinforcements.

3.5 Result of the Questionnaire on Worker Comfort Perception

People can easily tell the difference between comfort and discomfort [18] and each worker has their own perception of comfort from their experiences. Therefore, a questionnaire was necessary to determine if the ergonomic intervention resulted in comfort for the workers when performing the activity.

The fifteen workers who answered the questionnaire reported that the new way of performing the activity at the workstation meets the comfort requirements, rating the ergonomic intervention as "*Very good*" in regard to the entire production chain.

3.6 Return on Investment in Ergonomic Intervention

A multidisciplinary team is needed to reduce costs [19]. In this study, our initial multidisciplinary approach was to optimize the performing of the activity to bring more comfort to the worker and, as a consequence, we also achieved a reduction of man-hour costs, among others shown in Table 4. Furthermore, there was no financial investment by the company, since it was not necessary to acquire new equipment or materials. All that was done in this ergonomic intervention was to reallocate resources and people, increasing the production of the final product by 33%.

It should be noted that, in the assembly flow of the final product, the two workers involved in the activity produced the parts according to the demand of the next post; in terms of manufacturing, they performed the "pull production", which in certain assembly lines shows to be very efficient. However, in this case this generated a loss in production, since the cycle time of the next stage was greater than the stage under study. This caused the workers to disperse their activities while waiting for the end of the assembly of the next stage.

4 Conclusion

From the point of view of managing the relationship between leaders and employees, this study promoted a deep analysis of how to integrate Lean Manufacturing with the expectation of people and with the constant development of practices that ensure the safety, health and quality of life of the worker. In addition, this integration resulted in higher productivity and in the elimination or reduction of waste, be it related to movements or rework.

It has been shown that the lack of ergonomic analysis can be considered waste within the Lean Manufacturing philosophy. Ergonomics can be applied in organizations to increase efficiency through activities that add value and through the continuous elimination of waste. This contributes to the expansion of Ergonomics in design projects to achieve goals related to the health of the worker as well as to the financial health of the company.

References

- Shahnavaz, H.: Ergonomics intervention in industrially developing countries. In: Scott, P.A. (ed.) Ergonomics in Developing Regions Needs and Applications. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2009). doi:10.1201/9781420079128
- Miguez, S.A., Hallbeck, M.S., Vink, P.: Participatory ergonomics and new work: reducing neck complaints in assembling. Work J. Prev. Assess. Rehabil. 42, 5108–5113 (2012). doi: 10.3233/WOR-2012-0802-5108
- Miguez, S.A., Vink, P., Hallbeck, M.S.: Participatory ergonomics generates new product to assist rural workers in greenhouses. Proc. Hum. Factors Ergon. Soc. 2, 1282–1285 (2009)
- Miguez, S.A., Hallbeck M.S., Vink P.: Work movements: balance between freedom and guidance on an assembly task in a furniture manufacturer. In: Advances in Safety Management and Human Factors: Proceedings of the AHFE International Conference on Safety Management and Human Factors, vol. 491, pp. 503–511. Springer, Berlin (2016)
- Shahnavaz, H., Naghib, A., Samadi, S.: Macro and micro ergonomics application in a medium sized company. In: Karwowski, W., Salvendy, G. (eds.) Advances in Human Factors, Ergonomics, and Safety in Manufacturing and Service Industries. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2010). doi:10.1201/EBK1439834992-36
- Dou, K., Nie, Y., Wang, Y., Liu, Y.: The relationship between self-control, job satisfaction and life satisfaction in Chinese employees: a preliminary study. Work 55(4), 797–803 (2016). doi:10.3233/WOR-162447
- Hendrick, H.W., Kleiner, B. (eds.): Macroergonomics: Theory, Methods, and Applications. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2002). doi:10.1201/b12477
- 8. Guimarães, L.B.M.: Ergonomia de Processo: Macroergonomia e Organização do Trabalho, vol. 2, 4th edn. FEENG, Porto Alegre (2004)
- Imada, A.S.: A Macroergonomic approach to reducing work-related injuries. In: Hendrick, H.W., Kleiner, B. (eds.) Macroergonomics: Theory, Methods, and Applications. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2002)
- Wilson, J., Haines, H., Morris, W.: Participatory ergonomics. In: Wilson, J., Corlett, E.N. (eds.) Evaluation of Human Work, 3rd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2005)
- Koukoulaki, T.: The impact of lean production on musculoskeletal and psychosocial risks: an examination of sociotechnical trends over 20 years. Appl. Ergon. 45(2 Part A), 198–212 (2014)
- 12. Ministry of Labor and Employment. Ergonomics. Brasília: MTE/SIR, n.d. https://www.mte.gov.br. Accessed 02 Jan 2017
- 13. McAtamney, L., Corlett, E.N.: RULA: a survey method for the investigation of work-related upper limb disorders. Appl. Ergon. **24**(2), 91–99 (1993)
- Pattanaik, L.N., Sharma, B.P.: Implementing lean manufacturing with cellular layout: a case study. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 42, 772 (2009). doi:10.1007/s00170-008-1629-8

- 15. Prates, C.C., Bandeira, D.L.: Aumento de eficiência por meio do mapeamento do fluxo de produção e aplicação do Índice de Rendimento Operacional Global no processo produtivo de uma empresa de componentes eletrônicos. Gestão & Produção 18(4), 705–718 (2011)
- Teixeira, E.S.: Graus de maturidade da cultura lean do polo metal-mecânico do nordeste de Santa Catarina. Masters Thesis in Production Engineering - Programa de Pós-Graduação do Instituto Superior Tupy IST/SOCIESC Sociedade Educacional de Santa Catarina, Joinville (2012)
- Miguez, S.A., Vink, P., Hallbeck, M.S.: Participatory ergonomics in a mobile factory. In: Vink, P., Kantola, J. (eds.) Advances in Occupational, Social, and Organizational Ergonomics, pp. 1–9. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2010)
- Quigley, J.M.: Reducing Process Costs with Lean, Six Sigma, and Value Engineering Techniques. Auerbach Publications, Boca Raton (2012). doi:10.1201/b13711-14
- Vink, P., Hallbeck, S.: Editorial: Comfort and discomfort studies demonstrate the need for a new model. Appl. Ergon. 43(2), 271–276 (2012)

Assessments of Ergonomic Risks in Banana Cultivation and Production

Oswaldo Jara¹⁽⁽⁾, Fanny Ballesteros², and Esteban Carrera¹

¹ Universidad Internacional SEK, Quito, Ecuador {oswaldo.jara,esteban.carrera}@uisek.edu.ec
² Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ, Quito, Ecuador fannyballesteros@outlook.com

Abstract. In banana cultivation, there are tasks that involve exposure to ergonomic hazards by the adoption of awkward postures, performing cyclical tasks and handling loads with a weight greater than 3 kg.

We evaluated 44 work positions with medium and high risk levels; the most affected body segments are trunk, neck, arms and wrists.

In the repetitive tasks was determined a medium risk, the factors that influence are the lack of pauses, high frequency of work and excessive muscular overload of wrists. The most critical risk is in lifting and transporting the fruit with an unacceptable level in all tasks evaluated. The results demonstrate an unacceptable ergonomic load in banana activities in the country, so that short-term safety and health programs should be integrated in the personnel involved to improve their work environments and prevent musculoskeletal disorders.

 $\textbf{Keywords:} \ Ergonomic risks \cdot Awkward postures \cdot Repeatability \cdot Load handling$

1 Introduction

- Ecuador is the largest exporter of bananas in the world and its presence in world trade is increasing. Exports grew from one million tons in 1985 to 5.7 million tons in 2013. This growth was mainly supported by the increase in planted area. About 18% of the bananas marketed in the world during the 1970s and 1980s came from Ecuador and this percentage increased in the 1990s to 30%. Banana production and trade in Ecuador offer direct employment to an estimated 380.000 people.
- Most companies have health and safety policies and only less than 50 of the 6,000 banana producers have legalized their occupational safety and health regulations at the Ministry of Labor. There is no health and safety management and workers work in precarious conditions and situations [1]. The tasks performed are performed and standing postures with inappropriate postures, with horizontal and vertical movements and movements, with high repetitiveness and highly demanding physical efforts [2, 4].
- Agriculture is a hard work and its workers suffer injuries and pains in various parts of the body, generating economic costs for compensation. In banana cultivation, there

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_28

are multiple tasks involving the exposure of workers to multiple risks, including ergonomic ones, because people must adopt inappropriate postures, perform tasks characterized by cycles and manually manipulate loads that weigh more than 3 kg [3].

2 Materials and Methods

- The objective of this study was to determine the level of risk of workers exposed at each stage of banana cultivation and production. For the evaluation, specific analysis methods were used for postural loading such as Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA), for repetitive tasks the OCRA (Occupational Repetitive Actions) Check List, and for manual handling of loads the ISO 11228-1 international standards, and ISO 11228-2.
- The REBA Method allows to establish the level of risk resulting from the adoption of awkward postures of the different body segments such as neck, trunk, legs, arm, forearm and wrists considering additional factors such as the application of force, and the type of activity performed.
- The OCRA Check List Method makes it possible to determine the risk for repetitiveness derived from various components such as frequency, strength, posture, duration and recovery in the execution of labor tasks.
- The ISO 11228-1 and ISO 11228-2 standards make it possible to know the risk of lifting, transporting, pushing and pulling in handling tasks in banana cultivation and production activities.
- The data collection was carried out in the middle of work activity and the evaluations were carried out in all the stages of cultivation and production of the fruit in four haciendas of the province of El Oro in Ecuador in the year 2016.
- The work stages evaluated were the tidy, garruche, dehanding, trimmed, chopped, weighing, gluing, removing and palletizing.
- The workforce consists exclusively of male staff, ranging in age from 18 to 45 years, with an average working time of 8 years in different plants.
- Exposed workers have not been given occupational medical assessments, so there are no official occupational medical data, although a high percentage refer to musculoskeletal pain mainly at the shoulders, neck, wrist and lower back. Although it is a legal requirement to implement a Health Surveillance Program for all workers of all companies in the country, this type of activities is not done because there are no regular controls established by public institutions.

3 Results

- The results of the specific evaluations of forced positions in the various stages of banana production and cultivation are:
- In the stage of dehanding in which the worker cuts the various hands of the fruit cluster, a mean risk level with a final average REBA score of 4 is evidenced, mainly due to the asymmetry of the neck, arms and trunk.

- In the trimming phase in which the worker receives fruit hands for later placement in the wash pools, a mean risk level with a final REBA average score of 5 could be determined due to the asymmetry of forearms, wrists, Trunk, arms, and neck.
- At the chopping point, the worker cuts banana clusters and classifies the appropriate fruit, and established a mean risk level with a final REBA average score of 5, due to the asymmetry of forearms, wrists, neck, trunk and arms.
- At the weighing station operators took the fruit clusters from the pool and proceeded to weigh them, and an average level of risk was established with a final REBA average score of 4.75, due to the asymmetry of wrists, neck, trunk and arms.
- In the bonding activity, the operators assemble the banana boxes, and a mean risk level with a final REBA average score of 6.25 was established, due to the asymmetry of wrists, neck, trunk, forearms and arms.
- In the removal phase of the boxes the operators proceed to pick up the different boxes and place them in the palletizing zone, and a high-risk level was established with a final REBA average score of 7.66, due to the asymmetry of wrists, neck, trunk, fore-arms, arms and legs.
- In the palletizing activity, the operators placed the different banana boxes on the pallet for later distribution, and a high risk level was established with a final REBA average score of 8.66, due to the asymmetry of wrists, neck, trunk, forearms, arms and legs (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Final score REBA in each activity of the cultivation and production of banana

At all stages of production, 44 work positions were evaluated, with a medium-risk level of 81,8% and a high-risk level of 18,2%; Being the body segments most affected trunk, neck, arms and wrists; Some positions are due to the requirement of the task and others due to the poor design of some work areas (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Risk level for awkward postures per the REBA method

The results of specific evaluations of repetitive tasks in the various stages of banana production and cultivation are:

In the labeling phase, a mean risk level was established with an OCRA Check List final score of 21.25, due to insufficient recovery, high frequency and influence of asymmetric postures.

At the gluing station, a mean risk level was established with an OCRA Check List final score of 18.87, due to insufficient recovery, high frequency, force application, and influence of asymmetric postures.

In the chopping activity, a medium risk level was established with an OCRA Check List final score of 22.10 due to insufficient recovery, high frequency, force application, and influence of asymmetric postures.

In terms of repetitive actions, three activities were evaluated, all of them presented a medium-risk level, with the risk factors being the lack of breaks, a high frequency of work and an excessive overload on the structure Muscle of the wrists.

The results of the specific evaluations by manipulation of loads in the diverse stages of production and cultivation of banana are:

In the tidying activity, there is lifting and transport of fruit clusters determining a totally unacceptable level of risk due to handling height (shoulder level).

- In the Garruchero phase, a convoy of clusters was dragged, a level of risk totally unacceptable was determined by the handling distances greater than 61 m and by the excessive weight involved in the application of excessive initial and sustained traction forces, in addition of the irregularities of the transit area.
- In box removal activity, the level of risk is unacceptable due to the elevated frequency of lifting and transport, and to the elevated vertical distances.

- In the case of palletizing boxes, the level of risk is unacceptable due to excessive horizontal distances of manipulation (greater than 40 cm) and inadequate vertical distances (less than 50 or greater than 125 cm).
- In the activity of pushing pallets of banana boxes with a weight of 1190.66 kg there is an unacceptable level of risk due to the application of both initial and sustained excessive forces.
- The most critical risk is in lifting and transporting the fruit, with an unacceptable level of risk in 100% of the tasks evaluated. The level of risk found is mainly due to the high manipulated weight, excessive handling frequency, inadequate geometries, and the size of the boxes leading to forced gripping of the same (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Level of risk for repetitive tasks and manual handling of loads in all jobs evaluated

4 Conclusions

- These results show that there are levels of ergonomic load that are not acceptable in banana activities in the country and short-term safety and health programs should be integrated in the personnel involved in order to improve their work environments and prevent musculoskeletal disorders.
- The most critical level of risk is found in activities involving manual handling of loads. These tasks must be modified immediately because of the high risk they pose to workers. Boxes with high weights and excessive dimensions are handled through inappropriate geometries and extreme distances.
- With respect to postural load and repetitiveness, the risk is also high, either because of poor postural habits, bad job designs, or excessive work rhythm, all of which lead

to the conclusion that exposed workers are potential candidates to develop musculoskeletal disorders in the upper limbs and back in the medium and long term.

• This study wants to highlight the need to implement technical and/or organizational improvements in the jobs of banana plantations, technical actions such as the redesign of jobs and organizational such as the training of workers; the implementation of a health surveillance program that can detect at an early stage any discomfort or damage that may be suffered by workers should also be immediately implemented.

There are few studies on the subject of banana cultivation and production, so new evaluations should be carried out to complement the results found and support the improvement of working conditions, in addition to being able to determine the prevalence of musculoskeletal damages of work origin in the field evaluated.

References

- 1. Harari, R.: Trabajo, Ambiente y Salud en la Producción Bananera del Ecuador. Corporación para el Desarrollo de la Producción y el Medioambiente Laboral, 1–6 (2009)
- 2. Chinchilla, E.: Seguridad y Salud Ocupacional en la Agricultura, 10–17 (2004)
- Litchfield, M.H.: Agricultural work related injury and ill-health and the economic cost. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 6, 175 (1999). doi:10.1007/BF02987623
- 4. Kirkhor, S.R.: Ergonomic risks and musculoskeletal disorders in production agriculture: recommendations for effective research to practice. J. Agromed. **15**, 281–299 (2010)
- Davis, K.: Understanding the ergonomic risk for musculoskeletal disorders in the United States agricultural sector. Am. J. Ind. Med. 50(7), 501–511 (2007)
- 6. Paniagua, J.: Guidelines for a rehabilitation model for banana packing plants from the integration of environmental variables and human factors. In: 6th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, AHFE (2015)

A Proposal for Field-Oriented System to Support Medical Risk Management. Support of Risk Management in Small and Medium Sized Hospital

Akifumi Hiranuma^(SC) and Yusaku Okada

Graduate School of Science Technology, Keio University, Yokohama-shi, Kanagawa, Japan kuronu-ma@keio.jp, okada.yusaku.labo@gmail.com

Abstract. Nowadays there is increased need for utilizing big data efficiently. In addition to using data to provide new information, combining various data sources can help create value-added information which provides new insights. In medical safety, there is increased attention for big data applications in healthcare and medical safety. Medical safety is supported by applying big data to the medical research fields. After considering the overall configuration of current system different applications were proposed. Because the database environment is not in place, authors could not consider the system in operational use, however researchers examined each application and formulated future policy.

Keywords: Database of medical \cdot Safety management system \cdot Prevention of medical adverse events \cdot Human factors \cdot PSF \cdot Medication error \cdot Fall down

1 Introduction

In today's information society, the world is filled with various data. In order to use this data well, there is a way of thinking such as big data and database. Big data is a collection of various data which is simply used as information. In addition to it, it is assumed to be used as derive value-added information by combining various data.

We are considering to adapt these big data systems to medical safety. We will collect various information on the medical site and make it into a database. We aim not only to use data as a single information, but also to combine data. Thus, we get noticed from a new viewpoint that has never been before. We aim to support safety activities at medical sites by designing a database system that supports medical safety.

In Japan, medical safety has come to draw due to the "Patient misunderstanding accident at Yokohama City University " and the "Erroneous medicine accident at Metropolitan Hiro Hospital " in 1999. After that, the government also took various medical measures, and revised the "medical law" several times. Various medical safety studies have been conducted in that process. Especially, research on 'drug counter-measures' [1] "against falling accidents" [2, 3] and 'medication accident countermeasures' has been taken up many times.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_29

Many researches on medical safety measures for medical safety managers are utilized in improving medical safety in Japan.

However, in the present situation, since each necessary medical data is managed for each medical safety measure, the necessary data is often duplicated in two measures. This is called a file-based data management method. This cannot share the data with multiple programs. Therefore, when deriving the countermeasure, files in which each data must be accessed. When it has to be updated, they have to do same thing twice. Furthermore, the process of data management also increases.

A database exists as similar as a file base. However, unlike file-based, databases enable data sharing.

Therefore, since data can be shared by a plurality of programs, data can be easily used, and managed updating and maintenance very simply.

In this research, in order to support medical safety management activities, the purpose are set from two perspectives.

- Construction of database type management system
- · Creating value-added information by integrating multiple data

Construction of Database Type Management System. Currently, data is often managed individually. In this research, first, create a database that collects various data in the hospital. Based on the premise of making these data, think about a method suitable for that analysis, standardize for that, and think about storing it on a database.

Creating Value-Added Information by Integrating Multiple Data. The basic medical safety measure is to convert the data that is necessary for deriving the countermeasures to information as it is. But by combining other information with it, the value of use as information increases. And we can derive information that we cannot care only with the countermeasures so far and think from a diverse perspective on medical safety



Fig. 1. A rough diagram of support medical risk management system.

activities. It may help medical safety managers, who are promoting medical safety activities, to analyze measures and may help to alleviate workload.

Based on the above two points, we designed the database type support system. Considering the countermeasure information to be output and the application for output, firstly, the overall configuration diagram of the system is created. The following is a rough diagram of the system (Figs. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6).



Fig. 2. Fall risk assessment diagram



Fig. 3. Reliability evaluation about intravenous drip



Fig. 4. The extract of detail procedure of intravenous drip



Fig. 5. Future application of fall risk assessment



Fig. 6. Future application of reliability evaluation

Here, the API is an abbreviation for application program interface, it is a system usage specification and output also in utilizing the actual system.

2 Methods

For this research, since there are no hospitals that are equipped with enough database environments to make use of the system at this stage, at this fiscal year, the researchers conducted the study by examining each countermeasure. Researchers studies two measures: "Fall risk assessment" and "Evaluation of Reliability in Medication." The researchers introduced the two measures and their application for these assessments.

2.1 Fall Risk Assessment

We created a fall risk assessment sheet on our own. The one shown below is the one.

The assessment is based on patient information and facility information in hospitals. In the system, when inquiring of API, fall risk assessment of each patient is carried out, and fall score is displayed. Information about patients and hospital environment are obtained from the database and applied to the following fall risk assessment sheet to calculate and display the fall risk of the patient.

2.2 Reliability Evaluation and Proposal of Procedure Manual on Medication

We divided medicine work into three flows "medicine" "intravenous drip" and "medication". When inquiring about each business, the risk manager is given a procedure written to the maximum detail and reliability evaluation of error factors of each work.

The following is an example of output.

Advice Data Collection. This is a summary of advice for various error factors for organizations and individuals. Advice is based on not only medical, but also literature such as ergonomics and cognitive engineering.

Therefore, it is advice from various perspectives.

3 Discussion

3.1 Fall Risk Assessment

The nurse can easily obtain the fall score of the patient, and it becomes possible for the nurse to pay attention to the patient who is liable to fall in the work at the daily medical site.

Future Application. We use data such as incident report, hospital floor map, advice data and so on. By using the incident report and the floor map, we aggregate points where fall accidents occurred frequently for each floor in the past and output these points on the floor map.

By applying the advice data, we aim to support fall prevention activities by displaying work advice to nurses in addition to the fall score of patients with a high risk of falling.

3.2 Reliability Evaluation and Proposal of Procedure Manual on Medication

Procedures written in full detail can be used for education for new care nurses. In addition, it is an opportunity to notice that the nurse is omitting the procedure that should be done.

Reliability evaluation chart enable a nurse to understand error factors in each work, so that even a little attention can be paid to daily tasks.

Future Application. Data such as the number of inpatient, nurse career data and advice data are applied. Currently, only the procedures written in the maximum detail are outputted, but we will also review applications that can propose a procedure manual corresponding to the situation (work volume, nurse data). Procedural documents corresponding to the site, it should not be omitted from the detailed procedure manual in a timely manner, displays the extracted procedure which can be omitted. Also, it displays that the error rate rises because the procedure is omitted. This will make them understand that the work is not perfect, and give a moderate anxiety to the work.

Also, based on error factors that can be seen by removing the procedure, advice is displayed from the advice data collection.

4 Conclusion

Since there is no database environment developed at this research stage, this paper provided an introduction of the application of big data analysis to demonstrate the valueadded by information analysis, which used in various datasets. This paper demonstrated applications for medical safety support system that can be used for various kinds of information analysis application in medical safety.

References

- 1. Arita, E., Hosoya, M.: The association between dispensing error factors and behavioral characteristics of pharmacists. YAKUGAKU ZASSHI **123**(5), 357–364 (2003)
- 2. Nakagawa, Y., Sannnomiya, K.: Incidence and consequence of falls among stroke rehabilitation inpatients in convalescent rehabilitation ward: data analysis of the fall situation in multi-institutional study. Rehabil. Med. **47**(2), 111–119 (2010)
- 3. Kitazawa, S.: "Operating procedure manual for safe use of pharmaceutical products" creation manual: Health Labour and Welfare Institute of Science (2007)
- Takeuchi, T., Onishi, M., Kanda, K.: Patients' expectations for nurses and nursing: a review of the literature. J. Jpn. Acad. Nurs. Admin. Policies 13(2), 81–88 (2009)
- 5. Japan Council for Quality Health Care: Medical accident information gathering business. www.med-safe.jp/

Risk of Developing Musculoskeletal Disorders in a Meat Processing Plant

Diogo Cunha dos Reis^{1,2}(⊠), Adriana Seára Tirloni², Eliane Ramos¹, and Antônio Renato Pereira Moro^{1,2}

 ¹ Biomechanic's Laboratory CDS, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil diogo.biomecanica@gmail.com
 ² Technological Center, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil

Abstract. The present study aimed to evaluate the risk of developing UL-WMSDs in a pig meat processing plant using the OCRA checklist. The study was conducted in a company with 3000 workers. The average of occupational repetitive actions performed by workers was 64.1 ± 14.3 per minute, representing nine points in the OCRA's scale. The average score of OCRA's checklist was 22.2 ± 7.7 , which is considered as a moderate risk. The scores for the right upper limb (22.2 ± 7.8 - moderate risk) did not differ (p = 0.192) from the left upper limb (21.6 ± 8.1 - moderate risk). Considering the five risk categories proposed by the OCRA method, six work tasks were considered as high risk (27%) and 16 represented moderate risk (73%). When performing simulations, in 19 of the 22 activities it was possible to reduce the risk of UL-WMSDs to very low levels, by reducing only the working pace ($-46.7 \pm 14.8\%$).

Keywords: Meat processing \cdot OCRA \cdot Risk assessment \cdot Musculoskeletal disorders

1 Introduction

Brazil is the fourth leading producer and exporter of pork meat in the world [1]. However, improvements in the working conditions in meatpacking industry have not grown at the same rate as production growth [2]. Slaughtering and meat processing work involve high loading intensities and cyclic repetitive muscle actions of the upper limb and thus implies an elevated risk of work-related musculoskeletal disorders [3–7]. Additionally, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) [8] indicates as risk factors for musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) in meatpacking plants the repetitive and/or prolonged activities, forceful exertion, awkward and static postures, continued physical contact with work surfaces (edges), excessive vibration from powered tools, cold temperatures and inadequate hand tools.

Recently, Sundstrup et al. [9] found among 645 Danish slaughterhouse workers a prevalence of pain in the shoulders (60%), elbows (40%) and hands/wrists (52%). Moreover, 38% of the workers reported work disability due to upper limb pain emphasizing the functional consequences of arm, shoulder and hand pain on daily work

performance. Tirloni et al. [10] found that the majority of the workers of a poultry slaughterhouse in Brazil reported some kind of bodily discomfort (67.2%), mainly on the shoulders (62.6%) and neck (46.2%). In another Brazilian slaughterhouse, Reis et al. [11] study revealed that the workers felt discomfort in the shoulder (45%), neck (29%), spine (26%), arms (23%), and hand and wrists (20%). According to Sundstrup et al. [12], chronic upper limb pain is associated with reduced neuromuscular function of the shoulder and hand, along with work disability in slaughterhouse workers.

High rates of acute injuries and chronic diseases are reported in pig slaughterhouses [13]. The majority of injury (63%) reports of a pork processing plant occurred at a cold worksite, and the main source of injury was the tasks that required the use of handheld tools [14]. Recent tool sharpening and equipment malfunction were associated with the highest rate ratio of laceration injury [15]. Furthermore, high-velocity and high-force manual work is a risk factor for musculoskeletal injuries in pig slaughterhouses [16]. Moore and Garg [17] give additional epidemiological evidence that upper extremity musculotendinous disorders may be causally associated with work in pig slaughterhouses. The disorders included nonspecific hand/wrist pain, epicondylitis, carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS), trigger thumb, trigger finger, and De-Quervain's tenosynovitis.

The OCRA checklist was developed to analyze the workers' exposure to various risk factors of developing upper limb work-related musculoskeletal disorders (UL-WMSDs) (strength demand, repetitiveness, inappropriate posture and inadequate movements, lack of recovery periods, and others, defined as "complementary") related to activities performed [18, 19]. This checklist was based on a consensus document of a technical committee in musculoskeletal injuries of the International Ergonomics Association (IEA) [18, 19]. Although there are several studies evaluating the risk factors for the prevalence of upper limb work-related musculoskeletal disorders among poultry slaughterhouse workers [20–24], no studies involving pig slaughterhouses were found.

Thus, the aim of this study was to evaluate the risks associated with repetitive movements of the upper limbs in different meat processing tasks in a pig slaughterhouse, using the OCRA checklist.

2 Method

The procedures in this study were approved by the local Ethics Committee in Research with Human Beings, in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration.

The study was conducted in a pig slaughterhouse with a total of 3,000 workers employed. In order to evaluate the risks associated with repetitive movements of the upper limbs, the OCRA checklist (Table 1) [25] was used to assess the risk of 22 work activities, which included the majority of the workers in the meat processing plant. Videos of 10 task cycles were recorded for each worker while carrying out their work tasks, for subsequent analysis.

For data presentation, descriptive statistics in terms of mean, standard deviation and percentage were used. In order to compare the risk between the sides of the workers' body, the Student t-test (SPSS 17.0) was used, adopting $p \le 0.05$.

Color	Risk	Checklist points	Incidence of UL-WMSDs (%)
Green	Acceptable	<7.5	<5.26
Yellow	Borderline or very low	7.6–11	5.27-8.35
Light red	Low	11.1–14	8.36–10.75
Dark red	Moderate	14.1–22.5	10.76–21.51
Purple	High	>22.5	>21.51

 Table 1.
 Score description of the OCRA checklist, risk classification and respective incidence of UL-WMSDs [25].

3 Results and Discussion

Considering that a shift totaled 7 h 20 min of work with three rest breaks of 15 min, the net time of repetitive work ranged from 361 to 420 min (multiplier factor 0.95). Three points were assigned to the "Recovery" risk factor (on a scale of zero to 10). Regarding the other risk factors considered by the OCRA method (frequency of technical actions, force applied, posture and complementary factors), scores were assigned according to the characteristics of each activity.

The average of occupational repetitive actions performed by workers was 64.1 ± 14.3 per minute (Table 2), representing nine points in the OCRA's scale (0 to 10 points scale). In a poultry slaughterhouse industry, Colombini and Occhipinti [26] found similar results, observing an average of 60 actions per minute (with few opportunities for short pauses), which represents 8.2 points in the OCRA checklist. In another poultry slaughterhouse, Reis et al. [22] observed 55.2 ± 27.6 technical actions per minute, which represents 7 points in the OCRA checklist. Researchers of the same study group [23] reported similar results (63.7 ± 25.3 technical actions per minute) for another Brazilian poultry slaughterhouse. In a pig head processing company, Pellegrini et al. [27] reported that the ergonomic analysis of work showed an elevated risk for disorders of the upper limbs due to the high frequency of technical actions (between 15 and 82.5) combined with awkward postures, use of force, complement factors and the lack of the necessary time for recovery.

According to Kilbon [28] the worker should not exceed 25–33 actions per minute, considering that frequencies above these values interrupt the physiological recovery mechanisms from operating efficiently, increasing the incidence of tendon injury.

Meat processing and slaughtering work tasks involve high loading intensities and cyclic repetitive muscle actions of the upper limbs. Combined with limited time for recovery and temporary episodes of work disability, the prevalence of musculoskeletal pain in the hand, arm and shoulder is high among slaughterhouse workers [9].

The average score of OCRA's checklist for all jobs analyzed in the company was 22.2 ± 7.7 points (Table 2), which is considered as a moderate risk (Table 1). The scores for the right upper limb (22.2 ± 7.8 - moderate risk) did not differ (p = 0.192) from the left upper limb (21.6 ± 8.1 - moderate risk). Although no other studies evaluating the risks of UL-WMSDs in pig slaughterhouse workers have been found, there are studies utilizing the OCRA checklist to evaluate these risks in poultry slaughterhouses [20–23, 26].

Activities - department	Actual situ	situation observed			Simulations for minimizing the risk			
	Units/min	Tasks/min	OCRA	Risk	Units/min	Tasks/min	OCRA	Risk
Closing ham baking pan	10	50	15	М	7	35	11	VL
Secondary packaging - 5 kg sausage	6	48	15	М	4.3	35	11	VL
Meat hanging for seasoning - bacon	17.6	53	16	М	10	30	11	VL
Removing ham from cage	10.7	43	16	М	7,5	30	11	VL
Removing sausage from cage	8.1	48	16	М	6	35	11	VL
Removing staples from 4 kg bologna	7.8	62	17	М	5	40	11	VL
Secondary packaging - Ham	8.3	58	18	М	5	35	11	VL
Packing sliced bacon	1.15	69	18.5	М	0.67	40	11	VL
Filling sausage casings	2.5	60	18.5	М	1.5	35	11	VL
Secondary packaging - 1 kg sausage	3	60	19	M	1.7	35	11	VL
Hanging bologna	2.8	78	20	М	1.25	35	11	VL
Sealing 1 kg sausage package	3	75	21	М	1.4	35	11	VL
Positioning 4 kg bologna on sealing machine	30	90	21	М	12	35	11	VL
Packing pepperoni	10	70	21	М	5	35	11	VL
Secondary packaging - 5 kg franks	3.8	56	21.5	М	2	30	11	VL
Placing ham on baking pan	18.8	56	22	М	10	30	11	VL
Fueling bacon slicer	15	90	24.7	Н	3.3	20	11	VL
Positioning 4 kg bologna on belt conveyor	30	90	24.7	Н	10	30	11	VL
Secondary packaging – bologna 3.5 kg	24	72	24.7	Н	7.5	20	11	VL
Removing 3.5 kg bologna from cage	12	48	38	Н				
Removing 4 kg bologna from cage	6	60	38.5	Н				
Hanging 4 kg bologna in cage	4.6	74	41.8	Н				
Average	10.7	64.1	22.2	М	5.3	32.6	11.0	VL
Standard-deviation	8.6	14.3	7.7		3.5	5.4	0.0	

Table 2. Risk assessment for repetitive movements of the upper limbs performed by the slaughterhouse workers, and the simulations for reducing this risk by reducing the working pace.

Risks: H-high; M-moderate; VL-very low

Colombini and Occhipinti [26] found similar results in a poultry slaughterhouse industry, with an average of 20 points (moderate risk) on the OCRA checklist, confirming that 22.4% of the 969 workers were affected by UL-WMSDs (proven with laboratory and clinical tests). Other studies conducted in Brazilian poultry slaughterhouses presented also moderate risks (21.8) [22], (18.3 \pm 2.7) [23] and (16.8 \pm 4.2) [21].

Considering the five risk categories proposed by the OCRA method, six work tasks analyzed in the present study were considered as high risk (27%) and 16 represented moderate risk (73%) (Table 2). Some previous studies have reported much higher rates of high-risk activities that contribute for the development of UL-WMSDs in Italy poultry slaughterhouses (90%) [26], Iran (67%) [20], and in Brazil (56.5%) [22].

Recent Brazilian studies have shown lower percentages of high-risk activities in poultry slaughterhouses (between 8 and 9%) [21, 23]. It is hypothesized that the findings of a smaller number of high-risk activities, observed in these studies, have been influenced by the recent implementation of the Standard Regulatory Norm 36 (NR-36) [29], which establishes the minimum requirements for evaluation, control and monitoring risks in activities performed at meat processing industries. Among the requirements of the NR-36 that directly influence the results of the OCRA checklist, there is the definition of the minimum duration of the psychophysiological recovery periods (20 min, 45 min or 60 min). This requirement should be adopted in the productive sectors of the industries, according to the duration of the shift (up to 6 h, up to 7 h 20 min or 8 h 48 min, respectively). In addition, the recovery periods should be at least 10 min and at most 20 min, distributed in a fashion as not to affect the first hour of work, contiguous with the meal interval and at the end of the last hour of the working day. When adopting these measures, there is a reduction of the time of exposure to repetitive activities and/or muscular overload, reducing the score of the variable "recovery" of the OCRA checklist. Thus, the hypothesis is evidenced by the disparity between the results of the most recent studies [21, 23] and the results of Reis et al. [22] study. These authors evaluated a Brazilian slaughterhouse prior to implementation of the NR-36, and found greater exposure to repetitive activities (480 min), with a shorter duration for daily rest break (10 min).

Starting from statistical procedures (regression analysis), the precursors of the OCRA method [25], based on epidemiological data, developed hypotheses of disease prevalence expected in a particular occupational setting. Possible percentages were defined for each level of incidence of UL-WMSDs in the checklist, as described in Table 1. In meat deboning activity, Colombini et al. [25] found an incidence of UL-WMSDs of 47.7% of workers from workstations classified with 28 points in the OCRA checklist (high risk). Thus, it is possible to affirm that the individuals analyzed in the present study who performed activities of moderate risk have a probability of developing UL-WMSDs between 10.76 and 21.51%, whereas in high-risk activities the probability is >21.51%.

According to Vergara and Pansera [30], pig slaughterhouse employees are exposed to ergonomic risk related to the physical load and physical environment. Musculoskeletal problems resulting from poorly organized work environments are of concern, as they lead to the emergence of occupational diseases with negative economic and social repercussions, both for government and for companies, and especially for the family [31, 32]. Thus, providing an ergonomically appropriated work place is of fundamental importance for companies, due to the loss of employees, and for the government, which should provide the payment of welfare benefits for treatment and rehabilitation [31, 32]. In this manner, Pellegrini et al. [27] recommend to consider some organizational factors for the prevention of UL-WMSDs in pig slaughterhouses. These factors include: adoption of a rational distribution of rest breaks (preferably hourly); alternation of tasks with the rotation of workers on more tasks; use of knives that have the handle covered by adherent material and do not cause compression in the hands; sharpening the knives several times a day; do not neglect information and training of workers on the proper use of knives and education on sharpening knives at the first signs of fatigue.

Due to predominant highly repeatable movements of the upper limbs in pig slaughterhouses [4, 16, 27], and previous studies suggesting the reduction in working pace to prevent UL-WMSDs [10, 21–23], simulations of reduced working pace to achieve very low risk levels utilizing the OCRA checklist were performed (Table 2). When performing simulations, in 19 of the 22 activities it was possible to reduce the risk of UL-WMSDs to very low levels, by reducing only the working pace ($-46.7 \pm 14.8\%$). In the remaining activities analyzed, it was not possible to achieve very low risk levels by reducing only the working pace, due to the high demand for strength required to perform the tasks (Removing 3.5 kg bologna from cage, removing 4 kg bologna from cage, hanging 4 kg bologna in the cage). Reis et al. [21, 23] also carried out simulations of reducing the work pace in poultry slaughterhouses activities, aiming to reduce the risk of UL-WMSDs. When the pace was reduced to $-42.1 \pm 14.5\%$ and $-38.8 \pm 13.3\%$, very low risk levels were achieved for most of the activities analyzed (24/26 and 20/22, respectively), with the exception of those activities requiring significant force exertion.

4 Conclusion

Based on results of this study and the postulation of the literature, the following can be concluded:

- Most of the activities carried out by the workers were classified as moderate risk;
- There was no difference between the risks observed in both upper limbs;
- Simulations of reducing the working pace showed the effectiveness of this organizational measure to reduce the risk of UL-WMSDs.

Workers exposed to moderate risk activities have two to four times more chances of developing UL-WMSDs than the population that was not exposed.

Future studies are needed to determine whether the present findings can be generalized to other pig slaughterhouses, given that the current study was limited to analyzing only those employees within a Brazilian slaughterhouse.

Lastly, some organizational measures should be considered to reduce the risk of work-related musculoskeletal disorders of the upper limbs. Some of the suggestions are: reducing the working pace, adopting job rotation between tasks with different biomechanical requirements, adopting rest breaks well distributed throughout the workday (preferably hourly), increase the number of employees, use of sharp knives to reduce the effort required to perform cutting task and monitor the risk level of work activities through objective tools such as the OCRA checklist.

References

- 1. Brazilian Association of Animal Protein: Annual report (2016). http://www.abpa-br.com.br
- Sardá, S., Ruiz, R.C., Kirtschig, G.: Juridical tutelage concerning the health of meat packing workers: public service considerations. Acta Fisiatr. 16, 59–65 (2009)
- Quandt, S.A., Grzywacz, J.G., Marin, A., Carrillo, L., Coates, M.L., Burke, B., Arcury, T. A.: Illnesses and injuries reported by Latino poultry workers in western North Carolina. Am. J. Ind. Med. 49(5), 343–351 (2006)
- Stoy, D.W., Aspen, J.: Force and repetition measurement of ham boning. Relationship to musculoskeletal symptoms. AAOHN J. 47(6), 254–260 (1999)
- Lipscomb, H., Kucera, K., Epling, C., Dement, J.: Upper extremity musculoskeletal symptoms and disorders among a cohort of women employed in poultry processing. Am. J. Ind. Med. 51(1), 24–36 (2008)
- Magnusson, M., Ortengren, R., Andersson, G.B., Petersén, I., Sabel, B.: An ergonomic study of work methods and physical disorders among professional butchers. Appl. Ergon. 18, 43– 50 (1987)
- Punnett, L., Wegman, D.H.: Work-related musculoskeletal disorders: the epidemiologic evidence and the debate. J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol. 14, 13–23 (2004)
- 8. OSHA. Occupational Safety and Health Administration (1993). http://www.osha.gov/ Publications/osha3123.pdf
- Sundstrup, E., Jakobsen, M.D., Jay, K., Brandt, M., Andersen, L.L.: High intensity physical exercise and pain in the neck and upper limb among slaughterhouse workers: cross-sectional study. BioMed Res. Int. 218546 (2014)
- 10. Tirloni, A.S., Reis, D.C., Santos, J.B., Reis, P.F., Barbosa, A., Moro, A.R.P.: Body discomfort in poultry slaughterhouse workers. Work **41**, 2420–2425 (2012)
- Reis, P.F., Peres, L.S., Tirloni, A.S., Reis, D.C., Estrázulas, J.A., Rossato, M., Moro, A.R.P.: Influence of anthropometry on meat-packing plant workers: an approach to the shoulder joint. Work 41, 4612–4617 (2012)
- Sundstrup, E., Jakobsen, M.D., Brandt, M., Jay, K., Aagaard, P., Andersen, L.L.: Associations between biopsychosocial factors and chronic upper limb pain among slaughterhouse workers: cross sectional study. BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 17, 104 (2016)
- Kyeremateng-Amoah, E., Nowell, J., Lutty, A., Lees, P.S.J., Silbergeld, E.K.: Laceration injuries and infections among workers in the poultry processing and pork meatpacking industries. Am. J. Ind. Med. 57(6), 669–682 (2014)
- Cummings, A.: Hand, wrist, forearm and finger occupational injuries in pork processing: comparison by worksite and source of injury. Digital Commons, pp. 1–15, University of Nebraska-Lincoln (2014)
- Lander, L., Sorock, G., Stentz, T.L., Smith, L.M., Mittleman, M., Perry, M.J.: A case-crossover study of laceration injuries in pork processing. Occup. Environ. Med. 69, 410–416 (2012)
- Frost, P., Andersen, J.H., Nielsen, V.K.: Occurrence of carpal tunnel syndrome among slaughterhouse workers. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 24(4), 285–292 (1998)
- 17. Moore, J.S., Garg, A.: Upper extremity disorders in a pork processing plant: relationships between job risk factors and morbidity. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. **55**(8), 703–715 (1994)
- Colombini, D., Occhipinti, E.: Preventing upper limb work-related musculoskeletal disorders (UL-WMSDs): new approaches in job (re)design and current trends in standardization. Appl. Ergon. 37, 441–450 (2006)

- Occhipinti, E., Colombini, D., Cairoli, S., Baracco, A.: Proposta e validazione preliminare diuna checklist per la stima dell'esposizione lavorativa a movimenti e sforzi ripetuti degli artisuperiori. Med. Lavoro 91, 470–485 (2000)
- Mohammadi, G.: Risk factors for the prevalence of the upper limb and neck work-related musculoskeletal disorders among poultry slaughter workers. J. Musculoskelet. Res. 15(1), 1– 8 (2012)
- Reis, D.C., Moro, A.R.P., Ramos, E., Reis, P.F.: Upper limbs exposure to biomechanical overload: occupational risk assessment in a poultry slaughterhouse. In: Goonetilleke, R., Karwowski, W. (eds.) Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, vol. 489, 7th edn., pp. 275–282. Springer, Florida (2016)
- Reis, D.C., Reis, P.F., Moro, A.R.P.: Assessment of risk factors of musculoskeletal disorders in poultry slaughterhouse. In: Arezes, P. et al. (eds.) Proceedings Book of the International Symposium on Occupational Safety and Hygiene - SHO2015, vol. 1, 1st edn., pp. 294–296. Sociedade Portuguesa de Segurança e Higiene Ocupacionais, Guimarães, Portugal (2015)
- Reis, D.C., Ramos, E., Reis, P.F., Hembecker, P.K., Gontijo, L.A., Moro, A.R.P.: Assessment of risk factors of upper-limb musculoskeletal disorders in poultry slaughterhouse. Proc. Manuf. 3, 4309–4314 (2015)
- Pinetti, A.C.H., Buczek, M.D.R.M.: Ergonomic work analysis in a Brazilian poultry slaughterhouse cutting room. In: Proceedings 19th Triennial Congress of the IEA, pp. 1–7. IEA, Melbourne (2015)
- Colombini, D., Occhipinti, E., Fanti, M.: Método Ocra para análise e a prevenção do risco pormovimentos repetitivos: manual para a avaliação e a gestão do risco. LTr, São Paulo (2008)
- Colombini, D., Occhipinti, E.: Risultati della valutazione del rischio e del danno in gruppi dilavoratori esposti, in diversi comparti lavorativi, a movimenti e sforzi ripetuti degli artisuperiori. Med. Lavoro 95, 233–246 (2004)
- Pellegrini, M., Panzone, I., Billeri, L., Innocenti, A.: Risk assessment of repetitive and strain movements of the upper limbs in a pig head processing company. Prev. Res. 3(2), 71–73 (2014)
- Kilbom, A.: Repetitive work of the upper extremity: Part II—the scientific basis (knowledgebase) for the guide. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 14, 59–86 (1994)
- 29. Brasil: Ministério do Trabalho e Emprego, Portaria MTE n. 555, de 18 de abril de 2013, Norma Regulamentadora 36. Segurança e Saúde no Trabalho em Empresas de Abate e Processamento de Carnes e Derivados, Diário Oficial da União (2013)
- 30. Vergara, L.G.L., Pansera, T.R.: Ergonomics analysis of the activity of boning shoulder in a pig slaughter-house in the city of Ipiranga-SC. Work **41**, 703–709 (2012)
- Vitta, A., Bertaglia, R.S., Padovani, C.R.: Effects of two educational programs on musculoskeletal symptoms in office workers. Braz. J. Phys. Ther. 12, 20–25 (2008)
- Hagberg, M., Tornqvist, E.W., Toomingas, A.: Self-reported reduced productivity due to musculoskeletal symptoms: associations with workplace and individual factors among white-collar computer users. J. Occup. Rehabil. 12, 151–162 (2002)
Work Related Musculoskeletal Disorders (WRMSD) in Construction Workers and Main Causes

Zenija Roja¹⁽⁾, Henrijs Kalkis², Inara Roja³, and Janis Zalkalns²

 ¹ University of Latvia, Jelgavas 1, Riga, Latvia zenija.roja@lu.lv
 ² Riga Stradiņš University, Dzirciema 16, Riga, Latvia henrijs.kalkis@gmail.com
 ³ Riga 1st Hospital, Bruninieku 5, Riga, Latvia inara.roja@gmail.com

Abstract. Construction industry still is characterized with physically demanding work duties despite the ongoing modernization of new technology. Construction work requires physical and psychosocial effort, working in compulsory and awkward postures. WRMSD are the most common health problems among employees in construction. The aim of this study was to determine WRMSD reasons caused by physical load and psychosocial risks at work for painters and tilers in the construction enterprise. Results of the study shows that causes of WRMSD in employed in construction, are not only physical risks at work, but also psychosocial risks, as well as individual attitude towards one's own health.

Keywords: WRMSD · Construction · Questionnaire · Painters · Tilers

1 Introduction

Construction is one of the biggest Latvian national economy sectors. Many jobs in the construction industry are still physically demanding. The construction site is a temporary workplace, meaning that material and tools may have to be carried and the demands may vary (e.g., between renovation and the construction of new buildings). Construction work also requires climbing ladders and sometimes working in awkward postures. WRMSD and injuries are among the most frequently reported causes of lost or restricted work time [1]. WRMSD are the most common health problems among employees in Latvia, incl. construction. Research in other countries has also proved that construction workers most of all suffer from WRMSD, especially older employees [2]. Opposite to other occupational diseases, WRMSD are of multifactor origin [3], where significant are not only physical risks [4], but also psychosocial and organizational [5, 6], as well as individual risk factors [7]. Cigarette smoking, obesity, diabetes, hypertension, and high cholesterol level are major health risk factors for builders [8]. Research has proved that cigarette smoking 12 to 13 times increases risk of death from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and accounts for nearly one of every five deaths in the United States [9, 10]. Obesity has been linked with stroke, diabetes,

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_31

and several other chronic conditions. The prevalence of obesity among adults, measured by body mass index, has increased significantly since the 1980s in US [11].

Physical overload at work (lifting and moving heavy loads, repeated hand movements, awkward postures, including long-term bending or sharp turning of the body, work on knees, work with hands raised above shoulder level are considered to be the main reasons in the origin of WRMSD [12, 13]. Construction workers, comparing to office workers, suffer from arthritis, back health disturbances, chronic pulmonary diseases, limitation of movements, and traumata much more often [14, 15]. Work environment is an important predictor of disability pension among construction workers with those in physically heavy jobs having the highest burden of disability [16]. Research in Finland, in its turn, has proved that disability in relation to health problems due to strain at work occurs 1.5 to 2.4 times more than due to WRMSD [17]. Psychosocial risks at work are also significant in the health of employees in relation to WRMSD. A lot of researchers consider that work stressors have a negative effect on employees' health, which manifests as anxiety, depression, burn-out and cardiovascular diseases [18, 19].

Therefore, in order to avoid health problems related to the effect of ergonomic risks on construction workers, thorough analysis of WRMSD reasons and working out of ergonomic interference plan are necessary [20].

The aim of this study was to determine WRMSD reasons caused by physical load and psychosocial risks at work in painters and tilers in the construction enterprise. 24 painters and 31 tilers participated in this investigation. All of them were males and complained about feeling discomfort (4 months or longer) in different body parts every day after work. Exclusion criteria were: acute musculoskeletal and peripheral nervous system diseases, as well as other diseases.

The study was approved by the Human Ethics and Institutional Review Board of Riga Stradins University, Latvia in 2015.

2 Methods

2.1 Participants

Research group consisted of 24 painters and 31 tilers. Background factors of the research group are shown in Table 1.

2.2 Extended Version of Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire (NMQ-E)

The extended version of Standardized Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire (NMQ-E) was used to assess WRMSD reasons in painters and tilers [21]. The extended version of NMQ-E in our study contains some additional questions regarding body postures, job demands and social support.

Occupation	n	Mean	Range	Mean height,	Mean weight,	Mean BMI,
(length of service)		age \pm SD		$m \pm SD$	$kg \pm SD$	$kg/m^2 \pm SD$
Painters	24	42.17 ± 17.75	18–71	1.71 ± 0.08	79.42 ± 7.10	27.16 ± 2.94
(0-5 years)	9	3.22 ± 1.39	18–39	1.71 ± 0.11	75.11 ± 8.85	25.94 ± 3.42
(6-10 years)	3	39.00 ± 5.57	33–44	1.73 ± 0.08	79.33 ± 1.15	26.50 ± 2.14
(11-20 years)	7	49.14 ± 7.13	38–60	1.70 ± 0.04	84.14 ± 3.53	29.23 ± 2.19
(>20 years)	5	66.60 ± 5.86	65–71	1.73 ± 0.05	80.60 ± 5.59	26.85 ± 2.32
Tilers	31	50.32 ± 16.17	19–72	1.73 ± 0.09	81.13 ± 7.03	27.11 ± 1.74
(0-5 years)	3	21.00 ± 1.73	19–22	1.69 ± 0.01	82.00 ± 3.46	28.60 ± 1.32
(6-10 years)	5	43.40 ± 10.67	36–56	1.76 ± 0.10	81.60 ± 5.86	26.39 ± 2.48
(11-20 years)	14	49.36 ± 12.48	34–72	1.72 ± 0.10	80.43 ± 7.73	27.30 ± 1.55
(>20 years)	9	65.44 ± 7.68	46–71	1.75 ± 0.08	81.67 ± 8.14	26.70 ± 1.60

 Table 1. Background factors of the subjects: length of service, age, height, weight, body mass index (BMI).

2.3 Statistical Analysis

The acquired results were processed, using statistical data processing software SPSS.20 [22] according to popular descriptive statistical methods. Confidence interval (95% CI) and prevalence proportion ratio (PPR) were used to indicate the reliability [23].

3 Results and Discussion

Analyzing the participants of the study it should be noted that the involved painters and tilers were at the age of 18–72 with disposition to obesity. It is confirmed by BMI calculation data (BMI > 25). Overweight people are more susceptible to heart and blood circulation diseases, as well as to musculoskeletal health problems. Above mentioned observations are also described in other studies related to construction workers [24]. 75% of them had primary school education, 15% - secondary school education, 10% - professional qualification. All of the involved males were heavy smokers and willingly used alcohol in their spare time, which suggests unhealthy life style and free time activities.

Observing the work process of the participants it was concluded that painters move and lift heavy loads manually, they are subjected to chemical risks, noise and fluctuations of microclimate parameters in the work environment. Work is performed in standing, sometimes in squatting position and kneeling down. Specifics of tilers' work is: work with sharp manual instruments cutting or leveling out tiles, work in awkward position, standing or kneeling down, as well as in squatting or crawling position. Apart from that tilers are more subjected to dust and fluctuations of microclimate parameters in the work environment.

The distribution of persistent complaints in each part of the body and psychosocial conditions, for painters and tilers separately, according to the extended version of Nordic musculoskeletal questionnaire NMQ-E, was shown in the Tables 2 and 3.

	Painters*		Referenc	Reference groups (length of service, years)						
	(n = 24)		I (0-5) (1	n = 9)	II (6-10)	(n = 5)	I (0-5) (1	n = 9)	III (>20)	(n = 8)
	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%
			PPR	(95% CI)	PPR	(95% CI)	PPR	(95% CI)	PPR	(95% CI)
Neck	20	83	7	78	3	100	5	71	5	100
			0.93	(0.88-0.97)	1.2	(1.09-1.27)	0.86	(0.74-0.97)	1.2	(1.03-1.36)
Shoulder	21	88	9	100	3	100	4	57	5	100
			1.14	(1.02-1.26)	1.14	(1.02-1.25)	0.65	(0.57-0.69)	1.14	(1.03–1.22)
Elbow	5	21	1	11	0		0		4	80
			0.53	(0.47-0.59)					3.84	(3.26-4.98)
Wrist/hands	20	83	7	78	3	100	5	71	5	100
			0.93	(0.84–1.04)	1.2	(1.13–1.29)	0.86	(0.67–0.98)	1.2	(1.12–1.24)
Upper back	17	71	8	89	1	33	7	100	1	20
			1.25	(1.11–1.29)	0.47	(0.45-0.51)	1.41	(1.33–1.47)	0.28	(0.26-0.31)
Low back	5	21	2	22	0		0		3	60
			1.07	(1.02–1.18)					2.88	(2.71-3.04)
Hip/thigh	0	0	0		0		0		0	
Knee	15	63	4	44	0		6	86	5	100
			0.71	(0.67–0.75)			1.37	(1.23–1.45)	1.6	(1.35–1.92)
Ankle/shank/feet	3	13	0		0		2	29	1	20
							2.29	(2.14-2.65)	1.6	(1.43–1.76)
Awkward	24	100	9	100	3	100	7	100	5	100
posture			1	(0.96–1.05)	1	(0.96–1.04)	1.00	(0.98–1.04)	1.00	(0.98–1.05)
Physical	10	42	3	33	1	33	6	86	0	
exhausting			0.8	(0.68-0.93)	0.8	(0.73-1.02)	2.06	(1.94–2.21)		
Extensive work	5	21	0		1	33	2	29	2	40
					1.6	(1.42–1.74)	1.37	(1.22–1.45)	1.92	(1.71–1.98)
High work speed	4	17	0		0		2	29	2	40
					0		1.71	(1.59–1.88)	2.4	(2.17–1.56)
Too many job	0		0		0		0		0	
tasks										
Colleagues'	12	50	7	78	1	33	2	29	2	40
support			1.56	(1.36–1.72)	0.67	(0.46-0.73)	0.57	(0.396-0.79)	0.8	(0.68–1.02)
Supervisors'	4	17	1	11	1	33	1	14	1	20
support			0.67	(0.63-0.72)	2	(1.88-2.16)	0.86	(0.72-1.03)	1.2	(1.14–1.32)

Table 2. Distribution of persistent complaints in different parts of the body, psychosocial conditions of painters, prevalence proportion ratio (PPR) and 95% confidence interval (CI), compared with joint group (n = 24).

* Multiple answers were possible

Results displayed in Table 2 show that painters mostly complain of discomfort in the neck (83%), shoulders (88%), at the base of the hand (83%) and upper back (71%). After work, 63% note pain and discomfort in knees as well. These problems occur more in younger painters (24.22 ± 7.84), whose length of service in the related profession is from 0 to 5 years (PPR 0.93–1.25; CI 0.88–1.26). In our study it could be related with physical and psychological unpreparedness for work load. It is also proved by information obtained in interviews with painters. Similar complaints appear also among older painters (66.60 ± 5.86), whose length of service in the profession is >20 years (PPR 2.8–1.2; CI 2.78–1.24). Older employees (100%) complain of discomfort in knees as well (PPR 1.6–1.37; CI 1.35–1.92). The employees whose length of service in

the profession is 17.29 ± 3.64 complain mainly about discomfort or pain in knees (PPR 1.37; CI 1.23–1.45), upper back (PPR 1.41; CI 1.33–1.47), in the area of the hand (PPR 0.86–0.93; CI 0.67–0.98), neck and shoulders (PPR 0.86–0.65; CI 0.74–0.69).

It may be explained by great length of service in the profession, amount of work affecting hands and upper back, work in bent position, rather often on knees, and fluctuations of microclimate parameters in work premises. It also conforms to the results of other authors' studies which claim that WRMSD are affected not only by physical load, but also by other risks of work environment [25]. Analyzing painters' complaints about work postures, it should be noted that 100% of the participants complained about work in awkward posture. About physical exhaustion at work complained 42% of painters, mainly those with length of service 17.29 ± 3.64 (PPR 2.06; CI 1.98–1.04). Support from colleagues is received by 50% of painters, mainly younger ones from the age group 24.22 ± 7.84 with length of service 0-5 years (3.22 ± 1.39) . Supervisor's support is received by 17% only from different age groups. As to high work speed and too many job tasks, there are practically no complaints. Acquired results allow us to conclude that essential significance in WRMSD origin belongs to interaction between physical load at work and psychosocial risks, and that employees' age and length of service are also significant. Similar conclusions have been made also by other authors [26].

Statistical data presented in Table 3 show that 65% of tilers complain about pain in their neck, 55% - shoulders, 68% - wrist/hands, 48% - low back and 42% - knee. All (100%) of younger employees (21.00 \pm 1.73) with length of service in the profession 0-5 years complain about pain in the neck and shoulders, the same refers to employees of age group 49.36 \pm 12.48 having length of service 11–20 years (PPR 1.03–1.22; CI 1.01-1.25). About pain in knees and legs more complain older employees (PPR 1.19-2.58; CI 1.13-1.63) with length of service more than 20 years, and 50% of employees whose length of service is 11-20 years (PPR 1.11-0.69; CI 1.10-0.75). Comparing with painters' complaints, it should be noted that 48% of tilers, mainly older ones, acknowledge pain in the lower back (PPR 1.38-0.78; CI 1.35-0.82), but they practically do not have complaints about pain in the upper back. It may be explained by specifics of tilers' work, frequent load on legs and knees, work in crawling position, irregular load on these parts of the body. Statistical data reveals that 100% of tilers in all age groups admit work in awkward postures, 77% complain about physical exhaustion, 55% about work at high speed. This category of employees receives bigger support from colleagues and supervisors than painters: support from colleagues is received by 68% and supervisor's support by 39% of tilers. About physical exhaustion more have complained tilers whose length of service in the profession is 11 to 20 years (PPR 1.03; CI 0.98-1.03), and above 20 years-older employees (PPR 1.29; CI 1.23-1.35). The employees whose length of service is 11-20 years have admitted work at high speed (PPR 1.03; CI 1.397-1.49), and this group of tilers has also received the greatest support from colleagues and supervisors in their direct work (PPR 0.98–1.02; CI 1.11–1.78). It shows that work load is not divided evenly, and in order to satisfy client's needs, rather often, direct supervisors join the work process. Together with this, rest pauses are not taken, tilers work with physical and mental overload, which significantly affects development of WRMSD.

Z. Roja et al.

Table 3. Distribution of persistent complaints in different parts of the body, psychosocial conditions of tilers, prevalence proportion ratio (PPR) and 95% confidence interval (CI), compared with joint group (n = 31).

	Tilers*		Reference groups (length of service, years)							
	(n = 31)		I (0–5) (1	n = 3)	II (6–10)	(n = 5)	III (11–2	0) (n = 15)	III (>20)	(n = 8)
	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%
			PPR	(95% CI)	PPR	(95% CI)	PPR	(95% CI)	PPR	(95% CI)
Neck	20	65	3	100	3	60	10	66	4	50
			1.55	(1.48-1.61)	0.93	(0.88-0.95)	1.03	(1.01-1.06)	0.78	(0.69-0.82)
Shoulder	17	55	3	100	4	80	10	66	0	
			1.82	(1.73–1.87)	1.46	(1.42–1.51)	1.22	(1.17–1.25)		
Elbow	5	16	0		1	20	3	20	1	13
					1.24	(1.21-1.25)	1.24	(1.22-1.28)	0.78	(0.71-0.83)
Wrist/hands	21	68	0		4	80	12	80	2	25
					1.18	(1.14–1.20)	1.18	(1.15–1.23)	0.37	(0.28-0.45)
Upper back	8	26	0		0	0	7	47	1	13
							1.81	(1.75–1.83)	0.48	(0.46-0.54)
Low back	15	48	0		2	40	10	67	3	38
					0.83	(0.81-0.88)	1.38	(1.35–1.42)	0.78	(0.72-0.81)
Hip/thigh	0	0	0		0		0		0	
Knee	13	42	0		2	40	7	47	4	50
					0.95	(0.89-0.98)	1.11	(1.10–1.15)	1.19	(1.13–1.24)
Ankle/shank/feet	3	1	0		0		1	7	2	25
							0.69	(0.68-0.75)	2.58	(1.56–1.63)
Awkward	31	100	3	100	5	100	15	100	8	100
posture			1.00	(0.98-1.05)	1.00	(0.96–1.03)	1.00	(0.95-1.06)	1.00	(0.96-1.05)
Physical	24	77	0		3	60	12	80	8	100
exhausting					0.78	(0.74-0.85)	1.03	(0.98-1.03)	1.29	(1.23–1.35)
Extensive work	7	23	1	33	1	20	3	20	2	25
			1.48	(1.42–1.54)	0.89	(0.85-0.92)	0.89	(0.86-0.92)	1.11	(1.08–1.14)
High work speed	17	55	1	33	2	40	12	80	2	25
			0.61	(0.58-0.64)	0.73	(0.70-0.79)	1.46	(1.37–1.49)	0.46	(0.42-0.51)
Too many job	10	32	2	67	2	40	3	20	3	38
tasks			2.07	(2.02–2.14)	1.24	(1.19–1.26)	0.62	(0.60-0.63)	1.16	(1.14–1.19)
Colleagues'	21	68	0		1	20	12	80	5	63
support					0.30	(0.25-0.37)	1.18	(1.11–1.31)	0.92	(0.90-1.01)
Supervisors'	12	39	0		1	20	10	67	1	13
support					0.52	(0.48-0.55)	1.72	(1.65–1.78)	0.32	(0.28-0.36)

* Multiple answers were possible

In our study on WRMSD reasons the acquired results conform to studies of other authors showing that construction employees, actually, perform heavy manual work and are employed in awkward postures, they lift and move heavy weight. Health condition of painters and tilers is also affected by other risks of work environment, for example, work in unsuitable microclimate, noise, as well as work at high speed, which in long-term period can cause WRMSD [24–27]. The health and well-being of workers are greatly influenced by exposures not only to occupational hazards in organizational context, but also by risks associated with individual health behaviours [28]. It corresponds with data acquired in our study revealing that painters and tilers spend their leisure time using alcohol and smoking.

4 Conclusion

Results of our study allow us to conclude that causes of WRMSD in painters and tilers, employed in construction, are not only physical risks at work (awkward postures, heavy manual work, load on the back, etc.), but also psychosocial risks (work at high speed, lack of support from colleagues and supervisors), as well as individual attitude towards one's own health. This study reveals that there is no relationship between the increased level of pain or discomfort in body parts with age or length of service. The study will be continued in order to analyze interaction of physical load and psychosocial risks in tillers and painters.

References

- Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA): Ergonomics: prevention of musculoskeletal disorders in the workplace. Cited 27 Dec 2016 (2015). http://www.osha. gov/SLTC/ergonomics/
- 2. Stattin, M., Järvholm, B.: Occupation, work environment, and disability pension: a prospective study of construction workers. Scand. J. Public Health **33**, 84–90 (2005)
- van der Beek, A., Frings-Dressen, M.: Assessment of mechanical exposure in ergonomic epidemiology. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 55, 291–299 (1998)
- 4. Winkel, J., Mathiassen, S.: Assessment of physical work in epidemiology studies: concepts, issues and operational considerations. J. Ergon. **37**, 979–988 (1994)
- Devereux, J., Vlachonikolis, I., Buckle, P.: Epidemiological study to investigate potential interaction between physical and psychosocial factors at work that may increase the risk of symptoms of musculoskeletal disorder of the neck and upper limb. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 59, 269–277 (2002)
- Dong, X.S., Wang, X., Largay, J.A.: Occupational and non-occupational factors associated with work-related injuries among construction workers in the USA. Int. J. Occup. Environ. Health 21(2), 142–150 (2015)
- Armstrong, T., Buckle, P., Fine, L.A.: Conceptual model for work-related neck and upper limb musculoskeletal disorders. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 19, 73–84 (1993)
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Heart Disease Risk Factors. Cited 27 Dec 2016 (2016). http://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/risk_factors.htm
- 9. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: The health consequences of smoking-50 years of progress. A report of the Surgeon General, Atlanta (2014)
- Jha, P., Ramasundarahettige, C., Landsman, V., Rostrom, B., Thun, M., Anderson, R.N., McAfee, T., Peto, R.: 21st century hazards of smoking and benefits of cessation in the United States. N. Engl. J. Med. 368(4), 341–350 (2013)
- Flegal, K.M., Carroll, M.D., Ogden, C.L., Curtin, L.R.: Prevalence and trends in obesity among U.S. adults, 1999–2008. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 303(3), 235–241 (2010)
- 12. Schneider, S.P.: Musculoskeletal injuries in construction: a review of the literature. Appl. Occup. Environ. Hyg. 16, 1056–1064 (2001)
- Jaffar, N., Abdul-Tharim, A.H., Mohd-Kamar, I.F., Lop, N.S.: A literature review of ergonomics risk factors in construction industry. Proc. Eng. 20, 89–97 (2011)
- Dong, X.S., Wang, X., Daw, C., Ringen, K.: Chronic diseases and functional limitations among older construction workers in the United States: a 10-year follow-up study. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 53(4), 372–380 (2011)

- Dong, X.S., Wang, X., Fujimoto, A., Dobbin, R.: Chronic back pain among older construction workers in the United States: a longitudinal study. Int. J. Occup. Environ. Health 18(2), 99–109 (2012)
- Järvholm, B., Stattin, M., Robroek, S.J.W., Janlert, U., Karlsson, B., Burdorf, A.: Heavy work and disability pension—a long term follow-up of Swedish construction workers. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 40(4), 335–342 (2014)
- Mäntyniemi, A., Oksanen, T., Salo, P., Virtanen, M., Sjösten, N., Pentti, J.: Job strain and the risk of disability pension due to musculoskeletal disorders, depression or coronary heart disease: a prospective cohort study of 69,842 employees. Occup. Environ. Med. 69(8), 574–581 (2012)
- Bishop, G.D., Enkelmann, H.C., Tong, E.M., Why, Y.P., Diong, S.M., Ang, J., Khader, M.: Job demands, decisional control, and cardiovascular responses. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 8 (2), 146–156 (2003)
- Kahn, R.L., Byosiere, P.: Stress in organizations. In: Dunnette, M.D., Hough, L.M. (eds.) Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, vol. 3, 2nd edn, pp. 571–650. Consulting Psychologists Press, Palo Alto (1992)
- Van der Molen, H.F., Sluiter, J.K., Hulshof, C.T., Vink, P., Frings-Dresen, M.H.: Effectiveness of measures and implementation strategies in reducing physical work demands due to manual handling at work. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 31, 75–87 (2005)
- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sørenson, F., Andersson, G., Jørgenson, K.: Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl. Ergon. 18(3), 233–237 (1987)
- 22. Levesque, R.: SPSS Programming and Data Management: A Guide for SPSS and SAS Users, 4th edn. SPSS Inc., Chicago (2007)
- Thompson, M.L., Myers, J.E., Kriebel, D.: Prevalence odds ratio or prevalence ratio in the analysis of cross sectional data: what is to be done? Occup. Environ. Med. 55, 272–277 (1998)
- 24. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Healthy weight it's not a diet, it's a lifestyle! Losing weight (2012). http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/losing_weight/index.html
- Djupsjöbacka, M., Stenberg, L., Gellerstedt, S.: Muscle Aches? Chronic Muscular Pain at Work—Risks, Origins and Recommendations. Musculoskeletal Injury Center, Gävle University College, Gävle (2004)
- Devereux, J.J., Vlachonikolis, I.G., Buckle, P.W.: Epidemiological study to investigate potential interaction between physical and psychosocial factors at work that may increase the risk of symptoms of musculoskeletal disorder of the neck and upper limb. Occup. Environ. Med. 59, 269–277 (2002)
- Väänänen, A., Toppinen-Tanner, S., Kalimo, R., Mutanen, P., Vahtera, J., Peiró, J.M.: Job characteristics, physical and psychological symptoms, and social support as antecedents of sickness absence among men and women in the private industrial sector. Soc. Sci. Med. 57, 807–824 (2003)
- Schwatka, N.V., Butler, L.M., Rosecrance, J.R.: An aging workforce and injury in the construction industry. Epidemiol. Rev. 34(1), 156–167 (2012)

Ultraviolet Radiation in Sunlight and Artificial Lighting Systems: Are They Alike?

Sandra Preto $^{1(\boxtimes)}$ and Cristina Caramelo Gomes 2

¹ Faculdade de Arquitectura da Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal sandrapreto@hotmail.com
² CITAD, Lusíada University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal cris caramelo@netcabo.pt

Abstract. Nowadays, we are urged to avoid the sun to avoid the UVR (ultraviolet radiation) especially since the data indicate that the growing cases of melanoma and cataracts occur due to it. So, we stay out of the sun. Moreover, artificial light has UVR and, even though the amount of UVR under artificial light is much less than under sunlight, the truth is that the time that we spend indoor, with the lights on, is way too much. The light has a great impact on our visual and non-visual requests. These facts are responsible for many of our health complaints. Still, what are the differences between the natural UVR (sunlight) and the artificial UVR (artificial light)? The objective of this paper is, through literature review, examine the way we balance our needs and how we can promote our health and wellbeing.

Keywords: Artificial light \cdot Visual and non-visual \cdot Workplace \cdot Ultraviolet radiation \cdot Vitamin D

1 Introduction

In order to better understand how UVR affects our wellbeing, we start by defining vitamin D. Secondly, we summarise the ranges of UVR and their impacts on our skin, eyes and circadian system. After that, it is important to distinguish between UV production and UV destruction. Then information about UVR in artificial lighting systems is exemplified. However, there are filters for lamps and for windows. Lastly, we discuss about the UVR impact on indoor and outdoor workers.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Sunlight & Vitamin D

Since the beginning of life on Earth, sunlight has followed human evolution, and that is the main reason why we are adapted to the complete solar spectrum; it is an archetype of natural and healthy light [1, 2]. Sunlight has both protective and detrimental impact on human health, and when exposure is low it can cause seasonal affective disorder (SAD), rickets, and too much exposure can cause melanoma (skin cancer), cataract (opacity in the lens of the eye) and other eye diseases [3-5]. But, somewhere in the middle, there is the right amount of human exposure under sunlight. There are many benefits from sunlight, such as the production of Vitamin D, which only occurs when we are exposed to UV-B radiation (between 290 and 320 nm) [6, 7]. It is necessary that the exposure is not for too long so that we do not tan much [8]. In order to promote the production of vitamin D when in times of stress the amount of additional cholesterol increases [7], so it is essential to have cholesterol in our diet [8]. For instance, when in times of stress, the amount of additional cholesterol increases and we deplete our reserves to promote the production of vitamin D. The provitamin D7 is transformed into pre-vitamin in the outer skin, and in the liver and kidneys the bio-form D3 (Fig. 1) is formed [2]. This phenomenon was found by Adolf Otto Reinhold Windaus who received the Chemistry Nobel Prize in 1928 for his discovery of vitamin D3 [9]. In addition, the most food and supplements produce D2, which is a different type of Vitamin D. Therefore, the UVR is very important. Vitamin D (under UV-B) have a protective effect on health in diagnostics as depression, cancer, cardiovascular disease, influenza, diabetes, skin diseases (psoriasis, atopic dermatitis, vitiligo but it is also associated with a higher risk of such scourges as multiple sclerosis, tuberculosis and many forms of cancer, liver spots, actinic keratosis and solar elastosis [3-5, 10, 11]. Furthermore, it is essential for a healthy skeleton to consume calcium and phosphorus. UV-A is responsible for photo ageing, bone disorders, immune-suppression of the skin, immune system and potential enhancement of the negative effects of UV-B exposure [12, 13]. In order to produce 25.000 international units of Vitamin D the skin have to be exposed to sunlight for about 20 min. Even though, there are some conditions that can foster production of vitamin D, such as being young, not obese, for instance, have light skin, when it is summer, in the middle of the day, a greater percentage of skin exposed to the sun and not all parts of the body produce the same quantities of vitamin D (hands and face almost do not produce vitamin D, and chest is the body part that produces the most), when we are lying down (like at the beach), if we are without sunscreen and if we are near the Equator [8, 14]. However, sunscreen with factor 15, for instance, reduces solitrol (Vitamin D) production by 99.9% [20]. Women aged between 20 and 55 years living in a polluted area (urban) have a higher risk of developing vitamin D deficiency [15]. Those who are obese may require two to three times more production of vitamin D in order to satisfy the minimum requirements [9]. Also, as we age the skin loses production capacity of synthesize vitamin D [15]. Exposure to UV-B is very important for our health because there are very little food contains natural D3 and food that is fortified do not fulfil the vitamin D requirements [16, 9]. Moreover, in winter months (November to February), no production of vitamin D3 is found, at latitudes of 42°N, and the same happens at latitudes of 52°N from October to March. It is not easy to get the right quantity of vitamin D (Fig. 2) [5]. In nature bright blue light always comes with UVR. The hypothalamus has to coordinate different hormone concentrations and adapt them to the environmental conditions. There is one very important hormone that is not excreted by a gland but produced directly in the skin under the influence of ultraviolet radiation with wavelengths between 290 and 320 nm: the so-called Vitamin D.



Fig. 1. Biological functions for genes whose expression levels were altered after 2 months of vitamin D3 supplementation. After receiving vitamin D3 supplementation were identified 291 genes whose expression was significantly decreased or increased. Some of these genes influence several pathways that are involved in response to stress and DNA repair, DNA replication, immune regulation, epigenetic modification, transcriptional regulation and other biological functions. In addition, vitamin D3 supplementation influenced the expression of Y RNA and CETN3 that are involved on DNA repair in response to UVR exposure [9].



Fig. 2. Schematic diagram of the relation between UVR exposure and the burden of disease. Points A and C represent inappropriate UVR exposure. Fair-skinned populations in Australia with high outdoor UVR exposure typify point A. Point C represents people with insufficient UVR exposure, whose dietary vitamin D intake will also be important in determining their vitamin D status. Point B represents optimal UVR exposure: a person with correct UVR dose for skin type [5].

In order to enlighten the several impacts on our body and mind, let us begin with the definition and distinction of different wavelengths.

2.2 Ultraviolet Radiation

The solar radiation (SR) is composed of ultraviolet radiation (UVR), visible radiation (light) and infrared radiation (IR). UVR (Fig. 3) is often divided into 3 wavelengths:

UV-A (315–400 nm) - the weakest, UV-B (280–315 nm) and UV-C (100–280 nm) - the strongest, like proposed by the Second International Congress on Light in 1932 [2, 5, 10, 11] However, dermatological and environmental photo biologists use values slightly different. Visible radiation (380–780 nm) and Infrared includes IR-A (780–1400 nm), IR-B (1400–3000 nm) and IR-C (3 μ m–1 mm) [2].



Fig. 3. Spectrum of the Sun [2].

Only 60% of the UVR are responsible for driving life on Earth, the remaining 40% is reflected back into space. Ultraviolet (UV) radiation (R) is produced mainly by the sun, and almost (95%) of the UVR that reaches the Earth is in the UV-A range, and a smaller amount (5%) is UV-B [11, 17]. There are many factors that UVR depends on, such as the time of day (a third of the daily UVR is produced from 11 a.m. to 1 p.m. and the other three-quarters between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m.) [15, 17], season of the year (UV rays are weaker in winter time) [17] (Fig. 4, on the right), distance from Equator (latitude 0° , as we get further away from the Equator the weaker the UVR is) [9], altitude (UVR increases with altitude, by 6–8% per 1000 m) [14, 5, 17]. In fact, in the summer at noon, the UV is more intense due to a shorter distance between the Sun and the Earth's surface, and the UV-B is more intense (two-three times more) in Equator, when compared with northern Europe (Fig. 4, on the left). In addition, direct and scattered (diffuse) are the components of the solar radiation, where direct is characterized by the rays from the sun that passes through the atmosphere and the scattered is diffuse by air molecules and depends on the wavelength [17]. Another factor that contributes for this effect is the weather conditions, such as a cloudy day (a clear sky have higher UVR, although at certain conditions clouds could enhance UVR) [10, 14, 17], whereas on days with scattered clouds we have to spend more 10% of time exposure, on broken clouds we need to stay more 27% of the time and, finally, beneath overcast it is advisable to spend more 68% of time [8]. In addition, we have to count with reflections from surfaces, such as grass, soil, water (less than 10%) snow (80%), and sand (25%) [10, 17]. Also, we must realise that the ozone layer filters completely the UV-C radiation [8] and absorb UV-B which it is the reason for the annual variation, compared with the UV-A, conversely the ozone depletion lead to a UV-B radiation increase [10, 11, 14]. Pollution, also, filters out UVR [11, 15]. In addition, the different UVR ranges have different impacts on humans, the UV-A, for instance, can alter the structure of collagen and elastin fibres, cause skin-ageing (wrinkles) and can cause indirect damage on DNA. UV-B, are the main responsible for direct damage to the DNA, can cause sunburn and thought to cause most skin cancers. UV-C, is filtered by the ozone layer, but it can be present in some man-made artificial light, such as arc welding torches, mercury lamps, and used to be present in the sunbeds [10, 11].



Fig. 4. Estimation of global geographical distribution of the UV Index in the winter (January) and summer (July) months at noon, for clear day [11].



Fig. 5. Absorption and transmission of solar radiation in the eye. The cornea and crystalline lens filter out UV-B and most UV-A, so that the most energetic light reaching the retina is short wavelength blue-violet light [19].

Nevertheless, there is more into it, the light has great impact on human health, which can be divided into three ways: the radiation exposure can damage the eye and the skin, on photochemical and thermal systems, and the visual and the circadian systems [4, 12]. The eyes and the skin are the organs more exposed to UV rays [11]. At the eyes it can cause many conditions, such as the formation of cataracts (opacity of the lens), photo keratitis (snow blindness) photo retinitis (also called blue-light hazard) [4] and pterygium (tissue growth on the surface of the eye) which can lead to impair vision [10, 11, 16]. UV-C exposure of the eyes, for instance, can cause DNA damage, lead to

cataract formation and retinal damage [18]. Fortunately, the eye has some mechanisms of defence (Fig. 5). Some of the damages can be repaired although the repair mechanisms become less effective with age [4]; moreover, damages can be accumulated over lifetime. Sunglasses with UV-A and UV-B filters are very important for children [11] under 9 years of age, when their retinas are less protected.

Besides the impact at the eyes, there is, also, the impact on the skin. However, we must keep in mind that UVR is also dependent on the sensibility of the individual [11]. As a matter of fact, a skin type I, produces six-times more vitamin D than a skin VI [14]. Even though, the skin has protective mechanisms such as the production of melanin (tan) [11]. The darker the skin, the less will be affected by radiation [2]. The skin is the largest organ of human body, and it is, constituted by the dermis, which contains the collagen fibres, gives the skin its elasticity where the skin-aging is a result of elasticity decrease (Fig. 6). The UV-A reaches the epidermis [6], but UV-A only reaches the dermis, the capillary layers and the blood vessels [6]. Some of the biological effects of UV-A to skin are: it generates free radicals and causes indirect DNA [2, 9, 18] damage (malignant melanoma), due to the fact that UV-A penetrates deeper which contribute for the damage of the collagen fibres, destroys vitamin A [2, 18], reduces skin and blood antioxidants [16]. Whereas skin exposure to UV-B causes erythema (sunburns), malignant melanoma, although it has positive effects, also, such as the moderate doses induce the production of vitamins D and K [18]. Melanin, is a natural protection of the skin that is produced in response to UV-B exposure, and acts as an antioxidant and reduce the damage on the cells by free radicals [21]. Cloths such as hats and sunscreens are a protective measure of the UV negative effects [5, 14] as well as Mediterranean diet [2, 15, 16]. Also, monosaturated fats in our diet, such as almonds, will help to increase bio-availability of vitamin D from the UV-B radiation [8]. Another protective factor is the Omega-3 characterised by fatty acids [16] and Vitamin D may also reduce damage in the skin induced by UVR [16], even though UV-B exposure showed no significantly increase in the risk of skin cancer [2].



Fig. 6. Skin penetration depth of optical radiation [2]

As far as the impact of light on the circadian system [4] is concerned, the light received by the eyes is transmitted through the optic nerve and reaches the pineal gland, which is connected to the hypothalamus. The synchronization of circadian rhythms is related to the hormonal system, and the result is perceived by the alertness fatigue, and emotional levels (Seasonal Affective Disorder, SAD) [13]. As stated above, sunlight regulate various body functions, and it is a great disappointment that western society gives more attention to the negative effects of UV [2]. Even if with an UVR exposure equal to zero some of the diseases still occur, without vitamin D this situation gets worse. For instance, the pituitary gland and pineal are antagonistic organs in the brain, which regulates the endocrine and the circadian systems, respectively, and at the same time react to light through the eye and skin. The pituitary is of extreme importance since it induces the stress hormones production (like cortisol) and the pineal gland is responsible for melatonin production. In addition, it is important to juxtapose what could be the results of UV and how it impacts in our physiological system.

2.3 UV Production vs UV Destruction

In spite of that, vitamins are by definition substances which the body cannot produce independently, Solitrol (Vitamin D) is antagonistic to melatonin, whereas melatonin concentration is higher the risk of cancer is lower. Furthermore, while UV builds up Solitrol (Vitamin D) in the capillary layers of the skin, other hormones like steroids are destroyed under the influence of this radiation. This endocrine reduction is compensated by the activation of retinohypothalamic tract, which promotes the new hormone production [6]. One of the main reasons of this paper construction, is to point out that the UV contained in the man-made artificial light do not have the same behaviour. The artificial light, especially with high colour temperature tells to the brain through the eye the amount of UV outside that it is time to build stress hormones, but Solitrol does not come, and the stress and sex hormones are not destroyed (Fig. 7). This happens because there is no UV-B, or not enough, in the light and, in addition the skin is



Fig. 7. Dermal photo transduction: photochemical skin reactions [20].

covered by clothes, which when in long term conditions can lead to cardiovasculatory diseases and hormone-dependent cancers, such as breast cancer [6]. So, it is important to understand the UVR presence in the artificial light.

2.4 Artificial Light

UVR and infrared are present in artificial light, which means that some lamps produce significant infrared and ultraviolet radiation. A side effect is that we are exposed to UVR at indoor environments - such as workplace - without knowing [4, 12]. Fortunately, the infrared radiation repair the oxidative damage caused by blue light and UVR (Fig. 8) [1] but incandescent lamps, which are mainly red light, are no longer produced or available for consumption. UVR is produced mainly by gas discharge lamps (low pressure mercury), fluorescent lamps (and compact fluorescent lamps - CFL) and light-emitting-diodes (LEDs) [11].



Fig. 8. Spectral ranges responsible for retinal damage and repair correlated with spectral energy distribution of different lamp types [1].

The incandescent lamp produces clean light without modulation frequencies and flicker [6]. Incandescent light sources avoid unwanted hormonal malfunction [1]. However incandescent lamps are no longer available since they have been discontinued. Tungsten halogen lamps are used at home and at workplaces, and when unfiltered they can cause injury at short distance, as for example, task lights [4, 12, 16]. The problem is that they have been recently discontinued also. So, there are only two lighting systems left: Fluorescent and LED. Fluorescent lamps are commonly used at workplaces. Although these lamps emit small amounts of UV the exposure to it accumulates over the day, which could cause some risk to skin and at the eyes. Besides, UVR emission, fluorescent lamps contain mercury vapour [6]. And, this is an issue that it is worthy to clarify, since mercury is a toxic substance which is very difficult to eliminate and the body deposits it in tissues with a low metabolic activity so we can find it in the neuronal myelin sheaths of the brain [6], Myelin wraps axons then are responsible for the communication between neurons, i.e. synapses. Another fact is that in the past the human was attuned to sunlight, but nowadays man is attuned to mercury.

so this is a real problem and most of us do not realise it. In addition, the discharge on the mercury atmosphere produces UVR [13]. This being stated, let us get back to UVR presence in fluorescent lamps. So, in the UV-B range there are TL/01 and TL/12 lamps, which are mainly used in phototherapy and, in the UV-A region there are TL/09 and TL/10 used in photochemotherapy and phototherapy [2]. Moreover, UVR is used for cosmetic treatment of the skin [11]. So, all fluorescent lamps emit some UV. Typical fluorescent lamps, including CFLs (compact fluorescent lamps), emit very low levels of UV. Depending on the mercury vapour pressure we can have: low-, medium- and high-pressure mercury lamps [2]. Whereas low-pressure mercury (254 nm, UV-C range) is used for sterilization, disinfection (water and waste, for example) [2], the medium-pressure mercury lamps emit the same UV power but can be made more compact [11]. And, high-pressure mercury lamps emit more radiation below 215 nm (UV-C range) [11]. Like traditional tube-style fluorescent lamps, CFLs contain a small amount of mercury as already stated. Typical household CFLs contain less than 5 mg of mercury (size of the tip of a pen). Though CFLs do not emit mercury as they operate, only when the outer glass tubing that contains the mercury breaks [21]. LEDs spectrum is above 400 nm, which is not within the UV light wavelength but, instead is in the blue light range. The output of a UV LED, is in the 368-nm range [11], so relatively pure blue light from the LED has almost no UV [21]. However, exposure for long periods of time will have some impact. At outdoor environments, we can find sodium vapour lamps which are used essentially in street lights. The sodium-vapour bulb is extremely efficient, producing large amounts of yellow light with little electricity and it contains virtually no UV [21]. Furthermore, we must have in mind, that there is a large and increasing number of fluorescent light sources in our environment which produce high amounts of photooxidative potent light, such as mercury vapour lamps with high colour temperature, like for instance the backlight of TFT computer screens and TV sets [1]. So, it is important to understand how, and if there is that possibility, we can avoid the downside of UV-A and, maybe, increase UV-B exposure, when indoors.

2.5 Filters

As for filters, there are some ways to avoid UVR. Let us begin with the luminaire and afterwards we will discuss about windows filters that can be used. For instance, UVR from tungsten halogen lamps can be reduced by using a glass cover [4]. CFLs should not be allowed for more than 60 min at distances less a 0.30 m [4]. Dyes can absorb UVR. HID (High intensity discharge) lamps emit significant amount of UVR and like tungsten halogen can be minimized with a UV filter [12]. The glass used in CFLs already provides a UV filtering effect. In addition, any additional glass, or plastic, or fabric used in lighting fixtures that is between the individual and the CFL will act as additional UV filters and by increasing the distance between individual and any radiation source, will also reduce the small level to a lower level [21]. On the other hand, there are also window filters such as UV-filtering window films which are flexible films that adhere to glass and block UV and visible light. Films that filter mainly UV light are clear (usually with a slight yellowish cast when viewed on edge), while to filter visible light the film must be tinted or coated. The majority of films available now nearly

eliminate UVR, elimination of UV light is typically stated as 95–99% or better in the range of 200 to 380 nm. Window films are usually laminated polyester film layers modified with material that absorbs, scatters, or reflects UV and visible light. Most often films are impregnated with dyes or carbon particles or coated with a layer of magnetic sputter vapor deposited metal to accomplish the desired results. Metallic coatings, usually aluminium, will reflect incident light, thereby reducing the transmission of UV and visible light and can also create a reflective mirror-like surface from the exterior. There are non-reflective/metallic options that can also reduce glare on the interior. The UV absorbers can be built into the film base, coated on the film, or applied in the adhesive. They can be applied to interior windows, storm glass, or used as roller blinds. Often window films are applied to the interior window surface. Films made for exterior application are more expensive and guaranteed for about half the amount of time, because they are prone to peeling due to exposure to the elements. Interior films are generally guaranteed for 10-15 years. Films can be removed with solvents, such as paint strippers, ammoniated solutions, or odourless thinners. Besides, window film can, in summer, cuts down heat within the home, reducing air conditioning expenses, and in winter, some films reflect interior heat back into the house, reducing heating costs and it helps keep sunshine from fading upholstery and home furnishings [22, 23]. Filters can be very important since chronic exposure to UV-A rays through windows may accelerate skin aging by 5 to 7 years. More than 90 percent of skin cancers and the visible signs of skin aging, are caused by the sun [23]. So, what is better for us, to stay indoors or to go out?

2.6 UV Indoor versus UV Outdoor

There is some contradiction when we compare workers working in indoor and outdoor environment. Although, outdoor workers are exposed more time to UVR than indoor ones, there are an increased incidence of malignant melanoma for indoor workers. UV-A radiation passes through windows, which can break down vitamin D3 formed after outdoor exposure. So, production of the provitamin D3 only happens under sunlight. Vitamin D3 can be converted to its most hormonally active form, calcitriol, which kills melanoma cells in vitro and reduces tumour growth in vivo. Therefore, indoor workers may be at a higher risk of malignant melanoma. Besides, UVA window exposures can cause negative biological effects such as photo-aging among others. In addition, indoor workers are exposed to minor amounts of UV-A and UV-B from fluorescent lights [24].

3 Discussion

Presently, many dermatologists and physicians strongly recommend us to avoid sunlight as a countermeasure to melanoma formation. The melanoma, particularly the malignant cases are increasing worldwide, as the other immune diseases. So, they are suggesting that we spend, more time indoors, especially between 11 a.m. and 16 p.m., which is when the UV-B radiation is at its peak. The simple fact that the present society spend 90% of their lifetime indoors, where the mainly light available is artificial and the only way that we receive UVR is from the windows and from artificial light sources itself, although this last fact is unknown for the most the indoor workers, it isn't the best answer. Because of the fear of skin cancer people continually avoid sunlight, and what is worse is that they think that before and after this UVR time, there is no risk of melanoma, but, it is the opposite that is true. Our windows glass and lamps could help us to decrease UV-A and to increase UV-B but as already stated the impact on our endocrine system can never be ignored. So, how can we balance our needs? Well, it seems that the best solution is have an access to outdoor environment of some kind. If we think in our workplace it can be hard to fulfil our needs, on the other hand if we change our way of conceiving spaces we might achieve the equilibrium. If we start to think of indoors environments with a place where we can be outdoor for pauses for instance, then we begin to have some answers to our needs. Spaces like patios, indoor gardens, where we simply can get some sun we will have a more balanced vitamin D production, we will not endanger our endocrine system, not so much at least, we will promote our health which will improve our wellbeing and help us to achieve a better performance at work. So, what are we waiting for? Let begin to change our way of thinking and of conceiving spaces for a "sustainable self" and not be concerned merely with energy costs.

Acknowledgements. This work is funded by National Funds through FCT - Foundation for Science and Technology, I.P., under the project UID/AUR/04026/2013.

References

- 1. Wunsch, A.: Artificial light and health—a plea for the incandescent lamp. https://www. google.pt/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved= 0ahUKEwjAw-7tgqDUAhXGuhQKHVjxBJUQFgg1MAA&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww. vitamindwiki.com%2Ftiki-download_wiki_attachment.php%3FattId%3D6285% 26download%3Dy&usg=AFQjCNHRqS_8PogGqARA24NmM6i0Fju2kw
- Koninklijke Philips Electronics: Light sources for phototherapy. https://www.interlight.biz/ Catalogs/Philips/Philips%20Phototherapy%20Lamps.pdf
- 3. Beute, F., Kort, Y.A.W.: Salutogenic effects of the environment: review of health protective effects of nature and daylight. Appl. Psychol. Health Well-Being **6**(1), 67–95 (2014)
- 4. Boyce, P.: The impact of light in buildings on human health. In: SHB2009—2nd International Conference on Sustainable Healthy Buildings, Seoul (2009)
- Lucas, R., McMichael, T., Smith, W., Armstrong, B.: Solar ultraviolet radiation global burden of disease from solar UVR. In: WHO Public Health and the Environment, Geneva (2006)
- 6. Wunsch, A.: Artificial lighting and health. J. Optometr. Photother. 2 (2006)
- Carbone, L.D. et al.: 25-Hydroxyvitamin D, cholesterol, and ultraviolet irradiation metabolism clinical and experimental. Metab. Clin. Exp. 57, 741–748 (2008)
- 8. Vitamindwiki: Optimize vitamin D from the sun. http://vitamindwiki.com/tiki-index.php? page_id=1051
- 9. Holick, M.F.: Biological effects of sunlight, ultraviolet radiation, visible light, infrared radiation and vitamin D for health. Anticancer Res. **36**, 1345–1356 (2016)

- 10. American Cancer Society: Ultraviolet (UV) radiation. What is UV radiation? http://www. cancer.org/cancer/cancercauses/sunanduvexposure/skincancerpreventionandearlydetection/ skin-cancer-prevention-and-early-detection-what-is-u-v-radiation
- 11. Heering, W.: UV sources basics, properties and applications. IUVA News 6(4), 7–13 (2004)
- 12. Hse.gov.uk: Lighting at work. http://www.qub.ac.uk/safety-reps/sr_webpages/safety_ downloads/HSG38Lightingatwork.pdf, www.hse.gov.uk
- 13. Boyce, P.: Is full-spectrum lighting special. http://www.iar.unicamp.br/lab/luz/ld/Sa%FAde/ Is%20Full-Spectrum%20Lighting%20Special.pdf
- Engelsen, O.: The relationship between ultraviolet radiation exposure and vitamin D. Status Nutr. 2, 482–495 (2010)
- 15. Hosseinpanah, F. et al.: The effects of air pollution on vitamin D status in healthy women: a cross sectional study. BMC Public Health **10**, 519 (2010)
- 16. Coroneo, M.: UVR and the anterior eye. Eye Contact Lens 37(4), 214-224 (2011)
- 17. Vanicek, K., Frei, T., Litynska, Z., Schmalwieser, A.: UV-index for the public: a guide for publication and interpretation of solar UV. COST-713 Action, Brussels (1999)
- 18. Case Western Reserve University: Ultra violet radiation safety—environmental health and safety. https://www.case.edu/ehs/media/caseedu/ehs/documents/UVsafety.pdf
- Essilor Inc.: Blue light hazard: new knowledge, new approaches to maintaining ocular health. http://www.crizalusa.com/SiteCollectionDocuments/Crizal-Literture/Blue%20Light %20Roundtable_White%20Paper.pdf
- Wunsch, A.: Indoor lighting and health. In: KAM Conference, Norway (2006). https:// vimeo.com/99538838
- 21. Irfan, U.: Can compact fluorescent lightbulbs damage skin? http://www.scientificamerican. com/article/can-compact-fluorescent-lightbulbs-damageskin/
- 22. Springer, S.: UV and visible light filtering window films. WAAC 30(2), 2 (2008)
- 23. SkinCancer.Org: Window Film: The Best Sun Shield for Car, Home and Office. Skin Cancer Foundation, New York (2013)
- Godar, D.E., Landry, R.J., Lucas, A.D.: Increased UVA exposures and decreased cutaneous vitamin D3 levels may be responsible for the increasing incidence of melanoma. Med. Hypotheses 72, 434–443 (2009)

Ergonomic Risks of Physical Load on Administrative Workers in a Higher Education Institution 2015-Cartagena

Irina Escudero^(\Begin{bmatrix})

Fundación Tecnológica Antonio de Arevalo TECNAR, Cartagena, Colombia irina.escudero@tecnar.edu.co

Abstract. In this paper, we identified ergonomic risks of physical load on a group of administrative workers of an Institution of Higher Education, Cartagena, Colombia, through a descriptive study conducted between July and December 2015. A questionnaire usage to collect the information that had into account demographic variables, working conditions and ergonomic risk factors of physical load; results were analyzed with Excel 2.5 tools. Most of the population belong to the female gender (70%) in the age range of between 20 and 29 years; with a type of fixed-term contracts (57%); the most relevant ergonomic aspects were: work in sitting posture more than 8 h (34%), poor postural hygiene (88%) no active breaks (89%) and lumbar muscle discomfort (89%). In conclusion, poor postural hygiene, absence of active breaks and lumbar muscle discomfort were the most important occupational characteristics in this study.

Keywords: Lumbar pain · Human-ergonomics · Health at work

1 Introduction

Ergonomics according to the International Association of Ergonomics (IEA) is the "scientific discipline that deals with interactions between humans and other elements of a system, as well as the profession that applies theories, principles, data and methods to the design, In order to optimize the well been of the human being and the overall result of the system" [1].

One of the subjects of study of Ergonomics is the workload, which are all the psychophysical requirements to which the worker is been exposed during its working day.

The physical workload are all those factors or physical requirements that the worker performs during his work environment and that involves the use of the skeletal and cardiovascular muscle system. These factors are Postures, Strength and Movements; and only represent a danger when the individual's responsiveness is been exceeded or there is no adequate biological recovery of tissues.

Continuous exposure to physical overload can lead to injury to the musculoskeletal system, resulting in musculoskeletal disorders, which the World Health Organization says, "are multifactorial problems involving physical environment factors, work

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_33

organization, psychosocial factors, Individual and sociocultural and lumbar pain is part of these work-related disorders" [2].

A systemic review by the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) concluded that lumbar pain is within the group of "work-related musculoskeletal disorders caused by occupational exposures. For which there is strong evidence and are heavy physical work, lifting of loads, forced postures of the spine, flexion movements and trunk turns, static postures, vibrations and organizational and psychosocial factors" [3].

Same as the National Institute of Occupational Health and Safety, a study by Gómez-Conesa and Méndez Carrillo "determined that the causes of the origin of lumbar pain are related to the work environment, where the muscular structures, ligaments and bones of the spine Vertebral are exposed to a physical overload of work" [4].

The report on occupational diseases (2001–2002) in Colombia concluded "that musculoskeletal disorders can be studied from two perspectives: firstly, from the analysis of the consequences of adopting a state policy of labor flexibility. On the other hand, from the perspective of musculoskeletal injuries associated with intensification and densification of work" [5].

The progressive increase of this type of lesions could be notice on the evolution of the professional disease in Colombia [6]. The same report presents, among other data, the indicators related to the disorders that affect the musculoskeletal system in workers affiliated to the risk prevention system in Colombia; There is evidence that during the year 2004, 15% of the diagnoses corresponded to these pathologies.

Unlike the carpal tunnel syndrome, lumbar pain presented an increase, going from 12% to 22% in 2001 to 2003, although its incidence decreased in 2004. In addition, it is established that during 2004, the five the most frequently identified occupational pathologies in men were lumbar pain (27%), carpal tunnel syndrome (SCC 13%), intervertebral disc disorder (TDIV 12%), Hearing Loss Neurosensory (SNS 11%) and rotator cuff syndrome 6%). These pathologies accounted for 69% of all pathologies diagnosed in men during that year [7].

In the Executive Report of the Second National Survey of Occupational Safety and Health Conditions "occupational risk factors of posture, repetitive movements and load manipulation, proved to be the agents with the highest reports in the evaluated work centers and injuries Skeletal muscles were the occupational diseases with greater attention in the managers of occupational risks" [8].

This leads to the analysis that the mostly of the population of Colombian workers become ill due to exposure to these factors, indicating that effective plans and greater management in prevention in the field of occupational hazards are still needed, designing healthy work environment.

Likewise, the International Labor Organization, the World Health Organization and the Secretary General of the Ibero-American Social Security Organization "make reference to the fact that in Latin America the economic impact due to accidents and occupational illness correspond to 10% of the region's GDP, 3.5 times more than in Europe and the United States. It is a high cost in these developing economies, which implies developing policies that help curb the economic impact that is currently generate by the lack of strategies to prevent occupational diseases" [9]. Non-specific back pain or non-specific low back pain (ICD 10: M54) is defined as localized pain or discomfort between the lower limit of the ribs and the lower limit of the buttocks, the intensity of which varies depending on posture and physical activity. It is been usually accompanied by painful limitation of movement and may or may not be associated with referred or irradiated pain. The diagnosis of non-specific low back pain implies that the pain is not due to fractures, trauma or systemic diseases (such as spondylitis or infectious or vascular, neurological, metabolic, endocrine or neoplastic conditions) and that there is no proven root compression or indication of surgical treatment. The average duration of symptomatic episodes is 4 weeks with or without medical treatment.

Several epidemiological studies that have investigated the causal relationship with different exposure factors, so many physical, organizational and psychosocial [10]. Physical and biomechanical factors include lifting loads, heavy physical work, twists and turns (forced postures), performing repetitive movements, static working posture, whole body vibration, environments with inadequate thermal environments.

Organizational and psychosocial risk factors includes: jobs with high psychological demands, lack of control over tasks, low autonomy, low level of worker satisfaction, monotonous and repetitive work. In the individual factors or associated to the worker's own characteristics are personal history, age, sex, obesity [11].

The administrative staff of the companies are predisposed to suffer musculoskeletal injuries mentioned above. It because during the performance of their work are present movements such as: flexion or rotation of the neck, abduction or shoulder flexion, shoulder lift, flexion of elbow, wrist extension or flexion, ulnar or radial deviation of the wrist, finger extension or flexion, highly repetitive movements, movements with a force component and inadequate postures. In addition to those indicated in the dimensional aspect of the workplace [12].

Posture at work is an important element to consider; the development of sedentary activities is been deeply linked to the cultural and technological patterns of this civilization. It can affirms that the sedentary posture is the most frequent body position, taking into account the number of hours that we spend sitting during the day in the means of transport, in the workplace, or in leisure activities.

We carried this work out in an Institution of Higher Education in the city of Cartagena.

The administrative processes done by the workers are admissions, credit and portfolio, academic secretaries, dean secretaries, human talent, quality, among others. Normally it works in the schedule of eight of the morning to six and a half of the afternoon of Monday to Saturday; In the process of enrolment the work might extended until seven or eight at night.

The study focuses mainly on a group of administrative employees, approximately 30 people, and with them, we intended to demonstrate how their demographic characteristics, working conditions and the ergonomic risk factors of physical load to which they are exposed are, leading to come out of musculoskeletal disorders, in this case, occupational lumbar pain.

2 Materials and Methods

The research was kind descriptive and was carried out in a Higher Education Institution in the city of Cartagena during the period July-December 2015 and the sample consisted of 30 administrative workers. The selection criteria were age, sex, seniority level, physical effort, work timeframe, among others. The 30 workers (100%) got into the study by simple random sampling [13], from the general population of workers who are in the administrative area.

The group of researchers carried out a sensitization that the workers understood the reason for the investigation, in order to be clear about the objectives of the investigation. A questionnaire was applied that contained questions about demographic characterization variables, working conditions and physical risk factors; In addition, the Nordic Kourinka questionnaire was used as a guide for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms, in which its ask about of muscle discomfort [14]. The results tabulated and analyzed using Excel tools.

2.1 Demographic Characteristics of Workers

Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 shows the results of this variable; it was possible to show that 70% are female and the other 30% is male. These gender distinction as results allowed focus the questions of the questionnaire. The age range that showed the highest proportion is between 20–29 years, with 54% of the population surveyed, followed by the 30–39 year interval with 36%; In terms of height to the range of 150–160 cm corresponded 66% while for the weight the most representative range was 61–70 kg (43%). It was possible to show that the population of workers is young, both men and women and is the most vulnerable to this problem and have a healthy body mass index (BMI) [15].

Age	Number of people	Percentage
Male	9	30%
Female	21	70%
Total	30	100%

Table 1. Distribution of gender

Table 2. Distribution according to age range

Age	Male	Female	Percentage
20-29 years old	4	12	54%
30-39 years old	4	7	36%
40-49 years old	1	2	10%
Total	30		100%

Height	Male	Female	Percentage
150-160 cm	4	16	66%
161-170 cm	5	5	34%
171-180 cm	0	0	0%
>180 cm	0	0	0%
Total	30		100%

Table 3. Distribution according to height

Table 4.	Distribution	according	to	weight

Weight	Male	Female	Percentage
De 50-60 kg	0	8	26%
De 61–70 kg	1	12	43%
De 71-80 kg	4	1	17%
>80 kg	4	0	14%
Total	30		100%

2.2 Labor Conditions

Table 5 describes this variable. Fixed-term contracting accounted for 57%, followed by the type of labor contract (36%), and finally the indefinite rate (7%).

Age	Male	Female	Percentage
Undefined	1	1	7%
Fixed term	4	13	57%
By work	4	7	36%
Total	30		100%

Table 5. Distribution according to type of contract

2.3 Ergonomic Risk Factors of Physical Load

Table 6 shows the distribution according to gender and posture at workplace, in both genders is predominant on people who do not have a good posture. Mostly people, from both genders, are more than 8 h at the job site in a seated position (Table 7). On the other hand, the majority of men (56%) and women (52%), reported to be expose to the same posture (Table 8). Regarding postural hygiene, the majority of women (67%) and men (88%) reported not knowing the correct way to sit/stand up (Table 9); Both males (56%) and females (71%), frequent backstroke was the predominant physical effort followed by bending (19% in females and 33% males. In both genders, there was also a predominance of people with lumbar muscle discomfort (89% men and 71% women). In addition, 66% of men reported to have an illness in the lumbar zone as compared to 57% of women. 66% and 89% of women and men respectively, do not take active breaks at the workplace; (44%) followed by dancing (22%) and no activity (22%), but in the female gender, on the other hand, the largest fraction did not play any Activity (42%), while dancing was practiced by 33% (Tables 10, 11, 12, 13, 14).

304 I. Escudero

Good posture in the workplace	Male	%	Female	%
Yes	4	45	9	43
Not	5	55	12	57
Total	9	100	21	100

Table 6. Distribution according to the position at workplace and gender

Table 7. Distribution according to exposure time in sedentary position and gender

Exposure time in sedentary position	Male	%	Female	%
From 1–3 h	2	22	3	14
4–6 h	2	22	5	24
De 6-8 h	2	22	6	29
>8 h	3	34	7	33
Total	9	100	21	100

Table 8. Distribution according to exposure to the same posture and gender

Exposure to the same posture	Male	%	Female	%
Always	5	56	11	52
Frequently	3	33	9	43
Sometimes	1	11	1	5
Total	9	100	21	100

Table 9. Distribution according to postural hygiene and gender

Postural hygiene	Male	%	Female	%
Yes	1	12	7	33
Not	8	88	14	67
Total	9	100	21	100

Table 10. Distribution according to the frequent physical effort and gender

Physical effort	Male	%	Female	%
Getting up frequently	1	11	2	10
Bending down frequently	3	33	4	19
Turning back frequently	5	56	15	71
Any	0	0	0	0
Total	9	100	21	100

Table 11. Distribution according to lumbar muscle discomfort and gender

Lumbar muscle discomfort	Male	%	Female	%
Yes	8	89	15	71
Not	1	11	6	29
Total	9	100	21	100

Frequency of lumbar pain	Male	%	Female	%
Always	6	66	12	57
Frequently	2	22	8	38
Sometimes	1	12	1	5
Total	9	100	5	100

Table 12. Distribution according to frequency of lumbar pain and gender

Tuble 15. Distribution decording to practice of derive pauses and gender	Table 13.	Distribution	according	to	practice of	active	pauses and	gender
---	-----------	--------------	-----------	----	-------------	--------	------------	--------

Practice of active pauses	Male	%	Female	%
Yes	1	11	7	34
Not	8	89	14	66
Total	9	100	21	100

Table 14. Distribution according to extra-labor activities and gender

Extra-labor activities	Male	%	Female	%
Walking/jogging	1	12	2	11
Play soccer	4	44	0	0
Dance	2	22	7	33
Gymnastics	0	0	3	14
Any	2	22	9	42
Total	9	100	5	100

3 Discussion

The findings show that the study is in the age range in which, according to some authors, lumbar pain is more frequent [16, 17]. Therefore, the institution where the study was performed must consider this factor, in order to generate plans that favor the health of workers.

Among men, lumbar pain was as frequent as among women, with a higher number in males; this could be in agreement with the work done by other authors [18, 19].

Stature is another factor necessary to consider in the population studied, to apply preventive measures, because most of them oscillate in the range where other authors have demonstrated that the highest frequency of lumbar injury found [20]. Although the association between obesity and lumbar pain, it is supported by different investigations by Feldestein et al. [21] in work personnel, according to Helliovaara [22], Weight ratio does not have relationship to lumbar pain because it is not present in a high percentage of obese workers.

Exposure time (age at the workplace) also proved to be an important variable in the onset of lumbar pain. Workers with more than 15 years of work had a higher possibility than those with less time. This is most evident in the case of workers over 25 years of age compared to those who only had 5 years or less in their position. The possibility is 1.5 times greater in the first case and twice in the second. According to Stubbs [23],

there is reasonable evidence to associate back symptoms with the following work factors: work physically heavy, static work postures, frequent trunk flexes and turns, powerful lifts and movements, repetitive work and vibrations.

According to the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work [24], occupational risk factors for which there is evidence, at different levels, about their association with the occurrence of lumbar pain are heavy physical labor, lifting heavy loads and force posture at column level. flexion and trunk rotation movements, exposure to whole body vibration, static postures, psychosocial and work organization factors.

In another study about lumbar pain and its relation to work [25] the results show the association and interactions between invalidating lumbar pain and labor variables such as: work position, job posting, physical exertion, lifting loads, quantity of weight that rises and actions of flexion, extension and/or rotation of the back and very interesting results come out. Such as, that the lumbar pain is 2.5 times greater in those workers in whose position they were exposed to loads and loads Physical and/or forced positions compared to administrative, services and technical and professional positions that are subject to lesser physical demands. More than eight times higher than those who do not lift. In relation to extra-occupational activities, the results obtained are consistent with the findings of Svensson et al. [26] (more than 50% usually practice a sport).

4 Conclusions

Mostly of the sample surveyed stated that they did not have good posture habits in the work place, despite the fact that the majority work more than 8 h a day in a mainly seated position, most of them lack a correct posture hygiene probably as a result of a poor health and safety at work program that guides them to make good decisions in their body kinetics, not only in the lumbar region but also in other body segments, thus reducing the onset of muscle disorders Skeletal. Another relevant aspect is that most people are unaware of the importance of active breaks or rest periods that increase muscle flexibility and body movement, release pressure zones, reduce stress and improve work climate and performance [27]; It should be noted that in the performance of extra-labor activities, the masculine gender showed a greater preference for physical activities, in contrast to the female group that showed poor preferences for them.

References

- 1. International Ergonomics Association: Definition and domains of ergonomics. Zurich, Switzerland (quoted 25 Feb 2016) (2000). http://www.iea.cc/whats/index.html
- 2. Ministry of Social Protection: Technical guide for the analysis of exposure to occupational risk factors, Bogotá, Colombia (2011)
- World Health Organization: Prevention of musculoskeletal disorders in the workplace, Berlin, Germany (quoted 20 Dec 2015) (2004). http://www.who.int/occupational_health/ publications/en/pwh5sp.pdf?ua=1
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH): Work-related musculoskeletal disorders, USA (1997)

- Gómez-Conesa, A., Méndez Carrillo, F.X.: Occupational low back pain. Physiotherapy 24 (monograph 1), 43–50 (2002)
- Piedrahita, H.: Case-related musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) in developing countries: Colombia case international. Bogota 12(4), 379–386 (2006). (Article in Spanish)
- Ministry of Social Protection: Professional disease report in Colombia years 2001–2002, Bogotá, Colombia (2004)
- 8. Tafur, F.: Professional disease report in Colombia 2003–2005. Group of Workers' Health Promotion, Bogota (2005)
- 9. Ibero-American Organization of Social Security (OISS): Report of the Secretary General of the OISS on the status of work to December 2011, Madrid, Spain (2011)
- 10. Villar, M.: Work Positions: Risk Assessment. National Institute of Health and Hygiene at Work (INSHT), Spain (2011)
- 11. Cuesta, A., Enough Ceca, M., Diego Jose, A.: Ergonomic Evaluation of Jobs, 1st edn. Editorial Paraninfo, Madrid (2012)
- 12. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), Center for Disease Control and Prevention: Ergonomy, USA (2010)
- Artiles Visbal, L., Otero Iglesia, J., Barrios Osuna, I.: Methodology of Research for Health Sciences, Cuba (2008)
- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sorensen, F., Andersson, G., et al.: Standardized Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl. Ergon.18(3), 233–237 (1987). F0inland
- National Library of Medicine: Electronic dictionary: body mass index, USA (2012). http:// www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/007196.htm
- 16. Seguí Díaz, M., Gérvas, J.: Lumbar pain. Semergen 28(1), 21-41 (2002)
- Pérez Torres, F.: Excerpt from the thesis. Chronic low back pain: evaluation of the diagnostic sequence and configuration of the clinical decision. Socio-labor impact, Valencia, Spain (2000). http://www.ser.es/index.html?VisorPrincipal=/Contenidos_Publicaciones/ Revistas/Revista_RER/RER.htm
- Rodríguez Cardoso, A., Pardo, H., de Donlebún, M., Barbadillo Mateos, C.: Epidemiology and labor repercussions. J. Phys. Ther. 61(1408), 68–70 (2001)
- Battié, M., Bigos, S., Fisher, L., Hannson, T.H., Jones, M.E., Wortley, M.D.: Isometric lifting strength as a predictor of industrial back pain reports. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 14, 851–856 (1989)
- 20. Harvey, B.L.: Self-care practises to prevent low back pain. AAOHN J. 36, 211-217 (1988)
- Feldstein, A., Valains, B., Vollmer, W., Stevens, N., Overton, C.: The back injury prevention pilot project study. J. Occup. Med. 35, 114–120 (1993)
- 22. Heliövaara, M.: Risk factors of low back pain and sciatica. Ann. Med. 21, 257-264 (1989)
- Stubbs, D., Buckle, P.: Back and upper limb disorders. Practitioner 236, 34–38 (1992). 19.
 89; 14: 851-6. 29. Gates S.J.: On the job back exercises. Am. J. Nurs. May, 656-9
- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work: Electronic fact sheets: facts 10 Dorsolumbar disorders of work origin (updated 23 Jan 2014; quoted 20 June 2014) (approx. 2 screens) (2000). https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/factsheets/10/view
- Noriega-Elío, M., Barrón Soto, A., Sierra Martínez, O., Méndez Ramírez, I., Pulido Navarro, M.: The controversy about low back pain and its relation to work: retrospective study on disabled workers. Cad. Public Saúce 21(3), 887–897 (2005)
- 26. Svensson, H.O., Anderson, G.B.: In 40 to 47 year old men: work history and work environment factors. Spine **8**, 272–276 (1983)
- Landinez, N.: Importance of performing the active pauses. Coordinator of the Human Body Laboratory National University of Colombia (2010). http://www.funandi.edu.co/funandi/ index.php/saludocupacional/pausas-activa/

Movement and Balance

What are the Major Risk Factors for Falls Among Community-Dwelling Korean Older Women?

Taekyoung Kim and Shuping Xiong^(⊠)

Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (KAIST), 291 Daehak-ro, Yuseong-gu, Daejeon 34141, Republic of Korea {taekyoungkim, shupingx}@kaist.ac.kr

Abstract. Falls are a major cause of death and disability in older people. This study aims to examine the prevalence of falls and associated major risk factors among community-dwelling Korean older women. Total 189 subjects participated in this study. Their fall history and 18 fall-risk related variables covering demographic information, physical performance, gait ability, body strength, and cognitive performance were collected. Results showed that 39.7% of participants had fall experience, 40% of fallers were injured. Five major categories of risk factors were identified from factor analysis: impaired balance and mobility, large body mass but weak grip strength, poor cognitive function, limited joint flexibility, and weak lower limb strength. Logistics regression further showed that poor cognitive function is the most critical fall risk factor. These findings could not only provide guidelines on choosing/developing appropriate fall risk assessment tools, but also help prioritize effective interventions to prevent the falls for Korean older women.

Keywords: Ageing · Falls · Risk factor · Risk assessment · Fall prevention

1 Introduction

Around one third of older adults aged 65 or over experience at least one fall each year [1-4]. The risk of falls increases dramatically with age and about half of older adults aged 80 or older fall each year [2]. Falls are a leading cause of death and disability in elderly [3, 4]. Falls also pose a serious threat to elderly's psychological well-being, inducing suffer from post-fall syndromes like social isolation or fear of falling [5, 6].

Many studies have investigated fall risk factors in older people [7–9]. The commonly identified significant risk factors for falls were historical falls, gender, age, diseases and the use of medications, physical and cognitive impairments [8, 9]. In addition, some studies have attempted to identify dominant factors out of those commonly reported risk factors [10–12]. For community-dwelling elderly having experience of at least one injurious fall or multiple falls, people with impaired physiological function, impaired execution function, and poor dynamic balance had a high risk of falling [10]. Hung et al. investigated older men with experience of recurrent falls living in veteran's community and reported that depression was the most critical fall risk

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_34 factor for single fallers. For multiple fallers, urinary incontinence was the first and depression was the second most important factor [11]. Dhargave and Sendhilkumar conducted an experiment for older people living in the long-term care home and found falls in the previous year as the most critical risk factor of falling, followed by fear of falling, imbalance, vertigo, and walking with a cane [12].

Even though there are many studies on fall risk factors of different older populations (predominantly in western countries), the data about Korean older population is very limited [13–15]. Considering Korea is now facing a major challenge on population ageing and the substantial health problem among the elderly population from falls, it is important to investigate the prevalence of falls and risk factors associated with falls for Korean elderly. Previous studies with Korean older populations mainly focused on socio-demographic characteristics through surveys [13, 14], or with very limited quantitative items from cognitive measurements [15]. In addition, there is a lack of studies that seek underlying latent fall risk variables (factors) that could be reflected in the observed variables. Identification of major underlying fall risk factors will not only allow us to gain insights about elderly fall risks, but also could provide us a guideline on choosing/developing appropriate fall risk assessment tools. The primary goal of this study is to investigate the prevalence of falls and major risk factors associated with falls for community-dwelling Korean older women. The outcome of this study is expected to provide health professionals with some basic information on fall prevention for community-dwelling elderly in Korea.

2 Methodology

2.1 Sample

Participants for this study were a convenience sample of volunteers recruited from three social welfare centres in the city of Ulsan (South Korea) who have lived in communities for most of their lives. There were three inclusion criteria in the recruitment, (1) aged 65 or older, (2) female, and (3) able to walk independently without any assistive device in the daily living. Only female participants were recruited to avoid the potential gender effect on the prevalence of falls [16]. A total of 189 community-dwelling older Korean women participated in this study. All participants were given information about the study prior to inclusion in this study. Each participant provided the informed consent on a protocol approved by the university institutional review board.

2.2 Study Design and Data Acquisition

A retrospective study design was used to examine the prevalence of falls and associated risk factors. This study mainly consisted of three sessions. The first session was to record basic demographic data (age, height, weight, BMI) of each participant. Various physical, cognitive and functional tests were performed in the second session to measure 14 fall-related test variables and the details are described in the following paragraphs. The third session was a face-to-face interview for fall data in the past 12 months (frequency of falls, their locations, reasons, and injuries). A fall was defined as

"inadvertently coming to rest on the ground, floor, or lower level, excluding intentional change in position to rest on furniture, wall or other objects" [17]. An injurious fall was defined as a fall that results in receiving any form of medical treatment [18].

Five fall risk assessments including Berg Balance Scale-BBS [19], Short Physical Performance Battery-SPPB [20], Functional Reach Test-FRT [21], Timed Up and Go-TUG [22], Sit to Stand Five times-STS5 [23] were first conducted for assessing various physical performances. The participant's walking speed was also measured during the test of SPPB. The knee range of motion was measured using Xsens inertial sensors (Xsens Technologies BV, Enschede, Netherlands). When subjects conducted this test, they wore Xsens sensors on the lower extremity, and they laid on front on a bed. From this posture, an experimenter flexed their knees as much as possible without pain, and the flexed angle was measured (Fig. 1A). Each participant's hand grip strength and the strengths in the ankle dorsiflexion, knee extension and flexion were measured afterwards using a modified Baseline® Hydraulic Dynamometer. In measuring strength of the ankle dorsiflexion, subjects laid their backs and they maintained a plantar flexion posture. When the dynamometer was placed on their right insteps, subjects waited a few seconds and flexed their ankles as hard as they can, keeping the posture for few seconds. Measuring strength in the knee extension and flexion had a similar mechanism. In this case, each subject laid on the front and bent their knees to 90°. For the knee extension task, the dynamometer was put on a lower part of a right shin, and subjects extended their knees as hard as they can. In the knee flexion, the dynamometer was placed on a lower part of a right calf, and subjects flexed their knees as hard as they can. In measuring the hand grip strength, subjects sat on a chair, and bent their right arm 90° and kept their elbow close to their body. By keeping this posture, they held the dynamometer as strong as they can (Fig. 1B, C, and D). Figure 2 shows a modified dynamometers utilized for measuring different types of strength in this study.



Fig. 1. Participant's postures for measuring (A) the knee range of motion, (B) strength in ankle dorsiflexion, (C) strength in knee extension (1) and knee flexion (2), and (D) hand grip strength.



Fig. 2. Hand dynamometer for measuring body strengths. (A) is the original hand dynamometer for measuring hand grip strength and (B), (C) and (D) show a modified dynamometer equipped with a manual muscle testing conversion kit for measuring lower limb strengths.

A smart device reaction test App was used to measure information processing speed [24] and questionnaires of Shorten version of Fall Efficacy Scale (SFES) [25] and Shorten version of Geriatric Depression Scale (SGDS) [26] were used to assess participants' fear of falling and geriatric depression. Questionnaires in Korean were used for the tests to help older Korean women have a better understanding [27, 28].

2.3 Statistical Analysis

Two sample t-tests were conducted to remove insignificant test variables for two groups comparison (fallers versus non-fallers), and the remaining significant variables were grouped into major categories of fall risk factors based on factor analysis. Each significant variable was standardized (rescaled to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1) for factor analysis because variables have different scales [29]. The number of factors was determined by Jolliffe's criterion which recommends retaining factors above 0.7 [30]. The varimax rotation was applied for the factor rotation, and if the communality for each variable was less than 0.4, the variables were excluded, and the factor analysis was conducted again [31]. Through the factor analysis, if one variable had communality over ± 0.5 for a specific factor in a factor loading matrix, it was expected that this variable has a significant correlation with that factor. Factor scores were obtained by Bartlett's approach, which has an advantage that it produces unbiased estimates of factor scores [29]. After the factor categorization, odds ratio (OR) from univariate logistic regression was used to determine the relative importance of those identified categories of fall risk factors. Minitab® 16.1.0 (Minitab Inc., State College, US) was used for the statistical analyses at a significance level of 0.05.

3 Results

Table 1 provides a statistical summary of 18 test variables for both faller and nonfaller groups. Among all 189 elderly participants, 75 participants (39.7%) had at least one fall during the last year, and 45.3% of fallers experienced recurrent falls (at least two falls).

Injurious falls accounted for 40% (30 participants) among total falls (Fig. 3), and lower extremity (45%), upper extremity (32%), and head/neck (9%) were the most frequently injured regions (Fig. 4). Results of two sample t-tests (Table 1) showed that BMI, SFES, BBS, SPPB, TUG, SGDS, hand grip strength, information processing speed, strength in knee extension, strength in knee flexion, STS5, and knee range of motion were significantly different between faller and non-faller groups (p < 0.05). The faller group had higher values on BMI, SFES, SGDS, TUG and STS5 than the nonfaller group, with lower values on information processing speed, hand grip strength, strength in knee extension, strength in knee flexion, knee range of motion, BBS and SPPB.



Fig. 3. Total fall (left) and injurious fall (right) rates



Fig. 4. Injured body regions from falls

Table 1. Comparison of descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation in bracket) between faller and non-faller groups. p-values less than 0.05 showing significant group differences are bolded.

Fall risk variables (unit)	Faller	Non-faller	p-value
	$(N_1 = 75)$	$(N_2 = 114)$	
Age (years)	72.04 (4.95)	72.05 (4.33)	0.985
Height (cm)	154.83 (5.47)	154.49 (4.80)	0.669
Weight (kg)	60.23 (7.41)	58.26 (6.85)	0.070
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.25 (2.76)	24.32 (2.26)	0.019
Shorten Version of Fall Efficacy Scale-SFES	14.59 (5.41)	9.15 (1.74)	0.000
score			
Berg Balance Scale-BBS score	53.52 (2.30)	54.53 (1.60)	0.002
Short Physical Performance Battery-SPPB	10.86 (1.29)	11.55 (0.63)	0.000
score			
Functional Reach Test-FRT (cm)	25.38 (7.17)	26.76 (5.88)	0.170
Timed Up and Go-TUG (s)	11.93 (1.61)	11.15 (1.46)	0.001
Shorten Version of Geriatric Depression	3.99 (2.97)	2.55 (2.61)	0.001
Scale-SGDS score			
Hand grip strength (m ²) ^a	0.84 (0.12)	0.89 (0.17)	0.032
Information processing speed (bit/s)	5.87 (1.22)	6.92 (1.29)	0.000
Strength in ankle dorsiflexion (m ²) ^a	0.44 (0.14)	0.49 (0.15)	0.164
Strength in knee extension (m ²) ^a	0.56 (0.17)	0.66 (0.19)	0.001
Strength in knee flexion (m ²) ^a	0.24 (0.10)	0.28 (0.11)	0.011
Sit to Stand Five Times-STS5 (s)	11.06 (2.81)	9.91 (1.99)	0.003
Knee range of motion (degree)	126.3 (11.5)	131.5 (11.5)	0.004
Walking speed (cm/s)	83.8 (15.0)	84.1 (12.9)	0.859

^a The strength related variables are normalized by BMI, thus the units are in m².

The number of factors in the factor analysis was determined to be five since the leading 5 factors explained 75.1% of total variance. All the variables used in factor analysis had acceptable communalities (>0.5). Factor loadings in the significant variables were summarized in Table 2.

In the factor loading matrix, the first factor had high correlations with BBS, SPPB, TUG, and STS5, and the second factor had high correlations with BMI (positive correlation) and grip strength (negative correlation). The third factor was strongly associated with strength in knee extension and flexion, and the forth factor was highly correlated with SFES, SGDS, and information processing speed. The fifth factor had a strong relation with the knee range of motion. The names of each factors were decided based on commonality of included variables in each factor. Components in the first factor were BBS, SPPB, TUG, and STS5, so it was named 'balance and mobility' [32].
Fall risk variables	Factor 1- Balance and mobility	Factor 2- Body mass and grip strength	Factor 3- Lower limb strength	Factor 4- Cognitive function	Factor 5- Joint flexibility
BMI	-0.046	0.827	0.072	-0.021	0.300
SFES score	-0.482	0.325	0.009	0.570	-0.284
BBS score	0.768	-0.342	-0.139	-0.083	0.115
SPPB score	0.845	-0.080	-0.223	-0.021	-0.035
TUG	-0.802	0.141	0.242	0.056	0.144
SGDS score	0.099	0.009	0.139	0.866	0.029
Grip strength	0.197	-0.733	-0.323	-0.099	-0.024
Information processing speed	0.327	0.035	0.027	-0.593	-0.415
Strength in knee extension	0.240	-0.160	-0.842	-0.133	-0.166
Strength in knee flexion	0.271	-0.174	-0.812	-0.018	0.177
STS5	-0.779	-0.102	0.136	0.091	0.295
Knee range of motion	0.139	-0.365	0.012	-0.066	-0.777

Table 2. Factor loading matrix of 12 significant fall risk variables and 5 named factors generated from the factor analysis. Cells shaded by gray indicate highly correlated variables with each factor.

The second factor contained BMI and grip strength, and this factor was called 'body mass and grip strength'. The third factor comprised of strengths in knee extension and flexion, so it was named 'Lower limb strength'. The forth factor was composed of SFES, SGDS, and information processing speed, and the factor name was 'cognitive function'. Lastly the fifth factor included the knee range of motion, so it was named 'joint flexibility'.

After factor analysis, the univariate logistic regression was conducted using factor scores for deriving corresponding odds ratios. Poor performance in each factor indicated high risk of falling in community-dwelling Korean older women. 'Poor cognitive function' had the highest odds ratio (=2.65), followed by 'large body weight but weak grip strength' (odds ratio = 2.16), 'impaired balance and mobility' (odds ratio = 1.79), 'weak lower limb strength' (odds ratio = 1.44), and 'limited joint flexibility' (odds ratio = 1.33) (Table 3).

Fall risk factors (from factor analysis)	Components	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)
Impaired balance and mobility	BBS score, SPPB score, TUG, STS5	1.79 (1.27–2.51)
Large body mass but weak grip strength	BMI, grip strength	2.16 (1.40–3.36)
Weak lower limb strength	Strengths in the knee extension and flexion	1.44 (1.08–1.92)
Poor cognitive function	SFES score, SGDS score, information processing speed	2.65 (1.86–3.77)
Limited joint flexibility	Knee range of motion	1.33 (0.86–2.05)

Table 3. The odds ratio of fall occurrence for different fall risk factors in community-dwelling Korean older women.

4 Discussion and Limitations

4.1 Discussion

Previous studies reported significant risk factors associated with occurrence of falls. In Western populations, physical and mobility impairments, impaired mental health like fear of falling and depression, weak grip strength or feet strength were identified as significant fall risk factors [8-10, 33], same with this study. Imbalance and poor cognitive function were also identified as major fall risk factors in Asian populations [12, 14, 15], so the factors mentioned above seem to be common critical risk factors of falling regardless of population. However, considerable differences in fall risk factors also exist among different studies, even using the same Korean population. For example, Kim, Yang and Park found that for community-dwelling Korean older people, arthralgia was the most important fall risk factor, and dizziness, use of assistive device, living alone, low education level, fear of falling, fall efficacy, and quality of life were also major fall risk factors [14]. However, poor gait performance, impaired muscle function, reaction time, and flexibility were reported as major factors for fall risks in Korean elderly based on Kim, Park and Lee's study [15], which was largely consistent with our study. Aforementioned differences could be due to different sampling methods, inclusion of different fall risk factors and utilization of different data analysis methods.

This study found 5 major fall risk factors, and poor cognitive function which including fear of falling, depression, and slow information processing speed was the most critical fall risk factor in community-dwelling Korean older women. Older people with fear of falling have a negative impact on physical function by decreasing balance confidence, restricting activities, resulting in reduced stability and increased fall risk [34, 35]. Older people with fear of falling have 'stiffening strategy' on their behavior, which reduces the range of motion of their center of mass, causing reduced range of motion and angular velocity in the lower limb extremity. This adaptation is an intuitive strategy in accommodating potential destabilizing, but it is not effective during walking which requires interactions with environments in complex and dynamic motions [36].

Depression has a significant bidirectional relationship with falls. It directly promotes falls by causing insomnia and deficiencies in vitamin D as well as cognitive deficits, affecting attention, executive function, and processing speed which are associated with increasing fall risk [37]. The slow information processing speed can delay the sensory integration process and the selection of an appropriate response, and results in falls [24].

Large body mass but weak grip strength was the second most important risk factor of falling. Usually people with a high BMI have high fall risk because of poor coordination, body instability, and dizziness [38]. People with a low BMI also have increased fall risk due to low muscle mass and strength, which is related to physical disability [39]. If high body mass and weak strength are combined, it should increase the risks of falling.

The impaired balance and mobility are fall risk factors already verified by a lot of published studies. Good balance and mobility allow humans to identify orientation with respect to gravity and make automatic postural adjustments to maintain posture and stability in various conditions and activities [40]. Around 50% of falls occur during some forms of locomotion, most of them happen with problematic walking systems such as vulnerability in initiating and terminating gait, turning, avoiding obstacles, or bumping into people and objects [41].

Lower limb strength and joint flexibility were also significant fall risk factors even though joint flexibility was not significant in the discriminative test in this study. Weak leg muscle strength is related with gait variability [42]. A previous study also suggested that only joint flexibility is not likely to be significantly related to fall risk as well as static balance [43]. Because human maintains the balance under the condition that various systems interact each other, which including sensory system and integration with motor system, it may be not easy to identify high risk of falling with lower limb strength or limited joint flexibility only [40].

4.2 Limitations

This study has several limitations. Firstly, this study used history of falls to classify faller and non-faller groups. Therefore, it cannot be concluded that the identified major risk factors are predictors for future falls. Secondly, fall-related risk variables in this study are not fully representative. Some important risk variables such as environmental hazards and the use of medication were not studied. Last but not least, only limited Korean older women were recruited in this study, so the study findings may not be generalizable to the male populations.

5 Conclusion

This study investigated the prevalence of falls and discovered major risk factors of falling in community-dwelling older women in Korea. 39.7% of participants experienced at least one fall in the past 12 months, 40% of them were injured from falls and received medical treatments. Five major categories of fall risk factors were identified

from factor analysis on 18 test variables: impaired balance and mobility, large body mass but weak grip strength, poor cognitive function, limited joint flexibility, and weak lower limb strength. Logistics regression further showed that poor cognitive function is the most critical fall risk factor (OR = 2.65), followed by large body mass but weak grip strength (OR = 2.16), impaired balance and mobility (OR = 1.79), weak lower limb strength (OR = 1.44), and limited joint flexibility (OR = 1.33). The identified major fall risk factors and their relative importance from this study could provide a guideline on choosing or developing appropriate fall risk assessment tools for screening older individuals at high risk of falling. In addition, it could be helpful for prioritizing effective interventions to prevent the falls for community-dwelling Korean older people.

Acknowledgements. This study was supported by basic science research program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF-2011-0022185; NRF-2014R1A1A2056193).

References

- Tripathy, N.K., Jagnoor, J., Patro, B.K., Dhillon, M.S., Kumar, R.: Epidemiology of falls among older adults: a cross sectional study from Chandigarh, India. Injury 46(9), 1801–1805 (2015)
- Lord, S.R., Sherrington, C., Menz, H.B.: Falls in older people: epidemiology, risk factors and strategies for prevention. Age Ageing 35(Suppl 2), 3–107 (2001)
- 3. Stevens, J.A., Sogolow, E.D.: Gender differences for non-fatal unintentional fall related injuries among older adults. Inj. Prev. **11**(2), 115–119 (2005)
- 4. Shumway-Cook, A., Baldwin, M., Polissar, N.L., Gruber, W.: Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults. Phys. Ther. **77**(8), 812–819 (1997)
- Faul, M., Xu, L., Wald, M.M., Coronado, V.G.: Traumatic brain injury in the United States: emergency department visits, hospitalizations and deaths 2002–2006. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Atlanta (GA) (2010). https://www.cdc.gov/traumaticbraininjury/pdf/blue_book.pdf
- 6. Legters, K.: Fear of falling. Phys. Ther. J. 82(3), 264–272 (2002)
- 7. Ambrose, A.F., Paul, G., Hausdorff, J.M.: Risk factors for falls among older adults: a review of the literature. Maturitas **75**(1), 51–61 (2013)
- Pluijm, S.M.F., et al.: A risk profile for identifying community-dwelling elderly with a high risk of recurrent falling: results of a 3-year prospective study. Osteoporos. Int. 17(3), 417– 425 (2006)
- Bongue, B., Dupré, C., Beauchet, O., Rossat, A., Fantino, B., Colvez, A.: A screening tool with five risk factors was developed for fall-risk prediction in community-dwelling elderly. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 64(10), 1152–1160 (2011)
- Delbaere, K., et al.: A multifactorial approach to understanding fall risk in older people. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 58(9), 1679–1685 (2010)
- 11. Hung, C.-H., et al.: Recurrent falls and its risk factors among older men living in the veterans retirement communities: a cross-sectional study. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. **70**, 214–218 (2017)
- Dhargave, P., Sendhilkumar, R.: Prevalence of risk factors for falls among elderly people living in long-term care homes. J. Clin. Gerontol. Geriatr. 7(3), 99–103 (2016)

- Sohng, K.-Y., Moon, J.-S., Song, H.-H., Lee, K.-S., Kim, Y.-S.: Risk factors for falls among the community-dwelling elderly in Korea. Taehan Kanho Hakhoe Chi 34(8), 1483–1490 (2004)
- Kim, Y.H., Yang, K.H., Park, K.S.: Fall experience and risk factors for falls among the community-dwelling elderly. J. Muscle Joint Health 20(2), 91–101 (2013)
- 15. Kim, C.K., Park, S.J., Lee, D.Y.: Contribution analysis of the risk factors for fall in the elderly. J. Sport Leis. Stud. **43**(2), 609–618 (2011)
- Lim, J.-Y., Park, W.-B., Oh, M.-K., Kang, E.K., Paik, N.-J.: Falls in a proportional region population in Korean elderly: incidence, consequences, and risk factors. J. Korean Geriatr. Soc. 14(1), 8 (2010)
- 17. World Health Organization: WHO global report on falls prevention in older age. Community Health, Bristol, p. 53 (2007)
- Sihvonen, S., Sipilä, S., Taskinen, S., Era, P.: Fall incidence in frail older women after individualized visual feedback-based balance training. Gerontology 50(6), 411–416 (2004)
- 19. Berg, K., Wood-Dauphinee, S., Williams, J.I., Gayton, D.: Measuring balance in the elderly: preliminary development of an instrument. Physiother. Can. **41**(6), 304–311 (1989)
- Guralnik, J.M., et al.: A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J. Gerontol. 49(2), M85–M95 (1994)
- Duncan, P.W., Weiner, D.K., Chandler, J., Studenski, S.: Functional reach: a new clinical measure of balance. J. Gerontol. 45(6), M192–M197 (1990)
- 22. Podsiadlo, D., Richardson, S.: The timed 'Up & Go': a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. **39**(2), 142–148 (1991)
- 23. Whitney, S.L., Wrisley, D.M., Marchetti, G.F., Gee, M.A., Redfern, M.S., Furman, J.M.: Clinical measurement of sit-to-stand performance in people with balance disorders: validity of data for the Five-Times-Sit-to-Stand Test. Phys. Ther. **85**(10), 1034–1045 (2005)
- Qiu, H., Xiong, S.: New Hick's law based reaction test App reveals 'information processing speed' better identifies high falls risk older people than 'simple reaction time. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 58, 25–32 (2017)
- 25. Kempen, G.I.J.M., et al.: The short FES-I: a shortened version of the falls efficacy scale-international to assess fear of falling. Age Ageing **37**(1), 45–50 (2008)
- Yesavage, J.A., Sheikh, J.I.: 9/Geriatric depression scale (GDS) recent evidence and development of a shorter version. Clin. Gerontol. 5(1–2), 165–173 (1986)
- Park, G., et al.: Reliability and validity of Korean version of falls efficacy scale-international (KFES-I). J. Korean Acad. Rehabil. Med. 34(5), 554–559 (2010)
- Cho, M.J., et al.: Validation of geriatric depression scale, Korean version (GDS) in the assessment of DSM-III-R major depression. J. Korean Neuropsychiatr. Assoc. 38(1), 48–63 (1999)
- 29. Distefano, C., Zhu, M., Mîndrilă, D.: Understanding and using factor scores: considerations for the applied researcher. Pract. Assess. Res. Eval. **14**(20), 1–11 (2009)
- Jolliffe, I.T.: Discarding variables in a principal component analysis. I: artificial data. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. C (Appl. Stat.) 21(2), 160–173 (1972)
- Costello, A.B., Osborne, J.W.: Best practices in exploratory factor analysis: four recommendations for getting the most from your analysis. Pract. Assess. Res. Eval. 10(7), 1–9 (2005)
- Wennie Huang, W.N., Perera, S., Vanswearingen, J., Studenski, S.: Performance measures predict onset of activity of daily living difficulty in community-dwelling older adults. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 58(5), 844–852 (2010)

- Stalenhoef, P.A., Diederiks, J.P.M., Knottnerus, J.A., Kester, A.D.M., Crebolder, H.F.J.M.: A risk model for the prediction of recurrent falls in community-dwelling elderly: a prospective cohort study. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 55(11), 1088–1094 (2002)
- 34. Hadjistavropoulos, T., Delbaere, K., Fitzgerald, T.D.: Reconceptualizing the role of fear of falling and balance confidence in fall risk. J Aging Heal. **23**(1), 3–23 (2011)
- Qiu, H., Xiong, S.: Center-of-pressure based postural sway measures: reliability and ability to distinguish between age, fear of falling and fall history. Int. J. Ind. Ergon. 47, 28–35 (2015)
- 36. Young, W.R., Mark-Williams, A.: How fear of falling can increase fall-risk in older adults: applying psychological theory to practical observations. Gait Posture **41**(1), 7–12 (2015)
- Iaboni, A., Flint, A.J.: The complex interplay of depression and falls in older adults: a clinical review. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 21(5), 484–492 (2013)
- Mitchell, R.J., Lord, S.R., Harvey, L.A., Close, J.C.T.: Associations between obesity and overweight and fall risk, health status and quality of life in older people. Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health 38(1), 13–18 (2014)
- Graf, C.E., Pichard, C., Herrmann, F.R., Sieber, C.C., Zekry, D., Genton, L.: Prevalence of low muscle mass according to body mass index in older adults. Nutrition 34, 124–129 (2016)
- Watson, M.A., Black, F.O.: The human balance system: a complex coordination of central and peripheral systems. Vestibular Disorders Association, Portland, OR (2008). http:// kernodle.duhs.duke.edu/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Human_Balance_System-1.pdf
- Winter, D.A.: Human balance and posture control during standing and walking. Gait Posture 3(4), 193–214 (1995)
- Toebes, M.J.P., Hoozemans, M.J.M., Furrer, R., Dekker, J., Van Dien, J.H.: Associations between measures of gait stability, leg strength and fear of falling. Gait Posture 41(1), 76–80 (2015)
- Martínez-López, E.J., Hita-Contreras, F., Jiménez-Lara, P.M., Latorre-Román, P., Martínez-Amat, A.: The association of flexibility, balance, and lumbar strength with balance ability: risk of falls in older adults. J. Sport Sci. Med. 13(2), 349–357 (2014)

Acupuncture/Acupressure for Knee Osteoarthritis (OA) Relieving in the Elderly: A Review

Zidan Gong¹(^[]), Winnie Yu¹, Thomas Wong², and Yuanqi Guo³

¹ Institute of Textiles and Clothing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, China

amygongzidan@163.com, winnie.yu.itc@polyu.edu.hk

² GINGER Knowledge Transfer and Consultancy Limited, Hong Kong, China

³ Pok Qi Hospital-The Chinese University of Hong Kong Chinese Medicine Centre for Training and Research (Shatin), Hong Kong, China

Abstract. The prevalence of knee osteoarthritis (OA) is quite high among the elderly and significantly influence their mobility which is quite relevant to functional independence and health-related life quality. Acupuncture and acupressure are increasingly popular in treating many diseases including some musculoskeletal and connective tissue disorders such as the knee OA. This paper aims to review the previous published researches on acupuncture and acupressure therapy for knee OA regarding the treatment mechanisms, effectiveness and characteristics to summarize and give therapeutic recommendations on knee OA in the elderly. Future directions will be provided for symptom management and functional maintenance in knee OA sufferers, so that the personal, societal, medical and financial burdens will then be correspondingly reduced.

Keywords: Knee osteoarthritis · Physical therapy · Traditional Chinese Medicine · Acupuncture · Acupressure · Elderly

1 Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common type of arthritis and was defined as a degenerative joint disease caused by inflammation, breakdown, and eventual loss of the cartilage [1–3]. This kind of disease could occur in almost any joints on human body including hands, shoulder, spine, hips, etc. [2]. However, the knee, the largest joint to bear the whole body stress while twisting and turning, is the most common prone to osteoarthritis [4]. The knee OA affects more than one third of the elderly aged over 65 years old with the presenting symptoms of stiffness, pain, physical function decrease that significantly cause the mobility limitation in the elderly and highly influence their life quality [5]. It is reported that nearly 80% of the elderly knee OA patients have mild or severe movement limitation problems, and nearly 25% of them have difficulty in performing basic daily activities while 11% of these knee OA patients even need personal care to support their daily life [1]. Moreover, elderly who suffer from knee OA are easier to get mental or cardiovascular diseases because of less social participation

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_35

and sedentary lifestyle and even have a higher risk of falls which may cause a higher rate of mortality [6].

To treat for the knee OA, although a variety of treatments are available such as pharmacologic, and non-pharmacologic treatments or surgical therapies, considering the general health condition and medical history of the elderly, there still remains some major issues related to untoward effects, complications and rehabilitation. Thus, physical therapies including some Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) modalities could be suitable for this group of people. Acupuncture and acupressure are increasingly popular in treating many diseases including some musculoskeletal and connective tissue disorders and were reported to have good therapeutic effectiveness on knee OA treating [7]. Many knee OA sufferers who have not adopted any western therapies find symptom relief from acupuncture or acupressure [8]. For those who receive western therapies such as pharmacological treatment or surgeries usually use acupuncture or acupressure as an effective and safe adjunctive therapy [9]. In this paper, published academic papers and clinical trials of acupuncture and acupressure for knee OA will be reviewed as a preliminary study of developing promising therapies for knee OA relieving in the elderly considering human factors.

2 Acupuncture/Acupressure

Acupuncture, a form of non-pharmacologic therapy (also known as a form of alternative medicine/physical treatment), belongs to Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) which insert fine needles into human body to achieve acupoints stimulation across meridians. Acupressure is a non-invasive variant of acupuncture which based on the similar philosophy and TCM meridian theory to that of acupuncture. In contrast to acupuncture, acupressure use fingers, hands, elbow, or various devices to apply pressure stimulation on acupoints instead of needle invasion. However, acupressure is safer and more convenient due to its non-invasive nature making it more suitable for the elderly. Furthermore, acupressure can not only achieve meridian stimulation as acupuncture dose, but also help to promote relaxation, decrease tissue adhesion, increase parasympathetic nervous activity, increase regional blood circulation, etc. [10].

3 Acupuncture/Acupressure Mechanisms for Knee OA Treating

3.1 The Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) Theory

The TCM mechanism states that the flow of vital energy (called Qi) is regulated by certain channels called meridians in the human body. Unbalance of the vital energy (Qi) may cause the inharmonious relationship of Yin Yang therefore lead to health problems. Acupoints stimulation could help to correct imbalanced Qi flows through the meridian channels to achieve physiological functions improvement of the body system and human internal organs [11]. Main concepts in the acupuncture/acupressure TCM mechanism are explained below.

Yin and Yang. The concept of Yin and Yang holds that everything in the universe consists of two opposite but mutually dependent forces that complement and supplement each other in order to keep the balance. In china, they are originally regarded as two basic root intuitions. Yin represents cold, darkness, tranquility, quiescence and passiveness while Yang usually associate with warm, bright, stimulation, assertiveness and dynamic potential. As a part of the universe, human beings were believed to maintain a healthy status by balancing the Yin and Yang forces inside body. In the Traditional Chinese Medicine system, basic and fundamental theory of Yin and Yang is widely applied in diagnosis, pathology, physiology and treatment. Continuum of vital energy flows in human along meridians between the two opposite poles of Yin Yang. Any disturbance in the balance of Yin and Yang to break their interdependent relationship may result in illness [12, 13].

Qi. In the TCM system, Qi is the vital energy circulating throughout the whole human body with myriad forms. Qi could be classified into two types within our bodies. The first one is the congenital Qi which we born with. This type of Qi associate to our basic health conditions with a limited amount and quality. Correspondingly, acquired Qi is another type of Qi which could be obtained from the external environment through food, air, exercises, etc. Unbalance of the vital energy (Qi) may cause health problems. Acupuncture or acupressure is an efficient way to help people get the acquired Qi.

Meridians and Acupoints. Meridian is a translation of the Chinese term-Jing Luo while "Jing" means to pass through and "Luo" represents the net or connection. In the TCM system, meridians are main channels connecting with organs for the passage of Qi flow through the body. There are 12 standard meridians also known as Principal Meridians running through the whole body. All of these 12 main meridians are divided into Yin and Yang groups. The Yin meridians include the Liver, Spleen, Kidney, Heart, Lung and Pericardium meridians. The Small Intestine, Triple warmer, Large Intestine, Stomach, Bladder, and Gall Bladder meridians belong to the Yang meridian group. As for acupoints, they are specific points located on meridians closest to the skin surface of our human body where to apply the needling or pressure stimulations by acupuncture or acupressure therapy. To note that acupressure and acupuncture used the same acupoints based on the same fundamental theory. Acupoints on different body parts presents various sensations such as pain or soreness when receiving external stimulation. Moreover, acupoints stimulations on different body parts are able to treat for different health problems [14].

3.2 Gate-Control Theory

The Gate-control theory was put forward by Melzack and Wall (1965) which identified that some stimulation input may close the "gate" to painful input thus prevent the ordinary pain signals traveling to the central nervous system [15]. Such stimulation will be effective in pain relief. To note that stimulations by acupuncture/acupressure will be converted into impulses to the brain with the frequency four times faster than ordinary pain signals. These continuous impulses are able to shut the "gate" in the central gelatinous substance of spinal cord and stop the ordinary pain signals such as knee pain

from reaching the brain. Moreover, in addition to endogenous pain relief function, acupuncture/acupressure stimulation benefits for the primary somatosensory processing and regulating maladaptive neuroplasticity [14].

3.3 Neurohumoral Theory

Biochemical mechanism explained that acupuncture/acupressure stimulation on points causes some neurohormonal responses [16]. Acupuncture or acupressure stimuli on acupoints lead to the icon channel activation. Concentrations of K⁺, Na⁺, Ca⁺, etc. may change among the sensory neuron network [17] which may cause the hypothalamic pituitary adrenocortical axis activation. Thus, cortisol level will be balanced to form a relaxation response, more endorphin and serotonin will be secreted by hypothalamus and pituitary gland to suppress the pain perception therefore the general physical performance of the knee OA sufferers will be improved [18]. Cortisol is a steroid hormone, in the glucocorticoid class of hormones. It is quite related to the metabolism, memory, sleep, stress, etc. of human body which plays an important role in both mental and physical performance. Endorphin and serotonin are neurotransmitters in the analgesia system. Endorphin was reported to have significant analgesic effect [19] while serotonin was known to contribute to producing happiness, relaxation, feeling well and achieving psychomotor balance [20]. Moreover, according to the neurohumoral theory, some endogenous, analgesic effective substances will also be produced such as enkephalins and dynorphins together with some neurotransmitters (e.g. aspartate in the central nervous system) and neuropeptides like β-endorphin, encephalin, and leucine as a result of acupuncture/acupressure in order to achieve pain reduction, physical function improvement and other symptoms relief of knee OA [21, 22].

3.4 Nitric Oxide (NO) Theory

Nitric oxide (NO) is one of the few gaseous signaling molecules which acts as biological messenger in a variety of organisms including human being. It is the key regulator of metabolism and local blood circulation. Nitric oxides (NO) on the inner lining (endothelium) of blood vessels have the ability to send message to smooth muscle surrounded making it relaxed therefore achieve the vasodilation and increase the blood flow. However, along with the aging process, the autocrine ability of NO declined. Even in our 60's and beyond, we may lose about 85% of our ability to make NO. The decrease of NO content may gradually lead to thickening arteries, inflammation plaque buildup, stiffening wall calcium buildup and finally, rupture. Some research finding suggested that acupressure or acupuncture stimulation on acupoints or areas along meridians could affect nitric oxide (NO) level in human body. This stimulation has been proved to promote the NO autocrine to increased local blood circulation, prevent local inflammation and relief local pain condition. Moreover, increased NO level caused by acupuncture or acupressure can also mediate signal to suppress fatigue inducing molecules in the blood then be able to improve physical performance [14, 23, 24]. Thus, this NO theory could also be applied in the knee OA treating by acupressure especially among the elderly patients.

3.5 Magnet Therapy

Acupoints on human body have been found to have a lower electrical resistance than surrounding areas [25]. Specifically, skin on normal condition has an electrical resistance of 200 Ω while the acupoints only have the resistance of 50 Ω [21]. This resistance difference on skin and energy flow (Qi) inside body through meridians may create electromagnetic field [26]. If the acupuncture/acupressure therapy was conducted by using magnetic devices, there will be an internal and external magnetic field s interaction to achieve magnetic acupuncture/acupressure. The static magnet field could decrease the firing rate of c-type chronic pain neurons and change the enzyme reaction rate in order to relieve knee OA pain and cure joint inflammatory [27]. Actually, there are already some products in the market such as the acupressure insoles adopting the magnets as the massage beads matching the acupoints on the feet. Although few types of research could be found on magnetic acupressure therapy, some studies have already proved the therapeutic effectiveness on knee OA and similar diseases with the suitable magnet strength ranging from 800 Gauss to 2000 Gauss [28–31].

4 Trial Review Result and Discussion

4.1 Basic Characteristics

To get a better understanding of the acupuncture/acupressure therapy for knee OA treating from the perspective of clinical practice. A total of 12 randomized clinical trials of acupuncture and acupressure for knee OA have been reviewed and summarized in the Table 1 below. All these researches were conducted among the target group of middle-aged and elderly people who are 40 years old and above. Specifically, more than 80% of the clinical trials were conducted in the elderly who aged 55 years old or above. And about 67% of the researches had the subjects aged over 60 years old with the mean age of 65. Sample size of these trials ranged from 30 to 1039 with the mean of 230.5 while 67% of these studies had the sample size within the range of 30 to 150. The treatment period of these 12 clinical trials ranged from 4 weeks to 12 months. For those long lasting trials such as Trial 9, 10, 11, 12, measures were usually recorded in different stages of the whole trial [32-35]. For instance, the Trail 10 carried by Foster et al. (2007) totally lasted for 12 months and the outcome measures were recorded at week 2, week 6, month 6 and month 12 [33]. As for the measures, the WOMAC (Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index) was most widely adopted as a measurement for knee OA research (83%). To measure the knee pain, stiffness, physical function of patients, items in the WOMAC were divided into these 3 subscales: (1) Pain: during walking/using stairs/in bed/sitting or lying//standing; (2) Stiffness: after first waking/later in the day; (3) Physical Function: stair use/rising from sitting/standing/bending/walking/getting in or out of a car/shopping/putting on or taking off socks/rising from bed/lying in bed/getting in or out of bath/sitting/getting on or off toilet/heavy household duties/light household duties.

Trail	Design	Sample size	Age	Period	Measures	Intervention
1	RCT	150	>65 years AVG.73	8 weeks	-WOMAC -Physical function -self reported	-Verum acupressure group -Sham acupressure group -Usual care group
2	RCT	30	>50 years	8 weeks	-WOMAC -SF 36	-Experimental group -Control group
3	RCT	30	40–70 AVG. 58	4 weeks	-KOOS	-True acupuncture group (high dose acupoints) -True acupuncture group (low dose acupoints) -Sham acupuncture group
4	Quasi-CT	90	45–60 AVG.52	3 months	-WOMAC	-Isometric exercise group -Acupressure group -Control group
5	RCT	214	AVG.60	12 weeks	-WOMAC	-True acupuncture group -Sham acupuncture group
6	RCT	30	40–70 AVG:57.5	4 weeks	-MASS -KOOS	-True acupuncture group (high dose acupoints) -True acupuncture group (low dose acupoints) -Sham acupuncture group
7	RCT	120	AVG.61.8	8 weeks	-WOMAC -SF-36	-True acupuncture group (with Etoricoxib), -Sham acupuncture group (with Etoricoxib), -Control group (only Etoricoxib),
8	RCT	68	AVG.65	5 weeks	-WOMAC -VAS -EQ-5D	-True acupuncture group -Sham acupuncture group
9	RCT	1039	>40 years AVG.63	26 weeks	-WOMAC	-True acupuncture group -Sham acupuncture group -control group
10	RCT	352	>50 years AVG.63	12 months	-WOMAC	-True acupuncture group -Sham acupuncture group -Control group
11	RCT	570	>50 years AVG.65.5	26 weeks	-WOMAC -SF-36	-True acupuncture group -Sham acupuncture group -Control group
12	RCT	73	>50 years AVG.65	12 weeks	-WOMAC	-Acupuncture group -Control group

Table 1. Clinical trials of acupuncture and acupressure for knee OA treating

RCT: randomized controlled trial; CT: controlled trial; WOMAC: Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index; SF-36: 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey; MASS: Massachusetts General Hospital Acupuncture Sensation Scale; KOOS: Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score; VAS: Visual Analogue Scale for pain; EQ-5D: EuroQol five dimension questionnaire; AVG.: Average

4.2 Effectiveness

83% of the acupuncture/acupressure trials indicated the therapeutic effectiveness on knee OA treating. Specifically, clinical trials 4, 6, 8, 9, 11 and 12 conducted by Sorour et al. (2014), Spaeth et al. (2013), Jubb et al. (2008), Scharf et al. (2007) and Berman et al. (2004), Berman et al. (1999) respectively have proved that acupuncture and acupressure have a significant improvement in knee pain, stiffness or function but on different level [8, 10, 32, 34–36]. Sorour et al. (2014) noted that compare to the control group, acupressure group acted better on pain reduction while isometric exercise group had more improvement in stiffness and function [10]. Jubb et al. (2008) reported that the true acupuncture improved the knee OA resulted pain, stiffness and function problems when comparing to sham and control groups and the pain decline is more significant than stiffness and function improvement [8]. Although the effectiveness of acupuncture/acupressure for knee OA treating was not clinically significant in the trial 10 of Foster et al. (2007), this technique can still achieve some pain relief but shortly existed [33]. These results may indicate that acupuncture/acupressure is an effective treatment especially for pain relevant diseases. Analgesic effect could be the main and first achievement of acupuncture/acupressure in the knee OA treating process therefore patients will be more willing to move their lower libs due to less pain and correspondingly improve the stiffness and mobility limitation. Moreover, acupuncture/ acupressure was also noted as a good adjunctive therapy for pharmacological treatment in Trial 7 that helps to achieve a higher therapeutic effectiveness [9]. The feasibility investigation research of Li et al. (2016) in Trial 1 showed that such Traditional Chinese Medicine therapy especially the acupressure is safe, effective and tolerable for older adults with knee osteoarthritis [37].

However, the research of Jubb et al. (2008) reported that acupuncture gave a symptomatic improvement for knee OA in both the true and sham groups in week 5 comparing to the baseline but the therapeutic effectiveness decline or even disappear since week 9 [8]. Similarly, Berman et al. (1999) noted that the total WOMAC score (including pain, stiffness and function) of the treatment group decreased by 34% at week 4, 42% at week 8, but obtained a slight increase in week 12 which may due to some treatment cessations since week 8 [35]. Thus, periodic treatment design may be more suitable for acupuncture/acupressure in order to relax and rest the acupoints, meridians and human body in order to receive a maximum therapeutic effect. According to the reviewed clinical trials, 4–8 weeks could be recommended as a suitable acupuncture/acupressure treatment period. Moreover, acupuncture/acupressure should be adopted continuously within a certain treatment period to ensure the therapeutic effectiveness.

4.3 Acupoints

Results in Trail 3 and 6 showed that true acupuncture whether high dose or low dose acupoints could achieve therapeutic effectiveness on knee OA [36, 38]. This may because core acupoints were included in both high dose and low dose groups which worked efficiently for knee OA treating. To select the core acupoints for true treatment

in future research, all the acupoints used in true groups of those reviewed trials were presented in Table 2. To summarize, the most recommended and frequently appeared acupoints are XiYan, SP9 (YingLingQuan), GB34 (YangLingQuan), ST35 (DuBi) and ST36 (ZuSanLi) concentrating on the lower limbs. Correspondingly, sham point were set up by some trials in their sham acupuncture/acupressure group to minimize result bias. There were two types of sham acupoints. The first type of sham acupoints are located at the same position as the true acupoints but use nonpuncturing needles to creating an illusion of insertion. The second type of sham acupoints are non-acupoints which located a distance from those true acupoints. Sham acupoints used in sham treatment group are usually set up about 1.5–3 cun (a traditional Chinese unit of length used in TCM) away from the true acupoints avoiding the main meridians [32, 36, 38]. It could be noticed that in some studies such as the trial of Scharf et al. (2007), both the true and sham acupuncture/acupressure groups obtained a good consequence in knee OA treating with the success rate of 53.1% and 51.0% respectively but had little effectiveness difference between the two groups [32]. This may because the sham points are still within the true acupoints' effective area or sham points were located on effective meridians.

Trial	Author (year)	Acupoints
1	Li et al. (2016) [37]	Yintang, Anmian, HT 7, SP 6, KI 3
2	Appleyard et al. (2016) [39]	ST35, Ex-LE5, ST36, GB34, SP9, ST34, SP10, GB33, LR7, LR8, Ex-LE2
3	Chen et al. (2014) [38]	ST35, Xiyan, GB34, SP9, GB39, SP6
4	Sorour et al. (2014) [10]	ST34, ST35, ST36, SP9, SP10, GB34, EX-LE2, EX-LE4
5	Chen et al. (2013) [40]	GB34, SP9, ST36, ST35, Xiyan, UB 60, GB39, SP6, KI3
6	Spaeth et al. (2013) [36]	GB34, GB39, ST35, Xiyan, SP9, SP6
7	Mavrommatis et al. (2012) [9]	ST36, SP9, SP10, GB34, Ex-LE2, Ex-LE5, LI4, KI3, ST40, SP6
8	Jubb et al. (2008) [8]	LI4, SP10, Xiyan, SP9, GB34, ST36, LIV3, BL40, BL57
9	Scharf et al. (2007) [32]	ST34, ST36, Xiyan, SP9, SP10, GB34
10	Foster et al. (2007) [33]	SP9, SP10, ST34, ST35, ST36, Xiyan, GB34, LI4, TH5, SP6, LIV3, ST44, KI3, BI60, GB41
11	Berman et al. (2004) [34]	GB34, SP9, ST36, ST35, Xiyan, BL60, GB39, SP6, KI3
12	Berman et al. (1999) [35]	GB34, SP9, ST36, ST35, Xiyan, BL60, GB39, SP 6, KI3

 Table 2.
 Acupoints used for knee OA treating

5 Limitations and Recommendations

However, although some clinical trials have reported positive results of acupuncture/ acupressure treatment for knee OA, there still remain some limitations that need to pay attention to. Firstly, relevant academic publication of high quality is limited. Secondly, when recruit participants, the history of other interventions such as drugs have not been recorded that might have some impacts on the results. Third, core acupoints selection theory were not usually stated by trials. Few studies only noted that they choose local acupoints based on previous research. To accurately select core acupoints in the future, both TCM theory and practice experience should be considered. Besides, there remained methodologic limitations, insufficient sample size for each separate subgroup analysis, a lack of placebo group or control group (33% of the trials) and inadequate assessment of long-term treatment effectiveness (more than 50% of the trials) which may lead to a research bias. Future research on acupuncture/acupressure based therapy with a well-designed methodology for knee OA relieving is highly needed.

To develop acupuncture/acupressure into a more promising method for knee OA symptom management and functional maintenance in the elderly, therapeutic recommendations are presented as follows:

- For those who have severe knee OA that must take pharmacological treatment could also take acupuncture/acupressure as an adjunctive therapy to relief pain.
- For those who take acupuncture/acupressure as main therapy could also adopt isometric exercise (e.g. Static stretching, strengthening, resistive exercise) to improve stiffness and function thus promote the virtuous cycle of acupuncture/ acupressure therapy.
- Acupuncture/acupressure could be developed into magnetic acupuncture/ acupressure by using magnetic needle or device to achieve a better therapeutic effect. Magnet strength should be 800–2000 Gauss.
- Acupoints of XiYan, SP9 (YingLingQuan), GB34 (YangLingQuan), ST35 (DuBi) and ST36 (ZuSanLi) are the most effective acupoints for knee OA treating. It is better to confirm them with acupuncturists who are experts in practice.
- It is better to adopt acupuncture/acupressure treatment periodically in order to receive a long term therapeutic effectiveness. 4–8 weeks are recommended as a period for receiving acupuncture/acupressure therapy.
- It is better to adopted acupuncture/acupressure treatment continuously within a certain treatment period to ensure the therapeutic effectiveness.
- Acupressure is safer and more convenient than acupuncture due to its non-invasive nature. Self-acupressure could be conducted by knee OA sufferers themselves by using fingers, hands, elbow or other devices under correct guideline in order to receive immediate treatment when needed.
- Wearable acupressure devices could be developed matching specific acupoints on human body to provide continuously treatment for the knee OA in the elderly.

In addition, more research with high quality randomized controlled trials are needed in the future to evaluate the feasibility and effectiveness of acupuncture/acupressure based therapy for knee OA treating. Well-designed methodology including true acupuncture/acupressure group, sham acupuncture/acupressure and control group is necessary to minimize the research bias. Sample size need to be scientifically calculated to ensure the sufficiency of subjects in each sub-group. Demographic and health history of each participant should be investigated before the trial to make a careful screening of the subjects. The WOMAC (Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index) could be taken as a main measurement for analysis. Moreover, it is important to choose appropriate sham points which usually about 1.5–3 cun away from the true acupoints avoiding the main meridians. Last but not the least, feedbacks from participants referring to whether physical or psychological aspects should be recorded and considered carefully to ensure effectiveness, safety and comfort.

6 Conclusion

Although there are numerous normal and tradition treatments for knee OA, consider the particularity of the elderly, the drug dependence consequence and drug side effects of pharmacological treatment, a high medical risk of surgery, the nonpharmacological treatment of acupuncture/acupressure is more suitable for knee OA treating in the elderly. Due to its safe, effective, convenient, side-effect free and cost-effective nature, the Traditional Chinese Medicine treatment of acupuncture/acupressure has a tremendous potential to be widely accepted by patients and significantly support the home treatment which is highly urged by the elderly. This human factor based treatment may not only provide promising methods to relieve knee OA and improve mobility but also give future directions for symptom management and functional maintenance in knee OA in order to improve the life quality of the old knee OA sufferers, so that the personal, societal, medical and financial burdens will then be correspondingly reduced

Acknowledgements. The founding from the Hong Kong Research Grant Council (RGC) for the research is gratefully acknowledged.

References

- Ringdahl, E., Pandit, S.: Treatment of knee osteoarthritis. Am. Fam. Phys. 83(11), 1287– 1292 (2011)
- 2. Sinusas, K.: Osteoarthritis: diagnosis and treatment. Am. Fam. Phys. 1(86), 49-56 (2012)
- 3. Mutlu, E.K., Ozdincler, A.R.: Manual therapy for knee osteoarthritis. Phys. Med. Rehabil. Int. 1(4), 1–2 (2014)
- Oliveria, S.A., Felson, D.T., Reed, J.I., Cirillo, P.A., Walker, A.M.: Incidence of symptomatic hand, hip, and knee osteoarthritis among patients in a health maintenance organization. Arthritis Rheum. 38(8), 1134–1141 (1995)
- Zhang, W., Moskowitz, R.W., Nuki, G., Abramson, S., Altman, R.D., Arden, N., et al.: OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, part I: critical appraisal of existing treatment guidelines and systematic review of current research evidence. Osteoarthr. Cartil. 15(9), 981–1000 (2007)

- Tse, M.M.Y., Wan, V.T.C., Ho, S.S.K.: Physical exercise: does it help in relieving pain and increasing mobility among older adults with chronic pain? J. Clin. Nurs. 20(5–6), 635–644 (2011)
- Ezzo, J., Hadhazy, V., Birch, S., Lao, L., Kaplan, G., Hochberg, M., Berman, B.: Acupuncture for osteoarthritis of the knee: a systematic review. Arthritis Rheum. 44(4), 819– 825 (2001)
- Jubb, R., Tukmachi, E., Jones, P., Dempsey, E., Waterhouse, L., Brailsford, S.: A blinded randomised trial of acupuncture (manual and electroacupuncture) compared with a non-penetrating sham for the symptoms of osteoarthritis of the knee. Acupunct. Med. 26 (2), 69–78 (2008)
- Mavrommatis, C.I., Argyra, E., Vadalouka, A., Vasilakos, D.G.: Acupuncture as an adjunctive therapy to pharmacological treatment in patients with chronic pain due to osteoarthritis of the knee: a 3-armed, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Int. Assoc. Study Pain 153(8), 1720–1726 (2012)
- Sorour, A.S., Ayoub, A.S., El Aziz, E.M.A.: Effectiveness of acupressure versus isometric exercise on pain, stiffness, and physical function in knee osteoarthritis female patients. J. Adv. Res. 5(2), 193–200 (2014)
- Kwan, R.Y.C., Leung, M.C.P., Lai, C.K.Y.: Acupressure for agitation in nursing home residents with dementia: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 15(1), 1–7 (2014)
- Kaptchuk, T.J.: Acupuncture: theory, efficacy, and practice. Ann. Intern. Med. 136(5), 374– 383 (2002)
- 13. Lozano, F.: Basic theories of traditional Chinese medicine. In: Acupuncture for Pain Management, pp. 13–43. Springer, New York (2014)
- Mehta, P., Dhapte, V., Kadam, S., Dhapte, V.: Contemporary acupressure therapy: Adroit cure for painless recovery of therapeutic ailments. J. Tradit. Complement. Med. 7(2), 251– 263 (2016)
- 15. Melzack, R., Wall, P.: Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science 150, 171–179 (1965)
- Moyer, C.A., Seefeldt, L., Mann, E.S., Jackley, L.M.: Does massage therapy reduce cortisol? A comprehensive quantitative review. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 15(1), 3–14 (2011)
- 17. Deng, Q.S.: Ionic mechanism of acupuncture on improvement of learning and memory in age mammals. Am. J. Chin. Med. 23(1), 1-9 (1995)
- Chang, L., Hsu, C., Jong, G., Ho, S., Tsay, S., Lin, K.: Auricular acupressure for managing postoperative pain and knee motion in patients with total knee replacement: a randomized Sham control study. Evid.-Based Complement. Altern. Med. 2012, 1–7 (2012)
- Ullet, G.A., Han, S., Han, J.S.: Electroacupuncture: mechanism and clinical application. Biol. Psychiatry 44(2), 129–138 (1998)
- Cabýoglu, M.T., Ergene, N., Tan, U.: The mechanism of acupuncture and clinical applications. Int. J. Neurosci. 116(2), 115–125 (2006)
- Wong, M.C., Shen, H.J.: Science-based mechanisms to explain the action of acupuncture. J. Assoc. Tradit. Chin. Med. 17(2), 5–10 (2010)
- Fu, H.: What is the material base of acupuncture? The nerves! Med. Hypotheses 54(3), 358– 359 (2000)
- Li, S., Chen, K., Wu, Y., Jiao, J.H., Tao, L.F.: Effects of warm needling at Zusanli (ST 36) on NO and IL-2 levels in the middle-aged and old people. J. Tradit. Chin. Med. 23(2), 127– 128 (2003)
- 24. Tsuchiya, M., Sato, E.F., Inoue, M., Asada, A.: Acupuncture enhances generation of nitric oxide and increases local circulation. Anesth. Analg. **104**(2), 301–307 (2007)
- 25. Niboyet, J.: Etude sur la moindre resistance cutanee a l'electricite des certains points de la peau dits 'points Chinois'. Bull de la Soc d'Acupuncture **39**(16), 19–88 (1961)

- Tsuei, J.J.: The science of acupuncture-theory and practice. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Mag. 15 (3), 52–57 (1996)
- Wolsko, P.M., Eisenberg, D.M., Simon, L.S., Davis, R.B.: Double-blind placebo-controlled trial of static magnets for the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: results of a pilot study. Altern. Ther. Health Med. 10(2), 36 (2004)
- Alfano, A.P., Taylor, A.G., Foresman, P.A., Dunkl, P.R., McConnell, G.G., Con-away, M. R., Gillies, G.T.: Static magnetic fields for treatment of fibromyalgia: a randomized controlled trial. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 7(1), 53–64 (2001)
- 29. Hinman, M.R., Ford, J., Heyl, H.: Effects of static magnets on chronic knee pain and physical function: a double-blind study. Altern. Ther. Health Med. **8**(4), 50 (2002)
- Kanai, S., Taniguchi, N., Kawamoto, M., Endo, H., Higashino, H.: Effect of static magnetic field on pain associated with frozen shoulder. Pain Clin. 16(2), 173–179 (2004)
- Harlow, T., Greaves, C., White, A., Brown, L., Hart, A., Ernst, E.: Randomised controlled trial of magnetic bracelets for relieving pain in osteoarthritis of the hip and knee. BMJ 329 (7480), 1450–1454 (2004)
- Scharf, H.P., Mansmann, U., Streitberger, K., Witte, S., Krämer, J., Maier, C., Bachmann, J.: Acupuncture and knee osteoarthritis: a three-armed ran-domized trial. Revista Internacional de Acupuntura 1(1), 41–42 (2007)
- 33. Foster, N.E., Thomas, E., Barlas, P., Hill, J.C., Young, J., Mason, E., Hay, E.M.: Acupuncture as an adjunct to exercise based physiotherapy for osteoarthritis of the knee: randomized controlled trial. BMJ 335(7617), 436 (2007)
- 34. Berman, B.M., Lao, L., Langenberg, P., Lee, W.L., Gilpin, A.M., Hochberg, M.C.: Effectiveness of acupuncture as adjunctive therapy in osteoarthritis of the knee: a randomized, controlled trial. Ann. Intern. Med. **141**(12), 901–910 (2004)
- Berman, B.M., Singh, B.B., Lao, L., Langenberg, P., Li, H., Hadhazy, V., Hochberg, M.: A randomized trial of acupuncture as an adjunctive therapy in osteoarthritis of the knee. Rheumatology 38(4), 346–354 (1999)
- Spaeth, R.B., Camhi, S., Hashmi, J.A., Vangel, M., Wasan, A.D., Edwards, R.R., Kong, J.: A longitudinal study of the reliability of acupuncture deqi sensations in knee osteoarthritis. Evid. Based Complement. Altern. Med. 2013 (2013)
- Li, L.W., Harris, R.E., Murphy, S.L., Tsodikov, A., Struble, L.: Feasibility of a randomized controlled trial of self-administered acupressure for symptom management in older adults with knee osteoarthritis. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 22(5), 396–403 (2016)
- Chen, X., Spaeth, R.B., Retzepi, K., Ott, D., Kong, J.: Acupuncture modulates cortical thickness and functional connectivity in knee osteoarthritis patients. Sci. Rep. 4, 6482 (2014)
- Appleyard, I., Crichton, N., Robinson, N.: Warm needle acupuncture vs. needle acupuncture for osteoarthritis of the knee: a pilot study protocol. Eur. J. Integr. Med. 8(4), 407–413 (2016)
- Chen, L.X., Mao, J.J., Fernandes, S., Galantino, M.L., Guo, W., LaRiccia, P., et al.: Integrating acupuncture with exercise-based physical therapy for knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. J. Clin. Rheumatol. Pract. Rep. Rheuma. Musculoskelet. Dis. 19 (6), 308 (2013)

Effect of Motion Type and Inclination on Muscle Activity and Edema

Vishnu Mahesh, Yueqing Li^(III), and Brian Craig

Department of Industrial Engineering, Lamar University, Beaumont, TX, USA {vmahesh, yueqing.li, craigbn}@lamar.edu

Abstract. The purpose of the study was to assess the lower limb muscle activity and the leg volume changes associated with different motion types and inclination. Participants were asked to run and walk at two different inclinations on a treadmill to quantify the muscle activity with EMG. The corresponding lower limb volume changes were recorded with a foot volumeter. Results found that running conditions led to a significant volume increase and a significantly greater muscle activity. The greatest increase in leg volume appeared in running with bigger inclination. However, walking with great inclination resulted in reduced leg volume. The research will provide invaluable insights in rehabilitation, fatigue prevention, prosthetics and sport shoes design.

Keywords: Edema \cdot EMG \cdot Muscle pump \cdot Venous return \cdot Dynamic tasks \cdot Aerobic exercises

1 Introduction

Loaded positions such as standing, walking or running places the lower legs in a dependent position where the weight of the body is borne by the lower legs. In a loaded static standing position or orthostasis, the absence of any significant lower leg muscle action to pump blood to facilitate venous return, can lead to pooling of blood in lower extremities following a prolonged exposure [1]. This results in an increased foot volume [2–5]. However, in the case of loaded dynamic tasks such as walking and running, calf muscle pump is thought to have an effect of maintaining a steady state of venous return nullifying the effect of gravity in pooling blood in the distal lower limbs [6]. However, this effect of calf muscle pump in maintaining venous return and thereby contributing to leg volume regulation has not been very conclusively established and has not been apparent in several studies. Some loaded dynamic tasks such as walking and running has been even found to lead to an increasing leg volume proposed to be due to an increase in blood circulation to the exercising limbs [7, 8] while some have reported no changes at all [9, 10].

The formation of lower extremity swelling due to fluid accumulation is subsequently manifested as dependent edema. Over time, this condition can lead to chronic edema or venous insufficiencies. Edema in lower extremities is an indicator of peripheral vascular diseases or developing circulatory insufficiencies. In the long term, persistent edema

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_36

formation of lower limbs put people under greater risk of varicose veins, thrombosis and pulmonary embolism [11]. Athletes, patients with CVI (Chronic Venous Insufficiency) and individuals in standing work may be at higher risk of dangerous levels of foot swelling and edematic limbs.

This study aims to highlight how lower limb muscle dynamics influence the regulation of foot volumetry and to find the volume changes of lower legs associated with walking, running and gradients to help understand the mechanism of edema formation. This research can contribute to the existing body of knowledge on venous dynamics and can help aid the development of exercise and treatment methods without risk of edema formation.

2 Literature Review

Foot volume was found to decrease following walking which could mean the effect of musculo-venous pumping counteracting the increased blood flow to the exercising muscles by helping in venous return from the lower extremities [6]. Skeletal muscle pump plays an important role in preventing edema in lower legs [15]. The musculo venous pumping could have an effect of pumping the fluid out of interstitial areas, decreasing the foot volume [3, 10, 6, 16]. Apart from the muscle pump forcing blood out from the lower extremities, it was found that due to a dynamic muscle activity, an enhanced lymph flow and a reduced venous pressure develops [4]. Reduced venous pressure develops due to the muscle pump mechanism wherein the venous compression induced by the contracting muscles quickly empty the veins. The venous valves prevent the backward flow of blood (reflux) to the lower legs ensuring an upward unidirectional flow [17]. The closed venous valves have an effect of reducing the pressure of venous sections locally along segments this in turn lead to a reduction in blood pressure at venous sections of capillaries, lowering the filtration pressure and brings down the filtration of fluid to the interstitial space [18]. The low venous pressure drives down the capillary filtration pressure thereby aids in overall limb volume reduction [6].

However, foot volume was found to be increasing after walking using a Lucite foot volumeter although the increase in volume was not as pronounced as in running [7]. Another research validated this finding having observed a significant increase in foot volume with walking [8]. The observations where the dynamic activities such as walking or running have resulted in increased edema is supported by the findings of increased blood flow to the exercising muscles of lower extremities and the subsequent shift of capillary fluid to the interstitial space [6, 7, 10].

This increase in foot volume due to dynamic activities can be as high as 8% [10]. Research has also supported the claims of increased interstitial and extracellular volume related to workload and subsequently resulting in swelling of lower limbs [4]. However, there have been a lot of conflicting findings as well such as in the case of an intense bout of volleyball activity [10] and pedaling [19].

3 Method

3.1 Participants

Seven healthy male participants with ages ranging from 22 to 38 years (M = 25.33/ SD = 3.07), weights from 61 kg to 98 kg (M = 73/SD = 12.91) and stature from 165 cm to 183 cm (M = 174.33/SD = 7.20) volunteered to participate in the study. The subjects did not report any prior incident of lower leg disorders. All participants were provided with written, informed consent form.

3.2 Equipment

The experiment was conducted on a treadmill (Trackmaster TMX425C) and an EMG apparatus (Biopac MP150) and foot volumeter (North Coast Medical Inc.) were used to measure the physiological and biomechanical responses of the lower leg (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Foot volumeter (left) and EMG equipment (right)

3.3 Independent and Dependent Variables

- Independent variables included the type of motion (walking and running) and the angle of inclination (0° and 3°).
- Dependent variables included the foot volume change and the lower leg muscle activity (% MVC) at Tibialis Anterior (TA) and Gastrocnemius (GA).

3.4 Experiment Task

The experiments were performed on a treadmill (Fig. 2). For running, the participants followed a normal gait involving an aerial or a flight phase in which all feet are above the ground. For walking, the participants followed a normal gait involving a foot always in contact with the ground and the center of gravity arching over the stance leg in an inverted pendulum model. Each of the motion was experimented at two different inclinations of 0° and 3° for a duration of 5 min. Walking and running speeds were set at 2.5 miles/h and

5 miles/h respectively. The experiment was a 2×2 factorial within-subjects design. The four conditions were randomly assigned to each participant in the experiment.



Fig. 2. Treadmill at 0° incline (left) and treadmill at 3° incline (right)

3.5 Procedure

After reporting to the lab, the participants initially lied down supine on a flat table for 20 min following which they shifted to a sitting posture. The baseline of foot volume was measured using the volumeter and the skin was prepared according to SENIAM guidelines. The electrodes were attached at skin over GA and TA and the ground was given at prepared skin over the talus. The transmitter was attached to the participant's ankle with a velcro strap firm at a minimal pressure. The participant performed the task on treadmill according to the random assignment.

The amplified raw EMG data was collected during the final 30 s of the experiment at a sampling rate of 2000 Hz and the signals were band-pass filtered at 20 Hz–500 Hz and full wave rectified to remove motion artefacts.

The peak and RMS EMG signals recorded were normalized with respect to the Maximum Voluntary Contraction (MVC) for each muscle. To exert GA, the participants plantar flexed their foot against a certain fixed resistance sitting on the floor and leaning against a wall in a gradual and continuous 2-second buildup of effort culminating in a 2-s maximal effort. For TA, participants dorsiflexed their foot against a fixed resistance applied at the metatarsals while standing. The participants were verbally encouraged during the process. A 500 ms window during the maximal exertion was used for all amplitude normalizations.

The readings were collected using Acknowledge 4.3 software and analyzed using SAS software. At the end of the session, the electrodes were detached and volumetry was performed to measure the change in foot volume. 24 h gap was allowed between all testing days to ensure that the physiological variables returned to their baseline values.

4 Results

ANOVA was conducted to analyze the effect of motion type and inclination on the leg volume change and EMG activity. Table 1 illustrates the significant effect of motion type and inclination.

Dependent variable	Effect	F-value	P-value	
Leg volume change	Motion type	6.80	0.0402	
TA muscle activity	Motion type	24.58	0.0026	
GA muscle activity	Motion Type	9.65	0.0209	

 Table 1. Significant effect for performance measures

4.1 Foot Volume Change

The analysis revealed a significant effect of motion type on leg volume change ($F_{l,6} = 6.80$, p = 0.0402) with a decreasing leg volume for walking (M = 6.78, SD = 17.67) and increasing leg volume for running (M = 9.92, SD = 14.44). The inclined surface tend to elicit a reduction in leg volume (M = 1.42, SD = 17.82) and level surface tend to lead to an increase in the leg volume (M = 4.57, SD = 18.28). However there was no statistical significance ($F_{1,6} = 0.94$, p = 0.3706) or interaction effect ($F_{1,6} = 2.06$, p = 0.2008). A reduction in leg volume was observed only for inclined walking while all other conditions led to at least some degree of leg swelling. The largest increase in leg volume was observed for incline running while the least increase was found for level walking.

4.2 EMG Activity at Tibialis Anterior (TA)

There was a significant effect of motion type on TA activity ($F_{1,6} = 24.58$, p = 0.0026). Post hoc analysis revealed that muscle activity on TA for running (M = 0.77, SD = 0.29) was significantly bigger than that for walking (M = 0.37, SD = 0.18). However, the level of inclination did not alter the TA EMG activity significantly ($F_{1,6} = 0.01$, p = 0.9238) nor was there an interaction effect ($F_{1,6} = 2.21$, p = 0.1878). The highest EMG activity was identified for incline running followed by level running. The least EMG activity was identified for incline walking.

4.3 EMG Activity at Gastrocnemius (GA)

GA muscle activity was significantly affected by the motion type ($F_{1,6} = 9.65$, p = 0.0209). Post hoc analysis revealed that muscle activity on GA for running (M = 0.68, SD = 0.27) was significantly bigger than that for walking (M = 0.59, SD = 0.31). Although the level of exertion was higher for inclined surface, the effect was not significant ($F_{1,6} = 0.94$, p = 0.3690). There was also no interaction effect ($F_{1,6} = 1.18$, p = 0.3191). Incline running had the highest EMG activity followed by level running. Level walking had the least EMG activity.

5 Discussion

5.1 Effect of Motion Type

For running condition, the leg volume tend to increase which agrees with several previous findings [6, 8, 20]. This could be due to the increased blood volume shift to the lower legs due to the intensity of the task and the subsequent inability of the lower leg musculature to maintain a constant rate of venous return [10]. During steady bouts of loaded dynamic activities such as running, a drop in venous pressure at the saphenous vein as high as 80 mm of mercury can hinder a steady rate of venous return aggravating edema [16]. The significantly high intensity of muscular exercise for running conditions could be evidenced from the EMG activity at TA and GA.

Foot volume was found to decrease for walking which agrees with the previous research [6]. This could be due to the musculo-venous pumping offsetting the relatively lower blood volume shift to the exercising lower leg muscles. Also, the drop in venous pressures had been observed to be much lesser in walking [6] which means it could not be significantly hampering an efficient venous return unlike running. The GA EMG activity was the lowest for both walking conditions and could have been sufficient to pump the fluid out of interstitial spaces [10] and ensure a steady venous return thereby controlling the overall foot volume.

5.2 Effect of Inclination

It has been suggested that strong muscle contractions may lead to a fluid accumulation in the working muscle [22]. An increased rate of trans-capillary filtration due to the increased blood flow to the exercising muscles can also result in the formation of interstitial edema. Incidentally, the highest TA and GA EMG activity, which was recorded during incline running, had also resulted in the greatest leg volume increase.

Walking gait has been found to be more efficient than running at minimizing leg volume change. This could be probably due to the characteristic muscle dynamics of or the way the muscles are contracted during walking gait. More studies need to be performed to assess how the differences is muscle dynamics between walking and running affect muscle pump. It could be inferred that for inclined walking condition, which had a higher GA EMG activity than in level walking, the musculo-venous pumping could have not only been sufficient to counteract the increased blood flow to the exercising muscles by aiding venous return but also had quite interestingly, been strong enough to elicit an actual leg volume reduction. This could conclusively show the effect of calf muscle pump in controlling foot volume and incline walking as the most effective means to reduce leg volume.

6 Conclusion

Four different combinations of motion types and inclinations were compared for participants on a treadmill to study the effect of motion type and inclination on EMG activity at lower leg muscles and the leg volume. The relationship between the muscle activity levels of lower leg and the corresponding volume changes were studied and interpreted from a physiological standpoint. Running conditions led to a volume increase and had a greater TA and GA muscle activity. The greatest increase in foot volume was identified for incline running which also had the highest EMG activity at both muscles. Walking conditions had been shown to reduce leg volume and had the least EMG activity. Only incline walking showed a reduced lower limb volume post activity and might be the best combination of activity-inclination to reduce leg volume.

Acknowledgments. This research was supported by the Center for Advances in Port Management (CAPM) at Lamar University. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the CAPM.

References

- Gardner, A.M.N., Fox, R.H.: The venous pump of the human foot-Preliminary report. Bristol Med. Chir. J. 98, 109–114 (1983)
- Mayroviz, H.N.: Posturally induced leg vasoconstrictive responses: relationship to standing duration, impedance, and volume changes. Clin. Physiol. 18, 311–319 (1997)
- 3. Stick, C., Hiedl, U., Witzleb, E.: Volume changes in the lower leg during quiet standing and cycling exercises at different ambient temperatures. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 66, 427–433 (1993)
- 4. Stick, C., Stofen, P., Witzleb, E.: On physiological edema in man's lower extremity. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. **54**, 442–449 (1985)
- Man, I.O.W., Lepar, G.S., Morrissey, M.C., Cywinski, J.K.: Effect of neuromuscular electrical simulation on foot/ankle volume during standing. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 35, 630–634 (2003)
- Stick, C., Jaeger, H., Witzleb, E.: Measurements of volume changes and venous pressure in the human lower leg during walking and running. J. Appl. Physiol. 72(6), 2063–2068 (1992)
- Cloughley, W.B., Mawdsley, R.H.: Effect of running on volume of the foot and ankle. J. Orthop. Sports Phys. Ther. 22, 151–154 (1995)
- Mc Whorter, J., Wallmann, H., Landers, M., Altenburger, B., LaPorta-Krum, L., Altenburger, P.: The effects of walking, running and shoe size on foot volumetrics. Phys. Ther. Sport 4, 87–92 (2003)
- Boni, M., Takacs, I., Wilson, R.: Foot Volume Change During Long Distance Running in Healthy Adults. UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones. 1326. (2012)
- Chalk, P.J., McPoil, T., Cornwall, M.: Variations in foot volume before and after exercise. J. Am. Podiatr. Med. Assoc. 85(9), 470–472 (1995)
- 11. Winkel, J.: An accurate plethysmograph for measurement of changes in the volume of the human foot. Ergonomics **29**, 801–805 (1986)
- Sartika, S.J., Dawal, S.Z.: A comparison of the effect of using sit/stand stool on prolonged standing task. In: Proceedings of the International Multi Conference of Engineers and Computer Scientists, Vol III, 17–19 March. Hong Kong (2010)
- Sanders, J.E., Harrison, D.S., Allyn, K.J., Myers, T.R., Ciol, M.A., Tsai, E.C.: How do sock ply changes affect residual limb fluid volume in people with transtibial amputation. J. Rehabil. Res. Dev. 49, 241–256 (2012)

- Beskin, J.L.: Nerve entrapment syndromes of the foot and ankle. J. Am. Acad. Orthop. Surg. 5(5), 261–269 (1997)
- 15. Levick, J.R.: An Introduction to Cardiovascular Physiology, 5th ed. (Chapters 9, 10, 11). Hodder-Arnold, London (1991)
- 16. Stegall, H.: Muscle pumping in the dependent leg. Circ. Res. 19, 180 (1966)
- 17. Henry, J.P., Gauer, O.H.: The influence on temperature upon venous pressure in the foot. J. Clin. Invest **29**, 855–861 (1950)
- Gauer, O.H.: Kreislauf des Blutes. In: Gauer, O.H., Kramer, K., Jung, R. Physiologie des Menschen, Bd. 3 Herz und Kreislauf. Urban & Schwarzenberg, Munchen, 250 (1972)
- Stick, C., Grau, H., Witzleb, E.: On the edema preventing effect of the calf muscle pump. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 59, 39–47 (1989)
- 20. Kunde, S., Milani, T., Sterzing, T.: Relationship between running shoe fit and perceptual, biomechanical and mechanical parameters. Footwear Sci. 1(1), 19–20 (2009)

Applied Ergonomics in Fashion Design and Sports Technology

Women's Clothing Choices are Being Inhibited by Poor Fit

Tanya Dove^(III)

Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, China tanya.dove@polyu.edu.hk

Abstract. Clothing is expected to conform to our body shape, to fit closely, and deform in synchronization with our body movement [1]. Although ergonomics with regard to fashion is still little discussed, it is understood that this scientific discipline is of fundamental importance in the design and development stage of a project, since it makes it possible to ensure clothing meet the different demands of users [2]. This study will test the hypothesis that introducing bra cup sizes as an additional independent measurement into the standard sizing model will markedly improve the fit of the clothing, and lead to an increase in comfort and consumer satisfaction. The focus will be on fitted clothing, made from non-stretch fabric, where the pattern cutting of the garment needs to conform to body anthropometric data and the ergonomics of movement.

Keywords: Close fitting garments \cdot Experimental pattern cutting \cdot Bust cup grading \cdot New sizing system

1 Introduction

Clothing is one of the larger retail sectors, representing £30 billion (42 billion) in the UK, and US\$173 billion in the USA in 2004. Experts estimate that global textile and apparel consumption reached US\$984 billion in 2002. There are many challenges in this sector. One is a long-term shift of influence from producer to consumer; another is the high level of garment returns [3]. The inability of many consumers to find good fit in mass-produced clothing has long been recognized as a major problem in providing quality apparel products to consumers. Many retailers export their clothing in the same sizing ranges as produced in their home countries, without the consideration of ethnic body shape deviations. In the last decades, the apparel industry perceives the world as a global market: global competition among global companies for global customers [4].

Fit, proper fit, is not about size or measurements; it's all about shape. The body is three-dimensional and when clothing patterns are developed that actually represent the three-dimensional shape of real human bodies, the odds that clothing will fit increase sharply [5]. The average size for women has been increasing; consequently, their body shapes have changed as well [6]. The British Standards Institute, (BSI) reported in 2003 the average British size 12 women measures 88 cm bust, 72 cm waist and 96 cm hip [7]. According to Size USA 2004, the average American female is 163 cm in height and weighs about 73.94 kg. She has a bust measure of 108.6 cm, and hips, which measure

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_37

112.4 cm [8]. Even though consumers may have similar body measurements, their body shapes may be different. The differences in body shape often determine how a garment will hang on a figure, how comfortable the garment feels, and ultimately how that garment is perceived to fit by the consumer [6]. Fit of a garment is defined by the relationship between its dimensions and those of the human body.

Most clothing is designed for the 'anthropometric' position; that is, for a person standing squarely with feet slightly apart and arms at the sides. Yet we spend relatively little time in this static position; we generally are in constant motion [9]. Measurement charts are published as a guide to apparel sizing, but, there are no international relegations surrounding how a brand must label its sizes or if the size must relate to actual body measurements. In anthropometric studies, which are used to create sizing charts, the bust measurement is seen as a total girth body measurement, without the consideration for a woman's bust cup size. I hypothesise that an optimised sizing system can be developed which would better fit the female population, a sizing system which respects the contours of a woman's body, creating sizes within sizes, and in so doing will generate new knowledge that will benefit the consumers and the fashion industry. This research will focus on fitted clothing made from non-stretch clothing where the pattern cutting of the garment needs to conform to body anthropometric data and the ergonomics of movement. Clothing should be ergonomically designed, in accordance with the dynamic anthropometric conditions of use and functionality, while still allowing wearing comfort and a high degree of free movement, as well as uninterrupted and safe work activities [10].

2 Consumer Expectations and Satisfaction

Consumers increasingly expect their garments to have functional properties that match the specific end-use conditions under which the garments are to be worn. Therefore, everyday garments are no longer expected to merely satisfy the basic and traditional requirements of everyday wear such as basic comfort, adornment, modesty protection and fashion, but also to satisfy other performance requirements and functionalities including anti-wrinkling, breathability, waterproofing, physiological and psychological comfort, etc. [11]. Fit is one of the first things that individuals consider in evaluating a garment. It is also the number one customer complaint and reason for clothing returns [12]. Human performance can most certainly be impaired by poor fit. Restricting factors such as range of motion, reach, and manual dexterity [13]. An understanding of dress in everyday life requires understanding not just how the body is represented within the fashion system and its discourses on dress, but also how the body is experienced and lived and the role that dress plays in the presentation of the body/self [14]. The root of the fit of clothing can be traced to a lack of communication between ergonomics and designers of clothing. It is important that ergonomists collect and present their scientific data in a suitable format while the designers should be ready to interpret and apply it to design of products [15].

According to Rasband [17] garments should fit the predominant girth measurements – bust, waist and hipline in the following manner –

- 1. Bust or chest. Shirts and blouses should have 1 to 2 inches of ease on each side, jackets 3 to 4 inches of ease and coats 7 to 8 inches, without closures hanging straight and smooth.
- 2. Waist. The waistband should be comfortably snug and level with the floor when standing, yet remains comfortable when sitting.
- 3. Hip area. Skirts and pants should have 1 to 2 inches of ease on each side and drop half to one inch below the crotch. Skirts and pants should fall straight down below the abdomen and hipline, rather than cupping the abdomen, buttocks or thighs [16].

3 Bust Size Increases, Bra Technology and Design

The global lingerie market is estimated to be around US\$30 billion, with a projected growth of perhaps 9% over the next five years [17]. The average national bra size has increased by three-cup sizes over the last 30 years, according to a new study by Intimacy. The lingerie retailer reported an average of 34DD. This compares to the 34B bra-size average in 1983. Average American bra sizes are at an all-time high, increasing from 34B to 34DD over the past 30 years, new research has revealed [18]. Not only have bust sizes increased, women are making the most of their growing assets with sales of cleavage enhancing bras up from 36% in 2010 to 70% [19]. In recent years, the average British bra size has increased from 34B to 36D, which means that while women's backs have grown one size, breasts have jumped up two. The technology in bra design can also enhance a woman's cup size by more than two sizes with additional padding. The bra can lift, enlarge, support, confine, flatten, and modestly covered women's breasts. Additional to women's natural breast size and bra technology, there is also a demand for cosmetic surgery to enhance bust sizes. Female consumers regularly explain their desire for cosmetic surgery in terms of re-creating a "genuine" body lost to physical changes [20]. The American Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery (ASAPS) published in their 15th annual statistical report that there was an increase of 213.2% in procedures from 1997 to 2011, being the second rated aesthetic surgical procedure after liposuction in 2011 [21].

For women with a small bust size, padding can increase confidence and self-esteem and enable them to wear fitted clothing, showing a full bust line. An investigation of two online retailer's bra styles showed 69% of designs have additional padding. The average DD cup woman now has less choice of non-padded bra styles so could be persuaded to purchase a padded bra, increasing her cup size to an E cup. As the intimate apparel industry and the apparel fashion industry operate as two independent fields, from fashion education to designers in industry, there is no correlation or cross over of information on women's body sizes. When lingerie retailers develop the technology, and padding to increase the bra cup and a woman's cleavage they do not consider the clothing that has to fit over the top. The clothing retailers seem to be unaware of the bust cup size increases, natural, cosmetic and through technology as they still produce clothing to a B cup bra.

4 Industry Sizing of Apparel

The lack of standards in the high-street sizing of clothing is contributing to customer dissatisfaction over the fit and comfort of their garments. An investigation of 47 high street retailer's online data was collated in 2015, women's bust, waist and hip measurements; across three sizes - small, medium and large (UK 10, 12 and 14). An analysis was made over the average, smallest, largest and the difference in measurements between the largest and smallest garment with the same size label. Figure 1 shows a difference of 12 cm in the bust measurement for clothing, which has the same size label.

(47 retailers)	SMALL - UK10/ US6			MEDIUM UK12/US8			LARGE - UK14/US10		
2015 data	Bust	Waist	Hip	Bust	Waist	Hip	Bust	Waist	Hip
Average Size	86.5	68.4	93	91.4	73.2	97.9	96.8	78.6	103.2
Smallest Size	80	62.5	87.5	88	67.5	92.5	92	73.75	97.5
Largest Size	92	75	102	94.5	80	106	100.5	87.5	106.75
Difference Small to Large	12	12.5	14.5	6.5	12.5	13.5	8.5	13.75	9.25

Fig. 1. Retailers analysis of sizing data

Problems with garment fit may arise from the current industry practice of setting sizing systems, namely sizing up and down the measurements of a garment fitted perfectly to a single person, called a fit model, by applying the grades of a standard bodysizing system. Factors that influence garment fit in this scenario include the fit model, who essentially sets the starting point for the size scale and might not be representative of the target population, and the body size grades, which might not be appropriate for the targeted population [22]. The human body does not grow proportionally as suggested in size charts that guide grading practices. As a result, grading practices contribute to fit problems [23]. Schofield and LaBat (2005) compared current pattern grade rules with an anthropometric sizing database and determined that grade assumptions were not supported by body measurement data. They found a mismatch between grading practices and the body measurements of intended consumers [24]. Upper body garments are typically sized by segmenting bust circumference (primary dimension) in regular 5-cm intervals to create "sizing tables", the main tool used by pattern makers [25]. However, bust sizes are not accounted for in any type of pattern grading. The base size model in the fashion industry is commonly a size UK10, 34B cup bra. This is proportionately graded as mentioned. An average bra cup size difference is 2.5 cm, with the average grade of the bust line being 5 cm. A C cup woman, is 2.5 cm larger than the standard size at the bust line so would have to purchase the next clothes size up, just to fit her bust correctly. DD, and E cup bust would need to buy two clothes sizes larger to fit their bust line measurement.

Anthropometry is aimed at providing the correct body dimensions required to provide a good fit of the product to the user. It helps the designers to understand and appreciate the variability that exists in human body dimensions, proportions and shape [15]. At the core

of clothing anthropometrics are therefore three key issues: (1) how to measure the body adequately, (2) how to analyse the vast data into efficient size charts and (3) how to use the size charts in marketing in order to create customer satisfaction with clothing [26]. Although ergonomics with regard to fashion is still little discussed, it is understood that this scientific discipline is of fundamental importance in the design and development stage of a project, since it makes it possible to ensure fashion products and clothing meet the different demands of users [2].

5 Bust Cup Sizing in Woven Apparel

To test the hypothesis that introducing bra cup sizes as an additional independent measurement into the standard sizing model will markedly improve the fit of the clothing, and lead to an increase in comfort and consumer satisfaction a four-part experiment was conducted.

- An online survey was launched online, targeting women with a bust cup size bigger than a B (current high street sizing size). The survey received 116 responses, with 41 complete, which were used for analysis. (https://myacs.polyu.edu.hk/utils/ mysurvey/index.php/838438/lang-en)
- 2. Two garments were purchased from three global retailers to analyse the pattern construction, size, fit and grade between sizes.
- 3. An experiment to create a bust cup grading formula into a basic bodice block was performed; a sample was made and fitted to a dress form.
- 4. A group of 12 women were selected covering a diverse age range, body size and bust cup size, called pilot testers. The bust cup formula was used to create a made to measure panel line dress for each participant.

The survey results clearly showed dissatisfaction with the availability of high street clothes sizing and fit. When questioned on clothes fit and comfort, 76% said no they did not meet expectations. Asked if clothes are tight over their bust 78% said yes, with 85% saying they did not purchase clothes due to the bust line not fitting comfortably. 75% of respondents said they had to purchase clothes in a larger size just to fit their bust size.

In January 2017 two items of clothing were purchased from a selection of retailers to cross analyse the sizing, grading, and create a pattern from the garment to analyse the construction. They were purchased in stores in Hong Kong SAR. The ideal garment was a fitted shirt, to show armhole shape and sleeve width. However, it was increasingly difficult to find such items in store. Many retailers have less and less fitted woven apparel, opting for stretch jersey fabrics for fitted styles. Woven styles predominantly had a semi fit, often with no bust shaping using a bust dart. They were looser fitting, flat over the bust, with the same measurement front and back bust line. Zara had the closest item to a fitted shirt, which has a loose waistline, with back darts only reducing waist girth at the back, and no bust dart. In H&M and Marks and Spencer's it was impossible to fulfil the criteria of a fitted shirt with none in stock, therefore, a fitted woven dress was purchased in both retailers instead.

350 T. Dove

A paper pattern of the garments was made, noting bust line, waistline, and hipline, and cross front and back positions. These girth measurements were approximated due to the shaping of the garment. Bust line measurement was taken as 2.5 cm under armhole for sleeved garments. The garments would have had ease of movement added into the pattern cutting. Dove (2013) shows a minimal ease of movement to be 4 cm bust line, 2 cm waist line and 4 cm hip line [27]. The following chart shows the original garment measurement, reduction of ease and cross comparison to the retailers sizing displayed on their live websites. Size small was used for the cross comparison (Fig. 2).

Measurement	Online	XS UK8	S UK10	М	Minus	Difference		
Location	08/15	(32)	(34)	UK12	ease			
In centimetres	S UK10			(36)	movement			
H&M fitted dress. 98% Polyester, 2% Elastane								
Across Front.			28.5cm	30cm				
Bust dart			2cm	2cm				
Bust Line	84cm		75cm	80cm	71cm	- 13cm		
Waist Line	68cm		64cm	68cm	62cm	- 6cm		
Hip Line	92cm		88cm	90cm	84cm	- 8cm		
Body length.			39cm	40cm				
Zara Denim Shirt -	100% Cotto	n						
Across Front.		31.5cm	33cm					
Bust Line	86.5cm	85cm	90cm		86cm	+ 0.5cm		
Waist Line	69cm	77cm	82cm		80cm	+ 11cm		
Hip Line	96.5cm	90cm	96cm		92cm	- 4.5cm		
Body length.		40cm	41cm					
Marks and Spencer	's dress. 95%	% polyester,	5% elastane		•			
Bust and waist dart was combined as a French dart								
Bust Line	84.7cm		91cm	96cm	87cm	+ 2.3cm		
Waist Line	68cm		77cm	82cm	75cm	+ 7cm		
Hip Line	92.5cm		95cm	100cm	91cm	- 1.5cm		
Body length.			41cm	42cm				

Fig. 2. High street garment sizing analysis

The H&M dress was significantly smaller than the advertised bust waist and hip measurements on their website, with the sizing label indicating the European bust sizing of 34 and 36 inches respectively. The Zara shirt hipline was 4.5 cm smaller than the advertised measurement, the waist of the design was made to be larger than the body and the bust was the same as advertised. Marks and Spencer's had larger bust and waist, with a smaller hip size than advertised online.

A cluster analysis was performed of women's under and over bust sizes, based on data collected from the online survey, and pilot tester measurements, a total of 48 measurements. The red diagonal dotted line shows the high-street sizing of apparel where the over bust is an average of 10 cm larger than the under bust. For smaller framed women, UK sizes 8 and 10 they appear on or slightly over the high-street standard. However, a majority of women measuring a UK12 are over 5 cm larger in bust size than the standard. The image has the addition of cup sizes, based on a 2.5 cm grade per cup band. Based

on the high-street sizing of a B cup model, the cup sizes are vertically up from the dotted red line (Fig. 3).



Size 10 under bust, F cup over bust = Size 14/16 Size 14 under bust, F cup over bust = Size 18/20

Fig. 3. Cluster analysis of 48 women's over and under bust measurements

The blue bold line shows an example of an F cup woman, size 10 and size 14 where the increase in cup measurement meets the high-street sizing (red dotted line) 2.5 sizes up. Resulting in size 10 body frame women, with an F cup bust, having to wear between a UK size 14 and 16 in fitted apparel.

6 Bust Cup Grading Formula

A dress form, missy 12 was used as the base of this experiment. The form was measured net, then with a B and a D cup bra placed over the form. A drape of the torso was also taken to analyse the difference in bust cup dart width with the two different bra cup sizes. The dress form was taped for key girth, width and height placement, with the D cup bra for this experiment. A made to measure bodice block was created for the dress form, using the below formula to add the bust cup size D into the block. The front block being created smaller than the back, with increased bust dart width and raised front neckline (Figs. 4, 5, 6).

Bust cup dart width at shoulder	2cm grade per cup size – experimental calculation
seam	
Front bust line at side seam front	1.25cm grade per cup size (half a cup size)
Front panel line	Moving to side seam by 0.5cm per cup
Bust line position	Raised by 0.5cm per cup
Cross front position	Raise by 0.5cm per cup – default of bust line position
Shoulder line and front neck drop	Raised by 0.5cm per cup – default of bust line position

Fig. 4. Bust cup grading formula



Fig. 5. Bust cup grading formula diagram



Fig. 6. Dress form bodice block created with a D cup bust line at the front

A small group of 14 women were selected to perform the same experiment of bust cup grading, aged 18–67 with bust cup sizes from a C cup to an E cup. Two women withdrew from the experiment after being measured. The panel line dress experiment was used to create a panel line sleeveless dress for the participants. The dress was made to measure from their body measurements, with the bust cup grading formula added into the bodice block. The objective of the pilot tester experiment was to ascertain if the bust cup grade is an accurate formula to provide an improved fit and customer satisfaction. A panel line dress was created from the bodice block and a sample with lining made, fitted on the participant and photo recorded. Participants also completed a post-fitting questionnaire while conducting a one hour wearer trial (Fig. 7).

			Е					
			Е					
			Е					
			DD					
			DD					
	D		D	D				
	С	DD	D	С			DD	Е
UK SIZE	10	12	14	16	18	20	22	24

Fig. 7. Participants body and bust sizes

The participants bust cup size was analysed by three methods, the pilot testers own bra size worn, the over/under bust analysis and using a bra cup tape measure. Seven of the participants fell within a size UK14 range, using a base size, with a 5 cm body grade to calculate an approximate size range. Pilot testers were also categorised in different heights, five were within the petite height range, the majority, seven participants, falling in the average height range, with only two in the tall range.

7 Dress Fit Analysis Conclusion

The initial dress fit on the dress form was acceptable for the D cup construction method. The bust fitted the form with ease of movement. The waist fit was shapely, the hip slightly large with 4 cm ease of movement. The pilot testers completed a questionnaire during a wearer trial, with results showing that 10 women felt the dress was a significantly improved fit over their bust line, with 2 feeling the bust was still tight; and these being two of the E cup women. All women felt very comfortable in the dress, with the waist and hip fitting receiving 100% satisfaction. The armhole positioning, side seam and ease of movement was all analysed, receiving positive feedback on fit and form. From a technical capacity, the evaluation of this pilot test was very successful. There are still improvements that can be made in the fit of a bust cup grade within the body, specifically the grading of larger cup sizes.
An experimental sizing chart was subsequently calculated to show how bust cup grading could be implemented within a sizing system. Figure 8 shows the over bust girth being the base, size UK 10 with a 4 cm body size grade. Additional measurements for C, D, DD, E and F cup sizes were calculated, increasing the bust girth without altering the under bust, waist or hip measurements (Fig. 8).

UK Body size in centimetres	6	8	10	12	14	16	18	20	22
Over Bust									
Girth B cup	76	80	84	88	92	96	100	104	110
C (2.5cm cup									
grade)	78.5	82.5	86.5	90.5	94.5	98.5	102.5	106.5	112.5
D	81	85	89	93	97	101.5	105	109	115
DD	83.5	87.5	91.5	95.5	99.5	104	107.5	111.5	117.5
Е	86	90	94	98	102	106.5	110	104	120
F	88.5	92.5	96.5	100.5	104.5	109	112.5	106.5	122.5
Under Bust									
girth	60	65	70	75	80	85	90	95	100
Waist girth	59	63	67	71	75	79	83	87	93
Hip Girth	82	86	90	94	98	102	106	110	114

Fig. 8. Experimental sizing system for bust cup grading

This research has shown an inconsistency in clothing sizes, across pattern publications, retail outlets, from clothing to bras. International and national standards are in place, but not used. Retailers believe they cater for their customers in their sizing, yet clothing returns and bad fit are commonplace. The objective of this research is to develop a sizing system that fits the three-dimensional contours of a woman's body, by adding in bust sizing into the current system, improving customer satisfaction, fit and function. Given all of the difficulties of creating sizing systems for ready-made clothing, it seems that it would be impossible to provide good fit for everyone in the population, and indeed the difficulties increase, as more people are included in the target market for a firm. Therefore, most apparel companies create their sizing systems by defining their target market in a way that gives them a loyal following of customers, who appreciate the styles, fit characteristics, level of quality, and cost provided by the company [28]. This exploratory grading system requires further experimental work using participants with a variety of figure shapes and bust sizes. The fashion industry could select sizes for their specific target consumers from the chart, not being expected to cater to all body and bust size. In the past ten years, the apparel and retail industries have come a long way in terms of understanding fit, its relation to body shape, and the critical role both play in the success of every retailer and brand. While companies will continue to explore new, innovative technologies trying to solve the fit frustration that many consumers face on a regular basis, there is no 100% solution [5].

References

- 1. Das, A., Alagirusamy, R.: Garment fit and comfort. In: Das, A. (ed.) Science in Clothing Comfort, pp. 159–172. Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge (2010)
- Martins, S.B., Martins, L.B.: Ergonomics, Design Universal and Fashion, pp. 4733–4738. IOS Press, Amsterdam (2012)
- Bougourd, J., Treleaven, P.: National size and shape surveys for apparel design. In: Gupta, D. (ed.) Anthropometry, Apparel Sizing and Design, pp. 153–168. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2014)
- Faust, M.E., Carrier, S.: Women's wear sizing: a new labelling system. J. Fashion Market. Manag. 14(1), 88–123 (2010)
- Gribbin, E.A.: Body shape and its influence on apparel size and consumer choices. In: Faust, M.E. (ed.) Designing Apparel for Consumers, pp. 3–16. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2014)
- Pisut, G., Connell, L.J.: Fit Preferences of Female Consumers in the USA. J. Fashion Market. Manag. 11(3), 366–379 (2007)
- British Standards Institute. BSI https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/about-bsi/media-centre/ press-releases/2002-news/3/All-change-for-clothes-sizes
- Boorady, L.M.: Overweight and obese consumers: shape and sizing to design apparel that fits this specific market. In: Faust, M.E. (ed.) Designing Apparel for Consumers, pp. 153–168. Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge (2013)
- 9. Ashdown, S.P.: Improving body movement comfort in apparel. In: Song, G. (ed.) Improving Comfort in Clothing, pp. 278–298. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2011)
- Gersak, J.: Wearing comfort using body motion analysis. In: Gupta, D. (ed.) Anthropometry, Apparel Sizing and Design, pp. 141–166. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2014)
- 11. Hunter, L., Fan, J.: Adding functionality to garments. In: Sinclair, R. (ed.) Textiles and Fashion, pp. 705–736. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2015)
- Howarton, R., Lee, B.: Market analysis of fit preferences of female boomers. J. Fashion Market. Manag. 14(2), 219–229 (2010)
- Laing, R.M., Sleivert, G.G.: Clothing, textiles, and human performance. Text. Prog. 32(2), 1– 122 (2002)
- 14. Colls, R.: Looking alright, feeling alright: emotions, sizing and the geographies of women's experiences of clothing consumption. Soc. Cult. Geogr. **5**(4), 583–596 (2004)
- Gupta, D., Zakaria, N.: Anthropometry, apparel sizing and design. In: Gupta, D. (ed.) Anthropometry, Apparel Sizing and Design, pp. 34–65. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2014)
- 16. Rasband, J., Liechty, E.L.G.: Fabulous Fit Speed Fitting and Alterations. Fairchild Publications, New York (2006)
- 17. Hume, M., Mills, M.: Uncovering Victoria's secret exploring women's luxury perceptions of intimate apparel and purchasing behavior. J. Fashion Market. Manag. **17**(4), 460–478 (2013)
- How the average American bra size increased 34B-34DD (2013). http://www.dailymail.co.uk/ femail/article-2374311/How-average-American-bra-size-increased-34B-34DD-past-30years.html
- 19. Average bra size has swelled by three (2012). http://www.mirror.co.uk/news/uk-news/ average-bra-size-has-swelled-by-three-1370021#ixzz3FjBtNACn
- Gimlin, D.L.: "Too Good to be Real": the obviously augmented breast in women's narratives of cosmetic surgery. Gender Soc. 27(6), 913–934 (2013)

- Nikolic, J., Janjic, Z., Marinkovic, M., Petrovic, J., Božic, T.: Psychosocial characteristics and motivational factors in woman seeking cosmetic breast augmentation surgery. Vojnosanit. Pregl. 70, 940–946 (2013)
- 22. Petrova, A.: Creating sizing systems. In: Ashdown, S.P. (ed.) Sizing in Clothing, pp. 57–84. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2007)
- Bye, E., LaBat, K., McKinney, E., Kim, D.E.: Optimized pattern grading. Int. J. Cloth. Sci. Technol. 20(2), 79–92 (2008)
- 24. Schofield, N.A., LaBat, K.L.: Defining and testing the assumptions used in current apparel grading practice. Cloth. Text. Res. J. Int. Text. Appar. Assoc. **23**(3), 135–150 (2005)
- Tyler, D., Mitchell, A., Gill, S.: Recent advances in garment manufacturing technology: joining techniques, 3D body scanning and garment design. In: Shishoo, R. (ed.) The Global Textile and Clothing Industry, pp. 131–167. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2012)
- 26. Otieno, R.: Approaches in researching human measurement. EuroMed J. Bus. **3**(1), 63–82 (2008)
- 27. Dove, T.: Fashion Design: A Technical Foundation. Austin Macauley, London (2013)
- Ashdown, S.P.: Creation of ready-made clothing: the development and future of sizing systems. In: Faust, M.E. (ed.) Designing Apparel for Consumers, pp. 17–32. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Cambridge (2014)

Reading Task Investigation of the Kindle app in Three Mediums

Kimberly Anne Sheen, Yan Luximon^(K), and Jiaxin Zhang

School of Design, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR {kimberly.sheen,jx.zhang}@connect.polyu.hk, yan.luximon@polyu.edu.hk

Abstract. E-textbooks are often considered the future of textbooks but the current capabilities and implications of app-based textbooks and their corresponding technology are not well outlined. The goal in this study was to understand the effects of the change in medium on the academic reading task, student perception of the devices and components, and identify issues surrounding two in-app components. Students completed four reading tasks in three different size mobile devices and a paper control. The experiment also consisted of a between-subject study where students were asked to use the highlighting or annotation component while reading. Results showed that the devices and components actually changed the way the students interact with their reading. Also, students were generally unhappy with the in-app components and smallest sized device. This information is useful to identify the effects of e-textbook apps on reading behavior, which can be applied to improve the design of future e-textbooks.

Keywords: Electronic textbooks \cdot Textbook design \cdot Interface design \cdot Kindle app \cdot Experiment

1 Introduction

Education is slowly shifting to new practices, especially when it comes to textbooks. While some universities across the world are hesitant to move to electronic textbooks, others are moving forward with electronic textbook adoption [1]. McFadden predicts that within the next few of years, tablets will take the place of other forms of personal computers to become the primary computing platform in academia [2]. Some of the new mobile devices are attempting to straddle this line with their marketing and technology, such as the iPad Pro, Microsoft Surface, and the Lenovo Yoga.

This shift leads us to the core research question, which drove this study. What effect does screen size of the most frequently used mobile technology have on student academic reading behavior? Past research has given us some insight into this area, but leaves much to be desired in information on some important aspects such as an investigation into how supporting activities, such as highlighting and notetaking, change.

Research based on leisure reading in electronic forms do not necessarily apply to academic reading because academic reading requires higher levels of concentration and

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_38

the ability to infer and deduct the proper aspects of the text so that material may be fully comprehended and recalled later [3, 4]. This recall is vital to the task of academic reading because of the academic performance measures such as papers and exams [5]. It is also important to remember that students do not tend to read for school without any supporting activities, such as highlighting and notetaking.

Past research has told us that moving to the electronic form of textbooks does not have a negative impact in comprehension, but some aspects resulting from the switch to the digital medium such as sentence splitting may in fact negatively influence comprehension [6]. Since working memory is limited, the complexity of the learning task will increase the cognitive load on the working memory and thus impeded the student's learning of the material [7]. It is vital to acknowledge cognitive load as there is a correlation between working memory and academic achievement [8]. Research has also shown that the visual demands of electronic texts, especially hypertext, increases cognitive load [9]. Past research has found the different types of e-readers did not have an effect on students' learning of the material [10]. In fact, teachers have reported benefits in some of the different functionalities available through electronic textbooks, such as the ability for students to take notes they can refer back to and the built in dictionary components [11].

While research showed that there is little difference in student comprehension of the material, student behavior has been shown to change. Woody, et al. found that students are more likely to use certain aspects of the physical textbook, such as reading summaries or answering questions, than those included in electronic textbooks [12]. And several studies have found that students spend more time with an electronic textbook than the printed counterpart [13, 14]. Yet, this same finding regarding time spent reading is discounted in other literature [15].

Many of the studies listed above compare only a physical textbook to an electronic addition or various e-readers to each other. For example, apps such as the Kindle app has been studied before, but in relation to other reading applications [16]. So, this study evaluates one electronic textbook on the Kindle app using three mobile devices commonly used by students at the university and paper control which was the same size and format as the largest mobile device. In addition, two of the commonly used supporting activity components, the highlighting and annotation components, were also investigated to identify any changes in study behavior.

2 Method

2.1 Participants

A total of 92 students participated in this research. 51 of those students were female while 41 were male. The average age of participants was 25 years old.

There were a total of three qualifying factors for participation in the experiment. First, the participant had to be a current student at the university. Students were chosen as experiment participants because of their familiarity with academic texts. Second, students were required to have normal or corrected vision. Finally, students were required to have a native language other than English and pass a pretest. Non-native English speakers were chosen as the target group for the study as current research on electronic textbooks does not always take into account non-native language users of the books. With more and more students studying abroad and universities offering courses in languages other than the native language their students use, this is an important user group. Education level was not considered a qualifying factor for this experiment as a student's reading level did not necessarily coincide with their education level. Instead, groups were balanced by pretest results. If a student performed too poorly on the pretest, they were disqualified from participating in the experiment.

2.2 Equipment

An iPhone 6s, iPad mini, and iPad were used during this experiment (see Table 1). The three forms of mobile devices used were chosen based on the prevalence of usage within the university. All devices used the same operating system so as to have the least amount of differences within the app and subsequent interactions. All three devices had the text size, brightness, and layout preset so the conditions were the same across devices. Devices were also presented to students on a stand and they were not allowed to hold the devices or alter the state of the devices except to change the page, take notes, or highlight depending on group assigned.

Display features	Mobile	Mini-tablet	iPad
Screen resolution	1334×750	1024×768	1024×768
Screen size	4.7 inches	7.9 inches	9.7 inches

 Table 1. Screen sizes and resolutions of mobile devices.

The Kindle app was chosen as the application, which the textbook would be presented. This was because of ease of access across the devices and previous research into students at the university showed a general familiarity with the app. The textbook chosen for the students was written in English by professors at a foreign language speaking university to be used in their classrooms. Four individual chapters were chosen from the textbook and educational reading experts deemed appropriate for the experiment, as they were similar in length and reading level.

A Sony HDR-PJ440 Handycam was also used to video record the students interacting with the mobile devices during the reading sessions. The video camera was placed on a tripod located behind the left shoulder of the participants.

2.3 Experimental Design

The findings presented in this paper were discovered during a mixed factorial design experiment, which used four settings. The four settings were using different devices including mobile phone, mini-tablet, normal sized tablet, and a control group who used paper. The paper control was the same size as the normal iPad so as to identify if changes in task behavior were based on the change in medium without confounding factors such as layout and size. The chapter students were asked to read was randomized. Participants read a chapter on all three of the mobile device sizes and the paper.

In addition, participants were separated into three different groups. 31 Students were in Group A and completed the readings with the three different screen sizes and paper in the four conditions. 31 students in Group B completed the same process but were requested to use the built in highlighting function or to highlight directly on the paper. And the 30 students in Group C also completed the same process but were requested to use the annotation tool while using the devices and take notes directly on paper when using paper.

Each session ranged from one hour to one and a half hours based on the individual's time spent reading. Participants were paid for their time.

2.4 Procedure

Participants were briefed on the experimental procedure and signed a consent form. After taking a reading comprehension and recall pretest, students were assigned to one of the three groups. Before the students began reading, they were briefly shown how to use the app and any functions they were required to use. They also had the opportunity to try navigating in the book and opening the annotation tool or using the highlighting function.

The student then began the reading assigned to the condition. After each condition, a rest period of three minutes was completed and students filled out a questionnaire regarding their experience during the reading task. Then they were given a post reading test. Following that, the next condition began. After all conditions were completed, students were asked to compare their experiences in all the conditions and report their general impressions and any issues they found.

3 Results

3.1 Time Spent Reading

Before analysis began, normality of the data was assessed. To ensure the normality of the data, outliers were removed. This left 26 participants in Group A, 31 participants in Group B, and 28 participants in Group C. All results related to time spent reading were based on data from these participants.

This study showed that time spent reading changed not only between the paper control and the various mobile device sizes, but also between groups. Table 2 shows the average time spent reading for each condition in words per minute (wpm).

Groups	Paper	iPhone 6s	iPad mini	iPad
А	118	109	121	117
В	96	99	106	104
С	95	98	107	103

Table 2. Average time spent reading in Word Per Minute for each group and device.

In Group A, where users were only required to finish the readings in each condition, the iPad mini was shown to afford the fastest time for completion of reading but the changes in time spent reading were not as pronounced between the mini, iPad, and paper control. The difference between the least time spent reading and most across all four conditions was 12 wpm. The full-size iPad and the paper control were the same size and format and the time spent reading in these two conditions only differed by 1wpm.

Groups B and C included a supporting task, highlighting and note taking respectively, during the reading sessions. Conversely to the findings of Group A, the paper control had the longest time spent reading while the iPad mini continued to afford the shortest time spent reading. Once again, the difference between the iPad and the iPad mini was a decrease of less than 4 wpm. While Group A showed a difference of more than 12 wpm between the iPhone and the iPad mini, this large difference in time spent reading was reduced in Groups B and C. Instead, there was a 7 wpm decrease in Group B and 9 wpm decrease in Group C when using the mobile phone.

3.2 Changes in Reading Behavior

There were changes in the behavior of students when using components, which support their reading. Overall, when moving to the Kindle App, students took less notes and used the highlighting tool less frequently.

Students frequently reported, during the experiment, that the platform did not support their habits. Analysis of paper controls found that 73.3% students in the notetaking group used a more visual notetaking style that is not supported by the app's simple textbook input (see Fig. 1). Also, 16.1% students in the highlighting group used other marks such as circling or starring to help identify the importance of the material in addition to simple highlighting (see Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Example of notetaking behavior not supported by Kindle app.

Prior to the presidential election ca 08, 54 percent of respondents in a M ll said they tended not to trust tl neral (30 percent trusted) and 46 p ey did not trust television (36 perce ernet news sites were trusted by 41 rcent not trusted). Radio tended to d percent saying that they tend to rcent distrusted). But a Gallup poll i ind that only 21 percent of responat deal or quite a lot of confidence evision news, a drop to a new lo cent in 2011. It now ranked 11th at

Fig. 2. Example of highlighting behavior that is not supported by Kindle App.

3.3 Issues Identified

Several issues were identified during the experiment through facilitator observation and student report after each task. Some of these were related solely to the specific mobile device and others were found across all of the mobile devices.

Device specific issues were found on the iPhone 6s. This was due to the small screen size. Students frequently reported issues reading the material due to the limited information on the screen. Students also reported difficulties of taking notes and highlighting. The issues of taking notes were related to the small size of the keyboard input. The issues related to highlighting were frequently related to the increased sentence splitting caused by the small screen size. Students would have to highlight text on two different pages and reported this as being difficult and often time consuming.

Issues with the in-app components used in both Groups B and C were reported across devices. Highlighting was reported as difficult for students to complete without using more than one highlighting movement to cover the complete sentence. Similar to what the students reported, the facilitator also observed student issues when they attempted to make an existing highlighted section longer or shorter and at times ended up completely removing the highlighted section and started again. Students also reported that they often went back or forward a page while attempting to highlight a passage.

Students also struggled frequently with the annotation tool. Students reported that the keyboard input was not ideal for inputting their notes. Many students reported frustration with the fact that they could not move the textbox popup so that they could see the text they were referencing. Instead they had to spend more time opening and closing the textbox repeatedly until they could edit their notes to their satisfaction. In addition, the facilitator observed many students getting confused when attempting to access the annotation component. When they would select a word or phrase, students would initially look at the larger dictionary, thesaurus, Wikipedia boxes that pop up bellow the toolbar. Some students even attempted to select those options out of reflex. Students also showed frustration with the way the notetaking icon was represented. Several students deleted the note to try and select a phrase once again to only have the same icon appear. A few of these students then used the highlighting component to identify the corresponding phrase.

4 Discussion

In general, the time spent reading while using physical text in Group A did not change much from the electronic version of the text. Findings from Group A showed that time reading was shorter in paper than most of the electronic mediums, which is supported by previous research [14]. Still, reading was completed faster on the iPad mini, which is supported by contradictory research that found that time spent reading decreased when using the electronic version of texts [15]. This trend of shorter time spent reading in the paper medium was not sustained in Groups B and C where the components were introduced. This discrepancy is possibly related to the increase in highlights and notes that students in those groups took in the paper form. Since students reported struggling with these functions or that the components did not support their habits, the time they saved by using them less frequently is likely the cause of this change in time spent reading.

While past surveys have shown that hundreds of thousands of students wish to be able to take notes or highlight in their electronic textbooks [17], these components are not yet optimized for students in the Kindle app. In fact, these features, which are considered essential, have yet to be perfected in any e-reader [18]. And while all the students in Group B were able to use the highlighting function in this study, although with difficulty, past research found that less than 80% of Kindle app users on an iPad 3 were able to use the highlight function within 1 min [16].

5 Conclusion

The findings from this study showed that student academic reading behavior does change not only when moving from the print to electronic medium, but there are also changes when moving between different sized mobile devices and when using different components of those electronic textbooks. The time spent reading was less for students reading in a print medium in the same size and format as the electronic textbook. Yet, this increase in speed is lost when students begin using supporting activities such as highlighting or notetaking. Students tended to do more highlighting and notetaking in terms of number of words and different styles in paper format. In addition, students struggled to use the functions in general and found them frustrating. There was a marked increase in time spent reading when moving to the mobile phone condition in all groups and students reported the least satisfaction with reading on the device in general due to their greater difficulties in reading the material and using the functions.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to thank The Hong Kong Polytechnic University for their support. This research was supported by the Research Grants Council for the Hong Kong PhD Fellowship Scheme (1-904Z).

References

- 1. Chesser, W.D.: The e-textbook revolution. Libr. Technol. Rep. 47(8), 28 (2011)
- McFadden, C.: Are textbooks dead? Making sense of the digital transition. Publish. Res. Q. 28(2), 93–99 (2012)
- 3. Merritt, J.E.: Developing Fluent Reading. Open University Press, London (1977)
- Phillips, B.J., Phillips, F.: Sink or skim: textbook reading behaviors of introductory accounting students. Issues Account. Educ. 22(1), 21–44 (2007)
- Simpson, M.L., Nist, S.L.: An update on strategic learning: it's more than textbook reading strategies. J Adolesc. Adult Lit. 43(6), 528–541 (2000)
- Dillon, A.: Reading from paper versus screens: a critical review of the empirical literature. Ergonomics 35(10), 1297–1326 (1992)
- Sweller, J.: Cognitive load theory, learning difficulty, and instructional design. Learn. Instr. 4(4), 295–312 (1994)
- Yuan, K., Steedle, J., Shavelson, R., Alonzo, A., Oppezzo, M.: Working memory, fluid intelligence, and science learning. Educ. Res. Rev Neth. 1(2), 83–98 (2006)
- 9. DeStefano, D., LeFevre, J.A.: Cognitive load in hypertext reading: a review. Comput. Hum. Behav. **23**(3), 1616–1641 (2007)
- Weisberg, M.: Student attitudes and behaviors towards digital textbooks. Publish. Res. Q. 27(2), 188–196 (2011)
- Demski, J.: Ell to go: two schools transform their Ell programs by giving students aroundthe-clock access to some of the latest mobile devices. THE J. (Technol. Horizons Educ.) 38(5), 28 (2011)
- Woody, W.D., Daniel, D.B., Baker, C.A.: E-books or textbooks: students prefer textbooks. Comput. Educ. 55(3), 945–948 (2010)
- 13. Connell, C., Bayliss, L., Farmer, W.: Effects of eBook readers and tablet computers on reading comprehension. Int. J. Instruct. Media **39**(2), 131–141 (2012)
- 14. Daniel, D.B., Woody, W.D.: E-textbooks at what cost? Performance and use of electronic v. print texts. Comput. Educ. **62**, 18–23 (2013)
- 15. Shepperd, J.A., Grace, J.L., Koch, E.J.: Evaluating the electronic textbook: is it time to dispense with the paper text? Teach. Psychol. **35**(1), 2–5 (2008)
- Jardina, J.R., Chaparro, B.S.: Usability, engagement, and satisfaction of two e-textbook applications. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, pp. 482–486. Sage Publications, Los Angeles (2013)
- Warren, J.W.: The Progression of Digital Publishing: Innovation and the E-volution of Ebooks. Int. J. Book 7(4) (2010)
- Ferguson, J., Giordano, J., Jerome, E., Lipkin, A., Pinnolis, J., Widmer, L.: LTS E-Textbook Analysis. http://bir.brandeis.edu/bitstream/handle/10192/23919/EtextbookReport_LTS-RIS-Spring2010.pdf

Fashion Education Innovations Based on Ergonomic Design

Hong Wu^1 , Huang Chao^{1(\mathbb{I})}, and Ameersing Luximon²

¹ Art and Design College, Shenzhen University, Shenzhen, China chao@szu.edu.cn

² Institute of Textiles and Clothing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, China

Abstract. Technologies are changing the life of the human being. Fashion technology brings forward more and more convenience and comfort to people's life. As the second skin, clothing plays a vital role on daily life. In aspects of art design, fashionable and colorful clothes make people obtain psychological satisfaction. From the ergonomic design, more attention was paid both on the physiological and psychological needs of the human being. For examples, the thermal physiology and compression comfort will directly have impact overall status of the health status of the human being. Especially, with development of functional fabrics and smart bio-medical sensors, functional and smart clothing has been an up-and-coming product for fashion industry and have been gradually accepted by the market. In the near future, with the changing of consumers' consumption psychology, functional and smart clothing with fashionable design will be the mainstream of the market. Considering the fashion education system at present. fashion designers and fashion education will meet new challenges in the near future. Based on ergonomic design, innovative educations should be made accordingly. The research focused on the aspects of fashion education innovations, such as materials, clothing and accessories based on ergonomic design, which laid comprehensive foundations for functional fashion design.

Keywords: Fashion design · Ergonomic design · Education innovation

1 Introduction

With the rapid developing of science and technologies, various aspects of life of the human being is dramatically changed. The same as the fashion areas, the technologies of fashion industry enhance the efficiencies and innovations [1-3]. The functional and smart clothing is under research and development in the global trends. People in the apparel and accessories market have much acceptance with these kind of high technological products, which is raising new challenges to the fashion industry [4, 5]. In the old times, fashion designers mainly emphasis on the aesthetic and fashionable functions from psychological and sociological role of clothing [6–8]. The training and education to fashion designers was surrounded from these kind of disciplines. Especially in mainland China, the startup of fashion education had not long-term history. But with the consistent contributions of the fashion educators, fashion design education has kept up

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_39

with the developing of the fashion technologies. A pilot study of fashion design education based on multi-disciplinary and ergonomic design had been made to strengthen the innovations and creativities of the students and junior designers in this research.

2 The Fashion Design Education in Mainland China

In Mainland China, the developing of fashion design education system had its features in the background, which could be traced from the historical developing process of fashion design education and the challenges of fashion design education.

2.1 The Historical Developing Process of Fashion Design Education

Before 70s, tailors and dressmakers followed the master and apprentice systems. In the middle of 70s, with the construction of labor-intensive garment plant, the master may not satisfy the needs from the industry and apprentice systems, many training organizations had emerged. The universities under the former Ministry of Light Industry and Ministry of Textile Industry of Mainland China started their high education on fashion design. In those times, the faculties of fashioner were consisted from different backgrounds such as industrial technicians and some overseas returnee. The student source had come from fine art disciplines. This was the beginning of academic fashion educations, which mainly focused on aesthetic training to students and could not fully satisfied the raising needs from the industry [8]. The fashion related knowledge hierarchy was not completed and the course offered were not entirely market orientation. The fashion design educators had contributed greatly with the education systems. The textbooks and education systems from Japan, USA and Europe, had gradually been localized in Mainland China in these periods. The needs from the fashion industries had encouraged the fashion educators and students to expand the knowledge systems, especially on garment product developments and branding concepts in 90s and afterwards [8] (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Designer: Hong Wu [9]

2.2 The Challenges of Fashion Design Education

The fashion branding trends in Mainland China initiating from 90s challenged the knowledge hierarchy of fashion education greatly. The fashion design process combined with business operation which leading to more division of labor and multi-disciplinary knowledge, such as sales & marketing, product planning, product management, consumer psychology and behavior. With China's accession into WTO, the fashion industry unavoidable faced the international business environments and pressure. The fashion education system had to be adjusted with global field of vision and point of views. Times are changing as well as the fashion design education system. Efforts from generation to generation of fashion educators had constructed the fashion design education nowadays. More fashion designers created works keeping up with the global fashion trends [9]. The knowledge hierarchy is covering the art design, science, technologies and social science at present [7, 8, 10]. For example, the ergonomic design has been listed in the school syllabus to enhance the knowledge of students from science and technologies aspects. The international communication from staffs students are carried on at the same time. The fashion education system is developing with the challenges of the times.

3 Innovations of Fashion Design Education Based on Ergonomic Design

Ergonomic design is a course with science and technology background in fashion design education system. With the fast changing in these areas, the fashion designers need to keep up with the technological trends and make use of it in the design as much as possible. The innovations in science and technology are the inspiration source to the new generations. As fashion design educators, to encourage the students with ergonomic design concept and knowledge will expand the creative activities of the students. A pilot study on innovations of fashion design education based on ergonomic design had been made in the course and the works of the students ranged from material, clothing and accessories, which are full of creativities and imaginations.

3.1 Innovations on Wearable Material Design

In this course, some students made use of existing materials to redesign the texture and structure, which constructed a new fabric. For example, the left one of Fig. 2 designed by Ying Xie, who reconstructed the look of Dupong paper and sized it with color agents. The works of Xueting Wu, see right one of Fig. 2, was decorated with bead tube and white feather. The inspiration of Jiaxin Wang's work was coming from buttons, see the left one of Fig. 3. Each button had different face and mood due to the various thread binding methods. Shiming Zhang's work had tie-dyed and sewn with sequins. The matching of plain weave and white lace presented a particular fabric. The students creatively redesigned the wearable fabrics with common materials from the aesthetic and fashionable point of view. This trial is focused on technical and psychological aspects.



Fig. 2. Left: Designer: Ying Xie. Right: Designer: Xueting Wu. Instructor: Huang Chao



Fig. 3. Left: Designer: Jiaxin Wang Right: Designer: Shiming Zhang. Instructor: Huang Chao

3.2 Innovations on Fashion Design

Kenghong Huang's work named Dyeing & Shining, see Fig. 4 left. The designer utilized linen, LED ribbon lamp and dyeing materials. As a beautiful and traditional skill, tiedyeing contributes a lot to endow fabrics with new life. Tie-dyed fabrics have decorated the bodies and environments of human being for a long time. With the rapid developing of luminous technology, more and more portable and wearable luminescence material can be used to fashion design. In this work, a fusion of tie-dyeing fabric and LED lamp makes the design present a new look, which is the combination of fashion and technology, tradition and modern. The crossover of tie-dyed skills and luminous technology expresses the fashion design concepts with more technical language.

Deep ocean and water is the work of Lam Hoi Lau, see Fig. 4 right. The designer redesign the fabric with synthetic materials and PVC. The inspiration of this design is from oceans, which occupy about 71% of the whole earth and have great impacts on our life. To understand the ocean and to protect the ocean is a meaningful mission of the human. This design focused on deep oceans and water, using fabric redesign skills based on black synthetic materials and PVC, to reappear the mystery of deep ocean and streaming of water. Deep oceans are quite and never talk, but they are symbiotic with







human beings. This design hopes to arouse the concept of ocean protections by means of fashion design expressions.

3.3 Innovations on Accessories Design

Jianmei Kang and Fu Chen's design are both rings. The former had an inspiration from architecture developing a works with combination of art and comfort. The latter was interested in NFC technologies. The designer created a smart ring model with function of wireless payment and can be connected to apps on iOS and Android platform. It also can be used as keys which is quite light and easy to carry (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Left: Designer: Jianmei Right: Designer: Fu Chen. Instructor: Huang Chao

The works of Jianheng Tan developed a wristlet for young generation, see the left one of Fig. 6. This work is a combination of art sense and the wearing comfort. Huibao Zhong's wristlet, see the right one of Fig. 6 is braided with yarns, which is adopted with replaceable mosquito repellents. This work is designed to young generation too, which had both aesthetic perception and mosquito repellent function.



Fig. 6. Left: Designer: Jiaheng Tan. Right: Designer Huibao Zhong. Instructor: Huang Chao

3D printing technologies had been used in this pilot study. Wenyi Zhang designed a set of armware and ring with this technology, see Fig. 7. In the time of consumption differentiation, designers should offer humanization, individuation and comfort works to consumers. 3D printing with individual model design based on custom's 3D profile will have optimistic future.



Fig. 7. Designer: Wenyi Zhang. Instructor: Huang Chao

4 Findings and Conclusions

In this pilot study, students had presented favorable manipulative ability and creativities. Though they may not fully utilize the knowledge of ergonomic design, they considered the latest technologies such as LED, NFC and 3D printing; they thought about the needs of comfort of the wearer; they also concentrated on the psychological and physiologic needs of their generations. As fashion design educators, this pilot study is encouraging and would be further extended in the future courses.

Acknowledgments. This study is supported by the National Social Science Fund of National Planning Office of Philosophy and Social Science of China (Grant No. 14BG076).

References

- 1. Beazley, A., Bond, T.: Computer-Aided Pattern Design and Product Development. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford (2003)
- 2. Burke, S.: Fashion Computing: Design Techniques and CAD. Burke Publications, London (2006)
- Huang, C., Ameersing, L., Kwok-Wing, Y.: Thermal human modeling: a design tool for functional clothing. In: Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics AHFE 2014, pp. 1576–1584 (2014)
- 4. Chowdhary, U.: Functional Clothing, Body Comfort, and Special Needs. Central Michigan University, Mount Pleasant (2002)
- 5. Mattila, H.R.: Intelligent Textiles and Clothing. Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge (2006)
- 6. Hong, Wu: Culture innovations in modern art design. Art Res. 01, 81-88 (2010)
- 7. Jin, H.: Analysis of developing trend of Chinese Dress. Education 148, 56-57 (2003)
- Hong, W.: Status Quo and the future of Chinese fashion design education. Art Design 126, 40 (2003)
- 9. Hong, W.: Wu Hong's fashion design. Art Design. 119, 56–57 (2003)
- 10. Pengru, F.: Design research on fashion education in China. Art Educ. Res. 04, 98 (2011)

An Explorative Study of Elderly Fashion

Huang Chao¹, Ameersing Luximon^{2((K)}), Chit Sin Cheung², and Yan Mo¹

 Art & Design College, Shenzhen University, Shenzhen, China
 Institute of Textiles and Clothing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, China tcshyam@polyu.edu.hk

Abstract. Fashion for elderly is not a new concept in the fashion industry, but for Hong Kong market, it seemed much backward when compared to foreign countries. Modification on the new style silhouettes is a critical factor to increase the acceptance in Hong Kong market. This research hoped to demonstrate the new ideas of senior fashion and the new possible style were able to inspired fashion design students or designers to create their own collection with innovation and meaningful collections. Through understanding the senior fashion market, it was anticipated to benefit for the fashion lovers who are getting retired in the next 5 to 10 years. This study developed fashion elements of materials, graphic, embellishment, style and garments design with illustrations and adopted them to questionnaire survey to the elderly fashion in Hong Kong.

Keywords: Fashion design · Elderly fashion · Senior fashion market

1 Introduction

The proportion of over 65 s in the global population has risen from 5.9% in 1980 to 8.0% due to improved health care, higher living standards, better nutrition and increased life expectancy. Compared to the older times, more and more elderly people in this generation have a relatively better education level and financial status especially in developed countries and have greater consumption and spending power for luxuries and non-essentials [1, 2]. The elderly fashion market has growth potentials and need to be further researched for market expansion [3]. In Hong Kong, the fashion industry doesn't pay much attention to this growing market and the products have deficiency on style, size, color, etc., compared to USA and the European market. Insights and creativities are necessary for developing the market in Hong Kong. An explorative study has been made on elderly fashion with innovative design in terms of the senior fashion and investigation of new design to senior fashion market, aiming to provide practical and useful information to the industry.

2 Methodology

In this study, the research method and the exploration of elderly fashion were focused on two steps. The first step is the design developments with elements of materials, graphic, embellishment and style to form the final outfits. In the second step, all of the

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_40

design illustrations were included to questionnaires for further opinions and general acceptance of senior fashion.

3 Design Illustrations for Elderly Fashion

Currently, the fashion products for the elderly in Hong Kong is considerably conservative and insufficient, which is mostly inspired from western countries. To create new design for this generation would be challenging and be of practical significance. Considering the insufficiency of elderly fashion in Hong Kong, design elements of materials, graphic, embellishment and style were concentrated for further elderly fashion design. The explanatory designs of the collection were presented in the following. In this research, illustrations of design were utilized instead of real garments to find out the general acceptance of new image of elderly fashion.

3.1 Materials

The materials to construct the clothing are the foundation for elderly fashion. The requirements for elderly customs are the basic standard on comfort, easy care and wear. Besides, their clothing should be durable and easy to clean.

According to properties of textiles, four kinds of fabrics including cashmere, fur, nylon-quilted fabric, wool tweed fabric were selected for style development, see Fig. 1. The cashmere has good function of keeping warm and soft hand feeling. Fur looks Luxurious and has extremely soft hand feel and smooth texture. Nylon is quite durable and light. The quilted cotton is breathable and with a high insulating ability, which will provide warmness to the elderly. Wool tweed is easy-handled, moisture-resistant and durable [4]. The commonness of these kinds of fabrics is its popularity among the elderly consumers, which is easily to be accepted by them.



Fig. 1. Materials for elderly fashion. From left to right: cashmere knitwear, fur, nylon quilted fabric, wool tweed fabric

3.2 Screen Print

Screen print is adopted to showing different patterns on the clothing. This technique is a conventional technique, which is particularly suitable for flat fabrics [5]. It has several types with various visual effects differing in printing materials, such as water-based ink, plastisol, expanding ink and flocking etc. Water-based ink is chosen for the design as it is easily to be handled complicated patterns, having amazing visual effects and keeping the original fabrics with relatively comfortable hand feel.

Five patterns including Splash graphic style, Horses print style, Cherry blossoms style, Bolded blossom style and Chrysanthemum pattern style had been developed for screen print, see Fig. 2. Splashing style in pink tone makes elderly look gentle and young. Horses print style in black and white is classic and active. Cherry blossoms are represented as a symbol of spring in Japan presents noble and generous feelings. Bolded blossom print in purple looks noble as purple is distinguished color in China and some western countries. Chrysanthemum is a traditional pattern in Chinese culture. This pattern represents elegance. All of these five patterns were developed from the viewpoint of visual features, psychological acceptance and the background of culture.



Fig. 2. Screen print patterns for elderly fashion. From left to right:Splash graphic style (Splash), Horses print style (Animal), Cherry blossoms style (Small floral), Bolded blossom style (Japan floral), Chrysanthemum pattern style (Big floral)

3.3 Embellishment

Embellishment makes garments look fancy and attractive [6]. Sequins, embroidery, crochet, rhinestone and eyelet are commonly used for clothing decoration, see Fig. 3. Sequins is a twinkling fashion element with wide variety of colors and geometrical shapes. Crochet is a knitting technique with yarns or thread by means of crochet hooks. Rhinestone is a kind of synthetic diamond made from materials such as glass, acrylic and crystal. Eyelet is small ring punched to fabrics with a puncher. Embroidery has a long history and rich expressive performance for clothing decoration. These kinds of various decorative techniques provide the garments with glamorous and modern look, which will satisfy the psychological needs on abundance.



Fig. 3. Embellishment for elderly fashion. From left to right: Sequins, Crochet, Rhinestone and eyelet, Embroidery.

3.4 Style

The mix and match of clothing and accessories such as glasses and handbags makes for various style. Normally the elderly has not much concepts and concerns on it. This study delivered several choices for them, see Fig. 4. Gathers all over details style is cool and innovative. Draw cord asymmetric coat style is a chic look and stylish. Gathered collar



Fig. 4. Style design for elderly fashion. From left to right: Gathers all over details style, Draw cord asymmetric coat style, Gathered collar and pocket details style, Oversized collar jacket style

H. Chao et al.

and pocket details style is dazzling style with elegant hat and fashionable glasses. Oversized collar jacket style is casual and wide adaptation. To help the elderly develop their individual styles is meaningful.

3.5 Garment Design

In this study, the garment design was emphasized on different kinds of coats with the elements previously mentioned. Design illustrations utilizing of various details provided multiple choices for the elderly. There were eight design including Nylon quilted coat, Draw cord coat, Gathered Jacket, Huge collar jacket, Further oversized coat, Fur collar cape, Fringe cape cardigan, Embellishment jacket., see Figs. 5 and 6.



Fig. 5. Garment design for elderly fashion. From left to right: Nylon quilted coat (Design A), Draw cord coat (Design B), Gathered Jacket (Design C), Huge collar jacket (Design D).



Fig. 6. Garment design for elderly fashion. From left to right: Further oversized coat (Design E), Fur collar cape (Design F), Fringe cape cardigan (Design G), Embellishment jacket (Design H).

4 Results

To look into the viewpoints of people for senior fashion, a questionnaire was conducted for quantitative reference. All of the elements design for the elderly, including Materials, Graphic, Embellishment, Style and the Final outfits garment were integrated in the questionnaire design.100 respondents were interviewed in this study. The following is the results of the questionnaire.

From the left one of Fig. 7, half (47%) of the interviewees preferred Fur as the main material for the elderly fashion. In order to save animals there should be imitation of fur materials. Nylon Quilting had only 8% and was the least favorite material. About 60% of the interviewees liked floral patterns including Big floral (31%), Small floral (28%), see the right one of Fig. 7. Animal pattern was accepted with a percentage of 17%. But the Splash and Japan floral seemed not so popular among them both with only 12% preferring it.



Fig. 7. Favorite materials (left) and patterns (right)

About the embellishment details, see the left one of Fig. 8., the results hadn't great difference. Both sequins (35%), rhinestone and eyelet (24%), embroidery (23%) and crochet (18%) had their markets. Sequins may have a bit more preference than other choices. According to the right pie chart of Fig. 8. The casual and conservative look of Style D would be the most favorite style with a percentage of 38%. Style B was the second one of 28% which was a little casual but more elegant. While the stylish and chic style of Style A (18%) and C (16%) would be not so acceptable for the elderly fashion.



Fig. 8. Favorite embellishment (left) and styles (right)

In general, the interviewees had different interests in the overall garment design from Design A to H, see Fig. 9. Design A would be the favorite one with 19% voting, which is casual and easy to handle but looks fashionable. Design F seemed not popular with only 1%. The design with trousers may not catch the elderly market. For the other design which had mix and match concepts, the results look similar. The needs of wearing casually and elegantly may have the market potentials.



Fig. 9. Favorite garment design

5 Findings and Conclusions

From the results in the study, the elderly fashion in Hong Kong has optimistic potentials as the elderly consumers have their own taste and preference on fashion. The elderly have their own needs from psychological and physiological aspects. For example, warm and light materials may satisfy their needs of keeping comfortable. Big size clothes may be easily worn and handled. Floral patterns make them delighted and looks gentle. The fashion products provided for the elderly in Hong Kong still have a long way to go, such as material selections, pattern development, embellishments, styles and design. Besides, the consumption behaviors of the elderly in Hong Kong need in-depth analysis too. The explorative study on elderly fashion may not fully comprehensive and still has some insufficiency. Further research need to be done to find out the specific directions for the elderly fashion market and actual clothing have to be tested in order to find suitable clothing for the elderly. This research did not consider fit and functional aspect, but all these aspects have to be considered to make elderly practical.

References

- 1. Sarah B.: Special Report: The World's Oldest Populations. Euromonitor (2011)
- Florian, K.: The Silver Market Phenomenon: Marking and Innovation in the Aging Society. Springer Publishing, New York (2010)
- Claude, R., Martin, J.R.: The Elderly Fashion Consumer: A Forgotten Market. Michigan University, Michigan (1971)
- 4. Chan, C.J.: Textile Handbook: Supplementary 2007. Hong Kong Cotton Spinners Association, Clothing Industry Training Authority, Hong Kong (2007)
- Mathilda, V., Schwalbach, J.A.: Silk-Screen Printing for Artists and Craftsmen. Courier Corporation, New York (2012)
- 6. Mickey, B.: Embellished Fashions. Sterling Publishing Company, New York (2008)

Old Fashion to New Fashion: The Creative Fashion Design Concepts from Nail Cover of Qing Dynasty

Yan Mo, Huang Chao^(III), and Zhimei Kan

Art and Design College, Shenzhen University, Shenzhen, China Chao@szu.edu.cn

Abstract. The history of Chinese costume and accessories from different dynasty are charming which has traditional and typical aesthetic appreciation. The beautiful color and handmade techniques of them presents people in nowadays with new fashion concepts. For example, nail cover was a daily accessory of female in Qing dynasty which had special materials, making skills and wearing methods. It has not only its functions to protect the nails but also the satisfaction of aesthetic needs from the female in Qing Dynasty (1644 A.D. to 1911 A.D.). At present, lots of Chinese costume elements attract fashion designers' interests and adopt them to fashion works which becomes a fashion trend for many years. But Chinese old accessories, such as the unique nail cover, would convey more functional and fashionable information which need to be discovered for the creative fashion design concepts. The tracing of old fashion is meaningful to creating the new fashion from function and aesthetic.

Keywords: Nail cover · Qing dynasty · Fashion design

1 Introduction

Nail covers are an ornament usually worn by Qing Dynasty (1644 A.D. to 1911 A.D.) women, but they also function as covers to protect fingernails. The fingernails-keeping habit of Chinese women origins from the aesthetic standard on women's hands: pure white, slender and long, fair nails.

Many words of praise such as catkins, tips of bamboo shoots and spring shallots were given to the fingers of the women in ancient Chinese literature. Book of Odes the Odes of Wei Shuo Ren: "her fingers were like the blades of the young white-grass, her skin was like congealed ointment". It's a description of the hands of the wife of the marquis of Wei: delicate and white as incipient cogongrass shoots. There are also other odes about women's hands. Song of the Washerwoman written by Li Yu, a poet from Southern Tang in Five Dynasties: "her fragrant cheeks lean to one side against her tender hands, for whom glisten her tears undried against the balustrade she stands?" Ode to Hand from Han Wo: "her white wrist and ruddy skin are like jade bamboo shoots, her finger tips can be glimpsed from playing the zither or doing needlework." The original length and shapes of fingers would be very difficult to change, but by growing fingernails long could make fingers visually graceful and slender, therefore ancient women were keen on maintaining their fingernails.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_41

In ancient China, keeping fingernails is not only a habit for aristocratic women but also for commoners and servant girls. In the ancient novella collection, Amazing Tales:Second Series, it is written of a civilian girl trying to open a shut door, "she never expected that it was fixed by something outside, through dragging her efforts, two or three of her fingernails were together broken". Qingwen, in the novel A Dream of Red Chambers, also had the habit of maintaining her fingernails. In Chap. 71: "wiping her tears, Qingwen puts her hands to her lips, with a screech…she bites her two shallot like fingernails away suddenly". In the Qing dynasty, the custom mainly existed, especially among the Manchu women who lived in luxury. It is recorded that "living an idle life, the Manchu women, who had grown in affluence, were keen on keeping long fingernails to please themselves" [1]. CiXi cared so much for her fingernails that every night, before sleeping, she was used to doing a series of work to perfect them. First, she soaked her fingernails in hot water to soften them, and then improved them with some tool; next she brushed every nook and corner of the fingernails with a small brush; finally, she applied nail polish smoothly by Lingzi tube to protect the nail [2].

2 The History of Nail Covers

As protection covers, nail covers were initially made of bamboo poles and reed tubes, but later with development, made from precious materials such as gold, silver, gems, etc. The earliest nail covers were found in Han Dynasty (226 B.C. to 220 A.D.), during which the nail covers were simply structured: make a nail-like cover with an extremely thin gold piece according to the length of nails and leave a narrow strip of gold at the end of the cover and then bend it to be spiral so that it can be adjusted based on the thickness of fingers. Nail covers have become a splendid ornament which prevailed among women in Qing Dynasty.

Some women kept their fingernails three or four inches long, according to a "sixtyyears record of make-up and dresses" by Tianxiao in the time of the Republic of China (1912–1949): "In the past, women considered it beautiful to keep long fingernails which could be so long as three to four inches and as slim as small shallots, pruned from time to time." Such long fingernails were very easily broken, so nail covers played the useful role of protecting them. Worn together, they were like an arch to the upper middle fingers, sharpening the fingers from the base to tip, naturally and gracefully smooth. However, nail covers were not only for protection, but also for their decorative values. They were important precious ornaments for the Manchu women in the Qing dynasty. When Manchu people engaged to be married the gifts the fiancé might give the fiancée could be divided into two kinds: either two sets or four sets. For two sets, they could include a pair of nail covers and rings, while for four sets, a pair of under-worn costume chains and earbobs (or bracelets) might be added [1], from which we can see that nail covers were one of the most essential ornaments of Manchu women. When CiXi was ill, knowing it was not long for her to pass away, she ordered that her most favourite jewellery jade should be placed as sacrificial objects, including "five pairs of nail covers made of gold inlaid with greenstone" [3].

3 The Materials and Techniques of Nail Covers

In the Qing dynasty, nail covers were generally made with expensive materials, mostly gold, silver and copper, as also hawksbill and jade. Two pairs of fingernail covers (Fig. 1) were both made up of entire hawksbill hollowed. Hawksbill, "thirteen scales" as it is known is a kind of large turtle, which got the name because its carapace is made up of thirteen pieces. Its underbelly is bright tan, translucent, smooth and shiny which has been considered as valuable material to be used in ornaments and works of art since ancient times. In the famous Han dynasty poem, "The Peacock Flying to the Southeast", are found the words "wearing silk shoes on foot, and wearing hawksbill on head". A magnificent noble and elegant pair has bodies of soft and translucent yellow hawksbill embellished by the free brown patches. Near the base, the bodies are decorated with small pearls depicting round longevity patterns. The other which is absolutely beautiful, was decorated with three-dimensional flower patterns in the external hawksbill, its curve modelled with a unique sheen of pearls and gemstones.





Fig. 1. Two pairs of fingernail covers made up of hawksbill

Generally, craftworks of fingernail covers include applied kingfisher-feather, treasure inlay, enamel, gold-plating, wirework, openwork and engraving. Kingfisher-feather is a traditional decoration process that is stuck to gold or silver implements to make them more colorful and luxurious without fading and tarnishing for decades (Fig. 2). Treasure inlay is a general craft that sets gems and pearls in the ornaments (Fig. 3). Enamel is to fire the mixture of quartz, feldspar, saltpetre, sodium carbonate, and oxides of lead and tin, and then paint on copper or silver utensils to fire to form enamel surface with different colours, as illustrated Fig. 4. Gold-plating is to mix gold and water into mercury, and then plate on the surface of silver or copper, by heating. The mercury evaporated, gold is adhesive to the surface of silver and copper wares and gives the lesser materials the appearance of solid gold. The examples shown in (Fig. 3) are adopted for gold-plating to increase the gloss of the copper ornament, while openwork not only increases the sense of beauty, but also reduces the weight of the nail cover

both by its nature and appearance, as also does wire-accumulating. Wire-accumulating is the most ingenious technique in toreutics, the bending and accumulating to make all kinds of shapes by jointing, with the characteristics of refinement and light (Fig. 5). Openwork is to enchase on the metal to form patterns combining the false and the true Finally, there is the craft called engraving, which is here to use small chisels for shaping some flower patterns on the surface of the objects. Several nail covers unearthed from Qing dynasty tombs utilised this skill.



Fig. 2. Pair of fingernail covers with kingfisher feather and pendants tassel on the base





covers with inlaid pearls

Fig. 3. Pair of openwork gilt copper fingernail Fig. 4. Pair of openwork gilt silver enameled fingernail covers





Fig. 5. Pair of wire-accumulating fingernail covers with decoration of Pangchang

Fig. 6. Pair of gold fingernail covers in Ronglu's graves

In the Beijing collection of the Capital Museum, there is a pair of gold fingernail covers (Fig. 6) unearthed from the grave of Ronglu.

4 The Patterns of Nail Covers

Most patterns shown on the nail covers were auspicious, embodying the pursuit of a better life and its yearning. Such as bat, old money, interlink, Panchang, 寿(longevity), 喜(happiness), and the traditional Chinese plants and flowers. Bat (bian fu) had the partial tone of "blessing" (fu) symbolising good fortune; "endless ten thousand" was the connection of h, meaning longevity (Fig. 7); Old money symbolised wealth; Interlink is the constant display of wealth (Fig. 8); Panchang was one of the eight treasures in Buddhism, embodying lasting forever Panchang pattern also meant longevity (Fig. 5); there are both round and square characters for "longevity", with the implication of long life (Fig. 9); the "happiness" pattern represents jubilance, typically for weddings; plum, orchid bamboo and chrysanthemum were four men of honour, showing nobleness. Some nail covers also symbolised more than one meaning with various combinations of patterns with good luck, such as the nail cover in Fig. 10 of old money and longevity, which means enjoy both felicity and longevity. Some nail covers have dangling decoration (Fig. 2), some have pendant tassels from the base, others have over an inch long chain with small adornments such as pomegranate, seed pod and embroidery ball, etc. Most ingenious is that when these small ornaments are hollow, and small beads are put into the internal places, they are like small bells with wonderful sounds when shaken, so the hands of the women wearing these nail covers are more charming.



Fig. 7. Pair of fingernail covers with Fig. 8. Pair of fingernail decoration of "Endless ten thousand"



covers with decoration of interlink



"longevity" character decoration

Fig. 9. Pair of fingernail covers with Fig. 10. Pair of fingernail covers with decoration of old money and "longevity" character

5 The Wearing Ways of Nail Covers

There are some customs on wearing nail covers. The book Oing Bai Lei Chao · Costumes compiled by Xu Ke introduced: "gold nails are hand decorations worn by women all fingers covered except thumbs." It's also recorded in historical images and other documentation that nail covers are generally worn on the fourth and little fingers. A brothel woman was described in the novel Feng Yue Meng: the fourth and little fingers of the left hand are always covered with silver-patterned nail wraps, about two inches long." In Chap. 44 of The Witness of the Strange Phenomenon in Twenty years, it is said "it was not known where two gold fingernail covers went" during a prostitute's tussles. CiXi and other noble ladies also wearing on these two fingers. Because the ring finger and little finger are not used when picking up something, they have the least influence on the action of the hands. It was not necessary to wear symmetrical or identical nail

covers. DeLing, female officer of the Imperial Palace, who served CiXi before, recorded in her book: her two-years stay and Record of Qing Palace Life, that when she first met CiXi, she saw her "wearing 3-inch long gold nail covers for right fingers while jade nail covers for two left fingers, both were of the same length". We can see in the photos of CiXi that both her two hands were wearing different fingernail covers.

6 Conclusion

In conclusions, nail wraps were just functional objects for the sake of protecting women's long fingernails. Then it gradually evolves to be a kind of beautiful ornament that both protects fingernails and plays a decorative role and has become a very popular accessory in Qing Dynasty. Its development integrates Chinese cultural spirit and skill-fully uptakes traditional Chinese metal working as well, thus making nail wraps gorgeous and comfortable ornaments. Nowadays, the creative fashion design elements, including materials selection, techniques development and pattern design, can also be used for reference from nail cover of Qing dynasty. The tracing of old fashion can bring forward new concepts and inspirations for designers and the whole industry, which is meaningful and practical.

Acknowledgments. This study is supported by the National Social Science Fund of National Planning Office of Philosophy and Social Science of China (Grant No. 14BG076).

References

- 1. Wang, B., Cui, G.Z.: Natural Conditions and Social Customs of Yanjing. Guangming Daily Publishing House, Beijing (2000)
- 2. Cui, Z.: Chinese Palace Life. Shanghai Culture Publishing House, Shanghai (1996)
- 3. Literary Historical Collection Newsroom: Literary Historical Collection. Literary History Material Publishing House, Beijing (1985)

Investigation on Human Body Movements and the Resulting Body Measurement Variations

Ningrong Xie and P.Y. $Mok^{(\boxtimes)}$

GH163, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong ningrong.xie@connect.polyu.hk, tracy.mok@polyu.edu.hk

Abstract. This study aimed to develop a new method for better measuring the dynamic human body and analyzing the body dimension variations during motions. Motion capture system, camera combined with 3D body scanner were used to obtain skeleton movement data, photos and body measurement. In the experiment, participants were scanned performing standard standing pose and dynamic postures. At the same time, movements were recorded with motion capture. By analyzing the data derived from both standard and dynamic poses, the measurement variations can be explored. Also, simulated human model generated from motion capture data and photos were examined by mapping with the body scanning data. Results and findings can be beneficial to various areas concerning ergonomics such as apparel, medical rehabilitation, biomechanics, game/film making etc.

Keywords: Human factors \cdot Body motion \cdot Dynamic posture \cdot Body measurement \cdot Body scanning \cdot Motion capture

1 Introduction

An accurate anthropometry data is of great importance for designing comfortable and well-fit products as the products such as helmet, apparel etc. designed based on inaccurate body measurement may lead to negative user experiences. Measurement inaccuracy can be attributed to many reasons. One of reason is human motions, it lead to the stretch and shrinkage of muscle and skin during movements. Kirk and Ibrahim [1] confirmed this cognition by including the body dimension variations during movement as a foundation for later ergonomic studies.

To obtain accurate measurements, researchers have used various methods. Initially, manual taping was widely adopted to collect body measurement [2]. Beazley [3] mentioned manually taping was used to collect the body dimension data for improving the anthropometric survey for example the UK size survey since 1950s. Apeagyei et al. [2] manually measured 30 female participants to study the body cathexis towards fashion products. This method was used to measure the non-standard postures as well, in the work of Gill [4], researchers manually measured dynamic postures separately for lower limbs and upper limbs. While the measurement data collected from manual taping depends largely on the operator and the location of landmarks. Errors may

and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_42

generate due to the different measurers even when they are trained in same way and work closely together [5-8].

Instead, emerging new technologies such as 3D body scanning have started to take over. Compared with the manual taping, 3D body scanning can collect a large amount of body measurements within seconds without direct contact with the human body [9]. Brownridge and Twigg [10] have indicated in their research that the scan can produce over 140 measurements in eight seconds after scanning [9]. However, body scanning is not the perfect solution to solve the problem as body scanning can lead to data lost in certain body areas such as under arm and crotch especially when subjects performing dynamic postures.

Based on the background above, developing current method to improving the reliability of body measurement especially dynamic body measurement is of great necessity. To reach this goal, a new method was explored in this research to measure the dynamic human body. The new methods can be included as a foundation for further research on obtaining accurate dynamic body measurement, which have great potential to benefit the areas concerning ergonomics and human engineering.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Static Measurement

Reviewing the previous work in research area of human body measurement, we classified two categories. The first one is static measurement in which measurements are taken when subjects performing various postures and during the whole measuring process subjects need to keep still. Postures in these related researches can be arranged into two kinds: 1. standard standing posture and 2. non-standard dynamic posture.

Standard Standing Posture. Standard standing posture represents one of the most frequent used poses in measuring static human body especially when using body scanning [11, 12]. To perform this pose, subjects need to stand with their feet shoulder width apart, slightly open their arm to around 45° and look straight ahead.

Non-standard Standing Posture. Non-standard pose usually designed by the researchers, for example, raise one's arm upon his head [13]. Data taken from these postures helped researchers to study the possible measurements variations of human body in different motions.

Many researchers have tried to collect measurements from these two kinds of postures. To study the measurement variation of lower body, Tomita [14] conducted a research using moire-topography to collect body measurements. Subjects are required to perform four postures including both standard and non-standard poses for measurement collection. Nam et al. [15] scanned the whole human body in positions of bending and twisting. Some researches focused on specific body parts measurement variations using 3D body scanning. Chi and Kennon [16] studied upper body measurements when subjects' arms lifted in different angles in horizontal plane. Similarly, Shin [17] investigated the measurement variations of upper body in dynamic postures

such as stride and swing. Also, there are researches focused on the lower body, Choi and Ashdown [18] took lower body measurements from postures including sitting and knee bending.

2.2 Dynamic Measurement

Skeleton Motion. Another way to obtain the dynamic measurement is taking measurements during the continuous moving. This method is used usually depend on the topic and purpose of the research.

For some research area such as kinematics, bionic-robots and bio-mechanism, knowing the static surface measurements are of less importance. They focus more on the body movements itself, which is the process and regularity of joint movements and the power exertion on body parts during motion. Researchers attached markers on subjects' joints to record the motion process.

Emmerik, etc. [19] recorded the skeleton motion of human body walking process to study the subjects' upper body movement variations among different age groups. With the data obtained from the markers (embed with sensor) attached on subjects' key joints and seven high-speed cameras, researchers analyzed the walking motion from frontal, transverse and sagittal dimensions. Similarly, Zhigailov et al. [20] tended to develop a new method to measure the locomotion parameters of walking motion. Data was collected via inertial measurement units, which provide information in three-axis. Hu, etc. [21] also studied the biomechanical parameters variation during walking motion. An exoskeleton equipment was designed for subject to wear. with the data collected from the markers on the equipment, researchers investigated the inner principle and movement regulation during walking.

Apart from studying the locomotion apparatus, some researches were conducted looking into the power exertion changes during motion. For example, Zijlstra. etc. [22] analyzed the power exertion process during movement of subjects' rising from a chair. Two force plates and makers with sensors were used to collect data.

Surface Deformation. Except from studying the skeleton motion, measuring the skin deformation during continuous movements is another research trend in recent years. In apparel industry especially when designing functional garment, considering the skin surface stretch and shrinkage is of great importance.

Lee, etc. [23] designed several motions such as squatting and knee 90° flexion were design and took the measurement while subjects performing them. To investigate the surface deformation during these motions, subjects' lower limbs were divided into different areas and marked with dots. By analyzing the horizontal and vertical distance of dots during movements, the skin deformation can be known. Result and findings of this research were supposed to improve the lower sportswear's functional ease and fit. In recent decades, with the new technologies development, some new exploratory methods are developed by researches to obtain the skin deformation data. For instance, motion capture system with markers and sensors were adopted to record the body back
skin surface deformation in body movements in Sohn and Bye's [24] research. Similarly, distances between attached markers are measured to calculate the skin surface change.

From reviewing the above previous works, we can find the frequently used methods are manual taping, 3d body scanning, motion capture, markers and high-speed cameras. The results and findings can be applied to industries such as clinical medicine, game and intelligence and humanoid. Also, these researches lay a foundation for further establishing the mathematics human model which can be useful to assess patients' condition in treatment or rehabilitation.

3 Method

3.1 Participants

14 male subjects were selected as a convenience sample in Hong Kong Polytechnic University with an average 172 cm heights. Participants are required to wear light-colored tight scan garment during the experiment. They also need to wear a set of elastic strap with Velcro on the scan garment for attaching the MVN motion capture markers. A total of 17 markers are attached on each participant.

3.2 Experiment Design

Postures. Apart from the standard standing posture, participants were scanned in 7 dynamic postures. These dynamic poses are extreme postures which represent exaggerated poses we usually do not perform in the daily life. When performing extreme movements, the body measurement of certain area may change to an extreme extend (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Experiment dynamic poses

3.3 Process

Phase 1: Each participant was asked to wear tight light color scan garment. After taking photos of three views (front, side and back) in standard pose, participants' shoulder width, arm length, hip height, hip width, knee height, ankle height, foot length and sole

were measured manually by tape. Their height and weight were measured by weight scale. Then they were scanned in standard standing posture. After scanning, researchers attached MVN Xsens motion capture markers on the participants' skin. As for the specific position of markers: one was attached at the back of head, one was on the stern above the chest, two were at the back on the position of scapulae, one was at the middle back of waist on the pelvis, two were on the middle side of upper arms, two were on the front of wrists, two were on the hand back, two were on the middle side of thighs, two were on the shin bone just below the knee cap and last two markers were placed on the participants' feet beneath shoe tongues (Fig. 2).



Selected body	key measurements	
Upper body	Bust girth	Upper arm girth
	Waist girth	Elbow girth
	Armscye girth	Arm length
	Shoulder	
	length	
Lower body	Max thigh girth	Hip girth
	Knee girth	Crotch length
	Calf girth	

Table 1. Selected key body measurement

Fig. 2. Markers positions

Phase 2: To connect with the motion system, participants need to stand up straight and drop arms to their sides for calibration. Then, with the motion capture recording at the same time, participants were scanned in 7 dynamic postures using the Human Solution body scanner.

Phase 3: Two kinds of human models were simulated in this phase: 1. the first kind human model is standard standing model which were generated based on participants' photos of three view, height, weight and standard standing scan. 2. The other kind of human model is dynamic body model which was created on the basis of weight, height and skeleton data derived from motion capture.

3.4 Key Measurements

As this study only focused on key body parts' measurement variations during dynamic motions, the key body measurements were selected and listed in Table 1.

			_				-								-			
Subject No.	s1	s2	s3	s4	s5	s6	s7	s8	s9	s10	s11	s12	s13	s14	Mean	Max	Min	SD
Bust girth	90	97.9	89.1	90	93.4	88	94	90	82	89.5	88.9	100.5	98	91.9	91.6	101	81.7	4.85
Waist girth	80.6	88.8	79.8	88	82.3	78	88	79	71	78.3	73.4	89.9	81.5	84.4	81.6	89.9	70.6	5.77
Hip girth	95.5	90.5	90.7	96	91.7	91	99	92	88	91.2	86.1	97.2	94.5	93.6	92.6	98.6	86.1	3.49
Shoulder length	12.8	14.5	15.8	15	17.3	14	15	13	14	15.2	12.8	13.9	18.3	14	14.6	18.3	12.8	1.62
Upper arm girth	28.1	31.1	25.8	27	26.7	26	27	26	25	26.7	26.8	31	35.6	25.5	27.7	35.6	24.8	2.93
Elbow girth	26.3	26.8	24.1	25	23.9	25	25	24	23	24.3	26.3	25.6	28.1	24.5	25.1	28.1	22.6	1.43
Max thigh girth	53.1	54	48.7	52	51.3	51	56	51	45	51	47.6	55.3	56.2	47.4	51.4	56.2	44.5	3.43
Knee girth	36.1	34.4	35.7	37	36.6	35	39	37	34	35.1	35	36.8	37.7	37.9	36.1	39.1	33.6	1.52
Calf girth	38.1	38	33.8	38	35.2	37	37	36	33	36.1	35	36.8	38.4	35.8	36.3	38.4	33	1.64
Arm length	64	57.4	59.9	58	59.5	61	54	57	58	57.2	55.6	58	58.9	55	58.2	64	54.3	2.53
Crotch length	77.7	61.2	64.9	69	60.4	73	68	69	65	67.1	69.6	62	66.2	68.3	67.3	77.7	60.4	4.67
Armscye girth	44.9	52.8	40.9	48	46.4	44	52	43	43	44	44.8	52.3	50.6	42	46.3	52.8	40.9	4.67
Height	181	169	179	173	167	168	165	177	172	171	165	168	176	175	172	181	165	5.16
Weight	68	66.4	57.6	65.6	59.1	58.6	65.5	60	53	58.8	54.3	69.4	73.8	63.6	62.4	73.8	53	6.
BMI	20.7	23.2	17.9	21.9	21.2	20.8	24.1	19.1	17.9	20.1	19.9	24.6	23.8	20.8	21.1	24.6	17.92	2.15

Table 2. Descriptive data of all subjects collected from body scanning (units: cm, kg)

3.5 Data Analysis

Body Measurement Change in Dynamic Postures. To examine the measurement variation during dynamic motions, data collected from dynamic postures were compared with standard pose scan measurement using descriptive statistics and graph.

Validity of Using New Method for Body Measurement. Measurement obtained from the new method (motion capture and photos) was compared with scan measurement using Mann Whitney test and mapping to examine its' reliability. The analysis was conducted from two aspects: (1) standard pose and (2) dynamic poses. By using Mann Whitney test, the body measurement differences of scan and motion capture simulation can be known. Mapping can give us a clear thought the positions and degree of these difference on human body.

4 Results

Table 2 descriptive statistically described the participants involved in the experiment, with an average 172 cm height and 62.4 kg weight. Their BMI range is from 17.92 to 24.6 and all subjects' the waist girth is under 90 cm, which indicates they are all in normal weight. Their average girth of bust, waist and hip is 91.6, 81.6 and 92.6 cm.

4.1 Body Measurement Variation

To study the body measurement variations, the measurements of 7 dynamic poses are extracted and compared with the standard standing measurement collected using body



Fig. 3. Measurements variations of standard and dynamic poses

scanning. From the Fig. 3, it can be found that measurements vary differently among dynamic poses. One thing to note is that as pose b is subject sitting on left feet, the thigh, knee and calf girth cannot be extracted from body scanner.

Some measurements such as waist girth, max thigh girth, calf girth and upper arm girth show a quite flat curve which means these measurements vary little among poses. While the curve of measurements like bus girth, hip girth, arm length and shoulder length show a greater variation. Table 3 shows the features of key measurement including means, max and min value. Taken the postures into consideration, we can infer that the movement of arm impact the bust girth and shoulder length as when subjects raise arms the bust girth and shoulder length decrease especially when subjects' two arms were all raised above their head. The hip girth might have related with the leg movement, as when subject squatting down or lift their legs, hip measurement increase compared with standard measurement.

	-	1		1	-					1	1		1		1	
	Bust	Wai	st	Hip		Left		Ri	ght	Left	Right		Left		Right	Left
	Girth	Girt	h	Girt	h	Shoul	der	Sh	noulder	Upper	Upper		Elboy	N	Elbow	Max
						Lengt	h	Le	ength	Arm	Arm		Girth		Girth	Thigh
						_			-	Girth	Girth					Girth
Means	91.3	80.3	3	96.	9	9.6		10).1	28.7	29.9		27.2		29.1	51.1
Max	94.9	81.5	5	102.	2	15.7		15	5.7	31.6	31.6		29.7		33.8	52.3
Min	89.1	78.5	5	93.	2	7.6		7	.5	26.2	28		23.8		23.8	50
	Right		Le	ft	R	ight	Lef	t	Right	Left	Right	C	rotch	L	eft	Right
	Max		Kı	nee	Κ	nee	Cal	f	Calf	Arm	Arm	L	ength	A	rmscye	Armscye
	Thigh		Gi	rth	G	irth	Girt	h	Girth	Length	Length			G	irth	Girth
	Girth															
Means	52.8		39	.2	4(0.3	37.4	1	37.5	56.5	57.6	73	3.8	42	2.2	42.8
Max	55.6		40	.8	4	4.1	38.2	2	40	64.6	64.6	76	6	48	8.5	48.5
Min	51.3		37	.6	3′	7.8	36.8	3	36.6	52.7	51.6	68	3.5	39	9.4	40.3

Table 3. Measurements descriptive statistics of standard and dynamic poses (unit: cm)

4.2 Validity Test of Simulated Model Measurements

Standard Pose. To examine the validity of data collected with new method, scan measurement and simulated model measurement (derived from motion capture data, photos and subjects' weight and height) were compared to find the differences extent. From the descriptive statistics of both scan and simulated model measurement shown in Table 4, we can see the average simulated model measurements are slight larger than scan measurement in bust, hip, shoulder length, thigh, knee and armscye girth and slight smaller in waist, elbow, calf and crotch length. For upper arm girth and arm length, the average simulated model measurement is much larger than scan data.

	Ν	Scan				Simu	lated]	Model	
		Min	Max	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Mean	SD
bust_girth	14	81.7	100.5	91.6	4.9	85.3	97.6	92.3	3.9
waist_girth	14	70.6	89.9	81.6	5.8	74.7	86.5	80.5	3.3
hip_girth	14	86.1	98.6	92.6	3.5	86.7	98.3	93.1	3.5
shoulder_length	14	12.8	18.3	14.6	1.6	13.9	15.7	14.7	0.6
upper_arm_girth	14	24.8	35.6	27.7	2.9	29.2	32.9	31.1	1
elbow_girth	14	22.6	28.1	25.1	1.4	21.8	27.8	24.5	1.7
max_thigh_girth	14	44.5	56.2	51.4	3.4	48.5	57.6	53.1	2.8
knee_girth	14	33.6	39.1	36.1	1.5	33.2	38.9	36.3	1.8
calf_girth	14	33	38.4	36.3	1.6	32.1	37.8	35.3	1.8
arm_length	14	54.3	64	58.2	2.5	59.3	64.6	61.8	1.7
crotch_length	14	60.4	77.7	67.3	4.7	60.4	69	65.5	3.2
armscye_girth	14	40.9	52.8	46.3	4.1	44.3	48.5	46.6	1.2

Table 4. Descriptive statistics of scan and simulated model measurement (unit: cm)

To further examine if these 2 measurements are significantly different from each other, the Mann Whitney test is conducted. It can be found that the among the 12 key measurements, as results shown in Table 5, p-values of upper arm girth and arm length are smaller than 0.005, which means simulated model measurement is significantly different from the scan measurement in upper arm girth and arm length. While other 10 key measurements show no significantly differences between simulated model measurement and scan measurement.

Further, to explain the measurement differences in a more visible way, the simulated model and scan model were mapped. Color was used in mapping to indicated the positions and extent of measurement differences (Fig. 4) in which color of red and deep blue indicate the largest differences between 2 models in positive and negative while green color areas mean the measurement differences are small. The whole range of color bar is from -20 to 20 mm. From the mapping results of all subjects shown in Fig. 5, most areas in torso are in green especially areas near the abdomen and back while upper arm and scapula shows the most measurement differences between

	Bust Girth	Waist Girth	Hip Girth	Shoulder Length	Upper Arm Girth	Elbow Girth	Max Girth Thigh	Knee Girth	Calf Girth	Arm Length	Crotch Length	Armscye Girth
Model	90	80.6	95.5	12.8	28.1	26.3	53.1	36.1	38.1	64	77.7	44.9
	97.9	88.8	90.5	14.5	31.1	26.8	54	34.4	38	57.4	61.2	52.8
	89.1	79.8	90.7	15.8	25.8	24.1	48.7	35.7	33.8	59.9	64.9	40.9
	89.6	87.5	95.5	14.8	27.2	25.2	52.3	36.5	38	58.2	69	47.7
	93.4	82.3	91.7	17.3	26.7	23.9	51.3	36.6	35.2	59.5	60.4	46.4
	88.2	77.5	91.3	13.7	26	24.6	51.2	34.5	36.6	61.1	73.3	43.6
	93.7	88.1	98.6	14.9	27	25	55.7	39.1	37.1	54.3	67.7	51.9
	89.5	79.1	92.1	13	25.8	23.8	51.4	36.6	35.9	56.8	69.4	43.4
	81.7	70.6	87.6	13.9	24.8	22.6	44.5	33.6	33	58.2	65	43.1
	89.5	78.3	91.2	15.2	26.7	24.3	51	35.1	36.1	57.2	67.1	44
	88.9	73.4	86.1	12.8	26.8	26.3	47.6	35	35	55.6	69.6	44.8
	100.5	89.9	97.2	13.9	31	25.6	55.3	36.8	36.8	58	62	52.3
	98	81.5	94.5	18.3	35.6	28.1	56.2	37.7	38.4	58.9	66.2	50.6
	91.9	84.4	93.6	14	25.5	24.5	47.4	37.9	35.8	55	68.3	42
Scan	94.88	81.51	98.27	15.71	31.6	23.84	51.36	37.76	36.99	64.56	68.54	48.52
	94.47	80.67	89.74	13.92	32.34	25.97	55.97	38.15	37.14	60.91	68.81	47.32
	92.55	78.51	95.1	15.71	30.89	23.79	52.26	34.24	33.83	63.75	68.71	46.92
	95.45	83.22	95.22	14.35	31.83	24.12	55.77	37.18	35.04	62.63	63.42	47.6
	92.99	77.19	91.24	14.52	30.75	23.01	51.77	35.31	35.01	60.44	61.35	45.9
	89.97	81	91.95	15.08	30.94	24.24	51.76	35.43	34.17	60.16	62.23	45.44
	97.64	86.52	96.64	14.61	31	26.27	54.79	37.09	36.39	60.04	68.97	46.67
	88.76	79.59	92.63	14.72	31.52	26.08	51.55	37.4	36.77	63.49	67.4	46.63
	85.29	74.7	87.02	14.51	29.37	22.86	49.53	33.2	32.1	61.75	63.5	45.28
	88.31	77.99	91.81	14.94	30.25	21.84	52.1	35.09	34	61.71	61.5	45.9
	87.38	76.22	86.71	14.01	29.24	22.43	48.54	33.68	32.54	59.26	60.42	44.34
	97.23	84.69	94.96	13.85	30.96	24.76	57.14	38.39	37.04	60.65	67.96	46.63
	95.88	82.81	96.71	14.7	32.87	27.84	57.63	38.9	37.8	63.67	67.65	48.07
	92.07	81.97	94.94	15.03	32.13	25.78	53.05	36.91	35.85	62.7	66.6	47.43
Sig.	0.713	0.581	0.646	0.408	0.002	0.251	0.168	0.550	0.198	0.000	0.358	0.291

Table 5. Mann Whitney test result of scan data and simulated model data (unit: cm)

Investigation on Human Body Movements 395



Fig. 4. Standing pose mapping

simulated model and scan model. For the legs, differences mainly show in the outer sides of thigh and calf.

Dynamic Poses. Simulated model was also generated on the basis of skeleton information collected from motion capture (Fig. 5). For each pair, simulated model is on the left side. While we found that as the simulated skeleton data is not aligning with the scan data though the poses seem similar. Also, the measurement difference can be observed that measurement of simulated model is generally a bit larger than the real scan. Thus, dynamic simulated model needs further improvement for later studies.

5 Summary

This study has two goals: 1. Investigate the measurement variations between dynamic poses and standard standing pose. 2. Developing a new method to collect body measurement and examine its' reliability by comparing with 3D body scan data. To reach the goal, we attached marker on subjects' skin surface and designed 7 dynamic poses for experiment. Subjects were scanned in dynamics postures and recorded by motion capture simultaneously. Data collected from dynamic postures and standard standing postures was compared and analyzed.



Fig. 5. Dynamic poses comparison

Results of investigating the measurement change indicates that though variation extents are different, measurements do change when subjects performing dynamic postures. Combining the specific postures and the measurement data including max, min and mean value, we can infer some inherent regulation between measurement variation and dynamic poses: Bust girth and shoulder length is related with arm and shoulder movement, measurements tend to decrease when arm is lifted overhead. Leg movement impact the hip girth the most, hip measurement may increase during leg motions including squatting and lifting.

Based on the motion capture, photos, subjects' height and weight, we simulated customized model for each subject as a new method to obtain body measurement in an easier way. The reliability test of simulated model measurement in standard standing posture suggested that it has little difference compared with scan measurement in same pose in most measurements except the upper arm girth and arm length. With more improving in simulating the arm part, this method enables a faster and easier way to extract human body measurement which can be further used in later research area for instance online shopping and virtual fitting. We also examined the simulated model with dynamic scans while the results need further improving as the skeleton movement cannot be aligned at present.

These findings lay a foundation for later studying body measurement in dynamic motions and provide reference to industries such as apparel industry to help with

improving the pattern making and size. Limitations of this study are: 1. There are limited subjects included in the experiment. 2. More dynamic postures should be added to explore the measurement variation regulations. 3. Skeleton data of motion capture need to be improve for dynamic model simulation.

References

- 1. Kirk Jr., W.: Ibrahim SM: Fundamental relationship of fabric extensibility to anthropometric requirements and garment performance. Text. Res. J. **36**(1), 37–47 (1966)
- Apeagyei, P.R., Otieno, R., Tyler, D.: Ethical practice and methodological considerations in researching body cathexis for fashion products. J. Fash. Mark. Manag. Int. J. 11(3), 332–348 (2007)
- Beazley, A.: Size and fit: formulation of body measurement tables and sizing systems-part 2. J. Fash. Mark. Manag. Int. J. 2(3), 260–284 (1998)
- Gill, S., Hayes, S.: Lower body functional ease requirements in the garment pattern. Int. J. Fash. Des. Technol. Educ. 5(1), 13–23 (2012)
- 5. Bennett, K.A., Osborne, R.H.: Interobserver measurement reliability in anthropometry. Hum. Biol. **58**, 751–759 (1986)
- Jamison, P.L., Zegura, S.L.: A univariate and multivariate examination of measurement error in anthropometry. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 40(2), 197–203 (1974)
- Utermohle, C.J., Zegura, S.L.: Intra-and interobserver error in craniometry: a cautionary tale. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 57(3), 303–310 (1982)
- Utermohle, C.J., Zegura, S.L., Heathcote, G.M.: Multiple observers, humidity, and choice of precision statistics: factors influencing craniometric data quality. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 61 (1), 85–95 (1983)
- 9. Apeagyei, P.R.: Application of 3D body scanning technology to human measurement for clothing Fit. Change 4(7), 58–68 (2010)
- Brownridge, A., Twigg, P.: Body scanning for avatar production and animation. Int. J. Fash. Des. Technol. Educ. 7(2), 125–132 (2014)
- Simmons, K.P., Istook, C.L.: Body measurement techniques: comparing 3D body-scanning and anthropometric methods for apparel applications. J. Fash. Mark. Manag. Int. J. 7(3), 306–332 (2003)
- Kroemer, K.H.E.: Human muscle strength: definition, generation and measurement. In: Proceedings of the Human Factors Society Annual Meeting, vol. 30(10). SAGE Publications, Los Angeles (1986)
- Ng, R., Cheung, L., Yu, W.: Dynamic ease allowance in arm raising of functional garment. Sen-I Gakkaishi 65(9), 236–243 (2008)
- Tomita, A., Nakaho, Y.: An experiment on the ease of the pants: Part 1. J. Jpn. Res. Assoc. Text. End Uses 30, 133–141 (1989)
- Nam, J.H., Branson, D.H., Ashdown, S.P., Cao, H., Carnrite, E.: Analysis of cross sectional ease values for fit analysis from 3D body scan data taken in working positions. Int. J. Hum. Ecol. 12(1), 87–99 (2011)
- Chi, L., Kennon, R.: Body scanning of dynamic posture. Int. J. Cloth. Sci. Technol. 18(3), 166–178 (2006)
- Shin, S.M.: CLOTHING & TEXTILES: changes in back body surface measurements for dynamic postures in the form of baseball batting motion with a3D body scanning. Int. J. Hum. Ecol. 14(1), 41–55 (2013)

- Choi, S., Ashdown, S.P.: 3D body scan analysis of dimensional change in lower body measurements for active body positions. Text. Res. J. 81, 81–93 (2010)
- 19. Van Emmerik, R.E.A., et al.: Age-related changes in upper body adaptation to walking speed in human locomotion. Gait Posture **22**(3), 233–239 (2005)
- Zhigailov, S., Kuznetcov, A., Musalimov, V., Aryassov, G.: Measurement and Analysis of Human Lower Limbs Movement Parameters During Walking. Solid State Phenom. 220-221, 538–543 (2014)
- 21. Hu, Y.L., Di L., Liu, J.F.: Analysis and research on the mechanics of human body exoskeleton movement. Appl. Mech. Mater. 687, 191–194 (2014)
- Zijlstra, W., et al.: A body-fixed-sensor-based analysis of power during sit-to-stand movements. Gait Posture 31(2), 272–278 (2010)
- Lee, H., Hong, K., Lee, Y.: Ergonomic mapping of skin deformation in dynamic postures to provide fundamental data for functional design lines of outdoor pants. Fibers Polym. 14(12), 2197–2201 (2013)
- Sohn, M.H., Bye, E.: Exploratory study on developing a body measurement method using motion capture. Cloth. Text. Res. J. 32(3), 170–185 (2014)

Ergonomic Performance of Work Systems

On Ergonomic Perception

Emine Koca¹ and Özlem Kaya²⁽⁾

¹ Fashion Design Department, Faculty of Art and Design, Gazi University, 06830 Ankara, Turkey ekoca@gazi.edu.tr

² Faculty of Fine Arts, Design and Architecture, Hitit University, 19000 Çorum, Turkey ozlemkaya@hitit.edu.tr

Abstract. Ergonomics has developed as an application of knowledge accumulation in very different qualities that can improve the efficiency of human performance in different directions. Ergonomics which is also related to different branches of science covers a wide range of applications. Ergonomics has great importance in determining both sensual, perceptual and mental evaluations and anthropometric requirements of the user. The factors in perception must also be taken into account in the evaluation of the environment perceived by human being, making an ergonomic assessment in particular requires having an ergonomic perception in this sense. The perception of ergonomics can be achieved by acquiring knowledge or training in this field. This study was conducted to measure the perception of ergonomics. 220 active students in the Vocational High School of Technical Sciences and 342 employees working in garment enterprises participated in the study. As a result of the analyzes, it was revealed what the perceptions of the ergonomics of the students and employees participated in the study are, and some suggestions were made.

Keywords: Ergonomic perception · Garment enterprises · Physiological characteristics · Perception

1 Introduction

Ergonomics aims to make people's lives humanitarian, make them fit for humanity and improve people's quality of life. At the same time, to make the surrounding area suitable for health conditions, the elimination of a number of danger possibilities, arrangement of working hours, ensuring working order suitable for physiological characteristics, ensuring that the tools and equipment used are compatible with the work and the user are the main purposes. At this point, on the one hand, human efficiency and comfort are enhanced, and on the other hand, it is ensured that the designed environment is safe for human beings.

Execution of work and working environment by taking into account the physiological and mental limitations of the human being is important both for occupational health and occupational diseases and for efficiency [1, 2]. It is necessary to consider specific engineering approaches in order to be created an ergonomic work environment and to be taken into account the physical and mental workload of employees.

© Springer International Publishing AG (outside the USA) 2018 R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_43 Ergonomics is defined as balancing the workload and labour force in the best way possible to protect the individual's health and to increase the producing. Besides it is implementing biological information within the fields of anatomy, physiology and experimental psychology, to succeed the human-machine-environment system [3] that ergonomics is the long duration between (also related with) individual's education process and working process.

As a personal working field; ergonomics provide the necessary conditions for adopting "people" and "working" to each other, by searching features and abilities of human organism. It enables people to be aware of their own abilities and to realize them effectively. Ergonomics maintains the individual not to be distressed due to extreme enforcements while working so that it can acquire success in business [4-6].

Ergonomics deals with the substantial criteria such as physical and mental health for employees, efficiency and quality for employers; it aims to improve the whole elements of system also human performance by providing human & system harmony [7].

Ergonomic studies are not limited to solely business environment; it is necessary to benefit ergonomics not only within the manufacturing process but also usage and repairment processes of the products created by the modern technology. The necessity mentioned is emerged by the reality that the product herein is just for the human [8]. Regarding the processes of producing, consuming, using and repairing are not existed without humans; designing each of the products and enabling life easier are suggested to be necessary due to physical features of the human.

According to the information referred; education relating ergonomics is being a pre-condition for individuals anymore in order to have a healthy and secured further life.

The concept of ergonomics is suggested to be a working pattern relating school, student and instructor, by providing ergonomics according to educational institutions. The target of the ergonomics education is creating a perception about the theme and encouraging the individual for working life via reliable behaviours [9].

By applying the ergonomic principles within the schools; suitable classrooms, studying environments and workshops can be provided due to the student's age, body structure, professional studies and perceiving features: Therefore, it is possible for them to learn and implement the first experiences relating ergonomics by better methods. Readymade garment manufacturers include many departments such as designing, manufacturing, ironing, quality controlling and warehouse. Operating the mentioned departments and evaluating their risk factors to meet can be provided by workshop educations. So that; the individuals acquire awareness about ergonomics and its principles via correctly designed education.

Operating the functions of respiratory system, circulatory system, muscle metabolism, digestive system, secretion system and nervous system for human body in a sufficient level is related with well operating process of perception organs. The information perceived by perception organs from outside are to reply via an action within central nervous system by hands, arms and various organs of the human body. The success of the system is related with the reply's relevance. The volume of information signals perceived from present environment or machine besides qualification of the employee have effect on the reply's relevance and success of the system [10, 11]. The mentioned effects are shown below in Fig. 1:



Fig. 1. Duty request of human and features

There are 3 elements like human-machine-environment occurring the production system. The features of environment also affect machines as it has effect on human [12], the information acquired from environment and machine are subsequently transmitted to central nervous system. The central nervous system prepares the most proper reply due to the received information which is called as "selection work". Perceiving and selection create mental burden for humans which is having effect on experiences gained, education, burden and the selection's relevance [13]. The implementation of the selection transforms into action by nervous system, skeleton and muscles, hand, arm and various activities of the body. The action taken creates a burden for the human. Perceiving, the success of the selection and action reveal business success of the human. Eventually, business success of the human reveals the success of the system and mechanical production.

2 Methodology

The aim of the research is evaluating the ergonomic perception of the students attending university also employees and managers from readymade garment enterprises. The sample herein is occured of 220 students living in Bursa and İstanbul also 342 employees from the enterprises listed in the first 500 companies in 2015 which are located in İzmir and İstanbul.

Inquiry forms created for the research is applied for the students attending universities also employees and managers within the selected readymade garment enterprises which are being active in the year of 2016. Consequently valid 562 forms are evaluated.

It is asked to the participants whether they have education relating ergonomics or not by the research. Furthermore; the perceptions of the students, managers and employees are revealed additionally several suggestions are offered related with the ergonomics which is suggested to be necessary for each step of the human life.

3 Results and Discussion

Demographic information belonged to the students, acquired by the research is as follows: 58% of the students are between 20–25 ages, 51% of them are attending the 1st grade also 58% of the students are male.

According to Table 1; it is revealed that 98% of the participants do not have ergonomic education. So, the result illustrates here the students have no education about ergonomics; neither theoretical nor practical one. Being uneducated about a very necessary theme for the whole life means they may face various matters within many fields such as health. There are several fields based on ergonomic information with also their methods and technics; of which implementation necessitates ergonomic education.

Age	f	%	Grade	f	%
Less than 20	77	35.0	1. Grade	112	50.9
20–25	128	58.2	2. Grade	74	33.6
26–30	11	5.0	3. Grade	34	15.5
41–45	4	1.8	Total	220	100.0
Total	220	100.0			
Gender	f	%	Ergonomics Education	f	%
Female	92	41.8	Yes	5	2.3
Male	128	58.2	No	215	97.7
Total	220	100.0	Total	220	100.0

Table 1. The distribution of the students due to age, grade, gender and their ergonomics education

Table 2 illustrates that 31% of the managers and employees from readymade garment enterprises are between 26–30 ages, 41% of them are graduated from university, 78% are occurred of female employees or managers. Also; 68% of the participants are revealed to be uneducated about the ergonomics theme, which is suggested to be causative for further several matters.

According to Sanders and McCormick [14]; ergonomics defined as designing tools, machines, systems, duties, businesses and environment to have efficient, safe, comfortable and effective usage also exploring and implementing the human behaviours, abilities, limitations and characteristics exists everywhere humans live. Ergonomic information is suggested to be known compulsorily especially in the working environment.

Because majority of the day is spent within the mentioned environment and many situations can affect people there. So that; ergonomics can contribute the human's welfare related with health, security and comfort.

Many situations we can meet during our lives and the environments we work within, may include harmful elements for human health. In many countries; the diseases related with muscle and skeleton system also psychological disorders are suggested to be the reason for absence, losses, accidents, injuries and deaths. Some of them are occured by technical systems, equipment and designing matters. But one of the major reasons is the existence of the employees having no education, information and perception about the ergonomics.

Age	f	%	Education	f	%
20–25	57	16.7	Primary School	91	26.6
26–30	105	30.7	High School	105	30.7
31–35	84	24.6	University	139	40.6
36–40	75	21.9	Graduate-Doctorate	7	2.0
41–45	14	4.1	Total	342	100.0
Greater than 46	7	2.0			
Total	342	100.0			
Gender	f	%	Ergonomics Education	f	%
Female	268	78.4	Yes	108	31.6
Male	74	21.6	No	234	68.4
Total	342	100.0	Total	342	100.0

Table 2. The distribution of the employees due to age, graduation, gender and their ergonomics education

Compliance analysis is benefited in Fig. 2 to determine the relations between variables and their categories. The mentioned analysis is a defining type multivariate statistical technique in order to analyze the relations between variables, by two or more dimensional cross flow plates. Due to the analysis held; each of the relations determined between categories of the variables are examined graphically and eventually concluded [15, 16].

The results of the analysis are illustrated below in the perception map:

Chi-square distance measure is used relating the dimensions' calculating within the axis in the map and Symmetrical Normalization method is benefited in the study.

According to the analysis held; Chi-square value is calculated as 127,113 besides significance level is evaluated as .000. So that; relation between the variables is suggested to be existed. 88.2% of the relation between variables is explained by 1st dimension and the rest 11.8% is explained by 2nd dimension.

As a group participating in the study; students are observed to define ergonomics by the expression of "I don't have any idea" in the context of Ergonomics Perception Map and the other concept defined by them is "Qualified production" expression partially. The expression of "I don't have any idea" herein is related with the data as 98% of the students had mentioned that they didn't have ergonomics education.



Symmetrical Normalization

Variables Benefited: Participant type* The expression used to define the ergonomics Participant Type: Student, Employee, Manager

• Ergonomics Perception: Qualified production, Business compliance, Humanization of work, Human-Machine-Environment harmony, Workplace adjustment, Adjustment of business machines, I don't have any idea



Employees within the map are observed to define ergonomics via the expressions as "Human-Machine-Environment harmony" and "Humanization of work". The employees, as working people, perceive the ergonomics concept more differently and they evaluate it towards a wider framework. At this point; experiences they had within their working life are suggested to be contributive for the perception.

As a group participating in the study; managers are observed to define ergonomics by "Workplace adjustment" expression. By comparing with the other groups; managers used a more general definition and they define ergonomics via the words meaning the harmony in the environment. Hence; the managers related with ergonomics are suggested to have a more general perception in physical, psychological etc. manners.

4 Conclusions and Recommendations

Developing technologies cause significant changes today within the working life like the other various fields. As a result; very fast and intensive mechanization is experienced during the production process. The mentioned fast change diversifies the abilities of people actually working in the production process in physical and mental manners besides it creates a substantial pressure on the employees.

Ergonomics education herein is suggested to be very important related with preventing the negative effect or decreasing the mentioned effect into minimum level.

The attitudes and behaviours of employees observed related with occupational health and safety within readymade garment enterprises are the results of the education they had so far. Experiencing the various situations like lighting, noise, vibration, dust, chemical exposure, lifting, correct posture and etc. is probable during working there. Acting and having proper attitudes due to mentioned situations acquire ergonomics education.

According to the results;

- 58% of the students participating in the study are between 20–25 ages, 51% of them are attending the 1st grade, 58% of the students are male also 98% of the mentioned group did not have education about ergonomics so far.
- 31% of the employees are between 26–30 ages, 41% of them are graduated from university, 78% of the group is occured of female employees (readymade garment sector is generally run by women) and 68% of the employees did not have ergonomics education.
- According to Ergonomics Perception Map analyzed; students as a group participated in the study are observed to define ergonomics by the expressions of "*I don't have any idea*" and "*Qualified production*". Besides employees define the mentioned theme as "*Human-Machine-Environment harmony*" and "*Humanization of work*" also managers define ergonomics via "*Workplace adjustment*" expression.

Evaluating the results acquired generally;

- Education relating ergonomics must be taught as from primary school by stages.
- Ergonomics education must be formed due to the manner as "an education in all fields during life".
- Education relating ergonomics must be given due to the sectors in the further stages owing to their own varied features.
- Systematic programs must be prepared based on the idea of "a definite process is needed to form a perception".
- Education programs within the schools must be based on systematic programs.
- The theme must be admitted as a preferential one within the state policies concerning its contribution to both sectors and the country about occupational health and safety.
- Ergonomics education must be supported by health sector authorities due to its key role in human health and to decrease occupational diseases.
- In-service training programs must be applied periodically after the ending of fundamental ergonomics education process within the labour intensive sectors such as readymade garment manufacturing etc.
- Web sites must be formed to acquire correct and updated data relating ergonomics and they must be kept updated.
- General policies must be developed in order to create perception and conscious about ergonomics.

References

- 1. Getty, R.L.: Quality and ergonomics: application of ergonomics to continuous improvement is integral to the goals of business. In: Karwowski, W., Marras, W.S. (eds.) Design and Management of Work Systems. CRC Pres, Boca Raton (1999)
- Sommerich, C.M.: Economic analysis for ergonomics programs. In: Karwowski, W., Marras, W.S. (eds.) Design and Management of Work Systems. CRC Pres, Boca Raton (1999)
- 3. Şimşek, M.: Mühendislikte Ergonomik Faktörler. Marmara Üniversitesi, Teknik Eğitim Fakültesi, Yayın No: 9, s. 7 (1994)
- 4. Özok, A.F.: Ergonomi ve Verimlilik. İşveren Dergisi, TİSK, Mart-Nisan, İstanbul (2010)
- 5. Demir, H.: Üretim Yönetimi. Aydın Yayınevi, p. 313, İzmir (1988)
- Güler, Ç.: Ergonomiye Giriş. T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı, Çevre Sağlığı Temel Kaynak Dizisi, no. 45, Ankara (1997)
- Genaidy, A.M., Karwowski, W., Shoaf, C.: The fundamentals of work system compatibility theory: an integrated approach to optimize workplace performance. Theor. Issues Ergon. Sci. 3(4), 346–368 (2002)
- 8. Cochrane, J.D., Olivo, J.J.: Ergonomic issues in the workplace and implications for the OEIS curriculum. Off. Syst. Res. J. (Fall I) 6(2) (1998)
- 9. Noro, K.: Participatory ergonomics. Occupational ergonomics. In: Karwowski, W., Marras, W.S. (eds.) Design and Management of Work Systems. CRC Pres, Boca Raton (1999)
- Kaya, S.: Ergonomi ve Çalışanların Verimliliği Üzerine Etkileri. AR&GE Bülten Ağustos Kurumsal, İzmir Ticaret Odası (2008)
- 11. Eysenck, M.W., Keane, M.T.: Cognitive Psychology A Student's Handbook, 4th edn. Psychology Press, Longman, Hove (2000)
- 12. Venetjoki, N., Kaarlela-Tuomaala, A., Keskinen, E., Hongisto, V.: The effect of speech and speech intelligibility on task performance. Ergonomics **49**(11), 1068–1091 (2006)
- Genaidy, A.M., Karwowski, W., Succop, P., Kwon, Y.G., Alhemoud, A., Goyal, D.: A classification system for characterization of physical and non-physical work factors. Int. J. Occup. Saf. Ergon. 6(4), 535–555 (2000)
- 14. Sanders, M.S., McCormick, E.J.: Human Factors in Engineering and Design, 7th edn. McGrraw-Hill Book Company, New York (1993)
- 15. Bartholomew, D.J., Steele, F., Moustaki, I., Galbraith, J.I.: Analysis of Multivariate Social Science Data, 2nd edn. Chapman & Hall, Florida (2008)
- Greenacre, M., Blasius, J.: Correspondence Analysis in the Social Sciences. Academic Press Limited, New York (1994)

Formulation of Field Data Base Model of Productivity for Standalone Sewing Machine Operation Based on Ergonomic Considerations

Vishwas Deshpande¹⁽¹²⁾, Swapna R. Ghatole², and J.P. Modak³

 ¹ Shri Ramdeobaba College of Engineering and Management, Nagpur, Maharashtra, India deshpandevs@rknec.edu
 ² Priyadarshini Institute of Engineering and Technology, Nagpur, Maharashtra, India
 ³ The Priyadarshini College of Engineering, Nagpur, Maharashtra, India

Abstract. The sewing machine operator is a most busy operator in culturally different background country like India. The sewing machine operation involves various activities for execution of different tasks. During sewing machine operation the workers performs each type of activity which forms a man-machine system where workers anthropometric data, postures, their skills, motivation, workstation, the working seasons and their workplace influence the performance. This is where their productivity, human energy input, quality and quantity is highlighted. In order to establish relationship amongst input and responses of activity, the mathematical models of sewing machine operation needs to be developed. This article highlights the detailed methodology of mathematical model formulation for the productivity of the standalone sewing machine operation. Present study is done on thirty male sewing machine operators working on manually driven sewing machine from more than last 10 to 12 years in central India. This operation is characterized by a static sitting posture, with forward inclination of head and trunk. Since the operators are sitting on stools without back support, ankle and knee angles are in uncomfortable position. The eyes are constrained towards visual control of work, while the hands are continuously directing the sewing material with the absorption of vibrations on working surface of sewing table. This paper details the formulation of field data based model to analyze the impact of various machining field parameters on the productivity of the sewing machine operation. In all, 39 independent variables are studied to analyze their effect on the dependent variable productivity. The 39 independent variables are then grouped to form 5 dimensionless pi terms using the Buckinham's Pi Theorem. Further, a model is developed using matrix analysis and the effect of the independent pi terms on the dependent pi term is established. Model derived by combining positive and negative pi terms, further analyzes the effect of the independent variables on the productivity. The models are validated to gauge the accuracy. Formulation of mathematical model and sensitivity analysis reveals that the environmental condition and badly designed stools used for sitting while in working position in the workshop, majorly affects the productivity. Further, to improve productivity, it is necessary that the seating stool used should be properly designed by using

ergonomic considerations. Other factors that affect productivity are BMI of the operator and years in operation as well as anthropometric data of the operators.

Keywords: Productivity \cdot Mathematical model \cdot Ergonomically designed stool \cdot Environmental factors

1 Introduction

The sewing machine operation involves various activities for execution of different tasks in sewing. During sewing machine operation the operators perform each type of activity which forms a man-machine system (Fig. 1). In this man-machine system operator's anthropometric data, posture, their skills, motivation, workstation environment and design, the working season influences their performance. Field database modeling is applied to any type of man-machine system. It is the relationship between input/cause and output/response variable. The operators productivity is studied in this paper. These operators are involved in manual sewing machine operation which causes stress and fatigue and hence the need was felt to study their productivity.



Fig. 1. Man-machine system

2 Selection of Operators

The operators under study were all male operators. They have an experience of working on standalone machines of more than 10 years. The survey method was used, where a questionnaire with the help of Dutch musculoskeletal questionnaire (DMQ) in Indian context was generated.

3 Methodology

This paper details the formulation of Field Database modeling to analyze the impact of various field parameters in and around sewing machine operation on the productivity. There are few totally physical phenomena that cannot be represented by application of basic balances of mechanics. But such complex man–machine operated system can be arrived at mathematical model by adopting the theory of experimentation suggested by Hilbert Schank Junior. The model formulation is done by using the following methodology (Fig. 2):





Fig. 2. Man-machine system under study: line diagram and actual operator at work

- Identification of causes/input independent and responses/output dependent variables.
- Identification of extraneous variables.
- Reduction of independent variables into dimensionless terms by adopting dimensional analysis method.
- Data collection of sewing machine operators on existing process.
- Formulation of Exponential Form of model in field database management.
- Formulation of Response curve model in field database management.
- Model optimization.
- Sensitivity analysis.

3.1 Identification of Independent Variables

Any physical quantity that undergoes change can be said to be variable in general. If particular variable can be changed without affecting other variable then it is independent variable. Similarly if a particular variable changes its response of one or more variables then it is called dependent variables. The variables which changes its response over which we don't have control as regards what way those variables would vary w.r.t. time such variable are called as extraneous variables.

Causes or Independent Variables. 39 Independent variable are identified in the present phenomena. These are grouped in 5 PI terms by using Buckingham Pi Π theorem. They are:

- Π_1 = Anthropometric dimensions of operator.
- Π_2 = Environmental condition factors
- Π_3 = Personal factors of operator.
- Π_4 = Workstation Design.
- Π_5 = Process machine design conditions.

3.2 Responses or Dependent Variables

Dependent variable identified is productivity of sewing machine operators and analysis of effect of independent variables on productivity of operators is studied by mathematical model formulation tool (Table 1).

Sr. no.	Variable name	Symbol	Dimensional parameters
1	Height of operator	A ₁	L^1 (cm)
2	Weight of operator	A ₂	M ¹ (kg)
3	Sitting height	A ₃	L^1 (cm)
4	Sitting eye height	A ₄	L^1 (cm)
5	Elbow sitting Ht.	A ₅	L^1 (cm)
6	Knee ht.	A ₆	L^1 (cm)
7	Buttock knee height	A ₇	L^1 (cm)
8	Popliteal height	A ₈	L^1 (cm)
9	Elbow to elbow span	A ₉	L^1 (cm)
10	Hip breadth sitting	A ₁₀	L^1 (cm)
11	Inclination of head (α)	A ₁₁	0° (degree)
12	Inclination of eyeball (β)	A ₁₂	0° (degree)
13	Inclination of back w.r.t. table (θ)	A ₁₃	0° (degree)
14	Age of operator	P ₁	T ¹

 Table 1. Process variables (dependant and independent)

(continued)

Sr. no.	Variable name	Symbol	Dimensional parameters
15	Experience of operator	P ₂	T ¹
16	Skill of operator	P ₃	T^1
17	Health of operator	P ₄	Rating scale (1–10)
18	Enthusiasm of operator	P ₅	Rating scale (1-10)
19	Habits of operator	P ₆	Rating scale (1-10)
20	Temperature of workstation	Tw ₁	0° (centigrade)
21	Noise of workplace	Nw ₁	decibels
22	Noise of workplace while working	Nw ₂	decibles
23	Illumination of workplace	Iw ₁	Lumens
24	Height of stool	H ₁	L^1 (cm)
25	Ht. of working table	H ₂	L^1 (cm)
26	Surface length of working table	H ₃	L^1 (cm)
27	Area of stool	H ₄	L^2 (cm)
28	Back support length	H ₅	L^1 (cm)
29	Position of paddle	H ₆	L^1 (cm)
30	Arm reach (elbow to working table)	H ₇	L^1 (cm)
31	Speed of operator	S0	T – 1
32	Length of leg	LL	L^1 (cm)
33	Angle of seat (if any)	D ₁₁	0° (degree)
34	Size of treadle (area)	Td	L^2 (cm)
35	Length of push rod	Psrd	L^1 (cm)
36	Axle size	Ax	L^1 (cm)
37	Diameter .of leather belt	Lb	L^1 (cm)
38	Pulley diameter. On m/c head	Pmc	L^1 (cm)
39	Flywheel diameter	Fwh	L^1 (cm)
40	Stitching time/day	St	length./h
41	Stitching length/day	Stl	length./h

Table 1. (continued)

3.3 Reduction of Variables

As the number of independent variables are too large they are to be reduced to few by using dimensional analysis by applying Buckingham's Pi theorem. When this theorem is applied to a system having n independent variables and m primary dimensions, number of pi terms are formed. Using three primary dimension terms L, M, T. if the product of these pi terms is taken then it will yield dimensionless pi terms. By using this approach the independent pi terms are formed. Table 2 will show independent pi terms.

Sr.	Pi	Group for forming independent	Dimensional analysis
no.	terms	terms	
1	Π_1	Anthropometric data of operator	$\Pi_1 = (A_1, A_3, A_4, A_5, A_9) / (A_6, A_7, A_8,$
			A ₁₀ ,LL)
2	Π_2	Personal data of operator	$\Pi_2 = (P_1, P_3, P_4) / (P_2, P_5, P_6)$
3	Π ₃	Environmental conditions of workplace	$\Pi_3 = (\mathrm{TW}_1, \mathrm{NW}_1) / (\mathrm{IW}_1, \mathrm{NW}_2)$
4	Π_4	WorkStation data	$\Pi_4 = [(h_1, h_5/h_4), (h_2, h_3/h_6)]/[(so/h_7, LL), (A_{11}, A_{12}, A_{13})]$
5	П5	Components of machine process	$\Pi_5 = [(\text{Lbelt}), (\text{Pmc}), (H_3)]/[(\text{Td}),$
		and its conditions	(Psrd), (Ax), (Fwh)]

 Table 2.
 List of independent variables

4 Formulation of Models Based on Observed Data

Dependent Variable Productivity is Z_3 = Total length of Stitching work per day/ Stitching time per day during Experimentation 5 Independent Pi terms (Π_1 , Π_2 , Π_3 , Π_4 , Π_5) and one dependent pi term (Π_6) are available for model formulation. Each dependent Π term is the function of the available independent terms.

$$\Pi_6 = f(\Pi_1, \Pi_2, \Pi_3, \Pi_4, \Pi_5) \tag{1}$$

A Probable exact mathematical form for the dimensional equation of the phenomenon could be the relationships assumed to be of exponential form. So, the model representing the behavior of dependent pi terms Π_6 with respect to various independent pi terms can be obtained. The model representing the behaviour of dependent Pi term with respect to various independent pi terms can be obtained as follows:

$$\Pi_6 = \mathcal{K}(\Pi_1^{\alpha 1} * \Pi_2^{\alpha 2} * \Pi_3^{\alpha 3} * \Pi_4^{\alpha 4} * \Pi_5^{\alpha 5})$$
(2)

Therefore 5 unknown terms in the Eq. 2 can said as Constant of Proportionality K & indices a_1 , a_2 , a_3 , a_4 , a_5 .

By using classical experimentation of mathematical form of Curve fitting Constant.

$$Z = A + Bx + Cy + Dz$$

By taking log on both sides equation can be formulated.

Taking log on both sides of Eq. 2

 $\log \Pi_6 = \log K + a_1 \log \Pi_1 + a_2 \log \Pi_2 + a_3 \log \Pi_3 + a_4 \log \Pi_4 + a_5 \log \Pi_5 \quad (3)$

We assume:

 $Z_1 = \log \Pi_6, K = \log a0, A = \log \Pi_1, B = \log \Pi_2, C = \log \Pi_3, D = \log \Pi_4, E = \log \Pi_5$

Putting the values in Eq. (4)

$$Z = K + a_1 * A + a_2 * B + a_3 * C + a_4 * D + a_5 * E$$
(4)

Equation (4) is a regression equation of Z on A, B, C, D, E in a dimensional co-ordinate system

$$\begin{split} \Sigma Z &= n * K + a_1 \Sigma A + a_2 \Sigma B + a_3 \Sigma C + a_4 \Sigma D + a_5 \Sigma E \\ \Sigma Z A &= K \Sigma \ A + a_1 \Sigma A * A + a_2 \Sigma B * A + a_3 \Sigma C * A + a_4 \Sigma D * A + a_5 \Sigma E * A \\ \Sigma Z B &= K \Sigma B + a_1 \Sigma A * B + a_2 \Sigma B * B + a_3 \Sigma C * B + a_4 \Sigma D * B + a_5 \Sigma E * B \\ \Sigma Z C &= K \Sigma C + a_1 \Sigma A * C + a_2 \Sigma B * C + a_3 \Sigma C * C + a_4 \Sigma D * C + a_5 \Sigma E * C \\ \Sigma Z D &= K \Sigma D + a_1 \Sigma A * D + a_2 \Sigma B * D + a_3 \Sigma C * D + a_4 \Sigma D * D + a_5 \Sigma E * D \\ \Sigma Z E &= K \Sigma E + a_1 \Sigma A * E + a_2 \Sigma B * E + a_3 \Sigma C * E + a_4 \Sigma D * E + a_5 \Sigma E * E \end{split}$$

After substituting values in the above Eq. 5 one will get set of 5 equations. These are solved by using MATLAB and values obtained are as shown in the Table 3.

Index values (after process in matlab)	Productivity
a0	1
al	0.5557
a2	0.0732
a3	-2.0403
a4	0.3630
a5	0.0022

Table 3. Deduction of values of indices for output variables

Putting values for indices and curve fitting constants for the equation of dependent Pi terms, exact model of productivity in Exponential form is obtained as shown in Eq. 5

$$\mathbf{Z}_3 = 1 \,\Pi_1^{\ 0.5557} * \Pi_2^{0.0732} * \Pi_3^{-2.0403} * \Pi_4^{0.3630} * \Pi_5^{0.0022} \tag{5}$$

4.1 Formulation of Model Based on Clubbing of All Independent PI Terms

In this field data is represented by clubbing of independent data and representing them on X axis and corresponding values of dependent pi terms on Y axis. All 5 independent pi terms have been identified as $\Pi_1, \Pi_2, \Pi_3, \Pi_4, \Pi_5$ are clubbed together to form, $Z_3 = f$ ($\Pi_1, \Pi_2, \Pi_3, \Pi_4, \Pi_5$) using various combinations with multiplication and division (Fig. 3).



Product of all independent Pi terms

Fig. 3. Linear interpolant graphical analysis

Linear interpolant: f(x) = piecewise polynomial computed from p

Coefficients: p = coefficient structure Goodness of fit: SSE: 0; R-square: 1; Adjusted R-square: NaN; RMSE: NaN Linear model Poly6:

$$f(x) = p1 * x^{\wedge}6 + p2 * x^{\wedge}5 + p3 * x^{\wedge}4 + p4 * x^{\wedge}3 + p5 * x^{\wedge}2 + p6 * x + p7$$
 (6)

Coefficients (with 95% confidence bounds):

- p1 = 3.067e + 004 (-1.067e + 006, 1.129e + 006)
- p2 = -2.169e + 004 (-1.198e + 006, 1.155e + 006)
- p3 = -1287 (-3.767e + 005, 3.741e + 005)
- p4 = 2274 (-4.451e + 004, 4.905e + 004)
- p5 = -319.7 (-2860, 2220)
- p6 = 14.02 (-43.29, 71.33)
- p7 = 3.076 (2.668, 3.484)

Goodness of fit: SSE: 0.3794; R-square: 0.1434; Adjusted R-square: -0.08006; RMSE: 0.1284.

The above both graphical analysis also shows that the value of Z goes on decreasing after, when x = 0.3 and y = 0.5 (Fig. 4).



Product of all independent Pi terms

Fig. 4. Linear model Poly6 graphical analysis

5 Conclusion

Referring to Eq. 5, it is observed that the absolute index of a 1 of Π_1 term is highest i.e. $\Pi_1 = 0.5557$. This indicates that, the highest influence of the pi term Π_1 is on productivity. This is because the a₁ index is positive, the relationship between the productivity Π_1 is direct. Meaning that if the value of Π_1 increases the productivity will increase. This pi term is related to anthropometric data of operator with respect to the stool on which he is seating. The reasoning behind this can be that, if the height and other specifications of the stool were designed ergonomically then the operator is at ease in sitting position while working. The other parameter i.e. Π_4 which is related to workstation design has a next high positive index. This also indicates that if the workstation data Π_4 value increases then it will help in increase of productivity. The third Π_3 term related to environmental factors shows negative index. This helps in decline of productivity because the operator is continuously working in hot and dry weather conditions as in Nagpur region. All the three pi terms shows us that the productivity of the operator could be increased if he is working in ergonomically designed workstation in better environmental conditions [1]. The other pi terms are very less influencing factors on productivity.

References

- 1. Ghatole, S., Deshpande, V.S.: Investigation on manually driven sewing machine operators working posture with the help of ergonomic tools. Mater. Today Proc. (2016). Elsevier to be published
- 2. Paljnar, A., Herzog, N.V., Lever, M.: Muscular-Skeletal Disorders Requires Scientifically Designed Sewing Workstation (2010)
- Kaergward, A., Anderson, J.H.: Musculoskeletal disorders of the neck and shoulder in female sewing m/c operators, prevalence, incidence, & prognosis. Occup. Environ. Med. 57, 528–534 (2000)
- Delleman, N.J., Dull, J.: sewing m/c operation: workstation adjustment, working posture & workers perceptions. Intern. J. Ind. Ergon. 30, 341–353 (2002)
- Wang, P.-C., Rembel, D.M., Harrison, R., Chan, J., Ritz, B.: Work organizational and personal factors associated with upper body musculoskeletal disorders among sewing m/c operators. Occup. Environ. Med. 64, 1–8 (2007)
- Wang, P.-C., Harrison, R., Yu, F., Rembel, D.M., Ritz, B.: Follow up of neck & shoulder pain among sewing m/c operators: the Los Angeles Garments Study. Am. J. Ind. Med. 53, 352–360(2009)
- 7. Sanders, M., McCormick, E.: Human Factor in Engineering and Design
- Saha, T.K., Dasgupta, A., Butt, A., Chattopadhyay, O.: Health status of workers engaged in the small-scale garment industry: How healthy are they? Indian J. Commun. Med. 35(1). doi:10.4103/0970-0218.62584. January 2010 Received 26 Dec 08, Accepted 10 Oct 09
- Effects of Time Pressure and Mental Workload on Physiological Risk Factors for Upper Extremity Musculoskeletal Disorders While Typing, Laura E. Hughes Thesis submitted to the faculty of Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University for the degree of Master of Science in Industrial and Systems Engineering, Blacksburg, VA, 19 July 2004
- An approach to simulation of a complex field activity by mathematical model by Dr. J. P. Modak Dean (R & D). IIIE J. (2), 11–14 (2011)
- 11. Punnett, L., Robins, J.M., Wegman, D.H., Keyserling, M.: Soft tissue disorders in the upper limbs of female garment workers. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health **11**, 417–425 (1985)
- 12. Murell, K.H.F.: The Man in His Working Environment
- 13. Formulation of a Field Data Model for Functioning of a workstation of Flour Grinding System Emphasizing Ergonomic Consideration and Optimization, Thesis by Abhijit Agashe
- 14. Schenck Jr., H.: Theories of Engineering Experimentation. Mcgraw Hill Book Co, New York
- 15. Bihade, O.S., Kulkarni, S.S., Modak, J.P., Zakiuddin, K.S.: Mathematical modeling and simulation of field data based model for civil activity. Int. J. Sci. Eng. Res. **3**(3), (2012)
- McAtamney, L., Corlett, E.N.: RULA: a survey method for the investigation of world-related upper limb disorders. Appl. Ergon. 24(2), 91–99 (1993)
- Ikhar, S.R., Vanalkar, A.V., Modak, J.P.: Field data based mathematical model for stirrup making activity in civil construction. In: 1st International and 16th National Conference on Machines and Mechanisms (iNaCoMM2013), IIT Roorkee, India, Dec 18–20 2013
- Hignett, S., McAtamney, L.: Technical note rapid entire body assessment (REBA). Appl. Ergon. 31, 201–205 (2000)

- 19. Ikhar, D., Deshpande, V.S.: Intervention of ergonomics in and driven cotton spinning operation. Int. J. Ergon. 1(1), 12–19 (2011)
- Ansari, N.A., Sheikh, M.J.: Evaluation of work posture by RULA and REBA: a case study. IOSR J. Mech. Civil Eng. (IOSR-JMCE) e-ISSN: 2278-1684, p-ISSN: 2320-334 X, 11(4) Ver. III (Jul-Aug. 2014), pp. 18–23. www.iosrjournals.org
- 21. DMQ, TNO work and Employment (2001)

Formulation of Field Data Based Model of Human Energy Expenditure During Wheat Grinding Operation Based on Anthropometric and Ergonomic Considerations

Abhijeet A. Agashe and Vishwas S. Deshpande^(\square)

Shri Ramdeobaba College of Engineering and Management, Nagpur, M.S. 440013, India {agashea, deshpandevs}@rknec.edu

Abstract. This paper highlights the detailed methodology of mathematical model formulation for the human energy expenditure in the wheat grinding operation. This paper details the formulation of field data based model to analyze the impact of various machining field parameters on the human energy expenditure in the wheat grinding operation. In all, 34 independent variables are studied to analyze their effect on the dependent variable human energy expenditure. The independent variables are then grouped to form 7 dimensionless pi terms using the Buckingham's Pi Theorem. Further, a model is developed using matrix analysis and the effect of the independent pi terms on the dependent pi term is established. Model derived by combining positive and negative pi terms, further analyzes the effect of the independent variables on the human energy expenditure. The models are validated to gauge the accuracy. Formulation of mathematical model and sensitivity analysis reveals that the anthropometric data of the operators has the highest influence on the human energy expenditure during the wheat grinding operation. Other factor that significantly affect the human energy expenditure is the environmental conditions in the workshop, majorly ambient temperature in the workshop. Research suggests that as the temperature inside the workshop increases, the human energy expenditure also increases.

Keywords: Wheat grinding \cdot Field data based model \cdot Human energy \cdot Sensitivity \cdot Optimization

1 Introduction

Wheat is a major food staple in India, and is crucial to India's food economy. With wheat production of 70 to 75 million tons annually and a large demand, India's wheat economy is now the second largest in the world.

In the olden days, household had a 'chakki' to mill the wheat. It consisted of two stone disks, each about 20" in diameter, and 3" thick. The top disk sat on a spindle located on the bottom disk. The different length spindles were used to determine the coarseness of the output. Modern flour mills use rotating millstones and are often driven by electric motors. The millstones do not touch each other when in operation.

There is a gap between the static bedstone and rotating runnerstone which is determined by the size of the grain. Grain is fed from a chute into a hole, known as the eye, in the centre of the runnerstone. An intricate system of groves, known as furrows, distributes the grains across the millstone surface and also serves to ventilate and cool the millstones. The grinding surfaces of the millstones are known as lands and are divided into areas called harps. Once ground, the flour passes along narrow groves called cracking, and is expelled from the edge of the millstones.

2 Experimental Setup

Wheat grinding operation is carried on a wheat grinding machines. A motor provides the power to turn the runnerstone at a given rotational speed. The power and the rotation per minute of the motor are determined during the research. The wheat grinding operation is carried out by an operator. The anthropometric as well as personal data such as age, skill, years in operation etc., of the operators are determined and taken as input variables for the system. Similarly, environmental parameters are also taken as input variables. The machine parameters play a significant role in deciding the human energy expenditure and form part of the input variables.

A series of experiments were performed to study the effects of these variables on the human energy expenditure in the wheat grinding operation. These experiments were carried out to investigate the effects of various field input parameters mentioned above on the human energy expenditure in the operation i.e. total output during grinding wheat into flour. The output was measured and recorded using appropriate storage devices (personal computer) for further analysis.

3 Need to Formulate the Field Data Based Model

Data sets contain information, often much more than can be learned from just looking at plots of those data. Models based on observed input and output data (from real life situation) help us abstract and gain new information and understanding from these data sets. They can also serve as substitutes for more process-based models in applications where speed is critical or where the underlying relationships between different activities are poorly understood.

Thus, it is not possible to plan such activities on the lines of design of experimentation [1], especially for the dynamic system (which exists in wheat grinding process). When one is studying any completely physical phenomenon but the phenomenon is very complex, to the extent that it is not possible to formulate a logic based model correlating causes and effects of such a phenomenon, then one is required to go in for the field data based models [2]. In view of the dynamic nature of the context under investigation (which reveals complex phenomenon), it was decided to formulate a field data based model in the present investigation rather than using a theoretical approach.

4 Formulation of Field Data Based Model

4.1 Wheat Grinding Process as a System

The process during wheat grinding operation can be effectively explained with the Block Representation of wheat grinding phenomenon under study (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Block Representation of wheat grinding phenomenon

4.2 Identification of Independent, Dependent Variables

The term variables are used in a very general sense to apply to any physical quantity that undergoes change. If a physical quantity can be changed independent of the other quantities, then it is an independent variable. If a physical quantity changes in response to the variation of one or more number of independent variables, then it is termed as dependent or response variable. Initially the independent and dependent variables under study were identified. Tables 1 and 2 depict the independent and dependent variables along with the MLT indices and test envelops respectively [3].

S.	Туре	Variable Name	Symbol	MLT	Test
no				indices	envelop
1	C1	Wight of Wheat	Ww	$M^1L^0T^0$	2 constant
2	A1	Total Height	Th	$M^0L^1T^0$	149.86 to
					182.88
3	A2	Shoulder Height	Sh	$M^0L^1T^0$	127 to
					157.48
4	A3	Waits Height	Wh	$M^0L^1T^0$	73.66 to
					101.6
5	A4	Wrist Height	Wrh	$M^0L^1T^0$	60.96 to
					91.44

Table 1. List of identified independent (input) variables for wheat grinding process

(continued)

S.	Туре	Variable Name	Symbol	MLT	Test
no				indices	envelop
6	A5	Arm Span	As	$M^0L^1T^0$	161.84 to
					201.16
7	A6	Arm Reach	Ar	$M^0L^1T^0$	61.9 to
					87.12
8	A7	Elbow Height	Eh	$M^0L^1T^0$	95.91 to
				0.1.0	115.21
9	A8	Elbow Span	Es	M ⁰ L ¹ T ⁰	37.46 to
10	DI			1 6 0 m 1	47.29
10	PI	Experience of the Operator	Eo		5 to 30
11	P2	Age of the Operator	Ao	M ⁰ L ⁰ T ¹	22 to 56
12	P3	Body Mass Index – Prime (BMI)	BMI	M ⁰ L ⁰ T ⁰	14.4 to 32
13	E1	Ambient Temperature	At	M ⁰ L ⁰ T ⁰	35 to 41
14	E2	Illumination at Workplace	Iwi	M ⁰ L ⁰ T ⁰	247 to 410
15	E3	Illumination outside Workplace	Iwo	$M^{0}L^{0}T^{0}$	2400 to
				0.0.0	3400
16	E4	Noise Level at Work Place	No1	M ⁰ L ⁰ T ⁰	53 to 68
17	E5	Noise Level at Work Place (While	No2	$M^0L^0T^0$	86 to 98
		machine is working)			
18	W1	Hp of the Machine Motor	HP	$M^{1}L^{2}T^{-3}$	7.5 to 20
19	W2	Motor Speed	Ms	$M^0L^0T^{-1}$	960 to 1440
20	W3	No. of Phases	Р	M ⁰ L ⁰ T ⁰	3 constant
21	W4	Pulley Diameter Ratio	PDr	$M^0L^0T^0$	0.66 to 1
22	W5	Pulley RPM Ratio	PRr	$M^0L^0T^0$	0.66 to 1
23	W6	Distance Between pulleys	Dpp	$M^0L^1T^0$	70 to 72.5
24	W7	Hooper Height	Hh	$M^0L^1T^0$	150 to
					155.5
25	W8	Break Height	Bh	$M^0L^1T^0$	48 to 54.4
26	D1	Drum Diameter	Dd	$M^0L^1T^0$	40.64 to
					50.8
27	D2	Drum Width	Dw	$M^0L^1T^0$	7 to 8
28	GS1	Stone Hardness	Sh	M ⁰ L ⁰ T ⁰	8 constant
29	GS2	Stone Surface Roughness	Ra	$M^0L^1T^0$	0.00002 to
					0.00004
30	GS3	Stone Density	Sd	$M^{1}L^{-3}T^{0}$	2.21 to 2.90
31	GS4	Stone Weight1	Sw1	$M^{1}L^{0}T^{0}$	23 to 41.5
32	GS5	Stone Weight2	Sw2	$M^1L^0T^0$	20.7 to 35.2
33	S1	Shaft Diameter	Dsh	$M^0L^1T^0$	3.95 to 4.15
34	S2	Shaft Length	SI	$M^0L^1T^0$	80 to 81.5

 Table 1. (continued)

S.no	Type	Variable name	Symbol	MLT indices	Unit of measurement
1	Hr	Human Energy Expenditure	Hr	M0L0T0	Dimensionless

Table 2. List of identified independent (response) variables for wheat grinding process

4.3 Formation of Different Pi Terms Formulated by Buckingham's Pi Theorem

There are several quite simple ways in which a given test can be made compact in operating plan without loss in generality or control. The best known and the most powerful of these is dimensional analysis. In the past dimensional analysis was primarily used as an experimental tool whereby several experimental Variables could be combined to form one.

Using this principle modern experiments can substantially improve their working techniques and be made shorter requiring less time without loss of control. Deducing the dimensional equation for a phenomenon reduces the number of independent variables in the experiments. The exact mathematical form of this dimensional equation is the targeted model. This is achieved by applying Buckingham's π theorem [4].

Initially it was necessary to formulate relationships such as

$$\begin{aligned} Z1 &= f[(C1)(A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, A6, A7, A8), (E1, E2, E3, E4, E5), (W1, W2, \\ W3, W4, W5, W6, W7, W8), (D1, D2), (GS1, GS2, GS, GS4, GS5)(S1, S2)] \end{aligned} (1)$$

Where

- Product related variable (C1)
- Anthropometric Data of an operator (A1,A2,A3,A4,A5,A6,A7,A8)
- Environmental conditions (E1,E2,E3,E4, E5)
- Workplace Parameters (W1,W2,W3,W4,W5,W6,W7,W8)
- Grinding Drum Parameters (D1,D2)
- Grinding Stone Parameters (GS1,GS2,GS,GS4,GS5)
- Power transmission shaft parameters (S1,S2)

The pi terms are formulated by applying Buckingham's Pi theorem in order to combine the variables and facilitate further analysis.

Thirty four independent variables are grouped into seven independent pi terms and a separate pi term is formulated for dependent variable human energy expenditure as depicted in Table 3 below.

4.4 Approach for Formulation of Models Based on Observed Data

It is necessary to correlate quantitatively various independent and dependent terms involved in this phenomenon. This correlation is a mathematical model as a design tool for such situation. The Mathematical model for wheat grinding operation is as given below.

S.	Independent	Independent dimensionless ratio			Nature of basic	
no	dimensionless ratio				physical quantities	
1	π ₁	$\pi_1 = (Th)(Sh)(Wh)(Wrh)/(As)(Ar)$			Anthropometry	
		(Eh)	(Es)		related Pie Term	
2	π ₂		(Eo)(BMI)/Ao	Personal Factors of		
					operator	
3	π ₃		(At) (No1)/(Iwi) (No2)	Environmental		
					Conditions	
4	π ₄		(Dpp ²)(Hh ²)(Bh ²).(Ww ³)(M	Power Generation		
	(p) ^s (PDr)(PRr)/HP ³		Parameters			
5	π ₅		Dd/Dw	Drum Related		
					Parameters	
6	π ₆	$\pi_6 = (\text{sh}) (\text{Ra}^6)(\text{Sd}^2)/(\text{Sw1})(\text{Sw2})$			Stone Related	
7	π ₇	$\pi_7 = \text{Dsh/Sl}$			Shaft Related	
S.	Dependent		Dependent		Nature of Basic Physical	
no	Dimensionless Ratio		Dimensionless Ratio		Quantities	
1	π ₈		$\pi_8 = Hr$	Human Energy Expendit		

Table 3. List of different dimensional Pi terms formulated by Buckingham's Pi theorem

Formulation of Models Based on Observed Data. Seven independent pi terms (π 1, π 2, π 3, π 4, π 5, π 6 and π 7) and one dependent pi term (π 8) were decided during experimentation and hence are available for the model formulation. Each dependent π term is the function of the available independent terms

$$\pi 8 = f(\pi 1, \pi 2, \pi 3, \pi 4, \pi 5, \pi 6, \pi 7)$$
⁽²⁾

A probable exact mathematical form for the dimensional equations of the phenomenon could be relationships assumed to be of exponential form [5]. For example, the model representing the behavior of dependent pi term $\pi 8$ with respect to various independent pi terms can be obtained as under.

$$\pi 8 = a0 \pi 1 a1 * \pi 2 a2 * \pi 3 a3 * \pi 4 a4 * \pi 5 a5 * \pi 6 a6 * \pi 7 a7$$
(3)

There are eight unknown terms in the Eq. (3) i.e. constant of proportionality a0 & indices a1, a2, a3, a4, a5, a6, a7.

The values of exponent a1, a2, a3, a4, a5, a6, a7 are established independently at a time, on the basis of data collected through classical experimentation. There are eight unknown terms in the Eq. (3), curve fitting constant a0 and indices a1, a2, a3, a4, a5, a6, a7. To get the values of these unknowns we need minimum a set of seven set of all unknown dimensionless pi terms.

$$Z = A + bX + CY.$$
⁽⁴⁾

The Eq. 3 can be brought in the form of Eq. (4) by taking log on both sides.
$$LOG \pi 8 = LOG a0 + a1 LOG \pi 1 + a2LOG \pi 2 + a3 LOG \pi 3 + a4 LOG \pi 4 + a5 LOG \pi 5 + a6 LOG \pi 6 + a7 LOG \pi 7$$
(5)

After solving using MATLAB, the mathematical model formulated is

$$\pi 8 = 0.1282 \pi 10.7394 * \pi 20.0245 * \pi 3 - 0.1778 * \pi 40.0765 * \pi 50.0422 * \pi 6 - 0.0696 * \pi 71.4237$$
(6)

Formulation of Models Based on Combination of Observed Data. Two more independent pi terms (πa , πb) were formed and already formed one dependent pi term ($\pi 8$) were decided during experimentation and hence are available for the model formulation.

 π a is formed by the product of the positive independent π as specified in Eq. (6).

$$\pi a = (\pi 1 * \pi 2 * \pi 4 * \pi 5 * \pi 7) \tag{7}$$

 πb is formed by the product of the negative independent π as specified in Eq. (6)

$$\pi \mathbf{b} = (\pi 3 * \pi 6) \tag{8}$$

Each dependent π term is the function of the available independent terms

$$\pi 8 = f(\pi a, \pi b) \tag{9}$$

A probable exact mathematical form for the dimensional equations of the phenomenon could be relationships assumed to be of exponential form. For example, the model representing the behavior of dependent pi term $\pi 8$ with respect to various independent pi terms can be obtained as under.

$$\pi 8 = a0\pi aa1 * \pi ba2 \tag{10}$$

Therefore two unknown terms in the Eq. 10 i.e. constant of proportionality a0 & indices a1, a2.

The values of exponent are a1 and a2 are established independently at a time, on the basis of data collected through classical experimentation. There are three unknown terms in the Eq. (10) curve fitting constant a0 and indices a1 and a2. To get the values of these unknowns we need minimum a set of three set of all unknown dimensionless pi terms.

After solving using MATLAB, the mathematical model formulated is as indicated herein

$$\pi 8 = 0.3395 \,\pi a \, 0.0087 * \pi b - 0.0187 \tag{11}$$

5 Graphical Analysis of Combination of Observed Data for Individual Mathematical Model for Dependent Pi Term Hr

To obtain 2-D graph, dependent pi term $\pi 8$ is plotted on Y axis, where as the product of all independent pi terms is plotted on the X axis (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. 2-D plot of product of all independent pi terms Vs dependent Pi term $\pi 8$

It can be observed from the plot that as the product of the independent pi terms increases, the Human Energy Expenditure Hr, as tends to gradually increase. 5 peaks observed, needs involvement of 10 mechanisms.

To obtain 2-D graph, dependent pi term $\pi 8$ is plotted on Y axis, where as the product of all positive independent pi terms is plotted on the X axis (Fig. 3).

It can be observed from the plot that as the product of the independent positive pi terms increases, the Human Energy Expenditure Hr, as tends to gradually increase. 5 peaks observed, needs involvement of 10 mechanisms.

To obtain 2-D graph, dependent pi term $\pi 8$ is plotted on Y axis, where as the product of all negative independent pi terms is plotted on the X axis (Fig. 4).

It can be observed from the plot that as the product of the independent negative pi terms increases, the Human Energy Expenditure Hr, as tends to gradually decrease. 8 peaks observed, needs involvement of 16 mechanisms.



Fig. 3. 2-D plot of product of all independent positive pi terms Vs dependent Pi term $\pi 8$



Fig. 4. 2-D plot of product of all independent negative pi terms Vs dependent Pi term $\pi 8$

6 Model Sensitivity Analysis

The influence of the various independent π terms has been studied by analyzing the indices of the various π terms in the models. Through the technique of sensitivity analysis, the change in the value of a dependent π term caused due to an introduced change in the value of individual π term is evaluated. In this case, change of $\pm 10\%$ is introduced in the individual independent π term independently (one at a time). Thus, total range of the introduced change is $\pm 20\%$. The effect of this introduced change on the change in the value of the dependent π term is evaluated. The average values of the change in the dependent π term due to the introduced change of $\pm 10\%$ in each independent π term. This defines sensitivity [5]. The total % change in output for $\pm 10\%$ change in input is shown in Table 4.

The graphical distribution of the sensitivity analysis of the formulated model with respect to different pi terms is shown in Fig. 5.

Pi terms	% change	Pi terms	% change	Pi terms	% change	Pi terms	% change
π1	0.148	π3	-0.036	π5	0.008	π7	0.285
π2	0.005	π4	0.015	π6	-0.014		

Table 4. Sensitivity analysis of the formulated model



Fig. 5. Graph of sensitivity analysis of the formulated model for human energy expenditure

7 Model Optimization for the Human Energy Expenditure

The ultimate objective of this work is not merely developing the models but to find out best set of independent variables which will result in minimization of the objective functions. In this case, there is one objective functions corresponding to human energy expenditure in grinding process. The objective function for the human energy expenditure in wheat grinding process needs to be maximized. The models have non-linear form; hence, it is to be converted into a linear form for optimization purpose. This can be achieved by taking the log of both the sides of the model. The linear programming technique as detailed below is applicable for wheat grinding operation.

Taking log of both the sides of the Eq. 4, we get the objective function

$$Zmin = LOG(0.1282) + 0.7394LOG(\pi 1) + 0.0245 LOG(\pi 2) - 0.1778 LOG(\pi 3) + 0.0765LOG(\pi 4) + 0.0422LOG(\pi 5) - 0.0696LOG(\pi 6) + 1.4237 LOG(\pi 7) (12)$$

Subject to the following constraints

- $1X1 + 0X2 + 0X3 + 0X4 + 0X5 + 0X6 + 0X7 \le LOG (Max \pi 1)$
- $1X1 + 0X2 + 0X3 + 0X4 + 0X5 + 0X6 + 0X7 >= LOG (Min \pi 1) \dots$ and so on up to

$$0X1 + 0X2 + 0X3 + 0X4 + OX5 + OX6 + 1X7 < = LOG (Max \pi7)$$

$$0X1 + 0X2 + 0X3 + 0X4 + OX5 + OX6 + 1X7 > = LOG (Min \pi7)$$
(13)

On solving the above problem by using MS solver we get values of X1, X2, X3, X4, X5, X6, X7 and Z.

Thus $\pi 8 \text{ min} = \text{Antilog of Z}$ and corresponding to this value of the $\pi 8 \text{ min}$ the values of the independent π terms are obtained by taking the antilog of X1, X2, X3, X4, X5, X6, X7 and Z.

The optimized values are tabulated in Table 5.

Pi terms	Log values	Anti Log values	Pi terms	Log values	Anti Log values
Ζ	0.738	5.47	π ₄	7.823	6652731
π_1	0.302	2.0045	π ₅	0.705	5.07
π_2	0.455	2.851	π ₆	-27.403	3.95E-28
π ₃	0.926	8.43	π ₇	-1.311	0.0489

Table 5. Optimized values of response variables for human energy expenditure

On substituting the values of $\pi 1$ to $\pi 7$ in equation 8.17, Zmin = 0.59.

Thus, conclusion can be drawn that on reaching the optimized values of $\pi 1$ to $\pi 7$, one can minimize the value of response variable Human Energy Expenditure to 0.59 (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6. Actual observed and mathematical model predicted values for dependent variable productivity reliability = 100 - percentage mean error

8 Validation of the Formulated Generalized Field Data Based Model

The validity of the formulated model can be checked by comparing the actual experimental value of the pi term related with human energy expenditure and its values obtain from the formulated mathematical model (Table 6).

Mean Error (Hr) =
$$\sum (xi * fi) / \sum (fi) = 0.32\%$$
 (14)

S.	Actual	Model	% error	S.	Actual	Model	% error	S.	Actual	Model	% error
no	Hr	Predicted Hr		no	Hr	Predicted Hr		no	Hr	predicted Hr	
1	1.36	1.41	-3.83%	7	1.22	1.33	-9.12%	13	1.32	1.36	-3.23%
2	1.23	1.16	6.15%	8	1.34	1.60	-18.8%	14	1.33	1.40	-5.07%
3	1.36	1.24	9.18%	9	1.36	1.55	-14.0%	15	1.28	1.25	2.08%
4	1.31	1.45	-10.3%	10	1.30	1.11	14.51%	16	1.43	1.44	-0.39%
5	1.53	1.38	10.20%	11	1.22	1.39	-13.5%	17	1.22	1.35	-10.2%
6	1.64	1.42	13.73%	12	1.23	1.37	-11.3%	18	1.33	1.18	11.85%
								19	1.45	1.25	13.37%

 Table 6. Actual observed and mathematical model predicted values for dependent variable productivity

Reliability =
$$100 - \sum (xi * fi) / \sum (fi) = 99.67\%$$
 (15)

9 Interpretation and Discussion

9.1 Mathematical Model for Human Energy Expenditure

Referring to Eq. 6, it is observed that the absolute index of al of $\pi 1$ term is the highest viz. 0.7394. The pi term $\pi 1$ is related to the anthropometric data of the operators.

This indicates the highest influence of the pi term $\pi 1$ on the human energy expenditure. Since index a1, is positive, the relationship between human energy expenditure and $\pi 1$ is direct, meaning that if value of $\pi 1$ increases, the human energy expenditure shall increase. The $\pi 1$ term has total height, shoulder height, waist height and wrist height (all height related parameters) and arm span, arm reach, elbow span and height in the denominator, a very high positive index of $\pi 1$ indicates that as the ratio between the height related parameters and the horizontal reach, related parameters increases, the human energy expenditure increase.

Referring to Eq. 6 it is observed that the absolute index of a3 of π 3 term is the high viz. 0.0245. This indicates the highest influence of the pi term π 3 on the human energy expenditure. Since index a3, is positive, the relationship between Human energy expenditure π 3 is direct, meaning that if value of π 3 increases, the human energy expenditure shall increase which is undesirable. This pi term is related to the environmental conditions in the workshop. π 3 majorly has ambient temperature in the workshop increases, the human energy expenditure also increases. In order to reduce the human energy expenditure, the temperature in the work shop may be reduced.

9.2 Interpretation for Curve Fitting Constant

The magnitude of the curve fitting constant for the mathematical model as depicted in Eq. 6 for Human energy expenditure is 0.1282. This value represents collectively the influence of various extraneous variables that affect the human energy expenditure but

are not part of the study. Such extraneous factors in this case are related to factors such as vibration in the machine, condition of the machine components, hours of continuous operation by the operator, his psychological condition and power fluctuations etc.

9.3 Formulation of Models Based on Combination of Observed Data for Dependent Pi Term Human Energy Expenditure

With reference to Eq. 11 one understands that the indexes a1 and a2 of πa formed by the product of all positive pi terms and πb formed by the product of all the negative pi terms are 0.0087 and -0.0187 respectively. It may be safely concluded that the positive pi terms put together have a significant and positive impact on the response variable human energy expenditure. In order to reduce the human energy expenditure, the parameters in $\pi 1$, $\pi 2$, $\pi 4$, $\pi 5$, $\pi 7$ should be decreased whereas parameters in $\pi 3$, $\pi 6$ should be increased.

9.4 Reliability of the Model

From the values of percentage error, one can infer that the mathematical models can be successfully used for the computation of the values of dependent pi terms and sub-sequently that of the response variables.

References

- 1. Bapat, R., Modak, J.P.: Formulation of generalized experimental model for a manually driven fly-wheel motor and its optimization. Appl. Ergon. UK **25**(2), 119–122 (1994)
- Phate, M.R., Tatwawadi, V.H., Modak, J.P.: Formulation of a generalized field data based model for the surface roughness of aluminum 6063 in dry turning operation. N. Y. Sci. J. 5(7), 41–42 (2012)
- 3. Brewer, R.C., Rueda, R.: A simplified approach to the optimum selection of machining parameters. Eng Dig. **24**(9), 133–150 (1963)
- 4. Buckingham, E.: On physically similar systems: illustrations of the use of dimensional equations, E. Phys. Rev. 4, 345–249 (1914)
- Tatwawadi, V.H., Modak, J.P., Chibule, S.G.: Mathematical modeling and simulation of working of an enterprise manufacturing electric motor. Int. J. Ind. Eng. 17(4), 35–41 (2010)

Posture Analysis of Face Drilling Operation in Underground Mines in India: A Case Study

Rahul Mondal^{(\boxtimes)} and Pradip Kumar Ray

Indian Institute of Technology Kharagpur, Kharagpur 721302, India rahul.gcettbl3@gmail.com, pkr@vgsom.iitkgp.ernet.in

Abstract. The face drilling operation is manual in nature in the majority of the underground mines in India. Because of the existence of extreme working environment, use of heavy power drills by a group of operators, and uneven and slippery surface in a confined workspace, the operators have to assume awkward work postures at different heights of the mining face. A number of ergonomic problems, such as different kinds of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs), low back pain (LBP) and vibration-induced diseases are reported among these operators, and hence, a biomechanical evaluation of such jobs has become a necessity. In this paper, the details of biomechanical modelling and analysis of different kinds of work postures related to this job are presented. A number of preventive and remedial measures for determining the appropriate values of the parameters for better design for such a job are proposed.

Keywords: Biomechanical evaluation \cdot Face drilling \cdot MSDs \cdot Ergonomic design \cdot Preventive measures

1 Introduction

It was not too long that people loaded ore and coal by hand and basket, although many jobs still require high levels of physical labour, mechanization has greatly reduced the physical demands placed on mine worker. Today mines are safer than at any period in the past and safety is now an important part of mine management coupled with the concern for productivity and the resultant economic viability of the mining operation. Over the last quarter century technology has done much to increase productivity and safety in mining industry. Now more attention to be paid to how people and technology would work together. How could equipment and task be designed to match the capabilities and limitation of the people who had to operate and maintain them. This is one of the question addressed by human factors. The purpose of this study is to investigate the utility of human factor for the design of equipment, tasks, procedure and environments with in the mining industry.

Human factors is the systematic application of relevant information about human characteristics, abilities, expectations, and behaviours to the design of machine tools, facilities, procedures, and environments that people use. The goal of human factors is to enhance the operational efficiency, and the health and safety of the people using the system. Human factors has wide applications in mining. The literature review revealed that it has been extensively used in other countries to increase safety and productivity.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_46 However, its application in Indian mining industry is very limited. in this thesis, an in-depth investigation of human factors on drilling operation in a drive and raise face has been carried out, as drilling operation is one of the elementary and most human factors concern mining operation. It is very important to go through literatures before conducting any study.

Ayoub et al. (1980) have been conducted a study on manual material handling activities. They develop different load handling capacities of individual and group [1]. Their basic approach based on three factor psychophysical, physiological and biomechanical. Kroemer (1983) has conducted a study over an isoinertial technique to assess individual lifting capacity [2]. Chaffin et al. carried out study on volitional postures during maximum pull/push exertion in sagittal plane [3].

The basic model of human factors of drilling operation is as follows. Here 5 drilling crew (in case of drive face) and 3 drilling crew (in case of raise) are involved in operating 2 jack hammers and I jack hammers respectively. Drilling the hole alters the environment. It puts a hole where noise and dust are generated. These various aspects of the environment affect the worker by reducing visibility creating new hazards or perhaps causing a temporary or partial loss of hearing. It is very apparent that these various job stressors that is various environmental stressors like heat, humidity, dust, noise and other stressors like physical demands, postural demands make the job uncomfortable. But one should be very precise on how can the job can be designed with in physical limits of workers by reducing of fatigue Impact in productivity.

2 Objective

The objective of the study is to conduct a symmetric investigation of drilling operation in a metal mine to improve physical comfort in jobs of the workers. The basic aim to analyse design drilling job by studying following

- 1. Anthropometry of the drillers
- 2. Postural analysis of drilling crew while working.

3 Development of Methodology

The study has been conducted in one of the copper mines, mine located in the district of Bihar. The study has focused at drive and raise faces on some of the human factors aspects, namely anthropometry, postures study and energy expenditure to improve worker's efficiency. For that some experimental and analytical procedures on each of the aspects have been developed.

3.1 Anthropometry

Anthropometry deals with the measurement of the dimensions and certain other physical characteristics of the body, such measurements are relevant to the design of the things people use. Body measurements vary as a function of age, sex and different ethnic populations. In connection with age, stature and related dimension generally increase until the late teens or early twenties, remain relatively constant throughout early adulthood, and decline from early to middle adulthood into old age. These anthropometric data have application in the design of facilities and things people use. However, the design of many work situations should take into account the interaction of body members and thus should be based in part on functional data. In the use of anthropometric data for designing the data should be reasonably representative of the population that would use the item. The design should be such that it can accommodate abroad spectrum of people.

In this study, design aspects of drilling machine or the dimension of the workspace are not considered. Here more stress are given on the selection of workers who can be accommodate for particular situations. The workers should be chosen so that they can conveniently reach the work surface height. Other application of this anthropometry is in postural analysis. As the body dimension of person determines the posture of that person for a particular working situation. This anthropometry data, which is shown in Table 1, is a very useful tools for posture analysis. For measuring the anthropometry the 5 drilling crews have been chosen. Their anthropometry data have been taken by using the anthropometer. The anthropometer consists of different instrument like stature gauge, beam calipers (straight legs and bowed legs), slide calipers, outside calipers, scale, tape measure, disinfectant cotton case.

Body dimension	Minimum	Maximum	Average
Height	155	166	160.8
Sitting height normal	78	87	82.7
Sitting height erect	83	90	86
Elbow to elbow breadth	39	51	44.2
Seat breadth	35	42	38.4
Knee height	52	57	53.7
Popliteal height	50	44	46.1
Thigh clearance height	5.1	7.3	5.7
Buttock knee length	42	57	50.6
Buttock popliteal height	49	41	45.4
Elbow rest height	22	30	26.3
Fore arm length	43	46	44.5
Arm length	28	31	31
Shoulder head length	25	27	25.5

Table 1. Anthropometry data table of Miners

3.2 Postural Analysis

Posture-related musculoskeletal disorders are common occupational problems. These are particularly prevalent in heavy demanding work situation like mining operations. Proper ergonomic design allows workers to maintain correct postures and hence, increases perceived comfort while reducing postural complaints. Worker's performance

is improved after postural problems have been corrected. It is very difficult to assess the appropriateness of certain body postures as there is no clear idea exists by which the appropriateness, acceptability, healthfulness, comfort of various postures can be judged. The two main criteria on which the appropriate posture can be determined are as follows.

4 Biomechanics of Musculoskeletal System

4.1 Mechanics of Musculoskeletal System

Biomechanics is the science that, among other things, considers the actions of the human body in bringing about controlled movements and applying forces, torques, energy, and power to external objects. The basic principle of lifting involves the physics of levers. When a load is held in the hands, the load as well as the person's mass creates rotational movements or torques at the various joints of the body. The skeletal muscles are positioned to exert forces at tie these joints to counteract the movements due to the load and body weight. The problem is that the muscles are positioned so that they act through relatively small moment arms. For the arm to maintain its position, the biceps muscle must exert a force sufficient to overcome the weight of the load and the weight of the forearm and hand. The spine is made up of a series of bony vertebras stacked up with flexible fibrous pads, called disks, between divided into five sections, and the vertebras in each section are numbered. Most back injuries occur in the lower lumbar spine, land the L5/S1 disk (sacrovertebral joint). Biomechanical models have shown that during the lifting of a weight, the bending moment at the L5/S1 joint can become quite large due, in part to the weight of the upper body. To counteract this moment, the muscles of the lower back region must exert large forces because they operate on very small moment arms (approximately 2 in.). The large forces generated by the lower hack muscles are the primary sources of compression forces on the L5/S1 disk. The only force that acts to diminish the compression forces of the spine is intra-abdominal pressure the amount of compressive force that the vertebras can tolerate before experiencing micro fractures is a function of, among other things, age, sex, and prior compressive stresses experienced. There is, however, considerable individual differences in compression tolerance within any age group. According to NIOSH (27), the following is the current view on the genesis of a ruptured disk. Repeated compressive stresses, especially from lifting, are sufficient to cause micro fractures in the cartilage end plates and subchondral bone of the vertebras, which it is believed alters the metabolism and fluid transfer to the disk. If this occurs, the begins to degenerate, and its capacity to withstand further compression loads decreases. The result is that the disk squeezes out from between the vertebras and presses on the spinal nerve root. This is commonly called a slipped or ruptured disk. In fact, most low-back injuries do not suddenly start with a jabbing pain, although such cases are easily remembered. Most often, the symptoms are slow to develop, with stiffness, dull aching pain, and finally incapacitating discomfort that can occur hours or days later. The most important rule is to bring the Corse (really the L5/S1) as close as possible to the centre of gravity of the load. The closer the L5/S1 joint is to the load the shorter the moment arm and the lesser the force applied to the back. A second and subordinate principle, is that the back should be kept straight and vertical during a lift. In that posture, the compressive forces on the spine are more or less evenly distributed over the load-bearing surface of the vertebras. When the trunk is allowed to bend forward, the forces are concentrated on the front edges of the vertebras and tend to squeeze the disk toward the rear of the vertebral column. It is obvious from the above discussion that the posture study at worksite should be conducted and the analysis of those postures would be done by measuring the energy expenditure and by studying the biomechanics of the person.

For observing those postures, posture study form has been developed which has been shown in Table 2.

NAME	1	2	3	4	5	6
NAME 1	XYZ					
NAME 2						
NAME 3						
NAME 4						
NAME 5						

Table 2. Postural study form

In posture study form, the followings are portrayed

- 1. Observation at Here the name of the mine where the study has been conducted is noted.
- 2. Section the name of the particular section of the mine where the observations have been taken is given.
- 3. Date The particular date at which the postures have been taken.
- 4. Name Name of the drillers whose postural observations have been taken.
- 5. Time The particular time when a postures is noted.
- 6. Position of the hole -The position of the hole from the floor which is marked as 01–07 for the drive and 01–05 for the raise and the respective height from the floor of the code have been shown accordingly.
- 7. Location-This indicates the location of the drillers at the face. If, left side of the face then A, else if right side of the face then B.
- 8. Type of posture The variety of postures is numbered as 1, 2, 3 and so on. For example, the postural observation is coded as xyz. Here x indicates position of the hole from the floor. y indicates the location of the drillers. z indicates the number of the postures. The appropriateness of the posture can be judge studying the biomechanics of the person. For analysis, a standard procedure has been developed which has been discussed below.

A posture of having maximum occurrence has been chosen from various posture taken by a person drilling at a particular height. If there is on repeated postures then a posture is arbitrarily chosen for comparative analysis. The postures are compared with each other and given a relative ranking based on the following factors. **Difference of Erect Height with Respect to Hole Position Height.** As it is apparent that if the difference between the erect height and the hole position height increases then the stress on person doing the work will also increase. Here, the maximum height of the drilling from the floor is 2.2 m and the minimum erect height among the drilling crew is 1.3 m, and thus resulting a maximum difference of 0.9 m. Based on this difference a suitable scale (shown in Fig. 1(a)) is constructed and divided into 10 equal parts and ranks are assigned to them



Fig. 1. Division of scale of different parameters like erect height, stress on muscle, stress on knee joint, stress on spinal chord

Stress on Muscle. Stress on hand muscles increases when the hand moves apart horn the body. Maximum possible angle between the hand and the body is 180. According to that a suitable scale is constructed and the relative ranking rate is given in the Fig. 1(b).

Stress on Knee Joint. The stress on knee joint due to change of thigh angle, change of lower leg angle.

Change of Thigh Angle. It is obvious that if the thigh is deviated from its vertical position then the stress on knee joint increases. Tile stress on knee joint maximum when the thigh making an angle 90 to it's vertical position. The stress again decreases if

angle exceeds 90 and stress becomes minimum when the angle is 180. For that we have made a scale starting from zero to 180 and divided it into 20 equal parts. The rank increases as the angle increases, reaches a maximum at 90 thereby reduces and becomes minimum at an angle 180. For that a suitable scale also developed which is shown in Fig. 1(c).

Change of Lower Leg Angle. The stress on knee joint increases as the lower leg deviates from it's original vertical position. According to our field observations, the maximum deviation of the lower leg angle from it's vertical position is approximately 30. According to that a scale is developed which is shown in Fig. 1(c).

Stress on Spinal Chord. The stress on spinal chord is more if the - bending of vertebral column is more. The angle between the thigh and the vertebrae is assumed as a reference for measuring the stress on spinal chord. When the reference angle is more, the stress is minimum and the stress is maximum when the angle becomes zero. According to that a scale is constructed which is shown in Fig. 1(d).

The total sum of the scores gives an estimated figure of a relative stress on a person doing work with a particular posture.

5 Analysis

For this study, postural observation has been noted for the miners drilling at various heights. For analysis posture have been chosen by following rules which have been discussed in previous methodology part. A posture analysis of drive is given in appendix. From the general observations of the postures based on human factors principles, the following points can be derived, (1) It is seen that the persons having good erect height face less difficulties at the upper holes than the persons having shorter erect height. (2) The persons of shorter height are taking better postures than the taller persons at the lower holes (3) sometimes the persons are taking awkward postures wrongly although they can do the same work with better postures. (4) Sometimes they are forced to take the awkward postures as (a) the work space is not sufficient. (b) The working face is watery. (c) There is mismatching of proper combination of drillers.

From the observational study, it is very difficult to assess the superiority of one posture over the other for drilling a whole particular height. Hence, as discussed previously a ranking procedure has been developed for postural analysis. The overall rankings of those postures of different drillers, drilling at different heights have been shown in Table 3. It is clear that higher the rank means the greater discomfort of posture. For example, at the drilling height of 2.2 m from the floor, the total ranking of Miner 1, Miner 2, Miner 3, Miner 4 and Miner 5 are 18, 17, 17, 15, 15. It can be said that for 2.2 m height Miner 5 and Miner 4s posture is best and Miner 1's posture is the worst at that height. Similarly, at the heights the best and worst postures can be found out from the rankings.

Drilling Height	Over all ranking						
	Miner 1	Miner 2	Miner 3	Miner 4	Miner 5		
2.2	18	17	17	15	15		
1.8	12	11	11	9	12		
1.5	7	15	14	9	2		
1.1	9	9	3	0	0		
0.7	2	2	6	5	6		
0.4	25	20	26	27	16		
At floor	19	15	15	15	15		

Table 3. Overall ranking based on posture

6 Biomechanical Analysis

Here a free body diagram of a posture is drawn shown in Fig. 2. From this diagram we can write the equilibrium equations. F = compressive force on spine



Fig. 2. Free body diagram of a posture B = body weight, W = drill machine weight b = distance between body CG and L5/S1, w = distance between drill and L5/S1, $\theta = bending$ angle, a = distance of electro spine force to compressive force

 $\begin{aligned} & \text{Moment around } L5/S1 : ES * a = B * b + W * w \\ & \text{Forces in spine direction: } F - ES - B \cos \theta - W \cos \theta = 0 \end{aligned} \tag{1} \\ & \text{Force perpendicular to spine: } S - B \sin \theta - W \sin \theta = 0 \end{aligned}$

From this equation, we can say when the distance between L5/S1 and body weight point or drill distance increase compressive force will be increased exponentially. Because of this force many MSDs and LBPs can be occurred.

From the analysis following points can be derived:

(1) The maximum difficulties are faced when drilling at 0.4 m from the floor.
 (2) The postures are much better when drilling at 1.5 to 1.1 m holes than the others.
 (3) At upper holes the maximum stress occurs on the biceps muscles. (4) At the lower holes the maximum stress occurs on the thigh, knee joint and spinal chord causing back pain.

7 Conclusion

Conclusions are derived from this case study are given below:

From Anthropometry study (i) it is seen that that the average erect height of driller is 160.80 m. It may be possibly average height of the worker is somewhat short to drill upper holes. (ii) The arm length and fore arm length of drillers is quite short.

(2) postural and biomechanical analysis - (i) It is seen horn the observation of postures that the persons having good erect height drill the hole with comfortable postures than the shorter persons for the upper holes (ii) The maximum difficulties are faced when drilling at 0.4 m from the floor (iii) The postures are much better when drilling at 1.5 to 1 l m holes than the others. (iv) To drill the lower holes the maximum stress occurs on the thigh, knee joint and spinal chord causing back pain. (v) Sometimes the persons are taking awkward postures wrongly although they can do the same work with postures. (vi) Sometimes they are forced to take the awkward postures as (a) the work space is not sufficient. (b) The working face is watery. (c) There is mismatching of proper combination of drillers.

From the above study, the followings can be suggested. (i) Select the proper drilling crew having both shorter and taller persons so that for the upper holes the taller persons and for the lower holes shorter persons can be employed. (ii) In general, the anthropometry study reveals that the workers were not taking comfortable postures for drilling the extremely upper holes. Increased floor height can possibly alleviate this problem. (ii) Maintain proper sequence of drilling operation so that both the machine do not come close together at a time. (iv) For a particular drilling height some awkward postures taken by the workers should be possibly eliminated. (v) Postures should be taken in such a way so that there is less bending of vertebrae and keep the body as straight as possible keeping the body as near as possible to the drill machine.

Scope of Future Work. Extensive study would be done on anthropometry postural biomechanical analysis of some posture. In this study the other human factor aspects especially environmental effects was not conducted. Also details analysis of force biomechanically can be done. That can be done in future.

Appendix: Posture Analysis of Drive



References

- 1. Grag, A., Ayoub, M.M.: What criteria exist for determining how much load can be lifted safely? Hum. Factors **22**(4), 475–486 (1980)
- 2. Koremer, K.H.E.: An isoinertial technique to assess individual lifting capacity factor. Hum. Factors **25**(5), 493–506 (1983)
- 3. Chafffin, D.B., Andres, R.O., Garg, A.: Volitional postures during maximal push/pull exertions in sagittal plane. Hum. Factors **25**(5), 541–550 (1983)

Heart Rate Based Evaluation of Operator Fatigue and Its Effect on Performance During Pipeline Work

Yanbin Wu^(K), Takashi Miwa, and Makoto Uchida

Graduate School of Maritime Sciences, Kobe University, Kobe, Japan 128w201w@stu.kobe-u.ac.jp, {Miwa,Uchida}@maritime.kobe-u.ac.jp

Abstract. Human fatigue caused by either physical exertion or mental strain is one of the most significant factors that constrain operator's functional capability to fulfill specific tasks. To ensure working performance and to improve occupational health, this paper aims to develop a quantitative method to evaluate operator fatigue during conducting pipeline works. A Japanese version of Borg's Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale and heart inter-beat intervals (RR interval) are measured in an experiment study. Hurst exponent (HE) is extracted from detrended fluctuation analysis (DFA) to define the fractal structures of RR interval time series. Results show that HE during working condition is significantly higher than during rest condition.

Keywords: Human fatigue \cdot Heart rate variability \cdot Detrended fluctuation analysis \cdot Pipeline work

1 Introduction

Fatigue has been identified as one of the most significant factors that lead to accidents in a wide range of industries. Just like many other conceptual constructs of human factor, fatigue is rarely well defined since its complexity in practical situation: it is caused by many factors and linked to a series of degradation of human capability. It generally falls into two categories: mental and physical fatigue according to the definition given by the International Maritime Organization as quoted "A reduction in physical and/or mental capability as the result of physical, mental or emotional exertion which may impair nearly all physical abilities including: strength; speed; reaction time; coordination; decision making; or balance" [1]. Furthermore, operators always have to utilize both physical exertion and mental attention in conducting many real-world tasks, such as connecting and tightening flanges of pipes, whose perfect sealability is crucial for the safety of entire power-plant. Generally, operator's competence to fulfill specific tasks degrades along with the accumulation of physical and mental fatigue. Early detection and avoidance of operator's fatigue and the followed performance degradation thus would be helpful for the improvement of safety as well as the operator's comfort.

The Borg's Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) is one subjective method to measure individual's perception of exertion during physical work or exercise [2]. RPE provides a way to measure the intensity of physical exertion and has been found positively correlated with the increase of heart rate (HR) [3]. However, the accumulation of fatigue and

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_47

exhaustion would also happen even when workload decreases or HR keeps constant. HR dynamics is a complex interacted process that reflects instantaneous changes of body position, physical movement, and mental state. It is therefore inaccurate to simply use the value of HR as an objective measure of physical fatigue. In addition to absolute HR value, features that extract from time/frequency/nonlinear based methods of heart rate variability (HRV) have been developed for clinical diagnosis and athletic exercise [4, 5]. Based on detrended fluctuation analysis (DFA), Chen et al. [6, 7] studied the fractal properties and developed a cardiac stress index (CSI) to measure subject's cardiac stress status during cycling exercise in a relatively short term. Nevertheless, seldom research attention has been paid to the operator's short-term fatigue in actual or quasi-actual working situation.

This paper aims to study the accumulation of fatigue and its effect on working accuracy during pipeline work. Section 2 elaborates the methods and materials, including the preprocessing of original RR interval series, methods of DFA, and experiment settings. Section 3 presents and discusses results of the experimental study. Finally, conclusions are drawn in Sect. 4.

2 Methods and Materials

2.1 Experiment Settings

Eleven male university students (age 26 ± 2.8) voluntarily participated in the experiment study, which was approved and conducted complying the Kobe University Guidance of Research on Human Subject. All experiments were conducted between 1–4 o'clock p.m. Caffeine intake and strenuous exercise were prohibited in the day of experiment. Before the participants signed the consent form, experiment purpose, its outline and their rights were explained. The experiments were arranged in the following temporal order: Instruction and preparation (wear heart rate sensor), practice, two-minute rest, formal experiment, and two-minute recovery baseline. The recovery baseline condition was measured three minutes after formal experiment. Heart rate monitoring started before the two-minute rest.

Figure 1 shows the experiment apparatus, each flange that connected pipes consisted of four bolts. The bolts must be tightened evenly and moderately to ensure sealability. In the practice session, the participants used a torque-measuring wrench to get used to torque of 20 Nm. During formal experiment, the participants were instructed to continuously tighten each of the bolt diagonally and as evenly as possible by using traditional wrench. The torque variance of four bolts of each flange is used as a measure of work performance. Participants reported subjective degree of fatigue in a number that corresponded to Borg's RPE scale for every two flanges. The experiment ended as long as the participant reported RPE scale as 20 (exhausted) or finished tightening all 26 flanges.



Fig. 1. Sketch of experiment apparatus, flanges and bolts.

2.2 Heart Rate Monitoring and Signal Preprocessing

A chest strap heart rate sensor RS800CX (Polar Electronics) was used to continuously measure the heart rate of each participant. RR interval series in unit of milliseconds were extracted and analyzed post-experiment. In practical environment, RR interval series are always contaminated by artifacts that caused by poor skin-electrodes contact, body motions, and/or sweating. The necessity of preprocessing RR interval series has been widely agreed since even one single ectopic RR interval data can have a serious impact on the interpretation of the results, especially for short-term analysis [8]. In addition, deletion of ectopic beats can cause information loss and error of spectrum features. Therefore, automatic recognition and replacement of outliers must be conducted before extracting features from RR interval data. In this study, we utilized a preprocessing method that combined recursive percentage filter and median filter, which was similar to that proposed by Mishra and Swati [9]. As shown in Eq. (1), consider an RR interval series (*n*), the first step is to recognize any data point that is more than t_1 larger or smaller than last sample, then replace it using a moving average window. $abs{\cdot}$ is absolute value operator and w_m is length of the moving window.

$$if \ \frac{abs\{x(n) - x(n-1)\}}{x(n-1)} > t_1, \ \hat{x}(n) = mean\left\{x(n+m):abs\{m\} \le \frac{w_m - 1}{2}\right\}.$$
(1)

The second step is to segment the original data into 5 min samples and a median based pulse rejection filter is applied [10]. The recognition of outlier is based on Eq. (2), where med [\cdot] is median operator and x_m is the median value of the segmented signal (*n*). The recognized outlier is then replaced by the median value of moving window as shown in Eqs. (3) and (4).

$$D(n) = \frac{abs\{x(n) - x_m\}}{1.483med[abs\{x(n) - x_m\}]}$$
(2)

$$\hat{x}(n) = \begin{cases} x(n) & \text{if } D(n) \le t_2 \\ x_i(n) & \text{if } D(n) > t_2 \end{cases}$$
(3)

$$x_i(n) = med\left\{x(n+m):abs\{m\} \le \frac{w_m - 1}{2}\right\}$$
(4)

The threshold value t_1 was set as 30%, t_2 was set as four and window length w_m was five. According to above method, one typical example of RR interval series preprocessing is shown in Fig. 2. The total length of measured signal is 3445 and 9 points are edited by percentage filter and 23 points edited by median filter.



Fig. 2. Participant 9: RR interval time series preprocessing

2.3 Detrended Fluctuation Analysis (DFA)

DFA was firstly proposed by Peng et al. [11] and was widely used to study the fractal properties and long-term autocorrelations of nonstationary time series. Fractal geometry originally depicts the roughness of a surface and is applicable to time series data in the following essence: a process with stronger fractal characteristics does not adhere to equilibrium around any specific scale such as a constant heart rate [12]. According to [11, 13], monofractal DFA consists of four steps as shown in Eqs. (5)–(8). First, calculate the cumulative deviation of signal *x*, where \bar{x} is the mean of *x*:

$$Y(i) = \sum_{k=1}^{i} \left[x_k - \bar{x} \right], \ i = 1, \dots, N$$
(5)

Then divide Y(i) into $N_s = int(N/s)$ nonoverlapping segments of length s. Calculate the local trend for each of N_s segments by a least-square fit of the series and determine the variance for each segment $v = 1, ..., N_s$:

450 Y. Wu et al.

$$F^{2}(v,s) = \frac{1}{s} \sum_{i=1}^{s} \left\{ Y[(v-1)s+i] - y_{v}(i) \right\}^{2}$$
(6)

For monofractal analysis, average $F^2(v, s)$ over all segments to obtain the second order fluctuation F(s):

$$F(s) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N_s} \sum_{\nu=1}^{N_s} F^2(\nu, s)}$$
(7)

Hurst exponent (HE) *h* that characterizes fractal properties is then extracted from the slope by fitting the log-log linear relationship between F(s) and *s*. *s* ranged from 4 to 60 with a step size of 2 in this paper.

$$h = \frac{\log_2^{F(s)}}{\log_2^s} + c \tag{8}$$

According to [14], HE of biomedical signals generally ranges from 0.5 to 1.5. HE is 0.5 when the signal is white noise (Gauss distributed), while 1.0 indicates a pink noise and 1.5 indicates a brown noise.

3 Results and Discussion

A Japanese translation of Borg's RPE proposed and tested by [3] (Scheme C) was used as a subjective fatigue measure. Experiment data of one participant was not correctly recorded and was excluded from further analysis. Ten sets of experiment data are available for analysis and all data are presented in the form of means \pm standard deviation (SD) over ten participants. Paired t test was used to check the statistical significance and p = 0.05. Experiment ended after 24.6 \pm 2.5 flanges were tightened with seven participants finished all 26 flanges.

3.1 Borg's RPE and Heart Rate

HR of rest, pipeline work, and recovery baseline were 72.5 ± 8.0 , 98.0 ± 11 , and 83.7 ± 12 , respectively. The maximal rate of increase in heart rate during work condition was $62\% \pm 15\%$, indicating that heart rate significantly increased to adapt to workload. After cropping RR interval series into epochs of tightening every two flanges, Borg's RPE highly correlated with the decrease of RR interval, the *Person's* correlation coefficient was -0.81 ± 0.2 . It corresponds with the former study [2, 3] that RPE scale is able to track the changes in HR. However, working performance (variance of torque) correlated neither with RPE scale nor with mean RR interval as shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Participant 6: Negative correlation between mean RR interval and RPE scale. Green line shows SD of tightened torque of each flange and is considered as a measure of work accuracy.

3.2 Working Accuracy and Hurst Exponent

SD of tightened torque of each flange was considered as one performance measure since evenly tightened bolts were crucial for the sealability of connecting flanges. The first and latter half of torque variance were 5.6 ± 2.1 Nm and 6.2 ± 2.0 Nm, indicating that the bolts were more evenly tightened in the first half when participants' degree of fatigue was lower, although the difference is not statistically significant (p = 0.16) (Fig. 4b).



Fig. 4. a. HE of rest, first half of pipeline work, second half of pipeline work, and recovery condition. **b.** Torque variance during first half and second half of pipeline work. Error bar is SD over all participants.

To check the robustness of applying DFA to RR interval series, we randomly shuffled the RR interval series of one experiment for 100 times. Randomly shuffled signals were almost white noises as $h = 0.52 \pm 0.01$. HE of rest, first half of pipeline work, second half of pipeline work, and recovery baseline were 0.91 ± 0.17 , 1.12 ± 0.07 , 1.19 ± 0.10 , and 1.08 ± 0.18 , respectively. HE of working condition is significantly bigger than that of rest condition (p = 0.003). This result corresponds with the findings of [15], in which HE was found bigger under shooting exercise than under rest condition. Besides, HE during the second half of pipeline work was significantly higher than first half (p = 0.04), which might be caused by the accumulation of fatigue.

Furthermore, RR interval series were cropped into segments that corresponded with the onset of tightening each flange and ended 40 s later after accomplishment of tightening each flange. HEs were then calculated as shown in Fig. 5. A weak positive correlation between HE and torque variance was found for five participants. The average *Person's* correlation coefficient was 0.26 ± 0.1 . It indicates that the participant's working accuracy was lower when HE was higher, although this cause-and-effect relationship is unclear.



Fig. 5. Participant 6: Correlation between Hurst exponent and work accuracy

3.3 Cardiac Stress Index (CSI)

Chen et al. developed a cardiac stress index to online monitor human cardiac stress during cycling exercise [6] and CSI was further proved in [7]. According to [7], CSI was defined as

$$CSI = \frac{Number of events with h lower than 1}{Total number of events}$$

In [7], HE *h* was calculated in a one-minute sliding window with a step of 20 s. In this study, tightening of every single flange was considered as an event and RR interval series were cropped into corresponding segments with a delay of 40 s. CSI of each participant was then calculated. However, from the beginning to the end of pipeline work, CSI shown a decreasing trend rather than an increasing trend although the RPE scale indicated the increase of subjective fatigue. This inconsistency with the former study [6, 7] might be caused by the following reasons: First, Hurst exponent that extracted from DFA is affected by the settings of scale *s* in Eqs. (6) and (7), especially when the signal length is different. Second, in [6, 7], the experiment task was cycling exercise that required relatively monotonous physical exertion of lower extremities while this paper studied one real-world task that required both complex physical exertion and mental attention.

4 Conclusions

In an effort to develop a quantitative evaluation of operator fatigue degree throughout conducting pipeline works, an experiment study was designed and conducted in this paper. Borg's RPE scale, performance measure, and RR interval series were measured and analyzed. The results show that:

- Along with the continuous pipeline work, RPE scale generally increases while RR interval decreases, and they are highly correlated (Pearson's correlation coefficient r = -0.81 ± 0.2);
- HE of working condition (h1 = 1.16 ± 0.08) is significantly (paired T test, p = 0.003) higher than baseline condition (h2 = 0.91 ± 0.17), which indicates that RR interval series show more auto-correlation structures in working condition compared to rest condition;
- Working performance of first half $(5.6 \pm 2.1 \text{ Nm})$ is better than the latter half $(6.2 \pm 2.0 \text{ Nm})$ although the difference is not statistically significant, indicating that the bolts are more evenly tightened in the first half when participants' degree of fatigue is lower;
- CSI derived from cycling exercise is not applicable to pipeline work in this study.

The main limitation of this on-going study is the small size of samples and this paper fails to develop a cross-individual regression model to predict working accuracy. Besides, error of performance measure existed since the measured torque of tightened bolts were affected by the order of measuring. We expect to solve these limitations in future study.

Acknowledgements. The authors want to thank all participants for voluntarily taking part in this study. This work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI under [grant number 25420864] and the authors report no potential conflict of interest.

References

- 1. IMO.: International Maritime Organization, Guidance on Fatigue Mitigation and Management. 1. MSC/CIRC. 1014. IMO, London (2001)
- Borg, G.A.: Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 14(5), 377– 381 (1982)
- 3. Onodera, K., Miyashita, M.: A study on Japanese scale for rating of perceived exertion in endurance exercise. Jpn. J. Physiol. Educ. **21**(4), 191–203 (1976) [In Japanese]
- 4. Captur, G., Karperien, A.L., Hughes, A.D., Francis, D.P., Moon, J.C.: The fractal heart embracing mathematics in the cardiology clinic. Nat. Rev. Cardiol. **14**(1), 56–64 (2017)
- Peçanha, T., Bartels, R., Brito, L.C., Paula-Ribeiro, M., Oliveira, R.S., Goldberger, J.J.: Methods of assessment of the post-exercise cardiac autonomic recovery: a methodological review. Int. J. Cardiol. 227, 795–802 (2017)
- Chen, S.W., Liaw, J.W., Chang, Y.J., Chuang, L.L., Chien, C.T.: Combined heart rate variability and dynamic measures for quantitatively characterizing the cardiac stress status during cycling exercise. Comput. Biol. Med. 63, 133–142 (2015)
- Chen, S.W., Liaw, J.W., Chang, Y.J., Chan, H.L., Chiu, L.Y.: A cycling movement based system for real-time muscle fatigue and cardiac stress monitoring and analysis. PLoS ONE 10(6), e0130798 (2015)
- 8. Peltola, M.A.: Role of editing of R–R intervals in the analysis of heart rate variability. Front. Physiol. **3**, 148 (2012)
- Mishra, A., Swati, D.: The recursive combination filter approach of pre-processing for the estimation of standard deviation of RR series. Australas. Phys. Eng. Sci. Med. 38(3), 413– 423 (2015)
- Mcnames, J., Thong, T., Aboy, M.: Impulse rejection filter for artifact removal in spectral analysis of biomedical signals. In Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. In: IEMBS'04. 26th Annual International Conference of the IEEE, vol. 1, pp. 145–148. IEEE (2004)
- Peng, C.K., Havlin, S., Stanley, H.E., Goldberger, A.L.: Quantification of scaling exponents and crossover phenomena in nonstationary heartbeat time series. Chaos: an interdisciplinary. J. Nonlinear Sci. 5(1), 82–87 (1995)
- 12. Wallot, S., Fusaroli, R., Tylén, K., Jegindø, E.M.: Using complexity metrics with RR intervals and BPM heart rate measures. Front. Physiol **4**, 211 (2013)
- Kantelhardt, J.W., Zschiegner, S.A., Koscielny-Bunde, E., Havlin, S., Bunde, A., Stanley, H.E.: Multifractal detrended fluctuation analysis of nonstationary time series. Physica A 316(1), 87–114 (2002)
- Ihlen, E.A.: Introduction to multifractal detrended fluctuation analysis in matlab. Front. Physiol. 3(3), 141 (2012)
- Zhuang, J.J., Ning, X.B., He, A.J., Zou, M., Sun, B., Wu, X.H.: Alteration in scaling behavior of short-term heartbeat time series for professional shooting athletes from rest to exercise. Physica A 387(26), 6553–6557 (2008)

Assessment of Heat Stress Impacts on Construction Workers: A South African Exploratory Study

Katlane Seema^(IN) and Clinton Aigbavboa

University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg, South Africa katlaneseema@gmail.com, calgbavboa@uj.ac.za

Abstract. The impact that heat stress has to the construction field is an everevolving topic as its also impacted by the change in climate. The South African climate temperatures escalated dramatically in the previous years leading to heat stress warning from the weather services towards the construction working conditions. The working conditions associated with heat stress may work against the foremen or anyone that spends most of their times not protecting themselves against the fast-changing temperatures in the construction sites resulting in heat stroke, heat exhaustion, heat syncope, heat cramps and heat rush. However, due to a low number of deaths on the construction site compared to the mining field, it has been taken not so much as a risk unless there is a heat wave warning. The aim of the research is to theoretically assess the impact that heat stress has to the construction field and the change in weather temperatures over the years. The study will contribute to the growing body of knowledge on heat stress and it impact in the construction industry.

Keywords: Heatwave \cdot Heat stroke \cdot Heat stress \cdot Construction work conditions \cdot IEC 61508 \cdot OHSA codes

1 Introduction

Gauteng is the smallest province in South Africa with its name meaning "Place of Gold". It is the largest province with people from not only its neighboring provinces but also neighboring countries and around the world relocating to find employment. The capital city of South Africa is situated in Gauteng-Pretoria. The province and all its cities may be the smallest in the country, however, according to the 2009 National Climate Change Response Policy of Johannesburg, it states that "South Africa is by far the largest emitter of greenhouse gases (GHGs) in Africa and is one of the most carbon emission-intensive countries in the world due to its energy intensive economy and high dependence on coal for primary energy. In world terms, South Africa is the 11th highest emitter of greenhouse gases".

The GHGs contribute to the changes in weather and for some industries such as construction, that may cause its workers to have outdoor thermal discomfort by both direct and distributed solar irradiation between the human and its habitat. After all, the body heat is gained from the environment and the metabolism [1]. Firstly, an access change in temperature either being cold or hot may have an impact to the work

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_48

environment. The increase in temperatures may cause heat stress, and heat strain resulting from heat stroke. A mild or moderate heat stress may cause discomfort and may affect performance and safety but not being harmful to health. The contribution that the working environment deposits to the body may cause the body to react to a heat strain. Heat strain is the overall physiological response resulting from heat stress [2]. Moreover, heat is removed from the body quicker when there is movement and less clothing as that does also play a role in the increase in body heat.

Secondly, according to the Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993 (Act no 85 of 1993) its states that "to provide for the health and safety of persons at work and for the health and safety of persons in connection with the use of plant and machinery; the protection of persons other than persons at work against hazards to health and safety arising out of or in connection with the activity of persons at work; to establish an advisory council for occupational health and safety; and to provide for matters connected therewith." [3].

In addition, the country's designers must ensure that their designs are safe and free of health and risk. The South African Construction Regulation states that;" designers shall modify and design or make use of substitute materials where the design necessitates the use of dangerous structural or other procedures or materials hazardous to health and safety, and that designers shall inform principal contractors of any known or anticipated dangers or hazardous or special measures required for the safe execution of the work" with research showing that - the designing for construction safety entails addressing the safety of construction workers in the design of the permanent feature of a project [1].

Every building that is being designed does come with its own attributes such as a building that use structural steel truss as compared to the wooden trusses. The structural steel building will have more hazardous material and would entail the design and engineer having to have a design plan for when the steel is being placed onsite.

The following is not limiting to the many health and safety risk that may occur on a construction site as a cause of nature (weather-related) and the machinery (man-made) used on site. Machines used such as cranes need to also be in compliance with the Driven Machinery Regulations Government Notice R295_February 26,1988 with the responsible driver of the machine been given proper training.

2 Heat Stress and Construction Workers

Construction work is one of the hardest manual work in the world and depending on the area that the project is based on, the weather may also pay a huge impact. However, due to the weather in Gauteng only recently increasing to a high unmanageable temperature, may construction companies did not see the need to have the health and safety risk assessment using the WBGT.

Heat stress is the perceived discomfort and physical strain associated with exposure to a hot environment, especially during physical work [1]. On a construction site, heat stress maybe caused by exposure to high temperature either form the direct sun light or the different factors such as:

- radiant heat sources such as arc welders;
- high humidity either natural or site specific as in a concrete pour;
- proximity to, or direct physical contact with hot plant;
- lack of air flow and/or adequate ventilation on site;
- heavy or restrictive personal protection equipment;
- working on the roof;
- crane and machine operators standing in the sun

The necessity for strenuous physical activity under these conditions has a high potential for causing heat related health complaints, illness, disability, and death, particularly in early, outdoor or external phases of construction [4].

The construction workers have more chances of being exposed to skin cancer due to the long working periods in the sun if not taking the necessary measures to protect themselves. After all, construction is hazardous profession. The short-term exposure may cause reddening of the skin or sunburn can blister the skin with the long-term increasing the chances of developing skin cancer [5] not limiting to financial, or emotional.

Heat stress does not only happen outdoors but also indoors according to the 2017 USA Infrastructure Health and Safety Association manual labor that may be taking place as according to Table 1 [6].

Indoors	Outdoors
Steel mills and foundries	Roadbuilding
Boiler looms	Homebuilding
Pulp and paper mills	Work on bridges
Generation plants	Trenching
Petrochemical plants	Pouring and spreading tar or asphalt
Smellers	Working on flat or shingle roofs
Furnace operations	Excavation and grading
Oil and chemical refineries	Electrical utilities
Electrical vaults	
Interior construction and renovation	

Table 1. Areas that heat stress may occur

2.1 Factors Contributing to Heat Stress

The heat transfer can be different from person to person. With the normal body temperature being 37 °C, a slight change and impact caused by the surrounding area may play a huge role. The body will start sweating and that causes the body to lose liquids and the person will have to replace the lost fluids with water stay hydrated. If the replacement of fluids is not done, it will mean less sweat is produces resulting in an inability to reduce body temperature as sweating does help the body to cool off. Heat stress is dependent on many factors such as [7, 8];

2.2 Personal Factors

- General health;
- Body weight;
- Age;
- Poor health (heat disease or high blood pressure)
- Low level of fitness
- previous heat experiences
- Especially medication
- Alcohol

2.3 Environmental Factors

- Radiant heat
- Humidity
- Air movement

2.4 Job Factors

- Clothing and Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)
- Workload (Table 2)

The acceleration of the symptoms may also accelerate depending on how above contribution are with each person. The symptoms are but not limited to [4];

- Muscle cramps
- Migraine
- Motion sickness
- Light headed
- Weakness
- Fatigue
- Irascible
- Dehydration
- Heavy sweating skin

It has been advised that if a worker is found showing the following symptoms, the site supervisor will have to make sure that precautions are taken for the worker to be cooled off, given water, left to rest and monitored [2]. Research has also shown that heat stress may lead to heat stroke.

Light work	• Using a table saw				
	• Some walking about				
	Operating a Crane, truck, or other vehicleWelding				
Moderate work	Laving brick				
	• Walking with moderate lifting or pushing				
	Hammering nails				
	• Tying rebar				
	Raking asphalt				
	Sanding drywall				
Heavy work	• Carpenter sawing by hand				
·	• Shoveling dry sand				
	Laying block				
	Ripping cut asbestos				
	• Scraping asbestos fireproofing material				
Very heavy work	• Shoveling wet sand				
	• Lifting heavy objects				

Table 2. Type of building works

2.5 Heat Stoke

A heat stroke is a severe illness characterized by a core temperature >40 °C and central nervous system abnormalities such as delirium, convulsions and coma result from exposure to environmental heat or strenuous physical exercise.

The symptoms of heat exhaustion and heat stroke may vary from confusion, darkcoloured urine (a sign of dehydration) dizziness, fainting, fatigue, headache, muscle or abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, or diarrhoea with the symptoms becoming extreme with the increase in temperature and may cause a mental state behaviour, flushed skin and racing heartbeat to name a few [9]

3 Methodology

The research is based on literature review. The main aim of the research was to theoretically assess the impact that heat stress has to the construction field and the change in weather temperatures over the years. The study contributed to the growing body of knowledge on heat stress, its impact in the construction industry and ways that it can be prevented.

4 Findings and Preventions

4.1 Designing for Construction Worker Safety

Safety is an attitude starting from top management and is reflected on the job site in many ways; through training, housekeeping according to the Environmental Regulations for workplaces Government Notice R2281_ October 19, 1987, toolbox meetings,

adherence to safety measures, maintenance of equipment and tools by the storeman with compliance to Electrical Installation Regulations Government Notice R2920_October 23, 1992 and Electrical Machinery Regulations Government Notice R1593_August 12, 1988, and intolerance of violation. Everyone that is onsite is responsible not only for themselves but fellow workers as any accident that may happen has an impact on the project. Either a decrease in productivity as the body will not be functioning on its normal state and that resulting in loss of productivity, increase in insurance cost and even result in the company losing points to be able to bid for the next project [10]. An extreme heat exposure may also result in cardiovascular diseases, mental health problems, and chronic kidney diseases [11].

- *Management*: Health and safety onsite belongs to everyone that will be part of the project and the engineer together with management have to create a system that can work for the project and the workers on the project to reduce the risk of heat stress onsite. Establishing a heat illness prevention program through safety lifecycle management plan
- *Training*: First Aid training can be done for all the employees and how they can handle themselves and fellow colleagues if need be for measures to be taken if an incident was to happen on site related to heat stress. Teaching the workers about the type of food to eat during hot days and what to stay away from may also help with the risk of being a victim.
- *Housekeeping*: the company has to create a cool working place for it employees and make sure that water stations are created in order for the workers to be able to have regular drinking station for all the hot days on site.
- *Toolbox talks*: Toolbox talks are created to always keep the workers up to date on what is happening around them and using the platform to remind them to always be safe and keep in mind that there is a heatwave around therefor, precautions of drinking lots of water, wearing clothes easy to cool them off and resting under a cool place is needed.

4.2 Project Life Cycle

The *Project Life Cycle* refers to a series of activities which are important to execute the objectives and goals of a project. The size and structure of the project doesn't have much impact as each project does undergo the following stages: starting the project, organizing and preparing, carrying out project work, and closing the project.

In the second stage of the life cycle-planning, a risk plan has to be created as it helps the management to identify risks and implement a plan to reduce them. It helps with categorizing and prioritizing each risk, likelihood of it happening, and recognize the effect on the project is the risk does happen [12]. The following will lead to a company creating a Safety Life Cycle Plan.

4.3 Safety Life Cycle

The concept of a safety life cycle plan involves the IEC 61508 which is a model of the stages of safety management in the life of a project (Fig. 2).

IEC 61508 is a system compromised of electrical and/or electronic elements used for many years to perform safety functions in most application sectors. The aim of the safety life cycle is to address independently of functional issues, thus overcoming the assumption that functional reliability will automatically produce safety [13]. It addresses building-related occupational safety and health risks for all affected workers and groups across all life cycle stages. With the idea of Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) taking place in mostly in the new construction project, its rating already provides a partial foundation for Safety Life cycle with a prompt that the a building can serve as a place of employment as "improving health and well-being for building occupants is an explicit LEED objective" [14].

4.4 Increase in Temperatures

In Fig. 1, research shows that; with the rise in temperatures in Gauteng between 2011 and 2016 precautions need to be taken more when it comes to the risk assessment safety and health measurement to treating heat stress. The management may use the WBGT Concept when preparing for the safety lifecycle of a project in order to help them calculate the rate that heat stress may occur. Heat stress need to be taken more seriously as the change in greenhouse gases are also playing an impact (Fig. 3).



Fig. 1. Project life cycle stages



Fig. 2. IEC 61508 safety lifecycle plan [14]



Fig. 3. Max. Temp. in Pretoria vs Johannesburg [9, 15, 16]

The Annual 2015/2016 Weather Services has predicted future trends in temperatures with them expected to rise drastically over the next four to five decades, with the trend continuing into the following decades and that will also mean changes an average seasonal temperature (Table 3) [16].

Season	Near future	Far future
	2046–2065 ²	$2081 - 2100^2$
	(low/Hi ³)	(low/Hi ³)
Summer	+2.1 °C	+3.8 °C
	(1.6/2.7 °C)	(2.9/5.1 °C)
Autumn	+2.3 °C	+4.5 °C
	(1.7/2.8 °C)	(3.4/5.6 °C)
Winter	+2.3 °C	+4.5 °C
	(1.8/2.8 °C)	(3.7/5.0 °C)
Spring	+2.6 °C	+5.0 °C
	(2.2/3.0 °C)	(3.7/5.9 °C)
Annual	+2.3 °C	+4.4 °C
	(1.8/2.8 °C)	(3.4/5.4 °C)

Table 3. Increase in average maximum day-time temperature

However, with the already existing shortage of water in South Africa, the increase in temperature will mean an increase in demand for water for air-conditioning heat rejection, irrigation, swimming pool top-up leading to a major strain on the water supply. Increase in temperature will also have an effect on the vegetation. In the South African county, a heatwave is considered to be when the temperatures are fire degrees higher than the highest recorded temperature [16]. The temperatures have an impact on the whole ecosystem and training for everyone is needed.

4.5 Wet Bulb Globe Temperature (WBGT)

Through the factors that were associated with the increase in heat stress, calculation and research done in the past, heat indicators and protective guidelines were created by the US Army many decades ago to help protect the workers from heat exposure using different entities. The WBGT takes the temperature, radiant temperature, humidity and air movement, and the basis for time limitations of work in different heat exposure standard heat exposure (heat stress and thermal stress index and predicted 4 h sweat rate) [9]. The concept is used to measure and estimate the effect of temperature, humidity, and solar radiation on human.

WBGT is a combination of three local climate meausrements; natural wet bulb temperature. The WBGT Formular provides a beginning point for making judgement and help with risk assessment management plan. The formular must be adjusted for clothing, work demands, and the workers's acclimatization state [2].
5 Lesson Learned from the Findings

Heat stress is a major impact to not only for outdoor workers but also indoors. Whether some construction companies may ignore the importance of having a heat preventive plan focused on each project based on where the site is situated, heat stress results may have an impact on any future programs that the company will have to be part of. Health and Safety motions should always be taken seriously as it involves all personnel that are involved in the company.

6 Conclusion

The aim of the research was to theoretically assess the impact that heat stress has on the construction industry and the changes in weather temperatures over the years. The reviewed literature informed that the greatest change and impact that has been experienced over time, is the change in temperatures that has an impact on construction projects, such as the – production, commercial, quality, and the health and safety departments. Heat stress has been taken lightly in the past and due to the increase in temperatures in the past years and its predictions in the South African. It is therefore recommended that management and all stakeholders of construction projects have to start taking precausions and creating a plan that will assist onsite workers and other personnels with the meance caused by heat stroke and heat stress in order to adequately protect construction works from the harmful effect of the sun. Construction is a profession that is continuously evolving with engineers always trying to find new ways to create new designs and that may also play a role in the Greenhouse gases that will later impact the increase the temperatures.

References

- 1. Bouchama, A., Knochel, J.: Heat stroke. N. Engl. J. Med. 346(25), 1979 (2002)
- Goetsch, D.: OSHA's Construction Standards (29 CFR 1926) and related safety practices. In: Yarnell, D. (ed.) Construction Safety and Health, pp. 196–201. Prentice Hall, New Jersey (2003)
- 3. Department of Labour in South Africa: Amended Act-Occupational Health and Safety. Department of Labour in South Africa, Pretoria (1993)
- Construction, L.: Heat stress on a construction site (2014). http://lewence.com.au/heat-stresson-construction-sites/
- The Department of Labour: Occupational Health and Safety Construction Hygiene. The Department of Labour, Gauteng (2015)
- Infrastructure Health and Safety Association. http://www.ihsa.ca.rtf/health_safety_manual/ pdfs/health/Heat_Stress.pdf. Accessed 3 Mar 2017
- 7. Safety and Heat Stress. https://www.worksafe.qld.gov.au/injury-prevention-safety/ workplace-hazards/dangers-in-your-workplace/heat-stress
- Kjelistrom, T., Holmer, I., Lemke, B.: Heat, work and health: implications of climate change. Global Health Action 2, 2047 (2009)

- 9. Furter, E.: How to manage heat stress and prevent heat stroke (2016). http://sheqafrica.com/ manage-heat-stress/:Sheqafrica
- Gould, F., Joyce, N.: Construction safety and health. In: Krassow, E. (ed.) Construction Project Management, pp. 320–321. Pearson Education, New Jersey (2009)
- 11. Xiang, J., Peng, B.I., Pisaniello, D., Hansen, A.: Health impacts of the workplace heat exposure: an epidemiological review. Indus. Health **52**, 91–101 (2014)
- 12. Method 123: Risk Management Plan. http://www.method123.com/risk-managementplan.php
- 13. M. I. P. Limited: AN9025-3. MTL, Perth (2002)
- 14. Department of Health and Human Services USA: Life Cycle Safety-What does it mean and why is it important? http://www.cdc.gov.niosh/topic/greenconstruction/pdfs/lifecycle safety2.pdf
- 15. World Weather: Pretoria Weather. https://www.worldweatheronline.com/pretoria-weather/ gauteng
- 16. South Africa Weather Service, 2015/2016. Annual Report, Erasmusrand: South Africa Weather Service (2016)

Characteristics of Cutting Performance for Japanese Sewing Scissors Made by the "So-hizukuri" Forging Process

Yasuko Kitajima^{1(K)}, Hayato Nakatani², Akihiko Goto³, and Hiroyuki Hamada⁴

¹ Tokyo Ariake University of Medical and Health Sciences, 2-9-1 Ariake, Koto, Tokyo 135-0063, Japan

kitajima@tau.ac.jp

² Osaka City University, 3-3-138 Sugimoto, Sumiyoshi-ku, Osaka 558-8585, Japan hayatonakatani@imat.eng.osaka-cu.ac.jp

³ Osaka Sangyo University, 3-1-1 Nakagaito, Daito, Osaka 574-8530, Japan gotoh@ise.osaka-sandai.ac.jp

⁴ Kyoto Institute of Technology, Atsugasaki, Sakyō-ku, Kyoto 606-8585, Japan hhamada10294@gmail.com

Abstract. Scissors are commonly known as a tool that has been used since long ago. The X-shaped scissors currently commonly used in Japan date back to 160 years ago when Admiral Perry arrived in Uraga. Since that time Yakichi Yoshida, known as the originator of Japanese scissors, has made many reforms leading scissors to their present shape. His method is called "So-hizukuri", and today there is a very small number of artisans left who have inherited the Sohizukuri method. In previous research our research group investigated why sewing scissors made with the So-hizukuri method have a sharp cutting edge. The results showed that the surface of So-hizukuri method scissors blades have a curved surface with a difference of about 0-150 µm applied. It was suggested that the curved surface being applied causes the cutting power of the scissors to be focused onto the point where the two blades overlap when cutting cloth, leading to a sharp cutting edge. We also confirmed that when the two blades overlap the parts of the other blades are separated. In this research, we intend to extract characteristics of the So-hizukuri scissors with sharp cutting edges which were not clarified in the previous research. We had a tailor who is a specialist in handling scissors use new So-hizukuri sewing scissors and So-hizukuri sewing scissors which have been used for more than 20 years and which were both made by the same scissors artisan, and examined what effect this had on the operations of the person handling the scissors when cutting cloth. We had the person cut the same cloth under the same conditions using the same method, and recorded the process with a high-speed camera for analysis. The results showed a clear difference in the movements of the tailor when handling the So-hizukuri scissors and the cheap scissors, but no significant difference between the new So-hizukuri scissors and the So-hizukuri scissors which had been used for more than 20 years. We considered the reasons for this difference including an interview with the tailor, which we will report here.

Keywords: Scissors · Cutting · Motion analysis · Acceleration

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_49

1 Introduction

The X-shaped scissors currently commonly used in Japan are said to have been brought to Japan 160 years ago at the end of the Edo period when Admiral Perry's black ships arrived in Uraga. Among these, the scissors called "sewing scissors" can be said to have undergone changes to make them uniquely Japanese. The scissors brought to Japan at that time were intended to cut thick felt, etc., and they were large with a total length of about 330–360 mm and a weight of about 1 kg, which made them ill-suited for small Japanese hands. It was Yayoshi Yoshida who improved those scissors through repeated trial and error to create the shape of modern scissors. The original forging process he created, called "So-hizukuri", is a method whose techniques were passed down from parents to children and included some implicit aspects [1]. However, in today's era of mass consumption there are currently only a few artisans who possess the skills for "So-hizukuri".

In previous research this research group investigated the secrets of the sharp blade possessed by So-hizukuri sewing scissors. The reason X-shaped scissors are able to cut cloth in the first place is that the two blades of the scissors are created to with a miniscule width between them so they are almost touching. It was shown that So-hizukuri scissors are created to make this contact point as small as possible to cause stress concentration at the cutting point between the two scissor blades. When measuring the two blades of scissors created with the So-hizukuri method using a three-dimensional measuring device, we made the origin point on the overall blade on the inner size 0 and found that a 15 μ m curved surface was applied at the deepest point. Due to the application of this curved surface on the inner side of the two scissor blades, when cutting cloth the breaking point where the two blades overlap becomes a pinpoint, and the structure of the scissors focuses the power of the scissors have a sharp cutting edge [2].

Next our research group investigated the effects of the sharp cutting edge of Sohizukuri sewing scissors on the people handling the scissors when cutting cloth. We had a tailor who is a specialist in handling scissors cut cloth with commonly available cheap scissors from a retail store and So-hizukuri sewing scissors created by an artisan possessing the skills of the So-hizukuri method, and recorded this process with a highspeed camera. We also used an optical microscope to view the cut surfaces. We analyzed the video from the high-speed camera and compared the scissor blade positions, opening and closing speeds, and time to cut the cloth, which revealed significant differences in the movements of the tailor handling the two scissors. It would not be an exaggeration to call the tailor a specialist at cutting cloth. Precisely because he is a specialist, even when cutting using scissors with a poor cutting edge, he instantly adjusts his movements to attempt to cut the cloth. We can say that because the cheap scissors had a poor cutting edge and due to the tailor's attempt to successfully cut the cloth, he was forced to naturally use his judgment to change his movements. This resulted in a significant difference between the motions of the tailor when using these two scissors. Furthermore, when observing cross-sections of the cloth cut with the respective scissors using an optical microscope, we found that the surface cut with the cheap scissors was flattened as if it had been crushed, and the length of the fibers was also uneven. On the other hand, with the So-hizukuri sewing scissors there were no flattened places on the fibers of the cut surface, and the length of the fibers were also uniform where cut. The reason for these results seem to be that the cheap scissors with the poor cutting edge are forcibly crushing and detaching the fibers rather than actually cutting them. We concluded that these differences in cutting edges would impact the efficiency of the tailor's work as well as the final product [3].

And so in this research we will analyze and compare the movements of a tailor cutting cloth using new So-hizukuri sewing scissors and So-hizukuri sewing scissors which have been used for over 20 years, both crafted by the same scissors artisan, in order to further clarify the characteristics of So-hizukuri scissors. Generally, tools and instruments deteriorate after many years of use. We will examine what kind of differences there are in the movements of a tailor cutting the same cloth in the same direction and under the same conditions but using new scissors and those used for over 20 years, and whether there are differences or not, what kind of sensation the tailor experienced when using them via an interview. And through this research we hope to extract new characteristics of So-hizukuri scissors which were not clarified in the previous research.

2 Methods

2.1 Test Subject

A tailor with more than 45 years of experience in high-end apparel.

2.2 Procedures

We had a tailor cut cloth made of synthetic fibers using So-hizukuri scissors created newly for this research (Fig. 1), So-hizukuri scissors which the tailor has possessed himself for more than 20 years which were made by the same artisan as the aforementioned new scissors (Fig. 2), and sewing scissors purchased at a 100 yen retail store (Fig. 3). Hereinafter these will be referred to as brand-new so-hizukuri scissors, over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors, and 100-yen scissors, respectively.



Fig. 1. Brand-new so-hizukuri scissors.



Fig. 2. Over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors.



Fig. 3. 100-yen scissors.

For the direction of cutting the cloth we used three categories: "vertical direction", where the tailor cut mainly the crosswise threads which weave the cloth; "horizontal direction", where the tailor cut mainly the warp threads which weave the cloth; and "bias". In this research we analyzed the motions cutting in the "bias" direction. We had the tailor cut the cloth using the workbench which he uses in his everyday work.

A high-speed camera, Photron[©] FASTCAM SA4, was set up in front of the workstation. Markings were made on two points along the blade: Point 1, about a third of the way below the tip of the blade, and Point 2, at the base by the screw. The cutting process was filmed in its entirety and analyzed. Another marking was made on the fabric to indicate the end so that each cutting test would cover the same distance. The motions of the scissors through Points 1 and 2 recorded on the high-speed video camera were entered in as data on the x axis, y axis, xy synthesis, then calculated the marker points, speed and acceleration (Fig. 4).

After the examination, we interviewed the tailor to ask him how he felt when handling the respective scissors regarding their ease and difficulty of cutting, etc.



Fig. 4. The position of the marks.

3 Result and Discussion

Figure 5 shows the Point 1 location of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors on the X-axis, Fig. 6 shows the Point 1 location of over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors on the X-axis and Fig. 7 shows the Point 1 location of 100-yen scissors on the X-axis.



Fig. 5. The Point 1 location of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors on the X-axis.



Fig. 6. The Point 1 location of over20years so-hizukuri scissors on the X-axis.



Fig. 7. The Point 1 location of 100-yen scissors on the X-axis.

Figure 8 shows the Point 1 location of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors on the Y-axis, Fig. 9 shows the Point 1 location of over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors on the Y-axis and Fig. 10 shows the Point 1 location of 100-year scissors on the Y-axis.



Fig. 8. The Point 1 location of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors on the Y-axis.



Fig. 9. The Point 1 location of over20years so-hizukuri scissors on the Y-axis.



Fig. 10. The Point 1 location of 100-yen scissors on the Y-axis.

Figure 11 shows the Point 1 velocity of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors on the X-axis, Fig. 12 shows the Point 1 velocity of over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors on the X-axis and Fig. 13 shows the Point 1 velocity of 100-yen scissors on the X-axis.



Fig. 11. The Point 1 velocity of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors on the X-axis.



Fig. 12. The Point 1 velocity of over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors on the X-axis.



Fig. 13. The Point 1 velocity of 100-yen scissors on the X-axis.

Figure 14 shows the Point 1 velocity of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors on the Yaxis, Fig. 15 shows the Point 1 velocity of over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors on the Yaxis and Fig. 16 shows the Point 1 velocity of 100-yen scissors on the Y-axis.



Fig. 14. The Point 1 velocity of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors on the Y-axis.



Fig. 15. The Point 1 velocity of over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors on the Y-axis.



Fig. 16. The Point 1 velocity of 100-yen scissors on the Y-axis.

The above results are all when cutting the synthetic fabric in the bias direction. The results of this research showed that even when a tailor who specializes in using scissors is cutting the same cloth under the same conditions and in the same direction, there will be differences in the blade opening and closing speed and number of openings as well as the cutting time depending on the scissors he uses. Conversely the results also showed that despite using different scissors the movements of the tailor were almost unchanged between the different scissors. We additionally conducted an interview with the tailor when considering these results.

Looking at all the data from Figs. 5 to 16, we see that brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors both take about 4 s for point1 to move. On the other hand, we see that the 100-yen scissors take 5.4 s for point1 to move. This means that both the brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors take about 4 s from starting to cut the cloth until finishing the cut, while the 100-yen scissors take 5.4 s to cut the cloth.

Looking at Figs. 9, 10, and 11, in the case of brand-new so-hizukuri scissors, over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors and 100-year scissors, the Point1 mark moves in the Y axis

direction at an amplitude of almost the same interval in the range of about 40 mm from starting to cut until finishing cutting. This means that when cutting the cloth the scissor blades opening and closing is repeating at a width of about 40 mm each time. The opening and closing distance of the scissor blades is almost the same for all three pairs of scissors, but the brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors open and close 5 times, as opposed to 8 times for the 100-yen scissors.

In this research, the same type of cloth is continuously cut under the same conditions and for the same distance. Looking at the movement of Point1's progression in the X axis direction in Figs. 5, 6, and 7, the brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors display almost the same movement. For both scissors Point1 proceeds about 50 mm in about 0.8 s, recedes once about 7 mm, and then within the next second proceeds about 50 mm and then back again about 7 mm, routinely repeating the same movement. This means that the brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors both open and close their blades about one time per second, cut about 50 mm of cloth, and then the scissors are withdrawn about 7 mm in the opposite direction from the direction the cloth is being cut in before once again cutting the next approximately 50 mm and repeating this motion. The 100-yen scissors cuts forward about 50 mm in about 0.68 s during the first cut, which is the same as the other two scissors. However, with each cut the distance cut decreases, namely to about 40 mm the second time and 30 mm the thied time (Fig. 7). Furthermore, it can be said that after making one cut in the cloth the brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years sohizukuri scissors are both moved in the opposite direction of the cloth cutting with the same motion, but we see that while this receding distance is about 7 mm with the brandnew so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors, with the 100-yen scissors it is about 15 mm. Why is the movement different in this way? According to the interview with the tailor, no matter what type of cloth he is cutting, after proceeding with one cut he draws the scissors back once before entering into the next cut. This drawback distance can be called an implicit motion of the tailor, but precisely when the cutting edge of the scissors is poor the tailor will draw the scissors back even further. When the cutting edge of the scissors is poor, the cloth cannot be cut in spite of pressing the scissors in the cutting direction, which means that the cloth is simply pressed in the direction by the scissors and not cut, therefore the tailor adjusts by drawing the scissors back to be able to cut.

Looking at the velocity in the Y direction in Figs. 14, 15, and 16, the brand-new sohizukuri scissors repeat a speed from 0 m/s reaching its peak at about 0.1 m/s, and a speed from 0 m/s reaching its peak at about 0.17 m/s. The over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors repeat a speed from 0 m/s reaching its peak at about 0.1 m/s, and a speed from 0 m/s reaching its peak at about 0.15 m/s. The 100-yen scissors repeat a speed from 0 m/ s reaching its peak at about 0.1 m/s, and a speed from 0 m/ s reaching its peak at about 0.1 m/s, and a speed from 0 m/s reaching its peak at about 0.2 m/s.

From this it can be said that the time for all three of the scissors' blades to grasp the cloth and cut forward when cutting the cloth is about 0.1 m/s. On the other hand, the speed of opening the scissor blades before making the next cut can be said to be faster for the 100-yen scissors than with the brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors. According to the interview with the tailor, when using scissors with

a poor cutting edge he increases the number of times opening and closing the blade to cut the same distance but reduces the distance cut each time, cutting by degrees. Looking at the movement of Point1's progression in the X axis direction in Figs. 5, 6, and 7 and comparing the brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors with the 100-yen scissors, we see that the 100-yen scissors are cutting the cloth in smaller increments. This can be said to indicate that different movements appear when using the 100-yen scissors than with the brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors.

The above facts show that while there are slight differences, the movements of the tailor using brand-new so-hizukuri scissors and over 20 years so-hizukuri scissors are almost the same in terms of cloth cutting time, number of openings and closings of the scissor blades, opening and closing speed, and distance withdrawn before making the next cut. This can be said to indicate that with both pairs of So-hizukuri scissors being made by the same artisan, even though one pair is new and one pair has been used for 20 years, this has no effect on the cutting movements of a tailor. The reason for this can surely be said to be that despite 20 years of use having passed the cutting edge has been maintained without dulling. According to the interview with the tailor, he performed maintenance on the scissors about one time per year. He also stated that good scissors can be re-sharpened when they have stopped cutting well due to use to return their cutting edge to the same as when they were new. What are commonly referred to as bad scissors will cut when they are new but quickly lose their cutting edge and cannot be re-sharpened to return their cutting edge, with even worse scissors being impossible to re-sharpen at all.

An analysis of the movements of a tailor using new and old So-hizukuri scissors created by the same artisan showed that he could cut the cloth with almost the same movements using both scissors, but there were slight differences in the details. The tailor explains this saying that because his own hands are so used to the over 20 years sohizukuri scissors, this made them feel easier to use. It can be said that while there is no difference in the cutting edge, after using the scissors for many long years they mature to fit his own movements, and slight differences in the tailor's movements appear.

4 Conclusion

Scissors are tools generally created to cut paper and cloth, but as they are called "scissors that can cut" and "scissors that cannot cut" we in this research group believed that in the aspects other than the simple purpose of scissors they were not equal and so we began this research. And so we focused on the sewing scissors which have evolved in Japan, first studying the secrets of the sharp cutting edge possessed by sewing scissors which are made with the ancient method called So-hizukuri. Next we had a tailor who is a specialist in handling scissors cut cloth multiple times using So-hizukuri scissors and cheap scissors and analyzed his movements to find differences in the movements and also learn that the way the So-hizukuri scissors and cheap scissors have cut a cross-section of the cloth is also different.

It is generally known that tools and instruments deteriorate after many years of use. In this research we had a tailor use cheap scissors, new So-hizukuri scissors and Sohizukuri scissors which had been used for more than 20 years to cut the same cloth in the same direction and under the same conditions, clarifying that whether using the new or old So-hizukuri scissors the movements of the tailor were essentially the same. Furthermore, we learned that there are distinct difference in the tailor's cutting movements when using these 2 scissors compared to cheap scissors. The above facts confirmed that through maintenance it is possible for So-hizukuri scissors to maintain the same cutting edge as new scissors even after many years of use. No matter how good the cutting edge of scissors are, the fact that the cutting edge will worsen with use is the same for all scissors. However, it cannot be said that all scissors can be re-sharpened to restore their cutting edge when it has become poor. There are also some scissors which cannot be re-sharpened at all but which must be discarded after use. As was also stated in the interview with the tailor, it goes without saying that not only does a specialist in using scissors increase his work efficiency by using scissors which his hands are used to, considering the impact on the quality of the finished product scissors which can be re-sharpened to restore their cutting edge even after 20 years of use such as the scissors used in this study are necessary.

References

- 1. Masayuki, O.: Scissors. Ekuran-sha, 233-255 (1959)
- Kitajima, Y., Kito, K., Migaki, M., Matsumuro, K., Murata, Y., Hamada, H.: Process analysis of manufacturing of sewing scissors by all forging process. In: Digital Human Modeling -Applications in Health, Safety, Ergonomics and Risk Management: Human Modeling - 6th International Conference, DHM 2015, Held as Part of HCI International 2015, Los Angeles, CA, USA, August 2–7, 2015, Proceedings, Part I pp. 124–132 (2015)
- Kitajima, Y., Goto, A., Hamada, H.: Performance analysis of professional sewing scissors using the "So-hizukuri" forging process. In: Duffy, V. (ed.) Digital Human Modeling: Applications in Health, Safety, Ergonomics and Risk Management. DHM 2016. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 9745. Springer, Cham (2016)

Eye Movement Analysis of Japanese Sewing Scissors Craftsman

Yasuko Kitajima^{1(⊠)}, Hayato Nakatani², Yoichiro Ogura³, Akihiko Goto⁴, Hiroyuki Hamada³, and Norimichi Nanami⁵

 ¹ Tokyo Ariake University of Medical and Health Sciences, 2-9-1 Ariake, Koto-ku, Tokyo 135-0063, Japan kitajima@tau.ac.jp
 ² Osaka City University, 3-3-138 Sugimoto, Sumiyoshi-ku, Osaka 558-8585, Japan hayatonakatani@imat.eng.osaka-cu.ac.jp
 ³ Kyoto Institute of Technology, Matsugasaki, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto 606-8585, Japan hhamadal0294@gmail.com
 ⁴ Osaka Sangyo University, 3-1-1 Nakagaito, Daito, Osaka 574-8530, Japan gotoh@ise.osaka-sandai.ac.jp
 ⁵ Nihon University, Chiyoda, Tokyo, Japan nnanami@mech.cst.nihonu.ac.jp

Abstract. The purpose of this study is to elucidate the skill of a blacksmith who has an ability to produce a pair of scissors whose two blades accurately comes across in the length, width and angle of each blade, even though they were produced separately. The processing method this scissor artisan employs is known as "So-hizukuri" (total forging process). The elucidation was conducted through observing the line of sight of the artisan using an eye movement analysis camera during his forging process. There are four main stages in the So-hizukuri process, and each stage involves several steps. In this study, we asked the scissor artisan to wear an eye movement analysis camera while engaging with the "Namatogi" (grinding before quenching) step in the "rough finishing before quenching" stage, which is the second in the four main stages, and observed his eye movements. We viewed the video recorded by the eye camera, and studied which parts of the blades he focused on, and the amount of time he focused on each part, when the artisan was comparing the two blades by laying one blade on top of the other. As a result, it was clarified that the artisan works on each of the left and the right blade alternately and gradually at every step toward the final stage, as the left and right blades of the scissors come across accurately when the scissors are completed. At any point in the process, he did not focus on forging one blade intensively, use a measuring instrument to measure the length of the blades, or use one of the blades as a standard to match the other blade.

Keywords: Scissors · Process · Eye movement

1 Introduction

"Artisanal Skill" is considered to be the highest form of tacit knowledge. Philosopher, Michael Polanyi who proposed the concept of tacit knowledge said; "We can know more than we can tell" [1].

Even though many artisans possess astonishing skills, they cannot verbalize the abilities they possess. Our study group is conducting research on how to transform the tacit knowledge of artisans into explicit knowledge. As one of the research theme, we are researching the tacit knowledge hidden behind scissors production skill of scissors makers. A pair of scissors is a tool that is familiar to everyone from a child to adult. It is widely used in both domestic and work situations. It is so closely associated with our daily life, so we rarely think about their existence. However, its history and the production process are surprisingly not widely known. Most people probably think that scissors are produced in iron factory using a "scissors making machine". In fact, there is a uniquely Japanese scissors production process called So-hizukuri processing method. Until the 19th century, only U-shaped scissors existed in Japan. So-hizukuri is the process developed by Yakichi Yoshida, who is called as the father of Japanese sewing scissors making, after X-shaped scissors that is the mainstream of the current common scissors, were introduced to Japan. He developed this process through many trials and errors in order to produce scissors that fit the hand of Japanese people. Its production method is forging that heats soft iron and forms the desired shape through hammering; instead of casting that pours melted iron into a mold [2].

The technique of So-hizukuri was passed onto many people. When one studies the lineage of scissors maker originating from Yakichi Yoshida, it can be said that it expanding to 23 lines of descendants. The So-hizukuri technique was passed on through what is called as "from a Master to Disciples" process. It is said that there have been no textbooks or systematic explanations whatsoever in the way a master teaches his disciples. The disciples commonly describe the process of their learning as "the master taught me the skill through his fist" or "I stole the skill from the master by watching and learning". Therefore, it is almost impossible to ask the artisans to reminisce their exact leaning period and verbally describe how exactly they acquired their skills. Considering this situation, it can be said that the skills that scissor artisans have acquired are tacit knowledge. The lineages of artisans with So-hizukuri skill are gradually disappearing, and there are only a small number of artisans left today who possess this skill. In this study, we verified the skill of one of the remaining artisans who were trained in So-hizukuri process through the eye of science, and at-tempted to transform his tacit knowledge into explicit knowledge.

So-hizukuri process involves four main stages, and there are various steps in each stage. In this study, we focused on one step within in the second, "rough finish be-fore quenching", stage, namely the step to grind the scissors after forging using a grinder for rough finish. This step is commonly known as "*Namatogi*", or grinding before quenching. A pair of scissors immediately after forging does not have metallic sheen, the surfaces of the blades are uneven, and the individual parts of the blade, such as the joint area, the blade inset and the back, are not clearly defined. By the time the second stage of its production is completed, the left and the right blades come across almost

perfectly in their shapes, the scissors start to have metallic sheen, the blades are sharp and they are extremely close to the final scissors form.

A common conception for the production of an object with left and right parts that are identical in size, combined and function together, it would be to decide the length first using a measuring instrument, such as a ruler, and produce both parts by matching them to this length. Alternatively, produce one part first and then make the other part following the measurement of the first, completed the other part as to be identical. Based on this general theory, we observed the process the artisan for producing both scissors blades separately. We clarified where the artisan looks and matches the measurements of both blades in order for the two blades to have an identical measurement by the eye camera observation. We requested the artisan to wear the eye camera while working for observing his line of sight. After the data collection, we showed the video recorded by the eye camera to the artisan and conducted an interview with him, and requested him to express why he focused on certain parts during the production, and their significance. We hope to record at least a part of the disappearing craftsmanship to the posterity through this study.

2 Methods

2.1 Participant

A scissor maker with more than 60 years experience in sewing scissors making with the skill of So-hizukuri processing method.

2.2 Procedures

The artisan with So-hizukuri skill was requested to produce a pair of sewing scissors according to the So-hizukuri processing method. The production process was filmed using an eye camera.

2.3 Recording Procedures

The eye movement was measured by the eye camera system (Tobii Technology K.K.). The sampling rate was set for 60 Hz.

3 Results

We verified how the artisan measures the size of the left and the right blades during the *Namatogi* step in order to make the size of the two blades identical. Moreover, we verified whether he compares the left and right blades in order to check their length and width. Firure1 shows the part names of the scissors. Table 1 shows chronologically the time spent when the artisan put the both left and right blades together during the *Namatogi* step. Table 2 shows chronologically the part of the blades he focused on when he checked the alignment of the left and right blades by putting one blade on the other during the *Namatogi* step.

Time indicated in the video	Frequency	Part being focused on while putting one blade over the other	Time spent on looking
0:36	1	Laid one blade on the other	1 s
0:41	2	He seems to focus around the <i>komi</i>	1 s
0:49	3	His focus moved to the edge of the blades	1 s
1:00	4	Focusing on the screw. Then on the edge	2 s for looking at two parts
1:04	5	Focused on the <i>mune</i> and then the edge	1 s for looking at two parts
6:59	6	From the right side of the screw to the thick part of the screw	2 s
7:31	7	Observe around the screw and at the same part from slightly to the side. Then finally compare the two blades by placing them next to each other	Looking until 7:39 (8 s). 1 s looking when the two blades are next to each other
7:54	8	The lowest part toward the blade from the screw, then the same part from the side	1 s for looking at two parts
8:26	9	From both sides. Flipped a few times and focused on the same part	Looking until 8:31 (5 s)
13:30	10	Around the <i>komi</i> on the thumb side near where the screw goes in, from the side. Then the left side toward the sloping part after the screw	3 s in total. (1 s for each part).
13:40	11	Same as the above	2 s
13:47	12 (End)	Completion of the Namatogi step	

Table 1. The time spent when the artisan put the both left and right blades together during the Namatogi step

From the moment the artisan sat in front of the grinder to start *Namatogi* work and the completion of the work, it took 13 min and 11 s for the artisan to complete the *Namatogi* step. During this time, he did not use a measuring instrument such as a ruler even once. The number of time he made the movement to match the two blades were twelve times during 13 min and 11 s. We counted from the moment he laid one blade on the other to subsequently separated them as one time. During the movements of putting together and separating the blades, the artisan sometimes focused exclusively on one spot of the scissors, but he sometimes focused on several spots of the scissors. The total time of these movements was 28 s. The time he spent on each movement was a few seconds (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. The part names of the scissors

Table 3 shows the result of study to present how the artisan proceed the left and the right blades of scissors through the *Namatogi* step. The total time used for the *Namatogi* step is 13 min and 11 s. He grinded the blade to be gripped by other fingers (index and middle fingers) by 11 times and spent 355 s in total. And he grinded the blade to be gripped by a thumb by 9 times and spent 338 s in total.

4 Discussion

The interview with the artisan is combined with the discussion of the result of research on the Namatogi step. As mentioned above, Namatogi is one of the steps within the second main stage of So-hizukuri process, namely the "rough finish before quenching" stage that follows the "forging" stage. The two scissors blades after the forging stage has the iron color without sheen, and their surfaces are uneven. Also, the individual parts of the blade, such as the joint area, the blade inset and the back, are not clearly defined. However, when the Namatogi step is completed, the shape of the scissors is almost like the finished shape, with only the third, "quenching", stage and the fourth, "polishing, adjustment and finishing", stage remaining. The artisan completed this step in 13 min and 11 s. When the step was over, the total length of the scissors, the length and width of each blade and the length and width of each joint area matched accurately. Moreover, the *komi* and *machi* of each blade came across in the same angle. Generally, it is appropriate to use a measuring devices, in order for the separate individual blade to match and come across accurately in all parts. However, the artisan did not use any measuring devices in any point during the production process. In order to achieve two blades in the same size, the alternative method can be considered to produce one blade first, and then adjust the size and width of the other blade. However, this study clarified

Table 2. The part of the blades he focused on when he checked the alignment of the left and right blades by putting one blade on the other during the Namatogi step

Frequency of comparison	Time	The view of the artisan while the two blades are being overlapped
First time	0:36	
Second time	0:41	
Third time	0:50	
	0:50	
Fourth time	1:00	

Frequency of comparison	Time	The view of the artisan while the two blades are being overlapped		
	1:01			
Fifth time	1:04			
	1:05			
Sixth time	6:59			
	6:59			

 Table 2. (continued)

Frequency of comparison	Time	The view of the artisan while the two blades are being overlapped
Seventh time	7:31	
	7:34	
	7:36	
	7:39	
Eighth time	7:55	

 Table 2. (continued)

Frequency of comparison	Time	The view of the artisan while the two blades are being overlapped
Ninth time	8:26	
	8:31	
	8:31	
Tenth time	13:30	
	13:31	

 Table 2. (continued)

Frequency of comparison	Time	The view of the artisan while the two blades are being overlapped
	13:31	
	13:32	
Eleventh time	13:40	
	13:41	
End	13:47	

 Table 2. (continued)

that during the 13 min and 11 s *Namatogi* step, the artisan compared the two blades only for 28 s. Additionally, the eye camera verified that the amount of time the artisan spent on focusing on checking the alignment of the left and right blades was 1 s or less

Time indicated in the video	Retention time (s)/blade being		
		751 1 1 1 1	
	Lower fingers blade	I numb blade	
0:37–0:40	3 s		
0:41–0:49		8 s	
0:51-0:55	4 s		
0:55-0:58		3 s	
1:01-1:04	3 s		
1:09–1:18	9 s		
1:19–1:34		15 s	
1:40-2:45	65 s		
2:49-3:50		61 s	
3:51-4:12	21 s		
4:14-4:39		25 s	
5:00-6:56	116 s		
7:01–7:30		29 s	
7:40–7:54	14 s		
7:57-8:25		28 s	
8:32-9:03		31 s	
9:04-10:56	112 s		
11:09–13:27		138 s	
13:34–13:40	6 s		
13:44–13:46	2 s		
Total	355 s	338 s	

Table 3. The result of study to present how the artisan proceed the left and the right blades of scissors through the *Namatogi* step

each time. It is inconceivable to check the length or width of one blade, decide where to grind and identify imperfect parts in order to match the size of the other blade in such short time. What can be inferred from the eye camera footage is that when the artisan is comparing the two blades, he is not verifying how much one blade needs to be polished in order for its width and length to match those of the other blade. Instead, the shapes of both blades already almost fit when put together, and it appeared that he was only checking by sight in order to make slight adjustments. For this purpose, it is possible that 1 or 2 s of comparison was sufficient.

How is it possible that the artisan could produce a pair of scissors whose left and right blades can grip and cut fabrics without even a smallest error, without using any measuring instrument and moreover when he compared the two blades by laying one on the other in order to match their width and length only for a few seconds. According to the interview with the artisan, he adjusts the blades with assuming the final alignment to match in the end, even at the point of the forging process. Therefore, the two blades gradually come to match without requiring adjustment during the *Namatogi* step, and they match perfectly in the end. This comment can be understood by the fact

that the artisan grinded the left and right blades alternately during the *Namatogi* step, 11 times for the blade gripped by lower fingers and 9 times for the blade gripped by a thumb accurately, instead of focusing on the production of one blade.

Moreover, even though it does not appear that he was grinding the two blade alter-natively in regular pace, it was in fact clarified that the total polishing time of the blade gripped by lower fingers was 355 s and the total grinding time for the blade gripped by a thumb was 338 s. Therefore, he was grinding the left and the right blade alternatively for almost the same amount of time, and it can be said that his comment that the two blades are gradually being matched is proven.

However, the remaining problem is what the artisan expressed as "the right way". We are yet to extract this expression as a concrete technique. It is possible that the quality and amount of skill that is contained in this "right way" could be immeasurable. This is a typical example of tacit knowledge. In this study, the footage from the eye camera was shown to the artisan during the interview. Until the video was shown, the artisan himself could not answer how often the two scissors blades are compared and how long he spends on the comparison at all. This means that the artisan himself is unable to verbalize his own process.

5 Conclusion

In this study, the focus was on the *Namatogi* step, which is one of the steps within in the second main stage of the So-hizukuri processing method. We attached an eye camera to the artisan and researched his line of sight in order to elucidate the skill to produce two blades that perfectly come across without any smallest error, which is characteristic to his scissors. As a conclusion, it was clarified that the artisan did not use a measuring instrument even once, nor did he use one blade as a standard for the other blade to be matched. Instead, it was clarified that he employed a method to gradually finish the scissors by working on the two blades alternately, resulting in the left and right blades accurately coming across at the completion of the process.

References

- 1. Polanyi, M.: The Tacit Dimension, vol. 4. University of Chicago Press, Chicago (1966)
- 2. Okamoto, M.: Scissors, pp. 233-255. Ekuran-sha, Tokyo (1959)

Investigation on Effect of Mattress Hardness on Sleep Comfort of Middle-Aged and Old Women

Huimin Hu^{1((\Box)}), Fan Yang², Chaoyi Zhao¹, Hong Luo¹, Ying Zhang¹, Linghua Ran¹, Xin Zhang¹, and Haimei Wu¹

¹ Ergonomics Laboratory,
 China National Institute of Standardization, Beijing, China {huhm, zhaochy, luohong, zhangy, ranlh, zhangx}@cnis.gov.cn
 ² School of Biological Science and Medical Engineering, Beihang University, Beijing, China yzyangfan@foxmail.com

Abstract. By investigating the effect on mattresses with different hardness on sleep comfort of the middle-aged and old women, the paper provides reference and basis for designing and purchasing a mattress for the middle-aged and old women. In the experiment, 46 middle-aged and old women aged 40–65 years finish subjective user's experience evaluation and a body pressure distribution test. The comprehensive research results indicate that: 1. Mattress hardness has a significant impact on the mattress comfort; 2. The objective body pressure distribution test result is consistent with the subjective user's experience and evaluation result; 3. The middle-aged and old women generally prefer mattress with moderate and higher hardness value; 4. Shoulder comfort is related to head pressure intensity and back peak pressure; and hip comfort is related to back peak pressure; back peak pressure intensity and head pressure intensity.

Keywords: Middle-aged and old women \cdot Body pressure distribution \cdot Mattress hardness \cdot Comfort \cdot User's experience

1 Introduction

Mattress is essential bedding for human sleep, and its comfort greatly affects the quality of people's rest, while mattress hardness is an important factor affecting the comfort of mattresses [1], and mattresses with different hardness can lead to different body pressure distributions on shoulders, waist and hips when people rest in supine position. Relevant domestic and foreign research institutes carry out researches on mattress pressure comfort. Buckle et al. [2] evaluated mattress comfort by using human body pressure and subjective user's experience, and they thought that the mattress tested was more comfortable than the wooden reference surface; DeVocht [3] thought that the maximum pressure was related to the body weight of subject; by analyzing the body pressure distribution characteristics of four different types of mattresses by DeVocht et al., it was

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018 R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9_51

found that the pressure distributions of human body on the mattresses with different hardness were significantly different [4]; and for domestic mattress researches, Professor Shen Liming et al. from Nanjing Forestry University studied, with the use of human body pressure distribution, the relationship between human body characteristics such as age, body type, sex, etc. and spring mattress [5–7]. The use of the measuring system of human body pressure distribution allows the visually acquisition of the pressure distribution of human body on the mattress, under the ideal condition, the pressure distribution of human body is evenly distributed, the muscle is relaxed and finally the purpose of rest is achieved. Therefore, the human body pressure distribution is a visual evaluation method to measure whether the mattress customization is reasonable [8].

2 Research Objects and Methods

2.1 Experimental Subject

Mattress. Four palm mattresses with different hardness were selected, and their harness values were 0.54, 1.04, 1.56, 2.3 and 3.3 respectively. For information on mattresses to be tested, see Table 1.

S/N	Name	Hardness value
1	Palm mattress	3.30
2	Palm mattress	2.30
3	Palm mattress	1.56
4	Palm mattress	1.04
5	Palm mattress	0.54

Table 1. Information on mattress to be tested

Study Subject. The study subjects in the experiment were middle-aged and old women (aged 40–65 years). The actual total number of persons participating in research of this project was 46, wherein 15 were corpulent (body mass index BMI > 24), 18 were moderate (21 < BMI < 24), and 13 were slender (BMI < 21). For the specific information on subjects, see Table 2.

Table 2. Basic information on subjects

BMI grouping	Number of	Age (years)	Height (cm)	Weight (kg)	BMI
	persons				
BMI < 21	13	50.50 ± 6.70	160.10 ± 4.00	47.80 ± 3.20	18.70 ± 6.70
BMI 21-24	18	55.40 ± 5.90	156.20 ± 5.40	55.50 ± 4.50	22.70 ± 0.90
BMI > 24	15	53.30 ± 5.90	154.20 ± 6.10	65.60 ± 12.50	27.50 ± 4.20
Total number of	46	53.33 ± 6.48	156.60 ± 5.80	56.70 ± 10.50	23.10 ± 4.30
persons					

2.2 Research Method

Body Pressure Distribution Test. By testing the pressure data for key parts of human body sleeping in the supine position, the body pressure distribution characteristic parameters for human body sleeping in the supine position were obtained, and in combination of the method of evaluating mattress comfort from the subjective user's experience of subjects, the body pressure comfort parameter range for the key parts of human body in the sleeping status were defined. In the research, the pressure data and subjective experience evaluation were obtained by mainly testing five key parts of the human body sleeping in the supine position, and the five parts were the contact area between the final edge of occipital bone in the head part and the horizontal plane, the contact area between the final edge of thoracolumbar spine and the horizontal plane, the contact area between the final edge of lumbosacral spine and the horizontal plane, the contact area between the final edge of gastrocnemius and the horizontal plane, and the contact area between the final edge of calcaneus and the horizontal plane. The main pressure parameters to be tested include force (F), connect area (CA), peak force (PF) and peak pressure (PP). The key parts of the human body were on the basis of the characteristic region contacting with the horizontal plane when lying in the supine position, and the definitions were as below:

- Position 1: The contact area between the final edge of occipital bone in the head part and the horizontal plane;
- Position 2: The contact area between the final edge of thoracolumbar spine and the horizontal plane;
- Position 3: The contact area between the final edge of lumbosacral spine and the horizontal plane;
- Position 4: The contact area between the final edge of gastrocnemius and the horizontal plane,
- Position 5: The contact area between the final edge of calcaneus and the horizontal plane

Test Purpose. Tekscan mattress pressure sensor was used to measure body pressure of the subject under the steady state when lying on mattresses with different hardness.

Test Requirement. Subject was required to keep the supine position, with both legs naturally separating and both arms crossed at the chest, as shown in Fig. 1.

Number of Tests. Subject randomly selected five mattresses with different hardness to carry out the body pressure test.

Testing Process. After subject lay down, calibration was carried out on body weight of subject, and carried out the pressure value test for 25 s consecutively (200 frames in total, 0.125 s/frame, with collection frequency of 8 Hz).

The human body pressure on the mattress was divided into the following eight parts, i.e. head, neck, back, waist, hips, thighs, calves and feet as well as the whole body. Five parameters of force, peak force, pressure, peak pressure and connect area were obtained



1, 2, 3, 4 and 5: It is required to measure force, pressure and force area in these positions; A and B: It is required to measure radian, clearance height and distance between the contact points on two sides; Note: The measuring points and items when lying in the lateral position are consistent with those of the supine position.

Fig. 1. Schematic diagram for five key parts of human body when lying in supine position

respectively, and the effective average of different parts and parameters in the whole testing process was obtained (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Mattress pressure sensor for testing and test photo

On the basis of characteristic areas contacting with the horizontal area when lying in the supine position, different parts of human body were defined as below:

- Head: Skull to occipital bone (Fig. 3: area 1–2)
- Neck: Occipital bone to the seventh cervical vertebra (Fig. 3: area 2–3)
- Back: The seventh cervical vertebra to the twelfth thoracic vertebra (Fig. 3: area 3–4)
- Waist: The first lumbar vertebra to the fifth lumbar vertebra (Fig. 3: area 4–5)
- Hips: The fifth lumbar vertebra to hip stripe (Fig. 3: area 5–6)
- Thighs: Hip stripe to popliteal space (Fig. 3: area 6–7)
- Calves and feet: Popliteal space to planta pedis (Fig. 3: area 7–8)

Subjective Comfort Experience. The subjects randomly selected five mattresses with different hardness to carry out user's experience on sleeping, they carried out different



Fig. 3. Schematic diagram of mattress pressure zone

forms of experience according to the actual sleeping positions at home during the process for not less than 3–5 min, and then completed the subjective feeling evaluation after experiencing all the mattresses. The subjective comfort during the experience process was rated into five classes according to the actual feeling, including the rating of comfort experience in different parts of human body (Table 3).

Table 5. Rating criteria for user's experience of subjective comfort
--

Rating	1	2	3	4	5
Feeling	Very uncomfortable	Uncomfortable	Ordinary	Comfortable	Very comfortable

2.3 Data Processing and Analysis

Standardized Processing of Data. People with different body weight might result in different pressure values, which were in direct proportion to body weight, therefore standardized processing is adopted.

- 1. Processing of force value: 100% was set for the whole body, and the force value/the value of the whole body*100% was adopted for the other parts;
- 2. Processing of peak force: The maximum value of each part was set to be 100%, and the peak force value/maximum*100% was adopted for the other parts;
- 3. Processing of pressure values: The maximum value of each part was set to be 100%, and the pressure value/maximum*100% was adopted for the other parts;
- 4. Processing of peak pressure: The maximum value of each part was set to be 100%, and the peak pressure value/maximum*100% was adopted for the other parts; and
- 5. Processing of connect area: 100% was set for the whole body, and the connect area value/the value/ whole body*100% was adopted for the other parts.

Data Analysis The data statistical analysis was conducted with SPSS21.0. The difference (the data is expressed as: average value \pm standard deviation) between

mattresses with different hardness was compared by using one-way ANOVA (statistical quantity: 46 persons, and the statistical value refers to the standardized value); and multiple regression was used to determine the relationship between mattress test value and subjective feeling value of mattress (the statistical value refers to the original value after deleting abnormal values). The significance level was defined as $\alpha < 0.05$.

3 Experimental Results and Analysis

3.1 Subjective Comfort Experience for Mattresses with Different Hardness

Table 4 indicates the comfort rating for each part of human body on the mattresses with different hardness. The comfort difference of shoulder, waist and hips (with significance level < 0.05) between mattresses with different hardness was compared by using one-way ANOVA: ① As for shoulder comfort, there is significant difference between No. 1 mattress and No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 2 mattress and No. 3 and 4 mattresses, as well as between No. 3 mattress and No. 1, 2 and 5 mattresses; and ② The significant difference in waist comfort and hips comfort has consistency, No. 1 mattress has significant difference from No. 3 and 4 mattresses, No. 2 mattress has significant difference from No. 3 and 4 mattresses, No. 2 mattress has significant difference from No. 3 and 4 mattresses, No. 2 mattress has significant difference from No. 3 and 4 mattresses, No. 2 mattress has significant difference from No. 3 and 4 mattresses, No. 3 mattress has significant difference from No. 4 mattress has significant difference from No. 1, 2 and 5 mattresses, and No. 4 mattress has significant difference from No. 1, 2 and 5 mattresses.

Mattress	Hardness	Comfort index			
		Shoulder	Waist	Hips	
1	3.30	3.04 ± 1.20^{cde}	3.26 ± 1.20^{cd}	3.33 ± 1.30^{cd}	
2	2.30	3.37 ± 1.10^{cd}	3.28 ± 1.00^{cd}	3.26 ± 0.90^{cd}	
3	1.56	$3.91 \pm 0.80^{\rm abe}$	3.85 ± 1.00^{abe}	4.04 ± 0.90^{abe}	
4	1.04	$3.83 \pm 0.80^{\rm ab}$	$3.80 \pm 0.90^{\rm abe}$	$3.92 \pm 0.90^{\text{abe}}$	
5	0.54	$3.48 \pm 1.10^{\rm ac}$	3.33 ± 1.10^{cd}	3.22 ± 1.20^{cd}	

Table 4. One-way ANOVA for comfort of mattresses with different hardness

Note: The significance level is less than 0.05. a, b, c, d and e stand for mattresses 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 respectively, and when a, b, c, d and e are marked, it indicates that there is significant difference in comfort between this mattress and the compared mattress. For example: Shoulder comfort c d e of No. 1 mattress indicates that there is significant difference in shoulder comfort between No. 1 mattress and No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses.

4 Body Pressure Distribution Analysis

4.1 Body Pressure Distribution Test Result

Force F. The percentage result for force of each part of human body on mattresses with different hardness indicated that (Table 5): 1. Head force of No. 3 mattress was

Mattress (hardness)	1	2	3	4	5
	(3.30)	(2.30)	(1.65)	(1.04)	(0.54)
Standard F of whole body	100	100	100	100	100
Standard F of head	6.91 ± 1.47	7.25 ± 1.22	7.27 ± 1.34	7.22 ± 2.11	6.85 ± 1.50
Standard F of neck	$0.72 \pm 0.44^{\rm de}$	0.79 ± 0.45^{de}	$0.62\pm0.39^{\rm de}$	$0.42 \pm 0.44^{\rm abc}$	0.27 ± 0.31^{abc}
Standard F of back	38.06 ± 6.10	36.63 ± 6.33	37.33 ± 7.10	39.78 ± 11.43	39.44 ± 6.23
Standard F of waist	6.68 ± 1.85^{de}	6.38 ± 1.94^{de}	6.37 ± 1.92^{de}	5.28 ± 2.46^{abce}	2.95 ± 1.54^{abcd}
Standard F of hips	29.23 ± 5.39^{de}	30.09 ± 4.66^{d}	30.45 ± 5.10^{d}	34.55 ± 18.36^{abc}	33.97 ± 5.77^{a}
Standard F of thighs	6.09 ± 2.24^{de}	6.44 ± 2.34^{de}	5.65 ± 1.93^{e}	5.10 ± 2.87^{abe}	2.93 ± 1.90^{abcd}
Standard F of calves and feet	11.59 ± 3.47	$11.39 \pm 3.10^{\rm e}$	12.22 ± 3.11	12.82 ± 4.92	13.01 ± 3.70^{b}

 Table 5. Pressure test results for parts of human body (%)

maximum; 2. Neck force decreased with the increase in hardness of No. 2–5 mattresses; 3. Back force increased with the increase in hardness of No. 2–5 mattresses; 4. Waist force decreased with the increase in mattress hardness; and 5. Hip force increased with the increase of No. 1–4 mattresses.

According to one-way ANOVA, there is a significant difference (significance level is less than 0.05) in neck, waist, hip and thigh forces between the mattresses with different hardness. The specific difference is that: 1. Neck force percentage: There is significant difference between No. 1, 2 and 3 mattresses and No. 4 and 5 mattresses; 2. Waist force percentage: There is significant difference between No. 1, 2 and 3 mattresses and No. 4 and 5 mattresses; 3. Hip force percentage: There is significant difference between No. 4 mattress and No. 5 mattress; 3. Hip force percentage: There is significant difference between No. 1 mattress and No. 4–5 mattresses, and between No. 2–3 mattresses and No. 4 mattress.

Connect Area CA. The percentage result for connect area of each part of human body on mattresses with different hardness indicated that (see Table 6): 1. The waist connect area of No. 3 mattress was maximum; 2. The head connect area decreased with the increase in mattress hardness; 3. The neck connect area among No. 2–5 mattresses decreased with the increase in mattress hardness; 4. The back and hip connect area increased with the increase in mattress hardness; and 5. The waist connect area decreased with the increase in hardness of No. 3–5 mattresses.

Mattress (hardness)	1	2	3	4	5
	(3.30)	(2.30)	(1.65)	(1.04)	(0.54)
Standard CA of whole body	100	100	100	100	100
Standard CA of head	6.38 ± 1.26^{de}	6.06 ± 1.06	5.97 ± 1.33	5.61 ± 1.17^{a}	5.86 ± 1.36^a
Standard CA of neck	$1.72 \pm 0.82^{d \cdot e}$	1.87 ± 0.74^{de}	1.61 ± 0.69^{e}	1.31 ± 0.83^{ab}	1.13 ± 0.82^{abc}
Standard CA of back	29.85 ± 4.66^{e}	30.68 ± 3.94^{e}	30.43 ± 5.22^{e}	31.60 ± 3.80^{e}	33.41 ± 3.54^{abcd}
Standard CA of waist	7.90 ± 1.64^{e}	7.80 ± 1.60^{e}	8.13 ± 1.64^{e}	7.61 ± 2.13^{e}	5.87 ± 2.29^{abcd}
Standard CA of hips	22.74 ± 5.31^{de}	22.94 ± 4.91^{de}	23.40 ± 4.44^{de}	25.45 ± 5.00^{abc}	26.76 ± 4.57^{abc}
Standard CA of thighs	12.31 ± 3.86^{e}	12.32 ± 3.63^{e}	11.61 ± 3.31^{e}	10.88 ± 4.08^{e}	8.05 ± 3.76^{abcd}
Standard CA of calves and	17.17 ± 3.67	16.78 ± 3.37^{e}	17.26 ± 3.69	16.78 ± 3.42^{e}	18.31 ± 3.45^{bd}
feet					

Table 6. Connect area test results for parts of human body (%)

According to one-way ANOVA, there is significant difference (significance level is less than 0.05) in neck, waist, hip and thigh connect areas between the mattresses with different hardness. The specific difference is that: ① Neck connect area percentage: There is significant difference between No. 1 and 2 mattresses and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, and between No. 3 mattress and No. 5 mattress; ② There is consistency for significance difference in back and waist connect area percentages; and between No. 1, 2, 3 and 4 mattresses and No. 5 mattress; and ③ There is significant difference in hip connect area percentage between No. 1, 2 and 3 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses.

Pressure CP. The pressure test result of each part of human body on mattresses with different hardness indicated that (as shown in Table 7): 1. Pressure in the neck and the thighs parts decreased with the increase in mattress hardness; 2. Except for No. 3 mattress, back pressure of other mattresses decreased with the increase in mattress hardness; and 3. Waist and hip pressure of No. 3 mattress is minimum, and that of No. 5 mattress is maximum.

Mattress	1	2	3	4	5
(hardness)	(3.30)	(2.30)	(1.65)	(1.04)	(0.54)
Standard CP	100	100	99.99	100	100
of whole body			± 0.97		
Standard CP	$79.25 \pm 17.10^{\rm abc}$	82.16 ± 16.28^{a}	82.58 ± 14.76^{a}	85.69 ± 15.23^{a}	83.90 ± 16.37
head					
Standard CP	14.88 ± 5.90^{cde}	14.80 ± 6.74^{cde}	12.09 ± 6.17^{ade}	8.98 ± 4.49^{abce}	5.83 ± 3.58^{abcd}
of neck					
Standard CP	76.55 ± 17.75^{ce}	70.82 ± 21.71	$66.63 \pm 21.42a$	69.22 ± 19.47	67.47 ± 19.94^{a}
of back					
Standard CP	41.17 ± 15.51^{cde}	37.57 ± 11.98^{de}	35.35 ± 20.02^{ade}	74.26 ± 20.98^{abce}	85.74 ± 19.92^{abcd}
of waist					
Standard CP	73.43 ± 16.44	76.03 ± 18.27^{d}	71.30 ± 20.41	74.26 ± 21.08^{b}	85.80 ± 19.90
of hips					
Standard CP	24.51 ± 7.50^{de}	$23.45\pm7.27d^{e}$	20.73 ± 6.65^{e}	19.56 ± 7.95^{abe}	14.75 ± 6.65^{abcd}
of thighs					
Standard CP	70.22 ± 6.82	69.72 ± 6.48	67.78 ± 7.40	69.59 ± 6.85	69.25 ± 7.91
of calves and					
feet					

Table 7. Pressure test results for parts of human body (%)

According to one-way ANOVA, there is significant difference (significance level is less than 0.05) in pressure of neck, waist, hip and thigh parts between the mattresses with different hardness. The specific difference is that: ① Neck pressure percentage: There is significant difference between No. 1 and 2 mattresses and No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 3 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, and between No. 4 mattress and No. 5 mattresses; ② There is significant difference in waist pressure percentage between No. 1 mattress and No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 2 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 2 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 2 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 2 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 3 mattress and No. 1, 4 and 5 mattresses, and also between No. 4 mattress and No. 5 mattress; and ③ There is significant difference in hip pressure percentage between No. 2 mattress and 4 mattress.

Peak Force PF. The percentage result for peak force occupying whole body force of each part of human body on mattresses with different hardness indicated that (as shown in Table 8): 1. Peak force in the neck, waist and the thighs parts decreased with the increase in mattress hardness; 2. Except for No. 3 mattress, back peak force of other mattresses decreased with the increase in mattress hardness; and 3. Hip peak force of No. 3 mattress is minimum, and that of No. 5 mattress is maximum.

Mattress (hardness)	1	2	3	4	5
	(3.30)	(2.30)	(1.65)	(1.04)	(0.54)
Standard PP of whole body	100	100	99.96 ± 0.10	100	100
Standard PP of head	79.25 ± 17.10	82.16 ± 16.28	82.58 ± 14.76	85.69 ± 15.23	82.90 ± 16.37
Standard PP of neck	$14.88 \pm 5.91c^{de}$	14.80 ± 6.74^{cde}	12.09 ± 6.17^{abde}	$8.98 \pm 4.49^{\rm abce}$	5.83 ± 3.58^{abcd}
Standard PP of back	76.55 ± 17.75^{ce}	70.82 ± 21.71	66.63 ± 21.42^{a}	69.22 ± 19.47	67.47 ± 19.94^{a}
Standard PP of waist	41.17 ± 15.51^{cde}	37.57 ± 11.98^{de}	35.35 ± 13.95^{ade}	29.82 ± 14.22^{abce}	19.02 ± 10.05^{abcd}
Standard PP of hips	73.43 ± 16.44^{e}	76.03 ± 18.27^{e}	71.30 ± 20.02^{e}	74.26 ± 20.98^{e}	85.74 ± 19.92^{abcd}
Standard PP of thighs	24.51 ± 7.50^{cde}	23.45 ± 7.27^{de}	20.73 ± 6.65^{ae}	19.56 ± 7.95^{abe}	14.75 ± 6.65^{abcd}
Standard PP of calves and feet	73.45 ± 24.01	75.74 ± 17.86	77.14 ± 19.96	75.48 ± 20.46	69.93 ± 17.91

Table 8. Peak pressure test results for parts of human body (%)

According to one-way ANOVA, there is significant difference (significance level is less than 0.05) in peak force of neck, waist, hip and thigh parts between the mattresses with different hardness. The specific difference is that (Table 8): 1. Neck pressure percentage: There is significant difference between No. 1 and 2 mattresses and No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 3 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, and between No. 4 mattress and No. 5 mattresses; 2. There is significant difference in waist pressure percentage between No. 1 mattress and No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 2 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 2 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 3 mattress and No. 1, 4 and 5 mattresses, and also between No. 4 mattress and No. 5 mattress; and 3. There is significant difference in hip pressure percentage between No. 2 mattress.

Peak Pressure PP. The peak pressure test results of each part of human body on mattresses with different hardness indicated that (Table 9): 1. Peak pressure in the neck, waist and the thighs parts increased with the increase in mattress hardness; 2. Except back peak pressure for No. 3 mattress, other body pressure indexes increased with the increase in mattress hardness; and 3. Hip pressure of No. 3 mattress is minimum, and that of No. 5 mattress is maximum.

According to one-way ANOVA, there is significant difference (significance level is less than 0.05) in connect area of neck, waist, hip and thigh parts between the mattresses with different hardness. The specific difference is that: 1. Neck peak pressure percentage: There is also respectively significant difference between No. 1 and 2 mattresses and No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses; 2. There is significant difference in waist peak pressure percentage between No. 1 mattress and No. 3, 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 3 mattresses, between No. 2 mattress and No. 4 and 5 mattresses, between No. 3 mattress and No. 1, 4 and 5
Mattress	Hardness	Body pressure indicators			
		CP head	PF back	PP whole body	PP back
1	3.30	$0.21 \pm 0.09^{\rm cde}$	6.96 ± 1.92^{de}	$0.82\pm0.24^{\rm cde}$	0.60 ± 0.16^{de}
2	2.30	$0.249 \pm 0.119^{\rm de}$	6.85 ± 1.80^{de}	$0.93 \pm 0.39^{\rm de}$	0.60 ± 0.15^{de}
3	1.56	0.27 ± 0.13^{ae}	7.24 ± 1.53^{de}	1.05 ± 0.47^{ae}	0.62 ± 0.13^{de}
4	1.04	0.31 ± 0.13^{ab}	$8.59 \pm 2.78^{\rm abce}$	1.14 ± 0.38^{abe}	$0.75 \pm 0.24^{\mathrm{abce}}$
5	0.54	0.34 ± 0.15^{abc}	10.06 ± 2.09^{abcd}	1.40 ± 0.45^{abcd}	0.87 ± 0.18^{abcd}

Table 9. One-way ANOVA of body pressure indicators

mattresses, and also between No. 4 mattress and No. 5 mattress; and 3. There is significant difference in hip peak pressure percentage between No. 1, 2,3 and 4 mattress and No. 5 mattress.

Correlation Analysis on Comfort and Body Pressure Distribution. Through stepwise regression correlation analysis, it is obtained that shoulder comfort is related to head pressure and back peak force; waist comfort is related to peak pressure of whole body and back peak force; hip comfort is related to back peak force, back peak pressure and head pressure. The regression equation is as follows:

Shoulder comfort =
$$3.517 + 1.918$$
CP Head $- 0.064$ PF Back (1)

Waist comfort = 3.499 + 0.571PP Whole body - 0.076PF Back (2)

 $Hip comfort = 3.745 - 0.58PF Back + 5.781PP Back + 1.592CP Head \qquad (3)$

The one-way ANOVA result between body pressure indicators indicates that, the higher the mattress hardness, the greater difference between body pressure indicators and other mattresses. For specific information, see Table 10.

5 Discussion and Conclusion

5.1 Discussion of Experimental Results

Comfort Comparison between Mattresses with Different Hardness. Among the mattresses with different hardness, the comfort ratings on shoulder, waist and hips of No. 3 mattress were the highest, and No. 4 mattress is secondly higher, which is consistent with the most comfortable mattresses selected by users. The comfort ratings on shoulder and waist of No. 1 mattress were the lowest, and the comfort rating on hips of No. 5 mattress was the lowest, according to reason analysis, it may be the reason that during sleep, shoulder and waist of the human body prefers slightly harder mattresses, and hips prefer slightly softer mattresses, thus it can be seen that sleep comfort for different parts of the human body has different requirements on mattress hardness, and

in design of mattress hardness, the mattresses with different hardness can be designed in consideration of the parts of human body.

Force F and Contact Area CA. The force and connect areas of neck, waist and thighs decreased with the increase in mattress hardness, and the force and connect areas of head, back, hips, calves and feet increased with the increase in mattress hardness. It may because that neck, waist and the like are concave parts of physiological curvature, and force approximately decreases with the decrease in connect area. Back, hips, etc. are physiological complete sections, and force approximately decreases with the increase in connect area.

6 Conclusion

According to the research in the experiment, the following conclusions are preliminarily obtained:

- 1. Mattress hardness has significant effect on mattress comfort;
- 2. The middle-aged and old women among subjects generally prefer mattress with moderate hardness value;
- 3. It has comfort consistency in shoulder, waist and hips for mattresses with different hardness;
- 4. The subjective evaluation of mattress comfort and the relevant data analysis results of force distribution have consistency, and various force indexes for the mattresses with moderate hardness are within the moderate value range;
- 5. The subjective comfort in different parts of human body and the body force indicators have some relevance. Shoulder comfort is related to head pressure and back peak force; waist comfort is related to pressure of whole body and back peak force; and hip comfort is related to back peak force, peak pressure and head pressure.

Acknowledgments. This research is supported by China National Institute of Standardization through the "special funds for the basic R&D undertakings by welfare research institutions" (522015Y-3992, 522016Y-4679 and 242016Y-4700) and study on the key technology and standard for the design of product which should meet China's human characteristics (Ergonomics Program for 2017NQI).

References

- 1. Suckling, E.E., Koenig, E.H., Hoffman, B.F., et al.: The physiologic effects of sleeping on hard or soft beds. Hum. Biol. **29**(1), 274–288 (1957)
- Peter, B., Avalino, F.: Mattress evaluation-assessment of a contact pressure, comfort and discomfort. Appl. Ergon. 29(1), 35–39 (1998)
- James, W.D., David, G.W., Eric, R., et al.: Biomechanical e-valuation of four different mattresses. Appl. Ergon. 37(3), 297–304 (2006)
- 4. Devocht, J.W., Wilder, D.G., Bandstra, E.R., et al.: Biomechanical evaluation of four different mattresses. Appl. Ergon. **37**(1), 297–304 (2006)

- 5. Yuding, Z., Liming, S., Xiaochun, Z., Jianjun, H.: Research on Construction of Zoned Spring Mattress. Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing (2013)
- 6. Jianjun, H., Liming, S.: Discussion on the Mattress Comfortableness in Different Groups. Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing (2013)
- 7. Yuxia, C.: Effect of mattress cores on the mattress characteristics and lying comfort. J. Nanjing For. Univ. (2012)
- 8. Fei, F., Liming, S., Yuan, G.: Effect of mattress firmness on body pressure distribution indifferent body types. J. Anhui Agric. Univ. **43**(2), 319–324 (2016)

Author Index

A

Abdi, Ellie, 60 AbdulHafeez, Ibrahim, 124 Agashe, Abhijeet A., 422 Ahram, Tareq, 60 Aigbavboa, Clinton, 455 Alkendi, Mhammed, 52 Altaboli, Ahamed, 52 Alves, Rute, 213 Alyseri, Mohammed, 52 Alzardomi, Hanin, 52 Andreoni, Giuseppe, 172 Atepor, Lawrence, 134

B

Ballesteros, Fanny, 258 Bamfo-Agyei, Emmanuel, 134 Boocock, Mark G., 34 Brandl, Christopher, 229

С

Carrera, Esteban, 258 Carvalho, Filipa, 213 Cavatorta, Maria Pia, 236 Chao, Huang, 365, 372, 380 Chen, Chien-Liang, 89 Chen, Chun-Hsien, 42 Cheung, Chit Sin, 372 Chiementin, Xavier, 60 Chiu, Hsin-Ying, 89 Cocca, Paola, 3 Craig, Brian, 335 Custodio, Benette, 114

D

Dangelmaier, Manfred, 69 Deshpande, Vishwas S., 422 Deshpande, Vishwas, 411 dos Reis, Diogo Cunha, 153, 271 Dove, Tanya, 345 Dupré, Thomas, 98

E

Escudero, Irina, 299

F

Faustino, José Eduardo, 245 Fausto, Angela Marie, 114 Feller, Nico, 98 Filho, João F.A. Garcia, 245 Funck, Joanna, 98

G

Gallant, Johan, 172 Gastaldi, Laura, 236 Ghatole, Swapna R., 411 Ghibaudo, Lidia, 236 Gilotta, Silvia, 236 Gomes, Cristina Caramelo, 287 Gonçalves, Anderson A., 245 Gong, Zidan, 323 Goto, Akihiko, 466, 479 Guo, Yuanqi, 323

H

Hamada, Hiroyuki, 466, 479 He, Pei-Syuan, 89 Hellig, Tobias, 229 Hiranuma, Akifumi, 264 Hu, Huimin, 491 Huynh, Kim-Hoa, 98

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 R.S. Goonetilleke and W. Karwowski (eds.), *Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 602, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-60825-9

I

Isherwood, Kristine, 106

J

Jan, Yih-Kuen, 89 Jara, Oswaldo, 258 Jung, Myung-Chul, 208

K

Kalkis, Henrijs, 279 Kan, Zhimei, 380 Kaya, Özlem, 403 Khoo, Li Pheng, 42 Kim, Taekyoung, 311 Kitajima, Yasuko, 466, 479 Koca, Emine, 403

L

Lee, Kyung-Sun, 208 Lee, Yu-Chi, 42 Li, Yueqing, 335 Liau, Ben-Yi, 89 Lung, Chi-Wen, 89 Luo, Hong, 491 Luximon, Ameersing, 165, 365, 372 Luximon, Yan, 81, 165, 357

Μ

Mahdi, Ahmed, 52 Mahesh, Vishnu, 335 Maradei, Fernanda, 145 Marciano, Filippo, 3 Mawston, Grant A., 34 McNamara, Jay, 106 Melo, Rui B., 213 Mertens, Alexander, 229 Miguez, Symone A., 245 Milicich, Wayne, 34 Mitchell, Katherine Blake, 106 Miwa, Takashi, 446 Mo, Yan, 372, 380 Modak, J.P., 411 Mok, P.Y., 387 Mondal, Rahul, 435 Moro, Antônio Renato Pereira, 153, 271 Morrissey, Stephen, 14 Müller, Ulf, 98

Ν

Nakatani, Hayato, 466, 479 Nanami, Norimichi, 479 Nawras, Najia, 52

0

Ocampo, Carla, 114 Ogura, Yoichiro, 479 Okada, Yusaku, 75, 264 Ostrom, Lee, 23

P

Paul, Gunther, 184 Perego, Paolo, 172 Polidori, Guillaume, 60 Potthast, Wolfgang, 98 Preto, Sandra, 287 Przybysz, Philipp, 229

R

Ramos, Eliane, 153, 271 Ran, Linghua, 491 Rashid, Zahid, 3 Ray, Pradip Kumar, 435 Reynolds, Herbert, 184 Rick, Vera, 229 Robles, Krisella, 114 Rodríguez-García, Jenny, 145 Roja, Inara, 279 Roja, Zenija, 279

S

Scataglini, Sofia, 172 Seema, Katlane, 455 Shafiq, Muhammad, 3 Shah, Parth, 165 Sheen, Kimberly Anne, 357 Shiraishi, Risako, 75 Smallwood, John, 124 Spada, Stefania, 236 Stack, Theresa, 23 Stranzenbach, Robert, 229

Т

Taiar, Redha, 60 Takahashi, Kumiko, 75 Tayyab, Aisha, 3 Theissen, Pablo, 69 Tirloni, Adriana Seára, 153, 271 Truyen, Elie, 172

U

Uchida, Makoto, 446

V

Van Tiggelen, Damien, 172 Veronesi Jr., José Ronaldo, 196 Author Index

W

Wakata, Minami, 75 Wong, Thomas, 323 Wu, Haimei, 491 Wu, Hong, 365 Wu, Yanbin, 446

Х

Xie, Ningrong, 387 Xiong, Shuping, 311 Y Yang, l

Yang, Fan, 491 Yu, Winnie, 323

Z

Zalkalns, Janis, 279 Zhang, Jiaxin, 81, 357 Zhang, Xin, 491 Zhang, Ying, 491 Zhao, Chaoyi, 491